
 
TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY  

PLANNING BOARD 
Tuesday January 3rd, 2023 7:00 p.m. 

AGENDA 
by Remote Participation (see below) 

 
1. 7:15 PM Continued Public Hearing - Special Permit for Lighting at Pentucket Regional Middle High School  

 
2. Review of Draft Line-Item Budget and Breakdown of Expenditures  

 
3. Review Final Draft of Action Plan for MBTA Communities Compliance  

 
4. Discussion on Chapter 91 License for Middle Street Bridge over Artichoke/Upper Artichoke Reservoir  

 
5. Discussion on ADU “Accessory Dwelling Units”  

 
6. General Business: 
 Town Planner Updates; if any  
 Minutes – December 20, 2022; Others, if any 
 Correspondence  
 Administrative Details  
 Placement of Items for Future Planning Board Agendas  
 Items not Reasonably Anticipated by the Chair 48 Hours in Advance of a Meeting 

The Planning Board reserves the right to take Agenda items out of order. 
 

Addendum to Meeting Notice Regarding Remote Participation  
Pursuant to Chapter 22 of the Acts of 2022 (parts of which were extended on July 15, 2022) An Act Extending 
Certain COVID - 19 Measures Adopted During the State of Emergency,” this meeting of the West Newbury 
Planning Board will be conducted via remote participation to the greatest extent possible. Specific information 
and the general guidelines for remote participation by members of the public and/or parties with a right and/or 
requirement to attend this meeting can be found on the Town of West Newbury website, at 
www.wnewbury.org.  Members of the public who wish to view and/or listen to the meeting may do so using 
Zoom, by calling the telephone number or using the VideoLink listed below: 
 
Zoom Meeting Instructions: 
Phone: 1+(646) 558-8656 
VideoLink: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87013102490?pwd=RTR2dEJjaEJ1akJVYTdFMmZIcDNrQT09  
Meeting ID: 870 1310 2490 
Passcode: 271425 
 
No in-person attendance of members of the public will be permitted, but every effort will be made to ensure 
that the public can adequately access the proceedings in real time, via technological means. In the event that we 
are unable to do so, despite best efforts, we will post on the Town of West Newbury website an audio or video 
recording, transcript, or other comprehensive record of proceedings as soon as practicable after the meeting. 

http://www.wnewbury.org/
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87013102490?pwd=RTR2dEJjaEJ1akJVYTdFMmZIcDNrQT09
























































































































































WEST NEWBURY PLANNING BOARD 
BREAKDOWN OF EXPENDITURES 

FISCAL YEAR 2024 

 
 

Line Item Budget Heading        Breakdown 
          FY22          FY22 FY24 
          Approved    Actual Proposed 
1. Expenses 

Advertising        $1,000        $1,000 $1,500 
 Legal Notices as required by Statute, Bylaws & Regulations 
 

Communications       $150        $150 $200 
Zoom 
 
Equipment, & Repairs      $0        $0  $1000 
 
Materials & Supplies      $400        $400 $600  

 Ink, Paper, Toner, Pens, Staples, etc.    
 
Mileage/Travel       $100        $100 $100 
Conferences, workshops, site visits, etc. for both 

 staff and board members 
 
Professional/Technical Services     $4000        $4000       $2000   
Recording Secretary *currently not needed*    $4,000        $4,000 $0 
Other Consultants (Engineering, Planning, etc.)   $0        $0             $1500   
 
Training/Education/Dues      $850        $850 $500   

 Massachusetts Association of Planning Directors (MAPD)     $90   
 Professional Training: Webinars, Workshops, Annual MAPD    $410  
  
 

Miscellaneous       $100        $100 $200 
 Recording of plans, Easements       
 Other miscellaneous expenses incurred 
 
2. MVPC Annual Assessment      $1,705        $1,705 $1,792 

Per G.L. Ch. 40B, §4, the Merrimack Valley Planning  
Commission provides regional planning assistance to West  
Newbury in the areas of transportation, the environment, land use,  
economic development, and Geographic Information Services (GIS). 



FY2021 FY2024
 Actual Budget Budget Actual Turn back / Budget Budget Actual YTD Turn back / Budget

PLANNING Expended Requested Approved Expended Transfers Requested Approved Expended Transfers Requested
Personnel

Salary & Wages 54,921 56,061 59,319 59,319 77,189 66,155 23,687 68,725
Overtime
Other (incentives, longevity, 
stipends) 200 2,400

Sub-Total: 54,921 56,061 59,319 59,319 77,189 66,155 23,887 71,400
Expenses 5,950 6,600 6,151 6,151 9,220 707 5,600

Advertising 1,150 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,500 1,500 424 1,500
Communications 0 150 150 150 170 170 75 200
Equipment Purchase, Repairs 2,206 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 0 1,000
Materials & Supplies 540 400 400 400 600 600 208 600
Mileage / Travel 0 100 100 100 100 100 0 100
Prof/Tech Svcs/Recording Sec. 2,400 4,000 4,000 3,551 5,800 4,800 0 1,500
Training / Education / Dues 603 850 850 850 850 850 0 500
Other Expenses 0 100 100 100 200 200

Sub-Total: 5,950 6,600 6,151 6,151 10,220 9,020 707 5,600

MVPC Assessment 1,663 1,705 1,705 1,705 1,748 1,748 1,747 1,792
Sub-Total: 1,663 1,705 1,705 1,705 1,748 1,748 1,747 1,792

Department Total: 62,534 64,366 67,175 67,175 89,157 76,923 26,341 78,792

Please complete the above current fiscal year budget request.
For each line item that varies from prior year actual, provide a detailed explanation below.

Town of West Newbury
Departmental Expense Budgeting Form

FY2022 FY2023
Data as of 12/21/22

Salary and wage detail to be provided on the Salary and Wage Worksheet, attached.

FY24 Explanation - Salary & Wages increase of $4,045.00 to reflect mid-FY23 raises - new employee with increased hours from 25 to 28hr/week and increase in pay to admin 
assistant to match DPW full time rate. "Others" line increase of $2,400 to cover minutes to be completed by assistant. Increase of $2000 for professional/technical services
to cover mapping, other planning consultants, etc. 
MVPC: Assessment increases by no more than 2.5% per year. 2.5% increase from $1748 to $1792 is requested. Minimal increase in communications line to cover a possible
increase in Zoom monthly charges. 

Budget request submitted by: ______________________________________________

Contact (phone/email): ____________________________________________________

FY23 Explanation - Salary & Wage request is based on a 52-week year.  MVPC: Assessment increases by no more than 2.5% per year. 2.5% increase from $1705 to $1748 is requested.  No other 
increases are requested.                                    

FY22 Explanation - MVPC: Assessment increases by no more than 2.5% per year. 2.5% increase from $1663 to $1705 was requested and approved.  No other increases were requested.    

Expenditure Sign-Off Authorities - Planning Board Chair, Ann Bardeen                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
FY21 Explanation - 



Sue Brown, Town Planner  12/29/2022 
 

Middle Street/Artichoke River Bridge Project Update 

Update of December 29, 2023 

Another Step in a Lengthy Process to Replace the Middle Street/ Bridge 

On December 23, The Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) provided Public Notice of the 
Waterways Application by the Town of West Newbury and the City of Newburyport to replace the 
existing Middle Street Bridge.  DEP will consider all written comments received by Monday, January 23, 
2023. 

The Chapter 91 Waterways License is one more step in a lengthy process to permit and install a new 
bridge that received Grant funding of $1M in 2020 and Town Meeting approval of $600,00 in 2021.  The 
Town and City of Newburyport have agreed to share project cost equally. 

Project History Summary 

2016 - Temporary Bridge closure, Mass DOT Bridge Inspection resulting in Severe rating  

2017 – June - Full Bridge closure due to failure - Mass DOT Updated Inspection  

July - Newburyport received Small Bridge Grant to support engineering and design work – 
secured services of BSC Group 

2018 – Work proceeded with BSC Group– in coordination with West Newbury and including local 
outreach 

2019 – West Newbury Submitted Massworks Grant Proposal for funding 

 9/23/19 _ SB Meeting - BSC presented design recommendations (7 alternatives provided) – SB 
received public input and selected option that included a sidewalk on the south side. 

2020 – West Newbury Received $1M Massworks Grant;  Design and Permitting continued with BSC 
Group; a Memorandum Of Understanding (MOU)  between W Newbury and Newburyport  that outlined 
roles and responsibilities was executed.  

2021 – Town Meeting Approved $600,000 for Bridge Construction 

ConCom Conditions of Approval granted by both W Newbury and Newburyport, MEPA (Mass 
Environmental Policy Act) Certificate received, indicating the project studied the environmental impacts 
of the project and is using all feasible measures to avoid, minimize, and mitigate damage to the 
environment or, to the extent damage to the environment cannot be avoided, to minimize and mitigate 
damage to the environment to the maximum extent practicable. 

2022 – Town and City filed Application to MassDEP for a General Water-Dependent Chapter 91 
Waterways License. 

 

 



Engineers
Environmental Scientists
Software Developers
Landscape Architects
Planners
Surveyors

803 Summer Street / Boston, MA 02127

October 21, 2022 www.bscgroup.com

MassDEP Waterways Program
Chapter 91 Reviewer 
1 Winter Street – 5th Floor
Boston, MA 02108

RE: Upper Artichoke Reservoir Bridge Replacement Project
West Newbury / Newburyport, Massachusetts 
Chapter 91 License Application - BRP WW 01

Dear Chapter 91 Reviewer:

On behalf of the Town of West Newbury and the City of Newburyport, BSC Group, Inc. (BSC) is filing this 
Application to the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (MassDEP) for a General Water-
Dependent Chapter 91 Waterways License pursuant to Massachusetts Public Waterfront Act (M.G.L. c. 91) and 
implementing Regulations (310 CMR 9.00). The Applicants are proposing to replace the structurally deficient 
bridge on Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir (Bridge No. N-11-007) in 
West Newbury & Newburyport, Massachusetts. The bridge is structurally deficient due to undermining of the 
existing roadway foundation and so the road has been closed to vehicular traffic since July 2018. The Applicant 
proposes to replace the bridge structure with a new structure on a similar horizontal and vertical alignment. 

The municipalities are working in collaboration to permit, fund, and rebuild the bridge and are under 
constraining financial deadlines. The project is partially funded by a MassDOT municipal small bridge grant and 
a MassWorks Infrastructure grant both of which are time sensitive. The $1,000,000 MassWorks grant includes 
construction funding which the grant administrators are considering a request to extend through June 30, 
2023. In order to complete the project as designed. While we understand the typical Chapter 91 License review 
extends to 270 days or beyond, we respectfully request that the Waterways Program take access to funding 
into consideration. Significant additional time could be very damaging to the prospects of this project as the 
funds must be spent before the deadline, or they may be forfeited. Additionally, a majority of the project 
permitting was completed in 2021, and a delay might invalidate existing approvals. 

The bridge over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir is a valuable public resource which is highly compatible with 
the public access interests protected and promoted by the Chapter 91 Waterways Program. While the 
essential function of the structure remains transportation infrastructure, and re-establishes a vehicular 
route, the proposed alterations will provide accommodations specifically for pedestrians to safely traverse 
the area, observe the reservoir, or fish from the sidewalk. This use was not previously available in a formalized 
way or in accordance with modern safety standards.  In order to meet modern needs and standards for safety, 
the proposed bridge footprint requires minor widening; and in order to minimize expansion impacts to the 
Reservoir, the proposed design incorporates the use of retaining walls to maximize the required width but 
minimize footprint impacts.

The bridge has been in existence since 1891 when it was built over the Artichoke River channel, prior to the 
1939 statutory change when c.91 jurisdiction was expanded to navigable rivers. As a result, there is no existing 
historic licensing documentation for the structure. It is likely that the proposed alterations would occur within 
areas of fill from the bridge construction in locations that were upgradient of the original OHW of the river 



803 Summer Street / Boston, MA 02127

channel. The construction of the two dams downstream in the 1920s impounded the river, created the 
Artichoke Reservoir and changed the current extent of OHW.  

Hydraulic studies have concluded the Upper Artichoke Reservoir Dam which impounds the Artichoke River, 
has a stabilizing effect on the water level with little difference between various storm events. The MHW/OHW 
is established at elevation 12.6’ with top of bank flags placed conservatively and slightly upgradient on 
embankments. As seen in the attached plans, actual fill and change in elevations below MHW/OHW totals 175 
sf across all four bridge quadrants and is attributed to the new retaining walls. The retaining walls are needed 
to support the replacement bridge at modern requirements for safe roadway widths and were selected to 
minimize impacts to the reservoir. An additional 649 sf of impacts below MHW/OHW are attributed to the 
removal of existing material and replacement with scour control rockfill (riprap). Areas will be maintained in-
kind without fill or alteration to the existing elevations. The fill needed for the retaining walls, encumbers an 
area that is approximately 2% of the available area below the OHW elevation in the roadway layout in the 
project limits.

To date, the project has received its MEPA Certificate (August 2021), NOIs from each municipality (July 2021), 
and USACE Authorization under GP 10 (April 2021). An individual 401 WQC application was filed for impacts 
within the Reservoir, an Outstanding Resource Water (ORW), in January 2021, amended in May 2021, a site walk 
took place in June 2021, and then the application was put on-hold until the MEPA Certificate was completed. 
BSC Group has reached back out to the Reviewer to complete the application. During the MEPA process, the 
MassDEP Waterways Program asserted jurisdiction over the proposed project as a water dependent project 
under 310 CMR 9.04(1)(e) and concluded that the project was ineligible for approval under Minor Project 
Modification (MPM) under the MassDEP Waterways Program and implementing regulations 310 CMR 9.00; 
therefore, the Chapter 91 Application is before you now. 

Two copies of this application package including the appendices have been enclosed. Each Municipal 
Conservation Commission has been notified of this application. Please do not hesitate to contact our office 
for further discussion or any inquiries you may have at skreisel@bscgroup.com. I may also be reached at 617-
896-4579.

Sincerely,
BSC Group, Inc.

Sara Kreisel, PWS
Ecological Project Manager

cc:  Angus Jennings, Town of West Newbury
         Wayne Amaral, DPW Director, Town of West Newbury 
         Jon-Eric White, City Engineer, City of Newburyport
         Micah Morrison, PE, BSC Group
         Diana Walden, BSC Group
         

mailto:skreisel@bscgroup.com


 Prepared by:

803 Summer Street
                          Boston, MA 02127

Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road 
over Upper Artichoke Reservoir 

Bridge Replacement Project

 
Chapter 91 License Application

    MassDEP Waterways Program
October 2022

Prepared for:
Town of West Newbury
381 Main Street
West Newbury, MA 01985

City of Newburyport
16C Perry Way
Newburyport, MA 01950

BSC Project No. 28395.00

SKreisel
Snapshot



 

Table of Contents 
Bridge Replacement Project

Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road 
over Upper Artichoke Reservoir, 

West Newbury and Newburyport, MA

Chapter 91 License Application

 

ABUTTERS LIST
LIST OF ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATORY PROGRAMS

ATTACHMENT A PROJECT NARRATIVE 

ATTACHMENT B SITE FIGURES AND PHOTOGRAPHS

ATTACHMENT C SEDIMENT SAMPLING REPORT

ATTACHMENT D WEST NEWBURY ORDER OF CONDITIONS (78-724)
NEWBURYPORT ORDER OF CONDITIONS (051-1047)
NOI PLANS

ATTACHMENT E 401 WATER QUALITY CERTIFICATION 
NOTICE OF IMMINENT ISSUANCE

ATTACHMENT F EOEEA CERTIFICATE
AGENCY COMMENTS 

ATTACHMENT G CHAPTER 91 LICENSE PLANS



Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir Bridge Replacement Project
Chapter 91 License Application
Artichoke River / Upper Artichoke Reservoir
West Newbury / Newburyport, MA

MassDEP Form BRP WW01 Section C.7
Abutter Information 

Owner Name Tax Assessor 
Map/Parcel Mailing Address Municipality State Zip Code

City Of Newburyport
Water Department 92-1 and 92-7 16C Perry Way Newburyport MA 01950

Middle Street Realty Trust 
Robert W Higgins Tr R27-32 45 Water Street Newburyport MA 01950

443 Middle Street Re Trust 
C/O Bennett & Co 45 Water Street Newburyport MA 01950

Town Of West Newbury 
Conservation Commission 

R20-11
381 Main Street West 

Newbury MA 01985



List of Environmental Regulatory Programs

Pursuant to 310 CMR 9.11(3)(b)4., an application shall include a list of state environmental regulatory programs with 
which the project must comply, in accordance with the applicable provisions of 310 CMR 9.33. Please check all that 
are applicable and add any additional programs in the “Other” field.

☒ Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act, M.G.L. c. 
30, §§ 61 through 62H and 301 CMR 11.00: MEPA 
Regulations.

☒ Wetlands Protection Act, M.G.L. c. 131, § 40, and 
310 CMR 10.00: Wetlands Protection.

☐ Wetlands Restriction Acts, M.G.L. c. 130, § 105 and 
c. 131, § 40A, and 310 CMR 12.00: Adopting Coastal 
Wetlands Orders and 310 CMR 13.00: Adopting Inland 
Wetlands Orders. All projects shall comply with 
wetland restriction orders recorded pursuant to these
statutes.

☐ Areas of Critical Environmental Concern, M.G.L. c. 
21A, § 2(7) and St. 1974, c. 806, § 40(E), and 301 CMR 
12.00: Areas of Critical Environmental Concern.

☒ Massachusetts Clean Waters Act, M.G.L. c. 21, §§ 26 
through 53, and 314 CMR 3.00: Surface Water 
Discharge Permit Program, 314 CMR 5.00: Ground 
Water Discharge Permit Program, 314 CMR 7.00: 
Sewer System Extension and Connection Permit 
Program, 314 CMR 9.00: 401 Water Quality 
Certification for Discharge of Dredged or Fill Material,
Dredging, and Dredged Material Disposal in Waters of 
the United States Within the Commonwealth, and 310 
CMR 15.00: The State Environmental Code, Title 5: 
Standard Requirements for the Siting, Construction, 
Inspection, Upgrade and Expansion of On-site
Sewage Treatment and Disposal Systems and for the 
Transport and Disposal of Septage.

☐ Ocean Sanctuaries Act, M.G.L. c. 132A, §§ 13 
through 16 and 18, and 302 CMR 5.00: Ocean 
Sanctuaries. No license or permit shall be issued for 
any structure or fill that is expressly prohibited in 
M.G.L. c. 132A, §§ 1 through 16.

☐ Marine Fisheries Laws, M.G.L. c. 130, and 322 CMR 
1.00: Enforcement of Rules and Regulations.

☐ Scenic Rivers Act, M.G.L. c. 21, § 17B, and 302 CMR 
3.00: Scenic and Recreational Rivers Orders.

☒ Massachusetts Historical Commission Act, M.G.L. c. 
9, §§ 26 through 27C, as amended by St. 1982, c. 152 
and St. 1988, c. 254, and 950 CMR 71.00: Protection of 
Properties Included in the State Register of Historic 
Places. For projects for which a Project Notification 
Form must be submitted pursuant to 950 CMR 71.07: 
Review of Projects the applicant shall file said form 
with the Massachusetts Historical Commission. 

☐ Mineral Resources Act, M.G.L. c. 21, §§ 54 through 
58.

☐ Massachusetts Drinking Water Act, M.G.L. c. 111, §§ 
159 through 174A, and 310 CMR 22.00: Land 
Application of Sludge and Septage.

☒ Underwater Archeological Resources Act, M.G.L. c. 
91 and c. 6, §§ 179 and 180, and 312 CMR 2.00: 
Massachusetts Underwater Archaeological Resources.

☐ Hazardous Waste Management Act, M.G.L. c. 21C 
and 310 CMR 30.000: Hazardous Waste.

☐ Solid Waste Disposal Act, M.G.L. c. 16, §§ 18 
through 24, and 310 CMR 16.00: Site Assignment 
Regulations for Solid Waste Facilities.

☐ Air Pollution Act, M.G.L. c. 111, §§ 142A through I 
and 310 CMR 7.00: Air Pollution Control.

☐ State Highway Curb Cuts, M.G.L. c. 81, § 21.

☐ Energy Restructuring Act, M.G.L. c. 164, §§ 69G 
through S, and 980 CMR 1.00 through 12.00.

☐ Regional land use control statutes, including the 
Martha's Vineyard Commission Act, St. 1974, c. 637, c. 
831, and the Cape Cod Commission Act, St. 1989, c. 
716.

☐ Other 
_____________________________________________
_____________________________________________
_____________________________________________
_____________________________________________



 

Attachment A
Bridge Replacement Project

Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road 
over Upper Artichoke Reservoir, 

West Newbury and Newburyport, MA

Chapter 91 License Application
_________________________________

PROJECT NARRATIVE



ATTACHMENT A – PROJECT NARRATIVE
MIDDLE STREET / PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER THE UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR 

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
CHAPTER 91 LICENSE APPLICATION

PAGE 1 OF 9

1.0 Introduction

The BSC Group Inc., on behalf of both the Town of West Newbury and the City of Newburyport (“the Applicants”) 
is filing this application with the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (MassDEP) Waterways 
Program requesting a General Water-Dependent Chapter 91 Waterways License Application (BRP WW01b) 
pursuant to Massachusetts Public Waterfront Act (M.G.L. c. 91) and implementing Regulations (310 CMR 9.00).

The Applicants propose to replace the structurally deficient, undersized bridge (Bridge No. N-11-007) over the 
Artichoke River / Upper Artichoke Reservoir (hereby referred to as “the bridge”) located on Middle Street, West 
Newbury / Plummer Spring Road, Newburyport, MA (See Attachment B for Site Location Maps and Photos). The 
bridge is structurally deficient due to undermining of the existing roadway foundation and will be replaced with a 
new bridge with a similar horizontal and vertical alignment. The project involves mitigation measures intended to 
address existing structural and hydraulic deficiencies, while also minimizing disturbances to the surrounding 
environment and improving openness.

Orders of Conditions have been received by the respective Conservation Commissions in the Town of West 
Newbury (078-0724) and Newburyport (051-1047). A 401 Water Quality Certification (WQC) (BRP WW10 Major 
Fill and Excavation) was submitted to MassDEP January 2021, and supplemented May 2021 (DEP Transmittal 
Number: X287261). Pre-Construction Notification (PCN) authorization from the US Army Corps of Engineers 
(USACE) pursuant to Section 404 of the United States Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C.1251), under the General Permits 
for Massachusetts (GP)10 was provided April 2021. A MEPA Certificate was provided August 2021 (16412).  

The project had been previously made available for notice and opportunity for public comment on two separate 
occasions: 401 WQC on Jan 22, 2021, and for the MEPA ENF on July 23, 2021. The Waterways Program’s August 
13, 2021 letter in the MEPA public comment period asserted Chapter 91 jurisdiction over the project based on 310 
CMR 9.04(1)(e), and on the assumption that the Upper Artichoke Reservoir/River is navigable. Subsequent 
arguments regarding the navigability of the Upper Artichoke Reservoir and acquiescent requests for approval as a 
Minor Project Modification were denied. Therefore, this application seeks a Water-Dependent, Chapter 91 
Waterways License for the replacement of an existing, unauthorized public service project, the existing bridge on 
Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road that crosses the Upper Artichoke Reservoir. 

The bridge has been in existence since 1891 when it was built over the Artichoke River channel, which was 
subsequently impounded in the 1920s creating the Artichoke Reservoir, which subsequently changed the current 
extent of the ordinary high water (OHW) line. The project will replace the existing 14.3-foot stone arch bridge with 
a 45-foot span bridge which will address existing structural deficiencies, while also minimizing disturbances to the 
surrounding environment and improving openness. The bridge structure will be protected by retaining walls and 
riprap, which will be overlayed with natural streambed material. The proposed replacement bridge will carry two 
lanes of traffic on Middle Street/Plummer Spring Road. The overall width of the bridge will increase from 24.2 feet 
to 32.5 feet to accommodate roadway safety improvements (~4 feet), including a new sidewalk (~4 feet); however, 
this does not constitute a substantial enlargement compared to existing conditions since enlargement is not the 
intent. Please refer to the Environmental Resource Map in Attachment B and Site Plans in Attachment G for 
details. 

The proposed Project consists of the replacement of a bridge over a nontidal waterway that occurs within a manmade 
impoundment on a currently closed public roadway, by the Town of West Newbury and City of Newburyport, 
which proposes pedestrian facilities to promote continued public access and enjoyment adjacent to a waterway.  



ATTACHMENT A – PROJECT NARRATIVE
MIDDLE STREET / PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER THE UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR 

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
CHAPTER 91 LICENSE APPLICATION

PAGE 2 OF 9

The Department has determined these activities can be classified as “water-dependent” under the Chapter 91 
Waterways regulations per their August 13, 2021 comments during the MEPA ENF review process. The following 
sections describe the Project, the associated activities subject to Chapter 91 jurisdiction, and the Project’s 
compliance with the provisions of the Chapter 91 licensing regulations.

2.0 General Environmental Setting/Existing Conditions

West Newbury is located on the northwestern side of the bridge, and Newburyport is on the eastern side. Plummer 
Spring Road in Newburyport turns into Middle Street upon entering West Newbury. The project site is 
approximately 2,000 feet west of the intersection with Turkey Hill Road in Newburyport and approximately 0.7 
mile east of the intersection with Garden Street in West Newbury. The crossing occurs within the Upper Artichoke 
Reservoir, a public water supply. The surrounding area is comprised of Article 97 lands, reserved for water supply 
protection. Beyond that, the area is generally characterized by low-density residential development. The bridge 
predates and divides the existing Upper Artichoke Reservoir, through which the Artichoke River flows. The 
Reservoir was originally formed by damming the Artichoke River which flows north to the Merrimack River. While 
the majority of the surrounding area consists of residential development and forested land, the project area is limited 
to previously disturbed Riverfront Area and other resource areas encumbered by the existing bridge.

The existing crossing structure consists of a 14.3-foot (span) by 13.2-foot (rise) by 24.2-foot (long) single span 
earth-filled stone arch, set at an approximate slope of 0%. The road and stone arch bridge were constructed in 1891 
before the Upper Artichoke Reservoir was built. The low chord on the existing arch is set at an elevation of 16.20 
feet. The paved roadway consists of two travel lanes that vary in width from 8.5 feet to 10-feet for a total roadway 
width of approximately 17-feet to 20-feet. There are no sidewalks on the bridge. The bridge was closed in 2018 to 
vehicular traffic due to the collapse of portions of the bridge, stone headwall, and southeast approach roadway, and 
is currently considered structurally deficient due to undermining of the paved roadway foundation. The project area 
consists of country drainage, whereby runoff travels to the approach roadway and informally runs off down the side 
slopes. Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road is functionally classified as a Rural Local road. The Artichoke River/ 
Upper Artichoke Reservoir is nontidal, and no tidelands occur within the project vicinity. License plans included in 
Attachment G depict the applicable elevations in reference to the work. Site Photos for reference are included in 
Attachment B.

2.1 FEMA Floodplain

According to the FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps for Newburyport / West Newbury (Community Panel Number 
25009C0116F dated July 2012), the project occurs within the 100-year floodplain (Zone AE). The bridge is located 
within Zone AE for the 100-year storm event at, and below the 13-foot base flood elevation. A FEMA FIRMette is 
included in Attachment B.

2.2 Other Environmental Resources

Waters of the United States and resource areas jurisdictional to the Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act such as 
Bank and Land Under Water, are located in areas impacted by the Project. The project area does not occur within 
Natural Heritage and Endangered Species (NHESP) Priority nor Estimated Habitat, nor Certified nor Potential 
Vernal Pools (CVP & PVP). According to MassGIS data layers, the entire project area occurs within an Outstanding 
Resource Water (ORW) and Surface Water Protection Zone associated with the Upper Artichoke Reservoir, which 



ATTACHMENT A – PROJECT NARRATIVE
MIDDLE STREET / PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER THE UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR 

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
CHAPTER 91 LICENSE APPLICATION

PAGE 3 OF 9

is an Article 97, municipal land, and a public water supply watershed. According to MassGIS data layers, the project 
area does not fall within an Area of Critical Environmental Concern (ACEC), neither the Upper Artichoke Reservoir 
nor the river are EPA impaired waterways, nor Coldwater Fisheries (CFR). Please refer to the Environmental 
Resource Map in Attachment B.

3.0 Proposed Project

The duration of construction for the entire Project is anticipated to be approximately twenty (20) months weather-
permitting and to begin Spring 2023.  

The purpose of the project is to replace a structurally deficient, undersized bridge with a new bridge along a similar 
horizontal and vertical alignment. The project activities include the replacement of the bridge over the Upper 
Artichoke Reservoir in its entirety. The full sequence of project construction activities will take approximately 
twenty months to construct. The project involves mitigation measures intended to address existing structural 
deficiencies, while also minimizing disturbances to the surrounding environment and improving openness. The 
proposed replacement bridge will carry two lanes of traffic on Middle Street/Plummer Spring Road. The roadway 
width will increase by approximately 4 feet to include safety improvements to the existing alignment. A 5-foot 
sidewalk will be added to the south side of the bridge. Roadway reconstruction of Middle Street will occur 160-feet 
to the west of the bridge and 115-feet to the east on Plummer Spring Road for improved roadway approaches. The 
total length of the project is approximately 320-feet. The following project components detail the proposed project 
activities. Please refer to Project Site Plans (Attachment G) for additional details. 

 Proposed Bridge – The proposed bridge is a high strength precast concrete structure that will follow a 
similar horizontal and vertical alignment as the existing bridge. The proposed span length will increase 
from the 14-feet to 45-feet. The overall width of the bridge will be 32.5-feet to accommodate safety 
improvements, including the sidewalk. In addition to substantially increasing the openness ratio, the 
increased span eliminates the need for the bridge’s substructure to be located in the deep portion of the 
reservoir. In accordance with the MassDOT Bridge Manual for a Rural Local road, the proposed bridge 
has been designed to meet the 10-year flood frequency storm event. Based on hydraulic analysis, the 
proposed bridge can also accommodate the 100-year flood frequency storm event. The proposed bridge 
increases the hydraulic opening by a factor of two compared to the existing condition.  

 Riprap Scour Protection –With the increased span, to achieve a 1:1.5 vertical: horizontal ratio from the 
elevation of the existing streambed to the elevation at the new bridge abutments, slope stabilization is 
required. The slope stabilization will consist of 36-inches of variable sized riprap (10- to 22-inch stones) 
placed below the natural streambed material. In addition, 6-inches of natural streambed material is 
proposed on top of the riprap. Prior to streambed excavation, natural streambed material will be removed 
and stockpiled on site for use during restoration to ensure the sizing and arrangement of materials under 
pre- and post-construction conditions. Upon completion of the proposed bridge replacement activities, the 
streambed elevation will be restored to its natural condition.

 Roadway Reconstruction – At the approaches of the existing bridge the roadway is narrow and the 
slopes adjacent to the roadway are steep making the existing guardrail ineffective. To meet current 
roadway geometric and safety requirements, portions of the road will be widened and the slopes reduced 
and/or retaining walls installed. To limit impacts to the reservoir, retaining walls will be installed where 
applicable. However, in areas where slopes with a 1:1.5 vertical: horizontal ratio or less exist, they will 
be regraded (without impacting the reservoir), 



ATTACHMENT A – PROJECT NARRATIVE
MIDDLE STREET / PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER THE UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR 

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
CHAPTER 91 LICENSE APPLICATION

PAGE 4 OF 9

 Installation of Guardrail and Repaving Activity – Bridge replacement activities provide an opportunity 
to make safety improvements to existing conditions surrounding the bridge. The existing functional 
roadway width will expand from approximately 20-feet to 24-feet wide over the bridge. The widened 
roadway will meet the existing roadway width at the limits of the project. The approaches to the bridge 
will be repaved following the completion of project activities. Extended steel guardrail is proposed along 
the approaches to the bridge to replace existing non-functioning guardrail posts. 

Work in Wetland Resource Areas
The bridge replacement project is considered a redevelopment project. Impacts to wetland resource areas are 
unavoidable, however upon completion of the project, slopes will be stabilized and the streambed will be restored 
to match the natural stream channel. The outcome will result in an improvement over existing conditions. Table 1 
provides an overview of impacts with regard to each resource area.

Area Below the Ordinary High-Water Line
Hydraulic studies have concluded the Upper Artichoke Reservoir Dam which impounds the Artichoke River, has a 
stabilizing effect on the water level with little difference between various storm events. The MHW/OHW is 
established at elevation 12.6’ with top of bank flags placed conservatively and slightly upgradient on embankments. 
The proposed structure is 1,217 sf and will require a total of 824 sf of excavation and fill. As seen in the attached 
plans, actual fill and change in elevations below MHW/OHW totals 175 sf across all four bridge quadrants and is 
attributed to the new retaining walls. The retaining walls are needed to support the replacement bridge at modern 
requirements for safe roadway widths and were selected to minimize impacts to the reservoir. An additional 649 sf 
of impacts below MHW/OHW are attributed to the removal of existing material and replacement with scour control 
rockfill (riprap) to protect the new bridge structure. Areas will be maintained in-kind without fill or alteration to the 
existing elevations. The fill needed for the retaining walls, encumbers an area that is approximately 2% of the 
available area below the OHW elevation in the roadway layout in the project limits. In total, 98 CY mechanical 
dredging is required, of this 48 CY will be permanent and 50 CY will be temporary. The project requires 19 CY 
fill. Please refer to Project Site Plans (Attachment G) for additional detail.

Table 1 below summarizes activities and approximate areas of impact subject to the Chapter 91 Program:

Table 1 – Summary of Chapter 91 Waterways Program Areas Under OHW Line

Project Component Structure/Change in Use Detail Area 
(SF) Dredge / Fill (CY)

Riprap Installation of riprap to protect the 
new structure 649 sf

Retaining Walls Installation of retaining wall to 
minimize extent of roadway 175 sf

Bridge Span Area of proposed bridge structure 
over OHW 393 sf

Wingwalls and Abutments Created in upland ---

48 CY Dredge (Permanent)
19 CY Fill

50 CY Dredge (Temporary)

4.0 Mitigation Measures

The proposed project will occur below the OHW. The project has been designed to incorporate construction Best 
Management Practices (BMPs) to ensure adequate protection to wetland resource areas within proximity of the 



ATTACHMENT A – PROJECT NARRATIVE
MIDDLE STREET / PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER THE UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR 

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
CHAPTER 91 LICENSE APPLICATION

PAGE 5 OF 9

project location. 

Disturbed areas within affected resources will be stabilized and restored following the completion of project 
activities. This will be achieved specifically by limiting alteration within resource areas to the maximum extent 
practicable. The proposed work is considered a Redevelopment Project but will preserve undisturbed areas adjacent 
to the bridge as much as possible. This will also be accomplished through project phasing activities that minimize 
work within resources to the maximum extent practicable.

Erosion and Sedimentation Controls
Siltation barriers composed of compost filter tubes will be installed at the downgradient limits of work. 
Sedimentation barriers will be checked on a weekly basis and following significant storm events. Sediment controls 
will remain in-place during all phases of the project and will be removed once the area is sufficiently stabilized. 
Please refer to Attachment G (Site Plans) for erosion and sedimentation control details and the proposed locations 
of controls.  

Construction Stockpiling Locations 
All stockpile locations and staging areas will be located within the existing roadway; and while locations are to be 
determined by the Contractor, they will need to be approved by the respective Municipality prior to use. In the event 
stockpiled materials must be left on site overnight, the piles will be covered with tarps and surrounded by erosion 
control measures (e.g. compost filter tubes). Stockpiled streambed material will be stored at a location within the 
existing roadway. Staging and storage areas will be outside of all jurisdictional environmental resource areas where 
feasible and practicable.

Water Control Measures and Dewatering
Prior to work, cofferdams will be installed for construction activities to occur in dry conditions.  As such, work will 
require dewatering. The contractor will be required to develop and maintain a Construction Water Management 
Plan that is prepared in accordance with the contract design documents, and generally, the means and methods will 
be determined by the contractor. Flow will be maintained within the existing channel; while the dewatered 
construction area can be maintained by pumping the water out of the work areas.

All discharge resulting from dewatering activities shall be directed to temporary sedimentation/retention basins as 
specified by the contractor to control turbidity. At no time shall the discharge be directly released into adjacent 
resource areas, nor will any settling tank/basin be located within a wetland/waterway. If stone or other erosion 
control is utilized at the outlet of the settling tank/basin, this material will be removed, and the area will be restored 
to existing conditions prior to the completion of the project. Please refer to Attachment G, Project Site Plans for 
additional details on proposed water control measures.

5.0 Chapter 91 Licensing Requirements

5.1 Chapter 91 Jurisdiction and Water Dependency 

As described, the proposed project occurs over the Artichoke River / Upper Artichoke Reservoir, which the DEP 
has already asserted jurisdiction over during the MEPA review process Certificate (EEA Number 16412) (August 
2021). The Waterways Program’s August 13, 2021 letter for the public comment period for the MEPA Certificate 
(EEA Number 16412) stipulated: 

The existing fieldstone ached bridge and approach roadways were constructed in 1891, prior to the 1939 
statutory change when c.91 jurisdiction was expanded to navigable rivers. As a result, the proponent did 



ATTACHMENT A – PROJECT NARRATIVE
MIDDLE STREET / PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER THE UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR 

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
CHAPTER 91 LICENSE APPLICATION

PAGE 6 OF 9

not include any historic licensing documentation for the structures.

Water Dependency:
MassDEP has determined that this proposal is a water-dependent project, pursuant to 310 CMR 9.12(1)(a) 
& (2)(d).

Chapter 91 Jurisdiction:
The project is located on the Upper Artichoke River, a nontidal waterway subject to Chapter 91 jurisdiction, 
pursuant to 310 CMR 9.04(1)(e).

Chapter 91 Comments:
The project, as described, substantively complies with the applicable provisions for water dependent Public 
Service projects, specifically those enumerated at 310 CMR 9.35-9.37.

5.2 Chapter 91 Compliance

The following section reviews the proposed Project in light of the applicable Chapter 91 regulatory standards:

§9.31 Basic Requirements and Proper Public Purpose
§9.31 of the waterways regulations requires that all projects, other than those consisting of water-dependent projects 
on private tidelands, serve a proper public purpose that provides greater benefit than detriment to the rights of the 
public in said lands. 

The proposed bridge replacement is presumed by regulation to serve a proper public purpose in that it 
involves the replacement of a bridge on a public municipal roadway. The roadway has been open to the 
public since 1891, until its closure to vehicular traffic in 2018 due to the bridge’s deteriorated state. The 
replacement will provide public facilities for pedestrians. The nature of the project is that it is inherently 
water-dependent [§9.31(2)(a)]. 

§9.32: Categorical Restrictions on Fill and Structures
§9.32 of the waterways regulations identify the types of fill, structures and projects that are eligible for licensing. 
All of the proposed uses and activities proposed herein are categorically allowed as listed in §9.32(1)(d): “fill or 
structures for uses below the high water mark, as listed for flowed tidelands in 310 CMR 9.32(1)(a).” This includes: 

§9.32(a)2:“fill or structures for water-dependent use located below the high water mark, provided that, in 
the case of proposed fill, reasonable measures are taken to minimize the amount of fill, including 
substitution of pile-supported or floating structures and relocation of the use to a position above the high 
water mark;”

§9.33: Environmental Protection Standards
§9.33 of the waterways regulations states that all projects must comply with applicable environmental regulatory 
programs of the Commonwealth. 

In addition to this Chapter 91 Waterways License, the full Project will require various local, state, and federal 
permits, approvals and consultation as summarized in the table below:



ATTACHMENT A – PROJECT NARRATIVE
MIDDLE STREET / PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER THE UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR 

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
CHAPTER 91 LICENSE APPLICATION

PAGE 7 OF 9

Table 2: Summary of Compliance with Environmental Protection Standards   

Agency Permit/Approval/Consultation Jurisdiction
Federal

U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers (USACE)

Section 404 Permit Pre-Construction 
Notification under the Massachusetts 
General Permit and National Historic 
Preservation Act (NHPA) 16 U.S.C. 
§470, et. seq.

Work in Waters of the U.S., above the Ordinary High Water 
(OHW) mark for Navigable Waters reviewable under 
Section 10 of Rivers and Harbors Act of 1899. Authorization 
was received April 9, 2021. 

State
Massachusetts Executive 
Office of Energy and 
Environmental Affairs (EEA)

MEPA Environmental Notification 
Form (ENF) 301 CMR 11.00

A Final Certificate (No. 16412) finding that the Project did 
not require the preparation of an Environmental Impact 
Report was issued by the Secretary on August 23, 2021.

Massachusetts Department of 
Environmental Protection 
(MassDEP)

Section 401 of the federal Clean Water 
Act (Water Quality Certificate); 
314 CMR 9.00

Work in waters of the U.S., defined as Outstanding 
Resource Waters (ORW), The Upper Artichoke Reservoir 
is defined as an ORW. Approval of the January 2021 
application (and subsequent May 2021 supplement) has not 
yet been received.

Massachusetts Historical 
Commission (MHC)/ 
Massachusetts Board of 
Underwater Archeological 
Resources (MBUAR)

Determination of effect on historic and 
archaeological properties (MGL c.9 § 
27C)

A PNF and ENF was submitted to MHC/MBUAR for 
review. The MHC determined, by letter dated February 16, 
2021 that the project is “unlikely to affect significant 
historic or archaeological resources” and the MBUAR 
indicated by letter dated August 12, 2021 that “the Project 
is unlikely to adversely impact submerged cultural 
resources.” 

Local
Tow of West Newbury 
Conservation Commission

City of Newburyport 
Conservation Commission

Order of Conditions
310 CMR 10.00 and Local 
Conservation Ordinance/Bylaw

Work in jurisdictional resource areas under Massachusetts 
WPA and local Conservation Ordinance/Bylaw. Orders of 
Conditions (MassDEP File No. 78-724 (West Newbury) 
and 051-1047 (Newburyport)) approving project were 
provided in July 2021.  

§9.34: Conformance with Municipal Zoning and Harbor Plans
Per §9.34 of the waterways regulations, any project located on private tidelands or filled Commonwealth tidelands 
must be determined to comply with applicable zoning ordinances and bylaws of the municipality in which such 
tidelands are located. 

The project does not occur within tidelands / Coastal Zone. Therefore, the Project area is not subject to a 
Municipal Harbor Plan.

§9.35: Standards to Preserve Water-Related Public Rights
In accordance with §9.35, Chapter 91 jurisdictional projects are required to preserve any rights held by the 
Commonwealth in trust for the public to use tidelands and waterways for lawful purposes, and to preserve any 
public rights of access that are associated with such use. The consistency of the proposed Project with each of the 
protected rights is reviewed below. 

 Navigation §9.35(2)(a). The Project proposes to triple the existing bridge span and the bridges low chord 
will remain the same. The Project will not reduce or otherwise constrain the channel of the Upper Artichoke 
Reservoir / Artichoke River, which is also is not accessible to public navigation due to the City of 
Newburyport Code of Ordinances in a public water supply, stating that “Wading, swimming, bathing or 
boating in the municipal water supply or its tributaries” are prohibited.

 Free Passage Over and Through Water §9.35(2)(b). The purpose of the Project is to provide the public 
free passage over the waterway and will improve the condition of the existing crossing. As noted, boating 



ATTACHMENT A – PROJECT NARRATIVE
MIDDLE STREET / PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER THE UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR 

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
CHAPTER 91 LICENSE APPLICATION

PAGE 8 OF 9

is not allowed in the Reservoir; however, the bridge span will increase to three-times its existing span and 
will not impede passage through the waterway. The replacement of the structure will improve public access 
to and views of waterfront areas with the creation of pedestrian accommodations on the roadway bridge. 

 Access to Town Landings.  §9.35(2)(c). There are no existing public boat landings within the Project site. 
The Project, as designed, will not interfere with any landing, public easement or other historic legal form 
of public access from the land to the water.

 Fishing and Fowling.  §9.35(3)(a). The Project will not interfere with or further restrict the public's existing 
rights of fishing and fowling in the Upper Artichoke Reservoir.

 On-Foot Passage.  §9.35(3)(b). On-foot passage over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir will be enhanced and 
improved with the bridge replacement. The increased opportunity for public access and passive public 
recreation is one of the primary benefits of the Project. 

 Compensation for Interference with Public Rights in Commonwealth Tidelands. §9.35(4). The Project 
does not involve fill or structures for private use of Commonwealth tidelands, as the proposed project is for 
public use and does not affect Commonwealth Tidelands.

 Management of Areas Accessible to the Public §9.35(5). Both the Town of West Newbury and the City of 
Newburyport will be responsible for the long-term management of the property and will manage the site to 
achieve the Project goals of public roadway access and use for pedestrians and vehicles. It will be the 
municipalities’ objective to maintain the property in a safe and attractive condition including the removal 
of trash, cleaning of stormwater basins, and overall roadway maintenance.

§9.36: Standards to Protect Water-Dependent Uses
As noted above, the bridge has been in existence since 1891, and the project merely proposes to replace this bridge 
in a manner that increases public safety, access, and accessibility. The bridge will be slightly widened for safe 
vehicular access, and a sidewalk will be added for safe pedestrian usage. The project occurs entirely on a municipal-
owned roadway layout. The Project will not disrupt any water-dependent uses currently in operation at off-site 
locations.  

§9.37: Engineering Construction Standards
§9.37 of the waterways regulations requires all fill and structures be designed and constructed to be structurally 
sound, and that no residential units be constructed in high hazard flood zones. The proposed bridge has been 
designed by a Registered Professional Engineer to comply with the strict and thorough standards of MassDOT 
Bridge Design and will be constructed in a manner that is structurally sound. The Project does not involve any 
residential uses, and no residential structures within high hazard flood zones are proposed as part of the Project. 

§9.54: Consistency with Coastal Zone Management Policies
§9.54 establishes the principle that all nonwater-dependent use projects located in the coastal zone “shall be 
consistent with all policies of the Massachusetts Coastal Zone Management (CZM) Program.” The proposed project 
is both outside of the Coastal Zone and is a water-dependent project.



ATTACHMENT A – PROJECT NARRATIVE
MIDDLE STREET / PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER THE UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR 

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
CHAPTER 91 LICENSE APPLICATION

PAGE 9 OF 9

6.0 Summary

The Applicants, the Town of West Newbury and the City of Newburyport, are proposing to replace a structurally 
deficient bridge on Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir in order to re-open a 
public roadway that has been closed to vehicular traffic since 2018. This type of project exemplifies the intent and 
purpose of the Massachusetts Public Waterfront Act. The design approach taken was to first avoid impacts to 
wetland resources where feasible, and where unavoidable, to minimize the impacts to the extent practicable and 
mitigate where applicable. Throughout the project design process, the project team carefully considered various 
development alternatives and oved forward with the alternative that has the least impact to wetland resources while 
satisfying the project goals and providing the most public benefit. Reasonable measures have been taken to avoid, 
minimize, and mitigate potential adverse impacts. As such, the applicant requests project certification as described 
in this narrative and as shown on the project plans. The municipal applicants respectfully request that MassDEP 
issue a Chapter 91 Waterways License for this highly beneficial and program-compatible bridge replacement 
project, keeping the goal of utilizing time-sensitive funding in mind. 



 

Attachment B
Bridge Replacement Project

Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road 
over Upper Artichoke Reservoir, 

West Newbury and Newburyport, MA

Chapter 91 License Application
_________________________________

SITE FIGURES 
USGS LOCUS

AERIAL ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES MAP
FEMA FIRMETTE

PHOTOGRAPHS



Copyright:© 2013 National Geographic Society, i-cubed

70°55'0"W

70°55'0"W

70°56'0"W

70°56'0"W

70°57'0"W

70°57'0"W

42
°4

9'0
"N

42
°4

9'0
"N

42
°4

8'0
"N

42
°4

8'0
"N

Document Path: \\bscbos\wor\GIS-WOR\GISPrj\2839500\Output\Maps\MXD\ReportMaps\Newburyport_Locus _20200107.mxd
Date Sav ed: 9/11/2020  5:09:40 PM

THIS DOCUMENT IS  INTENDED FOR GENERAL PLANNING & INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY. ALL MEASUREMENTS & LOCATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE

Scale: Source: 2013
National Geographic
Society, i-cubed

MIDDLE ST / PLUMMER SPRING RD OVER UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR 
 BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 

USGS Site Location Map  
West Newbury & Newburyport, MA 

(page size: 8. 5 X 11)
1 inch = 2,000 feet

0 1,000 2,000

Feet

H

,

PROJE CT
AREA



File Location: \\bscbos\wor\GIS-WOR\GISPrj\2839500\Output\Maps\MXD\ReportMaps\Newburyport_ER_20201014.mxd
Date Saved: 10/14/2020 5:20:59 PM

THIS DOCUMENT IS INTENDED FOR GENERAL PLANNING & INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY. ALL MEASUREMENTS & LOCATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE.

Middle St

Plummer 
Spring Rd

Upper Artichoke 
Reservoir 

Upper Artichoke 
Reservoir 

Newburyport 
Water Supply 

Land

Artichoke
River

Watershed

WEST NEWBURY
NEWBURYPORT

b1-101

b1-102

b1-103

b1-104
b1-105

b1-106
b1-107

b1-108

b1-109

b1-110

b1-111

b1-112 b1-113
b1-114

b1-115

b1-116 b1-117

b1-118

b1-119 b1-120

b1-121

b1-122

b1-123

b1-124

b1-125

b1-126

b1-200

b1-201

b1-202

b1-203

b1-204

b1-205

b1-206
b1-207b1-208

b1-209b1-210

b1-211
b1-212

b1-213

b1-215

b1-216

b1-217

b1-218
b1-219

b1-220
b1-221

b1-222b1-223

b1-224

b1-225 b1-226

b1-227b1-228

b1-229
b1-230

b1-231b1-232

b1-233

b1-234

b1-235

b1-236b1-237

b1-238

b1-241

b1-242

b1-243

b1-239

b1-240

MIDDLE STREET / PLUMMER SPRING ROAD 
OVER THE UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR 

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT
Environmental Resources Map

Ü
0 25 50

Feet

1 inch = 50 feet

West Newbury & Newburyport, MA

Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin,
Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO,
USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase,
IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey,
Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong
Kong), (c) OpenStreetMap contributors,
and the GIS User Community

Index Map

*Indicates Layers Set to Transparency

Legend
Project Area

Existing Bridge Structure

Field Delineated Bank Flags

Field Delineated Edge of Bank

Field Delineated Waterbody

MADEP Hydrologic Connections

100ft Buffer to Wetlands & Streams

200ft Riverfront Area

FEMA 100yr Floodplain (Zone AE)*

Surface Water Protection Zone

Town Boundary

Article 97 Lands
Municipal

Resource Areas Reviewed:
MADEP Tier Classified Oil and/or Hazardous Material Sites (21E);
MADEP Oil and/or Hazardous Material Sites with Activity and Use Limitations;
NHESP Certified & Potential Vernal Pools;
NHESP Priority & Estimated Habitats;
NHESP Restricted Data; Hydrography;
Public Water Supply;
Zone II Wellhead Protection Area;
Interim Wellhead Protection Area;
Areas of Critical Environmental Concern;
Watershed Protection Act Zones;
Ch. 91 Tidelands Jurisdiction;
Landfills ([Not]Capped, [Un]Lined, [In]Active, Closed)

ENTIRE VIEW EXTENT IS WITHIN 
OUTSTANDING RESOURCE 

WATER AREA

Line



�8�6�*�6���7�K�H���1�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O���0�D�S�����2�U�W�K�R�L�P�D�J�H�U�\�����'�D�W�D���U�H�I�U�H�V�K�H�G���$�S�U�L�O����������

�1�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O���)�O�R�R�G���+�D�]�D�U�G���/�D�\�H�U���)�,�5�0�H�W�W�H

�� ������ ���������� ���������� ����������������
�)�H�H�W

�š

�6�(�(���)�,�6���5�(�3�2�5�7���)�2�5���'�(�7�$�,�/�(�'���/�(�*�(�1�'���$�1�'���,�1�'�(�;���0�$�3���)�2�5���)�,�5�0���3�$�1�(�/���/�$�<�2�8�7

�6�3�(�&�,�$�/���)�/�2�2�'
�+�$�=�$�5�'���$�5�(�$�6

�:�L�W�K�R�X�W���%�D�V�H���)�O�R�R�G���(�O�H�Y�D�W�L�R�Q�����%�)�(��
�=�R�Q�H���$�����9�����$����

�:�L�W�K���%�)�(���R�U���'�H�S�W�K �=�R�Q�H���$�(�����$�2�����$�+�����9�(�����$�5

�5�H�J�X�O�D�W�R�U�\���)�O�R�R�G�Z�D�\

�����������$�Q�Q�X�D�O���&�K�D�Q�F�H���)�O�R�R�G���+�D�]�D�U�G�����$�U�H�D�V
�R�I���������D�Q�Q�X�D�O���F�K�D�Q�F�H���I�O�R�R�G���Z�L�W�K���D�Y�H�U�D�J�H
�G�H�S�W�K���O�H�V�V���W�K�D�Q���R�Q�H���I�R�R�W���R�U���Z�L�W�K���G�U�D�L�Q�D�J�H
�D�U�H�D�V���R�I���O�H�V�V���W�K�D�Q���R�Q�H���V�T�X�D�U�H���P�L�O�H �=�R�Q�H���;

�)�X�W�X�U�H���&�R�Q�G�L�W�L�R�Q�V���������$�Q�Q�X�D�O
�&�K�D�Q�F�H���)�O�R�R�G���+�D�]�D�U�G �=�R�Q�H���;

�$�U�H�D���Z�L�W�K���5�H�G�X�F�H�G���)�O�R�R�G���5�L�V�N���G�X�H���W�R
�/�H�Y�H�H�����6�H�H���1�R�W�H�V�� �=�R�Q�H���;

�$�U�H�D���Z�L�W�K���)�O�R�R�G���5�L�V�N���G�X�H���W�R���/�H�Y�H�H �=�R�Q�H���'

�1�2���6�&�5�(�(�1 �$�U�H�D���R�I���0�L�Q�L�P�D�O���)�O�R�R�G���+�D�]�D�U�G �=�R�Q�H���;

�$�U�H�D���R�I���8�Q�G�H�W�H�U�P�L�Q�H�G���)�O�R�R�G���+�D�]�D�U�G �=�R�Q�H���'

�&�K�D�Q�Q�H�O�����&�X�O�Y�H�U�W�����R�U���6�W�R�U�P���6�H�Z�H�U

�/�H�Y�H�H�����'�L�N�H�����R�U���)�O�R�R�G�Z�D�O�O

�&�U�R�V�V���6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�V���Z�L�W�K���������$�Q�Q�X�D�O���&�K�D�Q�F�H
�������� �:�D�W�H�U���6�X�U�I�D�F�H���(�O�H�Y�D�W�L�R�Q

�&�R�D�V�W�D�O���7�U�D�Q�V�H�F�W

�&�R�D�V�W�D�O���7�U�D�Q�V�H�F�W���%�D�V�H�O�L�Q�H
�3�U�R�I�L�O�H���%�D�V�H�O�L�Q�H
�+�\�G�U�R�J�U�D�S�K�L�F���)�H�D�W�X�U�H

�%�D�V�H���)�O�R�R�G���(�O�H�Y�D�W�L�R�Q���/�L�Q�H�����%�)�(��

�(�I�I�H�F�W�L�Y�H���/�2�0�5�V

�/�L�P�L�W���R�I���6�W�X�G�\
�-�X�U�L�V�G�L�F�W�L�R�Q���%�R�X�Q�G�D�U�\

�'�L�J�L�W�D�O���'�D�W�D���$�Y�D�L�O�D�E�O�H

�1�R���'�L�J�L�W�D�O���'�D�W�D���$�Y�D�L�O�D�E�O�H

�8�Q�P�D�S�S�H�G

�7�K�L�V���P�D�S���F�R�P�S�O�L�H�V���Z�L�W�K���)�(�0�$�
�V���V�W�D�Q�G�D�U�G�V���I�R�U���W�K�H���X�V�H���R�I
�G�L�J�L�W�D�O���I�O�R�R�G���P�D�S�V���L�I���L�W���L�V���Q�R�W���Y�R�L�G���D�V���G�H�V�F�U�L�E�H�G���E�H�O�R�Z��
�7�K�H���E�D�V�H�P�D�S���V�K�R�Z�Q���F�R�P�S�O�L�H�V���Z�L�W�K���)�(�0�$�
�V���E�D�V�H�P�D�S
�D�F�F�X�U�D�F�\���V�W�D�Q�G�D�U�G�V

�7�K�H���I�O�R�R�G���K�D�]�D�U�G���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���L�V���G�H�U�L�Y�H�G���G�L�U�H�F�W�O�\���I�U�R�P���W�K�H
�D�X�W�K�R�U�L�W�D�W�L�Y�H���1�)�+�/���Z�H�E���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V���S�U�R�Y�L�G�H�G���E�\���)�(�0�$�����7�K�L�V���P�D�S
�Z�D�V���H�[�S�R�U�W�H�G���R�Q ���������������������D�W�������������3�0�� ���D�Q�G���G�R�H�V���Q�R�W
�U�H�I�O�H�F�W���F�K�D�Q�J�H�V���R�U���D�P�H�Q�G�P�H�Q�W�V���V�X�E�V�H�T�X�H�Q�W���W�R���W�K�L�V���G�D�W�H���D�Q�G
�W�L�P�H�����7�K�H���1�)�+�/���D�Q�G���H�I�I�H�F�W�L�Y�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���P�D�\���F�K�D�Q�J�H���R�U
�E�H�F�R�P�H���V�X�S�H�U�V�H�G�H�G���E�\���Q�H�Z���G�D�W�D���R�Y�H�U���W�L�P�H��

�7�K�L�V���P�D�S���L�P�D�J�H���L�V���Y�R�L�G���L�I���W�K�H���R�Q�H���R�U���P�R�U�H���R�I���W�K�H���I�R�O�O�R�Z�L�Q�J���P�D�S
�H�O�H�P�H�Q�W�V���G�R���Q�R�W���D�S�S�H�D�U�����E�D�V�H�P�D�S���L�P�D�J�H�U�\�����I�O�R�R�G���]�R�Q�H���O�D�E�H�O�V��
�O�H�J�H�Q�G�����V�F�D�O�H���E�D�U�����P�D�S���F�U�H�D�W�L�R�Q���G�D�W�H�����F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\���L�G�H�Q�W�L�I�L�H�U�V��
�)�,�5�0���S�D�Q�H�O���Q�X�P�E�H�U�����D�Q�G���)�,�5�0���H�I�I�H�F�W�L�Y�H���G�D�W�H�����0�D�S���L�P�D�J�H�V���I�R�U
�X�Q�P�D�S�S�H�G���D�Q�G���X�Q�P�R�G�H�U�Q�L�]�H�G���D�U�H�D�V���F�D�Q�Q�R�W���E�H���X�V�H�G���I�R�U
�U�H�J�X�O�D�W�R�U�\���S�X�U�S�R�V�H�V��

�/�H�J�H�Q�G

�2�7�+�(�5���$�5�(�$�6���2�)
�)�/�2�2�'���+�$�=�$�5�'

�2�7�+�(�5���$�5�(�$�6

�*�(�1�(�5�$�/
�6�7�5�8�&�7�8�5�(�6

�2�7�+�(�5
�)�(�$�7�8�5�(�6

�0�$�3���3�$�1�(�/�6

��

�%
��������

�7�K�H���S�L�Q���G�L�V�S�O�D�\�H�G���R�Q���W�K�H���P�D�S���L�V���D�Q���D�S�S�U�R�[�L�P�D�W�H
�S�R�L�Q�W���V�H�O�H�F�W�H�G���E�\���W�K�H���X�V�H�U���D�Q�G���G�R�H�V���Q�R�W���U�H�S�U�H�V�H�Q�W
�D�Q���D�X�W�K�R�U�L�W�D�W�L�Y�H���S�U�R�S�H�U�W�\���O�R�F�D�W�L�R�Q��

��������������

�����ƒ�����
�����:�������ƒ�����
�������1

�����ƒ�����
�������:�������ƒ�����
�������1



Photo #1: View northwest of Plummer Spring Rd, Newburyport facing Middle St, West 
Newbury over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir. Arrow indicates the failed section at the 
southern end of the roadway, directly over the bridge which is closed for public safety.

Photo #2: View northwest of Plummer Spring Rd, Newburyport facing Middle St, West 
Newbury over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir. Arrow indicates the failed section at the 
southern end of the roadway, directly over the bridge which is closed for public safety.

Bridge Replacement Project
Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road over Upper Artichoke Reservoir
West Newbury / Newburyport, Massachusetts

Page 1



Photo #4: View northwest of Plummer Spring Rd, Newburyport facing Middle St, West 
Newbury over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir.. Up close view of the bridge in disrepair. 

Page 2

Photo #3: View northwest of Plummer Spring Rd, Newburyport facing Middle St, West 
Newbury over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir. View of the failed section at the southern end 
of the roadway, directly over the bridge which is closed for public safety.

Bridge Replacement Project
Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road over Upper Artichoke Reservoir
West Newbury / Newburyport, Massachusetts



Photo #6: View southwest of the northern side of the roadway and bridge over the Upper 
Artichoke Reservoir.

Page 3

Photo #5: View southeast of Middle St, West Newbury facing Plummer Spring Rd, 
Newburyport over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir. Arrow indicates the failed section at the 
southern end of the roadway, directly over the bridge which is closed for public safety.

Bridge Replacement Project
Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road over Upper Artichoke Reservoir
West Newbury / Newburyport, Massachusetts



 

Attachment C
Bridge Replacement Project

Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road 
over Upper Artichoke Reservoir, 

West Newbury and Newburyport, MA

Chapter 91 License Application
_________________________________

SEDIMENT SAMPLING REPORT
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

December 4, 2019 GTR Project #19.107 

 

Mr. Micah Morrison P.E. 

BSC Group 

803 Summer Street 

Boston, MA 02127 

 

Re:   Streambed Sampling Results 

 Plummer Spring Road over Artichoke Reservoir No. N-11-007 = W-20-001 

 Newburyport/West Newbury, Massachusetts 

 

Dear Micah: 

 

Geosciences Testing and Research, Inc. (GTR) is pleased to present this letter summarizing 

the results of our Streambed Sampling for Plummer Spring Road over Artichoke Reservoir (No. N-

11-007 = W-20-001) Bridge Replacement on the Newburyport/West Newbury, Massachusetts line. 

See Figure 1 for a site locus plan. 

 

The streambed soil sampling was performed by GTR personnel on February 5, 2019. Boulders 

and cobbles were observed along the streambed banks. See Appendix A for photographs of the 

existing conditions of the stream beds. One (1) bulk soil sample was collected from each of the 

following areas; Right Over Bank (SB-1), Left Over Bank (SB-2) and the middle of the Center (SB-

3) for a total of three (3) samples. The samples were collected by using a hand auger/shovel to 

excavate a shallow test pit approximately 1 to 2 foot below existing grade.  Material greater than 4-

inches in diameter was not sampled. The SB-1 through SB-3 samples were collected at approximately 

35 to 42 feet upstream from the existing bridge. See Figure 2 for the approximate locations of the 

streambed samples. 

 

Sieve analyses and/or Atterberg Limits were performed in accordance with ASTM D422 and 

ASTM D4318, respectively, on the soil samples. See Appendix B for the results of the analyses, the 

Modified Burmister Soil Classification, the D50 particle sizes and plasticity index for the streambed 

samples.   

 

We trust this satisfies your current requirements and have appreciated working with you on 

this project. Please contact the undersigned if you have any questions. 

 

Sincerely, 

Geosciences Testing and Research, Inc. 

       
Curtis A. George, P.E.       

Principal          
Attachments: Figure 1 and 2, Appendices A- B  

19.107 Plummer St Newburyport -West Newbury MA - Streambed Sampling.docx 

 

    GEOSCIENCES TESTING AND RESEARCH, INC. 
 

55 Middlesex Street, Suite 225, N. Chelmsford, MA  01863 

Ph: (978)251-9395, Fx: (978)251-9396 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FIGURES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 







 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 

  



 

GEOSCIENCES TESTING AND RESEARCH, INC. 
 

55 Middlesex Street, Suite 225, N. Chelmsford, MA  01863 

Ph: (978)251-9395, Fx: (978)251-9396 

 

 

Project: Plummer Spring St Over Water Artichoke River 

Project No:   19.107 

Drawn By: C. George 

Date: 2/11/19 

 

 
 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B 



Sieve Analysis Data and Computation Sheet
Project Name: Sample No:

Project No.: Depth:

Test by:

Date: 5/6/2019

Soil Description:

Testing done in accordance with ASTM D-422

Sieve Sieve Cum.

Size Opening %

(mm) Finer

4.0" 100.000 100.0

3.0" 75.000 100.0

2.0" 50.000 100.0

1.5" 37.500 100.0

0.75" 19.000 98.9

0.5" 12.500 98.1

4 4.750 95.3

10 2.000 93.1

40 0.425 82.3

100 0.150 39.1

200 0.075 9.4

Soil Parameters:

D10: 0.078 mm D30: 0.13 mm D50 = 0.20 mm

Fine Sand

Silts & Clays

Fine Gravel

Coarse Sand

Medium Sand

Coarse Gravel

Medium Gravel

GEOSCIENCE TESTING & RESEARCH, INC.
55 MIDDLESEX ST., SUITE 225, NORTH CHELMSFORD, MA 01863

Phone: (978) 251-9395  Fax: (978) 251-9396

Plummer Street ROB SB-1

19.107 0-1 ft

Domenic Valeri

Brown, fine to medium SAND, trace Silt, trace Gravel, trace Roots.

Cobbles were not sampled.

Cobbles

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

P
er

ce
n

t 
F

in
er

Particle Diameter  (mm)

No. 4 sieve No. 200 sieveNo. 40 sieve



Sieve Analysis Data and Computation Sheet
Project Name: Sample No:

Project No.: Depth:

Test by:

Date: 5/6/2019

Soil Description:

Testing done in accordance with ASTM D-422

Sieve Sieve Cum.

Size Opening %

(mm) Finer

4.0" 100.000 100.0

3" 75.000 100.0

2.5" 63.500 100.0

2.0" 50.000 100.0

1.5" 37.500 100.0

0.75" 19.000 83.6

0.5" 12.500 80.5

4 4.750 76.9

10 2.000 71.8

40 0.425 42.6

100 0.150 10.1

200 0.075 5.3

Soil Parameters:

D10: 0.15 mm D30: 0.28 mm D50 = 0.63 mm

Fine Sand

Silts & Clays

Fine Gravel

Coarse Sand

Medium Sand

Coarse Gravel

Medium Gravel

GEOSCIENCE TESTING & RESEARCH, INC.
55 MIDDLESEX ST., SUITE 225, NORTH CHELMSFORD, MA 01863

Phone: (978) 251-9395  Fax: (978) 251-9396

Plummer Street LOB SB-2

19.107 0-1 ft

Domenic Valeri

Brown, fine to medium SAND, some Gravel, trace Silt, trace Roots.

Cobbles were not sampled.

Cobbles

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0100.1001.00010.000100.000

P
er

ce
n

t 
F

in
er

Particle Diameter  (mm)

No. 4 sieve No. 200 sieveNo. 40 sieve



Client: Geosciences Testing & Research
Project: Plummer St Bridge Replace
Location: Newburyport, MA Project No: GTX-309526
Boring ID: ---
Sample ID: Center SB-3
Depth : 0-1

Sample Type: jar
Test Date: 02/13/19
Test Id: 493103

Tested By: ckg
Checked By: emm

Test Comment: ---
Visual Description: Wet, very dark gray sand with silt
Sample Comment: ---

Moisture Content of Soil and Rock - ASTM D2216

printed 2/18/2019 4:52:11 PM

 Boring ID  Sample ID  Depth  Description  Moisture
Content,% 

--- Center SB- 3 0-1 Wet, very dark gray sand with silt 144.8

Notes: Temperature of Drying : 110º Celsius

curtis
Callout
Organic Silt



Client: Geosciences Testing & Research
Project: Plummer St Bridge Replace
Location: Newburyport, MA Project No: GTX-309526
Boring ID: ---
Sample ID: Center SB-3
Depth : 0-1

Sample Type: jar
Test Date: 02/18/19
Test Id: 493102

Tested By: ckg
Checked By: emm

Test Comment: ---
Visual Description: Wet, very dark gray sand with silt
Sample Comment: ---

Particle Size Analysis - ASTM D6913

printed 2/18/2019 4:48:45 PM

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0010.010.11101001000

P
er

ce
nt

 F
in

er

Grain Size (mm)

0.
37

5 
in

 

#
4 

#
10

 

#
20

 

#
40

 

#
60

 

#
10

0 
#

14
0 

#
20

0 

% Cobble

---

% Gravel

1.7

% Sand

87.3

% Silt & Clay Size

11.0
Sieve Name Sieve Size, mm Percent Finer Spec. Percent Complies

0.375 in 

#4 

#10 

#20 

#40 

#60 

#100 

#140 

#200 

9.50

4.75

2.00

0.85

0.42

0.25

0.15

0.11

0.075

100

98

83

67

43

24

16

13

11

 Coefficients
D   =2.2367 mm85

D   =0.6947 mm60

D   =0.5209 mm50

D   =0.2944 mm30

D   =0.1281 mm15

D   =N/A10

C   =N/Au C   =N/Ac

 Classification
 ASTM N/A

 AASHTO Clayey Gravel and Sand (A-2-7 (0))

 Sample/Test Description
Sand/Gravel Particle Shape : ROUNDED

Sand/Gravel Hardness : HARD



Client: Geosciences Testing & Research
Project: Plummer St Bridge Replace
Location: Newburyport, MA Project No: GTX-309526
Boring ID: ---
Sample ID: Center SB-3
Depth : 0-1

Sample Type: jar
Test Date: 02/18/19
Test Id: 493101

Tested By: cam
Checked By: emm

Test Comment: ---
Visual Description: Wet, very dark gray sand with silt
Sample Comment: ---

 Atterberg Limits - ASTM D4318

printed 2/18/2019 4:51:04 PM

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 110 120 130

P
la

st
ic

ity
 In

de
x

Liquid Limit

Plasticity Chart

ML or OLCL-ML

CL or OL

MH or OH

CH or OH

"A" Line

"U" Line

Symbol Sample ID Boring Depth Natural
Moisture

Content,%

Liquid
Limit

Plastic
Limit

Plasticity
Index

Liquidity
Index

Soil Classification

Center SB-3 --- 0-1 145 124 51 73 1.3

Sample Prepared using the WET method

57% Retained on #40 Sieve

Dry Strength: HIGH

Dilatancy: SLOW

Toughness: LOW



 

Attachment D
Bridge Replacement Project

Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road 
over Upper Artichoke Reservoir, 

West Newbury and Newburyport, MA

Chapter 91 License Application
_________________________________

WEST NEWBURY ORDER OF CONDITIONS (78-724)
NEWBURYPORT ORDER OF CONDITIONS (051-1047)

NOI PLANS 

















































































N/A

INDEX 1

INDEX

SHEET NO. DESCRIPTION

1 INDEX

2 LOCUS MAP

3 EXISTING CONDITIONS

4 PROPOSED CONDITIONS

5-6 PROPOSED WALL ELEVATION

7 EXISTING SOUTH ELEVATION

8 PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION

9 IMPACTS

10-15 CONTROL OF WATER

INDEX

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\9 - 2839500_(IMPACTS).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

IMPACTS TO WETLAND AND WATERBODY RESOURCES AND WATERS OF THE UNITED STATES

WEST NEWBURY NEWBURYPORT TOTAL

LAND UNDER WATERS OF THE US (LUW) /

WATERBODY

PERMANENT IMPACT 553 431 984 SF

TEMPORARY IMPACT 443 198 641 SF

PERMANENT IMPACT - DREDGE / FILL 39 / 17 9 / 2 48 / 19 CY

TEMPORARY IMPACT - DREDGE / FILL 28 / 0 22 / 0 50 / 0 CY

INLAND BANK / ORDINARY HIGH WATER (OHW)
PERMANENT IMPACT 128 54 182 LF

TEMPORARY IMPACT 47 14 61 LF

200-FOOT RIVERFRONT AREA (RFA)

REDEVELOPMENT
3,203 2,669 5,872

SF

PERMANENT IMPACT
1,986 1,217 3,203

SF

TEMPORARY IMPACT 570 548
1,118

SF

BORDERING LAND SUBJECT TO FLOODING

(BLSF)

PROPOSED ALTERATION 167 44 211 SF

PROPOSED REPLACEMENT 311 344 655 SF

FLOOD STORAGE LOST 393 132 525 CF

FLOOD STORAGE REPLACED
1,438 1,857 3,295

CF

NOTES:

1. HORIZONTAL DATUM IS BASED OFF OF THE NORTH

AMERICAN DATUM (NAD) 1983

2. ELEVATIONS ARE REFERENCED TO THE NORTH AMERICAN

VERTICAL DATUM OF 1988 (NAVD 88)



LATITUDE: 42°48'10.7"N

LONGITUDE: -70°55'51.5"W

PROJECT LOCATION

PLUMMER SPRING ROAD

N

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure:

617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Dwg. No:

PREPARED FOR:

Source:

CITY OF

NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST

NEWBURYPORT, MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING

ROAD OVER UPPER ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/

NEWBURYPORT, MA,  ESSEX COUNTY

Locus

1"=1200'

28395.00

LOCUS MAP

TOWN OF

WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST

NEWBURY, MA 01985

File:

UPPER ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR

2839500\Environmental\Drawings\2 - 2839500_(Locus)

MIDDLE STREET

12/21/2020

2 OF 15

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 1200' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2400

AutoCAD SHX Text
1200

AutoCAD SHX Text
600

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:



WF#B1-110

WF#B1-111

WF#B1-112

WF#B1-113

WF#B1-114
WF#B1-116

WF#B1-118

WF#B1-120

WF#B1-121

WF#B1-204

WF#B1-205

WF#B1-206

WF#B1-207

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

8

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

9

WF#B1-211

WF#B1-212

WF#B1-215

WF#B1-216

WF#B1-217

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

1

9

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

2

0

WF#B1-221

WF#B1-222

WF#B1-223

WF#B1-224

WF#B1-227

WF#B1-228

WF#B1-229

WF#B1-230

WF#B1-231

WF#B1-232

WF#B1-218

U
P

P
E

R
 
A

R
T

I
C

H
O

K
E

R
E

S
E

R
V

O
I
R

P

L

U

M

M

E

R

 
S

P

R

I
N

G

 
R

O

A

D

WF#B1-117

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

P

O

R

T

W

E

S

T

 

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

WF#B1-213

M

I
D

D

L
E

 
S

T
R

E

E

T

WF#B1-115

WF#B1-119

WF#B1-210

EXIST HIGHWAY GUARD

EXIST EDGE OF PVMT

EXIST BRIDGE

TOWN LINE

PROPERTY

LINE (TYP)

LEGEND:

ORDINARY HIGH WATER (OHW)/INLAND BANK

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\3 - 2839500_(EC).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

1" = 20'

EX COND
3

EXISTING CONDITIONS

N

NOTE: THE ENTIRE PROJECT AREA FOOTPRINT IS LOCATED

WITHIN THE 100-FOOT BUFFER, AND THE 200-FOOT

RIVERFRONT AREA (RFA). PORTIONS OF THE PROJECT ARE

LOCATED WITHIN BORDERING LAND SUBJECT TO FLOODING

(BLSF) ASSOCIATED WITH THE UPPER ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR, WITH A BASE ELEVATION OF 13.0 FEET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANITE BLOCK WALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE ABUTMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE ABUTMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 91-7   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 92-1   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
0



WF#B1-228

PROP BRIDGE

PROP HIGHWAY

GUARD (TYP)

PROP MODULAR

RET WALL (TYP)

PROP SEDIMENT CONTROL BARRIER

(TYP)

LIMIT OF

WORK (TYP)

PROP SIDEWALK

TREE TO BE PROTECTED

AND RETAINED

PROP BOTTOM

OF SLOPE (TYP)

WF#B1-110

WF#B1-111

WF#B1-112

WF#B1-113

WF#B1-114
WF#B1-116

WF#B1-118

WF#B1-120

WF#B1-121

WF#B1-204

WF#B1-205

WF#B1-206

WF#B1-207

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

8

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

9

WF#B1-211

WF#B1-212

WF#B1-215

WF#B1-216

WF#B1-217

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

1

9

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

2

0

WF#B1-221

WF#B1-222

WF#B1-223

WF#B1-224

WF#B1-227

WF#B1-228

WF#B1-229

WF#B1-230

WF#B1-231

WF#B1-232

WF#B1-218

U
P

P
E

R
 
A

R
T

I
C

H
O

K
E

R
E

S
E

R
V

O
I
R

P

L

U

M

M

E

R

 
S

P

R

I
N

G

 
R

O

A

D

WF#B1-117

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

P

O

R

T

W

E

S

T

 

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

WF#B1-213

M

I
D

D

L
E

 
S

T
R

E

E

T

WF#B1-115

WF#B1-119

WF#B1-210

1" = 20'

PROP COND

PROPOSED CONDITIONS

LEGEND:

SEDIMENT CONTROL BARRIER

BRIDGE ABUTMENT/ WINGWALL

UNDERGROUND BRIDGE STRUCTURE

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\4 - 2839500_(PR).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

ORDINARY HIGH WATER (OHW)/INLAND BANK

4

PROP LIMIT OF WORK

N

MODULAR BLOCK RETAINING WALL

PROPOSED BOTTOM OF SLOPE

MODIFIED ROCKFILL

NOTE: THE ENTIRE PROJECT AREA FOOTPRINT IS LOCATED

WITHIN THE 100-FOOT BUFFER, AND THE 200-FOOT

RIVERFRONT AREA (RFA). PORTIONS OF THE PROJECT ARE

LOCATED WITHIN BORDERING LAND SUBJECT TO FLOODING

(BLSF) ASSOCIATED WITH THE UPPER ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR, WITH A BASE ELEVATION OF 13.0 FEET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANITE BLOCK WALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE ABUTMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE ABUTMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 91-7   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 92-1   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
0



NAVD 88

BASE ELEV

0.00

5

10

15

20

25

0

10

20

2+75 3+00 3+25 3+50 3+75 4+00

MODULAR RETAINING WALL (SOUTHWEST)

PROP GROUND SURFACE (BACK OF WALL)

EXISTING GROUND SURFACE

(FACE OF WALL)

ORDINARY HIGH WATER EL.12.6'

25'

20'

15'

10'

5'

25'

20'

15'

10'

5'

NAVD 88

BASE ELEV

5.00

10

15

20

25

5

10

20

0+75 1+00 1+25 1+50

MODULAR RETAINING WALL (SOUTHEAST)

PROP GROUND SURFACE (BACK OF WALL)

EXISTING GROUND SURFACE

(FACE OF WALL)

ORDINARY HIGH WATER

EL.12.6'

25'

20'

15'

10'

25'

20'

15'

10'

5'

1" = 10'

PROPOSED WALL PROFILE

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\5-6 - 2839500_(WALL).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

5

PR WALL

PROF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 10' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
20



NAVD 88

BASE ELEV

0.00

5

10

15

20

25

0

10

20

0+90 1+00 1+25 1+50 1+75 2+00 2+10

MODULAR RETAINING WALL (NORTHWEST)

PROP GROUND SURFACE (BACK OF WALL)

EXISTING GROUND SURFACE

(FACE OF WALL)

ORDINARY HIGH WATER EL.12.6'

25'

20'

15'

10'

5'

25'

20'

15'

10'

5'

NAVD 88

BASE ELEV

5.00

10

15

20

25

5

10

20

0+75 1+00

1
4
.
8
7

1+25 1+50

MODULAR RETAINING WALL (NORTHEAST)

PROP GROUND SURFACE (BACK OF WALL)

EXISTING GROUND SURFACE

(FACE OF WALL)

ORDINARY HIGH WATER EL.12.6'

25'

20'

15'

10'

25'

20'

15'

10'

5'

1" = 10'

PROPOSED WALL PROFILE

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\5-6 - 2839500_(WALL).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

6

PR WALL

PROF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 10' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
20



2

1

2

"Ø BRIDGE RAIL

LOW CHORD

EL. 16.20

OHW & DESIGN

FLOOD EL. 12.6±

BOT. OF STREAMBED

EXIST. GUARDRAIL (TYP.)

FIELD STONE ARCH

STONE

HEADWALL

TOP OF ROADWAY (TYP.)

EXIST. CURB

COLLAPSED SPANDREL WALL

7'-2"± RISE

EXISTING ELEVATION

SCALE: 3/32" = 1'-0"

 0'

10'

 20'

 30'

 40'

 50'

  0'

10'

 20'

 30'

 40'

 50'

14'-4"±

CLEAR SPAN

NAVD 88

BASE ELEV

-10'

25 YR. FLOOD

EL. 12.8

50 YR. FLOOD

EL. 12.9

100 YR. FLOOD

EL. 13.0

NAVD 88

BASE ELEV

-10'

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\7-8 2839500 (ELEVATIONS).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

3/32" = 1'-0"

EXIST. EL.

EXISTING - SOUTH ELEVATION

7

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UEXISTING SOUTH ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0"



12" NATURAL STREAMBED MATERIAL OVER 3'-0"

RIPRAP (M2.02.0) WITH GRAVEL PACKED VOIDS

OVER 12" CRUSHED (M2.01.4) STONE (TYP.)

℄ WEST ABUT.

  STA. 4+04.65

℄ EAST ABUT.

  STA. 4+49.65

SPAN = 45'-0"

BOT. OF EXIST.

& PROP. STREAMBED

3'-6" ABUT. (TYP.)

PROP. SLOPE 1.5:1

PROP. B36-24

CONC. BOX BEAM

PROP. LOW CHORD

EL. 16.20

EXIST. LOW

CHORD EL. 16.20

PROP. INTEGRAL

ABUT. (TYP.)

℄ PROP. PILE

HP 10X57 GR. 50 (TYP.)

EL. 6.89
EL. 6.65

10'-0" WINGWALL (TYP.)

NAVD 88

BASE ELEV

-10'

 0'

10'

 20'

 30'

 40'

 50'

ESTIMATED PILE TIP

EL. -26.00

EXIST.

ARCH

UNIT

PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION

SCALE: 3/32" = 1'-0"

OHW & DESIGN

FLOOD EL. 12.6

25 YR. FLOOD

EL. 12.8

50 YR. FLOOD

EL. 12.9

100 YR. FLOOD

EL. 13.0

0'

10'

 20'

 30'

 40'

 50'

NAVD 88

BASE ELEV

-10'

PROP. WINGWALL (TYP.)

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\7-8 2839500 (ELEVATIONS).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

3/32" = 1'-0"

PROP. EL.

PROPOSED - SOUTH ELEVATION

NOTE: EXISTING STRUCTURE TO BE

REMOVED IN ITS ENTIRETY

8



WF#B1-210

WF#B1-116

WF#B1-118

WF#B1-114

WF#B1-110

WF#B1-111

WF#B1-112

WF#B1-113

WF#B1-114
WF#B1-116

WF#B1-118

WF#B1-120

WF#B1-121

WF#B1-204

WF#B1-205

WF#B1-206

WF#B1-207

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

8

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

9

WF#B1-211

WF#B1-212

WF#B1-215

WF#B1-216

WF#B1-217

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

1

9

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

2

0

WF#B1-221

WF#B1-222

WF#B1-223

WF#B1-224

WF#B1-227

WF#B1-228

WF#B1-229

WF#B1-230

WF#B1-231

WF#B1-232

WF#B1-218

U
P

P
E

R
 
A

R
T

I
C

H
O

K
E

R
E

S
E

R
V

O
I
R

P

L

U

M

M

E

R

 
S

P

R

I
N

G

 
R

O

A

D

WF#B1-117

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

P

O

R

T

W

E

S

T

 

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

WF#B1-213

M

I
D

D

L
E

 
S

T
R

E

E

T

WF#B1-115

WF#B1-119

WF#B1-210

TEMP IMPACTS

(DEWATERING

WOTUS/LUW) (3 S.F.)

TEMP IMPACTS (DUE TO

CONSTRUCTION) (26 S.F.)

TEMP IMPACTS (DEWATERING

WOTUS/LUW) (417 S.F.)

PERM IMPACTS (DUE TO

PLACEMENT OF STRUCTURES)

(428 S.F.)

TEMP IMPACTS (DEWATERING

WOTUS/LUW) (195 S.F.)

PERM IMPACTS (DUE TO

PLACEMENT OF STRUCTURES)

(125 S.F.)

PERM IMPACTS (DUE TO PLACEMENT

OF FILL AND STRUCTURES) (431 S.F.)

1" = 20'

IMPACTS

IMPACTS

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\9 - 2839500_(IMPACTS).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

LEGEND:

TEMP. IMPACT WATERBODY/LUW

PERM. IMPACT WATERBODY/LUW

ORDINARY HIGH WATER (OHW)/INLAND BANK

9

N

SEDIMENT CONTROL BARRIER

PROPOSED BOTTOM OF SLOPE

NOTE: THE ENTIRE PROJECT AREA FOOTPRINT IS LOCATED

WITHIN THE 100-FOOT BUFFER, AND THE 200-FOOT

RIVERFRONT AREA (RFA). PORTIONS OF THE PROJECT ARE

LOCATED WITHIN BORDERING LAND SUBJECT TO FLOODING

(BLSF) ASSOCIATED WITH THE UPPER ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR, WITH A BASE ELEVATION OF 13.0 FEET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANITE BLOCK WALLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE ABUTMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE ABUTMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 91-7   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 92-1   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
0



N/A

BLSF TABLE
10

FLOODPLAIN IMPACT AND MITIGATION SUMMARY

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\9 - 2839500_(IMPACTS).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

FLOODPLAIN IMPACT AND MITIGATION SUMMARY

ELEVATION

(FT)

FLOODPLAIN

IMPACT (CF)

FLOODPLAIN

MITIGATION (CF)

FLOODPLAIN

NET (CF)

WEST NEWBURY NEWBURYPORT WEST NEWBURY NEWBURYPORT WEST NEWBURY NEWBURYPORT TOTAL

3-4 - - - 10.1 NO CHANGE +10.1 +10

4-5 - - 6.1 46.5 +6.1 +46.5 +53

5-6 - - 40.4 84.3 +40.4 +84.3 +125

6-7 - - 78.3 122.2 +78.3 +122.2 +201

7-8 - - 116.2 160.1 +116.2 +160.1 +276

8-9 0.8 - 154.0 198.0 +153.3 +198.0 +351

9-10 - 24.5 192.9 236.8 +192.9 +212.4 +405

10-11 165.5 43.0 234.3 278.3 +68.8 +235.3 +304

11-12 140.6 38.6 279.8 354.5 +139.2 +315.9 +455

12-13 85.6 25.5 334.3 365.6 +248.7 +340.1 +589

TOTAL 392 131
1,436 1,856 1,044 1,725 2,769



WF#B1-110

WF#B1-111

WF#B1-112

WF#B1-113

WF#B1-114
WF#B1-116

WF#B1-118

WF#B1-120

WF#B1-121

WF#B1-204

WF#B1-205

WF#B1-206

WF#B1-207

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

8

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

9

WF#B1-211

WF#B1-212

WF#B1-215

WF#B1-216

WF#B1-217

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

1

9

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

2

0

WF#B1-221

WF#B1-222

WF#B1-223

WF#B1-224

WF#B1-227

WF#B1-228

WF#B1-229

WF#B1-230

WF#B1-231

WF#B1-232

WF#B1-218

WF#B1-117

WF#B1-213

WF#B1-115

WF#B1-119

WF#B1-210

OHW EL.12.6±

REMOVE EXIST ARCH

PROP STEEL PLATE

SHIELDING

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

P

O

R

T

W

E

S

T

 

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

UPPER

ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR

U
P

P
E

R
 
A

R
T

I
C

H
O

K
E

R
E

S
E

R
V

O
I
R

WF#B1-112

WF#B1-214

WF#B1-113

WF#B1-114

WF#B1-212

WF#B1-211

WF#B1-116

WF#B1-117

WF#B1-210

PROP LIMIT OF PAVEMENT REMOVAL (TYP)

WF#B1-213

1" = 20'

COW 

SHIELDING PLAN - UPPER ARCH REMOVAL

N

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\11-15 2839500 (COW).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

11

LEGEND:

ORDINARY HIGH WATER (OHW)/INLAND BANK

PROP LIMIT OF WORK

PROPOSED BOTTOM OF SLOPE

NOTE: THE ENTIRE PROJECT AREA FOOTPRINT IS LOCATED

WITHIN THE 100-FOOT BUFFER, AND THE 200-FOOT

RIVERFRONT AREA (RFA). PORTIONS OF THE PROJECT ARE

LOCATED WITHIN BORDERING LAND SUBJECT TO FLOODING

(BLSF) ASSOCIATED WITH THE UPPER ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR, WITH A BASE ELEVATION OF 13.0 FEET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
0



WF#B1-110

WF#B1-111

WF#B1-112

WF#B1-113

WF#B1-114
WF#B1-116

WF#B1-118

WF#B1-120

WF#B1-121

WF#B1-204

WF#B1-205

WF#B1-206

WF#B1-207

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

8

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

9

WF#B1-211

WF#B1-212

WF#B1-215

WF#B1-216

WF#B1-217

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

1

9

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

2

0

WF#B1-221

WF#B1-222

WF#B1-223

WF#B1-224

WF#B1-227

WF#B1-228

WF#B1-229

WF#B1-230

WF#B1-231

WF#B1-232

WF#B1-218

WF#B1-117

WF#B1-213

WF#B1-115

WF#B1-119

WF#B1-210

WF#B1-119

PROP SANDBAGS

PROP SUPPORT

OF EXCAVATION

SHEETPILE WALL (TYP)

SUMP PUMP LOCATION (TYP)

CONNECT COMPOST FILTER

TUBES TO CONTROL

OF WATER NO GAPS (TYP)

SUMP PUMP

DISCHARGE HOSE (TYP)

EXIST BRIDGE

TO BE REMOVED AFTER

THE INSTALLATION OF

THE CONTROL OF WATER

STEEL BRACING

(TYP)

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

P

O

R

T

W

E

S

T

 

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

UPPER

ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR

U
P

P
E

R
 
A

R
T

I
C

H
O

K
E

R
E

S
E

R
V

O
I
R

CONC BARRIER SILTATION

BASIN WITH FILTER BAG

LOCATION TO BE APPROVED BY

TOWN PRIOR TO INSTALLATION (TYP)

FILTER BAG CAPACITY 600 GAL/MIN OR

GREATER. FINAL DESIGN TO BE

DETERMINED BY CONTRACTOR'S ENGINEER.

WF#B1-114

1" = 20'

COW 

LEGEND:

CONTROL OF WATER - PHASE 1 - PLAN

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\11-15 2839500 (COW).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

12

N

SEDIMENT CONTROL BARRIER

ORDINARY HIGH WATER (OHW)/INLAND BANK

PROP LIMIT OF WORK

PROPOSED BOTTOM OF SLOPE

NOTE: THE ENTIRE PROJECT AREA FOOTPRINT IS LOCATED

WITHIN THE 100-FOOT BUFFER, AND THE 200-FOOT

RIVERFRONT AREA (RFA). PORTIONS OF THE PROJECT ARE

LOCATED WITHIN BORDERING LAND SUBJECT TO FLOODING

(BLSF) ASSOCIATED WITH THE UPPER ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR, WITH A BASE ELEVATION OF 13.0 FEET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
0



OHW EL.12.6±

HP12X84 (TYP)

PROP ABUT &

WINGWALL (TYP.)

REMOVE SHEETPILES

AFTER THE INSTALLATION

OF SCOUR PROTECTION (TYP)

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

P

O

R

T

W

E

S

T

 

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

UPPER

ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR

U
P

P
E

R
 
A

R
T

I
C

H
O

K
E

R
E

S
E

R
V

O
I
R

WF#B1-110

WF#B1-111

WF#B1-112

WF#B1-113

WF#B1-114
WF#B1-116

WF#B1-118

WF#B1-120

WF#B1-121

WF#B1-204

WF#B1-205

WF#B1-206

WF#B1-207

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

8

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

9

WF#B1-211

WF#B1-212

WF#B1-215

WF#B1-216

WF#B1-217

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

1

9

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

2

0

WF#B1-221

WF#B1-222

WF#B1-223

WF#B1-224

WF#B1-227

WF#B1-228

WF#B1-229

WF#B1-230

WF#B1-231

WF#B1-232

WF#B1-218

WF#B1-117

WF#B1-213

WF#B1-115

WF#B1-119

WF#B1-210

1" = 20'

COW 

CONTROL OF WATER - PHASE 2 - PLAN

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\11-15 2839500 (COW).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

13

N

LEGEND:

SEDIMENT CONTROL BARRIER

ORDINARY HIGH WATER (OHW)/INLAND BANK

PROP LIMIT OF WORK

MODULAR BLOCK RETAINING WALL

PROPOSED BOTTOM OF SLOPE

MODIFIED ROCKFILL

NOTE: THE ENTIRE PROJECT AREA FOOTPRINT IS LOCATED

WITHIN THE 100-FOOT BUFFER, AND THE 200-FOOT

RIVERFRONT AREA (RFA). PORTIONS OF THE PROJECT ARE

LOCATED WITHIN BORDERING LAND SUBJECT TO FLOODING

(BLSF) ASSOCIATED WITH THE UPPER ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR, WITH A BASE ELEVATION OF 13.0 FEET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
0



OHW EL.12.6±

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

P

O

R

T

W

E

S

T

 

N

E

W

B

U

R

Y

UPPER

ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR

U
P

P
E

R
 
A

R
T

I
C

H
O

K
E

R
E

S
E

R
V

O
I
R

INSTALL B36-24 CONC

BOX BEAMS AFTER THE

REMOVAL OF THE CONTROL

OF WATER

WF#B1-110

WF#B1-111

WF#B1-112

WF#B1-113

WF#B1-114
WF#B1-116

WF#B1-118

WF#B1-120

WF#B1-121

WF#B1-204

WF#B1-205

WF#B1-206

WF#B1-207

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

8

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

0

9

WF#B1-211

WF#B1-212

WF#B1-215

WF#B1-216

WF#B1-217

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

1

9

W

F

#

B

1

-

2

2

0

WF#B1-221

WF#B1-222

WF#B1-223

WF#B1-224

WF#B1-227

WF#B1-228

WF#B1-229

WF#B1-230

WF#B1-231

WF#B1-232

WF#B1-218

WF#B1-117

WF#B1-213

WF#B1-115

WF#B1-119

WF#B1-210

1" = 20'

COW 

CONTROL OF WATER - PHASE 3 - PLAN

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\11-15 2839500 (COW).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

14

N

LEGEND:

SEDIMENT CONTROL BARRIER

ORDINARY HIGH WATER (OHW)/INLAND BANK

PROP LIMIT OF WORK

MODULAR BLOCK RETAINING WALL

PROPOSED BOTTOM OF SLOPE

MODIFIED ROCKFILL

NOTE: THE ENTIRE PROJECT AREA FOOTPRINT IS LOCATED

WITHIN THE 100-FOOT BUFFER, AND THE 200-FOOT

RIVERFRONT AREA (RFA). PORTIONS OF THE PROJECT ARE

LOCATED WITHIN BORDERING LAND SUBJECT TO FLOODING

(BLSF) ASSOCIATED WITH THE UPPER ARTICHOKE

RESERVOIR, WITH A BASE ELEVATION OF 13.0 FEET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1851 COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
0



PROP. STEEL PLATE

PROP. TEMP. STEEL COLUMN (TYP.)

PROP. STEEL BEAM (TYP.)

EXIST. ARCH TO BE REMOVED

LIMITS OF PHASE 1 EXCAVATION

OHW EL. 12.6±

EXIST. BOT.

OF STREAMBED

SHIELDING PLAN - UPPER ARCH REMOVAL

SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"

INSTALL SHEETPILE

CONTROL OF WATER (TYP.)

LIMITS OF PHASE 2

EXCAVATION

LIMITS OF

PHASE 1 DEMOLITION

OHW EL. 12.6±

STEEL BRACING (TYP.)

CONTROL OF WATER - PHASE 1 - ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"

EXIST. BOT.

OF STREAMBED

3'-0" X 2'-6"

CRUSHED

STONE (TYP.)

PROP. HP12X84

PILE GR. 50 (TYP.)

PROP. 12" OF

NATURAL STREAMBED MATERIAL

OVER 3'-0" OF RIPRAP W/GRAVEL

PACKED VOIDS OVER 12" OF CRUSHED

STONE OVER GEOTEXTILE FABRIC (TYP.)

BRIDGE SEAT CONST.

JT. RAKE FINISH (TYP.)

OHW EL. 12.6±

CONTROL OF WATER - PHASE 2 - ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"

EXIST. BOT.

OF STREAMBED

OHW EL. 12.6±

B36-24 CONC.

BOX BEAM (TYP.)

CONTROL OF WATER - PHASE 3 - ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/2" = 1'-0"

EXIST. BOT.

OF STREAMBED

Scale:

Job No.:

Revised:

Date:

Figure: 617 896 4300
02127
Boston, Massachusetts
803 Summer Street

Description:

PREPARED FOR:

28395.00

Source:

CITY OF NEWBURYPORT

60 PLEASANT ST NEWBURYPORT,

MA 01950

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER SPRING ROAD OVER

UPPER ARTICHOKE RESERVOIR, WEST NEWBURY/NEWBURYPORT, MA

ESSEX COUNTY

TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

381 MAIN ST, WEST NEWBURY,

MA 01985

File: 2839500\Environmental\Drawings\11-15 2839500 (COW).dwg

  OF 15

12/21/2020

1/2" = 1'-0"

COW 

SHIELDING AND CONTROL OF WATER - ELEVATION

15



SEDIMENT BARRIER - COMPOST FILTER TUBE

NOT TO SCALE

ENSURE FIRM CONTACT WITH

GROUND TO PREVENT FLOW

UNDERNEATH TUBES

FOR SLOPES 3:1 OR AS

NECESSARY, STAKE OR

OTHERWISE SUPPORT

TUBES (I.E., TREES, CINDER

BLOCKS)

AREA OF SOIL

DISTURBANCE

BIODEGRADABLE

FABRIC

PROTECTED ZONE

SECTION

F
L
O

W

*9 INCH MAY BE USED FOR FLATTER

SURFACES WITH APPROVAL FROM

ENGINEER

PLACE TUBE AS CLOSE TO LIMIT OF SOIL

DISTURBANCE AS POSSIBLE, ALONG CONTOURS,

AND PERPENDICULAR TO FLOW.

ADJUST LOCATION AS REQUIRED FOR OPTIMUM

EFFECTIVENESS. DO NOT  INSTALL IN

WATERWAYS.

CURVE ENDS

UPHILL

EXISTING

TREE

MIN. 3 FT  OVERLAP

FOR CONTINUOUS

BARRIER.

HARDWOOD STAKES PLACED

OUTSIDE OF TUBES OR PER

MANUFACTURERS'

INSTRUCTION

PROTECTED ZONE

PLAN VIEW

 FLOW

TREE PROTECTION - ROOT ZONE

NOT TO SCALE

CONSTRUCTION ZONE

FENCE AND POST

MATERIAL PER

SPECIFICATIONS.

PLACE FENCE AS SHOWN

ON PLANS AND AS CLOSE

TO CONSTRUCTION LIMITS

(AS FAR FROM TRUNK) AS

POSSIBLE

NO TRESPASSING, STORAGE OF

EQUIPMENT, OR STOCKPILING OF

MATERIALS

PLACE FENCE AS SHOWN ON

PLANS AND AS CLOSE TO

CONSTRUCTION LIMITS (AS FAR

FROM TRUNK) AS POSSIBLE

EXISTING

TREES

LIMIT

CANOPY/ROOT

ZONE

TREE ROOT ZONE/

PLANT PROTECTION ZONE

CANOPY DRIP LINE

PLAN VIEW - FENCE PROTECTION OF ROOT ZONE

SECTION - FENCE PROTECTION OF ROOT ZONE

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
I
O

N
 
Z

O
N

E

TREE ROOT ZONE/

PLANT PROTECTION ZONE

NO TRESPASSING,

STORAGE OF EQUIPMENT,

OR STOCKPILING OF

MATERIALS

IN ROOT ZONE

SECTION - TRUNK ARMORING & PRUNING

CONSTRUCTION ZONE

PRUNE CANOPY AS REQUIRED

TO PREVENT DAMAGE FROM

CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT.

REMOVE DEAD/DAMAGED LIMBS

IF AND AS DIRECTED.

PRUNING SHALL BE PER ANSI

A300 STANDARDS

NO TRESPASSING, STORAGE OF

EQUIPMENT, OR STOCKPILING OF

MATERIALS

ARMOR TREES AS

SHOWN ON PLANS

OR PER ARBORIST

ARMOR FROM BASE OF

TREE, INCLUDING ROOT

FLARE, TO FIRST BRANCH.

TREE ROOT ZONE

TREE PROTECTION - TRUNK

NOTES:

SILT SACKS SHALL BE PLACED IN ALL CATCH BASINS

IN THE VICINITY OF NEW CONSTRUCTION. CATCH

BASINS SHALL BE PROTECTED AS SHOWN, WITH

MINIMUM WEEKLY MAINTENANCE, OR AS REQUIRED,

AND REPLACED IF NECESSARY.

SILT SACK INLET PROTECTION

(FOR USE WITH EXISTING CATCH BASINS)

SILT SACK

EXIST PVMT

NOT TO SCALE

POST AND BEAM

GUARDRAIL

3' MIN

(FROM FRONT

OF BLOCK)

GEOGRID STRIPS

POST AND BEAM GUARDRAIL - SECTION VIEW

NOT TO SCALE

PROP ROADWAY

SURFACE

CONSTRUCTION DETAILS

2
8

3
9

5
0

0
_

H
D

(
D

E
T

)
.
D

W
G

2
-
J
a

n
-
2

0
2

0
 
 
9

:
5

2
 
A

M
P

l
o

t
t
e

d
 
o

n

FED. AID PROJ. NO.

SHEET

NO.

TOTAL

SHEETS

SHEFFIELD

LIME KILN ROAD

25

STATE

MA

PROJECT FILE NO.

-

-

9

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAPTURE SEDIMENT AND PREVENT FLOW OFF SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REDUCE HIGH WATER FLOW ONTO WORK ZONE



 

Attachment E
Bridge Replacement Project

Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road 
over Upper Artichoke Reservoir, 

West Newbury and Newburyport, MA

Chapter 91 License Application
_________________________________

401 WATER QUALITY CERTIFICATION 
NOTICE OF IMMINENT ISSUANCE



Kreisel, Sara

From: Lally, Kyle (DEP) <kyle.lally@state.ma.us>

Sent: Wednesday, September 14, 2022 10:43 AM

To: Kreisel, Sara

Cc: Morrison, Micah; Walden, Diana L.

Subject: Re: X287261 Section 401 WQC Site Visit -  Middle Street, West Newbury / Plummer 

Spring Road, Newburyport over Upper Artichoke Reservoir, Bridge Replacement Project

Good Morning Sara, 

 

As we spoke about, so far in my review, I have no additional questions, nor do I need any additional 

information for the issuance of the 401 WQC.  

 

I am anticipating having the 401 ready to go in Mid-October, hopefully sooner. 

 

Thank you, 

Kyle 



 

Attachment F
Bridge Replacement Project

Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road 
over Upper Artichoke Reservoir, 

West Newbury and Newburyport, MA

Chapter 91 License Application
_________________________________

EOEEA CERTIFICATE 
AGENCY COMMENTS 



 

 

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs 

100 Cambridge Street, Suite 900 
Boston, MA 02114 

 

Charles D. Baker 
GOVERNOR 

 
Karyn E. Polito 

LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR 
 

Kathleen A.Theoharides 
SECRETARY 

 
Tel: (617) 626-1000 
Fax: (617) 626-1081 

http://www.mass.gov/eea 

 
August 23, 2021 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF THE SECRETARY OF ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS 
ON THE 

ENVIRONMENTAL NOTIFICATION FORM 
 
 
PROJECT NAME : Bridge Replacement Project-Middle Street and Plummer Spring 

Road over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir 
PROJECT MUNICIPALITY  : Newburyport & West Newbury 
PROJECT WATERSHED  : Merrimack 
EEA NUMBER   : 16412 
PROJECT PROPONENT  : City of Newburyport & Town of West Newbury 
DATE NOTICED IN MONITOR : July 23, 2021 

 
 
Pursuant to the Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act (MEPA; M.G. L. c. 30, ss. 61-62I) and 

Section 11.06 of the MEPA regulations (301 CMR 11.00), I hereby determine that this project does not 
require an Environmental Impact Report (EIR).   
 
Project Description  

 
As described in the Environmental Notification Form (ENF), the project consists of the full 

replacement of Bridge No. N-11-007, which carries Middle Street/Plummer Spring Road over the 
Artichoke River/Upper Artichoke Reservoir in the City of Newburyport (City) and the Town of West 
Newbury (Town). The project is proposed jointly by the City and Town to restore vehicular traffic 
between Middle Street and Plummer Spring Road, which ceased in 2018 when the existing bridge was 
closed due to structural deficiencies associated with the undermining of the existing roadway 
foundation. The proposed bridge will be a high strength precast concrete structure that will follow a 
similar horizontal and vertical alignment as the existing bridge. The span of the bridge will increase 
from an existing 14 feet to a proposed 45 feet in order to eliminate the need for the bridge’s substructure 
to be located in the reservoir and to increase the hydraulic opening, which is currently undersized. The 
overall width of the bridge will increase from 24.2 feet to 32.5 feet to accommodate safety 



EEA# 16412 ENF Certificate August 23, 2021 

 
 

2 

improvements, including the addition of a sidewalk. In order to accommodate the new bridge 
dimensions, slope stabilization/riprap scour protection will be constructed around the new bridge 
abutments and the approaches to the existing bridge will be widened, slopes reduced, and/or retaining 
walls constructed. 

 
Project Site 
 
 The 0.49-acre project site includes the existing bridge and approaches. The bridge divides West 
Newbury (located on the northwestern side) and Newburyport (located on the eastern side). Middle 
Street, which originates in West Newbury, turns into Plummer Spring Road upon entering Newburyport; 
both roads are functionally classified as Rural Local roads. The bridge crosses over the Upper Artichoke 
Reservoir, which is classified as a public water supply. The land surrounding the bridge is held for water 
supply protection purposes in accordance with Article 97 of the amendments to the Constitution of the 
Commonwealth (Article 97). According to the ENF, the project will not require the conversion or 
disposition of Article 97 Land. The surrounding area consists of low-density residential development 
and forested land. As described in the ENF, the existing bridge (and roads) were constructed in 1891, 
prior to the creation of the Upper Artichoke Reservoir. The existing bridge is described as a 14.3-foot 
(span) by 13.2-foot (rise) by 24.2-foot (long) single-span, earth-filled, stone arch bridge set at an 
approximate slope of 0 percent. The paved roadway consists of two travel lanes that vary in width from 
8.5 feet to 10 feet for a total roadway width of approximately 20 feet. There are no sidewalks on the 
bridge. As noted above, the bridge was closed in 2018 to vehicular traffic due to the collapse of portions 
of the bridge, stone headwall, and southeast approach, and is currently considered structurally deficient 
due to undermining of the paved roadway foundation.  
 
 There are several wetland resources within or surrounding the project site associated with the 
Upper Artichoke Reservoir/Artichoke River, including: Land Under Water (LUW), Bank, Riverfront 
Area, and Bordering Land Subject to Flooding (BLSF). The entirety of the project site is located within 
or adjacent to an Outstanding Resource Water (ORW). Portions of the project site are mapped as Flood 
Zone AE (an area inundated during a 100-year storm), with a Base Flood Elevation (BFE) of elevation 
(el.) 13 ft NAVD88 as delineated on Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) map 
25009C0116F (effective date July 3, 2012), although the ENF indicates the flow of water through the 
bridge is controlled by the downstream dam that impounds the Upper Artichoke Reservoir. The project 
site does not contain Estimated and Priority Habitat of Rare Species as delineated by the Natural 
Heritage and Endangered Species Program (NHESP) in the 14th Edition of the Massachusetts Natural 
Heritage Atlas or an Area of Critical Environmental Concern (ACEC). The site does not contain any 
structures listed in the State Register of Historic Places or the Massachusetts Historical Commission’s 
(MHC) Inventory of Historic and Archaeological Assets of the Commonwealth, although comments 
received on the project note concern regarding the historic nature of the bridge.  
 
Environmental Impacts and Mitigation 
 

Potential environmental impacts associated with the project include the alteration of 0.05 acres of 
land, the creation of 0.05 acres of impervious surface (for a total of 0.21 acres within the project site), 
and the alteration of the following wetland resource areas: 243 linear feet (lf) of Bank, 2,510 sf of LUW 
(885 sf of which is associated with LUW that will be created by the project), 866 sf of BLSF, and 



EEA# 16412 ENF Certificate August 23, 2021 

 
 

3 

10,519 sf of Riverfront Area. The project will require dredging of 98 cubic yards (cy) of sediment and 
will result in 525 cubic feet (cf) of fill within BLSF. 
 

Measures to avoid, minimize, and mitigate environmental impacts include the creation of 3,295 
cf compensatory flood storage, stormwater improvements, the incorporation of retaining walls and 
removal of substructure supports in the reservoir, and the use of construction best management practices 
(BMPs) such as erosion and sedimentation controls.  

 
Jurisdiction and Permitting 
 

This project is subject to MEPA review and preparation of an ENF pursuant to 301 CMR 
11.03(3)(b)(c) because it requires an Agency Action and will result in the alteration of 1,000 or more sf 
of outstanding resource waters. The project requires a 401 Water Quality Certification (WQC) from the 
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (MassDEP). Comments from the MassDEP 
Waterways Regulation Program (MassDEP-WRP) indicate the project also requires a Chapter 91 (c.91) 
License. The project will require review by MHC acting as the State Historic Preservation Officer 
(SHPO) pursuant to Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended (36 CFR 
800). 

 
The project received an Order of Conditions from the Newburyport Conservation Commission 

on June 7, 2021 and from the West Newbury Conservation Commission on June 29 2021, neither of 
which were appealed. The project requires Pre-Construction Notification to the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers (USACE) under the General Permits for Massachusetts as well as consultation and review 
from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Services (USFWS) in accordance with Section 404 of the Federal Clean 
Water Act.  
 

Because the project will receive Financial Assistance through the MassWorks Infrastructure 
Grant and Massachusetts Department of Transportation (MassDOT) Small Bridge Grant Programs, 
MEPA jurisdiction is broad in scope and extends to all aspects of the project that may cause Damage to 
the Environment, as defined in the MEPA regulations. 
 
Review of the ENF 
 

The ENF provided a description of existing and proposed conditions, preliminary project plans, 
correspondence with the West Newbury and Newburyport Conservation Commissions, stream crossing 
evaluation, streamlined stormwater report, results of hydrologic and hydraulic (H&H) modeling, 
correspondence with MHC, tribes, and the Massachusetts Board of Underwater Archaeological 
Resources (BUAR), and a copy of the 401 WQC application and USACE Authorization. The ENF 
identified measures to avoid, minimize and mitigate environmental impacts. The Proponent provided 
additional information to the MEPA Office regarding water control systems during project construction 
and a Repair/Rehabilitation of Existing Structure Alternative on August 6, 2021. For purposes of clarity, 
all supplemental materials are referred to herein as the “ENF” unless otherwise referenced.   
 
 
 



EEA# 16412 ENF Certificate August 23, 2021 

 
 

4 

Alternatives Analysis 
  

The ENF included an alternatives analysis which considered a No-Build (Alternative 1), Three-
sided Open Bottom Bridge with a Precast Concrete Rigid Frame (Alternative 2), Open Bottom Arch 
Bridge with Precast Concrete Arch (Alternative 3), Repair/Rehabilitation of Existing Structure 
(Alternative 4), and Three-sided Open Bottom Bridge with a Precast Concrete Beam Alternative (the 
Preferred Alternative). Alternatives were evaluated based on their ability to meet project goals while 
balancing reliability and cost, and minimizing environmental impacts.  

 
Alternative 1 would leave the existing bridge in its current, deteriorated condition, which would 

not result in further alteration of environmental resources within the project site but would not restore 
vehicular connectivity; it would also lead to continued erosion of the surrounding area. For these 
reasons, it was dismissed. Alternative 4 would involve repairing/rehabilitating the existing bridge. 
According to the ENF, the viability of this alternative was discussed during a joint public meeting 
between the City and Town in August 2018, at which time the underlying cause of the wall 
displacement/collapse and the condition of the buried/submerged portions of the bridge was (and 
remains) unknown. As described at the MEPA remote consultation meeting for the project held on 
August 5, 2021, and confirmed in writing by the Proponent, repair/rehabilitation of the existing bridge is 
anticipated to result in greater and longer lasting impacts to wetland resource areas than the Preferred 
Alternative. This is because the replacement alternative would require additional dewatered working 
space/access, exposing wetland resource areas for a longer period of time, and would not remove the 
bridge substructure in the reservoir or increase the hydraulic opening of the structure (as is proposed in 
the Preferred Alternative). Additionally, a December 2019 geotechnical investigation found a layer of 
peat and clay below the bridge foundations. The ENF states that both layers include poor foundational 
soils and would further hinder the design progression of a repair/rehabilitation. For these reasons, the 
Repair/Rehabilitation of Existing Structure Alternative was not considered viable.  

 
Alternatives 2 and 3 considered design changes to the Preferred Alternative. Alternative 2 would 

involve a three-sided open bottom bridge with a precast concrete 22-foot clear span rigid frame. The 
structure would include a 24-foot roadway with no sidewalks and continuous guardrail. It would have an 
overall width of 27.25 feet, include spread footing, with an estimated cost of $2.4 million. Alternative 3 
would involve an open bottom arch bridge with a precast concrete ±30.7-foot span arch. The structure 
would include a 24-foot roadway with no sidewalks and a bridge rail. It would have an overall width of 
27.25 feet, include pile footings, and would cost an estimated $2.3 million. The Preferred Alternative 
(described herein) proposes a three-sided open bottom bridge with a precast concrete 45-foot span, a 24-
foot roadway with one sidewalk, and a bridge rail. The proposed bridge will have an overall width of 
32.5 feet, involve integral abutments on piles, and is estimated to cost a total of $2.6 million. As 
described in the ENF, the Preferred Alternative and Alternative 2 and 3 all provide similar outcomes 
regarding maintenance and protection of traffic, cross section and roadside safety, utilities and resource 
area impacts. All three alternatives would be designed to the same storm event, hydraulic opening, water 
depth and velocity, bank full width and FEMA requirements. The ENF states the Preferred Alternative 
was selected over Alternative 2 and 3 as it is the only alternative that provides safe pedestrian access and 
use (as the latter alternatives do not include sidewalks); it also provides the longest span, greater channel 
openness, and new areas of LUW and compensatory flood storage by removing the portions of the 
existing bridge embedded in the river and widening the streambed within the bridge opening. As 
described below, these aspects are expected to improve flow conditions, reduce bridge scour/erosive 



EEA# 16412 ENF Certificate August 23, 2021 

 
 

5 

conditions, and improve water quality. The ENF further states the Preferred Alternative was selected at 
the August 5, 2021 joint public meeting held by the Town and City to advance to construction. 
 
Wetlands 
 

The project will result in 243 lf of permanent alteration and 61 lf of temporary alteration to Bank. 
Approximately 10,519 sf of alteration will occur within Riverfront Area, of which 1,254 sf is described 
as temporary, 3,393 sf is described as permanent, and 5,872 sf is characterized as redevelopment, 
located within the existing roadway. Approximately 866 sf of BLSF will be permanently altered, 211 sf 
of which is associated with the placement of approximately 525 cf of fill and 655 sf of which is 
associated with the creation of 3,295 cf compensatory flood storage. The project will alter 2,510 sf of 
LUW, of which: 984 sf is described as permanent, associated with the construction of the new bridge, 
retaining walls, and riprap; 641 sf is described as temporary, associated with the dewatering and 
construction activities; and 885 sf is proposed to be created through the removal of existing 
infrastructure and expansion of the hydraulic opening of the bridge. According to the ENF, erosion and 
sedimentation controls will be installed prior to construction, and all temporarily impacted wetland 
resource areas will be restored once construction is complete. As noted above, the Newburyport and 
West Newbury Conservation Commissions reviewed the project for its consistency with the Wetlands 
Protections Act (WPA), the Wetland Regulations (310 CMR 10.00), and associated performance 
standards, including the Stormwater Management Standards (SMS), and issued Order of Conditions 
which were not appealed.  

 
The project requires a 401 WQC in accordance with 314 CMR 9.04(2) as it will involve 

dredging within an ORW. Approximately 98 cy of sediment will be dredged from the channel, 50 cy of 
which is described as temporary. Comments from MassDEP-WRP state the existing bridge and 
approach roadways were constructed in 1891, prior to the 1939 statutory change when c.91 jurisdiction 
was expanded to navigable rivers, but that the Upper Artichoke River is at present subject to c.91 
jurisdiction; as such, the project requires a c.91 License. MassDEP-WRP further states the project (as 
described in the ENF) appears to substantively comply with the applicable provisions for water-
dependent Public Service projects, specifically those at 310 CMR 9.35-9.37. I refer the Proponent to 
comments from MassDEP-WRP for more information on required permitting for the project.  

 
As noted above, the span of the bridge is proposed to increase from 14 feet to 45 feet, which will 

remove the need for substructure within deep areas of the reservoir. The ENF states the increased 
hydraulic opening will improve flow conditions, reduce bridge scour/erosive conditions, and improve 
water quality. The removal of the existing bridge infrastructure and increase span of the proposed bridge 
will result in a wider natural streambed bottom and is expected to improve fish and wildlife habitat 
within the vicinity of the bridge as well as up and downgradient of the bridge. The increased span will  
require rip-rap scour protection to be placed in the streambed (LUW) to stabilize the roadway and 
bridge. The existing streambed material will be removed and stockpiled on-site for use during 
restoration to ensure appropriate sizing and arrangement of materials under pre- and post-construction 
conditions. Upon completion of the proposed bridge replacement activities, the streambed 
elevation will be similar to that of the existing streambed, with the riprap proposed to be covered by 6 
inches of natural streambed material. 
 



EEA# 16412 ENF Certificate August 23, 2021 

 
 

6 

Stormwater and Drinking Water 
 

The ENF described the existing stormwater system within the project site as a country drainage 
system, whereby runoff travels to the approach roadway and informally runs off down the side slopes. 
The proposed bridge replacement is considered a redevelopment project, and will result in an increase of 
0.05 acres of impervious surface. Proposed stormwater improvements include the installation of two 
deep sump catch basins with water quality units on either side of the roadway, on both side of the 
bridge. The ENF states these improvements are anticipated to result in more than 80 percent of total 
suspended solids (TSS) removal from runoff.  

 
 As noted previously, the entirety of the project site is located within or adjacent to an ORW, and 
the bridge crosses a drinking water reservoir. The ENF states the demolition of the existing bridge and 
construction of the proposed bridge and retaining walls are required to be completed in-the-dry, which 
will be accomplished through the use of cofferdams. All dewatering and related earthwork shall be 
conducted in such a manner as to prevent siltation or contamination of the waterway and wetlands. No 
pumping discharge will be allowed to enter the Artichoke Reservoir or the wetland resource areas. As 
described in the ENF, water from the work areas will be pumped either to a filter bag, temporary settling 
tank, forebay basin, or other approved containment structure conforming to MassDOT’s “Guidelines for 
Soil Erosion & Sediment Control” at a location approved by the respective Conservation Commissions. 
The filter bags will remove sediment from the water, which will then outflow over land to allow for 
infiltration. At the limits of the control of water system, compost filter tubes will be installed to prevent 
sediment from stormwater runoff from reaching the Reservoir. No direct discharge will be allowed into 
waterways, or the adjacent wetlands during the dewatering operations. 
 
Climate Change, Adaptation, and Resiliency 
 

Governor Baker’s Executive Order 569: Establishing an Integrated Climate Change Strategy for 
the Commonwealth (EO 569; the Order) was issued on September 16, 2016. The Order recognizes the 
serious threat presented by climate change and direct Executive Branch agencies to develop and 
implement an integrated strategy that leverages state resources to combat climate change and prepare for 
its impacts. The Order seeks to ensure that Massachusetts will meet GHG emissions reduction limits 
established under the Global Warming Solution Act of 2008 (GWSA) and will work to prepare state 
government and cities and towns for the impacts of climate change.  I note that the MEPA statute directs 
all State Agencies to consider reasonably foreseeable climate change impacts, including additional 
greenhouse gas emissions, and effects, such as predicted sea level rise, when issuing permits, licenses 
and other administrative approvals and decisions. M.G.L. c. 30, § 61.   

 
As noted above, the Artichoke River and the Artichoke Reservoirs are located within the FEMA 

100-year floodplain. The ENF states both the ordinary high water and 10-year design flood elevation are 
at 12.6-feet NAVD88, which is maintained by dams downstream of the project area at all times. 
According to the ENF, the existing bridge is designed to pass a 10-year storm event. The H&H analysis 
included in the ENF indicates the proposed bridge (and in wider hydraulic opening) will be able to 
accommodate the 100-year flood frequency storm event. The H&H analysis did not evaluate impacts 
from climate change on storm frequency and intensity; however, the ENF states that the impacts from 
the 10-year, 100-year, and 500-year storm events within the project site are not significantly different 
due to the stability and regulation of water levels provided by the dams. The ENF further states that the 



EEA# 16412 ENF Certificate August 23, 2021 

 
 

7 

project will create a more reliable, resilient road crossing, which will be less vulnerable to flooding or 
further deterioration in a storm event as compared to the existing bridge.  
 
Historic Resources 
 
 As stated above, the project site does not contain any structures listed in MHC’s Inventory; 
however, comments received on the ENF note concern with the characterization of the bridge 
(specifically, the original date of construction) and the lack of a repair/rehabilitate alternative included in 
the original ENF. The Proponent discussed the Repair/Rehabilitation of Existing Structure Alternative 
(Alternative 4) and associated increased environmental impacts (as compared to the Preferred 
Alternative) during the MEPA remote consultation meeting held on August 5, 2021, and provided 
supplemental information to the MEPA Office on August 6, 2021. As discussed above, repair of the 
existing bridge was dismissed due to the unknown condition of the substructures, poor foundation soils, 
narrow hydraulic opening and in turn streambed bottom, and lack of pedestrian accommodations. The 
ENF states a Project Notification Form (PNF) and request for comment was submitted to relevant tribes, 
MHC, and BUAR on January 14, 2021, and correspondence received from MHC in response to the PNF 
indicates the project is unlikely to affect significant historic or archaeological resources. 
 
Construction 
 

The project will take approximately 20 months to construct and is proposed to occur between 
October 2021 and June 2023. Before beginning construction, the ENF states boundaries of wetland 
resource areas and work areas will be clearly marked to prevent unauthorized encroachment into 
wetland resource areas. Proper erosion/sedimentation control devices, such as compost filter tubes will 
be installed. All construction and demolition activities should be managed in accordance with applicable 
MassDEP’s regulations regarding Air Pollution Control (310 CMR 7.01, 7.09-7.10), and Solid Waste 
Facilities (310 CMR 16.00 and 310 CMR 19.00, including the waste ban provision at 310 CMR 19.017). 
The project should include measures to reduce construction period impacts (e.g., noise, dust, odor, solid 
waste management) and emissions of air pollutants from equipment, including anti-idling measures in 
accordance with the Air Quality regulations (310 CMR 7.11). I encourage the Proponent to require that 
its contractors use construction equipment with engines manufactured to Tier 4 federal emission 
standards, or select project contractors that have installed retrofit emissions control devices or vehicles 
that use alternative fuels to reduce emissions of volatile organic compounds (VOCs), carbon monoxide 
(CO) and particulate matter (PM) from diesel-powered equipment. Off-road vehicles are required to use 
ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel (ULSD). If oil and/or hazardous materials are found during construction, the 
Proponent should notify MassDEP in accordance with the Massachusetts Contingency Plan (310 CMR 
40.00). All construction activities should be undertaken in compliance with the conditions of all State 
and local permits. I encourage the Proponent to reuse or recycle construction and demolition (C&D) 
debris to the maximum extent. 
 
Conclusion 
 
 The ENF has adequately described and analyzed the project and its alternatives, and assessed its 
potential environmental impacts and mitigation measures.  Based on review of the ENF and comments 
received on it, and in consultation with MassDEP, I have determined that an EIR is not required. 
         



EEA# 16412 ENF Certificate August 23, 2021 

 
 

8 

           
     August 23, 2021                 _________________________           

               Date                Kathleen A. Theoharides 
 
Comments received:  
 
08/09/2021 Elisa J. Grammer 
08/13/2021 Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection Waterway Regulation Program 

(MassDEP-WRP)  
 
 
KAT/ELM/elm 



Elisa J. Grammer 
47 Coffin Street 

West Newbury, MA 01985 
August 9, 2021 

Eva Murray, Environmental Analyst 
Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act (MEPA) Office 
100 Cambridge Street, 9th Floor 
Boston, MA 02114 
By email delivery Eva.Murry@mass.gov  
And via the MEPA Comment Portal 

Re: Bridge Replacement Project- Middle Street and Plummer Spring Road over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir, 
EEA#/MEPA ID 16412 

Dear Ms. Murray: 

I write in my individual capacity as an interested West Newbury citizen, but would disclose that I am a 
member of the West Newbury Historical Commission, which is not scheduled to meet to discuss the above-
captioned matter until August 17, 2021. I respectfully request that the MEPA Office consider 1) the 
adequacy of the historical description of the bridge in the July 15, 2021 Environmental Notification Form 
and 2) the Form’s failure to consider preserving and repairing/improving the existing bridge.

The Bridge’s History  
Cursory research (provided as Attachment 1) indicates that the Form’s description of the bridge’s history— 
“The road and stone arch bridge were constructed in 1891 before the Upper Artichoke Reservoir was 
built.” (Attachment A: Project Narrative, at 2)—is neither entirely accurate nor complete. The bridge and road 
connecting West Newbury’s Middle Street to what was once Newbury’s Turkey Hill area was first 
proposed by John Plummer and other nearby property owners in 1850. This petition laid out the proposed 
route crossing the Artichoke River now in place. In 1853, West Newbury and Newburyport advertised for 
bids  

For making and grading a road leading from Turkey Hill road to Artichoke River in 
Newburyport, it being about twenty one hundred feet 

Also for making and grading a road near the Byfield road in West Newbury to Artichoke 
River, it being about twenty four hundred feet 

Also to build a Stone Bridge fifteen feet span, across Artichoke River, according to profile, 
plans and specifications at the City Clerk’s office, Newburyport 

The roads and bridge were built by 1855, and are shown on a map dated 1856. 

The stone bridge was the first public work of Jonathan Corliss, a farmer in West Newbury who became a 
stone mason. Corliss later built other stone bridges in the area. 

In 1880, West Newbury’s Annual Town Report contained a town meeting warrant article discussing the 
need to repair or rebuild “the bridge over Artichoke River on the Middle Road.” In 1891 Newburyport 
determined “to expend the sum of $1000 to build a bridge across the Artichoke river at Plummer’s springs 

mailto:Eva.Murry@mass.gov
https://eeaonline.eea.state.ma.us/EEA/PublicComment/UI/collectcomment/9c57d306-ae56-439b-a45f-ed0f79e93b8a
https://www.wnewbury.org/historical-commission/files/1979-annual-town-report


if the town of West Newbury shall bear its part of the expense.” A stone bridge much like the 1850s 
original was put out to bid in 1891. It was complete by 1892, except for aspects of Newburyport’s adjacent 
road improvements. 

A photo of and story about the bridge are included in Audrey Ladd’s history of West Newbury, Contentious 
Citizens. This is excerpted in Attachment 1 hereto. The Artichoke bridge is not currently in the MACRIS 
data base; whether it will be included in West Newbury’s upcoming Phase 3 Historic Sites Survey has not 
been determined. 

Preservation and Repair Alternative 
The existing bridge’s history dating to 1850 and its aesthetic appeal beg the question why repair/ 
improvement of the existing bridge was not considered in the Form. The Form states the bridge is an 
“earth-filled stone arch” (Attachment A: Project Narrative, at 2) that is structurally deficient due to 
undermining of the existing roadway foundation (Attachment A: Project Narrative, at 1)  

The Form offers no discussion of the alternative of strengthening and repairing the existing bridge’s 
roadway foundation, taking measures to mitigate erosion and scouring attributed (without elaboration) to 
the size of the existing bridge opening, and possibly improving the bridge deck to accommodate 
pedestrians. The Form identifies four alternatives, with precast concrete structures for all three of the 
construction options:  

• a no-build alternative,
• a three-sided open bottom bridge with a precast concrete rigid frame,
• an open bottom arch bridge with precast concrete arch, and
• a three-sided open bottom bridge with a precast concrete beam (the Preferred Alternative /

Proposed Project). (Attachment A: Project Narrative, at 6-8)

Logically, it would seem that repairing an existing bridge would also avoid a number of environmental 
impacts associated with demolishing the old one and constructing anew. 

______________ 

Accordingly, I respectfully request that the MEPA office consider the history of the existing bridge and the 
alternative of repairing/improving that bridge, short of full replacement. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Elisa J. Grammer 

Attachment 1: Initial research—Artichoke Bridge history 

https://www.wnewbury.org/historical-commission/pages/historic-sites-survey


Contentious Citizens by Audrey Ladd p 195 

Map of the original town of Newbury, now divided into Newbury, Newburyport and West Newbury - 
Norman B. Leventhal Map & Education Center 1830 map—no bridge shown at Middle St 

1850: proposal for a new bridge over the Artichoke by Plummer property 
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-
01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18500710_english
_4&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710  

Bridge Replacement Project- Middle Street and Plummer Spring Road over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir, EEA#/
MEPA ID 1612 Grammer Comments Attachment 1

https://collections.leventhalmap.org/search/commonwealth:cj82ks49q?fbclid=IwAR3XREOL4PCbHgPBQbRKpxMoi84bn2aNeZFfZvZkNojnxobcp2bOw83yPiU
https://collections.leventhalmap.org/search/commonwealth:cj82ks49q?fbclid=IwAR3XREOL4PCbHgPBQbRKpxMoi84bn2aNeZFfZvZkNojnxobcp2bOw83yPiU
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18500710_english_4&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18500710_english_4&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18500710_english_4&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710




http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-
01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18500620_english

_3&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710 

1853—new road & bridge put to bid http://newburyport.advantage-
preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-
01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18530531

http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18500620_english_3&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18500620_english_3&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18500620_english_3&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18530531_english_3&df=31&dt=40&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18530531_english_3&df=31&dt=40&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18530531_english_3&df=31&dt=40&cid=2710


_english_3&df=31&dt=40&cid=2710 

http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011853-
01011856&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18550730_english 
_7&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710 1855-mentions new bridge over the Artichoke River 

http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011870-
01011880&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_187 
81115_english_3&df=51&dt=59&cid=2710 Jonathan Corliss built a stone arch bridge over the Artichoke 
River in Newbury—which was before Nbpt took over the Turkey Hill side  

http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011850-01011860&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18530531_english_3&df=31&dt=40&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011853-01011856&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18550730_english_7&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011853-01011856&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18550730_english_7&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011853-01011856&m=between&ord=k1&fn=daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18550730_english_7&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011870-01011880&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18781115_english_3&df=51&dt=59&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011870-01011880&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18781115_english_3&df=51&dt=59&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011870-01011880&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18781115_english_3&df=51&dt=59&cid=2710


https://iiif.lib.harvard.edu/manifests/view/ids:12909658 1856 map—Middle St continues 
over the Artichoke 

https://digitalcommons.salemstate.edu/maps_essexcounty/29/ 1871 map—Middle St 
continues over the Artichoke 

1880 Annual Town Report 

http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011885-
12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_1891
0421_english_1&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710 rebuilding bridge 

https://iiif.lib.harvard.edu/manifests/view/ids:12909658
https://digitalcommons.salemstate.edu/maps_essexcounty/29/
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910421_english_1&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910421_english_1&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910421_english_1&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710


http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011885-
12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_1891
0505_english_1&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710 Nbpt decides to build bridge at Plummers Springs if WN pays 
half 

http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke&i=f&d=01011885-
12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_1891
0331_english_1&df=11&dt=20&cid=2710  

http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910505_english_1&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910505_english_1&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910505_english_1&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910331_english_1&df=11&dt=20&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910331_english_1&df=11&dt=20&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910331_english_1&df=11&dt=20&cid=2710


http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-
01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_1891
0808_english_3&df=11&dt=20&cid=2710 Sealed proposals for replacement stone bridge 

http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910808_english_3&df=11&dt=20&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910808_english_3&df=11&dt=20&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910808_english_3&df=11&dt=20&cid=2710


http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-
01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_1891
0822_english_4&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710 Notice re traffic and new stone bridge construction 

http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910822_english_4&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910822_english_4&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18910822_english_4&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710


http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-
01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_1892
0607_english_4&df=21&dt=30&cid=2710 A Hint to Nbpt’s Hwy Dept—replacement Plummer Springs 
Bridge completed by 1892 

http://newburyport.advantage-
preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge%20plummer&i=f&d=01011920-
01011940&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_and_newburyport_herald_usa_massach
usetts_newburyport_19240819_english_1&df=11&dt=13&cid=2710 1924—Nbpt water pumping 
undermining the bridge 

http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18920607_english_4&df=21&dt=30&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18920607_english_4&df=21&dt=30&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge&i=f&d=01011890-01011895&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18920607_english_4&df=21&dt=30&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge%20plummer&i=f&d=01011920-01011940&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_and_newburyport_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_19240819_english_1&df=11&dt=13&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge%20plummer&i=f&d=01011920-01011940&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_and_newburyport_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_19240819_english_1&df=11&dt=13&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge%20plummer&i=f&d=01011920-01011940&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_and_newburyport_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_19240819_english_1&df=11&dt=13&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke%20bridge%20plummer&i=f&d=01011920-01011940&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_and_newburyport_herald_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_19240819_english_1&df=11&dt=13&cid=2710


http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18971129_english_3&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18971129_english_3&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710
http://newburyport.advantage-preservation.com/viewer/?k=artichoke&i=f&d=01011885-12311900&m=between&ord=k1&fn=newburyport_daily_news_usa_massachusetts_newburyport_18971129_english_3&df=1&dt=10&cid=2710


 
 

The COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
BOARD OF UNDERWATER ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCES 

EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS 
251 Causeway Street, Suite 800, Boston, MA 02114-2136 

Tel. (617) 626-1014     Fax (617) 626-1240      

www.mass.gov/orgs/board-of-underwater-archaeological-resources 
 
 
            
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
         

 
  Printed on Recycled Paper 

 

August 12, 2021 
 
 
Kathleen A. Theoharides, Secretary 
Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs 
Attention: Eva Murray, MEPA Unit (via email attachment) 
100 Cambridge Street, Suite 900 
Boston, MA 02114 
 
RE: Bridge Replacement Project (EEA# 16412) - Middle Street and Plummer Spring Road over the Upper 

Artichoke Reservoir, West Newbury and Newburyport, MA    
 
Dear Secretary Theoharides, 
 
 The staff of the Massachusetts Board of Underwater Archaeological Resources has reviewed the above-
referenced proposed project as detailed in the Environmental Monitor of July 23, 2021 and offers the following 
comments. 

 
The Board has conducted a preliminary review of its files and secondary literature sources to identify 

known and potential underwater archaeological resources within the proposed project area. No record of any 
underwater archaeological resources was found. Based on the results of this review, the Board considers this 
project unlikely to adversely impact submerged cultural resources.  

 
Should heretofore-unknown underwater archaeological resources be encountered during the course of 

the project, the Board expects that the project’s sponsor will take steps to limit adverse effects and notify the 
Board and the Massachusetts Historical Commission, as well as other appropriate agencies, immediately, in 
accordance with the Board’s Policy Guidance for the Discovery of Unanticipated Archaeological Resources. 

 
The Board appreciates the opportunity to provide these comments as part of the MEPA review process. 

Should you have any questions regarding this letter, please do not hesitate to contact me at the address above or 
by email at david.s.robinson@mass.gov. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
 
David S. Robinson 
Director  

 
/dsr 
Cc: Brona Simon, MHC 
 Bettina Washington, WTGH/A (via email attachment)  

David Weeden, MWT (via email attachment) 
  

mailto:david.s.robinson@mass.gov


 
  

Charles D. Baker 
Governor 
 
Karyn E. Polito 
Lieutenant Governor 

 

Kathleen A. Theoharides
Secretary

Martin Suuberg
Commissioner 

 

 
This information is available in alternate format. Contact Michelle Waters-Ekanem, Director of Diversity/Civil Rights at 617-292-5751. 

TTY# MassRelay Service 1-800-439-2370 
MassDEP Website: www.mass.gov/dep 

Printed on Recycled Paper 
 

Memorandum 
 

To: Eva Murray, MEPA  
 
From: MassDEP/Boston Waterways Regulation Program 
 
Cc: Daniel Padien, MassDEP/Boston Waterways Regulation Program 
    
Re: Comments from the Chapter 91 Waterways Regulation Program - EEA #16412, ENF,   

Reconstruction of Bridge; Middle Street and Plummer Spring Road over the Upper Artichoke 
River, Newburyport and West Newbury, Essex County.  

 
Date: August 12, 2021 
 
 
The Department of Environmental Protection Waterways Regulation Program (the “WRP”) has 
reviewed the above referenced ENF (EEA #16412) submitted by the BSC Group, on behalf of the 
City of Newburyport and the Town of West Newbury (the “Proponent”) for the proposed 
reconstruction of the bridge over the Upper Artichoke River on Middle Street and Plummer Spring Road in 
Newburyport and West Newbury, Essex County. 
 
The project proposes to replace an existing bridge, which is an earth-filled fieldstone arch structure 
constructed in 1891. The bridge and approach roads have been determined to be structurally 
deficient due to undermining of the paved roadway foundation. The existing two-lane bridge is 
approximately 20’-0” in width with no sidewalks, with an earth-filled 24’-0” single span fieldstone 
arch. The proposed new bridge is a precast concrete structure that will utilize the same roadway 
horizontal and vertical alignment. The bridge opening will be expanded from 14’-0” to 45’-0”, and 
the width of the roadway crossing will expand from approximately 24’0’ to 32’-6”, in order to 
accommodate roadway safety requirements and a pedestrian sidewalk on the southbound side of 
the bridge. Rip-rap scour protection will be placed in the streambed to stabilize the roadway and 
bridge. The final elevation of the streambed will be similar to that of the existing streambed. The 
approach roadways will be widened on both sides of the bridge and stabilized by a combination of 
retaining walls and sloped rip-rap. In total, the project site encompasses approximately .49 acres 
and has an approximate horizontal length of 320-’0”. 



Reconstruction of Middle Street and Plummer Spring Road Bridge Over the Upper Artichoke River, City of 
Newburyport and Town of West Newbury, Essex County.  
EEA ENF #16414 
MassDEP Chapter 91 Waterways Program Comments 
August 12, 2021 
 

2 

 
The existing fieldstone ached bridge and approach roadways were constructed in 1891, prior to the 
1939 statutory change when c.91 jurisdiction was expanded to navigable rivers. As a result, the 
proponent did not include any historic licensing documentation for the structures.  
 
Water Dependency: 
 
The WRP has determined that this proposal is a water-dependent project, pursuant to 310 CMR 
9.12(1)(a) & (2)(d). 
 
Chapter 91 Jurisdiction:   
 
The project is located on the Upper Artichoke River, a nontidal waterway subject to Chapter 91 
jurisdiction, pursuant to 310 CMR 9.04(1)(e).  
 
Chapter 91 Comments:  
 
The project, as described, appears to substantively comply with the applicable provisions for water- 
dependent Public Service projects, specifically those enumerated at 310 CMR 9.35-9.37.  
 
The Department awaits the filing of a Waterways License Application which meets the minimum 
filing standards as set forth in 310 CMR 9.11(3)(a)-(c), and the Secretary’s Certificate concluding 
the MEPA review process.  
 
If you have any questions regarding the WRP’s comments, please feel free to contact at 
DEPwaterways@mass.gov. 
  
 
 
 



Environmental Notification Form 
 
 
 
Middle Street & Plummer Spring Road over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir  
Bridge Replacement Project 
West Newbury & Newburyport, Massachusetts 
 
July 2021 

 
Filed in Accordance with the Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act 301 CMR 11.00 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Prepared for: 
TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY  
381 MAIN STREET 
WEST NEWBURY, MA 01985 
 
CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  
16 C PERRY WAY 
NEWBURYPORT, MA 01950 
 
Prepared by: 

 
803 SUMMER STREET 
BOSTON, MA 02127 
BSC PROJECT NUMBER 28395.00 
 



 

 

5 
 

Environmental Notification Form 

For office Use Only 
EEA#:  
MEPA Analyst: 

 
The information requested on this form must be completed in order to submit a document. . 
electronically for review under the Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act, 301 CMR 11.00. 
Project Name: Bridge Replacement Project - Middle Street and Plummer Spring Road over the Upper 
Artichoke Reservoir  
Street Address: Middle Street and Plummer Spring Road 
Municipality: West Newbury, and Newburyport Watershed: Merrimack 
Universal Transverse Mercator Coordinates: 
342105.36 m E, 4740743.77 m N 

Latitude, Longitude:  
42.802972° N, -70.930972° W 

Estimated commencement date: October 2021 Estimated completion date: June 2023 
Project Type: Transportation Status of project design: 95% complete 
Proponent: Town of West Newbury and City of Newburyport 
Street Address: 16 C Perry Way 
Municipality: Newburyport State: MA Zip Code: 01950 
Street Address: 381 Main Street 
Municipality: West Newbury State: MA Zip Code: 01985 
Name of Contact Person: Sara Kreisel, PWS 
Firm/Agency: BSC Group, Inc. Street Address: 803 Summer Street 
Municipality: Boston State: MA Zip Code: 02127 
Phone:  617-896-4579 Fax: 617-896-4301 E-mail: skreisel@bscgroup.com  

Does this project meet or exceed a mandatory EIR threshold (see 301 CMR 11.03)? Yes  No 
If this is an Expanded Environmental Notification Form (ENF) (see 301 CMR 11.05(7)) or a  
Notice of Project Change (NPC), are you requesting: [N/A] 
a Single EIR? (see 301 CMR 11.06(8)                             Yes  No 
a Special Review Procedure? (see 301CMR 11.09)         Yes  No 
a Waiver of mandatory EIR? (see 301 CMR 11.11)         Yes  No 
a Phase I Waiver? (see 301 CMR 11.11)                          Yes  No 
(Note: Greenhouse Gas Emissions analysis must be included in the Expanded ENF.) 
Which MEPA review threshold(s) does the project meet or exceed (see 301 CMR 11.03)? 
The Project meets or exceeds the following ENF review thresholds: 

301 CMR 11.03 (3)(b)c. c. alteration of 1,000 or more sf of… outstanding resource waters;  
Which State Agency Permits will the project require?  

MassDEP 401 Water Quality Certification 
 
Identify any financial assistance or land transfer from an Agency of the Commonwealth, including the 
Agency name and the amount of funding or land area in acres: 
      West Newbury has secured a $1M MassWorks Infrastructure Grant: replacement design/construction 
      Newburyport has secured a $500K MassDOT Small Bridge Grant: replacement design/construction  

 

 

mailto:skreisel@bscgroup.com


 

 

6 
 

Summary of Project Size 
& Environmental Impacts 

Existing Change Total 

LAND 
Total site acreage  21,379 sf (0.49 ac)   
New acres of land altered  2,099 sf (0.05ac) 

1,895 (0.04)  

Acres of impervious area1 6,968 sf  
(0.16 ac) 

2,099 sf  
(0.05 ac) 

9,067 sf 
(0.21 ac) 

Square feet of new bordering 
vegetated wetlands alteration  0 sf  

Square feet of new other 
wetland alteration 

 

LUW 
984 sf (Perm) 
885 sf (Gain)  
641 sf (Temp) 

 RFA 
3,393 sf (Perm) 
5,872 (Redev) 
1,254 (Temp) 

BLSF 211 sf (Alter) 
655 sf (Gain) 

Acres of new non-water dependent 
use of tidelands or waterways  N/A  

STRUCTURES 
Gross square footage N/A N/A N/A 
Number of housing units N/A N/A N/A 
Maximum height (feet) N/A N/A N/A 
TRANSPORTATION 
Vehicle trips per day 920 (per traffic counts, June 2017. 

Road Closed to Vehicles in 2018) 
0  
 920 

Parking spaces N/A N/A N/A 
WASTEWATER 
Water Use (Gallons per day) N/A N/A N/A 
Water withdrawal (GPD) N/A N/A N/A 
Wastewater 
generation/treatment (GPD) 

N/A N/A N/A 

Length of water mains (miles) N/A N/A N/A 
Length of sewer mains (miles) N/A N/A N/A 
Has this project been filed with MEPA before?   Yes (EEA #                     )  No  
Has any project on this site been filed with MEPA before?   Yes (EEA #                     )  No 
1 The existing public roadway is a paved roadway with impervious area around the guardrail. A majority of the project area will 
be returned to preconstruction conditions. The new sidewalk, retaining walls, and slightly expanded roadway will increase 
impervious area. 
 
GENERAL PROJECT INFORMATION – all proponents must fill out this section 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  
 
The Town of West Newbury and City of Newburyport (the Applicants) are planning to replace the structurally deficient, 
undersized bridge (Bridge No. N-11-007) which carries Middle Street and Plummer Spring Road, respectively, over 
the Artichoke River / Upper Artichoke Reservoir (hereby referred to as “the bridge”), in Newburyport and West 
Newbury, MA. The bridge is structurally deficient due to undermining of the existing roadway foundation. The 



 

 

7 
 

Applicant proposes to replace the bridge structure with a new bridge in a similar horizontal and vertical alignment with 
a slight increase in width to safely accommodate pedestrian use. The project involves mitigation measures intended to 
address existing structural and hydraulic deficiencies, while also minimizing disturbances to the surrounding 
environment and improving openness. The project is largely an in-kind replacement with a project footprint increase 
of just under 10%.  
 
Describe the existing conditions and land uses on the project site: 

West Newbury is located on the northwestern side of the bridge, and Newburyport is on the eastern side. Plummer 
Spring Road, Newburyport turns into Middle Street upon entering West Newbury. The project site is approximately 
2,000 feet west of the intersection with Turkey Hill Road, Newburyport and approximately 0.7 mile east of the 
intersection with Garden Street, West Newbury. The crossing occurs within the Upper Artichoke Reservoir, a public 
water supply. The surrounding area is comprised of Article 97 lands, reserved for water supply protection. Beyond 
that, the area is generally characterized by low-density residential development. The bridge predates and divides the 
existing Upper Artichoke Reservoir, through which the Artichoke River flows. The Reservoir was originally formed 
by damming the Artichoke River which flows north to the Merrimack River. While the majority of the surrounding 
area consists of residential development and forested land, the project area is limited to previously disturbed Riverfront 
Area and other resource areas encumbered by the existing bridge. Please refer to Project Mapping (Attachment B) for 
additional details 

Without the impediment of two dams, the Artichoke River generally flows in a south-to-north orientation from the 
Upper Artichoke Reservoir to the Lower Artichoke Reservoir, before discharging into the Merrimack River, 1.3 miles 
north of the project area. According to the USGS Stream Stats Report for this area, the drainage area at the bridge 
crossing is approximately 5.48 square miles.   

The existing crossing structure consists of a 14.3-foot (span) by 13.2-foot (rise) by 24.2-foot (long) single span earth-
filled stone arch, set at an approximate slope of 0%. Please refer to Project Site Plans (Attachment B) for additional 
details. The road and stone arch bridge were constructed in 1891 before the Upper Artichoke Reservoir was built. The 
low chord on the existing arch is set at an elevation of 16.20 feet. The paved roadway consists of two travel lanes that 
vary in width from 8.5 feet to 10-feet for a total roadway width of approximately 20-feet. There are no sidewalks on 
the bridge. The bridge was closed in 2018 to vehicular traffic due to the collapse of portions of the bridge, stone 
headwall, and southeast approach roadway, and is currently considered structurally deficient due to undermining of 
the paved roadway foundation. The project area consists of country drainage, whereby runoff travels to the approach 
roadway and informally runs off down the side slopes. Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road is functionally classified 
as a Rural Local road. 

Based on a desktop review and preliminary field reconnaissance, the following resource areas, buffer zones, and 
environmental constraints are located within and in vicinity of the Project area: 

• Land Under Water 
• Bank  
• 100-foot Buffer Zone to Bank 
• 200-foot Riverfront Area 
• Bordering Land Subject to Flooding  
• Outstanding Resource Water  

 
There are no other sensitive resource areas overlapping with the proposed Project area such as Natural Heritage and 
Endangered Species Program (NHESP) Priority or Estimated Habitat, NHESP Certified or Potential Vernal Pools 
(C/PVPs), or Areas of Critical Environmental Concern (ACEC). Please see the Project Narrative for further details of 
resource areas. 



 

 

8 
 

Describe the proposed project and its programmatic and physical elements:  

The purpose of the project is to replace a structurally deficient, undersized bridge with a new bridge along a similar 
horizontal and vertical alignment. The project activities include the replacement of the bridge over the Upper Artichoke 
Reservoir in its entirety. The full sequence of project construction activities will take approximately 20 months to 
complete. The project involves mitigation measures intended to address existing structural deficiencies, while also 
minimizing disturbances to the surrounding environment and improving openness. The proposed replacement bridge 
will carry two lanes of traffic on Middle Street/Plummer Spring Road. The roadway width will increase by 
approximately 4 feet to include safety improvements to the existing alignment. A safety sidewalk will be added to the 
south side of the bridge. Approach roadway reconstruction of Middle Street will extend 160-feet to the west of the 
bridge and 115-feet to the east on Plummer Spring Road. The total length of the project is approximately 320-feet. The 
following project components detail the proposed project activities. Please refer to Project Site Plans (Attachment B) 
for additional details.   
 

• Proposed Bridge – The proposed bridge is a high strength precast concrete structure that will follow a similar 
horizontal and vertical alignment as the existing bridge. The proposed span length will increase from the 14 
feet to 45 feet. The overall width of the bridge will increase from 24.2 feet to 32.5 feet to accommodate safety 
improvements, including the sidewalk. In addition to substantially increasing the openness ratio, the increased 
span eliminates the need for the bridge’s substructure to be located in the deep portion of the reservoir. In 
accordance with the MassDOT Bridge Manual for a Rural Local road, the proposed bridge has been designed 
to meet the 10-year flood frequency storm event. Based on hydraulic analysis, the proposed bridge can also 
accommodate the 100-year flood frequency storm event since the reservoir dam system regulates the amount 
of flow in nearly all storms. The proposed bridge increases the hydraulic opening by a factor of two compared 
to the existing condition.   
 

• Riprap Scour Protection –With the increased span, to achieve a 1:1.5 vertical: horizontal ratio from the 
elevation of the existing streambed to the elevation at the new bridge abutments, slope stabilization is 
required. The slope stabilization will consist of a 36-inch-deep layer of variable sized riprap (10- to 22-inch 
stones) placed below the natural streambed material. In addition, 6 inches of natural streambed material is 
proposed on top of the riprap. Prior to streambed excavation, natural streambed material will be removed and 
stockpiled on site for use during restoration to ensure the sizing and arrangement of materials under pre- and 
post-construction conditions. Upon completion of the proposed bridge replacement activities, the streambed 
elevation will be restored to its natural condition. 

 
• Roadway Reconstruction – At the approaches of the existing bridge the roadway is narrow and the slopes 

adjacent to the roadway are steep making the existing guardrail ineffective. To meet current roadway 
geometric and safety requirements, portions of the road will be widened and the slopes reduced and/or 
retaining walls installed. To limit impacts to the reservoir, retaining walls will be installed where applicable. 
However, in areas where slopes with a 1:1.5 vertical: horizontal ratio or less exist, they will be regraded 
(without impacting the reservoir).  
 

• Installation of Guardrail and Repaving Activity – Bridge replacement activities provide an opportunity to 
make safety improvements to existing conditions surrounding the bridge. The existing functional roadway 
width will expand from approximately 20-feet to 24-feet wide over the bridge. The widened roadway will 
meet the existing roadway width at the limits of the project. The approaches to the bridge will be repaved 
following the completion of project activities. Extended steel guardrail is proposed along the approaches to 
the bridge to replace existing non-functioning guardrail posts. While these activities will occur within the 
limits of RFA and BLSF, these areas are currently disturbed and the work within these areas will not adversely 
affect the resource areas. 

 



 

 

9 
 

Please see the Project Narrative for full details of the work.  

The Project is anticipated to result in wetland resource area impacts as follows. Please refer to the Project Narrative 
for further information / description of the exact nature of these impacts:  

Resource Area Impact Type West Newbury Newburyport TOTAL 

Land Under 
Water (LUW) 

Permanent 
Permanent Dredge / Fill 

553 sf 431 sf 984 sf 
39 cy / 17 cy 9 cy / 2 cy 48 cy / 19 cy 

Temporary 
Temporary Dredge / Fill 

443 sf 198 sf 641 sf 
28 cy / 0 cy 22 cy / 0 cy 50 cy / 0 cy 

Bank  Permanent  128 lf 54 lf 182 lf 
Temporary  47 lf 14 lf 61 lf 

200-foot 
Riverfront Area 
(RFA) 

Redevelopment  3,203 sf 2,669 sf 5,872 sf 
Permanent 2,060 sf 1,333 sf 3,393 sf 
Temporary 552 sf 702 sf 1,254 sf 

Bordering Land 
Subject to 
Flooding (BLSF) 

Proposed Alteration (sf) 167 sf 44 sf 211 sf 
Proposed Replacement  311 sf 344 sf 655 sf 
Flood Storage Lost (cf) 393 cf 132 cf 525 cf 
Flood Storage Replaced 1,438 cf 1,857 cf 3,295 cf 

 

The entire project area, 21,379 sf (0.49 ac), is located within/adjacent to an ORW. Impacts due to construction are 
temporary in nature. The bridge has been closed to vehicles since the middle of 2018 for safety so there will be no 
disruption to local traffic as a result of the project; however, some additional indirect impacts in the project area will 
include erosion/sedimentation, noise during construction, and possibly some fugitive dust. No significant long-term 
impacts are anticipated. The project will have many long-term benefits by creating a greater -bridge span, safe 
pedestrian facilities, greater openness, increased habitat connectivity and improved wildlife passage, and serving the 
public interest by fixing a road with a structurally deficient, undersized bridge that has been closed to public access, 
while minimizing environmental impacts to the extent practicable.   

NOTE: The project description should summarize both the project’s direct and indirect impacts  
(including construction period impacts) in terms of their magnitude, geographic extent, duration  
and frequency, and reversibility, as applicable. It should also discuss the infrastructure requirements of the 
project and the capacity of the municipal and/or regional infrastructure to sustain these requirements into the 
future. 
 
Describe the on-site project alternatives (and alternative off-site locations, if applicable), considered by the 
proponent, including at least one feasible alternative that is allowed under current zoning, and the reasons(s) 
that they were not selected as the preferred alternative: 

Please refer to Section 2 Alternatives Analysis in the Project Narrative and a Stream Crossing Evaluation / 
Alternatives Analysis in Attachment E, which includes additional information on the following alternatives: 

• Alternative #1 – No-Build Alternative. 
• Alternative #2 – Three-sided Open Bottom Bridge with a precast concrete rigid frame 
• Alternative #3 – Open Bottom Arch Bridge with precast concrete arch. 
• Alternative #4 – Three-sided Open Bottom Bridge with a precast concrete beam, Preferred Alternative 

 
NOTE: The purpose of the alternatives analysis is to consider what effect changing the parameters and/or 
siting of a project, or components thereof, will have on the environment, keeping in mind that the objective 
of the MEPA review process is to avoid or minimize damage to the environment to the greatest extent 
feasible. Examples of alternative projects include alternative site locations, alternative site uses, and 



 

 

10 
 

alternative site configurations. 

Summarize the mitigation measures proposed to offset the impacts of the preferred alternative:  

Mitigation is discussed throughout the Project Narrative and presented comprehensively in Section 6 Mitigation. 
This section focuses on addressing the limited constructed-related impacts associated with removal and replacement of 
the new bridge and required riprap for the protection of the abutments/wingwalls. The proposed design incorporates 
retaining walls to minimize impacts to the surrounding Reservoir and proposes stormwater treatment for the roadway, 
as none currently occurs. As the purpose is to replace a failed bridge on a noticed evacuation route, no other viable 
option for the structure is possible.  

BMPs will consistently be implemented and policies for access and construction to ensure that trained personnel work 
in a manner that minimizes potential impacts to the environment, adheres to permit conditions, and meets industry 
standards. Throughout the design and permitting process, the applicant will identify work procedures and indicate on 
Project drawings erosion and sediment control barriers, the dewatering locations, and restoration procedures following 
construction. Material stockpiling, where required, will only be implemented within the identified project area, and 
will in occur with industry standard BMPs. Implementation of mitigation measures and Best Management Practices 
(BMPs) will avoid and minimize potential temporary impacts associated with Project construction. 

If the project is proposed to be constructed in phases, please describe each phase: 
The construction phases are described in the attached Project Narrative and Plans (Attachment B). 
 
AREAS OF CRITICAL ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERN: 
Is the project within or adjacent to an Area of Critical Environmental Concern? 

Yes (Specify____________) No 
if yes, does the ACEC have an approved Resource Management Plan? ___ Yes _  No;  
If yes, describe how the project complies with this plan.   
Will there be stormwater runoff or discharge to the designated ACEC? __ Yes __ No;  
If yes, describe and assess the potential impacts of such stormwater runoff/discharge to the designated ACEC. 
 
RARE SPECIES:  
Does the project site include Estimated and/or Priority Habitat of State-Listed Rare Species? (see 

http://www.mass.gov/dfwele/dfw/nhesp/regulatory_review/priority_habitat/priority_habitat_home.htm) 
 Yes (Specify: ______________________)  No 

 
HISTORICAL /ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCES:  
Does the project site include any structure, site or district listed in the State Register of Historic Place or the inventory 

of Historic and Archaeological Assets of the Commonwealth? 
   Yes (Specify: See the Historical and Archaeological Resources Section of this ENF form)  No 
If yes, does the project involve any demolition or destruction of any listed or inventoried historic  
or archaeological resources? Yes (Specify: See the Historical and Archaeological Resources Section of this 
ENF form)  No 
Review of MACRIS identified that there are no historic or cultural resources within the project vicinity, and for over 
0.4 miles from the existing bridge crossing. The Walter Drescher Farmhouse is approximately 0.4 miles west of the 
crossing. There are no proposed impacts to this site. Please see Section 3 of the Project Narrative for further details. 
Please also see Attachment D for a copy of the PNF form and cover letter. 
 

http://www.mass.gov/dfwele/dfw/nhesp/regulatory_review/priority_habitat/priority_habitat_home.htm


 

 

11 
 

WATER RESOURCES: 
Is there an Outstanding Resource Water (ORW) on or within a half-mile radius of the project site? _X   Yes      No;  
if yes, identify the ORW and its location:  
 
The proposed project is for the replacement of a roadway bridge over an existing reservoir; the Upper Artichoke 
Reservoir is classified as a Class A public water supply. 
 
(NOTE: Outstanding Resource Waters include Class A public water supplies, their tributaries, and bordering 
wetlands; active and inactive reservoirs approved by MassDEP; certain waters within Areas of Critical Environmental 
Concern, and certified vernal pools. Outstanding resource waters are listed in the Surface Water Quality Standards, 
314 CMR 4.00.)  
 
Are there any impaired water bodies on or within a half-mile radius of the project site?      Yes _X_No; if yes, identify 
the water body and pollutant(s) causing the impairment: N/A 
 
Is the project within a medium or high stress basin, as established by the Massachusetts Water Resources 
Commission? ___Yes   X   No 

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT: 
Generally describe the project's stormwater impacts and measures that the project will take to comply with the 
standards found in MassDEP's Stormwater Management Regulations: 
 
The Project area currently exhibits country drainage whereby runoff travels to the approach roadway and informally 
runs off down the side slopes. The proposed bridge replacement is considered a redevelopment project and impervious 
surfaces and run-off volumes will not increase significantly. The proposed design meets the stormwater standard to 
the maximum extent practicable. As such, a formal Stormwater Management Report has not been prepared for this 
project, but a streamlined one is included in Attachment E.   

The lowest point of the project occurs within the roadway on the West Newbury side of the project area. To provide 
additional treatment, it is proposed that two deep sump catch basins be installed at the low point of the project on either 
side of the roadway and will flow to a 900-gallon water quality treatment unit. From there the runoff is directed 
northwest to a flared end section that discharges towards the reservoir onto a stone splash pad at the end of the pipe.  
 
Two deep sump catch basins on either side of the roadway are also proposed in Newburyport, just before the ends of 
the retaining walls. The deep sump catch basins will flow to a 900-gallon water quality unit. From there runoff is 
directed south to a flared end section that discharges towards the reservoir onto a stone splash pad.  
 
Roadway berms will direct stormwater to the catch basins, which will increase the amount of stormwater treated on-
site before entering the Reservoir and will reduce the amount entering by country drainage. Between the deep sump 
catch basins and the water quality units, more than 80% of TSS will be removed from runoff captured by the catch 
basins across the entire project area. Additional information is in Attachment E, including specifications and typical 
details. 
 
BMPs will be employed to minimize erosion and other potential impacts during construction as further described in 
Section 5 Construction Procedures. As a redevelopment project, the proposed design meets the stormwater standard 
to the maximum extent practicable. As such, a formal Stormwater Management Report has not been prepared for this 
project, but a streamlined Report is included in Attachment E. 

MASSACHUSETTS CONTINGENCY PLAN: 
Has the project site been, or is it currently being, regulated under M.G.L.c.21E or the Massachusetts Contingency 
Plan? Yes   _   No   X   ; if yes, please describe the current status of the site (including Release Tracking Number 
(RTN), cleanup phase, and Response Action Outcome classification): N/A 
 



 

 

12 
 

Closest sites are more than ¾ mile away in Newburyport, and more than 1.3 miles away in West Newbury. 
 
Is there an Activity and Use Limitation (AUL) on any portion of the project site? Yes   _   No __X__;  
if yes, describe which portion of the site and how the project will be consistent with the AUL: N/A 
 
Are you aware of any Reportable Conditions at the property that have not yet been assigned an RTN?  
Yes       No   X  ; if yes, please describe: ___________N/A, none for more than ¾ mile___________  

SOLID AND HAZARDOUS WASTE: 
If the project will generate solid waste during demolition or construction, describe alternatives considered for re-use, 
recycling, and disposal of, e.g., asphalt, brick, concrete, gypsum, metal, wood: 
 

The Project involves excavation of material that may include metal, stone, and other fill material. Any materials that 
are determined to require off-site disposal will be disposed of or recycled in accordance with state and federal legal 
requirements. Refer to Section 5 Construction Procedures. 

 
(NOTE: Asphalt pavement, brick, concrete and metal are banned from disposal at Massachusetts 
 landfills and waste combustion facilities and wood is banned from disposal at Massachusetts landfills.  
See 310 CMR 19.017 for the complete list of banned materials.) 
 
Will your project disturb asbestos containing materials? Yes ___ No   X  ;  
if yes, please consult state asbestos requirements at http://mass.gov/MassDEP/air/asbhom01.htm 

 
The Project is not expected to disturb asbestos containing materials. However, should any material suspected of 
containing asbestos be encountered during the construction phase, a Licensed Site Professional (LSP) will conduct the 
appropriate assessment to ensure that all materials are handled and legally disposed of in accordance with state and 
federal legal requirements. 

Describe anti-idling and other measures to limit emissions from construction equipment: 

M.G.L. c. 90 § 16A and MassDEP regulations 310 CMR 7.11(1)(b) both limit vehicle idling to no more than five 
minutes. A vehicle may idle longer only if the activity falls into one of the three following categories: 1) vehicles being 
serviced; 2) vehicles where power is required (e.g., refrigeration trucks); and 3) vehicles that require power to operate 
accessories (e.g., power lifts). Contractors will be reminded to comply with the applicable regulations.  

DESIGNATED WILD AND SCENIC RIVER: 

Is this project site located wholly or partially within a defined river corridor of a federally  
designated Wild and Scenic River or a state designated Scenic River? Yes ___ No   X  ; 
 if yes, specify name of river and designation:  N/A 
 
If yes, does the project have the potential to impact any of the “outstandingly remarkable”  
resources of a federally Wild and Scenic River or the stated purpose of a state designated Scenic River?  
Yes ___ No ___; if yes, specify name of river and designation: _____________;  
if yes, will the project will result in any impacts to any of the designated “outstandingly remarkable”  
resources of the Wild and Scenic River or the stated purposes of a Scenic River. Yes ___ No ___; 
 if yes, describe the potential impacts to one or more of the “outstandingly remarkable” resources or  
stated purposes and mitigation measures proposed. 

 
 

 
  

http://mass.gov/dep/air/asbhom01.htm


 

 

13 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

1. List of all attachments to this document. 
 
Attachment A: Project Narrative 
Attachment B: Figures, Plans, and Specifications 
 USGS Site Location Map 
 Environmental Resources  
 FEMA Firm Map 
 Site Photographs 
 Construction Specifications 
 Project Plans 
 Project Details  
Attachment C: ENF Circulation List   
Attachment D: Agency Correspondence 
 Order of Conditions from Town of West Newbury Conservation 
  Commission 
 Order of Conditions from City of Newburyport Conservation Commission 

       Historical Resources Coordination and related documentation: 
Correspondence to the relevant tribes, the Massachusetts Historical 
Commission (MHC), and the Massachusetts Board of Underwater 
Archaeological Resources (MBUAR) 

        USACE Authorization 
        401 WQC Application - MassDEP Correspondence  

Attachment E: Design Analyses 
 Stream Crossing Evaluation  
 Hydraulic Report 
 Streamlined Stormwater Report 

 
2. U.S.G.S. map (good quality color copy, 8-½ x 11 inches or larger, at a scale of 1:24,000) 

indicating the project location and boundaries. See Attachment B.  

3. Plan, at an appropriate scale, of existing conditions on the project site and its immediate 
environs, showing all known structures, roadways and parking lots, railroad rights-of-way, 
wetlands and water bodies, wooded areas, farmland, steep slopes, public open spaces, and 
major utilities. See Attachment B. 

4.  Plan, at an appropriate scale, depicting environmental constraints on or adjacent to the  
  project site such as Priority and/or Estimated Habitat of state-listed rare species, Areas of  
  Critical  Environmental Concern, Chapter 91 jurisdictional areas, Article 97 lands,  
  wetland resource area delineations, water supply protection areas, and historic resources  
  and/or districts. See Attachment B. 

5. Plan, at an appropriate scale, of proposed conditions upon completion of project (if 
construction of the project is proposed to be phased, there should be a site plan showing 
conditions upon the completion of each phase). See Attachment B. 

6. List of all agencies and persons to whom the proponent circulated the ENF, in accordance with 
301 CMR 11.16(2). See Attachment C. 

7. List of municipal and federal permits and reviews required by the project, as applicable.  
 See Table 1-2 in the Project Narrative / Attachment A.  



 

 

14 
 

LAND SECTION – all proponents must fill out this section 
 
I. Thresholds / Permits 

A. Does the project meet or exceed any review thresholds related to land (see 301 CMR 
11.03(1) ___ Yes   X   No; if yes, specify each threshold: 

 
II. Impacts and Permits  

A. Describe, in acres, the current and proposed character of the project site, as follows: 
 

 Existing Change Total 
Footprint of buildings 0 0 0 
Internal roadways 0 0 0 

Parking and other paved areas1 6,794 sf 
(0.16 acres) 

+ 858 sf 
(0.02 acres) 

7,652 sf 
(0.18 acres) 

Other altered areas2 174 sf  
(0.004 ac) 

+ 1,241 sf 
(0.03 acres) 

1,415 sf 
(0.03 acres) 

Undeveloped areas3 14,411 sf 
(0.33 acres) 

- 2,099 sf 
(0.05 acres) 

12,312 sf 
(0.28 acres) 

Total: Project Site Acreage 21,379 sf  
(0.49 ac)  21,379 sf  

(0.49 ac) 
1 The existing roadway is paved within the project location. The proposed bridge, roadway, shoulders, and 

sidewalk will be paved to protect the new structures.  
2 The existing shoulders and riprap slopes make up the remaining altered portions of the existing project 

area. A portion of these areas will become paved, and a portion of the existing undeveloped channel 
of the Reservoir will be newly riprapped for scour protection with the widening of the bridge span. 
Additionally, some of the vegetated slopes, minor amounts of LUW will be replaced by retaining 
walls to provide road and bridge stability.  

3 Existing undeveloped areas occur within the existing channel and within the Reservoir itself, and a portion 
of these areas will receive riprap for scour protection at the abutments and portions of the slope will 
be supported by retaining walls. Vegetated slopes will remain undisturbed to the extent practicable. 

 
B. Has any part of the project site been in active agricultural use in the last five years?  
 ____ Yes   X   No; if yes, how many acres of land in agricultural use (with prime state or 
 locally important agricultural soils) will be converted to nonagricultural use? N/A 

 
C. Is any part of the project site currently or proposed to be in active forestry use? 
  ___ Yes   X   No; if yes, please describe current and proposed forestry activities and 
 indicate whether any part of the site is the subject of a forest management plan approved by 
 the Department  of Conservation and Recreation: N/A 

 
D. Does any part of the project involve conversion of land held for natural resources purposes in 
 accordance with Article 97 of the Amendments to the Constitution of the Commonwealth to 
 any purpose not in accordance with Article 97? __ Yes   X   No; if yes, describe: 
 
E. Is any part of the project site currently subject to a conservation restriction, preservation 
 restriction, agricultural preservation restriction or watershed preservation restriction? 
   X  Yes  __ No; if yes, does the project involve the release or modification of such restriction?  
 ___ Yes   X  No; if yes, describe:  
 
The Project occurs entirely within the existing City/Town / transportation easement / right-of-way. 
However, the project occurs adjacent to open space and Article 97 lands, reserved for water supply 
protection. A small portion of which overlaps the existing roadway layout. The proposed project will 



 

 

15 
 

not impact or interfere in any way with the open space / Article 97 lands. Fixing the existing roadway 
will reduce erosion from the failing infrastructure and improve stormwater quality.  
 
F. Does the project require approval of a new urban redevelopment project or a fundamental change 
 in an existing urban redevelopment project under M.G.L.c.121A? ___ Yes    X   No; if yes, 
 describe: N/A 

 
G. Does the project require approval of a new urban renewal plan or a major modification of an 
 existing urban renewal plan under M.G.L.c.121B? Yes ___ No  X  ; if yes, describe: N/A 

 
     III. Consistency 
 

A. Identify the current municipal comprehensive land use plan  
 
Title: Newburyport Master Plan    Date: 2017 
https://www.cityofnewburyport.com/sites/g/files/vyhlif3521/f/uploads/2017-master-plan-
final-printed-version-w-adoption-dates.pdf  
Title: Town of West Newbury Comprehensive Plan  Date: Sept 1999 
https://www.wnewbury.org/sites/g/files/vyhlif1436/f/uploads/west_newbury_comprehensiv
e_plan_1999.pdf  
 

B. Describe the project’s consistency with that plan with regard to: 
 1). economic development: 

Infrastructure improvements provide for easier movements for goods and services 
around West Newbury and Newburyport and provide access for tourism / 
recreation / scenic viewing (birdwatching, eco-tourism such as scenic views of the 
Reservoir) where feasible. Specifically, Newburyport identified that infrastructure 
is high on the list of concerns for businesses, and so in turn, high on the list for the 
City. Infrastructure improvement has been identified as a top priority. West 
Newbury, a 96% residential tax base, aims to make strategic infrastructure 
investments for its community. Replacing the Reservoir bridge in its current state 
will enable later monies to be spent elsewhere and be more cost-efficient than 
regular repairs in perpetuity, by developing existing infrastructure in the town now. 

2). adequacy of infrastructure:                     
The proposed project will replace a structurally deficient, undersized bridge that 
closed to vehicular traffic (2018) as a result. The City of Newburyport’s Master 
Plan acknowledges that: “Improved safety, accessibility, connectivity, and 
environmental awareness are important transportation priorities.” Additionally, the 
City is “making a concerted effort to expand its sidewalk network.” West 
Newbury’s Plan aims to “encourage connected streets wherever appropriate” and 
to “implement road design that makes neighborhoods more accessible to one 
another.” The proposed project will take an approximately two-lane road which is 
used two-way travel by vehicles and which lacks any pedestrian facilities, and will 
add designated pedestrian facilities (safety sidewalk) along the bridge with an 
upgraded roadway design. 

3). open space impacts: 
The project is consistent with goals to protect and preserve natural resource areas 
and ensure no net loss of total wetlands. Compensation for permanent impacts to 
wetlands will occur on-site. The Middle Street / Plummer Spring Street bridge was 
constructed before the Artichoke Reservoir was ever built. The adjacent protected 
parcels, the Upper Artichoke Reservoir Conservation Area to the southwest (West 
Newbury) and the Artichoke River Watershed to the east (Newburyport), will not 

https://www.cityofnewburyport.com/sites/g/files/vyhlif3521/f/uploads/2017-master-plan-final-printed-version-w-adoption-dates.pdf
https://www.cityofnewburyport.com/sites/g/files/vyhlif3521/f/uploads/2017-master-plan-final-printed-version-w-adoption-dates.pdf
https://www.wnewbury.org/sites/g/files/vyhlif1436/f/uploads/west_newbury_comprehensive_plan_1999.pdf
https://www.wnewbury.org/sites/g/files/vyhlif1436/f/uploads/west_newbury_comprehensive_plan_1999.pdf


 

 

16 
 

be impacted by the proposed project. Construction impacts will only occur within 
the existing town roadway layout and will be returned to preconstruction 
conditions to the extent practicable. Construction will not impede the function of 
the open space area. The reservoir is a “major drinking-water source for 
Newburyport” (and West Newbury); and “with its forested and marshy banks, 
offers valuable wildlife habitat,” as well as wetlands and land for flood control, it 
represents important open space for the City and Town. Rebuilding the structurally 
deficient bridge will allow for continued passive recreational access and use, with 
safety in mind for pedestrians. Newburyport Master Plan goals include protecting 
lands used for water protection, flood control, heritage landscapes, and to 
“maintain and improve…[lands] so that the community is able to access and enjoy 
both active and passive recreational opportunities.” West Newbury’s Plan Goal 
and Objective is to “protect, preserve, and enhance views of open spaces from 
roadways.” The project will contribute to these goals. 

 4) compatibility with adjacent land uses    
Plummer Spring Road and Middle Street are public roads that cross the Artichoke 
Reservoir. The adjacent open space parcels and project area itself will benefit from 
improvements in the openness and habitat connectivity provided by a new roadway 
bridge over the Reservoir, especially during flooding events which could increase 
siltation on the adjoining parcels. The parcels adjacent to the roadway layout are 
protected open space parcels (municipal Article 97 lands, for the expressed 
purpose of watershed / water supply protection) which will not be impacted 
directly by the construction. Work will occur entirely within the town roadway 
layout. 
 

C. Identify the current Regional Policy Plan of the applicable Regional Planning Agency (RPA) 
 RPA: Merrimack Valley Regional Planning Commission 
 Title: 2018-2023 Merrimack Valley Comprehensive   Date: June 2018 

Economic Development Strategy (CEDS)     
Title: 2020 Merrimack Valley Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) Date: July 2019  

 
D. Describe the project’s consistency with that plan with regard to: 
         1). economic development 

The CEDS Report identified economic resiliency as a top priority. Shoring-up the 
road that bisects an important water source for multiple towns certainly falls into 
this category. As one of the only three crossings of the Artichoke River and 
Reservoir, this road that is currently closed to traffic necessitates lengthy detours 
for goods and services and adds to congestion on other roads. 

2). adequacy of infrastructure 
The CEDS report identifies goals to “increase the number of people who live and 
work in the Merrimack Valley” and to “improve existing transit infrastructure.” 
By replacing the bridge now, the town ensures productive infrastructure to support 
transportation, enhance Complete Streets on the bridge, and ensure safe water 
supplies for an increased population. As one of the only three crossings of the 
Artichoke River and Reservoir, this road that is currently closed to traffic 
necessitates lengthy detours for goods and services and adds to congestion on other 
roads. 

3). open space impacts                     
 The project is consistent with the plan’s goal to “protect open spaces for our natural 

and human environments to thrive.” The project aims to reduce congestion and air 
pollution by shortening detours should this bridge stay closed. Fixing the bridge 
and providing pedestrian facilities would allow the public to utilize the bridge once 



 

 

17 
 

again. The project also proposes to create a wider-bridge span, which will provide 
greater openness, increased habitat connectivity and improved wildlife passage for 
a net benefit to the existing open space. 

 
RARE SPECIES SECTION 

 
I. Thresholds / Permits  

A. Will the project meet or exceed any review thresholds related to rare species or habitat (see 
 301 CMR 11.03(2))?___ Yes   X   No; if yes, specify, in quantitative terms: 

  
  (NOTE: If you are uncertain, it is recommended that you consult with the Natural Heritage and 

 Endangered Species Program (NHESP) prior to submitting the ENF.) 
 

 B. Does the project require any state permits related to rare species or habitat?       Yes   X_ No 
 
C. Does the project site fall within mapped rare species habitat (Priority or Estimated Habitat?) in the 
 current Massachusetts Natural Heritage Atlas (attach relevant page)? _ __ Yes  _ X__ No  
 
D. If you answered "No" to all questions A, B and C, proceed to the Wetlands, Waterways, and 
 Tidelands Section. If you answered "Yes" to either question A or question B, fill out the 
 remainder of the Rare Species section below. 

 
II. Impacts and Permits 

A. Does the project site fall within Priority or Estimated Habitat in the current Massachusetts Natural 
 Heritage Atlas (attach relevant page)? _ __ Yes ___ No. If yes,   

1. Have you consulted with the Division of Fisheries and Wildlife Natural Heritage and 
Endangered Species Program (NHESP)? ___  Yes ___No; if yes, have you received a 
determination as to whether the project will result in the “take” of a rare species? ___Yes 
____ No; if yes, attach the letter of determination to this submission.  
 

 2. Will the project "take" an endangered, threatened, and/or species of special concern in 
 accordance with M.G.L. c.131A (see also 321 CMR 10.04)? ___ Yes ___ No; if yes, provide 
 a summary of proposed measures to minimize and mitigate rare species impacts 
 

3. Which rare species are known to occur within the Priority or Estimated Habitat?  

4. Has the site been surveyed for rare species in accordance with the Massachusetts 
Endangered Species Act? ___ Yes ___ No 
 
5. If your project is within Estimated Habitat, have you filed a Notice of Intent or received an 
Order of Conditions for this project? ___ Yes ___ No; if yes, did you send a copy of the 
Notice of Intent to the Natural Heritage and Endangered Species Program, in accordance 
with the Wetlands Protection Act regulations? ___ Yes ___ No 
 

B. Will the project "take" an endangered, threatened, and/or species of special concern in 
 accordance with M.G.L. c.131A (see also 321 CMR 10.04)? ___ Yes  ___ No; if yes, 
 provide a summary of proposed measures to minimize and mitigate impacts to significant 
 habitat: 
  
  



 

 

18 
 

WETLANDS, WATERWAYS, AND TIDELANDS SECTION 
 
I. Thresholds / Permits  

A. Will the project meet or exceed any review thresholds related to wetlands, waterways, and 
tidelands (see 301 CMR 11.03(3))? _ X  _ Yes        No; if yes, specify, in quantitative terms: 
 

• 301 CMR 11.03 (3)(b)c. c. alteration of 1,000 or more sf of … outstanding resource waters: 
 984 sf Permanent Impacts, 885 sf (gain through openess), 641 sf temporary impacts 

 
B. Does the project require any state permits (or a local Order of Conditions) related to wetlands, 
waterways, or tidelands?     X   Yes ___ No; if yes, specify which permit: 
 

• Individual 401 WQC for  work within an ORW 
 

C. If you answered "No" to both questions A and B, proceed to the Water Supply Section. If you 
answered "Yes" to either question A or question B, fill out the remainder of the Wetlands, 
Waterways, and Tidelands Section below. 

 
II. Wetlands Impacts and Permits 

A. Does the project require a new or amended Order of Conditions under the Wetlands Protection 
Act (M.G.L. c.131A)?   X   Yes ___ No; if yes, has a Notice of Intent been filed)?   X  Yes__ No; if 
yes, list the date and MassDEP file number: _West Newbury filed January 4, 2021 (MassDEP 
File Number 078-0724); Newburyport filed January 11, 2021 (MassDEP File Number 051-1047); 
if yes, has a local Order of Conditions been issued?   2X   Yes  _ _ No; Was the Order of 
Conditions appealed? ___ Yes _X__ No. Will the project require a Variance from the Wetlands 
regulations? ___ Yes _X__ No. 

B. Describe any proposed permanent or temporary impacts to wetland resource areas located on the 
project site: 

Project-related activities will result in various temporary and permanent impacts to jurisdictional 
wetland resource areas (Bank, Land Under Water, 100-foot Buffer to Bank, 200-foot Riverfront Area, 
and Bordering Land Subject to Flooding). The work will occur within the limits of existing roadway 
right-of-way layout and will be limited to the minimum amount of in-water work required. Temporary 
impacts are generally associated with the installation of water control/dewatering and erosion control 
best management practices which will be restored to preconstruction conditions to the extent 
practicable. Permanent impacts are associated with the installation of the new bridge infrastructure and 
retaining walls and riprap for scour protection. These impacts are discussed in detail in Section 4 
Wetlands and Waterways. Throughout Project construction activities, BMPs will be implemented to 
prevent inadvertent impacts to resource areas.  

 
C. Estimate the extent and type of impact that the project will have on wetland resources, and 
indicate whether the impacts are temporary or permanent: 

 
 Coastal Wetlands   Area (square feet) or  Temporary or 
      Length (linear feet) Permanent Impact? 
 
 Land Under the Ocean   _______  0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Designated Port Areas   _______  0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Coastal Beaches   _______  0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Coastal Dunes      _______  0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Barrier Beaches    _______  0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Coastal Banks    _______  0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Rocky Intertidal Shores   ________0________ ________N/A_________ 



 

 

19 
 

 Salt Marshes    ________0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Land Under Salt Ponds   ________0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Land Containing Shellfish  ________0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Fish Runs    _______  0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Land Subject to Coastal Storm Flowage _______  0________ ________N/A_________

 Tidal Flats    _______  0________ ________N/A_________ 
 
 Inland Wetlands    Area (square feet) or  Temporary or 
      Length (linear feet) Permanent Impact? 
 
 Bank (lf)                                    _____  182 LF______ _____Permanent ______ 
 Bank (lf)                         _____ 61 LF______ _____Temporary ______ 
 Bordering Vegetated Wetlands  ________0________ _____Permanent ______ 
 Bordering Vegetated Wetlands  ________0________ _____Temporary ______ 
 Isolated Vegetated Wetlands  ________0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Land under Water   ______984 SF_____ _____Permanent ______ 
 Land under Water   ____    885 SF______ _______GAIN ________ 
 Land under Water   ____    641 SF______ _____Temporary ______ 

 Isolated Land Subject to Flooding ________0________ ________N/A_________ 
 Bordering Land Subject to Flooding _____   211 SF ____ ___ __Alteration _______ 
 Bordering Land Subject to Flooding ___     655 SF _____ ___ _Replacement _____ 
 Riverfront Area    ___     5,872 SF____ ____Redevelopment____ 
 Riverfront Area    ___     3,393 SF ____ ___ _ Permanent______  
 Riverfront Area    ___     1,254 SF____ _____Temporary ______ 
 

 D. Is any part of the project:  

  1. proposed as a limited project?   X   Yes ___ No; if yes, what is the area (in sf)? 

  The entire Project area is eligible for limited project status in accordance with: 
--310 CMR 10.53(3)(i): maintenance, repair and improvement (but not substantial 
enlargement) of (in part) bridges which existed prior to April 1, 1983,  
--310 CMR 10.53(3)(l) construction, reconstruction, operation, or maintenance of water 
dependent uses. 
310 CMR 10.58 (8) which allows for the replacement of an existing stream crossing while 
avoiding impacts where possible, and minimizing / mitigating impacts when not 
 
The entire 21,379 sf (0.49 ac) project is proposed as a limited project.  

 
  2. the construction or alteration of a dam? ___ Yes    X   No; if yes, describe: 

  3. fill or structure in a velocity zone or regulatory floodway? ___ Yes    X   No 

  4. dredging or disposal of dredged material?   X  Yes __No; if yes, describe 
   the volume of dredged material and the proposed disposal site: 

  Inland Wetlands 
  Land under Water   _____48 CY _____ _____Permanent _____ 
  Land under Water   _____50 CY _____ _____Temporary _____ 

   
Excess material will be disposed of off-site at a location to be determined by the City of 
Newburyport and the Town of West Newbury.  

5. a discharge to an Outstanding Resource Water (ORW) or an Area of Critical 
Environmental Concern (ACEC)? _X   Yes  ___ No   



 

 

20 
 

The project occurs on Middle Street/Plummer Spring Road, on the Upper Artichoke Reservoir, 
a public water supply Reservoir and ORW. The project area is not within an ACEC. There is 
no BVW in the project vicinity. Approximately 984 sf of LUW will be permanently impacted 
with the new bridge, retaining walls for scour protection, and riprap which is required to 
protect the new bridge. A total of 641 sf of temporary impacts are proposed for dewatering 
and construction. The proposed openness of the new span will create 885 sf of LUW.  

 6. subject to a wetlands restriction order?  ___ Yes    X   No; if yes, identify the area (in sf): 

 7. located in buffer zones?   X  Yes __No; if yes, how much (in sf) Approx. 13,672 sf 
 
     E. Will the project: 

         1. be subject to a local wetlands ordinance or bylaw?   X   Yes           No 

While technically subject to Wetland Protection Ordinances by the City of Newburyport and Town 
of West Newbury, the Applicant has requested, and been granted waivers from each municipalities 
Bylaw/Ordinance.  

         2. alter any federally-protected wetlands not regulated under state law?          Yes    X   No; if 
  yes, what is the area (sf)? 

 
III. Waterways and Tidelands Impacts and Permits 

 A. Does the project site contain waterways or tidelands (including filled former tidelands) that are 
 subject to the Waterways Act, M.G.L.c.91?       Yes _X__ No; if yes, is there a current Chapter 91  
 License or Permit affecting the project site?        Yes ___ No; if yes, list the date and license or 
 permit number and provide a copy of the historic map used to determine extent of filled tidelands:  
 

B. Does the project require a new or modified license or permit under M.G.L.c.91?   
       Yes _X_ No; if yes, how many acres of the project site subject to M.G.L.c.91 will be for non-
water-dependent use?  Current             Change            Total             

     If yes, how many square feet of solid fill or pile-supported structures (in sf)?  
 

C. For non-water-dependent use projects, indicate the following: N/A 
Area of filled tidelands on the site:   

  Area of filled tidelands covered by buildings: 
  Does the project include new non-water-dependent uses located over flowed tidelands?  
  Yes ___ No___   
  Height of building on filled tidelands: _____. 
  Also show the following on a site plan: Mean High Water, Mean Low Water, Water- 
  dependent Use Zone, location of uses within buildings on tidelands, and interior and  
  exterior areas and facilities dedicated for public use, and historic high and historic low  
  water marks.  

 D. Is the project located on landlocked tidelands?   _   Yes    X   No; if yes, describe the project’s  
  impact on the public’s right to access, use and enjoy jurisdictional tidelands and describe  
  measures the project will implement to avoid, minimize or mitigate any adverse impact: 
 

E. Is the project located in an area where low groundwater levels have been identified by a 
municipality or by a state or federal agency as a threat to building foundations? ___Yes 
  X   No; if yes, describe the project’s impact on groundwater levels and describe 
measures the project will implement to avoid, minimize or mitigate any adverse impact: 

 
F. Is the project non-water-dependent and located on landlocked tidelands or waterways or 
tidelands subject to the Waterways Act and subject to a mandatory EIR? ___ Yes    X   No;  



 

 

21 
 

            (NOTE: If yes, then the project will be subject to Public Benefit Review and Determination.) 

G. Does the project include dredging?        Yes    X   No; if yes, answer the following questions: 
 
  What type of dredging? Improvement __ Maintenance       Both ____ 
  What is the proposed dredge volume, in cubic yards (cys) ____________ 
  What is the proposed dredge footprint: ________________ 
  Will dredging impact the following resource areas?  

Intertidal       Yes        No; if yes, _______ sq ft 
Outstanding Resource Waters Yes        No      ; if yes, ___ sq ft.  
Other resource area (i.e. shellfish beds, eel grass beds)  Yes        No      ; if yes, 
        sq ft 

  If no to any of the above, what information or documentation was used to support 
  this determination?  

Provide a comprehensive analysis of practicable alternatives for improvement 
dredging in accordance with 314 CMR 9.07(1)(b). Physical and chemical data of 
the sediment shall be included in the comprehensive analysis.  

  Sediment Characterization 
   Existing gradation analysis results?  __Yes       No: if yes, provide results. 

  Existing chemical results for parameters listed in 314 CMR 9.07(2)(b)6? ___Yes 
         No; if yes, provide results. 
 
 Do you have sufficient information to evaluate feasibility of the following management  
  options for dredged sediment?   If yes, check the appropriate option.  
  Beach Nourishment ___ 

   Unconfined Ocean Disposal ___ 
   Confined Disposal: 
    Confined Aquatic Disposal (CAD) ___ 
    Confined Disposal Facility (CDF) ___ 
   Landfill Reuse in accordance with COMM-97-001 ___ 
   Shoreline Placement ___ 
   Upland Material Reuse____ 
   In-State landfill disposal____ 
   Out-of-state landfill disposal ____ 
   (NOTE: This information is required for a 401 Water Quality Certification.) 

 
IV. Consistency: 

A. Does the project have effects on the coastal resources or uses, and/or is the project located 
within the Coastal Zone?    _  Yes _X__ No; if yes, describe these effects and the projects 
consistency with the policies of the office of Coastal Zone Management: 

B. Is the project located within an area subject to a Municipal Harbor Plan?  _  Yes _X_ No; if yes, 
identify the Municipal Harbor Plan and describe the project's consistency with that plan:  
 
  



 

 

22 
 

WATER SUPPLY SECTION 
 
I. Thresholds / Permits 

A. Will the project meet or exceed any review thresholds related to water supply (see 301 CMR 
11.03(4))?  ___ Yes   X   No; if yes, specify, in quantitative terms: 

 
B. Does the project require any state permits related to water supply? ___ Yes    X   No; if yes, 
specify which permit: 

 
C. If you answered "No" to both questions A and B, proceed to the Wastewater Section. If you 
answered "Yes" to either question A or question B, fill out the remainder of the Water Supply Section 
below. 
 

II. Impacts and Permits 
A. Describe, in gallons per day (gpd), the volume and source of water use for existing and proposed 
activities at the project site:     

       Existing  Change  Total  
  Municipal or regional water supply _______ ________ _______ 
  Withdrawal from groundwater  ________ ________ _______ 

 Withdrawal from surface water  ________ ________ _______ 
  Interbasin transfer   _______ ________ _______ 
  
 (NOTE: Interbasin Transfer approval will be required if the basin and community where the proposed 

 water supply source is located is different from the basin and community where the wastewater 
 from the source will be discharged.)  

 
B. If the source is a municipal or regional supply, has the municipality or region indicated that there is 
adequate capacity in the system to accommodate the project? ___ Yes ___ No 

  
 C. If the project involves a new or expanded withdrawal from a groundwater or surface water 
 source, has a pumping test been conducted?  ___ Yes ___ No; if yes, attach a map of the drilling 
 sites and a summary of the alternatives considered and the results. ______________ 
 

D. What is the currently permitted withdrawal at the proposed water supply source (in gallons per 
day)?        Will the project require an increase in that withdrawal? ___Yes ___No; if yes, then how 
much of an increase (gpd)? ____________________ 
 
E. Does the project site currently contain a water supply well, a drinking water treatment facility, 
water main, or other water supply facility, or will the project involve construction of a new facility? 
___ Yes ___No. If yes, describe existing and proposed water supply facilities at the project site: 

 

      Permitted Existing  Avg Project Flow Total 
      Flow  Daily Flow 
 Capacity of water supply well(s) (gpd) _______ ________ ________ ________ 

 Capacity of water treatment plant (gpd) _______ ________ ________ ________ 
 
F. If the project involves a new interbasin transfer of water, which basins are involved, what is the 
direction of the transfer, and is the interbasin transfer existing or proposed? 

 
 G. Does the project involve:  

  1. new water service by the Massachusetts Water Resources Authority or other agency of 
  the Commonwealth to a municipality or water district? ___ Yes ___ No 

2. a Watershed Protection Act variance? ___ Yes ___ No; if yes, how many acres of 
alteration?  

3. a non-bridged stream crossing 1,000 or less feet upstream of a public surface drinking 
water supply for purpose of forest harvesting activities? ___ Yes ___ No 

 

III. Consistency 
  Describe the project's consistency with water conservation plans or other plans to enhance water 

 resources, quality, facilities and services:  



 

 

23 
 

WASTEWATER SECTION 
 
I. Thresholds / Permits 

A. Will the project meet or exceed any review thresholds related to wastewater (see 301 CMR 
11.03(5))?  ___ Yes    X   No; if yes, specify, in quantitative terms: 

 
B. Does the project require any state permits related to wastewater?  ___ Yes    X    No; if yes, 
specify which permit: 

 
C. If you answered "No" to both questions A and B, proceed to the Transportation -- Traffic 
Generation Section. If you answered "Yes" to either question A or question B, fill out the remainder 
of the  Wastewater Section below. 

 
II. Impacts and Permits 
 A. Describe the volume (in gallons per day) and type of disposal of wastewater generation for 

 existing and proposed activities at the project site (calculate according to 310 CMR 15.00 for septic 
 systems or 314 CMR 7.00 for sewer systems):  

   
       Existing  Change  Total  
  
 Discharge of sanitary wastewater  ________ ________ ________     
 Discharge of industrial wastewater  ________ ________ ________     
 TOTAL      ________ ________ ________     

  
       Existing  Change  Total   
 Discharge to groundwater   ________ ________ ________     
 Discharge to outstanding resource water   ________ ________ ________     

          Discharge to surface water   ________ ________ ________     
  Discharge to municipal or regional wastewater 
  facility     ________ ________ ________     

 TOTAL      ________ ________ ________     
 
 
 B. Is the existing collection system at or near its capacity?  ___ Yes ___ No; if yes, then describe  the 

measures to be undertaken to accommodate the project’s wastewater flows: 
 
 
C. Is the existing wastewater disposal facility at or near its permitted capacity? ___ Yes___ No; if 
yes, then describe the measures to be undertaken to accommodate the project’s wastewater flows:  
 

 
D. Does the project site currently contain a wastewater treatment facility, sewer main, or other 
wastewater disposal facility, or will the project involve construction of a new facility?  ___ Yes  
 ___ No; if yes, describe as follows: 
 

      Permitted Existing  Avg Project Flow Total 
        Daily Flow 
 Wastewater treatment plant capacity  
 (in gallons per day)   _______ ________ ________ ________     
         

E. If the project requires an interbasin transfer of wastewater, which basins are involved, what is the 
direction of the transfer, and is the interbasin transfer existing or new?   
 
(NOTE: Interbasin Transfer approval may be needed if the basin and community where wastewater 
will be discharged is different from the basin and community where the source of water supply is 
located.)  



 

 

24 
 

 
F. Does the project involve new sewer service by the Massachusetts Water Resources Authority 
(MWRA) or other Agency of the Commonwealth to a municipality or sewer district?  ___ Yes ___ No 

  
G. Is there an existing facility, or is a new facility proposed at the project site for the storage, 
treatment, processing, combustion or disposal of sewage sludge, sludge ash, grit, screenings, 
wastewater reuse (gray water) or other sewage residual materials?    ___ Yes ___ No; if yes, what is 
the capacity (tons per day): 

        
       Existing  Change  Total   
 Storage      ________ ________ ________     
 Treatment     ________ ________ ________     
 Processing     ________ ________ ________     
 Combustion     ________ ________ ________     
 Disposal     ________ ________ ________ 
 

H. Describe the water conservation measures to be undertaken by the project, and other wastewater 
mitigation, such as infiltration and inflow removal. 

 
III. Consistency 

A. Describe measures that the proponent will take to comply with applicable state, regional, and 
local plans and policies related to wastewater management: 

 
B. If the project requires a sewer extension permit, is that extension included in a comprehensive 

wastewater management plan?  ___ Yes ___ No; if yes, indicate the EEA number for the plan 
and whether the project site is within a sewer service area recommended or approved in that 
plan:   



 

 

25 
 

TRANSPORTATION SECTION (TRAFFIC GENERATION)    
 
I. Thresholds / Permit 
 A. Will the project meet or exceed any review thresholds related to traffic generation (see 301 CMR 

  11.03(6))?  ___ Yes    X   No; if yes, specify, in quantitative terms: 
 
 B. Does the project require any state permits related to state-controlled roadways? __ Yes X   No; 

 if yes, specify which permit:  
 
 C. If you answered "No" to both questions A and B, proceed to the Roadways and Other 

 Transportation Facilities Section. If you answered "Yes" to either question A or question B, fill out 
 the remainder of the Traffic Generation Section below. 

 
II. Traffic Impacts and Permits 
 A. Describe existing and proposed vehicular traffic generated by activities at the project site: 

       Existing  Change  Total   
  Number of parking spaces  ________ ________ _______     
  Number of vehicle trips per day  ________ ________ ________     
  ITE Land Use Code(s):   ________ ________ ________     
 

B. What is the estimated average daily traffic on roadways serving the site?  
 

  Roadway   Existing Change  Total 
  1. ___________________  ________ ________ ________     
  2. ____________________  ________ ________ ________    
  3. ____________________  ________ ________ ________    
 
 C. If applicable, describe proposed mitigation measures on state-controlled roadways that the  
  project proponent will implement:  
 
 D. How will the project implement and/or promote the use of transit, pedestrian and bicycle facilities 
  and services to provide access to and from the project site?   
 

C. Is there a Transportation Management Association (TMA) that provides transportation demand 
management (TDM) services in the area of the project site?  ____ Yes  ____ No; if yes, describe 
if and how will the project will participate in the TMA: 

 
D. Will the project use (or occur in the immediate vicinity of) water, rail, or air transportation 

facilities? ____ Yes __ No; if yes, generally describe: 
 

E. If the project will penetrate approach airspace of a nearby airport, has the proponent filed a 
Massachusetts Aeronautics Commission Airspace Review Form (780 CMR 111.7) and a Notice 
of Proposed Construction or Alteration with the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) (CFR Title 
14 Part 77.13, forms 7460-1 and 7460-2)?  

 
III. Consistency 
 Describe measures that the proponent will take to comply with municipal, regional, state, and federal 

 plans and policies related to traffic, transit, pedestrian and bicycle transportation facilities and 
 services: 

  



 

 

26 
 

TRANSPORTATION SECTION (ROADWAYS AND OTHER TRANSPORTATION FACILITIES) 
 
I. Thresholds  

A. Will the project meet or exceed any review thresholds related to roadways or other 
transportation facilities (see 301 CMR 11.03(6))?  ___ Yes   _X    No; if yes, specify, in quantitative 
terms: 

 
B. Does the project require any state permits related to roadways or other transportation 
facilities? ___ Yes   _X    No; if yes, specify which permit: 
 
C. If you answered "No" to both questions A and B, proceed to the Energy Section. If you answered 
"Yes" to either question A or question B, fill out the remainder of the Roadways Section below. 
 

II. Transportation Facility Impacts 
  A.  Describe existing and proposed transportation facilities in the immediate vicinity of the project 

  site:     
 
  B.  Will the project involve any 

  1.  Alteration of bank or terrain (in linear feet)?    ____________ 
  2.  Cutting of living public shade trees (number)?    ____________ 
  3.  Elimination of stone wall (in linear feet)?   ____________ 
 
III. Consistency -- Describe the project's consistency with other federal, state, regional, and local plans 

 and policies related to traffic, transit, pedestrian and bicycle transportation facilities and services,  
 including consistency with the applicable regional transportation plan and the Transportation 
 Improvements Plan (TIP), the State Bicycle Plan, and the State Pedestrian Plan: 

 
  



 

 

27 
 

 
ENERGY SECTION 

 
I. Thresholds / Permits  

A. Will the project meet or exceed any review thresholds related to energy (see 301 CMR 11.03(7))? 
___ Yes No   X   No; if yes, specify, in quantitative terms: 
 
B. Does the project require any state permits related to energy?        Yes _X__ No; if yes, specify 
which permit: 

C. If you answered "No" to both questions A and B, proceed to the Air Quality Section. If you 
answered "Yes" to either question A or question B, fill out the remainder of the Energy Section 
below. 

 
II. Impacts and Permits 
 A. Describe existing and proposed energy generation and transmission facilities at the project site: 
        Existing  Change  Total  
 Capacity of electric generating facility (megawatts)                                      

 Length of fuel line (in miles)                                         
 Length of transmission lines (in miles)                                        

 Capacity of transmission lines (in kilovolts)                                       
 
 B. If the project involves construction or expansion of an electric generating facility, what are: 
  1. the facility's current and proposed fuel source(s)?  
  2. the facility's current and proposed cooling source(s)?  

 
C. If the project involves construction of an electrical transmission line, will it be located on a new, 
unused, or abandoned right of way?  ___Yes  _      No; if yes, please describe: 

 
 D. Describe the project's other impacts on energy facilities and services: 

 
III. Consistency  
      Describe the project's consistency with state, municipal, regional, and federal plans and policies for 

 enhancing energy facilities and services: 
 

 



 

 

28 
 

AIR QUALITY SECTION  
 
I. Thresholds 

A. Will the project meet or exceed any review thresholds related to air quality (see 301 CMR 
11.03(8))?  ___ Yes    X   No; if yes, specify, in quantitative terms: 
 
B. Does the project require any state permits related to air quality?  ___ Yes    X   No; if yes, specify 
which permit: 
 
C. If you answered "No" to both questions A and B, proceed to the Solid and Hazardous Waste 
Section. If you answered "Yes" to either question A or question B, fill out the remainder of the Air 
Quality Section below. 

 
II. Impacts and Permits 

A. Does the project involve construction or modification of a major stationary source (see 310 CMR 
7.00, Appendix A)? ___ Yes ___ No; if yes, describe existing and proposed emissions (in tons per day) 
of: 

 
       Existing  Change  Total 
 
  Particulate matter    ________ ________ ________ 
  Carbon monoxide   ________ ________ ________ 
  Sulfur dioxide    ________ ________ ________ 
  Volatile organic compounds   ________ ________ ________ 
  Oxides of nitrogen   ________ ________ ________ 
  Lead     ________ ________ ________ 
  Any hazardous air pollutant  ________ ________ ________ 
  Carbon dioxide    ________ ________ ________ 

 
 B. Describe the project's other impacts on air resources and air quality, including noise impacts: 

 
III. Consistency 
 A. Describe the project's consistency with the State Implementation Plan: 

 
B. Describe measures that the proponent will take to comply with other federal, state, regional, and 
local plans and policies related to air resources and air quality: 

 



 

 

29 
 

 
SOLID AND HAZARDOUS WASTE SECTION 

 
I. Thresholds / Permits 

A. Will the project meet or exceed any review thresholds related to solid or hazardous waste (see 
301 CMR 11.03(9))?  ___ Yes    X   No; if yes, specify, in quantitative terms: 

 
B. Does the project require any state permits related to solid and hazardous waste?  ___ Yes   X_  
No; if yes, specify which permit: 

 
C. If you answered "No" to both questions A and B, proceed to the Historical and Archaeological 
Resources Section. If you answered "Yes" to either question A or question B, fill out the  remainder of 
the Solid and Hazardous Waste Section below. 

 
II. Impacts and Permits 

A. Is there any current or proposed facility at the project site for the storage, treatment, processing, 
combustion or disposal of solid waste? ___ Yes ___ No; if yes, what is the volume (in tons per day) of 
the capacity: 

     Existing  Change  Total   
  Storage   ________ ________ ________     
  Treatment, processing ________ ________ ________     
  Combustion  ________ ________ ________     
  Disposal  ________ ________ ________     

 
B. Is there any current or proposed facility at the project site for the storage, recycling, treatment or 
disposal of hazardous waste? ___ Yes ___ No; if yes, what is the volume (in tons or gallons per day) 
of the capacity: 

 
     Existing  Change  Total   
  Storage   ________ ________ ________     
  Recycling  ________ ________ ________     
  Treatment  ________ ________ ________     
  Disposal  ________ ________ ________     
 

C. If the project will generate solid waste (for example, during demolition or construction), describe 
alternatives considered for re-use, recycling, and disposal: 

 
D. If the project involves demolition, do any buildings to be demolished contain asbestos?                   
       ___ Yes ___ No 

 
 E. Describe the project's other solid and hazardous waste impacts (including indirect impacts): 

 
 
III. Consistency 
       Describe measures that the proponent will take to comply with the State Solid Waste Master Plan: 

  



 

 

30 
 

HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCES SECTION 
 
I. Thresholds / Impacts 

A. Have you consulted with the Massachusetts Historical Commission?   X   Yes       No; if yes, attach 
correspondence. For project sites involving lands under water, have you consulted with the 
Massachusetts Board of Underwater Archaeological Resources? _X   Yes        No; if yes, attach 
correspondence 

A PNF and request for comment were submitted to the relevant tribes, the Massachusetts Historical 
Commission (MHC), and the Massachusetts Board of Underwater Archaeological Resources (MBUAR) 
concurrently on January 14, 2021. The only response received was from the MHC, indicating that: 

After review if MHC files and the materials you submitted, it has been determined that this 
project is unlikely to affect significant historic or archaeological resources.  

Correspondence submitted to the tribes and agencies is included in Attachment D: Agency 
Correspondence. 

B. Is any part of the project site a historic structure, or a structure within a historic district, in either case 
listed in the State Register of Historic Places or the Inventory of Historic and Archaeological Assets of 
the Commonwealth? ___ Yes   X   No; if yes, does the project involve the demolition of all or any 
exterior part of such historic structure?  ___ Yes  ___ No; if yes, please describe: 
 
C. Is any part of the project site an archaeological site listed in the State Register of Historic Places or 
the Inventory of Historic and Archaeological Assets of the Commonwealth?         Yes    X  No; if yes, 
does the project involve the destruction of all or any part of such archaeological site?  ___ Yes    
     No; if yes, please describe: 

A review of the Massachusetts Cultural Resource Information System (MACRIS) and the National 
Registry of Historic Places in July 2020 did not identify any listed locations within the Project area. One 
home (WNB.156) exists approximately one-half mile west of the project area on private property. The 
proposed project will not have any impacts to properties outside of the existing roadway layout. No 
historical or archaeological resource areas will be impacted or destroyed by the proposed Project. 
 
D. If you answered "No" to all parts of both questions A, B and C, proceed to the Attachments and 
Certifications Sections. If you answered "Yes" to any part of either question A or question B, fill out 
the remainder of the Historical and Archaeological Resources Section below. 

 
II. Impacts  

Describe and assess the project's impacts, direct and indirect, on listed or inventoried historical and 
archaeological resources: 

III. Consistency  
  Describe measures that the proponent will take to comply with federal, state, regional, and local 

 plans and policies related to preserving historical and archaeological resources: 

This project will require coverage under the USACE Section 404 Program through Pre-Construction 
Notification written review as there are proposed impacts to waters of the U.S. (without meeting all 
stream crossing standards). This federal permit will trigger compliance with Section 106 of the National 
Historic Preservation Act. The Town of West Newbury, and City of Newburyport will consult and work 
with MHC as needed to complete the Section 106 process, and as part of the state permitting process. 
Pursuant to 950 CMR 71. M.G.L. c. 9, § 27C requires that projects that are permitted, licensed, funded, 
or requiring approval from state bodies be reviewed by the MHC to identify potential impacts to historic 
and archaeological resources included in the State Register of Historic Places (SRHP).  



July 15, 2021



 

Attachment G
Bridge Replacement Project

Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road 
over Upper Artichoke Reservoir, 

West Newbury and Newburyport, MA

Chapter 91 License Application
_________________________________

CHAPTER 91 LICENSE PLANS



STOREY AVENUE

STOREY AVENUE

57

City
of

Newburyport

Artichoke River

Town
of

West Newbury

Merrimac River

Upper
Artichoke
Reservoir

Lower
Artichoke
Reservoir

MAIN STREET

PLUMMERSPRING ROAD

MIDDLE

STREET

G
AR

D
EN

 STR
EET

City
of

Newburyport

N

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
SBSC

 G
R

O
U

P, IN
C

.

O
ctober 13, 2022

FILE:
SH

EET    O
F

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

Prepared
by:

803 SU
M

M
ER

 STR
EET

BO
STO

N
, M

A
02127

TITLE &
 LO

C
U

S PLA
N

1
10

1500

SCALE: 1" = 1500'

00 3000

INDEX
SHEET NO. DESCRIPTION

1 TITLE & LOCUS PLAN
2 CONSTRUCTION PLAN
3 CONSTRUCTION PROFILE

4-5 WALL PROFILE
6-8 CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
9-10 TYPICAL SECTIONS

CHAPTER 91 AREAS SUMMARY - OVERALL

AREA TYPE AREA (SF)

STRUCTURE 1,217
EXCAVATION 824

FILL 824

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F

M
ASSAC

H
U

SETTS D
EPAR

TM
EN

T O
F

TR
AN

SPO
R

TATIO
N

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY

PROJECT
LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
2839500_CH91PERMITPLANS(TL).DWG



3

4

5

6

2+00

PLUMMER SPRING ROAD

MIDDLE STREET

UPPER
ARTICHOKE
RESERVOIR

UPPER
ARTICHOKE
RESERVOIR

NEW
BURYPORT

W
EST NEW

BURY

LIMIT OF WORK

AREA OF PROP BRIDGE
STRUCTURE OVER OHW
= 393 SF

AREA OF PROP RIPRAP
WITHIN OHW = 146 SF

AREA OF PROP WALL
WITHIN OHW = 125 SF

AREA OF PROP RIPRAP
WITHIN OHW = 221 SF

FLAGGED BANK (TYP)

AREA OF PROP RIPRAP
WITHIN OHW = 37 SF

AREA OF PROP WALL
WITHIN OHW = 2 SF

AREA OF PROP WALL
WITHIN OHW = 14 SF

AREA OF PROP RIPRAP
WITHIN OHW = 245 SF

AREA OF PROP WALL
WITHIN OHW = 34 SF

OHW (TYP)PROP BRIDGE

EXIST BRIDGE (TO
BE REMOVED)

N

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F

M
ASSAC

H
U

SETTS D
EPAR

TM
EN

T O
F

TR
AN

SPO
R

TATIO
N

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 2 O
F 10

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

 PLAN

50

SCALE: 1" = 50'

0 100

CHAPTER 91 SUMMARY - SHEET 2

AREA TYPE AREA (SF)

STRUCTURE 1,217
EXCAVATION 824

FILL 824

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 91-7   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 92-1   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
2839500_CH91PERMITPLANS(CP).DWG



NAVD 88
BASE ELEV
-10.00

0

10

20

30

40

-10

0

10

20

30

40

18
.8

5

18
.7

0

3+00

19
.1

3

19
.5

4

4+00

19
.8

0

20
.1

8
5+00

21
.1

8

3+00 4+00 5+00

1.03% 0.53%

2.93%
-1.05%

G
R

AD
E 

BR
EA

K 
ST

A 
= 

3+
77

.7
6

EL
EV

 =
  1

9.
42

PVI STA = 2+85.59
PVI ELEV = 18.47

A.D. = 2.08%
K = 37.00

77' VC

PV
C

: 2
+4

7.
10

EL
EV

: 1
8.

87

PV
T:

 3
+2

4.
09

EL
EV

: 1
8.

87

835.5' HSD

LOW POINT ELEV = 18.67
LOW POINT STA = 2+85.98 PVI STA = 5+15.25

PVI ELEV = 20.15
A.D. = 2.40%

K = 37.00
89' VC

PV
C

: 4
+7

0.
82

EL
EV

: 1
9.

91

PV
T:

 5
+5

9.
68

EL
EV

: 2
1.

45

467.4' HSD

PROJECT BEGIN
STA 2+44.00
N3118234.8719
E808711.1855
(MEET EXISTING)

3.43%

PROJECT END
STA 5+64.83

N3118128.7846
E809012.1062

(MEET EXISTING)

PROP BRIDGE EXIST BRIDGE (TO
BE REMOVED)

OHW & 10 YEAR
DESIGN FLOOD

EL. 12.6

100 YEAR FLOOD
EL. 13.0

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F

M
ASSAC

H
U

SETTS D
EPAR

TM
EN

T O
F

TR
AN

SPO
R

TATIO
N

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 3 O
F 10

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

 PR
O

FILE

0 0

H
O

R
. S

C
AL

E 
IN

 F
EE

T

VE
R

. S
C

AL
E 

IN
 F

EE
T

60
12

0

12
12

24

0 0

60

AutoCAD SHX Text
2839500_CH91PERMITPLANS(CP).DWG



NAVD 88
BASE ELEV
5.00

10
15
20
25

5
10

20

20+50 20+75 21+00 21+25

PROP EPAV PROFILE

ORDINARY HIGH WATER ELEV 12.6

EXIST GROUND (FACE
OF WALL)

NAVD 88
BASE ELEV
5.00

10
15
20
25

5
10

20

25+50 25+75 26+00 26+2525+50 25+75 26+00 26+25

EXIST GROUND (FACE OF WALL)

PROP EVAV PROFILE
ORDINARY HIGH WATER
ELEV 12.6

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F

M
ASSAC

H
U

SETTS D
EPAR

TM
EN

T O
F

TR
AN

SPO
R

TATIO
N

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 4 O
F 10

W
ALL PR

O
FILE

20

SCALE: 1" = 20'

0 50 100

SOUTHEAST MODULAR BLOCK WALL - ELEVATION VIEW
SCALE: 1" = 20' HORIZ.
SCALE: 1" = 20' VERT.

NORTHEAST MODULAR BLOCK WALL - ELEVATION VIEW
SCALE: 1" = 20' HORIZ.
SCALE: 1" = 20' VERT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2839500_CH91PERMITPLANS(CP).DWG



NAVD 88
BASE ELEV
0.00

5
10
15
20
25

0

10

20

10+75 11+00 11+25 11+50 11+75 12+0010+75 11+00 11+25 11+50 11+75 12+00

EXIST GROUND (FACE OF WALL)ORDINARY HIGH WATER EL. 12.6

FREE STANDING BLOCK
WITH CAP (TYP) PROP EPAV PROFILE

NAVD 88
BASE ELEV
0.00

5
10
15
20
25

0

10

20

16+00 16+25 16+50 16+75

FREE STANDING BLOCK
WITH CAP (TYP)

ORDINARY HIGH WATER EL. 12.6
EXIST GROUND (FACE OF WALL)

PROP EPAV PROFILE

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F

M
ASSAC

H
U

SETTS D
EPAR

TM
EN

T O
F

TR
AN

SPO
R

TATIO
N

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 5 O
F 10

W
ALL PR

O
FILE

20

SCALE: 1" = 20'

0 50 100

NORTHWEST MODULAR BLOCK WALL - ELEVATION VIEW
SCALE: 1" = 20' HORIZ.
SCALE: 1" = 20' VERT.

SOUTHWEST MODULAR BLOCK WALL - ELEVATION VIEW
SCALE: 1" = 4' HORIZ.
SCALE: 1" = 4' VERT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2839500_CH91PERMITPLANS(CP).DWG



3.00'
MIN

EXIST GRADE

6" PVMT MILLING
MULCH (TYP) 2% MIN

SLOPE  TO ROADWAY

LENGTH OF GEOGRID STRIP
0.7H (8' MIN)

W
AL

L 
H

EI
G

H
T,

 H

GEOGRID STRIP (TYP)

2.0%

12" MIN

6" MIN

6"
 M

IN

2.00'

6" SLOT PERFORATED
CPP (SUBDRAIN)

MODULAR BLOCK RETAINING WALL - SECTION VIEW
NOT TO SCALE

PROP ROADWAY SURFACE

EXISTING
GROUND MATERIAL

LIMIT OF CLASS A
TRENCH EXCAVATION

ORDINARY CUT AND/OR
FILL OUTSIDE
OF STRUCTURAL
BACKFILL AREAS

GRAVEL BORROW

HIGHWAY GUARD

HDPE SLEEVE FOR HIGHWAY
GUARD

CRUSHED
STONE

PLACE GEOGRID 3" MIN BELOW
SUPERPAVE BASE COURSE

1.00'
MIN

CONC LEVELING PAD4.
0'

EM
BE

D
M

EN
T,

M
IN

℄ ABUT.

2.00

3'
-0

"
M

IN
.

1.5 MIN.
1

3.00
TOE

COMPACTED BACKFILL OR
UNDISTURBED GRANULAR SOIL

12" OF NATURAL
STREAMBED MATERIAL

3'-0" OF RIPRAP (M2.02.0)
W/ GRAVEL PACKED VOIDS

6" OF CRUSHED STONE

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

EXIST. & PROP.
CHANNEL BED
SLOPE & ELEVATION

FOLD BACK FABRIC 3'-0"

SCOUR PROTECTION DETAIL
1" = 10' I C

ER
TIFY TH

AT TH
IS PLAN

 C
O

N
FO

R
M

S TO
TH

E R
U

LES AN
D

 R
EG

U
LATIO

N
S O

F TH
E

R
EG

ISTER
S O

F D
EED

S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F

M
ASSAC

H
U

SETTS D
EPAR

TM
EN

T O
F

TR
AN

SPO
R

TATIO
N

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 6 O
F 10

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

 D
ETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
2839500_CH91PERMITPLANS(DET).DWG



12" NATURAL STREAMBED MATERIAL OVER 3'-0"
RIPRAP (M2.02.0) WITH GRAVEL PACKED VOIDS

OVER 6" CRUSHED STONE (M2.01.4) (TYP.)

℄ WEST ABUT.
   STA. 4+04.61

EAST ABUT.  ℄
STA. 4+49.61

SPAN = 45.00

TOP OF S3-TL4
BRIDGE RAIL

10.00
WINGWALL

(TYP.)

GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC
(TYP.)

ESTIMATED PILE TIP
EL. -27.00

ESTIMATED PILE TIP
EL. -27.00

3'-6" ABUT. (TYP.)
3'-0" DEEP X 2'-6"

MIN. WIDE TRENCH
FILLED WITH

CRUSHED STONE
(M2.01.6) AFTER

DRIVING PILE (TYP.)

1.5
1

PROP. INTEGRAL
ABUT. (TYP.)

PROP. B36-24
CONC. BOX BEAM

1.5
1

4" Ø PERFORATED PVC
SUBDRAIN WRAPPED
WITH GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC SLOPE 2% AWAY
FROM THE ℄ ROADWAY
AND PASS THROUGH
WINGWALL (TYP.)

PROP. LOW CHORD
EL. 16.20

EXIST. LOW
CHORD EL. 16.20

APPROX. BOT. OF
CHANNEL EL. 5.2±

PRECAST HIGHWAY
GUARDRAIL
TRANSITION (TYP.)

PROP. STEEL THRIE
BEAM HIGHWAY
TRANSITION (TYP.)

℄ PROP. PILE HP
12X84 GR. 50 (TYP.)

EL. 6.74EL. 6.50

PROP. SLOPE
1.5:1 (TYP.)

BASE FLOOD EL.
13.0± (100 YEAR)

OHW & DESIGN FLOOD
EL. 12.6± (10 YEAR)

NOTE:
PMB WALL NOT
SHOWN FOR CLARITY.

EL. 11.2' EL. 11.5'

ABUT. SCOUR
EL. 11.2± (50 YEAR)

CLEAR SPAN = 41.50

PROPOSED BRIDGE - SOUTH ELEVATION VIEW
1" = 10'

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F

M
ASSAC

H
U

SETTS D
EPAR

TM
EN

T O
F

TR
AN

SPO
R

TATIO
N

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 7 O
F 10

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

 D
ETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
2839500_CH91PERMITPLANS(DET).DWG



10'-0"
WINGWALL (TYP.)

GEOGRID (TYP.)

PMB
WALL

1" JT. WITH
PREFORMED FILLER
M9.14.0

2" JT. WITH
PREFORMED FILLER
M9.14.0

PLAN - PMB WALL
NOT TO SCALE

PMB WALL

ELEVATION - PMB WALL
NOT TO SCALE

GEOGRID (TYP.)

PMB WALL

PRECAST
HIGHWAY
GUARDRAIL
TRANSITION

CONTROL DENSITY
FILL NON-
EXCAVATABLE

CONTROL DENSITY
FILL EXCAVATABLE

SECTION 1 - PMB WALL
NOT TO SCALE

PMB WALL CAP PRECAST HIGHWAY
GUARDRAIL TRANSITION
GRAVEL BORROW FOR

BRIDGE FOUNDATION

END OF INTEGRAL
WINGWALL IN FRONT

OF PMB WALL

2" JT. WITH
PREFORMED
FILLER M9.14.0

COMPACTED
BACKFILL OR

UNDISTURBED
GRANULAR

SOIL

SECTION 2 - PMB WALL CORNER
NOT TO SCALE

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F

M
ASSAC

H
U

SETTS D
EPAR

TM
EN

T O
F

TR
AN

SPO
R

TATIO
N

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 8 O
F 10

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

 D
ETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2839500_CH91PERMITPLANS(DET).DWG



MIDDLE STREET/
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD

SCALE: 1"=10'

STA 3+50 TO STA 3+85

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER
   SPRING ROAD

10.00'
TRAVEL

LANE

3.00'
MIN

10.00'
TRAVEL

LANE

3.00'
MIN

PGL

EXIST GRADE

HIGHWAY GUARD (TYP)

2.0%

6" PVMT MILLING MULCH (TYP)

PROP PMB WALL (WALL HEIGHT
VARIES, SEE PROFILE SHEETS
4-5 AND DETAIL SHEET 8) (TYP)

EXIST COUNTY LAYOUT - 66'

PROP 11
2" SUPERPAVE SURFACE COURSE

PROP 2" SUPERPAVE INTERMEDIATE COURSE
PROP 4" SUPERPAVE BASE COURSE

PROP 4" DENSE GRADED CRUSHED
STONE FOR SUB-BASE

PROP 8" GRAVEL BORROW

CONC LEVELING PAD (ELEVATION
VARIES, SEE PROFILE SHEETS 4-5

AND DETAIL SHEET 8) (TYP)

GEOGRID STRIP
(FOR DETAILS, SEE SHEET 12) (TYP)

PROP HMA BERM
TYPE A - MODIFIED

(3" REVEAL) (TYP)

2.0% MIN (TYP)
2.0%

PROP HMA WALK
(WIDTH VARIES, 0-5.00')

OHW
EL. 12.6

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F

M
ASSAC

H
U

SETTS D
EPAR

TM
EN

T O
F

TR
AN

SPO
R

TATIO
N

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 9 O
F 10

TYPIC
AL SEC

TIO
N

S

10

SCALE: 1" = 10'

0 20

AutoCAD SHX Text
2839500_CH91PERMITPLANS(TY).DWG



PGL

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER
  SPRING ROAD

10.00'
TRAVEL

LANE

3.00'
MIN

SHOULDER
(VARIES, 0-2.00')

PROP 11
2" SUPERPAVE SURFACE COURSE

PROP 2" SUPERPAVE INTERMEDIATE COURSE
PROP 4" SUPERPAVE BASE COURSE
PROP 4" DENSE GRADED CRUSHED
STONE FOR SUB-BASE
PROP 8" GRAVEL BORROW

MIDDLE STREET/
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD

SCALE: 1"=10'

STA 4+69 TO STA 5+10

HIGHWAY GUARD

6" PVMT MILLING MULCH (TYP)

PROP PMB WALL (WALL HEIGHT
VARIES, SEE PROFILE SHEETS
4-5 AND DETAIL SHEET 8) (TYP)

EXIST COUNTY LAYOUT - 66'

CONC LEVELING PAD (ELEVATION
VARIES, SEE PROFILE SHEETS 4-5

AND DETAIL SHEET 8) (TYP)

10.00'
TRAVEL

LANE

SHOULDER
(VARIES, 0-2.00')

2% MIN 2% MIN

PROP HMA BERM TYPE A - MODIFIED
(3" REVEAL) (TYP)

2.0%2.0%

PROP HMA WALK
(WIDTH VARIES, 0-5.00')

OHW
EL. 12.6

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F

M
ASSAC

H
U

SETTS D
EPAR

TM
EN

T O
F

TR
AN

SPO
R

TATIO
N

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 10 O
F 10

TYPIC
AL SEC

TIO
N

S

10

SCALE: 1" = 10'

0 20

AutoCAD SHX Text
2839500_CH91PERMITPLANS(TY).DWG



Commonwealth of Massachusetts

Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs

Charles D. Baker

Governor

Karyn E. Polito

Lieutenant Governor

Bethany A. Card

Secretary

Martin Suuberg

Commissioner

Department of Environmental Protection
One Winter Street Boston, MA 02108 Ÿ 617-292-5500

WW01 - Water-Dependent License/Permit 

Application

Permittee Information

Name: ANGUS  JENNINGS

Phone: (978) 363-1100

Address: 381 MAIN STREET

WEST NEWBURY, MA 01985

Permittee Company Information

Name: TOWN OF WEST NEWBURY

            Angus Jennings

Phone: (978) 363-1100

Address: 381 MAIN STREET

WEST NEWBURY, MA 01985

Application Submitter Information

Name: SARA  KREISEL

Phone: (617) 896-4579

Address: 803 SUMMER STREET

BOSTON, MA 02127

Location Information

Artichoke River

0 N/A WEST NEWBURY, MA 01985
Latitude: 42.802999

Longitude: -70.931053

Page 1 of 622-WW01-0167-APP12/7/2022



List of Abutters

Full Legal Name

 

Abutting Property Address

 

City Of Newburyport Water Department 16C Perry Way, Newburyport MA 01950

Middle Street Realty Trust  Robert W Higgins Tr 45 Water Street, Newburyport MA 01950

443 Middle Street Re Trust  C/O Bennett & Co 45 Water Street, Newburyport MA 01950

Town Of West Newbury  Conservation Commission 381 Main Street, West Newbury, MA 01985

Additional Contacts Info

Please provide the Name of the 

Permittee(s) exactly as it should be listed 

in the license/permit that will be recorded 

at the Registry of Deeds (the name(s) 

listed here need to match the name(s) 

listed on the plans or the license may be 

rejected by the Registry of Deeds)

Town of West Newbury / City of Newburyport

I hereby attest that I have listed all the 

Permittees in the Application Contacts 

section (each Permittee entered as a 

separate contact - do not list 2 names in 1 

field)

Yes

Is the project site within a right of way? Yes

Are you the sole owner of right of way? No

Are you submitting evidence of legal 

authority to  apply in lieu of the Property 

Owner's Signature? If yes, please attach a 

document 'Evidence of Legal Authority' in 

the document section

No

I hereby attest that I have listed all the 

Property Owners in the Application 

Contacts section

Yes

I hereby attest that I have listed all the 

Abutters in the above Contact table 

section

Yes

Application Type

Please select the application type you are 

applying for

Other

Project Information

Page 2 of 622-WW01-0167-APP12/7/2022



Brief Description of Project (e.g., dock, 

seawall, boat ramp, Harborwalk – if a 

longer narrative is to be provided, please 

upload a separate document)

The Town of West Newbury and the City of Newburyport propose to replace the 

structurally deficient, undersized bridge, Bridge No. N-11-007, which carries Middle 

Street, West Newbury/Plummer Spring Road, Newburyport, MA over the Artichoke 

River / Upper Artichoke Reservoir. Please see attachment for more information. 

Project occurs entirely within the Municipal ROW.

Brief Description of Project Location - 

Non-Traditional Address (e.g., 'west end 

Toronto Avenue right-of-way at Gloucester 

Harbor' DO NOT complete this field if your 

project has a traditional address - enter 

N/A)

Municipal Line: Middle Street / Plummer Spring Road, Town of West Newbury / City 

of Newburyport over the Upper Artichoke Reservoir. Project occurs entirely within 

the Municipal ROW.

Proposed Use/Activity description Continued use of a public roadway requires replacement of the structurally deficient, 

undersized bridge, Bridge No. N-11-007, which carries Middle Street, West 

Newbury/Plummer Spring Road, Newburyport, MA over the Artichoke River / Upper 

Artichoke Reservoir. Please see attachment for more information.

Is this site subject to 21E? No

Does the project exceed the MEPA review 

thresholds for Waterways standards?

Yes

If yes, please provide MEPA Certification 

number

16412

If yes, please provide the date of the 

secretary certificate

08/23/2021

Is the Project site in an Environmental 

Justice Community?

No

Which Wetlands Protection Act process 

document are you attaching?

WPA Order of Conditions

Has there ever been a waterways 

jurisdictional determination issued for this 

project site?

No

If yes, please provide JD Number

Does your project require a 401 water 

quality certificate? If yes, please attach if 

currently available, a copy of '401 Water 

Quality Certificate' in the document 

section.

Yes

Are you seeking a Variance? If yes, please 

attach a supporting evidence of 

compliance with 310 CMR 9.21, 'Variance 

Supplement' in the document section.

No

Is the project located within the 

Designated Port Area? If yes, please 

review the standards at 310 CMR 9.12 and 

9.32.

No

Is the project located within an area 

subject to State Approved Municipal 

Harbor Plan? If yes, please attach 

supporting evidence of compliance with 

applicable MHP, 'MHP Supplement' in the 

document section.

No

Page 3 of 622-WW01-0167-APP12/7/2022



Are you seeking a CWD (consolidated 

written determination) in accordance with 

310 CMR 9.14(4)? If yes, please attach a 

document 'CWD Supplement' in the 

document section.

No

Does your project involve dredging? Yes

Dredging Information

Please select the type Improvement dredging

What is the volume of the material to be 

dredged? (cubic yards)

98

What is the area of the dredge foot print? 

(square feet)

824

What is the maximum dredge depth 

including over-dredge (referenced to Mean 

Low Water)?

4.5-feet

Describe dredge spoil disposal 

location/method

Proposed dredging will occur mechanically. Dredge material will be stockpiled 

on-site to be reused on-site. The contract documents stipulate: 

Item 983.521 - Streambed/Bank Restoration – 

Due to the widening of the bridge there is limited existing natural streambed 

material that can be reused. Natural streambed material that is removed during 

excavation shall be stockpiled at a location approved by the TOWN/CITY for reuse 

in Item 983.521. 

The stockpiling of natural streambed material shall be considered incidental to Item 

983.521.  

DISPOSAL OF EXCESS MATERIAL Surplus materials obtained from any type of 

excavation, and all existing and other materials not required to be removed and 

stacked or needed for use on the project, as determined by the Engineer, shall 

become the property of the Contractor and disposed of subject to the regulations 

and requirements of local authorities governing the disposal of such materials, at no 

additional compensation.

Is the dredge spoil compatible for beach 

nourishment?

No

Dredging Method

Hydraulic

Mechanical Yes

Other

Documents

Documents Required Documents:

1. Chapter 91 Plans  

2. List of Environmental Regulatory Programs  

3. MEPA Certificate  

4. WPA Order of Conditions

Page 4 of 622-WW01-0167-APP12/7/2022



Special Fee Provision

Exemption Yes

Exemption Type City/Town/County Government

Exclusion (special agreement or policy)

Substitution (ASP/IRP)

Double Fee for Enforcement

Hardship payment extension request

Attachments

Latest UpdatedName TypeDescription

WPA Order of Conditions 10/21/2022_Newburyport_Final_OOC.

pdf

Newburyport OOC

WPA Order of Conditions 10/21/2022_WestNewbury_Final_OOC

.pdf

West Newbury OOC

WPA Plans 11/07/2022_NOI_EnvironmentalPlans_

&_Details.pdf

NOI Plans

Chapter 91 Plans 10/21/2022_UpperArtichokeRes_Ch91

Plans.pdf

Chapter 91 Plans

MEPA Certificate 10/21/2022_UpperArtichokeRes_MEP

ACertificate.pdf

MEPA Certificate

Other 10/21/2022_Ch91_App_WestNewbury

Newburyport_Oct21.pdf

App. Supplementary Info (Narrative, etc)  

401 Water Quality Certificate

 

10/21/2022_401WQC_KyleLally_Sept

14_2022.pdf

AnticipateImminentIssuance-401WQC per KyleLally  

List of Environmental Regulatory 

Programs

 

10/21/2022_Environmental-regulatory-p

rograms.docx

Envi Reg Programs

Chapter 91 Plans 11/29/2022_UpperArtichokeRes_REV_

Ch91Plans_Nov9.pdf

Chap 91 Plans_REV

Application Contacts

EmailContact TypeTelephone #Contact PersonOrganization NameName

skreisel@bscgroup.com(617) 896-4579n/an/aSARA, KREISEL Application 

Prepared By

jewhite@cityofnewburyp

ort.com

(978) 465-4464JON-ERIC WHITECITY OF 

NEWBURYPORT

n/a Additional 

Permittee

Page 5 of 622-WW01-0167-APP12/7/2022



Certification Information

Individual

SARA KREISEL

803 SUMMER STREET

BOSTON, MA 02127

United States

Telephone #: (617) 896-4579

E-mail: skreisel@bscgroup.com

I hereby certify that the information submitted in this application is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge. All 

applicants and property owners must sign the “Proof of Signature” which will be provided after initial review by the Department. 

All future application correspondence may be signed by the Application Submitter.

Page 6 of 622-WW01-0167-APP12/7/2022



STOREY AVENUE

STOREY AVENUE

57

City
of

Newburyport

Artichoke River

Town
of

West Newbury

Merrimac River

Upper
Artichoke
Reservoir

Lower
Artichoke
Reservoir

MAIN STREET

PLUMMERSPRING ROAD

MIDDLE

STREET

G
AR

D
EN

 STR
EET

City
of

Newburyport

N

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
SBSC

 G
R

O
U

P, IN
C

.

N
ovem

ber 8, 2022
FILE:
SH

EET    O
F

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

Prepared
by:

803 SU
M

M
ER

 STR
EET

BO
STO

N
, M

A
02127

TITLE &
 LO

C
U

S PLA
N

1
11

1500

SCALE: 1" = 1500'

00 3000

INDEX
SHEET NO. DESCRIPTION

1 TITLE & LOCUS PLAN
3 CONSTRUCTION PLAN
4 CONSTRUCTION PROFILE

5-6 WALL PROFILE
7-9 CONSTRUCTION DETAIL

10-11 TYPICAL SECTIONS

CHAPTER 91 AREAS SUMMARY - OVERALL

AREA TYPE
AREA

(SF/CY)

STRUCTURE 1,217
DREDGE 824/98

FILL 824/19

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F TH

E
C

ITY/TO
W

N
 O

F N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST

N
EW

BU
R

Y

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY

PROJECT
LOCATION



3

4

5

6

2+00

PLUMMER SPRING ROAD

MIDDLE STREET

UPPER
ARTICHOKE
RESERVOIR

NEW
BURYPO

RT

W
EST NEW

BURY

FLAGGED BANK (TYP)

OHW
ELEV 12.6' (TYP)

EXIST BRIDGE (TO
BE REMOVED)

UPPER
ARTICHOKE
RESERVOIR

100-YR FLOOD ZONE AE
ELEV 13', FIS-25009C0116F

N

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F TH

E
C

ITY/TO
W

N
 O

F N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST

N
EW

BU
R

Y

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 2 O
F 11

EXISTIN
G

 PLAN

50

SCALE: 1" = 50'

0 100500

SCALE: 1" = 1000'

0 1000

LOCUS:

PROJECT
LOCATION

MIDDLESTREET

PLUMMERSPRING ROAD
UPPER
ARTICHOKE
RESERVOIR

N

KEY
ORDINARY HIGH WATER (OHW) ELEV 12.6'
100-YR FLOOD ZONE AE, ELEV 13
FLAGGED WETLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 92-1   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 91-7   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE



3

4

5

6

2+00

PLUMMER SPRING ROAD

MIDDLE STREET

UPPER
ARTICHOKE
RESERVOIR

UPPER
ARTICHOKE
RESERVOIR

NEW
BURYPO

RT

W
EST NEW

BURY

LIMIT OF WORK

AREA OF PROP BRIDGE
STRUCTURE OVER OHW
= 393 SF

AREA OF PROP RIPRAP
WITHIN OHW = 146 SF

AREA OF PROP WALL
WITHIN OHW = 125 SF

AREA OF PROP RIPRAP
WITHIN OHW = 221 SF

FLAGGED BANK (TYP)

AREA OF PROP RIPRAP
WITHIN OHW = 37 SF

AREA OF PROP WALL
WITHIN OHW = 2 SF

AREA OF PROP WALL
WITHIN OHW = 14 SF

AREA OF PROP RIPRAP
WITHIN OHW = 245 SF

AREA OF PROP WALL
WITHIN OHW = 34 SF

OHW
ELEV 12.6' (TYP)

PROP BRIDGE

100-YR FLOOD ZONE AE
ELEV 13', FIS-25009C0116F

N

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F TH

E
C

ITY/TO
W

N
 O

F N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST

N
EW

BU
R

Y

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 3 O
F 11

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

 PLAN

50

SCALE: 1" = 50'

0 100

CHAPTER 91 SUMMARY - SHEET 3

AREA TYPE
AREA

(SF/CY)

STRUCTURE 1,217
DREDGE 824/98

FILL 824/19

KEY
ORDINARY HIGH WATER (OHW) ELEV 12.6'
100-YR FLOOD ZONE AE, ELEV 13
FLAGGED WETLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 91-7   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD PARCEL ID 92-1   N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/F CITY OF NEWBURYPORT  WATER DEPARTMENT NO BK PG AVAILABLE



NAVD 88
BASE ELEV
-10.00

0

10

20

30

40

-10

0

10

20

30

40

18
.8

5

18
.7

0

3+00

19
.1

3

19
.5

4

4+00

19
.8

0

20
.1

8
5+00

21
.1

8

3+00 4+00 5+00

G
R

AD
E 

BR
EA

K 
ST

A 
= 

3+
77

.7
6

EL
EV

 =
  1

9.
42

PROJECT BEGIN
STA 2+44.00
N3118234.8719
E808711.1855
(MEET EXISTING)

3.43%

PROJECT END
STA 5+64.83

N3118128.7846
E809012.1062

(MEET EXISTING)

PROP BRIDGE EXIST BRIDGE (TO
BE REMOVED)

OHW & 10 YEAR
DESIGN FLOOD

EL. 12.6

100 YEAR FLOOD
EL. 13.0

PVI STA = 2+85.59
PVI ELEV = 18.47

A.D. = 2.08%
K = 37.00

77' VC

PV
C

: 2
+4

7.
10

EL
EV

: 1
8.

87

PV
T:

 3
+2

4.
09

EL
EV

: 1
8.

87

835.5' HSD

LOW POINT ELEV = 18.67
LOW POINT STA = 2+85.98 PVI STA = 5+15.25

PVI ELEV = 20.15
A.D. = 2.40%

K = 37.00
89' VC

PV
C

: 4
+7

0.
82

EL
EV

: 1
9.

91

PV
T:

 5
+5

9.
68

EL
EV

: 2
1.

45

467.4' HSD

1.03% 0.53%

2.93%

-1.05%

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F TH

E
C

ITY/TO
W

N
 O

F N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST

N
EW

BU
R

Y

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 4 O
F 11

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

 PR
O

FILE

0 0

H
O

R
. S

C
AL

E 
IN

 F
EE

T

VE
R

. S
C

AL
E 

IN
 F

EE
T

60
12

0

12
12

24

0 0

60



NAVD 88
BASE ELEV
5.00

10
15
20
25

5
10

20

20+50 20+75 21+00 21+25

PROP EPAV PROFILE

ORDINARY HIGH WATER ELEV 12.6
EXIST GROUND (FACE
OF WALL)

NAVD 88
BASE ELEV
5.00

10
15
20
25

5
10

20

25+50 25+75 26+00 26+2525+50 25+75 26+00 26+25

EXIST GROUND (FACE OF WALL)

PROP EVAV PROFILE
ORDINARY HIGH WATER
ELEV 12.6

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F TH

E
C

ITY/TO
W

N
 O

F N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST

N
EW

BU
R

Y

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 5 O
F 11

W
ALL PR

O
FILE

20

SCALE: 1" = 20'

0 50 100

SOUTHEAST MODULAR BLOCK WALL - ELEVATION VIEW
SCALE: 1" = 20' HORIZ.
SCALE: 1" = 20' VERT.

NORTHEAST MODULAR BLOCK WALL - ELEVATION VIEW
SCALE: 1" = 20' HORIZ.
SCALE: 1" = 20' VERT.



NAVD 88
BASE ELEV
0.00

5
10
15
20
25

0

10

20

10+75 11+00 11+25 11+50 11+75 12+0010+75 11+00 11+25 11+50 11+75 12+00

EXIST GROUND (FACE OF WALL)ORDINARY HIGH WATER EL. 12.6

FREE STANDING BLOCK
WITH CAP (TYP) PROP EPAV PROFILE

NAVD 88
BASE ELEV
0.00

5
10
15
20
25

0

10

20

16+00 16+25 16+50 16+75

FREE STANDING BLOCK
WITH CAP (TYP)

ORDINARY HIGH WATER EL. 12.6
EXIST GROUND (FACE OF WALL)

PROP EPAV PROFILE

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F TH

E
C

ITY/TO
W

N
 O

F N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST

N
EW

BU
R

Y

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 6 O
F 11

W
ALL PR

O
FILE

20

SCALE: 1" = 20'

0 50 100

NORTHWEST MODULAR BLOCK WALL - ELEVATION VIEW
SCALE: 1" = 20' HORIZ.
SCALE: 1" = 20' VERT.

SOUTHWEST MODULAR BLOCK WALL - ELEVATION VIEW
SCALE: 1" = 4' HORIZ.
SCALE: 1" = 4' VERT.



3.00'
MIN

EXIST GRADE

6" PVMT MILLING
MULCH (TYP) 2% MIN

SLOPE  TO ROADWAY

LENGTH OF GEOGRID STRIP
0.7H (8' MIN)

W
AL

L 
H

EI
G

H
T,

 H

GEOGRID STRIP (TYP)

2.0%

12" MIN

6" MIN

6"
 M

IN

2.00'

6" SLOT PERFORATED
CPP (SUBDRAIN)

MODULAR BLOCK RETAINING WALL - SECTION VIEW
NOT TO SCALE

PROP ROADWAY SURFACE

EXISTING
GROUND MATERIAL

LIMIT OF CLASS A
TRENCH EXCAVATION

ORDINARY CUT AND/OR
FILL OUTSIDE
OF STRUCTURAL
BACKFILL AREAS

GRAVEL BORROW

HIGHWAY GUARD

HDPE SLEEVE FOR HIGHWAY
GUARD

CRUSHED
STONE

PLACE GEOGRID 3" MIN BELOW
SUPERPAVE BASE COURSE

1.00'
MIN

CONC LEVELING PAD4.
0'

EM
BE

D
M

EN
T,

M
IN

℄ ABUT.

2.00

3'
-0

"
M

IN
.

1.5 MIN.
1

3.00
TOE

COMPACTED BACKFILL OR
UNDISTURBED GRANULAR SOIL

12" OF NATURAL
STREAMBED MATERIAL

3'-0" OF RIPRAP (M2.02.0)
W/ GRAVEL PACKED VOIDS

6" OF CRUSHED STONE

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

EXIST. & PROP.
CHANNEL BED
SLOPE & ELEVATION

FOLD BACK FABRIC 3'-0"

SCOUR PROTECTION DETAIL
1" = 10' I C

ER
TIFY TH

AT TH
IS PLAN

 C
O

N
FO

R
M

S TO
TH

E R
U

LES AN
D

 R
EG

U
LATIO

N
S O

F TH
E

R
EG

ISTER
S O

F D
EED

S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F TH

E
C

ITY/TO
W

N
 O

F N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST

N
EW

BU
R

Y

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 7 O
F 11

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

 D
ETAIL



12" NATURAL STREAMBED MATERIAL OVER 3'-0"
RIPRAP (M2.02.0) WITH GRAVEL PACKED VOIDS

OVER 6" CRUSHED STONE (M2.01.4) (TYP.)

℄ WEST ABUT.
   STA. 4+04.61

EAST ABUT.  ℄
STA. 4+49.61

SPAN = 45.00

TOP OF S3-TL4
BRIDGE RAIL

10.00
WINGWALL

(TYP.)

GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC
(TYP.)

ESTIMATED PILE TIP
EL. -27.00

ESTIMATED PILE TIP
EL. -27.00

3'-6" ABUT. (TYP.)
3'-0" DEEP X 2'-6"

MIN. WIDE TRENCH
FILLED WITH

CRUSHED STONE
(M2.01.6) AFTER

DRIVING PILE (TYP.)

1.5
1

PROP. INTEGRAL
ABUT. (TYP.)

PROP. B36-24
CONC. BOX BEAM

1.5
1

4" Ø PERFORATED PVC
SUBDRAIN WRAPPED
WITH GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC SLOPE 2% AWAY
FROM THE ℄ ROADWAY
AND PASS THROUGH
WINGWALL (TYP.)

PROP. LOW CHORD
EL. 16.20

EXIST. LOW
CHORD EL. 16.20

APPROX. BOT. OF
CHANNEL EL. 5.2±

PRECAST HIGHWAY
GUARDRAIL
TRANSITION (TYP.)

PROP. STEEL THRIE
BEAM HIGHWAY
TRANSITION (TYP.)

℄ PROP. PILE HP
12X84 GR. 50 (TYP.)

EL. 6.74EL. 6.50

PROP. SLOPE
1.5:1 (TYP.)

BASE FLOOD EL.
13.0± (100 YEAR)

OHW & DESIGN FLOOD
EL. 12.6± (10 YEAR)

NOTE:
PMB WALL NOT
SHOWN FOR CLARITY.

EL. 11.2' EL. 11.5'

ABUT. SCOUR
EL. 11.2± (50 YEAR)

CLEAR SPAN = 41.50

PROPOSED BRIDGE - SOUTH ELEVATION VIEW
1" = 10'

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F TH

E
C

ITY/TO
W

N
 O

F N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST

N
EW

BU
R

Y

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 8 O
F 11

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

 D
ETAIL



10'-0"
WINGWALL (TYP.)

GEOGRID (TYP.)

PMB
WALL

1" JT. WITH
PREFORMED FILLER
M9.14.0

2" JT. WITH
PREFORMED FILLER
M9.14.0

PLAN - PMB WALL
NOT TO SCALE

PMB WALL

ELEVATION - PMB WALL
NOT TO SCALE

GEOGRID (TYP.)

PMB WALL

PRECAST
HIGHWAY
GUARDRAIL
TRANSITION

CONTROL DENSITY
FILL NON-
EXCAVATABLE

CONTROL DENSITY
FILL EXCAVATABLE

SECTION 1 - PMB WALL
NOT TO SCALE

PMB WALL CAP PRECAST HIGHWAY
GUARDRAIL TRANSITION
GRAVEL BORROW FOR

BRIDGE FOUNDATION

END OF INTEGRAL  WINGWALL
IN FRONT OF PMB WALL

2" JT. WITH
PREFORMED
FILLER M9.14.0

SECTION 2 - PMB WALL CORNER
NOT TO SCALE

COMPACTED BACKFILL
OR UNDISTURBED
GRANULAR SOIL

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F TH

E
C

ITY/TO
W

N
 O

F N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST

N
EW

BU
R

Y

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 9 O
F 11

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

 D
ETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2



MIDDLE STREET/
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD

SCALE: 1"=10'

STA 3+50 TO STA 3+85

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER
   SPRING ROAD

10.00'
TRAVEL

LANE

3.00'
MIN

10.00'
TRAVEL

LANE

3.00'
MIN

PGL

EXIST GRADE

HIGHWAY GUARD (TYP)

2.0%

6" PVMT MILLING MULCH (TYP)

PROP PMB WALL (WALL HEIGHT
VARIES, SEE PROFILE SHEETS
5-6 AND DETAIL SHEET 9) (TYP)

EXIST COUNTY LAYOUT - 66'

CONC LEVELING PAD (ELEVATION
VARIES, SEE PROFILE SHEETS 5-6

AND DETAIL SHEET 9) (TYP)

GEOGRID STRIP
(FOR DETAILS, SEE SHEET 12) (TYP)

PROP HMA BERM
TYPE A - MODIFIED

(3" REVEAL) (TYP)

2.0% MIN (TYP)
2.0%

PROP HMA WALK
(WIDTH VARIES, 0-5.00')

OHW
EL. 12.6

PROP 11
2" SUPERPAVE SURFACE COURSE

PROP 2" SUPERPAVE INTERMEDIATE COURSE
PROP 4" SUPERPAVE BASE COURSE

PROP 4" DENSE GRADED CRUSHED STONE FOR SUB-BASE
PROP 8" GRAVEL BORROW

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F TH

E
C

ITY/TO
W

N
 O

F N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST

N
EW

BU
R

Y

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 10 O
F 11

TYPIC
AL SEC

TIO
N

S

10

SCALE: 1" = 10'

0 20



PGL

MIDDLE STREET/PLUMMER
  SPRING ROAD

10.00'
TRAVEL

LANE

3.00'
MIN

SHOULDER
(VARIES, 0-2.00')

PROP 11
2" SUPERPAVE SURFACE COURSE

PROP 2" SUPERPAVE INTERMEDIATE COURSE
PROP 4" SUPERPAVE BASE COURSE

PROP 4" DENSE GRADED CRUSHED STONE FOR SUB-BASE
PROP 8" GRAVEL BORROW

MIDDLE STREET/
PLUMMER SPRING ROAD

SCALE: 1"=10'

STA 4+69 TO STA 5+10

HIGHWAY GUARD

6" PVMT MILLING MULCH (TYP)

PROP PMB WALL (WALL HEIGHT
VARIES, SEE PROFILE SHEETS
5-6 AND DETAIL SHEET 9) (TYP)

EXIST COUNTY LAYOUT - 66'

CONC LEVELING PAD (ELEVATION
VARIES, SEE PROFILE SHEETS 5-6

AND DETAIL SHEET 9) (TYP)

10.00'
TRAVEL

LANE

SHOULDER
(VARIES, 0-2.00')

2% MIN 2% MIN

PROP HMA BERM TYPE A - MODIFIED
(3" REVEAL) (TYP)

2.0%2.0%

PROP HMA WALK
(WIDTH VARIES, 0-5.00')

OHW
EL. 12.6

I C
ER

TIFY TH
AT TH

IS PLAN
 C

O
N

FO
R

M
S TO

TH
E R

U
LES AN

D
 R

EG
U

LATIO
N

S O
F TH

E
R

EG
ISTER

S O
F D

EED
S

PLS
D

ATE
FO

R
 R

EG
ISTR

Y U
SE O

N
LY

TO
 C

O
N

STR
U

C
T AN

D
 M

AIN
TAIN

 PLU
M

M
ER

SPR
IN

G
 R

O
AD

/M
ID

D
LE STR

EET O
VER

U
PPER

 AR
TIC

H
O

KE R
ESER

VO
IR

PLAN
 AC

C
O

M
PAN

YIN
G

 PETITIO
N

 O
F TH

E
C

ITY/TO
W

N
 O

F N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST

N
EW

BU
R

Y

N
EW

BU
R

YPO
R

T/W
EST N

EW
BU

R
Y, M

A
M

ID
D

LESEX C
O

U
N

TY
FILE:
SH

EET 11 O
F 11

TYPIC
AL SEC

TIO
N

S

10

SCALE: 1" = 10'

0 20



Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection 
Chapter 91 Waterways Water-Dependent, Nonwater Dependent, Amendment Application 
 

Municipal Planning Board Notification 
 
 
 

Planning.doc Rev_1021 Page 1 of 1 
 

 

 

Note to Permittee: This form should be submitted, with the top portion completed, to the municipal Planning Board 
along with the complete application and project plans. 

 

Town of West Newbury and City of Newburyport                                                                                                                                                                     
Name of Permittee 

 

Middle St / Plummer Spring Rd (Municipal ROW)                                                            Artichoke River / Upper 
Artichoke Reservoir                                               Town of West Newbury and City of Newburyport                                             
Project Address                                                              Name of Waterway                                        City/Town 
 
 
Description of project and use or change in use (this field is not limited to the one line shown). 

The Town of West Newbury and the City of Newburyport propose to replace the structurally deficient, undersized 
bridge, Bridge No. N-11-007, which carries Middle Street, West Newbury/Plummer Spring Road, Newburyport, MA 
over the Artichoke River / Upper Artichoke Reservoir. Please see attachment for more information.Project occurs 
entirely within the Municipal ROW.                                                                                                                                                                            

 

 

To be completed by the municipal Planning Board representative. 

“I hereby certify that the project described above and more fully detailed in the Permittee’s Waterways License 
application and plans have been submitted by the Permittee to the municipal Planning Board.” 

 

                                                                                                                                                                         
Print Name of Municipal Planning Board Representative                                                                           Date 
 

                                                                                                                                                                    
Signature of Municipal Planning Board Representative    Title                                                                                City/Town 
 
 
Note: Any Planning Board recommendation shall be submitted in accordance with 310 CMR 9.13(5). Comments 
pertaining to this Application shall be submitted in accordance with 310 CMR 9.13(4); any comments submitted 
after the close of the public comment period shall not constitute a basis for standing in any appeal pursuant to 310 
CMR 9.13(4) and/or 310 CMR 9.17.  





From: MassPlanners on behalf of Ella Wise via MassPlanners
To: massplanners@masscptc.org
Subject: Re: [Massplanners] How to convince voters to allow accessory apartments?
Date: Wednesday, October 20, 2021 11:56:22 AM
Attachments: image001.png

ATT00001.txt

Thanks for the question, Paige! Here are a few resources that I've come across to help with
ADU reform:

- Abundant Housing MA just hosted a webinar on this question with a focus on Arlington's
recent amendments. You can view the recording of "Winning ADUs in Arlington & Prospects
for State Action" here
- Equitable Arlington provides a trove of communication materials. See the website here,
including a very effective FAQ authored by Barbara Thornton. 
- AARP offers resources on ADUs, including The ABCs of ADUs
- Here is a summary of ADU benefits based on the materials I've reviewed:

1. Provide homeowners more options
Downsize while staying on your property and live in the ADU
House a caretaker on your property
House your children or parents
Gain an extra source of income by renting out an ADU

2. Provide less-expensive housing choices  
Cost less than a new single-family home on a separate lot, thus provide options
for low- and moderate-income residents
Help seniors stay in their community and “age in place” by renting out their ADU
or downsizing the living in it themselves
Provide smaller housing options to meet the growing needs of empty nesters,
smaller families, and young adults
Help make it easier for people who work in town to live in town, including
teachers, firefighters, and nurses (to name a few)

3. Have a low impact on the environment and neighborhood
No development of open space
No large, new construction projects
No new infrastructure needed
Gentle density designed and maintained by homeowners
More compact, infill development promotes more walkable, car-lite
neighborhoods  

On Mon, Oct 18, 2021 at 1:39 PM Carolyn Britt via MassPlanners
<massplanners@masscptc.org> wrote:

All,

I had to present an article to Town Meeting this past saturday on allowing a detached
accessory dwelling unit in our downtown residential area on lots of a certain size, and a
maximum sf area of 1000sf. An earlier article removed a density bonus in the same area,
still allowing multi-family units but reducing additional density that could be applied for. By

mailto:massplanners-bounces@masscptc.org
mailto:ellacrwise@gmail.com
mailto:massplanners@masscptc.org
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oxJQH6ek-NA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oxJQH6ek-NA
https://equitable-arlington.org/category/housing/zoning/
https://menotomymatters.com/assets/docs/ADUFactSheet_BThornton.pdf
https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/livable-communities/livable-documents/documents-2019/ADU-guide-web-singles-071619.pdf 
mailto:massplanners@masscptc.org


-- 
MassPlanners mailing list
MassPlanners@masscptc.org
http://masscptc.org/mailman/listinfo/massplanners_masscptc.org




doing this, we will give up some payment in lieu for affordable units, but we almost never
got an actual unit from this.

We had nine articles on the warrant, and virtually all of them passed with a 90/10 vote,
including all the zoning articles. The major article was to authorize money for a new public
safety building, so the bulk of voters came out for that article.

You all had me quite concerned that the ADU would never pass without a lot more
groundwork, but it was almost too easy. Maybe the answer is to assess the other articles to
see what large interest group might attend. But I would not have guessed that supporters of a
new public safety building would also support an ADU by-law.

In addition, we got the Town to commit to building the new building fully electric with
ground source heat pumps and net zero. The tour of the new police station in Beverly that is
also electric/ground source/net zero helped a great deal. Thanks Beverly!

Wishing you all well with your ADU efforts, and similar success.

Carolyn

Carolyn Britt, AICP
Community Investment Associates
P.O. Box 235
Ipswich, MA 01938
(978) 356-2164
(978) 317-2145 (cell)
(978) 356-9881

On 10/13/2021 11:35 AM, Rachel Nadkarni via MassPlanners wrote:

Hi Paige, 

I was with the City of Newton during the adoption of the Accessory Dwelling
Unit changes. Part of the discussion we had with the community then was that
each aspect of an accessory dwelling unit was already allowed in another form. 

The ADU didn't allow for more square footage than was already allowed
on a property
By-right ADUs in accessory structures had to fit into existing by-right
accessory structure sizes 
Renting rooms to unrelated individuals was already allowed, and the
same limit would apply whether or not those individuals were in an ADU
or not 
Having a second kitchen in a home was already possible, and not
unprecedented 

The focus then was on the flexibility this allowed families to layout their
interiors as works for them, since the true distinguisher of an ADU would then
be the key-locked door between the spaces. Without the locking door,
everything else about the ADU would be compliant with zoning. 

The other thing we discussed, was that the rights allowed to the accessory unit
were limited compared to the second unit on a 2-family home. In the accessory
unit, there was no possibility of condo-ization, whereas 2-family homes could



have two separate owners with each unit having all the related property rights.
Under the pre-existing rules on renting rooms, in a 2-family condo, each unit
could rent rooms to unrelated individuals, and that wouldn't be possible in an
ADU.

Hopefully this is useful to Foxborough's discussion. We were able to build off
of the existing renting of rooms allowance, and that may not be the case in some
communities. 

Best wishes,
Rachel 

Rachel Nadkarni 
Senior Planner - Urban Revitalization Specialist
City of Somerville, Office of Strategic Planning and Community Development

On Wed, Oct 13, 2021 at 10:33 AM Anthony Flint via MassPlanners
<massplanners@masscptc.org> wrote:

The experience of Durango, Colorado might be instructive:
https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2016-05-17/how-one-colorado-
city-instantly-created-more-affordable-housing-by-relaxing-rules-on-
accessory-dwelling-units

 

Newton has also had some success in an environment of occasional
skepticism: https://steveworks.com/2019/05/everything-you-need-to-know-
about-newton-accessory-apartments/

 

Anthony Flint
Senior Fellow
Lincoln Institute of Land Policy
617-930-1044
@landpolicy
Finding answers in land

 

From: MassPlanners <massplanners-bounces@masscptc.org> On Behalf Of
Kristina Johnson via MassPlanners
Sent: Wednesday, October 13, 2021 10:05 AM
To: Paige <paigeplanner@gmail.com>
Cc: massplanners@masscptc.org
Subject: Re: [Massplanners] How to convince voters to allow accessory
apartments?

 

mailto:massplanners@masscptc.org
https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2016-05-17/how-one-colorado-city-instantly-created-more-affordable-housing-by-relaxing-rules-on-accessory-dwelling-units
https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2016-05-17/how-one-colorado-city-instantly-created-more-affordable-housing-by-relaxing-rules-on-accessory-dwelling-units
https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2016-05-17/how-one-colorado-city-instantly-created-more-affordable-housing-by-relaxing-rules-on-accessory-dwelling-units
https://steveworks.com/2019/05/everything-you-need-to-know-about-newton-accessory-apartments/
https://steveworks.com/2019/05/everything-you-need-to-know-about-newton-accessory-apartments/
http://anthonyflint.net/
https://www.lincolninst.edu/
https://twitter.com/landpolicy
mailto:massplanners-bounces@masscptc.org
mailto:paigeplanner@gmail.com
mailto:massplanners@masscptc.org


Hi Paige,

 

As Planning Board Chair for Framingham, I have been helping

advance an ADU ordinance, and it’s not easy!   Here’s what I have

learned being on the other side of the table:

 

You have to engage the folks who would be positively affected by this

by-law and have them tell the story for you whether it’s at the hearing

or through the local newspaper.  All this chatter about “who’s living

next door,” and “stranger danger” gets quelled when you have brave

folks make a public plea about how an ADU By-law would help a

family member age in place, or take care of a permanently disabled

child.  During a Zoom workshop hosted by the Planning Board early

this summer, we  had community members talk about how an ADU

ordinance would allow them to take care of  a disabled child without

resorting to institutionalization, or keep “Nana and Fluffy” in the

household with their grandchildren, saving on nursing home/assisted

living  and child care costs. Some of the testimony got me misty eyed

and definitely quieted the relentless voices who kept insisting that an

ADU ordinance will do nothing but create illegal apartments, etc.  We

are still in the ordinance drafting stage and have not started the official

amendment process.

 

Does Foxborough have a local newspaper? Get an article posted! 

There must be elected officials, including the Planning Board, who are

champions of this effort, and if there are, let them do the “selling.”

 Here’s a link to the story the Framingham local paper ran, and it was

blasted all over local social media.

https://framinghamsource.com/index.php/2021/06/26/framingham-

planning-board-takes-temperature-of-residents-on-in-law-apartment-

ordinance/

 

Good luck Paige!

 

Kristina

 

Ps. Planning Staff in Framingham has done an amazing job with this

https://framinghamsource.com/index.php/2021/06/26/framingham-planning-board-takes-temperature-of-residents-on-in-law-apartment-ordinance/
https://framinghamsource.com/index.php/2021/06/26/framingham-planning-board-takes-temperature-of-residents-on-in-law-apartment-ordinance/
https://framinghamsource.com/index.php/2021/06/26/framingham-planning-board-takes-temperature-of-residents-on-in-law-apartment-ordinance/


effort,

 

Kristina Johnson, AICP

Director of Planning & Community Development

Town of Hudson,  MA

President, Mass. Association of Planning Directors

Tel: 978-562-2989 

Cell:  857-939-3427

Email: kjohnson@townofhudson.org

“Like” Hudson Planning and Community Development on Facebook 

 

 

From: MassPlanners <massplanners-bounces@masscptc.org> On Behalf Of
Paige via MassPlanners
Sent: Wednesday, October 13, 2021 8:48 AM
To: massplanners@masscptc.org
Subject: [Massplanners] How to convince voters to allow accessory
apartments?

 

Good morning all,

 

Here in Foxborough we are going to be voting on whether to expand the
current inlaw apartment bylaw to allow non-relatives to rent an ADU.  Sounds
simple, right?  NOT!  Folks insist this is creating multi-family housing in a
single family district.

 

We have been engaged in a conversation on housing for 2+ years now and I
know we will get push back on this effort.  I'm not sure we will get the
required 2/3 vote (since we allow over 900 SF for our ADUs we don't qualify
for the majority vote).

 

Does anyone have any outreach, PR or data that I could use at the public

mailto:kjohnson@townofhudson.org
https://www.facebook.com/HudsonRecreation
mailto:massplanners-bounces@masscptc.org
mailto:massplanners@masscptc.org


hearing tomorrow night to inform residents on why allowing attached ADUs
to be rented to non-relatives would be wise for Foxborough?  

 

Any case studies on how many ADUs were created once a similar provision
was adopted in another town?  

 

I think the "selling" of housing solutions is the hardest part of all of this. 
Folks are so resistant, at least out here in the suburbs.  Any information or
handouts or anything to make residents less afraid of this change would be
greatly appreciated.

 

Thank you.

 

Paige Duncan, AICP

Planning Director for the Town of Foxborough, MA

 

--

 

***************************** 
Paige E. Duncan, AICP, Planning Director

Foxborough Town Hall, 40 South Street 
Foxborough, Massachusetts 02035 
Ph: 508-543-1250

pduncan@foxboroughma.gov

-- 
MassPlanners mailing list
MassPlanners@masscptc.org
http://masscptc.org/mailman/listinfo/massplanners_masscptc.org

-- 
Carolyn Britt, AICP
Community Investment Associates
P.O. Box 235
Ipswich, MA 01938
(978) 356-2164
(978) 317-2145 (cell)
(978) 356-9881

-- 

mailto:pduncan@foxboroughma.gov
mailto:MassPlanners@masscptc.org
http://masscptc.org/mailman/listinfo/massplanners_masscptc.org


MassPlanners mailing list
MassPlanners@masscptc.org
http://masscptc.org/mailman/listinfo/massplanners_masscptc.org

mailto:MassPlanners@masscptc.org
http://masscptc.org/mailman/listinfo/massplanners_masscptc.org


 Accessory 
Dwelling 
Units
Model State Act and 
Local Ordinance

CREATED FOR STATE AND LOCAL LEADERS BY 
AARP Government Affairs

DETACHED ATTACHED INTERIOR (UPPER LEVEL)

INTERIOR (LOWER LEVEL) GARAGE CONVERSIONABOVE GARAGE



Copyright © 2020–2021 by AARP | AARP is a registered trademark. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any 
means without the prior written permission of AARP, except brief quotations in connection with reviews written specifically for inclusion in magazines, 
newspapers or websites, or limited excerpts strictly for personal use. | Cover art by Design Park, Inc.

Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty: While AARP has used its best efforts in preparing this publication, it makes no representations or warranties with 
respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents, examples, instructions and/or guidance contained herein. The advice, policies and strategies 
discussed may not be suitable for each reader’s or community’s situation. Consultation with local professionals is advised, and compliance with local 
regulations is required. AARP shall not be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damages, including but not limited to special, incidental, 
consequential, or other types, nor for any injuries to persons or property. 

AARP is the nation’s largest nonprofit, nonpartisan organization dedicated to empowering people 50 and older to choose 
how they live as they age. With a nationwide presence and nearly 38 million members, AARP strengthens communities and 
advocates for what matters most to families: health security, financial stability and personal fulfillment. AARP also produces 
the nation's largest circulation publications: AARP The Magazine and AARP Bulletin. To learn more, visit AARP.org, AARP.org/
Espanol or follow @AARP, @AARPenEspanol, @AARPadvocates and @AliadosAdelante on social media.   

AARP | 601 E Street NW, Washington, DC, 20049 | AARP.org | 888-OUR-AARP

Toll-Free: 1-888-OUR-AARP (1-888-687-2277) Toll-Free Spanish: 1-877-342-2277  
International Calls: +1-202-434-3525 | TTY users dial 711 (English: 1-877-434-7598 | Spanish: 1-866-238-9488)

AARP Public Policy Institute 
Founded in 1985 and part of the AARP Policy, Research and 
International Group, the AARP Public Policy Institute (PPI) 
promotes the development of sound, creative policies to 
address the common need for economic security, health 
care and quality of life. PPI’s livability experts focus on 
policies that relate to issues including land use, housing, 
transportation and broadband — all of which facilitate 
aging in place. PPI also hosts the AARP Livability Index,  
a free, interactive, online tool that scores neighborhoods 
and communities throughout the United States based on 
the presence of the types of services and amenities that 
impact people’s lives the most.

AARP Livable Communities 
Also within the CSN group, the AARP Livable Communities 
initiative works nationwide to support the efforts of 
neighborhoods, towns, cities, counties and rural areas to 
be livable for people of all ages. The initiative’s programs 
include the AARP Network of Age-Friendly States and 
Communities, the AARP Community Challenge “quick-
action” grant program, livability training for local leaders 
and free educational resources — including the weekly, 
award-winning AARP Livable Communities e-Newsletter  
and several printed and downloadable publications. 

Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance 
Created for state and local leaders by:

AARP Government Affairs 
A part of the AARP Community, State and National Affairs (CSN) group, Government Affairs advances AARP’s work on 
behalf of older adults and their families through legislative and regulatory advocacy with policymakers and elected officials 
at the federal, state and local levels, as well as through judicial advocacy.

Assistance provided by: 

See page 52 for contact information and links to the mentioned resources.

This report is available as a PDF download via AARP.org/ADUs.



1 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. About Accessory Dwelling Units  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 

AARP supports the wider availability of accessory dwelling units (ADUs) as an affordable, 
accessible housing option for people of all ages. That’s why, late in the last century, the  
AARP Public Policy Institute asked the American Planning Association to develop model 
legislation — specifically, a state statute and a local ordinance — as a resource to assist 
AARP volunteer leaders and other interested residents, planners and government officials 
in evaluating potential changes to state laws and local zoning codes. This publication is an 
update of that model legislation, which was released in the year 2000. This section provides  
an overview of what ADUs are and why they are so needed.

II. Model State ADU Act  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9

Two policies are presented in this section. The first is the “Optimal” state act, which limits  
local governments from prohibiting or discouraging the creation of ADUs. The second, referred 
to as the “Minimal” version, grants local governments the full range of authority to permit and 
regulate ADUs.

III. Model Local ADU Ordinance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29

This model ordinance is designed for communities in places where state law allows local 
ordinances authorizing and governing ADUs but does not impose any constraints on local 
governments. 

Endnotes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49
Learn More  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52 
Acknowledgments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53

 Accessory 
Dwelling 
Units
Model State Act and  
Local Ordinance

DETACHED ATTACHED INTERIOR (UPPER LEVEL)

INTERIOR (LOWER LEVEL) GARAGE CONVERSIONABOVE GARAGE



2 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

  I. About Accessory Dwelling Units
An Introduction

Accessory dwelling units (ADUs) are independent housing units, typically (but not always) created on single-family 
lots through remodeling or expanding the existing home or constructed as a detached dwelling. Detached ADUs 
may be freestanding or incorporated into another structure, most oft en a garage.

ADUs have many other names, such as “secondary suites,” “granny flats,” “English basements,” “accessory 
apartments,” “laneway homes,” “ohana houses,” “casitas” and “backyard cottages.” To avoid confusion and 
in recognition of the term’s increasing prevalence, this document simply uses “ADU.”

ADUs serve multiple purposes for their owners, 
purposes that may change over time. They 
assist older homeowners in maintaining their 
independence by providing additional income to 
off set property taxes and maintenance and repair 
costs or by providing housing for a caregiver. ADUs 
can also become the residents’ home if they wish 
to downsize, allowing them to rent out the main 
house or to have family move into it.

As of the date of this publication, eff orts are 
underway across the country to test the feasibility 
of using ADUs as a way of providing below-market 
housing through a variety of public and nonprofit 
investments and incentives. In this way, ADUs 
help realize equity objectives by increasing the 
economic diversity of neighborhoods that may 
be rich in opportunities and amenities. They help 
realize goals of compact growth found in many 
land use and transportation plans. In most places, 
ADUs do not require the construction of new 
infrastructure (roads, sewers, schools, etc.) 
to serve them. 

Accessory dwelling units were relatively common 
before World War II. Many were created by middle-
aged and older persons, oft en widows, seeking 
to take in boarders aft er their children moved 
out. During the war, ADUs housed the influx of 
workers in war industries. Following the war, the 
explosive growth of the suburbs was governed by 
suburban zoning ordinances that reserved land 
almost exclusively for single-family housing for the 
middle-class nuclear family. 

ADUs and Housing Thatʼs Aff ordable
ADUs can be a cost-eff ective means of increasing 
the supply of market-aff ordable rental housing in 
a community and accommodating new growth 
without dramatic changes to the character of a 
neighborhood. The critical qualifying words at the 
time of this edition are can and market-aff ordable. 

According to a 2018 survey of ADU occupants in the 
Canadian city of Vancouver, British Columbia, 15% 
of the ADU occupants reported incomes of less than 
$40,000. Another 16% had incomes of $40,000 to 
$60,000, and another 6% had incomes of $60,000 to 
$80,000. The median household income in Vancouver 
in 2015 was $65,327. The median household income 
in the Vancouver metropolitan region in 2018 was 
$89,000.

A report on ADU production in California found that 
20% of ADUs constructed from 2016 to 2019 were 
built in census tracts with a median household 
income of less than $61,000, and another 24% 
were completed in census tracts with incomes of 
$61,000 to $84,000. The median household income 
in California from 2014 to 2018 was $71,228.  

SOURCES: City of Vancouver, Laneway Housing Survey Summary, 2019 
| Census Profile, 2016 Census Vancouver, British Columbia. | Statistics 
Canada, Table 11-10-0009-01, Selected Income Characteristics of Census 
Families by Family Type | Chapple, Garcia, Valchuis, Tucker, Reaching 
California’s ADU Potential: Progress to Date and the Need for ADU Finance, 
Terner Center for Housing Innovation, University of California, Berkeley, 
August 2020 | U.S. Census Bureau Quick Facts, California “Income 
and Poverty,” table CA-PST04529 | Accessory Dwelling Units as Low-
Income Housing: California’s Faustian Bargain, Ramsey-Musolf, Urban 
Sci. 2018, 2(3) 89



3 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

Some communities prohibited any and all types of multifamily housing and mandated large homes and large lot 
sizes for single-family homes. 

These regulations often excluded Americans of modest means from significant portions of urban regions. Zoning 
combined with federal redlining, and other public and private practices enforced racial and ethnic as well as 
economic segregation. Zoning in many older cities was changed to prohibit ADUs along with town houses, 
duplexes and courtyard apartments — what is now commonly called “missing middle housing.”1 

At the same time, the size of single-family homes grew. In 1950 the average single-family home was 983 square 
feet. According to the U.S. Census the average size of a single-family home completed in 2019 was 2,301 square 
feet. From 1973 to 2016 the average square feet per resident of those homes increased from 551 to 1,058.2  
The United States has much more house per person but not nearly enough homes for people.

■   Changing Circumstances Have Strengthened the Case for ADUs
During the past 20 years, communities have been forced to reconsider postwar housing regulations due to: 

•  The aging of the U.S. population and the growing need for housing that serves people of all ages, including 
older adults

•   The crisis of unaffordable rents and home prices, which has spread to many urban areas, large and small

•   Out-of-pocket costs for care in residential settings may be out of reach for many who need long-term care  
and are looking for lower-cost housing alternatives to allow for family caregiving needs

•   The COVID-19 pandemic, which has driven home the need for housing that allows for caregiving. The pandemic 
has also worsened socioeconomic disparities in housing affordability as well as substandard housing 
conditions, which impact many households, including ones in communities of color affected by discriminatory 
housing practices and residential segregation

• The lack of adequate retirement savings for many older adults

•  A greater awareness of the significant fiscal and environmental benefits of infill and redevelopment,  
including as part of a strategy for combating climate change

•  The rise of online, short-term rental services that compete for existing housing in high amenity locations

•  An increase in the awareness of systemic racism and class division that is embedded in typical single-family 
zoning, which excludes people of color and of modest means from neighborhoods that offer advantages in 
schooling, amenities, transportation and jobs

•  A modest shift back to larger, multigenerational households (partly a reflection of high home prices and rents), 
which are a more traditional form of households



4 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

The vast majority of older adults want to remain 
in their current homes and communities.

•  77% want to live in their 
community for as long 
as possible

•  76% want to continue living 
in their current residence

•  59% anticipate they will 
be able to remain in their 
community, either in their 
current home (46%) or a 
diff erent home (13%)

•  About 1 in 3 would consider 
building an accessory 
dwelling unit on their 
property independent 
of a care need

• The most compelling 
reason for why older adults 
would consider living in 
an accessory dwelling unit 
is to live near others but 
still have their own space 
(67%), receive help with 
daily activities (63%) or for 
economic reasons (54%)

•  7 in 10 respondents said 
they would consider 
building an ADU for a loved 
one who needs care

According to an AARP survey of people age 50 or older …

AARP Home and Community Preferences National Survey of Adults Age 18-plus (August 2018)



5 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

■  Accumulating Experience with ADU Legislation and Ordinances
Since 2000, many more local governments have adopted or revised regulations authorizing the construction  
of accessory dwelling units. 

  Los Angeles, California, issued permits for 4,171 ADUs in 2018, up from 117 in 2016. This volume  
is equivalent to 20% of all permitted housing units (including a substantial share of permits legalizing 
formerly illegal ADUs).3 

  Portland, Oregon, authorized an average of about 450 ADUs per year from 2015 to 2018, equivalent to 
about 10% of all housing permits.4 

  In Canada, Vancouver, British Columbia, approved about 550 ADUs per year from 2015 to 2019, accounting 
for slightly more than 8% of the new housing supply for 2017 to 2019.5

On the other hand, some changes to local land use regulations intended to authorize ADUs or make it easier  
to build them have not (yet) resulted in a significant increase in ADU construction. By 2015, four years after 
legalizing ADUs, the city of Minneapolis, Minnesota, had permitted only 137.6 

Seattle, Washington, initiated a pilot program in 2006 allowing detached ADUs to be built in the southeast part  
of the city. It was considered a success, and the city expanded the program to include all of Seattle in 2009. Yet,  
as of 2016, only 221 ADUs had been built on the roughly 75,000 eligible single-family lots. 

In response to the low ADU production numbers, during the 2010s the previously cited communities and others 
(such as Austin, Texas, and Montgomery County, Maryland) revised their ADU ordinances to reduce the regulatory 
barriers that seem to be obstacles to ADU construction. 

In 2018, Minneapolis reformed its land use plan and followed up in 2019 by adopting sweeping changes to all  
of its residential zones. In 2019, Seattle adopted an ambitious round of reforms of ADU regulation. 

When AARP issued its 2000 edition of the Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance, only 
Washington State had legislation requiring local governments to authorize ADUs.7 Since then, many states have 
adopted legislation preempting local prohibitions to one degree or another, usually for larger cities and towns. 
This legislation has been enacted in California (2016),8 New Hampshire (2017),9 Oregon (2017),10 Rhode Island 
(2017)11 and Vermont (2005).12 In parallel with local governments’ continuing revisions to their ADU ordinances, 
California (2019),13 Oregon (2019)14 and Vermont (2020)15 passed many amendments to their initial ADU legislation, 
chipping away at various local regulatory barriers to ADU construction. Legislation authorizing or encouraging 
local governments to authorize ADUs was passed in Florida (allowing ADUs as affordable housing, 2004)16 and 
Maine (2019).17 Hawai’i has had legislation allowing counties to permit two dwellings on all single-family lots 
since 1981.18

The American Planning Association documented ADU legislation in many other states in the years immediately 
preceding the publication of this update.19 The continuing demand for, and evolving experience with, ADU 
legislation spurred AARP to prepare an updated version of Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local 
Ordinance. AARP recognizes that the rapidly changing regulatory landscape and its intersection with changes  
in the housing market and the need to evaluate the results of recent changes means this edition is unlikely  
to be AARP’s last effort on this topic.



6 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

■  Major Changes from the 2000 Edition
The 2000 edition included provisions for states to mandate local government authorization of ADUs. That was 
a far-sighted provision at the time. As noted previously, since 2000 several states have adopted legislation to 
override local regulatory barriers and require local governments to authorize ADUs, broadly following the AARP 
Model State ADU Act. This state-level legislation has informed the update of the Model State ADU Act. Similarly, 
local government amendments on the same topics have informed the update of the Model Local ADU Ordinance. 
Many of these regulatory changes reformed provisions that were identified as problematic in the 2000 edition. 
Such “poison pills” are:

 Owner occupancy requirements
 Parking requirements
 Conditional use permit review procedures and standards
 Discretionary standards related to design or “neighborhood character” 

Several notes in the 2000 edition raised the question of the fairness and the logic of imposing limits and 
constraints on ADUs that were not applied to the primary single-family dwellings. 

The 2020–2021 edition treats ADUs as a legitimate rather than a suspect and contingent type of housing. This change is 
the basis for not including several provisions from the 2000 Model Local ADU Ordinance that limited the purposes 
for which ADUs could be constructed, as well as the types of homes and lots that could be used for ADUs. 

■  Methodology of the 2020 Update
The 2000 (first) edition relied on an analysis of all state ADU legislation, 50 local 
ADU ordinances, a review of the existing literature on ADUs, a survey of planning 
agencies and consultants, and follow-up interviews. Aft er an initial draft  was 
prepared, several state and local off icials interviewed earlier reviewed the draft  
model legislation to assess its utility and feasibility in light of actual administrative 
practice and community experience. 

This edition — prepared in 2020 and released in early 2021 — shift ed the methods 
used to reflect the intervening quarter-century of experience with ADU legislation 
and the implementation of that legislation. The update looks to those state and 
local governments that are experiencing a significant volume in ADU construction 
as models. In these locations there are other forces at play supporting the 
construction of ADUs: market factors (e.g., high rents), public education eff orts 
by nonprofit organizations and governments, and the blossoming of professional 
services (in design, permitting and finance) to help homeowners take advantage 
of the opportunity to build an ADU. However, those influences would have no 
eff ect if ADU laws and regulations made the construction of ADUs impossible. 

Continued on  page 7 



7 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

A few new topics have been added, including:

 ADUs in an expanded range of zones
  Development opportunities and fee waivers to incentivize meeting equity and environmental goals
 Appeal procedures
 Short-term rentals

Not all of these topics are associated with proposed statutory or ordinance language, either because provisions 
addressing them are not necessary or can be found in provisions of more general application. The update draws 
on some of the accumulating research on ADUs and the continuing legislative and administrative innovations 
by state and local governments adopted to promote their construction.

Continued from page 6 

Methodology of the 2020 Update

The revision process began with the preparation of a heavily annotated version 
of the 2000 edition referencing the evolving state and local ADU legislation along 
with recent policy discussions. Working group members used the annotated 
version to provide more than 300 comments on the overall structure and audience 
for this edition. These were compiled into a spreadsheet for consideration by the 
entire working group and AARP leadership. A teleconference was used to confirm 
major areas of agreement. Summaries of relevant research on a few topics were 
prepared and additional model provisions were identified to help inform the 
draft ing process.

Based on the working group’s comments and direction from AARP leadership, 
a first draft  of the 2020 edition was provided for another round of comments. 
A second draft  was prepared and went through a similar review. During the 
preparation of the second draft  additional examples and supporting information 
were identified. The second draft  received a final technical editing review, leading 
to a third draft , which became this publication.



8 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

■  Organization of the 2020 Edition
Significant changes have been made from the 2000 edition. The most important is that, consistently with the idea 
of a “model” act and ordinance, only the best, model language is offered for each section; the “favorable” and 
“minimal” provisions have been deleted. In a few instances, different but equally favorable provisions are offered. 

1. The Model State Act on Accessory Dwelling Units 
The 2020 edition of the Model State ADU Act is organized differently from the 2000 edition in that it offers both  
an “optimal” and “minimal” version of the entire Model State ADU Act. 

The Optimal version of the Model State ADU Act mandates the authorization of ADUs by local governments. It 
limits local governments’ discretion over procedures, regulations and conditions that may effectively block the 
construction of ADUs. It retains the prior version’s approach of including default standards that ADU applicants 
can use in the event local implementation regulations are rejected or delayed. As in the 2000 edition, the state 
plays a role in monitoring and enforcing these provisions. 

With a very few exceptions, the 2020 version of the Model State ADU Act eliminates the optimal, favorable and 
minimal versions for various subsections; it specifies only the best, “model” language. The ordering and grouping 
of the subsections have been modified. The updated Model State ADU Act includes a new optional section related 
to private covenants, conditions and restrictions (CCRs) that bar the construction of ADUs. 

The Minimal version of the Model State ADU Act removes any question about the authority of local governments 
to authorize ADUs in states where local government authority is limited to what the legislature has expressly 
authorized. In other words, it clears the way for action by local governments without obliging them to authorize 
ADUs or constraining how they regulate them. In this minimal state act, state governments’ role is limited to 
collecting and disseminating information about ADU production. A discussion of short-term rental issues has  
been added, but no suggested statutory language is offered, for reasons given in the commentary itself.

In the Optimal version, this includes commentary on the reasons for eliminating local authority to impose 
conditions and procedures that effectively block ADU construction. 

2. The Model Local Ordinance on Accessory Dwelling Units
The Model Local ADU Ordinance is drafted for those local governments that have complete discretion over the 
regulation of ADUs, without any state legislative constraints. Of course, if there is state legislation constraining 
local discretion, as is found in the Model State ADU Act, then the local ordinance must conform to those 
requirements. The Model Local ADU Ordinance has been reorganized in parallel with the Model State ADU Act. 

Commentary has been added identifying regulatory requirements common in local ADU ordinances that should 
not be retained, such as owner occupancy requirements. The commentary explains how these provisions inhibit 
or effectively prohibit ADU construction. New regulatory options for authorizing ADUs on multifamily properties 
and through remodeling units  have been added. Also added is a commentary on possible building code revisions 
that may facilitate ADU construction.

A Note to Readers: The italic text that appears in the Model State ADU Act and the Model Local ADU Ordinance  
is used to provide an explanation or discussion of the recommended provisions.



9 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

II. Model State ADU Act 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Optimal Model State ADU Act: 
Statutory Authorization of Accessory Dwelling Units in Residential Zones and Limits on Local 
Government Discretion That May Be Used to Prohibit or Discourage ADUs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11

I. Findings, Policy and Legislative Intent, Definitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11
A. Findings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11
B. Policy and Intent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12
C. Definitions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  12

II.   Authorization of Accessory Dwelling Units,  
Local Government Implementation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14

III. Health and Safety Exemptions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14

IV. Private Deed and Homeowner Association Restrictions on ADUs  . . . . . . . . 14

V.  Local Regulations and Interpretations May Not Be Used  
to Frustrate Purposes of the Act  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15

VI. Utility Connections and Building Codes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15
A. Utility Connections . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15
B. Building Codes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15

VII.  Local Government ADU Authority, Density Limits and  
Miscellaneous Matters  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17

A.  Authority to Adopt Reasonable Regulations and Impose Reasonable Conditions. . . . . 17
B.  Short-Term Rentals. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18
C. Density Limitations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18
D. Exemption from Local Growth-Limitation Measures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18
E. Less Restrictive Provisions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18
F. Fees and Incentives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18

 




10 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

VIII. Standards Governing ADUs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19
A. Number of Units  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19
B. Minimum Lot Size . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20
C. Size of ADUs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21
D. Parking Requirements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21
E. Building Setbacks . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21

XIII.  Default Provisions Governing Applications for Accessory Dwelling  
Units in the Absence of a Certified Local Ordinance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22

A. Default Provisions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22
B. Only Basis for Denial  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22
C. Maximum Standards in Absence of Local Ordinance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22
D. No Changes to Local Ordinances Necessary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22
E. Default Standards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22
F. Local Government Review of Applications for ADUs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23

XIV. State Oversight and Monitoring  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
A. State Certification of ADU Ordinances  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
B. Local Government Annual Reports to State  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
C. State Annual Report  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25
D. State Advisory Board on ADU Policies  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25

Minimal Model State ADU Act
 Granting Local Governments the Full Range of Authority to Permit and Regulate  
Accessory Dwelling Units  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26

A. Findings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26
B. Policy and Intent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27
C. Definitions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27
D. Grant of Regulatory Authority  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28
E.  Local Government Authority to Prospectively Limit or Prohibit Private Agreements  

or Restrictions That Bar the Construction of ADUs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . 28



11 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

Optimal Model State ADU Act
  Statutory Authorization of Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) in Residential Zones and  
Limits on Local Government Discretion That May Be Used to Prohibit or Discourage ADUs

I. Findings, Policy and Legislative Intent, Definitions

A.  Findings

(1)  The Legislature finds and declares:

(a)  Many communities in our state face a severe housing crisis, with home prices and rents 
unaffordable by families and households of middle and moderate incomes.

(b)  The State is falling far short of meeting current and future housing demand, with serious potential 
consequences for the state’s economy and the well-being of our residents, particularly lower-
income and middle-income earners.

(c)  The State can play an important role in reducing the barriers that prevent homeowners from 
building accessory dwelling units.

(d)   There are many benefits associated with the creation of legal accessory dwelling units on lots  
in single-family zones and other zoning districts. These benefits include: 

(i)  Increasing the supply of a more affordable and diverse type of housing not requiring 
government subsidies; 

(ii)  Helping older homeowners, single parents, young home buyers, and renters seeking  
a wider range of homes, prices, rents and locations;

(iii)  Providing opportunities to reduce segregation of people by race, ethnicity, and income 
that resulted from decades of exclusionary zoning; 

(iv)  Providing homeowners with extra income to help meet rising ownership costs;

(v)  Creating a convenient living arrangement that allows family members or other persons  
to provide care and support for someone in a semi-independent living arrangement while 
remaining in his or her community;

(vi)  Increased security, home care and companionship for older or other homeowners;

(vii)  Reducing burdens on taxpayers while enhancing the local property tax base by providing 
a cost-effective means of accommodating development without the cost of building, 
operating and maintaining new infrastructure;

 (viii)  Promoting more compact urban and suburban growth, which reduces the loss of farm 
and forest lands, as well as natural areas and resources, while limiting increases in 
pollution that contributes to climate instability; and

(ix)   Enhancing job opportunities for individuals by providing housing nearer  
to employment centers and public transportation. 

(2)  Accessory dwelling units are, therefore, an essential component of the state’s housing supply.



12 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

B.  Policy and Intent
It is the policy of the State to promote and encourage the creation of accessory dwelling units in order to meet  
our residents’ housing needs and to realize other benefits of ADUs. 

It is the intent of the Legislature that accessory dwelling unit ordinances adopted by local governments allow  
the creation of such units and that these local ordinances not unreasonably restrict the ability of homeowners  
to create these units in zones in which they are authorized.

C.  Definitions
There are many alternative terms for ADUs. Although the term “Accessory Dwelling Unit” may be awkward and 
technical, it is now in such widespread use that it would add to the confusion to propose a replacement term or 
terms. To further simplify the discussion, the Model State ADU Act and Model Local ADU Ordinance do not distinguish 
between the different forms and types of ADUs, such as detached “cottages” or “internal apartments,” since the 
standards do not require that differentiation. The sole exception is the “Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit” (JADU), 
which is offered as an optional provision. 

Three alternative definitions of ADUs are presented with the numeral “1.” Choose one of the following options:

Limiting ADUs to parcels that are already the site of a single-family dwelling

1.  “Accessory Dwelling Unit” (ADU) means a residential living unit on the same parcel as a single-family 
dwelling. The ADU provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons. It may take various 
forms: a detached unit; a unit that is part of an accessory structure, such as a detached garage; or a unit that  
is part of an expanded or remodeled primary dwelling.  

The ADU to be built before or concurrently with a single-family home

1.  “Accessory Dwelling Unit” (ADU) means a residential living unit on the same parcel on which a single-family 
dwelling is present or may be constructed. It provides complete independent living facilities for one or more 
persons and may take various forms: a detached unit; a unit that is part of an accessory structure, such as  
a detached garage; or a unit that is part of an expanded or remodeled dwelling.

This definition allows for the construction of an ADU prior to or concurrent with that of the primary residence. 
Two common circumstances in which an ADU might be built before the primary residence are: (1) when a 
homeowner wishes to stage construction expenses and living arrangements and (2) when the homeowner owns 
an adjacent legal lot (typically used as a side or backyard) and would prefer to site an ADU there rather than 
on the lot with the primary residence. Suppose that an owner built a 600-square-foot detached dwelling on the 
second lot to serve as an ADU. If that lot was separately sold and the home on it was not identified as an ADU, 
then the new owner might find that regulations limiting the size of an ADU to 75% of the primary dwelling would 
treat the small home as the primary residence and limit the size of an official ADU to 400 square feet.

The ADU to be created is on a lot with a multifamily dwelling 

1. “Accessory Dwelling Unit” (ADU) means a residential living unit on the same parcel as a single-family 
dwelling or a multifamily structure. It provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons 
and may take various forms: a detached unit; a unit that is part of an accessory structure, such as a  



13 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

detached garage; a unit that is part of an expanded or remodeled single-family unit; or a unit in a multifamily 
dwelling.

This third alternative allows for building detached ADUs on properties with multifamily housing structures and 
through additions to or remodeling of those structures.

2.  “Default Provisions” means the standards of Section XIII of this Act, which a community must apply if it has  
no local ADU ordinance. 

3. “Dwelling Unit” means a residential living unit that provides complete independent living facilities for one  
or more persons. It shall include permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation  
and a separate entrance.  

4. “Governing Document” means articles of incorporation or bylaws or else a declaration, rule, regulation or 
resolution, any of which were properly adopted by a homeowners association, or else any other instrument 
or plat relating to common ownership or common maintenance of a portion of a planned community that is 
binding upon lots within the planned community.

5. “Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit” (JADU) is a separate living unit of less than 500 square feet, with a separate 
entrance. It may share sanitation facilities with another dwelling unit other than an ADU. 

The definition and authorization of junior accessory dwelling units are based on California’s definition and 
authorization of this type of ADU. See California Government Code Section § 65852.22.

6. “Living Area” means the interior habitable area of a dwelling unit, including basements and attics, but does 
not include a garage or any accessory structure.

7.  “Local Government” means a general-purpose local government created by general law or a charter. It exists 
in a city of any class or a county, borough, township or village. 

8. “Reasonable Local Regulations” means regulations that do not unreasonably increase the cost to construct, 
effectively prohibit the construction of, or extinguish the ability to otherwise construct an accessory 
dwelling unit [or junior accessory dwelling unit] consistently with the provisions of this Act. “Reasonable 
local regulations” do not include owner occupancy requirements applied to either the primary or accessory 
dwelling unit; requirements to construct off-street parking beyond what is required by this Act; or restrictions 
on the terms of rentals that do not apply generally to other housing in the same district or zone. 

For an explanation of the limits imposed on local government regulation of owner occupancy, parking and 
short-term rentals, see the notes under Section VII-A, “Authority to Adopt Reasonable Regulations and Impose 
Reasonable Conditions.”
 

9. “Town House” is a single-family dwelling constructed in a group of three or more attached units, with each 
unit extending from foundation to roof and with a yard or public way on not fewer than two sides.

This definition is included to enable implementation of provisions allowing ADUs in or with town houses. 



14 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

10. “Zoning Administrator” means the local off icial who is responsible for processing and approving or denying 
applications to develop or legalize ADUs.

II.  Authorization of ADUs, Local Government Implementation

Local governments shall adopt ordinances, in conformity with this Act, authorizing accessory dwelling units in 
single-family zones or districts and on appropriate lots in other zones that allow housing (except as specifically 
exempted in Section B) and authorizing their use as rental housing. 

This provision is written to require local governments to authorize ADUs in single-family residential zones and in 
a range of zones that authorize housing, such as zones that allow detached and attached housing, or in mixed-
use zones that allow commercial, institutional and other uses along with housing. However, it does not limit the 
discretion of local governments to authorize ADUs only on certain lots within those zones, such as lots with a single-
family residence or, more broadly, lots in residential use.

III.  Health and Safety Exemptions 

The [appropriate state agency] may grant an exemption from these provisions for those properties where new 
single-family homes have been prohibited because of limitations on safe drinking water or because of risks 
to public health due to limits on sewage disposal or because of the risk of fires, floods or landslides.

IV.  Private Deed and Homeowner Association Restrictions on ADUs

Any covenant, restriction or condition contained in any deed, contract, security instrument or other instrument 
aff ecting the transfer or sale of any interest in a planned development, and any provision of a governing document 
that either eff ectively prohibits or unreasonably restricts the construction or use of an accessory dwelling unit 
[or junior accessory dwelling unit] as a rental unit, though the latter otherwise meets the requirements of this Act, 
is void and unenforceable.

This section does not apply to provisions that impose reasonable private restrictions on accessory dwelling 
units or junior accessory dwelling units. For purposes of this subdivision, “reasonable private restrictions” means 
restrictions that do not unreasonably increase the cost to construct, eff ectively prohibit the construction of, or  

❝Neighborhood fears and misperceptions about ADUs 
can put political pressure on local elected off icials 
to use their powers to veto homeownersʼ plans to 
develop ADUs. A wide variety of local government 
actions and regulations can be used for this purpose. 
This section makes it illegal for them to do so.❞



15 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

extinguish the ability to otherwise construct an accessory dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit consistently 
with the provisions of this Act.

Based on California Civil Code Section 4751, which was added by Statutes 2019, Chapter 178, Section 2. [AB 670], 
effective January 1, 2020. 

Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CCRs): These are private regulations incorporated into the deed of a property 
and administered by an association for a Common Interest Community, such as a homeowners association. They 
were used in the past to prevent ethnic and racial minorities from buying or renting homes in some neighborhoods. 
Judicial decisions invalidated those provisions many decades ago as violations of the U.S. Constitution. However, 
other provisions of these private restrictions are still valid and remain an important tool in maintaining economic, 
racial and ethnic segregation even in situations in which the underlying zoning has been reformed. In legislation 
adopted in 2019, California invalidated CCRs that directly or indirectly prohibit ADUs and junior ADUs. 

There may be state constitutional or statutory limits on a legislature’s ability to invalidate existing CCRs. If so, a 
legislature should adopt a provision invalidating any future covenants, codes or restrictions that would preclude ADU 
construction. Two examples of prohibitions that operate only prospectively are Oregon Revised Statutes 94.776 and 
27 Vermont Statues Annotated § 545 as amended by Section X of Vermont Senate Bill 237, signed by the Governor  
and effective October 12, 2020.

V.  Local Regulations and Interpretations May Not Be Used to Frustrate  
Purposes of the Act

Local governments may adopt only reasonable regulations to govern the review and operation of accessory 
dwelling units. No local government may develop, amend or interpret other codes or regulations, such as building 
codes or special taxing district provisions, in ways that interfere with the intent of this Act. 

VI. Utility Connections and Building Codes 

A. Utility Connections
A local agency, special district or water corporation shall not require the applicant to install new or separate water 
and sewer lines directly between the accessory dwelling unit and the trunk lines unless the accessory dwelling 
unit was constructed with a new single-family dwelling. Applicants may choose to use a shared water meter for  
the primary structure and the ADU or have a separate water meter installed for the ADU.20

A best practice for municipalities is to not require new, dedicated lateral services from the utility/right-of-way to the 
property. These utilities include water, sewer, electric and gas connections. Commonly, water and sewer services 
are provided in part by governmental agencies, whereas electric and gas utilities are commonly provided by private 
energy providers. Ideally, energy providers do not require ADUs to have a dedicated lateral service connection from 
the right-of-way to an ADU, as new connections often cost several thousand dollars. When energy utilities are publicly 
owned, the same principle should apply. 

B.  Building Codes
(1)  Within one year of the effective date of this Act, the [State Building Codes Division] shall by rule establish 

building codes that local governments shall use to approve the conversion of single-family dwellings,  



16 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

[town houses] and accessory structures to create accessory dwelling units [and junior accessory 
dwelling units] for structures legally in existence prior to the effective date of this Act. The standards 
established under this subsection shall allow for revisions to local government building code standards 
governing ceiling heights, access and egress; energy efficiency; seismic safety; and other standards 
that may unnecessarily inhibit the construction of accessory dwelling units within, or primarily within, 
existing structures. These alternate standards shall describe the information that must be submitted 
before an application for conversion of a structure into an ADU will be deemed complete. 

(2)  A building official must approve or deny an application to create an accessory dwelling unit under the 
accessory dwelling unit building codes adopted pursuant to subsection (1) of this section no later than 
25 business days after receiving a complete application. A building official who denies an application for 
alternate approval under this subsection shall provide to the applicant a written explanation of the basis 
for the denial and a statement that describes the applicant’s appeal rights.

Based in part on Oregon Revised Statutes 455.610(8),(9)(2019).

Building codes can inhibit or facilitate the construction of ADUs, especially internal and garage conversions. Both 
state and local governments adopt building codes, often based on a variety of national and regional model codes. 
The degree of discretion allowed to local governments to deviate from state building codes varies between states. 

Since many garages and basements weren’t built to today’s earthquake or frost line standards, requiring that 
a structure meet the current structural code will effectively require demolition and new construction, thereby 
eliminating a realistic or feasible option for a structural conversion. 

Permitted, nonconforming structures should be allowed to change their use from a nonhabitable use to a habitable 
use without a conditional use permit or special exception from building code, even if the structure meets former  
but not current structural standards. This is commonly referred to as “grandfathering in” existing structures.  
This policy is critical to enable structural conversions. 

There are several other key considerations for internal conversions related to existing ceiling heights and existing 
stairwells. In general, the goal should be to allow existing spaces to have reduced building code thresholds  
for numerous building code standards.21 The City of Portland’s guide “Converting Attics, Basements and Garages  
to Living Space” makes internal conversions of living space to ADUs more feasible by adjusting several elements  
of building codes: 

Achieving higher energy efficiency in buildings is a critical strategy for reducing greenhouse gases. But it can increase 
the cost or reduce the design feasibility of ADUs created by conversions of existing space. 

Conversions of basements and garages to ADUs are the most common type of ADU conversion. In the past homes and 
garages were built with 2"x 4" stud walls versus the 2"x 6" framing used today, which accommodates much thicker 
insulation. Requiring a conversion to meet today’s energy standards may require the replacement of all existing   

 Ceiling heights
  Exceptions to ceiling heights for beams, 

heating ducts, pipes
 Sloped ceilings

 Existing stairs
 Noncompliant stairs
 Stair landings
 Firewall separation



17 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

stud walls to create sufficient wall cavity space to accommodate the insulation required to meet modern energy 
codes. This interior stud wall, or additional 2" wall furring, or exterior rigid foam insulation, can add substantially 
($5,000 to $20,000 in the Portland market in 2020) to construction costs and reduce the interior size of the living space 
of an already small dwelling. If the effect of these energy standards is that more large homes or new apartments  
are constructed, the net effect might be an increase in energy consumption due to higher heating and cooling costs  
of the larger spaces and because of the embedded energy in the materials used for new construction. 

VII. Local Government ADU Authority, Density Limits and Other Matters

A. Authority to Adopt Reasonable Regulations and Impose Reasonable Conditions 
Local governments may adopt reasonable local regulations governing ADUs, addressing height and bulk, setback, 
lot coverage, and regulations generally applicable to other residences in the same zones. Local governments may 
impose reasonable conditions of approval to ensure compliance with the regulations. Those regulations must be 
implemented using clear and objective standards and the procedures specified in this Act. 

Owner Occupancy Requirements

The definition of authorized “reasonable” local regulations in I.C.(8) forbids the imposition of a requirement that the 
owner live on the same property (whether in the primary dwellings or the ADU), yet such requirements are pervasive. 
The 2000 edition of the Model State ADU Act provided for the imposition of owner occupancy requirements on the 
grounds that such requirements ensured better oversight of renters and better maintenance of the property. This 
restriction took the form of a covenant on the deed or other restrictions on the title of the property. 

Owner occupancy covenants or conditions give pause to homeowners and institutions financing home purchases 
because of the limits they place on successive owners, who will not be able to rent out or lease their main house, 
which might be necessary as a result of a divorce, job transfer or death. They can also make financial institutions 
reluctant to provide financing for construction of an ADU, and because covenants or conditions serve as a restriction 
on a mortgage lender’s security interest in a property, lenders may withhold consent to any owner occupancy 
requirement that takes the form of a covenant.22 

The 2020 Model State ADU Act prohibits any form of owner occupancy provision because the practical impact of this 
requirement is to inhibit construction of most ADUs. That conclusion is reflected in amendments to California’s and 
Oregon’s ADU legislation and in Seattle’s 2019 local code revisions. 

Aside from its effect on ADU production, there is a problem with the logic and fairness of applying an owner occupancy 
standard to ADUs if there is no such requirement with single-family homes generally. If single-family homes can be rented out 
(by a nonresident owner), then what is the policy basis for requiring occupancy when there is an ADU on the property?

One of the justifications for the owner occupancy requirement is the assertion that resident owners take better care 
of their property than nonresident owners. But there are certainly resident homeowners who do not take care of their 
property and nonresident owners who keep their property in excellent condition. 

The 2020 Model State ADU Act treats ADUs as an equal and important type of housing that, in general, should be 
subject to the same set of rules that governs the use of other housing. ADUs should not be treated as an inferior form 
of housing that requires additional restrictions and policing. Authorizations of or prohibitions against renting out 
dwellings should be applied consistently to ADUs and other homes. If owner occupancy is required for the primary 
dwellings in a single-family zone, then that requirement can be easily extended to ADUs.



18 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

B. Short-Term Rentals
Many cities and residents are concerned about the use of houses, apartments and ADUs for short-term rentals, 
especially in regions, cities or districts that are tourist destinations. Use of these dwellings for short-term rentals can 
remove existing housing from the supply available for residents, worsening affordability and introducing commercial 
types of impacts into residential areas. Short-term rentals are often a major subject of debate in high-amenity areas, 
where the return on investment in ADUs used for short-term rentals is generally much higher than with those used  
for long-term housing. 

But the exact same concerns apply to short-term rental use of the primary dwelling. If short-term rental regulations 
are adopted, they should apply to all housing in the jurisdiction or zone, not just ADUs. Many existing ordinances 
have such limitations or prohibitions built into the list of permitted uses authorized for all housing. 

In legislation passed in 2020, Vermont amended its ADU legislation to allow for the regulation of short-term rentals, 
provided those regulations were not applicable to or did not inhibit the construction ADUs for longer-term rental use.23

There is a counterargument in support of short-term rental use of ADUs. The high return spurs the construction of 
more ADUs than would otherwise occur and these ADUs typically, over time, convert into long-term rentals or other 
uses. If the goal of ADU authorization is wealth creation or allowing people to stay in their homes as they age, then 
the use of ADUs for short-term rentals should be encouraged because short-term rentals help realize those objectives. 

C. Density Limitations
An ADU authorized under this Act shall not be considered to exceed the allowable density for the lot upon which it 
is located and shall be deemed a residential use consistent with the existing general plan and zoning designations 
for the lot. 

D. Exemption from Local Growth-Limitation Measures
ADUs shall not be restricted by any local government ordinance, policy or program intended to limit residential growth 
in residential zones or residential planning districts or mixed commercial and residential zones. 

Adapted from California Government Code Section 65852.2(a)(5). 

This section is drafted to apply only to locally adopted growth limitations and not state-level farm, forest, or natural 
resource conservation zones or districts that are part of a growth management program. 

E.  Less Restrictive Provisions
This Act does not limit the authority of municipalities to adopt less restrictive requirements for the creation of ADUs.

Adapted from California Government Code Section 65852.2(e). 

F. Fees and Incentives
Local governments charge permit processing fees, system development charges (for funding a share of capital 
improvements, such as water lines, sewage treatment capacity, schools and parks), utility connection upgrades,  
and fees for new residential development.   

The average local government fee charged for development of an ADU in California in the late 2010s was $9,250,  



19 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

according to a paper by the Terner Center at the University of California, Berkeley.24 In established neighborhoods 
where ADUs are being added, system development charges designed to pay for capital improvements may not 
be appropriate if existing capital improvements are already adequate to handle a modest increase in residential 
population. Many older neighborhoods have lower population densities than they did when they were built and 
household sizes were larger. 

The Model State ADU Act waives and reduces fees for smaller ADUs to incentivize construction or to encourage 
affordability, equity or environmental goals.

(1)   An accessory dwelling unit shall not be considered by a local government or agency, special district or 
water corporation to be a new residential use for the purposes of calculating connection fees or capacity 
charges for utilities, including water and sewer service.

(2)  A local government or agency, special district or water corporation shall not impose any impact fee upon 
the development of an accessory dwelling unit with less than 750 square feet. Any impact fees charged 
for an Accessory Dwelling Unit of 750 square feet or more shall be charged proportionately in relation  
to the square footage of the primary dwelling unit.

(3)  A local government or agency, special district or water corporation may require a new or separate 
utility connection directly between the accessory dwelling unit and the utility. The connection may be 
subject to a connection fee or capacity charge that shall be proportionate to the burden of the proposed 
accessory dwelling unit, based upon either its square footage or its drainage fixture unit (DFU) values, 
as defined in the Uniform Plumbing Code adopted and published by the International Association of 
Plumbing and Mechanical Officials, upon the water or sewer system. This fee or charge shall not exceed 
the reasonable cost of providing this service.

 
VIII. Standards Governing ADUs 

A. Number of Units 
In California (as of 2020) a single-family lot can have both an ADU and a junior accessory dwelling unit, which may 
be no larger than 500 square feet and must be part of the primary residence. In 2019 Seattle, Washington, authorized 
the creation of one detached ADU and one internal ADU per single-family lot; if green building or affordability 
requirements were met, a second detached unit is also allowed. 

In 2020, Portland, Oregon, decided to allow two ADUs in any configuration on each single-family-zoned lot as part  
of broad reform of residential zoning. Since 2016, the Canadian city of Vancouver, British Columbia, has allowed  
a “secondary suite” (internal ADU) and a “laneway home” (detached ADU with alley access) on single-family lots  
on corner, double-fronted lots and lots with an alley. 

There are many different ways to accommodate more than one ADU that are sensitive to concerns about 
neighborhood appearance. For example, two internal ADUs can be accommodated by remodeling a large home 
without increasing height or bulk. An internal unit can be allowed along with an ADU over an attached garage 
without increasing the area of the lot occupied by the structures. Discussions about allowing more than one ADU 
per lot in single-family zones may result in a challenging but beneficial community discussion about the purposes 
of single-family zoning. Minneapolis, Minnesota; Portland, Oregon; and the State of Oregon have reformed their 
residential zoning.  



20 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

The Model State ADU Act allows two ADUs per lot without specifying their form, leaving that to local government or 
homeowner discretion. This provision is written to allow for both concurrent and prior construction of ADUs. The timing 
of ADU construction relative to that of the primary dwelling is discussed in the alternate definitions of ADUs in I.C.(1).

Some ordinances, for example Seattle’s, have made additional ADUs conditional on achieving other community goals, 
such as affordability, accessibility and green building performance standards. This follows the precedents created by 
inclusionary zoning ordinances that allow for additional units in multifamily developments if the rents for those units 
meet an affordability standard for a specified period. It is too soon to know whether these incentives will be effective  
in creating additional ADUs. Provisions allowing these “Bonus ADUs” (BADUs) are presented here as options. 

(1)  Any lot with, or zoned for, a principal single-family-dwelling unit may have up to two accessory 
dwelling units.

Bonus ADU Provisions

(2)  The Zoning Administrator may authorize an additional accessory dwelling if: 

(a)  The additional accessory dwelling unit is a rental unit affordable to and reserved solely for 
“income-eligible households,” as defined in this ordinance, and is subject to an agreement 
specifying the affordable housing requirements under this subsection to ensure that the  
housing shall serve only income-eligible households for a minimum of 50 years. The monthly 
rent, including basic utilities, shall not exceed 30% of the income limit for the unit, all as 
determined by the Director of Housing, and the housing owner shall submit a report to the  
Office of Housing annually that documents how the affordable housing meets the terms  
of the recorded agreement. Prior to issuance, and as a condition of issuance, of the first  
building permit for a project, the applicant shall execute and record a declaration in a form 
acceptable to the Director that shall commit the applicant to satisfying the conditions for 
establishing a second accessory dwelling unit as approved by the Director; or

(b)  The applicant makes a commitment that the new principal structure or the new accessory 
structure containing a detached accessory dwelling unit will meet a green building standard, 
and the applicant shall demonstrate compliance with that commitment, all in accordance with 
this ordinance. A second accessory dwelling unit that is proposed within an existing structure 
does not require the structure to be updated to meet the green building standard; or

(c)  The applicant designs at least one of the dwellings on the lot to meet visitability standards, 
including a no-step entry, [36"] wide doors and hallways, a bathroom that can be used by 
someone in a wheelchair, and at least [300 square feet] of living space on the main level.

Based on Seattle Municipal Code 23.44.041.A.1.a.(2). 

B.  Minimum Lot Size
A local government may not require a minimum lot size for ADUs that is larger than the minimum lot size for 
single-family houses [or town houses] in the same zone or district.



21 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

C.   Size of ADUs
Accessory dwelling units may be any size, provided that the proposed ADU’s total square footage is less than that 
of the primary dwelling’s and other requirements are satisfied.

Many local governments have adopted minimum and maximum sizes for ADUs. The Model Local ADU Ordinance 
recommends eliminating minimum size since the basic requirements for a living space (kitchen, bathroom, living/
sleeping area) and the housing market will establish a minimum size. In expensive housing markets the success of 
micro-apartments of less than 300 square feet and the proliferation of tiny homes on wheels demonstrates that there 
is demand for very small units. At the other end of the scale, limits on maximum size prevent the construction of ADUs 
that could be home for a family of three or more persons. For situations in which the existing residence is very small, 
local governments might consider authorizing ADUs up to 800 square feet when the primary dwelling is smaller than 
800 square feet. Burlington, Vermont, takes a different approach to this issue. It allows accessory dwelling units  
to be 30% of the gross square footage of a house of 800 square feet, whichever is greater. 25 

D.  Parking Requirements
Many local governments have required one or more off-street parking spaces for each ADU. This is a serious inhibition 
to the construction of ADUs for two reasons. First, the cost of building off-street parking spaces.26 Second, the lot 
size, location of the primary residence and topography may make the construction of one or more parking spaces 
impossible.27

The impact of parking requirements on ADU production is suggested by the results of a 2018 survey of California cities 
with ADU regulations. Out of the 168 cities, 68% reported having minimum off-street-parking requirements for ADUs . 
Prior to the 2017, California legislation that eliminated off-street parking within a half-mile of transit, localities receiving 
frequent ADU applications were much more likely to lack off-street-parking requirements (31% versus 13%).28 Given the 
general oversupply of parking29 and its impacts on home prices and rents (and more generally urban development 
and redevelopment), minimum parking requirements are being reconsidered and reduced. Hartford, Connecticut;30 
Buffalo, New York;31 and Edmonton, Alberta, Canada,32 are among the cities that have eliminated most or all minimum 
parking requirements. Other cities have reduced or eliminated parking requirements for different types of housing.33

No additional off-street parking is required for construction of an ADU. If the ADU removes one of the existing 
off-street parking spaces, the local government may require that the space be replaced on site if required by the 
underlying zoning. In lieu of an on-site parking space, an additional on-street parking space may be substituted 
if there is already sufficient curb area available along the frontage for a parking space or by removing the parking 
space access ramp and reinstalling the curb. 
 
Based on Seattle Land Use Code 23.44.041 A.5.
 
E.  Building Setbacks
No setback shall be required for an existing garage living area or accessory structure or for a structure constructed 
in the same location and to the same dimensions as an existing structure that is converted to an accessory 
dwelling unit or for a portion of an accessory dwelling unit. A setback of no more than four feet from the side  
and rear lot lines shall be required for an accessory dwelling unit that is not converted from an existing structure  
or for a new structure constructed in the same location and to the same dimensions as an existing structure.

Based on California Government Code 65852.2(a)(D)(vii).



22 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

XIII.  Default Provisions Governing Applications for Accessory Dwelling Units in 
the Absence of a Certified Local Ordinance

A.  Default Provisions
If a local government without an adopted state-certified ADU ordinance receives an application for a permit for 
an ADU on or after [the effective date of the Act], it shall accept the application and approve or disapprove the 
application pursuant to the default provisions of this section of the Act unless it adopts a certified ordinance in 
accordance with this Act within 120 days after receiving the application. 

This provision governs how local governments are to process their applications to create an ADU if they do not have 
an ordinance that conforms to the Model State ADU Act. It also incentivizes local governments to adopt their own 
ordinance and secure state certification promptly rather than apply the Model State ADU Act’s default provisions. 

B.  Only Basis for Denial
No local ordinance, policy or regulation shall be the basis for the denial of a building permit or a use permit under 
the default provisions of the Act.

Adapted from California Government Code Section 65852.2(b)(2).

C.  Maximum Standards in Absence of Local Ordinance
The default provisions of this section establish the maximum standards that municipalities shall use to evaluate 
proposed ADUs on lots that are zoned for residential use and contain an existing single-family dwelling.  
No additional standards, other than those provided in this section, shall be used or imposed.

Adapted from California Government Code Section 65852.2(b)(2). 

D.  No Changes to Local Ordinances Necessary
No changes to zoning ordinances or other ordinances or any changes to the general plan shall be required to 
implement the default provisions of this Act. Any local government may amend its zoning ordinance or general 
plan to incorporate the policies, procedures or other provisions applicable to the creation of ADUs if these 
provisions are consistent with the limitations of the default provisions.

Adapted from California Government Code Section 65852.2(b)(4).

A community is subject to the default provisions of this Model State ADU Act if it does not have an ADU ordinance  
of its own. But if a community without an ADU ordinance wants to amend a comprehensive plan or other ordinance, 
this provision allows it to do so if the amendment is consistent with the default provisions. 

E.  Default Standards

(1)   Zones Where ADUs Are Authorized: The lot proposed to contain the ADU is in a zone in which single-
family residences are authorized and is the current site of a primary dwelling or qualifies as the site  
for a future primary residence. 

Many local governments have chosen to allow ADUs only in a limited number of residential zoning   



23 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

classifications. However, excluding ADUs from zones applicable to higher income neighborhoods will raise 
questions of fairness (for neighbors, property owners and prospective ADU tenants alike). Treating ADUs as a 
less desirable, inferior, type of housing — instead of a housing type that can benefit people of all incomes and 
backgrounds — will likely reinforce patterns of housing discrimination and class and residential segregation. 
In recent years many local governments have relaxed the stringency of residential zones, in some cases by 
authorizing different types of housing in the same zones as commercial uses and other times in zones with 
light industrial uses. There is no policy reason to exclude ADUs from these zones if single-family dwellings are 
allowed in them. 

(2)  Time of Construction: ADUs may be built concurrently with or before the primary residence. 

Building an ADU concurrently with the construction of a new home has many advantages in cost savings, design 
consistency and logical siting. California’s 2019 legislative reforms included general authorization of ADUs built 
concurrently with new homes. The common circumstance in which the construction of an ADU might precede  
that of a primary residence was discussed above in I.C.(1) under the definitions of “Accessory Dwelling Unit.”

(3)  Detached ADUs: Detached ADUs (including ADUs built as part of a garage or another accessory building) 
may be built before the primary residence. The location, scale and other aspects of the ADU must not 
preclude or constrain the construction of a primary dwelling in conformity with regulations governing 
those dwellings.

(4)  Unit Size: The living area of an ADU shall be smaller than the living area of the primary residence.  
There is no minimum size, provided code requirements governing kitchen, sanitation and other relevant 
provisions are satisfied. 

(5)  Separate Sale of ADUs: Local governments may choose to limit or prohibit the separate sale of ADUs.

The separate sale of ADUs is discussed in Section II-M of the Model Local ADU Ordinance.

(6)  Other Matters: Requirements related to height, setback, lot coverage, site plan review, fees, charges 
and other zoning requirements generally applicable to residential construction in the zone in which the 
property is located are applicable to any ADU, except when the provisions of this Act specify otherwise.

F.  Local Government Review of Applications for ADUs
A permit application for an accessory dwelling unit shall be approved or denied ministerially without discretionary 
review or a hearing, notwithstanding any local ordinance regulating the issuance of variances or special use 
permits, within 90 days after receipt of a completed application. 

If the permit application to create an accessory dwelling unit is submitted with a permit application to create a 
new single-family dwelling on the lot, the permitting agency may delay acting on the permit application for the 
accessory dwelling unit or a junior accessory dwelling unit until the permitting agency acts on the application to 
create the new single-family dwelling, but the application to create the accessory dwelling unit shall be considered 
without discretionary review or hearing. If the applicant requests a delay, the 90-day time period shall be tolled 
for the period of the delay. The ministerial decision on the ADU application shall be the final decision of the local 
government for purposes of judicial review.

Adapted from California Government Code 65852.2(a)(3). 



24 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

If judicial review of local ADU approvals proves to be a major inhibition to ADU (or other needed housing) 
construction, state legislators may wish to examine the model of a specialized state land use appeals board of the 
type Oregon has used since the 1980s, including provisions that limit review to an appellate review based on the  
local government record and require expedited review by that tribunal and the appellate courts.34

 

XIV. State Oversight and Monitoring

A.  State Certification of ADU Ordinances
(1)  Submission for Certification: A local government shall submit the zoning ordinance provisions 

implementing this Act 90 days prior to final approval of such an ordinance or amendment, seeking an 
opinion from the [state agency] on whether the ordinance conforms to this statute. This submission 
must include the local government’s date of planned final approval. The [state agency] may notify 
other relevant agencies so that they may also comment on whether the municipality’s draft ordinance 
conforms to the statute. The [state agency] shall notify the local government prior to the planned date 
of final approval of its opinion as to the conformity of the ordinance to this statute. If, in the opinion of 
the [state agency], the ordinance and/or amendments reviewed do not conform to this statute, the [state 
agency] shall notify the local jurisdiction of actions that must be taken to bring the ordinance(s) and/or 
amendments into conformity. 

(2)  Local Government Action on Deficiencies: The local government shall bring its ordinance into 
conformity, as recommended by the [state agency], within 90 days of notification of nonconformance 
pursuant to the prior section. If the municipality has not brought its ordinance into conformity within 
the 90-day period, the [state agency] will notify the jurisdiction that it must automatically accept and 
process applications for ADUs under the default regulations of this Act until conformity is certified by 
the [state agency]. Prior to any certification by the [state agency], any applications submitted under the 
default regulations of this Act shall be processed fully and solely under those regulations. 

 
(3)  Amendments: Changes to a municipality’s ordinance certified by the [state agency] must be submitted 

and certified in the same manner and procedure as the initial proposed ordinance pursuant to this section. 

B.  Local Government Annual Reports to State

(1)  L ocal governments shall report annually to the [state agency] the number of: 

(a)  Single-family structures in the jurisdiction; 

(b)  Single-family structures in single-family-residential zones and in multifamily residential zones  
in which accessory dwelling units are permitted; 

(c)  Illegal accessory dwelling units, attached and unattached, and known or estimated to be in the 
jurisdiction; 

(d)  Applications to legalize illegal accessory dwelling units submitted to the jurisdiction and the results 
of processing these applications; 

(e)  Legal accessory dwelling units in the jurisdiction; 

(f)  Applications for new accessory dwelling units accepted for processing;  



25 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

(g)  New accessory dwelling units approved and permits issued by type of unit (internal, attached, 
detached integrated with another accessory structure and detached stand-alone), size, number  
of bedrooms, location and level of accessibility; and

(h)  Applications disapproved, with reasons categorized by requirements not met. 

C.  State Annual Report
The [state agency] shall prepare an annual report to the Governor and the Legislature from the annual reports 
from local governments, including the installation rates of ADUs and recommendations, if any, for amending the 
Act or other implementation measures necessary for promoting the development of ADUs to increase housing 
supply generally or for particular residents or communities. The annual report shall include any recommendations 
on ADU policies from the State Advisory Board. 
 
D.  State Advisory Board on ADU Policies 

(1)  Creation: The [state agency] shall establish an Advisory Board to monitor implementation of the Act  
and to recommend amendments to the Model ADU Act or Model Local Ordinance provisions to the 
[state agency]. 

(2)  Composition: The Advisory Board shall be appointed by the Director of the [state agency] in 
consultation with the Legislature and Governor and shall include one representative from each of 
the following groups: renters, remodelers, mortgage bankers, real estate agents, new home builders, 
nonprofit home builders, first-time home buyers, home health care agencies and local permitting 
agencies; organizations for the disabled, older persons and neighborhoods; and historically 
underrepresented communities and neighborhoods. 

(3)  Duties: The Advisory Board’s duties shall include, but not be limited to, preparing an annual 
commentary on the report prepared by the [state agency] on accessory dwelling units. The Board’s 
commentary shall contain recommendations for furthering the purposes of the legislation and will  
be published and circulated with the [state agency’s] annual report. 

This section of the Model State ADU Act is optional. It gives the state the role of encouraging ADUs and 
reviewing local efforts to accommodate them. 

The optional monitoring provision here would require communities to report specific ADU data to the responsible 
state agency and to obtain ADU policy recommendations from a State Advisory Board. With the benefit of the 
community data and the Advisory Board recommendations, the responsible agency would prepare an annual 
report proposing new or amended policies to the State Legislature and Governor. This optional monitoring 
mechanism would assist the state in assessing the law’s effectiveness. Because it allows well-informed policy 
adjustment to be made, it should help ensure the ultimate success of the state’s ADU policies.



26 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

  Minimal Model State ADU Act 
  Granting Local Governments the Full Range of Authority to Permit and Regulate 

Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs)

A.  Findings 
(1)  The Legislature finds and declares:

(a)  Many communities in our state face a severe housing crisis, with home prices and rents 
unaffordable by families and households of middle and moderate income.

(b)  The State is falling far short of meeting current and future housing demand, with serious 
consequences for the state’s economy and the well-being of our residents, particularly lower-
income and middle-income earners.

(c)  There are many benefits associated with the creation of legal accessory dwelling units [and junior 
accessory dwelling units] on lots in single-family zones and in other zoning districts. These benefits 
include:  

(i)  Increasing the supply of a more affordable type of housing not requiring government subsidies;

(ii)  Helping older homeowners, single parents, young home buyers and renters seeking a wider 
range of homes, prices, rents and locations;

(iii)  Increasing housing diversity and supply, thereby providing opportunities to reduce the 
segregation of people by race, ethnicity and income that resulted from decades of exclusionary 
zoning; 

(iv)   Providing homeowners with extra income to help meet rising homeownership costs; 

(v)  Creating a means for a family member or others to provide care and support to a family 
member in a semi-independent living arrangement while remaining in the community;

(vi)  Providing an opportunity for increased security, home care and companionship for older  
or other homeowners; 

(vii)  Reducing burdens on taxpayers by providing a cost-effective means of accommodating 
development that can avoid the construction, operations and maintenance of new 
infrastructure while accommodating population growth and increasing the local tax base;

(viii)  Promoting more compact urban and suburban growth, a pattern that reduces the loss of 
farm and forest lands and natural areas and resources and limits increases in pollution that 
contributes to climate instability; and 

(ix)  Enhancing job opportunities for individuals by providing housing nearer to employment 
centers and public transportation. 

(2)  Therefore, accessory dwelling units [and junior accessory dwelling units] can be an essential component 
of the local housing supply.



27 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

B.  Policy and Intent
It is the policy of the state to grant local governments the full range of authority needed to promote and encourage 
the creation of accessory dwelling units in order to meet their housing needs and to realize other benefits of 
accessory dwelling units. 

C.  Definitions 
There are many alternative terms for ADUs. Although the term “Accessory Dwelling Unit” may be awkward and 
technical, it is now in such widespread use that it would add to the confusion to propose a replacement term or 
terms. To further simplify the discussion, the Model ADU Act and Model ADU Ordinance do not distinguish between 
the different forms and types of ADUs, such as detached “cottages” or “internal apartments,” since the standards 
do not require that differentiation. The sole exception is the junior accessory dwelling unit, which is offered as an 
optional provision. 

Three alternative definitions of ADUs are presented with the numeral “1.” Choose one of the following options:

Limiting ADUs to parcels that already are the site of a single-family dwelling

1.  “Accessory Dwelling Unit” (ADU) means a residential living unit on the same parcel as a single-family 
dwelling [or town house]. The ADU provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons. 
It may take various forms: a detached unit; a unit that is part of an accessory structure, such as a detached 
garage; or a unit that is part of an expanded or remodeled dwelling. 

The ADU to be built before or concurrently with a single-family home

1.  “Accessory Dwelling Unit” (ADU) means a residential living unit on the same parcel as a single-family 
dwelling [or town house] or a parcel on which a single-family dwelling is present or may be constructed. 
It provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons and may take various forms: a 
detached unit; a unit that is part of an accessory structure, such as a detached garage; or a unit that is part  
of an expanded or remodeled dwelling.

The ADU to be created on a lot with a multifamily dwelling

1. “Accessory Dwelling Unit” (ADU) means a residential living unit on the same parcel as a single-family 
dwelling, [a town house] or a multifamily structure. It provides complete independent living facilities for 
one or more persons. It may take various forms: a detached unit, a unit that is part of an accessory structure, 
such as a detached garage; or a unit that is part of an expanded or remodeled single-family unit or a unit in a 
multifamily dwelling.

2. “Default Provisions” means the standards of Section 4 of this Act, which a community must apply if it has  
no local ADU ordinance. 

3. “Dwelling Unit” means a residential living unit that provides complete independent living facilities for  
one or more persons. It shall include permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation, 
as well as a separate entrance.  



28 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

4.  “Governing Document” means articles of incorporation or bylaws or else a declaration, rule, regulation or 
resolution, any of which were properly adopted by a homeowners association, or else any other instrument 
or plat relating to common ownership or common maintenance of a portion of a planned community that is 
binding upon lots within the planned community.

5.  “Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit” (JADU) is a separate living unit of less than 500 square feet, with a separate 
entrance. It may share sanitation facilities with another dwelling unit other than an ADU. 

The provision of junior accessory dwelling units is based on California’s definition and authorization of this type  
of ADU. See California Government Code Section § 65852.22.

6.  “Living Area” means the interior habitable area of a dwelling unit, including basements and attics, but does 
not include a garage or any accessory structure. 

7.  “Local Government” means a general-purpose local government created by general law or a charter, 
including a city of any class or a county, borough, township or village.

8.  “Reasonable Local Regulations” means regulations that do not unreasonably increase the cost to construct, 
effectively prohibit the construction of, or extinguish the ability to otherwise construct an accessory 
dwelling unit or junior accessory dwelling unit consistently with the provisions of this Act. “Reasonable local 
regulations” do not include owner occupancy requirements for either the primary or accessory structure, 
requirements to construct off-street parking beyond what is required by this Act or restrictions on the term  
of rentals that do not apply generally to other housing in the same district or zone. 

For an explanation of the limits imposed on local government regulation of owner occupancy, parking and short-
term rentals, see notes under “Authority to Adopt Reasonable Regulations and Impose Reasonable Conditions” in the 
longer version of the Model State ADU Act.

9. “Town House” is a single-family-dwelling unit constructed in a group of three or more attached units in which 
each unit extends from foundation to roof and with a yard or public way on not fewer than two sides.

10.  “Zoning Administrator” means the local official who is responsible for processing and approving or denying 
applications to develop or legalize ADUs. 

D.  Grant of Regulatory Authority
Notwithstanding any other statute, local governments are granted full authority to adopt ordinances in conformity 
with this Act authorizing and regulating accessory dwelling units and junior accessory dwelling units in any zones 
or districts that allow housing. 

E.  Local Government Authority to Prospectively Limit or Prohibit Private 
Agreements or Restrictions That Bar the Construction of ADUs

Notwithstanding any other statute, local governments are granted full authority to adopt ordinances that limit  
or prohibit future private agreements or restrictions that bar the construction of accessory dwelling units and 
junior accessory dwelling units within their jurisdictional boundaries.



29 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.  General Provisions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30
A. Purpose and Intent.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30
B. Definitions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31
C. Authorization of ADUs by Zoning District. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33
D. Number of ADUs Allowed Per Lot in Single-Family Zones . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34

II.  Standards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36
A. Minimum Lot Size in Single-Family (and Town House) Zones  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36
B. Types of Structures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37
C. Size of ADUs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37
Introduction to Lot Coverage, Setbacks, Height, Bulk and Floor Area Ratios . . . . . . . . . . . 37
D. Lot Coverage Limits  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38
E. ADU Setbacks . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38
F. Floor Area Ratios  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39
G. ADU Height Limit  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39
H. Architectural Consistency and Design Review  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39
I. Orientation of Entrance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40
J. ADU Screening, Landscaping and Orientation.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40
K. Parking Requirements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40
L. Short-Term Rentals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41 
M. Separate Sale of ADUs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41
N. Owner Occupancy (Residency) Standards  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42
O. Other Common Standards Not Recommended for Application to ADUs  . . . . . . . . . . . . 43

III.  Utility Connections and Building Codes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43
A. Utility Connections . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43
B. Local Building Codes  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43

IV.  ADU Application and Review Procedures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44
A. Application Process  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44
B. Clear and Objective Versus Discretionary Standards  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45
C. Review Procedures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45
D. Appeals of ADU Decisions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45

V.  Fees  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46

VI.  Legalizing ADUs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46

III. Model Local ADU Ordinance



30 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

 Model Local ADU Ordinance
This Model Local ADU Ordinance is designed for communities in states where state law allows for local ordinances 
authorizing and governing ADUs but does not impose any constraints on local governments. 

In states where local governments do not have the discretionary authority to approve ADUs (Dillon Rule states) 
state legislation giving them that authority must be adopted first. AARP’s “Minimal Version” of the Model State 
ADU Act would give local governments that authority along with complete discretion over the content of their ADU 
ordinances. If there is a state ADU statute that limits local government discretion (as is proposed in the AARP Model 
State ADU Act) then the local ordinance will need to conform to those requirements. 

Many provisions and notes related to standards and procedures for ADUs are duplicates, or near duplicates, of 
provisions and notes in the Model State ADU Act. Rather than referring readers back to those sections, which can  
be tiresome and confusing, this guide reproduces them as parts of the Model Local ADU Ordinance. 

I.  General Provisions

A.  Purpose and Intent
In this section of the ordinance, a community states its purposes in adopting the ordinance. This information may 
help in defending the ordinance when informing residents of how the ordinance will benefit and protect their 
interests and in responding to legal challenges. 

If a community has no purposes that differ from those of the Model State ADU Act, it may choose to reference that 
act’s findings and its purposes and intent, but it is recommended that at a minimum the minutes of the meeting at 
which the ordinance is adopted include a discussion of those benefits and a statement that they are the basis for  
the local ordinance.

If a community has public purposes that are different from those in the Model State ADU Act, those purposes should 
be specified in the ordinance (after consulting legal counsel on whether they are inconsistent with any state ADU 
legislation). 

(1)  The [local governing body] finds and declares:

(a)  Our community faces a severe housing crisis, with home prices and rents unaffordable by families 
and households of middle and moderate incomes.

(b)  The community is falling far short of meeting current and future housing demand with serious 
consequences for the state’s economy and the well-being of our residents, particularly lower-
income and middle-income earners.

(c)  The [local government] can play an important role in reducing the barriers that prevent 
homeowners from building accessory dwellings. 



31 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

(d)  There are many benefits associated with the creation of legal accessory dwellings on lots  
in single-family zones and in other zoning districts. These include: 

(i)  Increasing the supply of a more affordable type of housing not requiring government subsidies; 

(ii)  Helping older homeowners, single parents, young home buyers, and renters seeking a wider 
range of homes, prices, rents and locations;

(iii)  Increasing housing diversity and supply, providing opportunities to reduce the segregation  
of people by race, ethnicity and income that resulted from decades of exclusionary zoning; 

(iv)   Providing homeowners with extra income to help meet rising homeownership costs; 

(v)  Creating a convenient living arrangement that allows family members or other persons to 
provide care and support for someone in a semi-independent living situation without the latter 
leaving his or her community; 

 (vi)  Providing an opportunity for increased security, home care and companionship for older  
and other homeowners; 

(vii)  Reducing burdens on taxpayers while enhancing the local property tax base by providing a 
cost-effective means of accommodating development without the cost of building, operating 
and maintaining new infrastructure;

(viii)  Promoting more compact urban and suburban growth, a pattern that reduces the loss of 
farm and forest lands and natural areas and resources and limits increases in pollution that 
contributes to climate instability; and 

(ix)  Enhancing job opportunities for individuals by providing housing nearer to employment 
centers and public transportation.

(2)  Accessory dwelling units are, therefore, an essential component of housing choices and supply  
in [local government name].

B.  Definitions
Even if there are controlling definitions in state ADU legislation, it is preferable to incorporate them into a local 
ordinance for the convenience of the users, as has been done here. The same notes found in the Model State ADU Act 
are repeated here. 

There are many alternative terms for “ADUs.” Although the term “Accessory Dwelling Unit” may be awkward and 
technical, it is now in such widespread use that it would add to the confusion to propose a replacement term or 
terms. To further simplify the discussion, the Model State ADU Act and Model Local ADU Ordinance do not distinguish 
between the different forms and types of ADUs, such as detached “cottages” or “internal apartments,” since the 
standards do not require that differentiation. The sole exception is the Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit, which is 
offered as an optional provision. 



32 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

Three alternative definitions of ADUs are presented with the numeral “1.” Choose one of the following options:

Limiting ADUs to parcels that are already the site of a single-family dwelling
 
1. “Accessory Dwelling Unit” (ADU) means a residential living unit on the same parcel as a single-family 

dwelling. The ADU provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons. It may take  
various forms: a detached unit; a unit that is part of an accessory structure, such as a detached garage;  
or a unit that is part of an expanded or remodeled dwelling. 

The ADU to be built before or concurrently with a single-family home

1.  “Accessory Dwelling Unit” (ADU) means a residential living unit on the same parcel as a single-family 
dwelling or a parcel on which a single-family dwelling is present or may be constructed. The ADU provides 
complete independent living facilities for one or more persons. It may take various forms: a detached unit,  
a unit that is part of an accessory structure, such as a detached garage; or a unit that is part of an expanded  
or remodeled dwelling.

The preceding definition allows for the construction of an ADU prior to or concurrent with that of the primary 
residence. Two common circumstances in which an ADU might be built before the primary residence are (1) when a 
homeowner wishes to stage construction expenses and living arrangements; and (2) when the homeowner owns an 
adjacent legal lot (typically used as a side or backyard) and prefers to site an ADU there rather than on the lot with 
the primary residence. Suppose an owner built a 600 square foot detached dwelling on her second lot to serve as an 
ADU. If that lot was separately sold and the home on it was not identified as an ADU, the new owner might find 
that regulations limiting the size of ADUs to 75% of the primary dwelling’s size would treat the small home as the 
primary residence and limit the size of an official ADU to 400 square feet. 

The ADU to be created on a lot with a multifamily dwelling

1.  “Accessory Dwelling Unit” (ADU) means a residential living unit on the same parcel as a single-family 
dwelling or a multifamily structure. The ADU provides complete independent living facilities for one or more 
persons. It may take various forms: a detached unit; a unit that is part of an accessory structure, such as a 
detached garage; or a unit that is part of an expanded or remodeled single-family unit or a unit in a multifamily 
dwelling.

2.  “Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit” (JADU) is a separate living unit of less than 500 square feet, with a separate 
entrance, that may share sanitation facilities with another dwelling unit other than an ADU. 

The provision on junior accessory dwelling units is based on California’s definition and authorization of this type  
of ADU. See California Government Code Section § 65852.22.

3. “Living Area” means the interior habitable area of a dwelling unit, including basements and attics, but does 
not include a garage or any accessory structure. 

4. “Zoning Administrator” means the local official who is responsible for processing and approving or denying 
applications to develop or legalize ADUs.  
 



33 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

C.  Authorization of ADUs by Zoning District
In the absence of state legislation addressing the issue, communities have wide discretion in permitting ADUs  
in many types of residential zoning districts. The merits of locating ADUs in the major types of residential zones  
is discussed below. As a general principle, in communities with high rents and home prices relative to incomes,  
the governing body should allow ADUs in the full range of zones where residences are authorized. Different zones  
and their suitability for ADUs are discussed below.

Mixed-Use Zones: In the last few decades, governments and planning advocacy groups (including AARP) have 
recognized the many adverse consequences of strict single-use zoning. Across the country, zoning has been reformed 
to allow a greater mixture of uses along with residential uses, such as institutional uses, professional services and 
retail commercial uses. Because of the success over the last century in reducing the pollution and noise impacts from 
many types of urban land uses, some communities have gone further and allowed residential uses intermingled 
within a wide range of nonretail commercial and light industrial zones. ADUs may not be appropriate on a variety  
of lots in these mixed-use zones, but they make sense on lots that are the site of a detached single-family dwelling. 

Multifamily Zones: These zones are distinguished by apartments or condominiums with multiple dwellings on the 
same lot, typically in multiunit and/or multistory structures. In recent years some cities with high housing costs have 
approved or are considering the authorization of ADUs on lots with multifamily structures. 

California requires jurisdictions to allow new ADU units to be created out of existing parts of multifamily buildings 
if those parts are not currently used as livable space, such as storage rooms, garages, or basements or through an 
addition to the building.35 In May 2020 the Chicago City Council considered a draft ADU ordinance that would allow 
new ADUs equal in number to 33% of the existing units in a multifamily structure on the lot.

Town House Zones: These zones contain single-family dwelling units that have common walls but are not atop one 
another, typically one dwelling per lot. Siting ADUs in these zones can have its challenges, given building orientation 
and lot coverage. On the other hand, Washington, D.C., is an example of a city where many historic townhouses 
included an “English basement” on the lowest floors of the building. Ordinances addressing the creation of ADUs 
in these districts will need to provide more flexibility regarding both siting requirements and some building code 
standards (flexibility that does not compromise health and safety). 

Single-Family Zones: These zones contain one single-family dwelling unit per lot and provide the greatest 
opportunities for siting all types of ADUs. Some jurisdictions also allow clusters of small single-family homes,  
each on their own small lot or as condominium units with common space. Single-family zones also include detached 
single-family homes on their own lot and can be treated the same way as those homes are treated in single-family 
zones. Even in these single-family zones, however, neighbors’ concerns about property values, aesthetics and 
“neighborhood character” have often caused communities to ban detached ADUs or to allow them only on larger 
lots. Perversely, this can mean that ADUs are prohibited in single-family zones with large lots and bigger houses, 
where they can be more easily sited as detached units or created by remodeling existing space, but allowed on  
small lots where this is more challenging. This kind of policy choice reinforces rather than reduces the impact  
of exclusionary zoning. 

For reasons of equity and to realize the benefits described in the statement of purpose and intent, ADUs should  
be authorized in all single-family residential zones. 

In adapting the model provisions to a local zoning ordinance, a community will substitute its zoning district  



34 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

names (or abbreviations) for the model provisions’ descriptions of zoning districts. 

Accessory dwelling units are allowed in all zoning districts that allow residential use, subject to the requirements 
of this ordinance. 

Optional Provision: Accessory Dwelling Units on Town House Lots

Definition: “Town house” is a single-family dwelling unit constructed in a group of three or more attached units, 
with each unit extending from foundation to roof and having a yard or public way on not fewer than two sides.

A town house structure may be constructed or remodeled as a group of two or more attached two-family dwellings 
under the following conditions: (1) one of the two-family dwelling units shall conform to the requirements of the 
accessory dwelling unit standards and (2) each two-family dwelling within the town house structure shall meet  
the definition of an attached house, including that it be located on its own lot. 

D.  Number of ADUs Allowed Per Lot in Single-Family Zones
In California (as of 2020) a single-family lot can have both an ADU and a junior accessory dwelling unit that is no 
larger than 500 square feet and is part of the primary residence. In 2019, Seattle authorized that one detached ADU 
and one internal ADU can be located per single-family lot. If green building or affordability requirements are met,  
a second detached unit could be allowed. In 2020, Portland, Oregon, decided to allow two ADUs in any configuration 
on each single-family zoned lot as part of a broad reform of residential zoning. Since 2016, the Canadian city of 
Vancouver, British Columbia, has allowed a “secondary suite” (internal ADU) and a “laneway home” (detached ADU 
with alley access) on single-family corner lots, double-fronted lots and lots with alleys. 

There are many ways to accommodate more than one ADU while being sensitive to concerns about neighborhood 
appearance. For example, two internal ADUs can be accommodated by remodeling a large home without increasing 
height or bulk. An internal unit can be allowed along with an ADU over an attached garage without increasing  
the area of the lot occupied by structures. 

Discussions about allowing more than one ADU per lot in single-family zones may result in a challenging but 
beneficial community discussion about the purposes of single-family zoning. Minneapolis, Minnesota; Portland, 
Oregon; and the State of Oregon have reformed their residential zoning.

The Model State ADU Act allows two ADUs per lot without specifying their form, leaving that to local government  
or homeowner discretion. This provision is written to allow for both concurrent and prior construction of ADUs.  
(The issue of the timing of ADU construction relative to construction of the primary dwelling is discussed in the 
alternate definitions of ADUs in I.C.1.) 

Some ordinances, for example Seattle’s, have made the creation of additional ADUs conditional on achieving other 
community goals, such as affordability, accessibility and green building performance standards. This follows the 
precedents created by inclusionary zoning ordinances that allow for additional units in multifamily developments  
if the rents for those units meet an affordability standard for a specified period. It is too soon to know whether these 
incentives will be effective in spurring the creation of additional ADUs. Provisions allowing these “Bonus ADUs” 
(BADUs) are presented here as options. 

(1)  Any lot with, or zoned for, a principal single-family dwelling unit may have up to two ADUs.  



35 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

Bonus ADU Provisions

(2) The Zoning Administrator may authorize an additional accessory dwelling if: 

(a)  The additional accessory dwelling unit is a rental unit affordable for and reserved solely  
for “income-eligible households,” as defined in this ordinance. It is subject to an agreement 
specifying the affordability requirements under this subsection in order to ensure that the 
housing shall serve only income-eligible households for a minimum period of 50 years.  
The monthly rent, including basic utilities, shall not exceed 30% of the income limit for the 
unit, all as determined by the Director of Housing, and the housing owner shall submit a report 
to the office of housing annually that documents how the affordable housing meets the terms 
of the recorded agreement. Prior to issuance of the first building permit for a project, and as 
a condition of that issuance, the applicant shall execute and record a declaration in a form 
acceptable to the Director that shall commit the applicant to satisfying the conditions for 
establishing a second accessory dwelling unit as approved by the Director; or

(b)  The applicant makes a commitment, in the manner required by this ordinance, that the new 
principal structure or the new accessory structure shall contain a detached accessory dwelling 
unit will meet a green building standard. A second accessory dwelling unit that is proposed 
within an existing structure does not require the structure to be updated to meet the green 
building standard; or 

(c)  The applicant designs at least one of the dwellings on the lot to meet visitability standards 
including a no-step entry, [36"] wide doors and hallways, a bathroom that can be used by 
someone in a wheelchair, and at least [300 square feet] of living space on the main level.

Based on Seattle Municipal Code 23.44.041.A.1.a.(2). 

“Income eligible” is not defined in the Model Local ADU Ordinance, since that can be a matter left to local 
discretion. Seattle has chosen to link its definition to a percentage of the U.S. Housing and Urban Development’s 
published Median Family Income data. See Seattle Municipal Code Section 23.84A.025.

This Model Local ADU Ordinance also does not incorporate a green building standard; a local government may 
rely on its existing standards or adopt new ones for this purpose. Seattle’s green building standard is rigorous, 
referencing the standards in Leadership in Energy and Environment Design (LEED), passive house and living 
building design standards, and other standards. The green building standard was adopted by the Director of 
Seattle’s Department of Construction as Rule 20-2017 and Inspections and can be found at Seattle.gov/dpd/codes/
dr/DR2017-20.pdf.

Some other mechanisms to promote affordable ADUs are:

   Letting the landlord charge market rate rent, but adopting no-fault eviction protection and/or a cap  
on the rate of rent increase over time.

  Requiring the landlord to accept Section 8 vouchers.

Based on Philadelphia Fair Housing Ordinance [Chapter 9-800 of the Philadelphia Code]:

 Adopting the Good Cause eviction regulations for short-term rental [less than 12 months]. 



36 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

Provisions like these require a commitment to enforcement that is often a challenge for local planning and building 
departments, which are frequently underfunded. One simple mechanism for enforcement is to send a letter to the 
landlord every year that must be signed and returned attesting to his or her adherence to the income limit, a practice  
Santa Cruz adopted.

II.  Standards

A.  Minimum Lot Size in Single-Family (and Town House) Zones
This section addresses the lot sizes required for ADU installation. Local governments have often imposed excessive 
minimum lot sizes for ADUs, which greatly restricts the number of ADUs in a community. In a survey of 50 ordinances 
for the 2000 edition of the Model State ADU Act and Local Ordinance, the minimum lot size requirement varied from 
4,500 square feet to 1 acre (APA 1996). One community allowed detached ADUs only on lots that were 1.5 times the 
minimum lot size of the zoning district (Orange County, Florida, Zoning Code Sec. 38-1426 (f)(4). Some communities 
have the same minimum lot-size requirements for all ADUs. 

As a policy matter, it should not be necessary to establish a separate qualifying lot size for ADUs if the purpose is to 
assure the retention of landscaping and privacy between homes, because the setback and lot coverage standards 
can achieve those objectives. 

The language below requires that the minimum sized lot required for an ADU is the same as the minimum lot size  
for the primary dwelling. 

There is one exception: ADUs may be created within or attached to an existing house on lots smaller than the 
minimum lot size if there is an existing house on the lot. It also allows ADUs to be built concurrently with or before  
the primary residence (for reasons discussed in notes to the alternative definitions for accessory dwelling units).  
This provision also addresses the issue of legally platted lots made nonconforming by the imposition of subsequent 
lower-density zoning, something that occurred in many cities in the middle of the 20th century. 

Accessory Dwelling Units may be created on any lot that meets the minimum lot size required for a single-family 
dwelling (or town houses). Attached and internal accessory dwelling units may be built on any lot with a single-
family dwelling (or town house) that is nonconforming solely because the lot is smaller than the minimum size, 
provided the accessory dwelling units would not increase the nonconformity of the residential use with respect  
to building height, bulk or lot coverage. 

B.  Types of Structures 
Many off-site manufactured and modular ADUs have been and continue to be produced; old conceptions of what 
constitutes a manufactured or modular home have become outdated. The Model Local ADU Ordinance provision 
maximizes the opportunities for ADUs by allowing any type of structure to be an ADU if that structure is allowed  
as a principal unit in the zoning district. 

A manufactured or modular dwelling unit may be used as an accessory dwelling unit in any zone in which 
accessory dwelling units are permitted.

 



37 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

C.  Size of ADUs
Many local governments have adopted minimum and maximum sizes for ADUs. The Model Local ADU Ordinance 
recommends eliminating minimum-size limits since the basic requirements for a living space (kitchen, bathroom, 
living/sleeping space) and the housing market will establish a minimum size. In expensive housing markets the 
success of micro-apartments of less than 300 square feet and the proliferation of tiny homes on wheels demonstrate 
that there is demand for very small units. At the other end of the scale, limits on the maximum size prevent the 
construction of ADUs that could be home for families of three or more persons. 

An accessory dwelling unit may be any size, provided the proposed unit’s total square footage is less than the 
primary dwelling’s and other requirements are satisfied.

For situations in which the existing residence is very small, local governments might consider authorizing ADUs up to 
800 square feet when the primary dwelling is smaller than that size. Burlington, Vermont, takes a different approach 
to this issue; it allows accessory dwelling units to be 30% of the gross square footage of the house or 800 square feet, 
whichever is greater. 36 

■  Introduction to Lot Coverage, Setbacks, Height, Bulk and Floor Area Ratios

Lot coverage, setbacks, height and bulk (floor area ratio) limits are adopted primarily to address the appearance 
(the “built character”) of neighborhoods. (There are some fire safety aspects to setbacks.) Cities with steep 
terrain apply additional or modified requirements that address vertical proximity as well as structural safety. 

Local governments use a number of methods to regulate the size and location of buildings (residences and other 
structures) to achieve aesthetic goals and assure a minimum amount of undeveloped land. These methods are 
limits on the proportion of a lot that is used as a site for permanent structures (“lot coverage”); the setback from 
the property lines; and height and floor area ratios that establish the maximum square footage of residential 
structures based on a percentage of the total lot area. 

These limits are often used in various combinations, sometimes as alternative standards. For example, setbacks 
alone without a separate lot coverage limit can effectively create a lot coverage maximum. The failure of some 
ADU ordinances to result in the production of ADUs can be traced back, in part, to these requirements, especially 
the unintended interaction between those regulations. 

Before adoption of these requirements for ADUs, local governments may benefit from analyzing the combined 
effect of these regulations on a representative set of lots in each zone. In addition to determining whether 
the effect is to make it physically impossible to build a detached (or attached) ADU on some lots, the local 
government should estimate the return on investment on that portion of the lots where ADU construction  
is allowed. This will provide some idea of the strength of the potential market incentive for ADU construction. 

However, the analysis needs to reflect that the homeowners building ADUs are often considering both a market 
return and nonmarket returns. For example, assume the desired ADU is intended to meet the needs of an 
older relative with mobility limitations. A 500-square-foot structure would be small but sufficient. But if the 
overlapping regulations on lot coverage and setbacks mean the structure would need to have two stories in 
order to provide 500 square feet of living space, then this kind of structure might generate a good rental return 
but would not meet the needs of the intended resident.



38 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

D.  Lot Coverage Limits
Coverage limits can be applied to all structures on a lot, combined (e.g., primary house, detached garage, garden 
shed, ADU); all accessory structures combined, including an ADU; or a separate lot coverage applicable just to 
detached ADUs that are not part of another accessory structure. Lot coverage allowances and limits intersect not 
only setbacks but floor area ratio limits and height limits. If detached or attached ADUs are significantly constrained 
by a lot coverage limit, then the possibility of having a two-story ADU may determine whether the investment in an 
ADU will generate a big enough return to justify its construction.

Steep slopes and impacts on stormwater runoff may require differences in lot coverage allowances for some sites. 

Some communities are under consent decrees entered into with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency to address 
stormwater discharges. These consent decrees, which set standards for the maximum proportion of a lot that can  
be covered with impermeable surfaces, must be incorporated into local standards. Requiring or allowing the use  
of permeable pavers, which can be exempted from lot coverage calculations, helps address those standards. These 
consent decrees are another good reason not to require on-site parking. 

Whenever possible, limitations on lot coverage should be addressed at the planning stage (for example, through 
the use of overlay districts) rather than being determined and applied in the permitting process. Siting and design 
standards that help meet performance standards for building safety and stormwater runoff can be determined and 
adjusted at the permitting stage for these kinds of sites. That is preferable to a complete prohibition. 

An accessory dwelling unit (detached, attached or built by expanding the footprint of an existing dwelling) on a lot 
of 4,000 square feet or larger shall not occupy more than 15% of the total lot area. For single family lots of less than 
4,000 square feet, the combined lot coverage of the primary dwelling and the accessory dwelling shall not exceed 
60%. Accessory dwelling units built within the footprint of existing, legal accessory structures are considered not 
to have changed existing lot coverage.

E.  ADU Setbacks

(1)  A setback of no more than 4 feet from the side and rear lot lines shall be required for an accessory 
dwelling unit that is not converted from an existing structure or a new structure constructed in the same 
location and with the same dimensions as an existing structure.

(2)   No setback shall be required for an existing garage living area or accessory structure or a structure 
constructed in the same location and with the same dimensions as an existing structure and converted 
to an accessory dwelling unit or to a portion of an accessory dwelling unit.

(3)  A detached accessory dwelling unit is not permitted on the front half of a lot, except when located  
a minimum of 30 feet from the front line or if it falls within the provision of subsection (2). 

Adapted from California Government Code 65852.2(a)(D)(vii) and Los Angeles Metropolitan Code 12.22 A.33(d)(3).



39 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

F.  Floor Area Ratios
Floor area ratios (FARs) qualify the relationship between the size of a lot and the maximum square footage that  
can be built on the lot. A FAR can be written as, for instance, 0:75 to 1, 0.75 or 75. FARs are commonly used in 
commercial districts, like downtowns, but sometimes are applied to residential zones. For example, a FAR of 0.75 
applied to a 5,000-square-foot lot would allow for a maximum of 3,750 square feet of residential living space.  
The most common substitute for FARs is a zonewide maximum square footage for homes.

FARs have advantages as a method for regulating ADUs because they provide more flexibility about the size of the 
ADU, whether internal, attached or detached. They also lend themselves to bonus provisions that allow for ADUs or 
types of ADUs that achieve goals concerning housing production, affordability and the like. 

Many local governments do not include the area of a below ground basement in the FAR limitation. This exclusion 
makes sense when applied to basement ADUs. In the absence of this kind of provision, the design of basement  
ADUs can include strange elements, like a small storage area usable only by the upstairs primary dwelling, in order 
to reduce the square footage of the ADU in an effort to conform to the maximum-size regulation. 

The Model Local ADU Ordinance does not propose provisions on the topic because of the wide variety of variations 
possible and potential complexity when combined with other siting standards. But readers interested in how FARs 
can be tailored to accommodate and promote a variety of housing types, may wish to consider the application of 
FARs developed through the residential infill project in Portland, Oregon (2016–2020). Portland sharply reduced the 
maximum size of single-family dwellings but allowed additional FAR for additional units.37

G.  ADU Height Limit
The maximum height of an Accessory Dwelling Unit is 25 feet or the height of the primary residence, based on the 
highest point of its roof compared with the lowest point of ground level at the foundation, whichever is less.

Adapted from Charlottesville, Virginia, Municipal Code Sec. 34-1171.(3).

H.  Architectural Consistency and Design Review
Concern about the consistency of detached ADUs with the design of residential architecture in the neighborhood 
has translated into a variety of standards and procedures. Highly discretionary standards based on neighborhood 
“character” or “quality” can be serious obstacles to the construction of ADUs. Vague standards of that sort hamper 
homeowners and decisions-makers alike. They can become an avenue for channeling neighborhood objections  
to ADUs in general. 

In some cases, the prescriptions for particular designs and materials can also add considerably to the cost of an 
ADU. A better approach is to reduce key design elements to a set of objective standards governing roof pitch, window 
orientation and siding. In some cases, design standards only apply in certain districts or when the ADU is larger than 
a specified height or taller than one story. 

Some cities are experimenting with standardized, preapproved designs for ADUs that do not require the same level 
of regulatory review. This approach can be used to encourage the use of designs that fit comfortably within the 
prevailing aesthetic of neighborhoods.

As has been noted in other parts of the Model Local ADU Ordinance, with regard to design standards ADUs    



40 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

should be held to the same standards as primary dwellings. If bold new architectural designs are allowed for primary 
residences, then it does not make sense to require an ADU to look like a craftsman bungalow. 

For this reason, the Model Local ADU Ordinance recommends against establishing separate architectural or design 
standards for ADUs.

I.  Orientation of Entrance
Many ADU regulations limit the location and design of the entrance to the ADU. 

While presented as a matter of aesthetics, an ADU entrance on the same side of the house as the main entrance may 
be considered objectionable because it advertises the existence of a second dwelling, which is taken as detrimental 
to the single-family-dwelling “character” of the neighborhood. This is evident in communities that allow direct access 
into different levels of the house (daylight basement or French  doors for a bedroom) or stairs to outside decks but 
prohibit entrance doors and stairways accessing ADUs. Ironically, some of these places have policies promoting ADUs 
and requiring notice to the neighbors before an ADU can be built, yet also have a code provision intended to hide the 
entrance to the ADU. These requirements can compromise the design and increase the cost of the ADU, substituting  
a more awkward and expensive entrance. 

Following the general principal of treating ADUs like the primary dwelling, the authorization and location of access 
doors and stairs for detached and attached ADUs should be the same as for primary dwellings.

Regulations governing the location, type and number of entrances into primary dwellings apply to ADUs. 

J.  ADU Screening, Landscaping and Orientation 
Privacy is a major concern of neighbors, but ADU regulations addressing privacy were/are relatively rare. In some 
cases, the loss of privacy caused by an ADU is identical to the loss of privacy that would result from the construction 
or remodeling of an adjacent home. Sometimes the loss of privacy is caused by the removal of trees or shrubbery 
necessitated by the construction of the ADU. Again, this loss of screening vegetation for the primary dwelling is often 
not regulated. Thus, it should not be regulated with ADUs. 

K.  Parking Requirements
Many local governments require one or more off-street parking spaces for each ADU. This is a serious inhibition to 
the construction of ADUs for two reasons. First, the cost of creating off-street parking spaces.38 Second, the lot size, 
location of the primary residence and topography may make the creation of a parking space impossible.39

The impact of parking requirements on ADU production is suggested by the results of a 2018 survey of California 
cities with ADU regulations. Out of the 168 cities, 68% reported having minimum off-street parking requirements for 
ADUs . Prior to the 2017 California legislation that eliminated off-street parking within a half-mile of transit, localities 
receiving frequent ADU applications were much more likely to lack off-street parking requirements (31% versus 13%).40

Given the general oversupply of parking41 and its impacts on home prices and rents (and more generally urban 
development and redevelopment) minimum parking requirements are being reconsidered and reduced. Hartford, 
Connecticut;42 Buffalo, New York;43 and Edmonton, Alberta,44 are among the cities that have eliminated most or all 
minimum parking requirements. Other cities have reduced or eliminated parking requirements for different types  
of housing.45 



41 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

No additional off-street parking is required for construction of an ADU. If the construction of the ADU necessitates 
the removal of an existing off-street parking space, it must be replaced on-site if required by the underlying zoning. 
In lieu of an on-site parking space, an additional on-street parking space may be substituted if there’s already 
sufficient curb area available along the frontage for a parking space or by removing the parking space access ramp 
and reinstalling the curb. 

Based on Seattle Land Use Code 23.44.041 A.5. 

L.  Short-Term Rentals
Many cities and residents are concerned about the use of homes, apartments and ADUs for short-term rentals, 
especially in regions, cities or districts that are tourist destinations. Use of these dwellings for short-term rentals 
can remove existing housing from the supply available for residents, worsening affordability and introducing 
commercial-use types of impacts in residential areas. Short-term rentals are often a major subject of debate in high-
amenity areas where the return on investment in an ADU used for short-term rentals is much higher than from those 
used for long-term housing. 

But the exact the same concerns apply to the short-term rental use of primary dwellings. If short-term rental 
regulations or prohibitions are adopted they should apply to all housing in the jurisdiction or zone, not just ADUs. 
Many ordinances already have such limitations or prohibitions on the use of homes as transient lodging in their land 
use regulations, and those could be extended to ADUs. However, the following are examples of counterarguments  
in support of the short-term rental use of ADUs (and primary dwellings): 

  The high return from short-term rentals spurs the construction of more ADUs than would otherwise occur, 
and these ADUs will, over time, convert into long-term rentals or other uses. 

  The goals of ADU authorization are wealth creation and allowing seniors to stay in their homes, and the high 
return from short-term rentals helps realize those objectives. 

  Survey research shows that ADU owners value the flexibility of ADUs. If the owner loses a job, she may cope 
by turning her home office in the ADU into a short-term rental. If an elderly parent living in an ADU moves to 
a nursing home, the owners can then rent out the ADU as a short-term rental to pay the nursing home costs. 

M.  Separate Sale of ADUs 
Most accessory dwelling unit ordinances are silent on the separate sale of the units as condominiums. A few prohibit 
this practice. The policy basis for these restrictions seems to be a concern that allowing ADUs to be sold as condos 
will fuel speculative redevelopment of existing housing in high-cost neighborhoods.

In addition, neighbors and local officials fear the prospect of both units being rental units, which is the basis for the 
owner occupancy requirement. On the other hand, neighbors who have concerns about having rental units nearby 
might logically prefer an owned ADU to a rented ADU.

Property owners and developers in Austin, Texas, determined that state law authorizes the separate sale of ADUs 
as condominiums. Developers subsequently began to purchase single-family homes, build ADUs (called Auxiliary 
Dwelling Units) on the lots, then sell the ADU condominiums and primary residences separately. Only some lots and 
homes are appropriate, however — typically those with alley access, because of the requirements for separate access and 
parking. As of the writing of the second edition of the Model Local ADU Ordinance, builders in Austin are contacting 
homeowners about forming a condo association with them and buying backyards as sites for the second homes.  



42 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

Vancouver, British Columbia, allows the separate sale as “strata” (condominium) units alley-fronting “coach houses” 
on lots with “character” homes (certain ones built before 1940 that are not on a historic register) as a financial 
incentive to carry out major upgrades needed to bring homes up to current building codes.46 

“Condominium” refers not to a type of structure but a form of ownership in which an agreement among the parties 
defines separate and common areas and establishes standards and procedures governing the common areas. 
Allowing ADUs to become separately owned condominium units avoids the political reaction of authorizing land 
divisions to create separate lots for ADUs. But fee simple ownership is less complicated and easier to finance and 
sell than condominiums. As a matter of terminology and logic, it would be confusing to call a detached dwelling 
“accessory” to a principal dwelling if that dwelling is on a separate lot with separate ownership. 

The Model Local ADU Ordinance leaves this policy question open, providing as alternatives the allowance of and 
prohibition of the separate sale of ADUs. 

N.  Owner Occupancy (Residency) Standards 
Requirements that the owner live on the same property (whether in the primary dwellings or the ADU) are pervasive. 
The 2000 edition of the AARP Model Local ADU Ordinance noted: “Many communities monitor ADUs to ensure that 
the owner still lives on the premises. A variety of methods are used to do this monitoring including registration 
of occupants, certification of occupancy, and annual licensing of rental units with annual inspections. Other 
communities require ADU owners to record the requirements of the ADU ordinance as deed restrictions, particularly 
the owner-occupancy requirement. The deed restrictions accompany the title of the property and give notice to all 
subsequent buyers of the occupancy requirement.” 

Owner occupancy covenants or conditions give pause to homeowners or institutions financing home purchases 
because of the limits they place on successive owners who will not be able to rent out or lease their main house, 
which might be necessary as a result of a divorce, job transfer or death. They can also make financial institutions 
reluctant to provide financing for construction of the ADU. Finally, because a covenant or condition serves as  
a restriction on a mortgage lender’s security interest in the property, the mortgage lender can withhold consent to  
any requirement that takes the form of a covenant, which means the local government would be required to deny  
the application to build an ADU.47 

The practical impact of the occupancy requirement is to inhibit construction of most ADUs. That conclusion is 
reflected in amendments to California’s and Oregon’s ADU legislation and in Seattle’s 2019 local code revisions. 

Aside from its effect on ADU production, there is a problem with the logic and fairness of applying an occupancy 
standard to ADUs if there is no such requirement for single-family homes generally. If single-family homes can be 
rented out (by a nonresident owner), then what is the policy basis for requiring occupancy when there is an ADU  
on the property?

One of the justifications for the owner occupancy requirement is the assertion that owners take better care of their 
property than nonresident owners. But there are certainly resident homeowners who do not take care of their 
property and nonresident owners who keep their property in excellent condition.

The 2020 Model State ADU Act treats ADUs as an equal and important type of housing that, in general, should be 
subject to the same set of rules that governs the use of other housing. ADUs should not be treated as an inferior form 
of housing that requires additional restrictions and policing. Authorizations of or prohibitions on renting out   



43 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

dwellings should be applied consistently to ADUs and other homes; if there is no owner occupancy requirement  
for primary residences, there should be none for ADUs.

O.  Other Common Standards Not Recommended for Application to ADUs
The following commonly used standards are no longer recommended for inclusion in ADU ordinances:

  Density of ADUs in a zone or district
  Age of principal dwelling
  Size of principal dwelling
  Tenure of current owner
  Number, age, relationship and physical condition of persons who can live in the ADU 
  Annual renewal and monitoring of permits
   Owner occupancy/residency on the same property 

III. Utility Connections and Building Codes

A.  Utility Connections
New or separate water and sewer lines directly between the accessory dwelling unit and the trunk lines are not 
required unless the accessory dwelling unit is constructed before or in conjunction with a new single-family 
dwelling. Applicants may choose to use a shared water meter for the primary structure and the ADU or have  
a separate water meter installed for each.

A best practice for municipalities is to not require new, dedicated lateral services from the utility/right-of-way to the 
property. These utilities include water, sewer, electric, and gas connections. 

Commonly, water and sewer services are provided in part by governmental agencies, whereas electric and gas 
utilities are commonly provided by private energy providers. 

Ideally, energy providers do not require ADUs to have a dedicated lateral service connection from the right-of-way to 
an ADU, as new connections often cost several thousand dollars. However, when energy utilities are publicly owned, 
then the same principle should apply. 

B.  Local Building Codes
Since many garages and basements weren’t built to today’s earthquake or frost line standards, requiring that a 
structure meet current code may effectively require demolition and new construction, thereby eliminating a realistic 
or feasible option for a structural conversion. 

Permitted, nonconforming structures should be allowed to change their use from a nonhabitable use to a habitable 
use without a conditional use permit or special exception from the building code, even if the structure does not meet 
current structural standards. This is commonly referred to as “grandfathering in” existing structures. This policy  
is critical in enabling structural conversions.

There are several other key considerations for internal conversions related to existing ceiling heights and   



44 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

existing stairwells. In general, the goals should be to allow existing spaces to have reduced building code thresholds 
for numerous building code standards.48 

The Portland, Oregon, guide to “Converting Attics, Basements and Garages to Living Space” makes internal 
conversions of living space to create ADUs more feasible by adjusting several elements of building codes:  

  Ceiling heights
  Exceptions to ceiling heights for beams, heating ducts, pipes
  Sloped ceilings
  Existing stairs
  Noncompliant stairs
  Stair landings
  Firewall separation

Achieving higher energy efficiency in buildings is a critical strategy for reducing greenhouse gases. But it can increase 
the cost or reduce the design feasibility of ADUs created by conversions of existing space. 

Conversions of basements and garages to ADUs are typically the most common type of ADU conversion. In the past, 
homes and garages were built with 2"x 4" stud walls versus the 2"x 6" framing used today, which accommodates 
much thicker insulation.

Requiring a conversion to meet today’s energy standards may require the replacement of all of the existing stud 
walls to provide sufficient wall cavity space to accommodate sufficient insulation and meet modern energy code. 
This interior stud wall or additional 2" wall furring or exterior rigid foam insulation can add substantially ($5,000  
to $20,000 in the Portland market in 2020) to construction costs and reduce the interior size of the living space of  
an already small dwelling. 

If the effect of these energy standards is that more large homes or new apartments are constructed the net effect 
might be to increase energy consumption in order to heat and cool the larger spaces and because of the embedded 
energy in the materials used for new construction.

IV.  ADU Application and Review Procedures
There are many potential procedural challenges facing ADU applicants: complex regulations, complicated 
application forms and procedures, vague and discretionary standards that must be addressed by the applications, 
the length and complexity of the procedures for acting upon an application, and appeals from the initial decision  
on the application. 

A.  Application Process
Zoning regulations, even in small jurisdictions, are almost inevitably complicated. Even in mid-sized cities they 
can run to hundreds of pages. Unlike developers and homebuilders, many applicants for ADUs don’t have the 
resources to hire an attorney or consulting planner for more than a few hours to help them navigate the regulations 
and application process. In response, many local governments have developed simplified application forms, 
guidebooks, and online tools to determine whether and how an ADU can be sited on a property. This is a best 
practice recommended by AARP. See the Resources section for links to some examples. With the authorization and 
construction of more ADUs, more private sector specialists in ADU permitting are helping to fill this need.



45 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

B.  Clear and Objective Versus Discretionary Standards
Vaguely worded standards contribute to the difficulty of securing ADU permits and may even inhibit homeowners 
from applying for a permit. Particularly problematic are standards that leave a great deal of discretion to the zoning 
administrator or require extensive interpretation. Even an apparently objective standard such as a 25-foot height 
limit requires the exercise of considerable discretion if the ADU roof has different elevations and the ground slopes  
in different directions. 

AARP recommends using only clear and objective standards to govern ADUs.49 A best practice is to use expert advice 
to prepare and test language to ensure that it is clear enough to be administered fairly and easily. 

C.  Review Procedures
The two basic options available to a community are to allow ADUs “by right” or to allow ADUs through conditional 
use permits (sometimes called special exception, special permit, or special land use). 

“By right” means that the process involves filling out an application and presenting it to a local building official or 
zoning administrator, then checks to see that it meets the requirements of the ordinance. If the standards are clear 
and objective, no discretionary decision-making is involved and thus no hearing is necessary. This is also called a 
“ministerial” review.
  
This is the way building or remodeling a home or building an accessory structure is typically treated. By contrast 
a conditional use permit process typically involves the application of discretionary standards, public notice of the 
application and a public hearing. 

Discretionary standards combined with a public hearing process create opportunities for obstruction by neighbors or 
organizations opposed to new housing in an established neighborhood. The cost of hiring attorneys or other experts 
and the delays associated with hearings and appeals can easily exhaust the budget and patience of even an affluent 
ADU applicant.

These obstacles have led many local and state governments to decide that ADUs should be a use allowed by 
right and subject only to ministerial review. Some have also imposed time limits for decisions on ADUs. (Some 
governments apply these requirements to other types of housing.) 

The Model Local ADU Ordinance takes the position that building an ADU should be treated the same way as 
building or remodeling a home or building any accessory structure — it is a ministerial matter decided by a zoning 
administrator without notice or opportunity for a hearing. 

D.  Appeals of ADU Decisions 
Many local zoning ordinances allow for initial decisions on ADU applications by a zoning administrator to be 
subject to internal appeals — to a hearing officer, the planning commission or a local governing body. Some local 
governments allow up to two internal appeals. 

The final local government decision on an ADU, or other land use matter, may be followed by an appeal to the 
judicial system. There are many variations on internal appeal procedures, for example whether the scope of review  
is limited and who qualifies as a party to such an appeal. 



46 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

The Model Local ADU Ordinance obviates the need for detailing these provisions by making the ministerial decision 
the final local government decision, reviewable by the courts subject to the standards and procedures generally 
applicable to judicial review of local government decisions. This is consistent with the default procedural provisions 
in the Model State ADU Act. 

The zoning administrator’s decision on an application for an Accessory Dwelling Unit constitutes the final decision 
of [name of local government].

V.  Fees

In addition to construction cost, regulatory standards and procedures, homeowners interested in building an ADU 
must consider permit processing fees, system development charges (to fund a share of capital improvements, 
such as water lines, sewage treatment capacity, schools and parks), and utility connection upgrades and charges. 

The average local government fee for development of an ADU in California in the late 2010s was $9,250.50 In 
established neighborhoods where ADUs are being added, system development charges designed to pay for capital 
improvements may not be as appropriate if existing capital improvements are already adequate to handle a modest 
increase in residential population. Many older neighborhoods have a lower population density than when they were 
built and household sizes were larger. 

Another approach is to offer fee processing waivers for homeowners who use preapproved ADU designs. 

Waiving or reducing fees can incentivize ADU construction. Portland, Oregon, saw a surge in ADU applications when 
it offered to temporarily waive up to $15,000 in system development charges that would have applied to ADUs; ADU 
permits tripled from about 200 per year to 600 per year.51 

The Model Local ADU Ordinance follows the Model State ADU Act in limiting charges for ADUs to 30% of the charges 
applied to a single-family residence. 

Permit application and review fees, utility hook-up fees and charges for public improvements for accessory 
dwelling units shall not be more than 30% of the application fees for a typical single-family dwelling unit of 2,000 
square feet or greater than 10% of the estimated construction costs for the ADU, whichever is less. Additional 
amounts may be charged for a variance but subject to the overall maximum fee limit of 30% of the fees charged  
for a typical single-family residence of 2,000 square feet. The information required on applications for creating  
or legalizing ADUs shall be the same information required to construct a single-family-dwelling unit.
 
VI.  Legalizing ADUs

An illegal ADU is one installed without obtaining the required permits from the local government. 

Some ADUs existed prior to any ordinance that made them illegal. Local governments generally have the discretion 
to certify those ADUs as legal, nonconforming ADUs if they conformed to building codes in effect at the time of their 
construction. To this end, California has adopted legislation allowing that “the appropriate enforcement official may 
make a determination of when a residential unit was constructed and then apply the California Building Standards 
Code and other specified rules and regulations in effect when the residential unit was determined to be constructed 
for purposes of issuing a building permit for the residential unit.” 



47 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

Other ADUs that were nonconforming may be made conforming by subsequent code revisions, such as those 
proposed in the Model Local ADU Ordinance, and an application and receipt of a permit. 

The continued existence of illegal ADUs may actually be encouraged by harsh regulations, excessive fees and tedious 
application procedures. 

Many ADU owners strongly resist legalization out of a fear of higher (and possibly unaffordable) property taxes, fines, 
legal sanctions, income taxes on rental income, the costs of conforming to local codes and the possibility that code 
inspectors will discover a variety of code violations. 

For these reasons, programs to accommodate illegal ADUs have not been very successful. In addition, most 
communities have limited budgets for enforcing ADU regulations, meaning that code enforcement relies on specific 
complaints. Thus, most communities simply ignore illegal ADUs. 

Especially challenging are the large numbers of unpermitted units in working class and poor neighborhoods 
with high housing costs. The number of unpermitted units can be so great that they cannot be treated as a minor 
compliance problem that can be remedied quickly. 

In these places, unlike in many other neighborhoods, water and sewer systems are overtaxed due to high population 
densities and low revenue from system development charges over time (given that most of the added units are 
unpermitted). A grant program or long-term investment strategy is needed to allow for infrastructure capacity and 
state-of-good-repair upgrades. 

Regulations imposed on units applying for amnesty in these areas need to distinguish between matters of true health 
and safety (adequate egress, electrical wiring, light, ventilation, etc.) and other concerns (parking, setbacks, building 
heights, etc.).  

Amnesty should not be an all-or-nothing process. There should be some sort of mechanism for graduated compliance 
over time (perhaps several years), with the most urgent life-and-death conditions being fixed first and others later. 

Onerous utility-related requirements (such as fully separate water and sewer main connections) may be 
counterproductive. Many or most homeowners going through amnesty will need technical assistance and perhaps 
grant funding. Grant funding should be justified on the basis of an amnestied ADU typically costing far less than the 
city subsidies needed for a below market new construction housing unit. 

There are many entities, such as nonprofits and university planning and architecture departments, with which a city 
can partner for technical assistance. 

A city can also require affordable rent concessions as a condition of amnesty, at least for middle- and higher-income 
homeowners. 

Some benefits accrue to communities that legalize illegal ADUs. If illegal units are tolerated, the risk  
increases that other people will be encouraged to have illegal units. In this instance, it can be quite important for 
community leaders to make the statement through ADU regulation that they are committed to the public interest,  
as demonstrated by requirements that owners of illegal ADUs come forward and legalize their units, coupled with  
a commitment to the kinds of funding and assistance programs for moderate- and low-income homeowners   



48 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

of the type described previously. Legalizing illegal ADUs provides the opportunity to correct safety hazards, such as 
inadequate electrical wiring. 

We recommend against harsh regulations, lengthy application processes and high fees, which will lead to even 
more illegal ADUs. We recommend publicizing the opportunity for amnesty for ADUs made compliant as a result 
of amendments to local ordinances, nonpunitive safety inspections when public health is threatened, amnesty 
periods from enforcement, extended periods to comply with regulations, exemption from all but safety regulations, 
a comprehensive long-term approach to code compliance in moderate-income neighborhoods, and reliance on the 
threat of stiff penalties only after all else has failed.



49 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

Endnotes
1   See MissingMiddleHousing.org.  

2  Find the average size of a single-family home, the square footage per person, the number of new homes that began construction and 
gross domestic product per person, starting in 1920. “Size of a Home the Year You Were Born,” Evan Comen, Michael B. Sauter, April 5, 
2019, 247wallst.com

3  “California ADU Growth by City from 2012–2019, Charted,” August 22, 2020, BuildingAnADU.com..

4  Kol Peterson, AccessoryDwellings.org.

5  “Housing Vancouver,” City of Vancouver, Progress Report and Data Book to Council (June 2020), pages 7, 8, 25. Vancouver.ca.

6  Jessica Lee, Greta Kaul, “ADUs Were Supposed to Help Minneapolis’ Housing Crunch. How’s That Working Out?” May 1, 2019, MinnPost.com.

7  Revised Code of Washington 43.63A.215.

8  California Government Code 65852.150.

9   New Hampshire RSA 674:71-73.

10  Oregon Revised Statutes 197.312(5).

11  § 45-24-37 (limited to use by persons over 62 or with disabilities).

12  24 Vermont Statutes Annotated Section 4412 (E).

13  The revisions made as the result of passage of one Senate and five Assembly bills are summarized in the California Department of 
Housing and Community Development’s Accessory Dwelling Unit Handbook, pages 4–7 (September 2020). 

14  Oregon Revised Statutes 197.312(5)(b)(B), 455.610(8), (9) as amended or added by Oregon House Bill 2001 (2019), HCD.ca.gov.

15  Vermont Senate Bill 237 signed by the Governor and effective October 12, 2020, amending 24 Vermont Statutes Annotated §4412(1)(E), 
24 Vermont Statutes Annotated § 2291(29) and 27 Vermont Statues Annotated §545. 

16  2019 Florida Statutes online §163.31771.

17  30-A Maine Revised Statues Annotated §4301, sub-§1-B. 

18  Hawai’i Revised Statutes §46-4(c).

19  Accessory Dwelling Unit Legislation: An Overview of State Policy, American Planning Association (APA) and AARP, 2021.

20  ADU Program Guide, City of Portland, Oregon, March 2019, Portland.gov..

21  City of Portland, Oregon, “Converting Attics, Basements and Garages to Living Space,” February 2019, Portland.gov

22  Here is an excerpt from a 2018 letter sent from a bank to a prospective borrower. It discusses an owner occupancy covenant on the 
property that would be required as a condition of approval for construction of an ADU: “I have reviewed the Accessory Dwelling Unit 
Covenant and as a lender I have a number of concerns: 1. The covenant does not provide the lender with protections in the case of a 
foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure as the restriction will affect marketability of the property. The covenant requires at least one 
of the units be owner-occupied. In a market where there is a demand for investment property, this limits the pool of potential buyers 
thus affecting the sales price and marketability of the property. A potential homeowner or home purchaser may have a difficult time 
obtaining conventional financing with this deed restriction; 2. Your covenant states that the owner needs to occupy the residence, if the 
lender forecloses the lender can clearly not occupy the property and will be in violation of your proposed covenant.” Another example 
is provided by a reply to a request from homeowners asking their mortgage lender to consent to an owner occupancy covenant, which 
was required by the local government as a condition of approval of an ADU that the homeowners hoped to build. The mortgage lender 
replied: “The proposed Accessory Dwelling Unit Covenant would place certain limitations on this property, and as such could be construed 
as a transfer of interest in the property. [The bank] is not able to provide consent to such transfer at this time.” 

23  24 Vermont Statutes Annotated § 4412 (1)(F)(2) and 24 Vermont Statutes Annotated § 2291(29) as amended by Sections 1 and 3 of  
Vermont Senate Bill 237, signed by the Governor and effective October 12, 2020.



50 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

24  “Regulating ADUs in California: Local Approaches & Outcomes,” Deirdre Pfeiffer, University of California, Berkeley, Terner Center for 
Housing Innovation (2018), CaliforniaLandUse.org

25  “Accessory Dwelling Units,” City of Burlington, Vermont, BurlingtonVT.gov.

26  The cost to put in a new driveway averages $4,421, with a typical range between $2,379 and $6,472. A customer can expect to pay $2 to 
$15 per square foot for materials and installation. (“How Much Does a Driveway Cost?” HomeAdvisor.com, checked December 21, 2020).  
A 10-foot-wide driveway 60 feet in length would cost between $1,200 and $9,000, using these cost-per-square-foot numbers. |  
Kol Peterson, author of Backdoor Revolution: The Definitive Guide to Accessory Dwelling Unit Development, estimates the cost range as 
$2,500 to $15,000, depending on whether the additional driveway requires excavating and pouring a new pad on a flat surface next to 
the street or if it calls for a new curb cut and new landscaping.

27  Research conducted for Oregon’s House Bill 2001 (2019), which mandates the authorization of middle housing in single-family-
residential zones), found“[o]n small lots, even requiring more than 1 parking space per development creates feasibility issues because 
it limits the potential building footprint.” EcoNorthwest (2020), Summary of Triplex/Fourplex Financial Feasibility Sensitivity Testing for 
Middle Housing Model Code, Oregon.gov.

28  “ Regulating ADUs in California: Local Approaches & Outcomes,” Deirdre Pfeiffer, University of California, Berkeley, Terner Center for 
Housing Innovation (2018), CaliforniaLandUse.org.  

29  Professor Donald Shoup of the University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA), calculates that the U.S. has 2 billion parking spaces for 250 
million cars and light trucks and that more land has been set aside for housing cars than housing people. “Parking Is Sexy Now. Thank 
Donald Shoup,” Bloomberg News CityLab, May 20, 2018, Bloomberg.com.  

30  City of Hartford, Connecticut, “Zone Hartford: Hartford Zoning Regulations,” Section 7.2 Parking Requirements, effective January 16, 
2016, as amended June 5, 2020. 

31  Daniel Baldwin Hess (2017) “Repealing Minimum Parking Requirements in Buffalo: New Directions for Land Use and Development,” 
Journal of Urbanism: International Research on Placemaking and Urban Sustainability, 10:4, 442-467.

32   Edmonton City Council Votes to Remove Minimum Parking Requirements: With the Change, Edmonton Becomes First Major City in 
Canada to Drop Parking Minimum,”CBC News, June 23, 2020, CBC.ca.

33  For example, City of Oakland, California, Oakland Planning Code (as amended through June 2020), 17.116.060, “Off-Street Parking: 
Residential Activities” (no parking required for single family and multifamily residences in many zones): City of Portland, for sites 
within 1,500 feet of a transit stop, “The minimum number of required parking spaces for a site with a Household Living use is: (1) Where 
there are up to 30 dwelling units on the site, no parking is required; (2) Where there are 31 to 40 dwelling units on the site, the minimum 
number of required parking spaces is 0.20 spaces per dwelling unit”; Portland City Code, Title 33, Planning and Zoning 33.266.110, 
“Minimum Required Parking Spaces,” as of October 2020. 

34  Oregon Revised Statutes 197.805 – 197.860.

35  California Government Code 65852.2.(e)(1)(C), (D).

36  “Accessory Dwelling Units,” City of Burlington, Vermont, BurlingtonVT.gov.

37  As of November 2020, the City of Portland’s website includes links to Ordinance 190093 as amended to accommodate the reforms in 
single-family zoning, adopted August 12, 2020, and resulting from the residential infill document and various supporting documents, 
including staff reports and research that addresses height, bulk, set backs and floor area ratios, Portland.gov.

38  The cost to put in a new driveway averages $4,421, with a typical range between $2,379 and $6,472. A customer can expect to pay $2 
to $15 per square foot for materials and installation. (“How Much Does a Driveway Cost?” HomeAdvisor.com, checked December 21, 
2020). A 10-foot-wide driveway 60 feet in length would cost between $1,200 and $9,000 using these cost-per-square-foot numbers. | 
Kol Peterson, author of Backdoor Revolution: The Definitive Guide to Accessory Dwelling Unit Development, estimates the cost range as 
$2,500 to $15,000, depending on whether the additional driveway requires excavating and pouring a new pad on a flat surface next to 
the street or if it calls for a new curb cut and new landscaping.  

39  Research conducted for Oregon’s House Bill 2001 (2019), which mandates the authorization of missing middle housing in single-family 
residential zones, found “[o]n small lots, even requiring more than 1 parking space per development creates feasibility issues because 
it limits the potential building footprint.” EcoNorthwest (2020), “Summary of Triplex/Fourplex Financial Feasibility Sensitivity Testing 
for Middle Housing Model Code,” Oregon.gov.  

40  “Regulating ADUs in California: Local Approaches & Outcomes,” Deirdre Pfeiffer, University of California, Berkeley, Terner Center for 
Housing Innovation (2018), CaliforniaLandUse.org.



51 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

41  Professor Donald Shoup of the University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA), calculates that the U.S. has 2 billion parking spaces for 250 
million cars and light trucks and that more land has been set aside for housing cars than housing people. “Parking Is Sexy Now. Thank 
Donald Shoup,” Bloomberg News CityLab, May 20, 2018, Bloomberg.com.

42  City of Hartford, Connecticut, “Zone Hartford: Hartford Zoning Regulations,” Section 7.2 Parking Requirements, effective January 16, 
2016, as amended June 5, 2020.

43  Daniel Baldwin Hess (2017) “Repealing Minimum Parking Requirements in Buffalo: New Directions for Land Use and Development,” 
Journal of Urbanism: International Research on Placemaking and Urban Sustainability, 10:4, 442-467..

44  “Edmonton City Council Votes to Remove Minimum Parking Requirements: With the Change, Edmonton Becomes First Major City  
in Canada to Drop Parking Minimum,” CBC News, June 23, 2020, CBC.ca.

45   For example, City of Oakland, Oakland Planning Code (as amended through June 2020), 17.116.060, “Off-Street Parking: Residential 
Activities” (no parking required for single-family and multifamily residences in many zones): City of Portland, for sites within 1,500 feet 
of a transit stop, “[the] minimum number of required parking spaces for a site with a Household Living use is: (1) Where there are up 
to 30 dwelling units on the site, no parking is required; (2) Where there are 31 to 40 dwelling units on the site, the minimum number 
of required parking spaces is 0.20 spaces per dwelling unit,” Portland City Code, Title 33, Planning and Zoning 33.266.110, “Minimum 
Required Parking Spaces,” as of October 2020.  

46  Details can be found at Vancouver.ca/home-property-development/retain-your-character-house.aspx.

47  Here is an excerpt from a 2018 letter sent from a bank to a prospective borrower. It discusses an owner occupancy covenant on the 
property that would be required as a condition of approval for construction of an ADU: “I have reviewed the Accessory Dwelling Unit 
Covenant and as a lender I have a number of concerns: 1. The covenant does not provide the lender with protections in the case of a 
foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure as the restriction will affect marketability of the property. The covenant requires at least one 
of the units be owner-occupied. In a market where there is a demand for investment property, this limits the pool of potential buyers 
thus affecting the sales price and marketability of the property. A potential homeowner or home purchaser may have a difficult time 
obtaining conventional financing with this deed restriction; 2. Your covenant states that the owner needs to occupy the residence, if the 
lender forecloses the lender can clearly not occupy the property and will be in violation of your proposed covenant.” Another example 
is provided by a reply to a request from homeowners asking their mortgage lender to consent to an owner occupancy covenant, which 
was required by the local government as a condition of approval of an ADU that the homeowners hoped to build. The mortgage lender 
replied: “The proposed Accessory Dwelling Unit Covenant would place certain limitations on this property, and as such could be 
construed as a transfer of interest in the property. [The bank] is not able to provide consent to such transfer at this time.”  

48  Converting Attics, Basements and Garages to Living Space,” City of Portland, 2019, Portland.gov.

49  Because of the uncertainties created for approval of housing, Oregon has, since the 1980s, required local governments to use only clear 
and objective standards to review needed housing. Oregon Revised Statutes 197.307(4). 

50  “Regulating ADUs in California: Local Approaches and Outcomes,” Deirdre Pfeiffer (2018), University of California, Berkeley, Terner 
Center for Housing Innovation, CaliforniaLandUse.org.

51  When the waiver was made permanent for ADUs that were subject to a prohibition on short-term rentals the volume declined as the 
deadline was removed, but remained at more than 300 per year. 



52 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

■  The ABCs of ADUs
A Guide to Accessory Dwelling Units and 
How They Expand Housing Options for 
People of All Ages

A primer for elected off icials, policymakers, local 
leaders, homeowners, consumers and others, 
The ABCs of ADUs is an award-winning, 20-page 
introductory and best-practices guide for how towns, 
cities, counties and states can include ADUs in their mix 
of housing options.

AARP Livable Communities
Website: AARP.org/Livable

Email: Livable@AARP.org

Facebook: @AARPLivableCommunities

Twitter: @AARPLivable

Interactive Map: AARP.org/LivableMap

Free Newsletter: AARP.org/LivableSubscribe or text 
the word LIVABLE to 50757

AARP Public Policy Institute
Websites: AARP.org/LivablePolicy 

AARP.org/FutureOfHousing

Twitter: @AARPPolicy

Interactive Tool: AARP.org/LivabilityIndex

Visit AARP.org/ADUs to download or order these 
free guides and find links to other 

ADU resources, including this publication. 

   Two free publications about how ADUs 
expand housing options for people of all ages

■  Accessory Dwelling Units
A Step by Step Guide to Design 
and Development

Featuring ADU policies and projects from Austin, Texas; 
Denver, Colorado; Oakland, California; and Washington, 
D.C., this 113-page Accessory Dwelling Units design 
catalog contains information about financing and 
budgeting for an ADU project as well as visuals that 
show how ADUs can be easily designed to serve people 
of diff ering ages and abilities.

An ADU Design Catalog with a summary of ADU policies in Austin, TX; Denver, CO; 
Oakland, CA and the District of Columbia.

Accessory Dwelling Units
A Step by Step Guide to Design and Development

Learn More



53 |  AARP – Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance

 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Late in the last century, the AARP Public Policy Institute asked the American Planning Association to develop 
model legislation (a state statute and a local ordinance) that would assist AARP volunteer leaders and other 
interested residents, planners and government officials in evaluating potential changes to state laws and local 
zoning ordinances in order to encourage the wider availability of ADUs.

This update of Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance was produced by members of the 
AARP State Advocacy & Strategy Integration group:

  Coralette Hannon, Senior Legislative Representative
  Gerri Madrid-Davis, Director, Financial Security and Consumer Affairs

A working group provided advice on the revisions, drawing on the members’ expertise within and outside of AARP.

The internal members of the working group: 

  Danielle Arigoni, Director, AARP Livable Communities 
  Tammy Bresnahan, Associate State Director of Advocacy, AARP Maryland 
  Shannon Guzman, Senior Strategic Policy Advisor, AARP Public Policy Institute 
  Rodney Harrell, Ph.D., Vice President, Family, Home and Community, AARP Public Policy Institute
  Austin Hodge, Senior Advocacy Specialist, AARP Massachusetts 
  Amber Miller, Associate State Director for Community Outreach, AARP Wisconsin
  Addison Pollock, Associate State Director of Advocacy and Outreach, AARP Indiana
  Carmel Snyder, Director of Advocacy and Outreach, AARP Oregon
  Terri Worman, Associate State Director for Advocacy and Outreach, AARP Illinois

The external members of the working group:

  Cheryl Cort, Policy Director, Coalition for Smarter Growth (Washington, D.C.)
  Jessica Eckman, Principal, Bailey Consulting, LLC
  June Grant, Founding Principal, blinkLAB Architecture (Oakland, California)
  Jason Jordan, Policy Director, American Planning Association
  Eric Kronberg, Founding Principal, Kronberg Urbanists and Architects (Atlanta, Georgia)
  Kol Peterson, Author, Backdoor Revolution, and ADU consultant and educator (Portland, Oregon)
  Steve Vallejos, CEO, Valley Home Development (Fairfield, California)
  Jake Wegman, Professor, University of Texas, Austin

The updated draft also benefited from the comments of Eli Spevak, founder of Orange Splot Development,  
co-author of The ABCs of ADUs (see page 54), and a member of the Portland, Oregon, Bureau of Sustainability  
and Planning during the period of its reform of the city’s single-family zoning. 

Robert Liberty, an attorney with four decades of experience with planning legislation and implementation, was 
hired by AARP to structure the efforts of the working group and prepare the manuscript. AARP is very grateful for 
the contributions of everyone who played a role in this project.

 Contributing Editors: Melissa Stanton (Senior Advisor/Editor, AARP Livable Communities) and Don Armstrong | Designer: Jennifer Goodman



Learn more and download this guide by visiting

AARP.org/ADUs

Illustration from Accessory Dwelling Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance, published in 2000 by AARP and the American Planning Association.

ADUs are an affordable, accessible 
housing option for people of all 
ages. This resource was created for 
use by state and local leaders and 
other interested citizens, planners 
and government officials to 
evaluate potential changes to state 
laws and local zoning codes. 

 Accessory 
Dwelling 
Units
Model State Act and 
Local Ordinance

01
20

21



� ����������������	
��� �� �������� ������������������������������������������������ ��������������������� !  ��� "#$%&$'&(�)*&%*(�$+�,++-.//0001$2,(34+2$15)#�� ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������678188�

See Section 5.011 "Acessory Dwelling Units"



�



� ���������	�
��
�������	����� �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����� ��

���������������������������������������� ����� !"#$%�&�'� ($%#%)�*#�"+#!"���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� !"#$%�&��� ($%#%)�,-.�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������/�� !"#$%�&�&� 0$1%*-+2�#%" +.+ "-"#$%���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������/�����	���3� ������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������4��� !"#$%�5�'� .+$6#0#" *�1� ��7�-88�*#�"+#!"�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������4�� !"#$%�5��� + �"+#!" *�1� ��7�-88�*#�"+#!"�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������4�� !"#$%�5�&� �. !#-8�*#�"+#!"������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������9�� !"#$%�5�&'� �� *:;<=>�+:?<:@����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������9�� !"#$%�5�&�� �  ABCDE<F>DG�*<;EH<CE�I *J�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������'�� !"#$%�5�&&� � KGFFA7.HF>:�!F>;:H?D>CL�IK.!J�*<;EH<CE�������������������������������������������������������������������������������� !"#$%�5�&5� � .DHM<>=�KDC<G<EL�*<;EH<CE�����������������������������&�� !"#$%�5�&/� � NDE:H;O:A�.HFE:CE<F>�IN.J�*<;EH<CE�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������/�� !"#$%�5�&4� � -PB<Q:H�+:CODH=:�.HFE:CE<F>�I-+.J�*<;EH<CE������������������������������������������������������������������������9�� !"#$%�5�&R� � STUVWVXYZ�[Y\]VÛ�_V̀a\VWa���������������������������&&�� !"#$%�5�&9� � .GD>>:A�1><E�+:;<A:>E<DG�*:?:GFbc:>E�I.1+*J�����������������������������������������������������������������&&�� !"#$%�5�&d� � KDHcGD>A�!F>;:H?DE<F>�IK!J�*<;EH<CE����������������������������������������������������������������������������������&&�� !"#$%�5�&e� � fg̀gY\Wh�i�_gjgZkXlgUa�mf_n�_V̀a\VWa���������������������o/�� !"#$%�5�5� 1� �!8-��#K#!-"#$%�-%*��"-%*-+*����������������������������������������������������������������������������&R�� 1� �!6-+"�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������&9������	���p� q�r����s�
��s��t�q��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������/9���� �� !"#$%�/�'� $u +u# N��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������/9��"-08 �&� * u 8$., %"�, "6$*�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������/9����� !"#$%�/��� ) % +-8�* u 8$., %"��"-%*-+*�����������������������������������������������������������������������������/d��� !"#$%�/�&� !$%u %"#$%-8�+ �#* %"#-8��10*#u#�#$%�* u 8$., %"�����������������������������������/d���� !"#$%�/�5� !81�" +�* u 8$., %"�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������/d��� !"#$%�/�/� .8-%% *�1%#"�+ �#* %"#-8�* u 8$., %"���������������������������������������������������������������45�� !"#$%�/�4� $. %��.-! �!$,,1%#"2�* u 8$., %"���������������������������������������������������������������������4R�����	���v� �		�����w�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������R���� !"#$%�4�''� ) % +-8�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������R��� !"#$%�4�'�� + �#* %"#-8���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������R��� !"#$%�4�'&� 8#)6"�#%*1�"+#-8�*#�"+#!"����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������Rd�� !"#$%�4�'5� $KK#! �.-+x�y�.+$K ��#$%-8�-%*�+ � -+!6�.-+x�����������������������������������������������Re�� !"#$%�4�'/� + "-#8�01�#% ���-%*�!$%�1, +�� +u#! �1� ��������������������������������������������������������Re�� !"#$%�4�'4� �#)%�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������9'�� !"#$%�4�'R� + !+ -"#$%����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������9'�� !"#$%�4�'9� �!# %"#K#!�+ � -+!6�$+�* u 8$., %"���������������������������������������������������������������������9��� !"#$%�4�'d� !6#8*�!-+ �� +u#! ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������9��� !"#$%�4�'e� K-+,�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������9��� !"#$%�4��'� K#88#%)�$K�8-%*�I�::�DG;F��:CE<F>;�5��&��y�5��&&J�������������������������������������������������������������9&������� #��



���������	� 
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� � �����!���"������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#� $��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%� $&"'�&������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(������������� $����"'��&������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������) �����������*� &�������+����+��$&��,�!����-�������"��.�,��������������������������������������������) ������������� �,/�"����"&�"�,���&�'��/��/����������������������������������������������������������������������������������) ��"0&��%� ,�1������"&���'/&"��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������)#����������2� 3��4������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������)��������������� '����"&���5/���1�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������)������������ � ,���'��"�,�&"�,��"!����"�,"�,�����������������������������������������������������������������������������)������������#� �+"��,����&�"��,�!"�6��'��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������))�����������%� &�",��'�"��"����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������))������������� 1/����!"&�!"�6��'�7����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������))�����������*� !"�6��'�$���"�������.�/�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������)(������������� +"�,��"!!�,�!"�6��'�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������)(������������� "��������5/���1�����8�,�����".���������������������������������������������������������������������������)(�����������)� 0��.�&���"�6�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������( �����������(� �"����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������( ����������9� ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(#����������)��� '����"&���"�,"�,�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(#���������)� � ����,����"&�,��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(%���������)�#� 0/�������"�,���,/����"&�,�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������(����������)�%� $&��,�!����-�������"��.�,������������������������������������������������������������������������������(����������)��� ���-���$��1��'�"�,���1!��"�.���'�������������������������������������������������������������������(����������)�*� 1�,�$�"�����8��"�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(�����������:� ���;���<����������=���=���
������������������������������������������������������������(�����������(��� ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(����������(� � ���-���$��1��'�&���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������(����������(�#� ���-���$��1��'�/����"�,����/��/���������������������������������������������������������������������()���������(�%� &��"����"&���5/���1��������1�>�,�/��������������������������������������������������������()����������?@� 3������3������������������A����B������������������������������������������������������������������� ������������������������ ���� "!!����1���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����������� �� � "!!�"&������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����������� ��#� �"��"����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����������� ��%� �!���"&�!��1���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����������� ���� ���,������=��"$�'/"�,�=�"�,�&�1��"����������������������������������������������������������������� ����������� ��*� ��������$�+�"���'�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ������������??� �
��������������
���<������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �*����������  ��� "1��,1������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ �*���������  � � �>��/���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �*���������  �#� �����!&"������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �*���������  �%� 1"�����"�����$���11���"��"�=�&"�,��"!��'����� "�,��1!����1����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  ����������  ��� ��$����1���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������  ��



� �����������	�
�� �	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�
�� �	����������	��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ��� !"!������#�$� ��%��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $&"$������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ��#����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� $"����&"����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������'� ��!��!"���#�"�����(�!�����!��!���(��#��!�����"&��&"���������������������������������������������)� ��*� ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+� �*�"(���%���*� �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,� ��#�"��*����!���"�*��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������-� ��.�"!/� ��%���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������'��������	�
0� �	�1������2����3���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�
4� ����5��������2����3�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������)�����������)��� �������!���$&"$����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,����������)��� "�(& !���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,������������������������������������ ����



��������	�
��
����������������������������� �!�"#$�#�� � %&���!�#�!�$� ����# �%$� '�%(&�)��" �$�*+,�%(� ���-���$�.�/�0������1��!�!&�(%$� ���"#$"%���%(�"$%1% ��2� ������. �&���(� '&��%�3����������!�2���$�.�0�.(�$��%(� �������4� �� ��%(� ����%0��%(�,1��$� &���!� %����%#$�2�� ���1%� ��""$%"$�� ��#���%(�.��!� �$%#2�%# �,1��$� 5������6%���2�7'.�0����������%$!�����0� �� ���$��%11��!� �%���%(� ���8�� �$�9.����!%" �!�������%$!�����0� �� ���,1��$� �:%1��;#.��)��$ �$���!�����%���� �� �0� �� ����%1"$������3��".���%(� ���$�2�%��.�".�����2��2���'5����������<�=�>�>?�@��������ABCDEFG�HIJ� �FGEGK�LEADMECDA�ABCDEFG�HIN� �FGEGK�OPQ�ABCDEFG�HIH� �FRGLPMS�EGDBMQMBDPDEFGA��ABCDEFG�HIJ� �FGEGK�LEADMECDA��T%$� ���"#$"%���%(� ����7'.�0&� ����%0��%(�,1��$� ������$�4'�!�3�!�!��� %� ���(%..%0��2��.������%(�U%���2�!�� $�� �V�� W5+X� ;���!�� ��.�Y�� $�� ��� ����"#$"%���%(��..�$���!�� ��.�U%������� %�"$%1% �����#� �4.����3�$%�1�� �(%$�$���!�� ��.�.�(�� �$%#2�� ���"$%3���%��%(�$��$�� �%��.&�$�.�2�%#����!��!#�� �%��.�(���.� �������4������.�1�� ��%(���4�.����!����2�4%$�%%!&� %�� �4�.�U����!�"$% �� � �������� ��.����$�� �$�� ����%(��Z�� ��2�$���!�� ��.�!�3�.%"1�� &���!� %�(%� �$�!�3�.%"1�� � �� �����%1"� �4.��0� �� ���% ��$��� #$�.���!�4#�. ����$�� �$�� ����%(� ����$��5�� M[\L��\���L]�̂�_��M]̂�̀]�a]������"#$"%���%(� ���;b/Y�Y�� $�� ���� %�"$%3�!��(%$�$���!�� ��.��$���� �� ��..%0�.�1� �!�!�3�.%"1�� &�0��.��"$%3�!��2�"$% �� �%��(%$���3�$%�1�� �..'������ �3���$���&��2$��#. #$�.�$��%#$���&���!�% ��$���1�.�$�.��!�5���%� ������!&� ������� ���.%0�� �!���� '�$���!�� ��.�!�� $�� 5��M[c��cd�_]d��_��M]̂�̀]�a]������"#$"%���%(� ���;bT�Y�� $�� ���� %�"$%3�!��(%$�$���!�� ��.��$����!�!��� �!� %� ����"���(���$���!�� ��.�$�e#�$�1�� ��%(�($� �$�� ���&��%$%$� ������!���1�.�$�$���!�� ��.�(���.� �������%��� �!�0� ���!#�� �%��.���� � # �%��5���%� ������!&�#����% ��$� �����%$%$� ���&�($� �$�� ������!� ���.�f���$��$�� $�� �!���� ����!�� $�� 5��M[F��Fg_������M]̂�̀]�a]������"#$"%���%(� ���;bh�Y�� $�� ���� %�"$%3�!��(%$�.%0�$�!���� '�$���!�� ��.��$���5��i��2���$�.&� ���;bh�Y�� $�� ������ ��!�!� %�4���� $���� �%��.��$���4� 0���� ���.%0�!���� '�;b/Y�Y�� $�� ���!�1�!�#1�!���� '�;bj�Y�� $�� 5��M[G��G]��kl�dk��̀�M]̂�̀]�a]������"#$"%���%(� ���;bj�Y�� $�� ���� %�"$%3�!��(%$�$���!�� ��.��$����%(�1�!�#1�!���� ���5��i��2���$�.&� ���;bj�Y�� $�� �����""$%"$�� ��(%$�.��!���!m���� � %���2��$�!���� '�$���!�� ��.�!�� $�� �&����$��$ �$��.�%$�"$�1�$'�$���!�� ��.�� $�� �&�%$�����$���� $���� �%��.�4� 0���� ���.%0�$�!���� '�!�� $�� ����!�% ��$�!�� $�� �5��M[nC��n�����]�C]�_]d�M]̂�̀]�a]������"#$"%���%(� ���;bo)�Y�� $�� ���� %�"$%3�!��(%$�$���!�� ��.����2�4%$�%%!�&�0� ������!��!m���� � %�3�..�2����� �$�&� �� ��$��%(�1�!�#1�!���� ������!� �� ��..%0���.�1� �!�1�Z�%(�$���!�� ��.���!�%((����#���5������;bo)���&����2���$�.&��� ��!�!� %�"$%3�!��(%$��� $���� �%��4� 0���� ���7#�������o�..�2��)�� �$�Y�� $�� ���!��#$$%#�!��2�$���!�� ��.�!�� $�� �5�������



� ��������������	
������������������������������������������������������� ���������� �!��"#�!��$�%����� �����&� ��&������$���� �!���'��!�"��"��%����!�"��������(!�)�!����"! �%��(��!�����*!�������'�"! �������(!�)�!���+��,����"��"��"�����!��!��!�����������������-��"��#�����-��!��������!��"! .����&�#�'&�!���������!����������� � ��!�������(!�)�!�������%'�����*!�������'+��/0�1��/�
�����0�2�������2
��1�3��456��2���������������������7*����������������������� ������"�&�8�������������!$��'����"! ����!���"��-�(�����"��"���!���!� �&�!���!"#���9����&�!��-��!�"�������"���"��"��(����!�������(!-�"��$��"���� �!���������"!�(��# ������(����%��"##�(� �%'������! ��#'�!$�:�!�!$+������7*������"!�����#"'� �������+��������9����&�!��������������������"����!��! � �����!����"$�� ���$!�������"����� ���#��&�!�-����������!��������!"���"#����������-�"! ���&�"��%�#��'�(����������! �!$�"��"�+�� �+;�� <���!��������������� =��������	
��=>��������������������������<����������������������� ������"�&�8� �����"��"-������$�� �!���'-���!�"�!�!$�"�(� ���"����'������&&����"#-�������-����� �!��"#-��!��������!"#-������-�"! ���#���"#�����+�����������! -��������!��! � ���"������� ��������%��"��#�� �(����!�������(!�)�!�������?&�����+��=�@A��@��
B��A��2�	�=>��������������������������<�C)��������������������� ��"��"��(����!�������##"$����!��������?&��������"��"##�(�����"�&�8��������-��!�#� �!$����"�#-���&&����"#-��������"! ������!$����&� ��"��������$�� �!���'+��=�D�D�BEF4	E44��=>��������������������������<�G��������������������� ������"��"�����&�8� �����"! �&� ��"��� �!���'����������"���&"##���!���������� �!$�$�� ��"! ����������(����!����!�"������ �!��"#�!��$�%����� �-����"��"���"!�����!"#�:�!��%��(��!�&���� �!��#'� ���#��� �%���!����"��"��"! ����� �!��"#�!��$�%����� �+��=�H��H62���=>��������������������������<�I��������������������� ��"��"������&� ��"��� �!���'-�������-���&&����"#�"! �&�#���"&�#'� ���#��&�!��+��J������!��! � ����%��#��"�� ��!���"!�����!"#�"��"��%��(��!���$�� �!���'�%���!���� ���������"! ���$�� �!���'����� �!��"#� �������������!�"�������"���"��"��"#�!$�"�����"#�������&"�'���" �+��K/��KLL���/
	M���������������������N7��������������������� ��"��"�������������"! �#�&��� �����"����"���������+�����������! -�������"! "� ��"! ���$�#"���!��"����!��! � ����#�&��������'������������"! ��������� ������"��#�"!-����!�"! �9������!����!&�!����"��(�##�!���" �����#'��&�"���" O��!�!$����� �!��"#�"��"�+��AKP��A466�	�
����������������������)NQ��������������������� ��"��"������"�(� ���"!$��������"�#������"! ����������"! ���&&����"#�"�����������!�"�������"���#��"���!��"#�!$����&"�'���" ��(����!�������(!+�� �+;R� J! �����"#.����"����7"�S������������ /�/��/	4L���4�
��
�������
	�E�/
	M���������������������7�7��������������������� ��"!����!�"! �"���"�������!����!&�!������������-�����"����"! �#�(��!��!���'��! �����"#�"���������+��������"! "� ��"! ���$�#"���!��"����!��! � ����#�&��� ���#��&�!�����������"������������"��"���!�!���&&����"#��!�!"�����"! ���"������"����!�"��#�"!�"! �9�����&"!!��+��



� �������������	��
��	���������������������������������������������� �!��"��"����������"�#�$�%���&"#��"�����#%'�("�������#%'�(��$��"$�#%�"#!���&�$"��"��� �����)��*+,���*--��.��+�,-/-�012-
	������34��������������"#�� ��$"5�!���������#��#!�!����&�!��5�������%�$"���#���#��#!��$5�#%�6���#����"#!��#!�����"$7����"�����"�8�!����������#���!�������"��$��"�������"����"#!�!� �$��&�#��"#!������#%������"#!������� �!�����������"!!����#"$���%�$"���#��(������%"�!�������������)��9):;� <����"$������������ =,��=��.�	�0
����>��?�#�#%�"$$�(��"#5��������$"#!�"#!�6��$!�#%��(�����&"5�$�%"$$5�6���"����!��#�65'�����#!�������"����������'�������$$�%������#� �����5�(������(#�����&"#"%��������������5)���������#��#!�!���"������>!��"���#"$�����������#$5��#�$�!��$"#!�(���������(#�!����&"#"%�!�65�@&������A�$$�%�'�B"&�������A�$$�%�'��������C#� �����5����D"��"��������)��EF��E�
�.�1���F��G�
�������DH�������������"#�� ��$"5�!���������#��#!�!�����#�$�!����$����!�"��"���������!�(#��(#�I�#��"$�J���#����KJ�IL����������"#!�"6����#%�I�#��"$�3���!�#���K3�IL���������)��M����#�����DH���������'�"�(�!���"#%��������&����!����"�$'���� ���'���&&����"$�"#!�����!�#��"$��������"$$�6���N�&���!����&�������O����&�#�������� �!��������������"�8�#%���"���)��������������$��5����������(#����@&����������#����"%��!�#���&�$�������!� �$��&�#���#�������(#�A�#���)����("�!���"���#!'���� ����#����������������"�8�#%����#�����O����!�������$����!������(����#�����DH���������)��,*��,-��
�*-/�-P�������3�������������"#�� ��$"5�!���������#��#!�!�����#�$�!������I�#��"$�J���#����KJ�IL���������'�"#!�����"6����#%���&���!�J���#����KJ��L�!��������)����������������������3������������������������������������"#!� ��"$��5����QRSTUVWXV�YZ[\�]T\WTU�̂_�̀VVaUb\c�WS̀W�WST�SbVWZUbd�dS̀ÙdWTUe�̀TVWSTWbd�dS̀ÙdWTUe�̀\f�ga\dWbZ\̀h�iàhbW_�Zg�WST�!���%#������(#�A�#����6��$!�#%��"#!�������"�����������!�"#!��#�"#��!)�������3������������������#!�����������"��"��(����������N�������!���%#����#�(�!� �$��&�#�����"$���"���#����O����#%����&���������6j��������� ��(�65���������%#�3� ��(�J�"�!)��kl,*�k0P
�l0220
�,-��
�*-/�-P�������A�3�������������"#�� ��$"5�!���������#��#!�!�����#�$�!������@&��������(#�A�&&�#�"#!�������(����#�mn:�������������A�&&�#�%���#��"��'�"��&�"����!����&����������!���!%�������������6��6��!���#%�����������������#���������A�&&�#'��"�8�#%�$����"#!��#���������"!("5���#�$��� �)����������������������A�3������������������������"#!��#�"#����������!���%#�������������������(#�A�&&�#�"#!���"���������������#!�#%�6��$!�#%��"#!�$"#!��"���)�������A�3������������������#!�����������"��"��(����������N�������!���%#����#�(�!� �$��&�#�����"$���"���#��#����(����#����� ���#��5����������(#�A�&&�#������6j��������� ��(�65���������%#�3� ��(�J�"�!)��Fo,�F��G�
��o�.���	p�,�	��.	�qrstuvws�xwywz{w|�}~��}~}������wyv��w������|�����}~}}�������H"�8�#%��"��$��5�������������"#�� ��$"5�!����������"��"��$�����#$5��������&�#����"$$5��(#�!��"���$�m;@�����#��ZUWS��UZV�TdW��WUTTW�̀V�WSbV��UZ�TUW_XV�hZd̀WbZ\�̀\f�Vb�T�bV�̀\�̀��UZ�Ub̀WT�$��"���#�����"��"�8�#%��"��$��5)��9):n� 3��������H��������#������������ oFl�o�00��F�0
-�l0
-�/�
.p�������HA������������#���������������%��%�"����"$�"��"��(�����65� �����������������$"���#����������&��#�#����������#"���"$��5!��$�%5����������(#����@&�����'��" ����6��"#��"$��&����"#�������������������#����$����"#!��������5�"%"�#��������"?"�!������$��!�'�������#'�"#!���$$����#�"#!��#�%�#��"$�"�������#��"$����������6$�����"$��'�



� ����������	
�������������������������
�����������������	�������������������������������������������� !�"���#��$�%#&������'(�)���������������*����	�������������������������*�����������������������������������������������	�*�����������������������
����������������
���+�������������������������������������������	���,-��,./%0���-�$!��1����#��$�%#&������23(�)���������������*����	�������������������������*����������������������������������������
�������	�*�����������������������
������
������
��������������4����4	����������������
����������������������4�����������5�����6
�66�����666�������������������������	��������������������2�����������������7�������8����29��������:;���:��<=�&"�;#& ��>��%#&������?@�)���������������*����	���������
������4���������������
�����������������������������������������
��	�*��������������������
������4�
������������A������������������4������������������������
��������+����������������������B�����4�������	��4�C����4
����������������������������������������������2���������DE;FGHI�JKL� MHIGIN�O,����������������������������������C����4������������������������������������������������2�������P��4�������6�����������8	������QP68R��������������ST��������5����4�U��
�2������
�U������������
�U�	
�VWXX
S����������������������
���������4��*����	����������
�����������������������������@���+S��T��������������������������������	�Q�����R��������������������*���������������9������YZ[�\]̂ _̂̀_ab�cde_ef�gahi�jZabb�abjd�k[�ala_����������*����4���������������2����������������8����5����4�U�����������������������������������������	������������������������������������4�����������������m	�����2�������������C����4������������������������������	�������������������@�������������������������������������������U�����������������������������������	���������������������������������5����4�m	�����DE;FGHI�JKJ� nHoIp,-q�GIFE-�-EF,FGHI��?�����������������������������
�������������������������r��V�VX� m��������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������V�VV� m��������������������������������������������������������������	��������������������������������������	���������V�Vs� m���������������������������������������������������������������������������������4��������	���������������������������������������������������������tW������������������������������Q���������������	�������4���������������������������������������������������	����������R������������������������������������������������������������
������������������������������B������������������������������5����4�U�����V�V�� '�����������������������	�����������������������������4�������������	�������������U87
���������������������������������*�������������*������������������������������������4��������������������������u�8��P����4�����8��*�	���������9��������������*�	�
����������u�8�P�8�����������+�
�����	�3�4��������7����8��*�	������V�Vt� ?����������	������������������������?�����(�����@�����*���	���������
����������8�������s�VVs
�s�VV�
�s�VVt
�����s�VVv���������m	�����V�Vw� ����'���������(����������Q'(R�)��������������������	���������4����������4���������������
����������������Q���������������������������4���������������R���������������������
���������8��������	�����������	�2�+����3����*������� �



�� ����������	
��� �
��
��	�������
���������� ��������
���
����		���������
���������� �
�����
���
����		���������
���������� �
���	���������
���������� �
��	������������������������
���������� ��������
���
����		���������� ������ !�"!#!$%&'!()�%*�%&!*+),%(�%(�+�-,(.$!�$%)�%/�'%*!�) +(�%(!�"0!$$,(.�%*�'%*!�) +(�%(!�%/�) !�1*,(2,&+$�3-!-�"!-2*,4!"�,(�5!2),%(�����,-�!6&*!--$7�&*% ,4,)!"�!62!&)�0 !*!�) !�1*,(2,&+$�3-!-�+*!�2$!+*$7�2%'&$!'!()+*7�)%�!+2 �%) !*8�%*�0 !*!�%) !*0,-!�&*%#,"!"�47�) ,-�97$+0������:��*+,$!*�2+'&-8�4,$$4%+*"-�+("�+$$�%&!(�+,*�-)%*+.!�%/�;<(=8�,(2$<",(.�,(%&!*+4$!�+<)%'%4,$!-�+("�+$$�<-!-�0 ,2 �+*!�!62!--,#!$7�%4(%6,%<-�%*�,(;<*,%<-�)%�) !,*�(!,. 4%* %%"�%*�)%�+$$�&*%&!*)7�,(�) !�#,2,(,)7�+*!�!6&*!--$7�&*% ,4,)!"�,(�+$$�>%(,(.�",-)*,2)-�,(�) !��%0(���?(%&!*+4$!�+<)%'%4,$!-�+("�%) !*�'+)!*,+$-�*!$+)!"�) !*!)%�-)%*!"�,(�+(�+<)%�-+$#+.!�7+*"�%&!*+),(.�<("!*�+(�+&&*%#!"�5&!2,+$�1!*',)�- +$$�(%)�4!�2%(-,"!*!"�;<(=�<("!*�) ,-�5!2),%(���
���������� �
�����
���
����		���������� �����9<,$",(.�@!+*�1%("-�� @%�&!*'+(!()�-)*<2)<*!�- +$$�4!�$%2+)!"�0,) ,(�����/!!)�%/�+(7�&%("�%*�5<*/+2!�A+)!*�?'&%<("'!()�%/�/$%%"�*!)!(),%(�+*!+�0,) %<)�+�5&!2,+$�1!*',)�/*%'�) !�B%(,(.�9%+*"�%/�C&&!+$-�&!*',)),(.�-<2 �-)*<2)<*!�0,) ,(�����/!!)���5<2 �1!*',)�- +$$�(%)�4!�,--<!"�<($!--�) !�B%(,(.�9%+*"�%/�C&&!+$-�)+=!-�,()%�2%(-,"!*+),%(�) !�/%$$%0,(.�,(�+"",),%(�)%�) !�/,(",(.-�*!D<,*!"�47�5!2),%(���::8�,/�+&&$,2+4$!8�+("�47�C*),2$!������ ������ E$!#+),%(�+("�&$+2!'!()�%/�4<,$",(.-������:� F*+,(+.!�������� 5!0+.!�",-&%-+$������G� E*%-,%(�+("�-!",'!()+),%(�2%()*%$�������� E//!2)�%/�/,$$8�*%+"0+7-8�%*�%) !*�!(2*%+2 '!()-������H� ED<,&'!()�$%2+),%(������I� J!/<-!�",-&%-+$������K� E6)!()�%/�&+#,(.�����:�E+*) �J!'%#+$�+("�L,$$,(.�%/�M+("�� ���:�� C(7�+&&$,2+),%(�)%�) !�B%(,(.�9%+*"�%/�C&&!+$-�/%*�+�5&!2,+$�1!*',)8�%*�)%�) !�1$+((,(.�9%+*"�/%*�5,)!�1$+(�J!#,!0�%*�F!/,(,),#!�5<4",#,-,%(�1$+(�C&&*%#+$8�+-�-&!2,/,!"�,(�5!2),%(-����::�8����::H8����IG�+("�����8�- +$$�,(2$<"!�) !�/%$$%0,(.�-&!2,/,2�,(/%*'+),%(N�� ���:���� !�$%2+),%(�%/�) !�&*%&%-!"�!62+#+),%(�%*�/,$$,(.O�����:�:�� !�$!.+$�(+'!�+("�+""*!--�%/�) !�%0(!*�%/�) !�&*%&!*)7O�����:���� !�$!.+$�(+'!�+("�+""*!--�%/�) !�&!),),%(!*O�����:�G�@+'!-�+("�+""*!--!-�%/�+$$�+4<)),(.�&*%&!*)7�%0(!*-�,(2$<",(.�) %-!�%(�) !�%&&%-,)!�-,"!�%/�+(7�-)*!!)-O�����



�� ����� �������	�
������������������
��
�������������������������������������� �������!�!��������������
��
����������������������"������ ����"���������������� �����������"����"�������"������#��������
����
������� �������"�������
����������
��$$%� ����������������������&���������	�
������������� ���� �������"�������������������������������������������������� ����"������������"��������������
�����������
�������������
��
�����"�!
��������������#"�����������������
��'�"�&�������(�)�������!�����*����������!����������������!�������������������
���������������

��������
��"����������+�)���
��
��������!��������������������������� ,���
�"����-��!��������������*������������������� ��.�� �������/�����������
����"��� �����������!�������������������
��
��������������������� �����
������������!��������������
����"������!����
����������!������������"�!��������������#�����������"����!���������"���������������
����������������!�����������)���!����������!��������������
����"����������!��"�
���
��
���������������������������0�
���!����������)� ����	!�����&�������1�)���!����������!��������������
����"��� ����"���������������"��"���� ��������"�����"�������������������������������������"��������������2�����������3��� ����������4���������������"�'�"���� ������������
!����������*���������
�"����-��!�����	����"������������������� ����������������

���������
������������
�"����-��!�����*��������������������
!������������!��������"�������������"������������������4���������������"�'�"���� ������������
!����������*���������������������������
����

��������	����"������������������� ����������������

���������
����������������������
������������!��������"�������������"����������������0�����
!�����4���� ����� 	����"���"�!�����"������������� �"�����"�����������������!
����!��������#����������"���������������������
!��������
��������������������� ����������"������"��������
����������!����������������"���"���"�!��� ��������������������"��������������������������������""����"��������$$����������������"��"������"��������������
������������������������
������������������������������
������ �����������
�����������-�����3���������*������������!�5����"�������!��������4���� ����������� �������4���� ������4�����3�������/�
������!������
����"����������4�������6!����"��/����!���	��"����)������"���������������
�������������������*����!�����������4�����-����7������"��0�����"�������1�0�����
!���,����-����"�8�������

�������"���� ,�� �������������������
����������������9����3��� ��������2����������"��������������������"����� �����9����:��::�����:::�������
����"� �������

��� ����� ��������������
�������� �����9����	��3�����7�����������"��
����"� �������

�������"��������������'�"���������
��������������$�7/�������"��������$�7/������$	��$;���������������!���������������"��	!���������������<��������������������!����

��������������



�� ����������	
���� ������������������� ���������������������� !�" ��� ������ #���!$%�� &'������������������� !�" �(��)�$�*�&+���,+--+������������������� !�" �(&,��)�$!��+��!%$.�*�� !�" ��$�*��'$%%�/���01�!�-1+��*�+��+ '�!�*�� !�" ���� $/%��'�*�/.� '���2.%$������� !�" �+���$�*�1!+'�/� �+���+3�%$�*�0������ '��0�*�!%.����*�� !�" ��'$%%�!�-$������30%%�3+!"�4�$�*��'$%%��+ �/��-+*�3��*�/.� '��"+�*� �+���+3� '�����+!�&,������ !�" ��0�%�����01�!��*�*�/.� '��!�� !�" �+���$�*�1!+'�/� �+���+3��$�*�*�� !�" �����������5� $/%��'-�� �+3���� !�" ��� &'������������������� !�" �(��)�$�*�&+���,+--+������������������� !�" �(&,��)��'$%%�"+���� �+3� '����+�!$1'�"�$!�$���'+���3+!� '����*�� !�" ��+�� '��633�"�$%�7+�����8$1��������9�:0!1+���� &'��10!1+���+3� '�����" �+��$�*� '����*�� !�" ����� +�1!���!���$�*���'$�"�� '��&+��;��"0% 0!$%4��"+�+-�"�$�*�'�� +!�"$%�!��+0!"���/.�1!+��*����3+!�$�*� $�%�*�!������+3�$%%�"'$��������%$�*�0��4� '��$11�$!$�"��+3�� !0" 0!���$�*� '��$11�$!$�"��+3��� ����'�"'�-$.�$33�" � '����!��+0!"�����&'��!������1!+"�*0!���$!���� ��*�*� +<��9)�5�'$�"�� '���+"�$%�$�*��"+�+-�"���$/�%� .�+3� '��&+���/.�1!���!�����1!+1�! .��$%0���$�*�1!+-+ ���� '��$  !$" ��������+3� '��&+���$��$�1%$"�� +�%���4����� �$�*��'+1=���)�5�"+0!$��� '��"+���!�$ �+��+3�/0�%*�����$�*��!+01��+3�/0�%*����� '$ �'$���$�� '� �"�+!�'�� +!�"������3�"$�"�=���)��:!���� �$% �!$ �+��� '$ �$!����"+-1$ �/%���� '� '���>�� ��������!+�-�� �+!� '$ �$!��+3���3�!�+!�?0$%� .�+!�$11�$!$�"�=�$�*���@)�5�"+0!$���3%�>�/�%� .�$�*��$!�� .����30 0!��*���%+1-�� �������9� ��������������2+$!*��A��$""+!*$�"���� '� '��1!+����+���+3�,'$1 �!�@�B�+3� '��8$��$"'0��  ��#���!$%�C$��4�$���������������2+$!*����'�!�/.��� $/%��'�*���&'����������������2+$!*��'$%%�!������$11%�"$ �+���3+!�$%%�$" �+��� '$ �$!���0/D�" � +� '��1!+����+���+3� '�����" �+��$�*��'$%%�-$E��!�"+--��*$ �+��� +� '��$11!+1!�$ ��1�!-� ��!$� ����$0 '+!� .�"+�"�!����� '��"+�3+!-$�"��+3� '��1!+1+��*�$" �+�� +� '��*������!������� $�*$!*��"+� $���*�'�!������&'����������������2+$!*��'$%%�"+���� �+3�3����-�-/�!�4� �+�+3��'+-�$!��!���� �!�*�$!"'� �" �4�%$�*�"$1��$!"'� �" ��+!�1�!�+����� '��?0��$%�� �1!+3����+�$%� !$�����4�$�*�+���+3��'+-�+1�!$ ���$�/0�������+!�+����"+--�!"�$%�1!+1�! .���� '��$33�" �*�$!�$���F $���!�*���.�$!�$11+�� -�� �� +� '����������������2+$!*��'$%%�/��-$*��/.� '��&+���8$�$��!���63� '��3������������������2+$!*�-�-/�!�4�+���-�-/�!��'$%%�!�1!���� � '��:%$������2+$!*�$�*�+���-�-/�!��'$%%�!�1!���� � '��G�� +!�"$%�,+--����+����&'��:%$������2+$!*�$�*�G�� +!�"$%�,+--����+���'$%%��+ �� +�!�"+--��*� '��!�!�1!���� $ �����$�*�3+!�$!*� '+���!�"+--��*$ �+��� +� '��&+���8$�$��!�1!�+!� +�$11+�� -�� ���&'���� �+�!�1!���� $ ����-�-/�!�����*��+ �/��-�-/�!��+3� '��:%$������2+$!*�+!�G�� +!�"$%�,+--����+���������� ������$/%��B" �+���� &'��3+%%+����� .1���+3�$" �+����'$%%�/���0/D�" � +�!������/.� '����������������2+$!*�$�*��'$%%�/���0/D�" � +� '��*������� $�*$!*��'�!������



�� ����� ��������	
������
���������
��	
��� ��������
��	
��������
���
�����������
����
������
����
��	
������	����������
����������������	����������
�����������	�������������������������
�� �
��!�����"����� ��	����!����
����#����	��������	���$$�	
�
�����
��������	��
�	
������������	���$����������������
��������������%�	
�
����"�����&�
�����������"����'���������"�����
��
�
����	
����		������
���
���(������'�������)'�(*����
��	
�������

���+���
���'�������)'�+*�,�������
��	
����������-��	
������
���./������
��	
�� �&�	��
��	
������
���
����������
����������"���
��
��$$�	
��
�����
��������	��
�	
������������	���$����������������
��������������%�	
�
����"�����&�
�����������"����'��������"�����
��
�
�����
������������
���-0��$��
��$�
���������
�.���/������������������1234�567�3859:;7�7;<79�31�567�=82>9�>32;72:?<�567�56277�97=5:3?9�31�567�@3443?A9��������	������B�����
������
�������������&���	����"����C�
��������	��
�	
������������	�������������$�������
�����	��
�	
�����	����	
�������������	������
����$�
�����
�������$�������������	��������
��
�����
���
��
���B����	��������
��
�����$�����������
���������	���������
�	���������
���
&�������������	����	
����$������������������������
�$��
��������������������
���
&����"�
���
����
��	
�������������
���������
��
������
����.����������	���$�����
�������������$�������
���	����	
������&��
�����������	������
����$�
�����
����	��������
��
�����
���
��
���B����	��������
��
�����$���	����
�������������
�������"������	�������
������
����$�����
������������
���
&��
��	
�������������
���������
��
������
������������	
�����&�.���(�"����
�� �&�	��
��	
������
���
����������
����������"����$����
��	
���������
���&�
���.����$�������
�������������%�	
�
����"�����&�
�����������"����'�������.�����	�����������	
����
��������
�
���.����$�������
����	��
�$������
������
��	���$�����
����
��	
����������
������&������������"�
��������������
�
������	������������
�������
�
������
���
���
��
���$��������������	���$����
��	
���������
���������
����	������������
������
��	����D�����
����
�
����$���	�����	
����&�
���.������������
��
��������
��
�������	&������������������������
�����
�����
���$����
���E����C$��	���
�F$$�	���������
������������B��������� !��	�������$�����"�����$��	
���� ��%�	
�
����������"����� ������������	�
����$��������	
�������%�	
�
����"�����&�
�����������"����'��������������������&������

�����	�����
�������	�
���$�����������
��
�����������������	�
�����
����������$���
��
���!����������
��
������������	�
���$�������&������
������������-����������	�
����
��
�����������"����'������������	����������$����
�������������&�
������������������
�����$�
�����������"����'��������������	������������
���
���&��
�����$����
���
��
�
���'�������&��������������&��$����
���
��
������������������
����'&����������
��$��������	�
���$������������������
�� �
��!�����"����� ��	����!����
����#����	����.�����������"����'�������&����"���&���������$�
������������
��$�����������"���������

�����������"������������G�����	���
��$��������	�
���$�����������"�����
���!����������
��
��������������
��&�
�����
���	��&��$�
��������	�
���
��
���'�������/��������������
������������
��.����
�$$�$���
��������	����������

�����
����
������.�����������"����'�������������"����
��������	�
������
�����
��
����	������
���������
���
��
��������	�
����'�������/���������������
�������������
��.����
�$$���
���
���
&�$�"��)�0*���&���$�
�����	���
��$�
��������	�
�����H$�
��������	�
���$�����������"�����������	��
�����
���������	�
���$�����#����	������� ��	����!����
��
���'�������/������������������������
��&�
�����
�
�����������"����'����I����	������
����
��
���E����'������$�����������



�� ����� � �����	
�����
��
������
��
�����	�������
�����	���������	
����
��������������
���	�����
���� �����!
	����������
���������
�������
	
����	
����
���������	��!!	���������
��!!�������������
�"����
����
��!!�����������	��
�����
#
���������!�������

�����	�����	����$���$%&���'���
�����	
��
���������
�	
(��	
��������
�������
����
	
��
��
������
��
�����	���

	���
������!
����������������)
����*
������$%&%�������������
�������������
	���������
���	���	��!!
�	���
����������������	���
"�������
	
�����
���	�����������	
(��	
�
�������
�+�����������������
��
���	��
�!	�!��
�������$���$%&,� �
������
��
��-	����!�
������*����	���� .�
��
�����	
��
��!	����!�
�����������	����
��	��
����������
������	
���
��
��������
��
��!!����������
��
�
��!�
�������
���������������
����������
��
������
��
�����	��������	
��
�����!	�!��
��������$��.�
�
�!	����!�
�����������	�������������
�	
��	�
���������
#���
�	
(��	
�
��������
���	
������
��
����������	��
��	
�����"����
������	����������$��.�
��
������
��
�����	������!
����������!	
����
���	��������������������������
��
������
���	�/��
	���	���	���!�������
����
��������!�	�����	�����	�����!
	���$��.�
��
�����	
��
��!	����!�
�����������	����������!!����������������	
��
����
����
	�*
������$%&%$�� �$%&,&�0
�
	���-	����!�
��� 1 �2�
	��	
�������
�
���	��������
����
���!	
�
	�
��
����������������	�������(�����
���������������"��	���	
��	���
��������
���	���
�$��.�
�	
�������	���
	����������������	�����
	�����	��	���
��	����
��	
����������
������
����
��!������
$��% �/������������"��	���	
��������
���������
�	
�����3
�����!	����������
�	�������
$��/�
	������������
��������	�������������������

�����	
�
����
�	��
	��!!
�	���
��������
�������	��
�$��� �*��������
��	
����������
����
��	���
��	
�������!
��������������"��	���	
��	��������!
"��	�
#��!�
����������
���	������������	��
	�3
�����������"��	���	
��	���
��������
�����
	�
���	�!	
�
	�
����
	
��
�����
������!!	�!	��
"����������
�������
	
����	���
�����
���������	��
����������������$�.�
�	�	
�������	���
	�������������
������
����
�
�
	�!������
$��, �4��
�!�	�	���
�������	��
���	���	
���	���
�"���
	�������	������������
#������!	�!
	�
������������
�������	��
����
��������
���
�
��!�
�"���
	�������	�����������������
�	������������������	����"��	���
��	����	�����	�����
	���"�������
��������
�����������!����
������
��
��������	��
	�����
���		��������
���	���
�$��� �.�
��
����������
	������������������������"���
	
�	
�������
������!!	�!	��
"��	��
�����!	��
��
�(�����"��!!
�	���
�����������������
#���������������"��	���	
�������
�$���$%&,1��
������
��
��*����	���� .�
��
������
��
�����	��������������
	"������������"��
����������������	�������
����	�
�����
��
�����	
��
�������!	�!��
�������$�� 1 �5
������.�
��
�����������!	�!��
����
	�������������
����!����
������
����
��������	��
	�����
���������"��	���	
��	���
��
������
	
�������������
���		��������$��% �-	�!�	�������.�
�!	�!�	���������	
��������!������
������������
�

���������"����	�"�������������
	��	���
��	���
�
�
�����������
����!����
������
��	���
��	������
��������	��
	�����
�����������	��	���	
������������
���		��������$��� ��
���������*	���	
������*!��
����.�
�	
������������	���	
����
��!
���!��
��
�

����������)��������	���	
����������
����!����
����������	
�����������
���		��������$�



�� ������ ������	
���������	
������������������������	�����������������������������������
	���������������	����������	�������	�����	�	��������	������������������	�����	������������������������ 	���	
����!���
��
�����	���	
����"���
��������	����	�����������������
	�����������������	�	�����	���	

�	�	����������������������	��	��� 	���	
��	���������	
�����������������������
���	
����
�	������	���
	"����
	�������������
��"���������������	����������������������������
������	��	��	�	���������������	���	
����#����	����������	������	��������������	���	
��	����	�����������������
	��������������	����������	������	���	
�������������	�����	�	�����	�����	���������������������������	���������������"���������������������	����������������	�����������
�������
�	$	��
	�%��
������	�������������
�	������	���������������	��������������������������������������	���������������	��������������
���������	�����&����������
������	����'��(��������	��)*
��������+���������	�	���	���������	����������	��	����	���	
�����������������	���������
	�������������������������������������������	��	���������	���������������	���"�����	���������$���	���*
����������������������	����������	����������	�����������	����	�	������	�	

��
��	�����,��!����������	��	��������(��	�����!����������	��	����������	����������������������������
������	�������������
�	������	���
	"�����	�����������	����	������������*�����	�����	����	���������	������	����������
	���������������������	��	����������	��	����	���	
������������������������������������	������
����"��	������	����������	�	�����������������������	��	���-��������������������������������������	�������������������������������������������	���	���"�������������	��	�����������������	
����.���������������������������������������������	���	�����	�	����������������������������	��������������������������������
���	������	�����������������"���	����	�����������������������	�����	����������������	�������������	����������	������������	����	�����������	
���� ���������������	����	�����������$��������������������	�����	�����	�	������������������
�����	������������������������
	���������������	����������	������	���	
�������������������������������������	�����������������������������������������/�0��)���	����	��(�������1)(��� /�0��� -��	��)���	����	��(�������	����������	���	��������������
����������������	�����	��������	��������������������������	�
�����������2����������3��"��������������������	�	�������
��
��������	���(�������
��"�������	������	

��
��	���������	���	�����������������4�	������+�	�����������������	������
�	�����	���������������������������	�������	����	����������������	�����	����������
�������������	��������	��������������������	������ /�0�0� -���������������	������5������6	
��	��������������)���	����	��(�������������	���������������	�������������	�	�������!������2��������7	�
�����2���������������3��"���������6		�������1��������	��������	������������	����������$��������/�0�/� !������	�%������	�����	���	���	�������������������������������������	������	��)���	����	��(��������	��������������������������	�������	�����	

���	�����������	�&	�����$����������������/�0��� 8������	��)���	����	��(��������	��9�	�������������
	�%�����	������
��"���������	���������������
	�%�������
����������������
	�%�������
��
����������������)���	����	��(��������	����������������������������������������������)���	����	��(���������/�0��� :������������������	�������������
��"����������������/�/���0��	���	

���	���
��"	�����



�� ������ �������		
���	�����	������������������������ ������ ����������	�
	���	������	������������	��	��������� ��!��"����	�	���#����������	������	!��	���� ��
����
	���	���$������������	�	!��������������	!��	%����"�&����	����������	��	!������'���&�	��	������������(�����&� ���"�����	���
�(���&���������� ���������
����	!�����	���	�	!������������������������	�������
�������	������	���	�	����	����	������	!��������� ��������	����	!������������������)�� ��������	���	��
���������
���������	&�	!�*%��������(#�����	�����	���	������	
���!�		
�"����
�����(�
�������!����������	��(�����
�!	������
�����	��	���������	�������������%��������	��
�"��������������	����!����	!�����	�������������	!�����������	���	���������	���
���	������&����������	&�	!�*%������!�	%����������
��	!�!�		
���
���	�(��������"������	������	�	!��������!�	&����������
�����%��������	!��
�+������
���!��!�		
&�������	��"���������������������	���	����������	%%������"������	�����	��
��	����&�����%���(��������
�&���������(��������	�������	"�&������	����� �&����
� ��	
���
�������	��� �	������������(#�����	�!�		
�"��������� ������������������������	�����	!���	���"�	"���������������������!����
�������
�&�����(���������	!�������������	������	��	%�	����	!��������������
�	�	"��	!������	&�	!�*%����� ��������(���������%�	�������	�������	�����	�	!���!���
���	�������"��������������
��	!�!�		
� ���	��	 ��
��	�����	 ��
���"��������������������	�������(���������� ���!��� ��
�&��!��������	���"�	"�������������������
��!�		
���	������� ��������&�������	��"���������
#������	��	
� ������� ������%���
�&����
�����&�������������	������ ���������������������	��
���
��	�(�)�� �������*���������
���"���
���������������������	�����,!!������-	�"�.���	�!�����������	&�����/0��,!!��������������������������
����%��
�(������!	��	&�"��!	�%���	)��������%���	!�1����	��.���	!���		
���	��*������2324�5	����5����� ��2364�7����
��.�� ��28�4��	&�	!�*%������(����%�� ��28� ����������
4�����	������!�		
��!	�%���	4���
�	�	"����������4�9�5�:�5���	�	"�������%���4��
�	������	�	"������������������������*�����
�&�������%��%�%�	!�86�!�����	���	������	!�����������	!�����(�/�	!�����.����;��������������*�����
�&�������%��%�%�	!�6��!�����	���	������	!�����������	!�����(�/�	!�����%��'�		/ �*%�������'�		/ �*
�%��'�		/ �<�������	��'�		/ �5&�%��'�		/ ��
�<�&����'�		/�
	&�����%�!�	%�=	����>����5���������������*�����
�&�������%��%�%�	!��6�!�����	���	������	!�����������	!�����(�/�	!�!�	&�"��
�����%�����������%��	��	����&���������!��
���5����	������� ������� ������� �(���
���"���
�	������	&�'����.�� ��28�����������
�������?� ������!������
	��%����!	�������������������������(������,!!������-	�"�.����
������	&�	!�*%������(����%�� �
���
��28� ����������
 �!	��
����%��"������%���
��	����	�	!������%���
�	�����&�����(	
�����������	&�'����.���������(��	�!�����������	&�����/0��	!!����������6� 7��������������	��(	���%��������������.5@�������(	�
����!	������������������ ���������%�����������������	�	!�������������	�������(��
����%��
�(������%	����������	�	"��������������	!�����������������	�	"��������������%����(��
	��(������"������
���
�������	� �	��	�������	!����	�������	��
�(����������"�'	��
�������3� 1!�����	���	�	!����	��!�����&��������������������� �������	���	�%���(�����
��	�%���������	��������
����
���+����%����!	������
����������&�����������%��
���	!������	������������
���



�� ������ ������ �	
�
�����
������������
�����
���������
��	�����
�����	
���
�
������
�������������	
����
�������
����	������������������
������
�����
�������
������
����������
���
������
����� 
���
�	
�
���������
����	����	
�!"#�$����������%	
�&��������#���������
���	�����
�
����
��	
�'��
�������	
����(�'�������
����	
���
�
������������)� *���������
��	
�
��	
�"��������&�����������	���+
���������
���,��
�"��������� �������	
�!"#�$����������	
�������������������	�����
�������
�
���������������	
�����
�����������������	�+����-�� $������
�.�
 ���������������������
/���������
��
������
���
����������#����������
������������
���
��������0�����������
/����
���,�����
���������������
�����.1�
�������� ����.��
�������������������������	
��
������	�
����������������������������,�����
�����	
�������������	
��	�+���������������
�������2� *���������
��	
�
��	
�,�
�����"
�����3�����������	����������
����,�
�����"
���������	
�!"#�$����������������	�����������������	������	�������������	��
�����
�����,
����������)���� 
�������������
����������
����	
���
������
������
��/���������
���
�������������
�����������������
��
�
���	��	
������������������������
�����
�������	
���
��������4� 5���������������������	���
������������
�����������	
��������������
��������
�������������
����	�����
��
�����
����	����	
�!"#�$��������
1�
���	
�
��������
��������
���	������	���
�����������
�����	���������������������
� ������������
�������������	
���	��������
�����,��	���
��	������������
����������
����	
���
������
���
���
�������������
�����������������
��
�
���	��	
������������������������
�����
�������	
���
���������� ,�������
����������
����	��	
��������
���
���������
�����,
������������������
��������������
����	���������
������
����	����	
�!�����"���
�#���
� �����$����������	������,�
�����"
�����������	
�6������&�����������
�����������"��(����!��������$��������7"!$8�9:;<=>?;�@?A?BC?D�EFG�EFEHI�JKK?A>LM?�NOPQODR�SG�EFEET��� �����4�"�����
�� � �� �%��������	
��
 
����
������������������U������ ��
����(�����������������	
�%����
��
���������1�����������
�V���������������
��
������
��������
��������
�����������
���
�����V�	����
�
���
���
�������������(������� ���������������������� %	���"��(����!��������$��������7"!$8��	����������������������
���W�����������5���	�"����
���,��

���%	
���� �����������	����
�������	��������������������
�����	���+
������	
�"!$���
�����
���
����������
��X�
���%	
��
/���
�
��������	
����
�������+��
�73
�
����Y
���
��
8��	�������������������	
����
���X��
�����
�����������
����
�����������
��	
�
�����	
���� ����������������
�Z��������
��������������
�)���������������	
�������
�����(���������������� ����������
��X�
��� �� "��(������������
����
�����
�����,
���������)W�����	
�6������&����������������
����������)W4�� 7����
���������(��������������(���������
8��������)W��7����������(����������������
8��	�����
��
�����
������	
�"!$����,��
�"����Y
 �
�������������
���	�������
������� ������$��
��������,����������� %	
�������������
�������������������	���������������
����
�,
������Z��������%���
�������	
���
����
��-�� �8�&�����[�������������
�-�4��8�&�����[�������!������
-�4�



�� ������ ������	
�����	������
��
�	�
�������
����	����	��
������
���������	�������
����	
�����	���
���
�����������	����������� ����	�������
����������
����!������
����	����

�	��������	
��������	�������	
�������
���
��"
������	���
���������#���������$�%�!�!�&�����	��'�(�����)*+�,��$�%�!�!�-�
�'�(�����)�+�.��/���
��!�%�!�!�����*��
0�!���������
��(�
��������
�	�����!�
���(������	�����������	�
���
�
��������
���
���
���
��
�������
����	
����
�������	���
���
����	�����	��
�������
����������	������0����	�	�����(�
������!	
�%
	��	�����!�
������!��
������	���(���1��!�%�!�!�����
�������	�
�������
���
�����	���(�
���
��������!���	�����#���!	
��	�����	����������	������ � ��2��� 
�	�������	��'�	��
��	���� � 1��3�!�
�4��	
�	��5�
����
��6345��������������
���#���!	
����� �
��	����2*��7���	�� �� � 8(���3��	��������	�� 
�	�����0� �
��	�.���7���	� 
�	�������	��-�	������ 
�	�����0����2����� �  �
�3��	�8(���'��
�����	��7���	�4�����	�0��	��
���������	������
��	����
�	�������� ��2��*�1��!�%�!�!�	�!�����������	����������
��	�
���������������	��������
���������������(�����
��345���
���	��������������	
��	����
���
���������	��
��	���	�
��(���	�
�����
����
��5�
��������(����
��	����(�������
���������	9:;�<=>?@;;A>BC������	�0����D�
�
������(����
�
���#��
����
��345��	���
�
�����
�
��
���������	
0����(���	���	��	����������
��
��������	�������	���!���
�����
���������������	��������
�������������!�

��
��
��345�����2����1�������	���
���
���������������	��
������!��
������
��
����D��	
�	������������ �	�����	
��	�����2��2�1�������	���
���
���������������	���	�E�����F���
��
!	
�����������������
��!�	�!���
��(�������
�����������������	����
��������
�����!�G��
��3�����
� 
�
�����2����5����
�
������
������	��!�
������������������
����������	�
����������
�������	���
���
�����F�������2����1��������	������	�����	�����(�������(���	����������������
���������	��������
�����������(����������(���
��
�����(������	������%�
�	��
��������
�����
��������	�
���
�
��	��������
���	���	�
�����������	����������������!�	�!�!�����2��
����������	���������	��H������!�	�!�!�����I��
���������
���������H������!�%�!�!����2���
������
�
���
�
���
���	H��������	��
��!�	�!����������
���	���������(������������	�H����������
����
��	�(�����
��#����	�
�����(��	�
�������
����
���
�������	��
��������������2���� ��
��	��������	���D�
�(�����������	�������
���	
��
������	�����	�������	��������
������2��,�1�����	
���J�	�����������(������	���������
�����	
����(�	��������
�����
����
��	��
�������(�������
�
��
�!�������	
�	���	�����
��	�
���
��������(�����	
�	����	������	����(������2��.�'�	
�	�������������������������������������(����
������������(�����
�������	��������
�0��	�����	����D��	
������
����	������������	�G��
��3�����
� 
�
�����2��I�-���
�	�����������	�
������	���������
����(	
�����
��������!	
��	
����D��	
������
�������2��)�5���
��	�������
�	��	��������D�
�	�����	��
��
����	�
�%����*��#�����
������������	��	������!��	��
�
�������**��#�����
��	�����!������	�
������	��������	����
�������
����
�	���������5�
����I��1���
�	���������5�
����I�������������
�������
������	�������



�� ������ ������	
������
�
������������
�����
����
����
����	�
�������
������
�
���������
����
��������� ����������� ��������������	!��
�����������"�
����
������
����� ������ ������������������
������������"#���$�% ������"��
�������
����
&
�
��������""������ ������ ���
������� ��������������� ������� ��������
������������������$�	
������
����
���"�����$�'� ����"�����
�����$�(
"��)���
� ����� ���
������������� ��)��
���
������
�����
�����*��$�+�"�������������
�������� ������������
�����,���-$�.�
�������
���
�������&
��/$�(��,��
�
�������0$�.��
������
����
����
�����"��������� �"
����1$�(�����,
�����
�
�������������2
��������	���������32	$�4������� ����5� !����
��� .���2
��������	���������4��������
���&���
)��������
�����
������� ������������������������������
��������)�����6)�
,���7����������
��������������"��
��� ��������� �����)������������
������
����" ���"�����
�����
�������������"����)���������������"�����2	�4������ ������� ����������)����������������
��������������"�����2	�4�������������� +��
����������"�4������� .���2
��������	���������4��������
�����������"������������
����
��
�����,���)������""�
��8������
����.���4�����������"� ���������� ����������
�����,�����)�&�� ���"�������
� �
��������
������������
���������)��������� ����,
����� ���)��)���������"
��
�������
��
��,�����,
����"��,���&���
���������������
����
��
��
����"�����)������7	�4��������(�����������
�����������������7����&����������� 	 ������� .���� �������"������������������������������ ������
�����)����&����������
��
�����"������ �"
���,
����"��,����&���
�������������7����&��������������
� "����"�����9
,������(,
���6
����������� 7����������
���	���������� .���"����,���
��������������������������
�������
����
)�����������2	�4��������*�����
���
����"�����
��
��� �� �
������
������������5�.�������
��� �������,����
�)��
������,
����������2	�4�������"�
�)��
:
��� ���
���
����������������*����������,������&������(��������������������;�� ���
������������
�� ����,�����&��&���
����������
�)�� ������
��&�)���
:
��� ���
���
����
�� �����*�������������� ������������
�� ������ ���������
����,��������
����4������"�+�&�������
��< 
��)�+���������'
:
��� ��2
����7�� �
��������5�=�7��5��
��
��������
���������������������=������
�� ����,�����&��&���
����������
�)�� ������
��&�)���
:
��� ���
���
������� ����� ������������������ ������� �������
�����
��,
�������
�������
�����������&���������&���
������
���������" ����������
���
����
�����
���,����������&������������
�����"����������
�����
���������������������.��� ����"��������)����������
�����
�����,��������
���
:
��� ���
���
������� ����� �������������������)�������������
�������������������
�����������������������>������� �������
���
��?�����
���������"�������������������� ������ ����������
�����
��������� �� ���
����&����)�����	�����!�
�����6�
�����*�����"����� "���



�� ������ ����	
���������������	
�������������

�����������������
��������������	�����������������	��������������	��������������������������
�	���	�������
���	����	 ��	�������
	���������	��������������������
��������������������������� ����
�!���������	�������!���	���
���������������������
�������	������������ �	�������
	������� ������ 	�������	���	
�����

������������������������
�"�
��	�����������������
��������#��� ��#�������������$������������	����

�������������
���	��%������������������������
�"�
��	 ���
�������	�
#���������������#��	�������������
����� ��#�����&�
�������
	�������������

#���������������"�������	������
�������"�����������������
�����

����������	�������'������'����� �����
�� 	����������	�����������������(�������
���	����	 ��

��������	�����������������
�����

�	�����	������"������ ���������������������������	"������������������������	����"���������������	�������������	 ��	���������	������	  �	��
����������$���	���		����	����	 ����������������
��	�������������������������� ����
�!���������	�������!���	���
���������������������
�� 	���	������������	���������������)����������
�	���	�������
��������������"	
"��������	���������	�����������	 ���#�	�
������	�������
���	���������������������������� ����
�!����	��	�������!���	���
������
���������
��	����#�����������������*��+�����������

�����������������
�������� �	������,	����-	����	 �.����
����.�������
�����������

�����������	�
#���	��������� ��� �����������������!���	����������
/�0���

����������	��������	������������������	����	 ��������������������

��	���	�������������������	�����1��������������.��� ���	������.�2����3����"	����������4������������������������� ����
�!��������	�����
������
��
���������������������
�����

���������������	������������1����&����3��
���	���	 �����(�����������������������-	���������&(3��%�%��/�%����0��������������� �����5�3��	  ����������

��	�������"������ �	��
������������������������	���	����������������������������6�.�#������	 �
����	����
���������"����������� ���

#������������	����	����������������%�&(3�������
��������%�&(3������%.��%7�����������������������������

������.�������-	����	 �8��
������
���	��������#����
#��������� ������
��������9������
���3�"����� �����%�:	���

�����������������������������������
��������	��������
���3�"����������	�����������������	��������������������
	�������������*��+������������� 	

	������ 	�����	�����

���������������������	 ��������
�����	����������	�;�� ���.�������
������������

���	���������������;��� ���+��������
�������	����
	����	��	 ��������� ���
�����������������	�������������� ��������������	����������������<�	��	�����������������	���	���	
��������������(���������	����"�����	���������	��	 ���� ������������ �	����#��	������
�	��������	

��������������������������	��� 	����#��	�������
�	�����������
�������"	
"�����!���	����������
�������������	���������
������

���� �
������������

����
������#����
�����������������	"���	��� 	�;�� �����	���������!���	����������
�� �	��"����
������������"����	��	 ��	��	��	��	 ��	���������	�����������������������
��2���	 �



�� ������ �����	
��������������������	

����
�����
�����������	
��������������������
���������������������������������
�����

�����������������
�������
��	��������������������
��������������	
������������������	������������
�������������
������������
��������
����
�����������	�����������������������
�������	
����������������������������	�����
������������� 
�	����
��
����������������������!��	�"������
��
���������
����
�����������	����������
����!������	
�������������������������#��������� ����!���	������ ����!�
����
�
��	�	���
�������
	����$���������
������������������	�	���
����
�����������	������	
�������������������  ��#���
���������������������	�����!����������������������	������������	�
����������	
��������������	����������
�������
�����
�����������������
� �����	������
�����
��������������
�!�����
��
������
����%
��
���������
����
��������������
�	������������������� ���������	���
�����������������
��������	������
���������&�����������	� !������������������'�����
�������'����(�������������� �����
�)*+��
�����
���������������
����
����������������	�����
�������
������	�	����� ������!����������������
������
��
����!�������
�	���
���
����������������#�������������
������������
�	����� ����!������������
������
���
���
�	���
����$�����	�
����
�
��	��
���������
����!������,����
�!�
����������������
��������� ���
����	�	��
�����-
��	�
��.��������/���������
���������� ��	���
����������������!�
���������������
����������
�����
����������
�������)�0+��
�1����	�!��
�������	������2��#��������������������������$�)�+��
�����
��������
�
��	�
�����������������������3
�����-
��	�
��/�������)��������'����+4'��������-
��	�)�����'����(�����+��5
����������� �����������	���������6�	�!����
�����3-/4'��������-
��	��5
��������
��5
����
���-
��	�
��.���������	�-���	����5
����
������
�����������������	����
��	���
�����2�*00��#���3
�����-
��	�
��/���������	�'��������-
��	��!���"���������
�� ����		���
�������
����
��������	����������!��
���	�"���������������
��������
�
��	�������2�*00*�#����
��
��������	����������� ���	���
����!�����
�����������	7�� ���#������������������-
��	����������	������������
�
��������������������
�!�
������
��������
�!��������������
������	��������
������������
����	�����������!�����
���������
�����*��#������������������-
��	����������	������������
�
��	�������
��	����
���	�"������������	���
������	����������������!�������2��#������������������-
��	����������	������������
�
��	�����������
�����������	�����������
�������������
����!���������	��������
�����
������� 
	!��������8'�9��������	�������
��������
����0��#������������������-
��	����������	������������
�
��	�����������
���	������!������������"�����!���	�"������!�
���������������:�������������-�����
������/�1����(�����
�����



�� ������ ����	� 
���������� ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �!�������"����������������#�#����������������������#����#���"������#���������#����#����������������������������#����#��������������������������������������$������������������� �!�������"�$���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������%�������������������������"������������������������������������&����#�%��������'�������������(������� ��������������������������������������$���������������������������#�)����#����������$�����������������$��������������������$��������������������������� �!����������*���%���������������"�$��������(�����������������������"��������������������������������������������������������+����������(������������������"����������"���������(������� �����������,� -�����������!�+���������.�������������������������������������������������������������� �/+������!�������������������������������������0��������(����'1�����"�������������#���1���������������$����2������,3�-�������������$��+���������1�����#������+���������4�5�0��6�����"�����(�$��+������6�������0��"�������$������������������������+����������������������������(������������������&����#�%����������	�'1������-�����#�� ����������7'- 8�!��������� ���	3� 5�������� *���'1������-�����#�� ����������7'- 8�!���������������+�������������������������$�������������������������������������$�������$�������%�������-���������������������$�����������������������������������#�����������������������������������"���������������$����������$������������������������'- �!��������������������������$����������������������������$��������������'- �!�������������	�� 
���$�����������!��������� *���'1������-�����#�� ����������7'- 8�!�������������������������������#��#��������������������������/��������&����#�4�����*����!����������������#��������������������������������������$��+����������������������������"������"���$����������#����#��������������$���������������������������������#�����#�����������������������#���1���������������������0��������(����$��������������#��������&������"�������������1������������#����������������*�������'�����9����$���������������	��  �������� *������������������������������������������������$�����������$�����+�����#���������������������#������������������������������#�����������1�������������0��������(����%����"���������������:������������������������*���������	��  ����$�������� *�����������#���������������$������������'- �!�������"��������������������������#���������������������������	�3�%���������������������������"���������#�$����������������������������#"��������������������#"������������+��#"�������������������#"������������#����������$����������"�������#�������"������"��������"�����������������������)������������"������������������������#2�� ���;���������1��������#���������������)������������"������������$����3�64-��3�33"����������"����$����������$������(������� �����5������#�'����������������������������(����������	3���������$����<�����=�����������)������������������������������������+����������������������������3�64-��3��>3"����������<��������������������������������������1������$��4�5�0��6�����"�(����	�'"����������"����<�



�� ������ ������	
��	��������
�����	�������	��
��
����	�����	�
���	�����������	�
�� ���	�����
���	��!	����
�����
�	������"���#�$�%�&&'�
��
�	�	�'�������	���	
��	��������
��
�	��!������������
�	��
�	�����"�(%"��)������
���������	���
����	��������������	��������	����
��	��
�	��������	���"�(%"(���������������	���
��'��
���
��	�'�!
����	��
�	�'��������	����	��	����	�
���	�
��������'�����	���
����	����������
!	�
���
�	�'��������
��	��
������'������'�
�����	�����!'�
����!�
�	�
���'�*���
���
��
!	��
���'��
������!��������
!	��������!	�
���	��
!	'��������	�	+�	����������	�������
�����������������������"�(%""�,�	�!���������
!	������-�����	����	�����������'�	+�	���������	��������!.�� ���/���
!	��������
������	�������	'����������
��	
�	'�
���	
��!����
���������	0��(��1
��	������
������	���	-���	�������
���	'����	�����	!��
���0��"����	�!	���!		�
������	-���	�������
���	'����	�����	!��
���0�� �����	
��	��������
�����	����	��"�%�#�$�%�&&�������	
��	�����!������������
�	��
�	��0��%��,�	�!���������
!	��
�������!
����	�������	+���	��
����	����	����
������������������
���
���	��	��
�	�'�������	����
��
��������	��
�	�	���
����������!�	
�	�������	'�
����
����	�������	�������
��	���
������
��	������	����������
�	��������	��
��
����	����2��	�/
�	���#��	�3%(4�#�$50�������	����
�����������
!	'�����	������	�����������!��%��
���	'��������		���
��!����
�	���������������!�����
���	�!�����
����	���	���
�	����������	��������	���
������
��	���
������	�'����	��	
��	�
���
�
��	���������!�
�������	-�
�������%����	����	����
�������	������	�����
������
�	������	��	��
�	�	�����
����	�!���������
!	��
��������	
��!�����������	+���	��
����	����	����
������������������
����
����		����	��	-���	�	��������	�6�
������7	
�������"�(%"����	�������������
!	�����
��'��	����!��
�	��
��'��	������	�'��	������	�'��	�����8	���
�����	���
8
�������
��
��!
��	���	���
����������	���	����
������������	����"�(%"%������!����������
������	�!����'����
�	������	�'�������	���	��
���	���������	������
����+�����	���
��������!�������������	������	���������	����	���
����	
	������������
����+�����	���
��������
���	����		��������	�
����������������	��
	'�������	������	������
8
�������
��	���"�(%"9�/��������!�
��������
��������������	��	���	���������!��
���������		������
�	��������	���	�:$ ������������
�����
�����������������	'��
�������������	'���	���
������	
�	��
��
���	��������	����	���
�����	����������
����	��	���
����"�(%"4�1
��	�
�	����	
��	����
���������������*	������
�!�����
�	�������
�!	��	�������	��"�&�#�$�%�&&'�	+�	���������	��������!.�� �����	��	��
�	�	������	�
������
�	+����!�����	����
�����������	�������
�����	
�	�����	��	��!��
�
���������
�������	�0��(����	��	��
�	�	�����
�	+����!��������
�	��	�
!	�������
������	��������
��	�
�	����	
��	����������
�����������	�������
�����	
�	���	����	��	��!��
�
����������	�	+����!�����	�'�
�0��"����	
��	���������	��!	��������	���	
��	��������
��
�	��!������������
�	��
�	������*	������"���#�$�%�&&'�
��
�	�	����"�(%"��)������
���������	���
������
!	������������������	�
�����	���	����!��
�	��
��'��	������	�'��	������	�'��	�����8	��'�
�����	���
8
�������
��
��!
��	���	���
��������������	�����



�� ������ ��������	
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������
������������������������������������������������������ ���������������!��������"�������������������������
��#�����#�������������!��!������!����������!����� �����!��������#!�����"��$����%����#���������������������������##� �������������������������������������������������#����� ��������� ����&� '����������(����� %��������"����!��������������������������)'*�+�������,�� ����&��-���!���������������!������������������������������!����������������!������������������"����#!���������"� ������ �������������%�������������������������#���������������#�����������"�������������������������!������� �"������������� �������������#!���������� ���.����!��������������������� �������������������������������������������������������������������!�������������
��!���
������������������"�������������������������/!����#�������������������!������"������������������������������������!�������#�����!�������"�����������"������������������!��!���������������#�����������������������������#��������������������!������������������������&��0������1�����#��������������������������������������������"��������������������������������!������������������"��������2�"��.����'��!���������������/������!������*���������3����������./'����������������������������"�������!����!���4�������������!������������������������������ �#����!���������������1�����������#���������!�������������!��"�����������&��5��!���������������������!����"������������������������!������#������������� ������#�������������#���!����#����������������������������1���������������1����!��������������������������� ������"����������)'*�+�����������������6!������-#������*���������������7������3��������)##�������)�-#������*������������������!������ �!#������#��������������������������1����!��������������"������������#���������������!�����������#�������������������������"���������������!�������������������2�"������-"��#�)6!�������)� �������� ���������������������!������������������������������� ����������������������������������������� +��������� �������%�������
�����#����������!������������#����!���!��������������������������������������� �������������������������������"�������������������!���������������������8��������������9�������������!���������������������!�����������������#�������� �������������!���������)'*�+����������)����������������������������������#�����������������������������!��!�������������#��������� ����������������!���"��$����������� �����#��#��� ��"�����!�����������"�����#��������� �����#����������������!������ ����������%���������������#����!�����������������9���������������������������6!����������"�����������������������#���������!�������-#������*�������#��������������� ��������������������������������#����#��������������!��"�������������#���"���������-#������*������:��������)!������ ����������6!���� �#��������������������������������������!��"�����6!���� ���0�������������������!����������������������������"������������������������������������� �������������"�������!����������������+� �"��������������!������� �"�����������������������������������0�����������������������!����������!��������������"��������������#��������� ������������������������������#������������������������������������������)� ���������������������������������"������������#�����������#��������� ����������������!���"��$����������� �����#��#��� ��"����������;� -#����7������� 0����� ��������������������� �����)'*�+����������!���� ��"������������������������������������)'*�+����������������"�������#��#�����!��������"���� �����!����� ����1������������������������������� ����������������������������+����������!���� ����������������������6!����������������)'*�+�������������"������ ��##� ��������7������3��������)##������������-#������*������������"������������������������������������������6!����������������)'*�+��������#�����������3�������$������������������6!��������-�����������<����



�� ������ ������ 	
���
�����������
���� ��������������������� ���
������������������������
���
����� ���������!�"�����
���������������������#�#� �����������"�������!�$�
��
������������ ���
����%�
��
������������������
���
����� ���������!�"�����
����%�
��
���������������#�#� �����������"������&� '(��
���#���
��)'
���#������
�*�
��+��,�#�	
���
���� ����&��-������������*+
�+���.�
����
�+�����'(��
���#���
�����'
���#������
�*�
�����������*
�+�'���
�����/��+�������*
���+����%����.�
�������(��������+���((�
���
����%�
��
�0�� ����&!�,��
���(���*+
�+��+�����+�*/�������

���0�� ���	��
�������+�����������������(���
�
������(�����������������+�������%��1���
��������
�����
�����������������������#���
�
������(��������
�����(���
�������������������(�����������
��
�������(���������(�����������+� ��������+��
����������#���
�
������(���������(�����������*�����
�(�������������������&��������2����
�
�/���������������
������
�����
�������
����
��+� ������������
���/���*�
�����(����
��(����+����%���
����*+
�+��+����
������(+��
����������������(���
�
������0�� 
��#������
��+� ������������
��������������
�����

��#�����
�����������
���������
�������(
(
�������%��.�������3�������+� ������������
������


��2��������������������+� ������������
������
���'������������������������+����
�(���
�������������������*
�+���
���
������
�������������������(������+� ������������
�����(
�������
������(���/�������������������
��4��
�
���
�/�����
�������������(�
��+����������+� ������������
�����(
�������

��1�
��������
������/�%��
�/������+����
��
��������
������.���������������+��������������
�������������(����+� ������������
�����(
�������


��5+�����
��%
�
����������
%
�
������(��(������
�(��������+������
���'�����������/��������/�����
�(��������������������+� �������*����������
������%��5+���(����
��(����+����
���
������(������������+��
����/�(���
�
���/������������+���+� ������������
����������
����������+���������������+������
�������%����������+����+������+���
�����*������������(����
���-����*
���((�����������(���
�/����������+�����+���������%������
����+�*
���+������������������������+����+������6����(���
�����%���
�+�����'(��
���#���
�����'
���#������
�*��+������%�
���*��7�8�



�� ������ ����	
������������	�����������������������������	�������������	
��������������	
�����	���	������������
������������
�����	���	��
	
��� ��	�������	�����
�������
���	
����	��������	
�����	�����
�����������
�	��	��	����������
	��������	����������	������	�����������	�������	�����
������	��������	�������	�����������	�������������	����
�
������	���	�����	��� 	�
���������	�������������	������ ��!���������������		�"�#$����%������
������������	���&��'(&���	����������
��������	�
���")$�����	
������	������
	����	�����������������	�*����������������	��
�"+�	�����,	����$-,�����������"+��	�,���.	 �	�$���/���	
�������	����
����	�!�������0����
!������	�*��-,����������!�/�
	� �����/����

��!��1���	��,���	�����/������		!�2	�����	�����,������3��%
!�����������	����!������������/����

��	�!�������	����	 �	������	����	�����
���&��'(#���	�*����������������	��
����,����������������	1���	�
�������������������������
���	������	�	

����������	1���	��

	

�	�������	������
	���
	�����	�*����������������	��
����,��������������!���
�
�	���������	����	�������
������	�����
�������4�5�6��/���##!�'&5!�	���������
��	���
�����
!��������!�������������	�����������	�����
�
!�����	��	 �	�������	������
	���
	���&��'('���	���������������
�
������	����	������������� ��
�����	�7�� �����	��	������������������
����������������	������
���	���	���
��������������
��������������������	������
	
������	��������
�
	����������
��
�	������	�
�
���	�	���	��������	��	������������������
����������������	������
	���
	���� ��	
�������	1���	�
	���	���
��
���������	��
	� ��	�
�
�	�
���&����	��	������������������
����������������	������
	���
	����������� 	����� 	�
	�	 ����	�������������������	�
�	�!����	�����
	�������	����������	��.,�2�
��������������
����������#����	��	������������������
����������������	������
	���
	����������� 	�
	������	�����	�1����������1�������������	������	�6���	�	�+�������
����&��'8� 9�	�����
�:�.	
��	�����2	 	����	��� &��'8;�9�	�����
�� <�����
���	���	�	�������	������	����
���	
���	�����
��������	�������	��������	��.,�2�
�����!���	���	������	���	�������	

�����������	�����
�������������	��	��		������	�	���	�������������	����
�������	������	������	��.,�2�
��������
	������	��	���������������
	
������	���
�������������	��������	��
���
������	�����	������ ��
	�������
��	�	�������!���	�����	������	�����������������	�*����������������	��
�������+�	�����,	�������������
	���������������	���
	��	��	�����	������	���	������=������
�����������������
���������	�������
����	�������	��	
�������
�����	��.,�2�
��������+	����
�&��'(&����&��'(#�������
�������
����������������������������
�����	�	��������	�����
�
	���������	�������
��������!���
	����+	����
�&��'�����&��'�!��������	�����	����	���	���
�����
����	�	�����������	���� �
��
����+	�����&��'����������	�	���	��

�	���+�	�����,	������� &��'8��.	
��	�����2	 	����	��� >�����������	�
����������������	������	�����������	��.,�2�
�����������	�6���2	
����.	
��	�	�2�
������".�62$!���	�����������	1���	�	�
�
������	��	�7��.	
��	�����
���� �
��
��	1����������� �����	��4�5�6��/���#�!���	�+���� �
���/������6��!�
������	�����������
����
�	���	 	����	�
�����������	������+	�����#�&������	�*������������



�� ������ �������	
�
������
	���
���
����� ��������
�	����������
�������������������	 �!�"�
��#�	������������		� �$	
��!��
 �	�
����%����#�	��&�$!�'��
���
����� ����(�)�
�� 
���
���
��	��%����� 
���
���	 ������*�������
#���� ��	����������� 
���
������
	 
��� �
	�)*�������%����#�	������� ��
	���
�����������������
�	����+���		� �$	
��!��
 �	�
����%����#�	�������,�-�#�	 �.�	���%�
�	�&-.'��
���
���� ���,(� /�	����� )���-�#�	 �.�	���%�
�	��
���
���
��	��%����� 
���
���	 ������*�������
#���� ��	������� 
���
�������*�
��� �*����
���������!����
��
�	��	 �����
*
�
�	������	 �����
	������	 ����
	�� 
���
�����������#
	�
	������������	 ������	���*��#� 
�
� �*��������	 
�
�	���������-.��
���
����	������������ � �*�����������
��
�	��	 ���	 
�
�	���������-.��
���
���������,0� 1��*�
��#�	������
���
���� )���-�#�	 �.�	���%�
�	��
���
����������	�
�������������������
����������	���-.��
���
����	�����2��
�
��3�	
	�������)�
���
���
���
����	�
���� ����
	��� ���������	 ����
��+�*��%
�����������
����
��+������+�����
�	� 4��	�����	 ���	�
�������
�����������#�	 ����#
	�� 
�������*�����+�	 ���������������
�	��	 ����5
��
	��6�	
	�+���#��
���������
�
�����#�	 ������������)��	����7#�����������,�� ��������� )�������������������-�#�	 �.�	���%�
�	��
���
��������8�� ���,�(����#����	 �����������������
���	 ���	�
	�� ����	�#
��%
*
�
��������#
	������������	���%�
�	�����������	 ���	���
�����#
	��
��#����%
*�����
�������
	�� �%������#�	���������������
�	�������#��������
����������
 �	�
��	 �������	�	���#
	�����9�����,�0��
	�
	�	� �"����*��������
���������	 �	 ���
%
���
	�7#���������������	�����������	�
	�� ����	�#
��%
*
�
�������������#
	��	 ������*����	��
*�������������	�
	�� �%
�*
�
��������
�������������������%
���9�����,���������%��������	�
	�� ����	�#
��%��������	 �������#����	 ���#�	 ���	����*�����
	
	������
�	�������#��������
����� �%����*����������
 �	�
��	 �������	�	���#���������+������*���������
	��������	�
	�� ����	�#
��%
*
�
������
	 
%
 �����#��	 ���#
	��
	�7#�����9�����,���������%��������������	 ��	 ����������#
	�+���
�������� ��
	�����������������7#�����������,�� !��
 �	�
����%����#�	��� ���,�(�!��
 �	�
����* 
%
�
�	����"�
�
	������%���	 �����/�:�+�.����0+���* 
%
�
�	�.�	�����:�+������*���
 ��������������� �%����#�	���
	����� 	����
����������%
�
�	�������
������
�	�	 �����
�	����+�.���������%����#�	�+���������	��������##�	
��� �%����#�	���
	����� 	����
�������
�	���;+�2��	������.�##�	
�����%����#�	��&2�.�'+��������3�	
	������������,�0�.������� �%����#�	���
	�����-.��
���
����������	���#�����������%
�
�	���������
�	�����,��	 ����,;������
��*���������,���-�������������
������	��������� �����
 ������-.��
���
���	 ��#4��
��������������
��
	�����-.��
���
��+��������������"�
��#�	������������������������������8��



�� ������ �����	��
����������������������������	��
��������������������������

����������������
����	�������������������
������

����������������������������������������������������
	����� �!�
��������
"�
�����������#�$� �������������%�� ������������&
����"�'���������&
��#�!��(�)�&#*��� +���&
����"�'������

�"���������&
��#�!��(�)�&#*������!
�������
	�������!�
��������������,�� �����������!��������������������������������������"��������!������������������--������--�����������.����"�'/
(���������������	����������������������!���������������������%0��,��
���������!������ �!�
�����������������������������%���
	����� �!�
������� ���"�������������������'/
(������%0� ,��
���������!����� �!�
���������������� ���%0��+����������	��������
���������

��	�
���"������������

����
���������������������������������(�������
��
�����	���
��������������	������������������
�!�����1��+�������!��������

�������
/��������
�������������������������������
����
�������(������	�������
����������
��������"����������	������2�!��������
�������� -��+�������������������"�����"����������1��"�����������������������������������
����������������
����

����������������������,��������������(�������

��!�������/���!��)�0*��/����������������������"����3�����������������/������������"�����"�����������,���������������

������
��������������
����������"��������������
�"��������������
�����������������������	
����������������
������!
	���������������������	����
��/�������
������
	���"��	������
����������������������
�	���������������������!��

�"���	
�	�
�!���
��/�������������������/�������������(���������	���������������/
(���,�
	��������������������

�������������

��������	�������!
��/�����,���������������+����������"�����"�������/�"������
������������������������������������������������������(����������	�������������,������������������	����������������������������������������
���������	
���"����������
���4������5��������
����/����������/�������������������������+����������"�����"�������/�������������(����������"	
��������������	��	��������6�7�����������0�6����""���������!�����������������������������
�"��������������
������������������������	
����������	
�������������������������
�������������������!
	���"�������������5���������%0-�8���!��	
�����	
���	��������	���/���������/�������/����

�(�������
	�������!�
���������������,�� ��������(������	�
��������/����!�����������������
/�!�
�
����	�5�������'�������9�
�������!
����������������������������������%0��:�����������������
������!�������������
	����� �!�
�������������	�����0�������	�������������(�

��"�	������

���������������	��
�������������������!���������!�������������� 3�������	�������������
����������&
����"�'�����/�(�!�����������	���(������	�������"��(�	
����������������(���������	���������������'/
(���8���1��"���������������������&
����"�'������

����������(���������������	�������
����	�������������
������������������������������
/�������!������
����(��
����������"����	�����	�������	��
�������������������!���������!���������������������
	����� �!�
������������%0���������
����������������������
/�������!�����������
�����

��!�����������������"	�	�����"��������"	���������������������
��������	���!��
�����
������������������%0���

����(/�������"���/���������	��
��������

����
����	���������������������!������
����������
������������5����������������"���	
�	�
�
�������	���������%00�$���	�
���"���������"��(�

��"�	�������

�����	��������������	��-0��������	�����������



�� ������ ����	�
���	������
����������	����������
��	������
����	������������������	��
	����������������	���
���	���	
��������������������������	��
�	��
������	���	���
��	�
������	������
�������
�����	����	����
� ��	����	�����!�����
��
�������
�
���!���������
��	��	��
��	����
�	������
�����
���	���������
���	���������������
������	��!����� ��	������������������������
��
� �
��
�����	���������
����"��� ���#���$���
����
��
�������
�����	����	����
������������	��

�����	������	��
��������%&'�� ���������
��������
��� �
��
�����������
��������	�
��������	����
�	�����������
�����	�������������� ���������
����������������������
�����$����������	������
���	���������	�����	����
������(�)���(��)*+�������	��
�	��
������	���	���
��	�
���������	����
������������	
��������
���&*,����
������	��
	�����
 ����
���	������
����������	��������	
��������������
�	�����������
������������������������	�
���	��	��
�����������������
�	�����������
�	������
�!��	�������
������	���	���
��	�
����
�	��������������� ������
������
�����	���������������
���	������
���
���������������
��
� �
�����
������(&����
���-�����"��� ����(��)*.�/��	��	��������������	
���������������
������
������� �����������	����
�	����������	������	���������� ������ (��)*)�/����� ���������
������
	��
�	�������������
�	�
�����
��
����$��
�������������
�	���������������������������
!�������	��
	��
���
�������	��������(��)*0�#�������
���	�������	����
����
��� ���������
�������
��	��
	��
�	��1�� &��2�
�������� �����������
���������
�����	���3�����4�
�� ��������������
�����������������3��(���4������
����� ��	���� �����
	��
����������������������	�������	�����	������
����
�	������
�
�����	�
���	���������
�	��3������4������
����� ��	��
���	��
��
������	�������
������
�5�������
����������	����
��!������	��	��6��!����
�
���� ������	����!������
��	������
�����
�����	��
�	��
����
��
���������
���6���
�	������
���������������(��0�7����	���8�9���������
�%79'�9��
	��
�� (��0,� :���	���� ����7����	���8�9���������
�%789'�9��
	��
����������	�������
	��
������������������	������������
��	����
	��
����
������������
����"��� ��7��
	��
����������	�����
��������������������
�������	��������
	��
��������	����������������	���������������
����������������
��������
��������
���789�9��
	��
������������	���������
���	��
	��
��������������
��������
���789�9��
	��
����(��0&� /�
���������
����9��
	��
��� ����7����	���8�9���������
�%789'�9��
	��
�������������
����
�������	�������	������� �����789�9��
	��
����
���;��������-�����<���������9��
	��
����������	���
����������
����������� ����!������	
������
���	�����
���� �
��	�����
�
�����
�
�
������������	����	���!�
	�����	
�
������		���	�!��
���
���!�����������
�	�!���	�����!������
��	����
�	�!��	�����	��	��
����	�
�����
������	����	��!�����������
!�����
��
����������������(��0�� =�	������ ������	���������
���7����	���8�9���������
�%789'�9��
	��
��	��
�1��� (��0�,��>�����
�
�������	���
��
�����
���������
!�����������
!������$���������������	��
���������
�����������
�������	����	�����������������
���������������#���	�
����(��0�&�=	����������	
���
������	�
�����
���������
����	����	�����������������
�����������!������������
���
�����
���
��
�������	������	����	��������
��� �
��
���	����	�������
��
�����
���
�����������	
���
���	������������
���?����	��
�����<���������

�!�#���	�
�������!�����@������	�����������



�� ������ ����������	
��	����������	�	���������	�	����	��������	��	��	��������	��������	����	������	����	����	���������	��	��������������	� ���������	�	��������	�����������	����������	���������������	������������	�������������!"�����	������	�������������	��������	���	���	���������	���	�������	�	���������	�	����	�����������#�$%&'()*�'*(�(+,)%-+./�01)�2&334*+0/5-�6%&6)%0/�0'7�8'-)9�������� :	�����	
��	��� ;��������	��<=�=��������������	�����	�>	����������?��@��������?��A���	�����������	������������	�� ����	�	������	�	����	��������	��������������	�������������������������	�����	������������������������ ����� ��������	 ��	��	�	�����	�������	����	������B�����������������	���>�	�����:	����C>:D������	�E������F����������	��������������	����	�	�����	�����	�>��	�:�����	��	 �C>:�D��������������	�:��������F��������	"�	�������������	��������	�����	�	�������	����������	��������	����������� �����������	
��	���>�	�����:	��������	�������	�>�	�����:	����G����������������������B	������������	���	����������	��	�����������	�F��� �������#� ��	��	 �:	������ H�� ��������������	��������������>	�������A@���������AA���@�� ��������	��<=�=����������	�I�	�J��	���F��������J���������	��F�������K	������L� ��!����		������J���	�������=	����	������������	���������	�C#�D���������	������	���������������������������������	����	�>	����������?��@��������?��A� �����������	����	���	�������������������	�������	�������	�����	�������������	����"������B��������	"������	���



��
�� �� ���� ��� ���� 	
��������
���


��
�����

���������
���
������
���

���
�� 
!"�!�# #
�$
��%#
&
'()*+
 ,%#�%-.
)-/
$"�"� 


"# #
�$
()-/+
0"%(/%-.#
)-
/
��� �
#��"1�"� #
#�)((
0

 
)((�1)� /
)2�-.
�� 
$�
((�*%-.
1)� .��% #3

4�
%#
%-

� -/ /
��)�
 5 �'
!�##%0
( 
"# 
0 
%-1("/ /
%-
#�2

 
1)� .��'+
)-/
)
"# 
��)
�
/� #
-��


� )/%('
$)((
%-�� 
)-'
1)� .
��'
(%#� /
#�)((
0 
%-1("/ 

/
%-
�� 
�- 
��
*�%1�
%�
%#

2�#�
#%2%()�3

6)1�
"# 
%#


)##%.- /
)
-"20 �
*�%1
�
%#
$�"-/
%-
�� 
( $�
�)-/


1�("2-
�$
�� 
$�((�*%-.

!). #3

7� 
��)-/)�/#
)-/
8�-/%
�%�-#
1�("2-
*�%1�
%#
(�1

)� /
��
�� 
�%.��
�$
�� 
9
# 
8()##%$%1)�%�-
1�("2-
1

�-�)%-#
#! 1%$%1
� :"%� 2
 -�#
*�%1�
#�)((
0 
2 �
%

$
�� 
9# 
%#
��
0 
! �2%��
 /
%-
)-'
;�-%-.
<%#��%1�


0'
�%.��+
0'
�! 1%)(
� �2
%�+
��
0'
�%� 
�()-


� 5% *3
 7� 
1�("2-
(�1)� /
��
��
 
�%.��
�$
�� 
��)-/)�/#
)

-/
8�-/%�%�-#
1�("2-
%-/
%1)� #
�� 
;�-%-.
<%#��%1�

#
%-
*�%1�
�� 
#! 1%$%1
9#
 #
)� 
! �2%�� /
��
!���%

0%� /3

7� 
$�((�*%-.
1�/
 
%#
"# /
%-
���# 
1�("2-

#=

� #


7� 
9# 
%#
! �2%�� /


0'
�%.��
%-
��)�
;�-%-.
<
%#��%1�3

��



7� 
9# 
%#
-��
! �2
%�� /
%-
��)�
;�-%-.
<%#��%

1�3

7� 
9# 
%#
! �2%�� /
*%��


�%� 
�()-
� 5% *
	�  
� 
1�%�-
>>3?�

7� 
9# 
%#
! �2%�� /
*%��

)
�! 1%)(
� �2%�+
0'
�� 
;

�-%-.
&�)�/
�$




@!! )(#
	�  
� 1�%�-
>A3B

�

7� 
9# 
%#
! �2%�� /
*%��


)
�! 1%)(
� �2%�+
0'
�� 
�
()--%-.
&�)�/


	�  
� 1�%�-
>A3B� 7� 
9# +
%$
(�1)� /
*%��%-

�� 
@:"%$ �
� 1�)�. 
���

� 1�%�-
<%#��%1�




	@���
#�)((
0 
#"0C 1�
��


�� 
1�/ 
/ #%.-)�%�-
*%�
�%-
�� 
!)� -�� #%#3





�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
����������� !"!#$

%%%
%%%

%%%
%%%

%%
!"!##

%%%
%%%

%%%
%%%

%%
!"!#& ! "!#&'()*

*�+�,)-.� */)01
234234234

234234234
234234234

234234234
234234

! "!#&#'()*
*�++�,)-.� */)01

232323
2323234

234234234
2342323

2323
!"!#!

%55
555

555
5523

523
!"!#6

%%%
%%%

%%%
%%%

%%
!"!#7

23235
5523

23235
2355

523
!"!#8

232323
232323

232323
232323

23234
!"!#9

23235
5523

23235
23523

55
�����������: !"!&$

%%%
%55

555
555

55
;</1==-�->?->)/@=0)(�<*> '=..>-?@)(�A->>0B=<*> ���������C��D��� ;0>�E).@(F�1>/)?B>1�1G>

((@0A

�HIJK� �LMNO�

P0F�*/-<?/<->�*B)((�Q>�)??
>**=-F�/=�/B>�=R>-)/@=0�=

E�/B>�=</1==-�->?->)/@=0�
)?/@S@/@>*"

P0F�<*>�R-=R=*>1�<01>-�
/B@*�*>?/@=0�*B)((�)Q@1>�QF

�)((�)RR(@?)Q(>�(=?)(T�*/)/>
T�)01�E>1>-)(�->A<()/@=0*�

A=S>-0@0A�>0S@-=0.>0/)
(T�E(==1U->()/>1T�*/-<?/<-)

(T�)01�*)E>/F�)*R>?/*�=E�/B
>�R-=R=*>1�<*>�)01�@/*�

)**=?@)/>1�*/-<?/<->*�)01
�*@/>�)(/>-)/@=0*T�)01�)((�)

RR(@?)Q(>�R>-.@/*�A=S>-0
@0A�1).*�)01�*<-E)?>�G)

/>-�@.R=<01.>0/*�*B)((�Q
>�=Q/)@0>1�)01�.)@0/)@0>

1�)*�?<-->0/"��,)@(<->�/=�)
Q@1>�QF�*)@1�->A<()/@=0*�=

-�/=�
=Q/)@0�)01�V>>R�?<-->0/�

)((�->W<@->1�R>-.@/*�*B)((
�->*<(/�@0�/B>�S=@1@0A�=E�)

0F�R>-.@/�@**<>1�<01>-�/B
@*�*>?/@=0�)01�*B)((�Q>�?=

0*@1>->1�)�S@=()/@=0�<01>
-�2>?/@=0�##"6�=E�/B@*�XF()

G"
2>>�P-/@?(>�6�E=-�'(<* />-�Y

>S>(=R.>0/T�3()00>1�Z0
@/�4>*@1>0/@)(�Y>S>(=R.>

0/�)01�;R>0�2R)?>�'=..
<0@/F�Y>S>(=R.>0/"

;-?B)-1T�.)-V>/�A)-1>0T
�0<-*>-FT�=-�=/B>-�<*>�

=E�()01�E=-�?=..>-?@)(�=
-�=/B>-�)A-@?<(/<-)(�

R-=1<?/@=0" 2)(>*-==.�=-�E)-.�*/)01
�E=-�/B>�*)(>�=E�

0<-*>-FT�A)-1>0�=-�=/B>-
�)A-@?<(/<->�R-=1<?>�

[@0?(<1@0A�)-/@?(>*�=E�B=.
>�.)0<E)?/<->�E-=.�

*<?B�R-=1<?>\"�]��������D��� ,=->*/-F�)01�/B>�B)-S>*/@
0A�=E�E=->*/�

R-=1<?/*"
,=-�R-=1<?>�A-=G0�1<-@0

A�>@/B>-�̂<0>T�̂<(FT�P<A<*
/�_�2>R/>.Q>-�=E�>S>-F�F

>)-T�=-�1<-@0A�/B>�B) -S>*
/�*>)*=0�=E�/B>�?-=R[*\�-)

@*>1�=0�()01�=E�/B>�=G0>
-�=-�(>**>>T�)/�(>)*/�&7�R>

-?>0/�=E�*<?B�R-=1<?/*�E=
-�*)(>T�

Q)*>1�=0�>@/B>-�A-=**�*)(
>*�1=(()-*�=-�S=(<.>T�B)S

>�Q>>0�R-=1<?>1�QF�/B>�=
G0>-�=-�(>**>>�=E�/B>�()0

1�=0�GB@?B�/B>�E)?@(@/F�@*�
(=?)/>1"��,=-�R-=1<?>�A>0

>-)/>1�G@/B=</�->A)-1�/=
�*>)*=0*T�)/�(>)*/�&7̀�=E�

*<?B�
R-=1<?/*�E=-�*)(>T�Q)*>1�=

0�>@/B>-�A-=**�)00<)(�*)(>
*�=-�)00<)(�S=(<.>T�B)S>

�Q>>0�R-=1<?>1�QF�/B>�=G
0>-�=-�(>**>>�=E�/B>�()01�

=0�GB@?B�/B>�E)?@(@/F�@*�(=
?)/>1T�)01�)/�(>)*/�)0�)11

@/@=0)(�7$�R>-?>0/�=E�*<?B
�

R-=1<?/*�E=-��*)(>T�Q)*>1�
<R=0�>@/B>-�A-=**�)00<)(

�*)(>*�=-�)00<)(�S=(<.>T�
B)S>�Q>>0�R-=1<?>1�@0�a

)**)?B<*>//*�=0�()01T�=/B
>-�/B)0�/B)/�=0�GB@?B�/B>

�E)?@(@/F�@*�(=?)/>1T�<*>1�E=
-�/B>�R-@.)-F�R<-R=*>�=E

�
?=..>-?@)(�)A-@?<(/<->T�)

W<)?<(/<->T�*@(S@?<(/<->T�B
=-/@?<(/<->�[@0?(<1@0A�/B>

�A-=G@0A�)01�V>>R@0A�=E�0
<-*>-F�*/=?V�)01�/B>�*)(>

�/B>->=E\T�E(=-@?<(/<->�=-�S
@/@?<(/<->T�GB>/B>-�QF�/B>

�=G0>-�=-�(>**>>�=E�/B>�()
01�

=0�GB@?B�/B>�E)?@(@/F�@*�(=
?)/>1�=-�QF�)0=/B>-T�)((�)

*�R-=S@1>1�E=-�<01>-�ab
c�'B"�6$PT�2>?"�!T�)*�).>0

1>1"
'()**�+�)01�'()**�++�E)-.�*

/)01*�*B)((�Q>�(=?)/>1�=0
�)�R-=R>-/F�)�.@0@.<.�=

E�/G=�[&\�)?->*�@0�*@d>�GB
>->�@/�?)0�Q>�1>.=0*/-)/

>1�/B)/�/B>�*)(>�=E�R-=1<
?/*�R-=1<?>1�E-=.�/B>�)A

-@?<(/<-)(�<*>�=E�/B>�R-=R
>-/F�

)00<)((F�A>0>-)/>*�)/�(>)
*/�e#T$$$�R>-�)?->�Q)*>1�

=0�A-=**�*)(>*�1=(()-*T�=-
T�=0�)�R-=R>-/F�)�.@0@.<

.�=E�E@S>�[7\�)?->*�@0�*@d>
"

�J�f�DO � IJ	g	�J�	��
��J�fJ�f�h� ���f	�	��

2<-E)?>�G)/>-�@.R=<01.
>0/T�E(==1�

->/>0/@=0�R=01*T�=-�=/B>
-�*<-E)?>�

G)/>-�*/=-)A>�<*> G)/>-�*/=-)A>�<*>"'=..>-?@)(�R=<(/-F�=-�(@S
>*/=?V�E)-.T�

=-�/B>�-)@*@0A�=E�R>/*�E=-�
A)@0E<(�

R<-R=*>*" 4>*>-S)/@=0T�G@(1(@E>�R->*
>-S>T�=-�

=/B>-�?=0*>-S)/@=0�<*>"
,=-�R-=1<?>�A-=G0�1<-@0

A�̂<0>T�̂<(FT�P<A<*/�_�2>R
/>.Q>-�=E�>S>-F�F>)-T�=-�

1<-@0A�/B>�B)-S>*/�*>)*=0
�=E�/B>�R-@.)-F�?-=R[*\�-)

@*>1�=0�()01�=E�/B>�=G0>
-�=-�(>**>>T�)/�(>)*/�#7̀�=

E�/B>�R-=1<?/*�E=-�*)(>�*B
)((�

Q>�R-=1<?>1�QF�/B>�=G0>
-�=-�(>**>>�=E�/B>�()01�=0

�GB@?B�/B>�E)?@(@/F�@*�(=?)/
>1"��,=-�R-=1<?>�A>0>-)/

>1�G@/B=</�->A)-1�/=�*>)
*=0*T�)/�(>)*/�#7̀�=E�*<?B

�R-=1<?/*�E=-�*)(>T�Q)*>1�
=0�>@/B>-�A-=**�)00<)(�*)

(>*�
=-�)00<)(�S=(<.>T�B)S>�Q

>>0�R-=1<?>1�QF�/B>�=G0
>-�=-�(>**>>�=E�/B>�()01�=

0�GB@?B�/B>�E)?@(@/F�@*�(=?)
/>1T�)01�)/�(>)*/�)0�)11@/

@=0)(�7$�R>-?>0/�=E�*<?B�
R-=1<?/*�E=-�*)(>T�Q)*>1�<

R=0�>@/B>-�A-=**�)00<)(�
*)(>*�=-�)00<)(�S=(<.>T�B

)S>�Q>>0�R-=1<?>1�@0�a)
**)?B<*>//*�=0�()01T�=/B>

-�/B)/�/B)/�=0�GB@?B�/B>�E
)?@(@/F�@*�(=?)/>1T�<*>1�E=-

�/B>�R-@.)-F�R<-R=*>�=E�?
=..>-?@)(�)A-@?<(/<->T�)W

<)?<(/<->T�*@(S@?<(/<->T�
B=-/@?<(/<->�[@0?(<1@0A�/B

>�A-=G@0A�)01�V>>R@0A�=E
�0<-*>-F�*/=?V�)01�/B>�*)

(>�/B>->=E\T�E(=-@?<(/<->�=
-�S@/@?<(/<->T�GB>/B>-�QF�

/B>�=G0>-�=-�(>**>>�=E�/B
>�()01�=0�GB@?B�/B>�E)?@(@

/F�@*�(=?)/>1�=-�QF�)0=/B>
-"�



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
()(*+ ( )(*+,

-.-.-./
-./00

00-./
000

00
102102

()(*++
-.-.-.

-.00
00-.

000
00

102102
+ * (

()(*+*3445
6789:;� <=>:;?

-./-./-./
-./00

00-./
000

00
1-.21-.2

()(**
00-.

-.0-./
-.-.-.

000
00

()(*(3 >86@A;B
@C��DEFGHIGI�JKLMNGO�PQR�ST

SPU�VWWGKLXYG�ZMYGFNGO�P
R�STSP[

00-./
-.0-.

-.-.-.
000

00
\5]B�̂5=C;_]B;6�5̀=̀>a;7�7=>:;? 05Bb5]B;6�5̀=̀>a;7� 7=>:;?

c?̀;>@�8C�A8d�5@e;6]aC;
�9;�8=@e56af;7�=B7;6�@eaC

�C;̀@a5Bg�8�@]5b48Aa:d�7;
@8̀e;7�7];::aBh�17=>:;?2�

Ce8::�e8i;�8B�;?@;6B8:�8>
>;868B̀;�8B7�455@>6aB@�̀

5A>8@a9:;�aB�@;6AC�54�7;
CahB�]a@e�@e5C;�54�CaBh:;�

48Aa:d�
7];::aBhC�aB�@e;�C=665=B7

aBh�B;ahe956e557)��jB�8::�
7aC@6à@Cg�@e;�->;̀a8:�.;6A

a@�k68B@aBh�3=@e56a@d�56�.
;6Aa@�k68B@aBh�l5867g�8C

�8>>:à89:;g�Ce8::�8>>:d�@e
;��>65iaCa5BC�54�-;̀@a5BC�

()*,m,�8B7�()*,m+�@5�8Bd
�

5̀BC@6=̀@a5Bg�6;B5i8@a5Bg�
56�;?>8BCa5B�6;C=:@aBh�aB

�@e;�̀6;8@a5B�54�8�B;]�@]
5b48Aa:d�7;@8̀e;7�7];::a

Bh�56�@e;�877a@a5B�54�8�CaB
h:;�B;]�7];::aBh�=Ba@�@5�8

B�;?aC@aBh�CaBh:;�48Aa:d�6;
Ca7;B̀;�C=̀e�@e8@�8�@]5b

48Aa:d�7;@8̀e;7�7];::aBh
�17=>:;?2�aC�̀6;8@;7)

3�A8B8h;A;B@�>:8Bg�8C�7
;4aB;7�aB�@;6AC�54�456A�8

B7�̀5B@;B@�aB �@e;�/=:;C�8
B7�/;h=:8@a5BC�875>@;7�9

d�@e;�.;6Aa@�k68B@aBh�l5
867�56�->;̀a8:�.;6Aa@�k68

B@aBh�3=@e56a@dg�Ce8::�9;�a
B̀:=7;7�8C�8B�aB@;h68:�>8

6@�54�
8Bd�8>>:à8@a5B�A87;�=B

7;6�@eaC�C;̀@a5B)��3::�7aA;
BCa5B8:�6;h=:8@a5BC�aB�36@

à:;�n�Ce8::�9;�59C;6i;7�)�
�jB�8::�7aC@6à@Cg�@e;�.;6Aa

@�k68B@aBh�l5867�56�->;̀
a8:�.;6Aa@�k68B@aBh�3=@e5

6a@d�Ce8::�8>>:d�@e;�>65iaC
a5BC�

54�-;̀@a5BC�()*,m,�8B7�()
*,m+�@5�8Bd�̀5BC@6=̀@a5B

g�6;B5i8@a5Bg�56�;?>8BCa5
B�6;C=:@aBh�aB�@e;�̀6;8@a5B

�54�B;]�7];::aBh�=Ba@C�=B
7;6�@eaC�C;̀@a5B)

\e;�9=a:7aBh1C2�Ce8::�9;�̀5
BB;̀@;7�]a@e�@e;�>=9:à�C

;];6�CdC@;A�>6a56�@5�5̀
=̀>8B̀dg�8B7�a@C�:5@g�a4�aB�8

�/;Ca7;B̀;�<aC@6à@g�Ce8::�
48::�]a@eaB�5B;�54�@e;�45::

5]aBh�86;8Co��+2�86;8C�̀:5
C;�@5�e;8ia:d�@68i;:;7�C@6

;;@Cg�
*2�86;8C�̀:5C;�@5�9=CaB;CC

g�̀5AA;6̀a8:g�8B7�;7=̀8@
a5B8:�7aC@6à@Cg�56�(2�86;8C

�8:6;87d�7;i;:5>;7�456�A
=:@ab48Aa:d�=C;)

c8̀e�9=a:7aBh�Ce8::�9;�C;>
868@;7�465A�5@e;6�C=̀e�9

=a:7aBhC�9d�8�AaBaA=A�54
�@];B@d�1*,2�4;;@g�8B7�e8

i;�B5�A56;�@e8B�@;B�1+,2
�7];::aBh�=Ba@C)

3B�84456789:;�7=>:;?�Ce8
::�9;�7;4aB;7�8C�8�@]5�48A

a:d�7;@8̀e;7�7];::aBh�aB�]
eàe�8@�:;8C@�5B;�1+2�=Ba@�

Ce8::�9;�84456789:;�aB�>;6
>;@=a@d�56�@5�@e;�h6;8@;C@

�;?@;B@�8::5];7�9d�:8]p�8
B7�;:aha9:;�@5�9;�̀5=B@;7

�5B�
@e;�q5AA5B];8:@erC�m,l

�-=9Ca7af;7�̂5=CaBh�jBi;B
@56d�1-̂j2�=B7;6�@e;�>65i

aCa5BC�54�sn,�qt/�u,),(�1
*2�182�8B7�192�8C�8A;B7;7

)��34456789:;�=Ba@C�8C�7;C̀
6a9;7�895i;�B;;7�B5@�9;�

5]B;6b5̀=̀>a;7)
jB�@e;�/bk�8B7�/bvq�<aC@6

à@Cg�8�->;̀a8:�.;6Aa@�h68B
@;7�=B7;6�@eaC�C;̀@a5B�Ce

8::�:8>C;�=>5B�8Bd�̀e8Bh;
�aB�5]B;6Cea>�54�@e;�C=9w

;̀@�>65>;6@dg�8B7�@e;�->;̀
a8:�.;6Aa@�k68B@aBh�3=@e5

6a@d�
A8d�aA>5C;�8�6;ia;]�54�̀

5A>:a8B̀;�]a@e�C>;̀a8:�.
;6Aa@�̀5B7a@a5BC�8@�C=̀e�

aB@;6i8:C�8C�a@�7;;AC�6;8C
5B89:;)

3�A8B8h;A;B@�>:8B�8C�7
;4aB;7�aB�@e;�/=:;C�8B7�/

;h=:8@a5BC�875>@;7�9d�@e
;�->;̀a8:�.;6Aa@�k68B@aBh

�3=@e56a@dg�Ce8::�9;�aB̀:=7
;7�8C�8B�aB@;h68:�>86@�54�8

Bd�8>>:à8@a5B)��3:C5�aB̀:=
7;7�eC8::�

9;�8�/;C>5BC;�.:8B�7;C̀6
a9aBh�@e;�̀5B̀6;@;�C@;>C�@

5�9;�@8x;B�9d�@e;�>65>;6
@d�5]B;6�56�A8B8h;A;B

@�aB�6;C>5BC;�@5�̀5A>:8aB
@C�895=@�@e;�5>;68@a5B�54

�@e;�=C;�56�@e;�̀5B7=̀@�5
4�@e;�

@;B8B@C) \e;�Ca@;�56�:5@�=>5B�]eà
e�5B;�56�A56;�8>86@A;B

@�9=a:7aBhC�86;�>65>5C;7�
Ce8::�9;�:5̀8@;7o�+2�̀: 5C;�

@5�8�e;8ia:d�@68i;:;7�C@6;
;@�56�C@6;;@Cg�*2�̀:5C;�@5�8

�9=CaB;CCg�̀5AA;6̀a8:�56
�;7=̀8@a5B8:�7aC@6à@g�56�(

2�aB�
8B�86;8�8:6;87d�7;i;:5>;

7�456�A=:@ab48Aa:d�=C;)

ye;6;�@e;�@]5�7];::aBh�
=Ba@C�86;�8668Bh;7�Ca7;�9

d�Ca7;g�C8a7�=Ba@C�Ce8::�;a@
e;6o��+2�Ce86;�8�CahBa4à8B

@�>56@a5B�54�8@�:;8C@�5B;�̀
5AA5B�]8::�56�4:556�89=

@@aBh�e89a@89:;�C>8̀;g�56�
*2�@e;�C>8̀;g�56�*2�@e;�->

;̀a8:�
.;6Aa@�k68B@aBh�3=@e56a@

d�56�.;6Aa@�k68B@aBh�l58
67g�8C�8>>:à89:;g�A8d�8::5

]�8�7=>:;?�]e;6;�@e;�@]
5�=Ba@C�75�B5@�Ce86;�8�̀5

AA5B�]8::�89=@@aBh�e89a
@89:;�C>8̀;�9=@�86;�aBC@;

87�̀5BB;̀@;7�C@6=̀@=68::d
�8B7�

5̀B@aB=5=C:d�9d�8�Ce86;7�4
5=B78@a5Bg�]8::C�8B7�655

4)��\e;�->;̀a8:�.;6Aa@�k68
B@aBh�3=@e56a@d�56�.;6Aa@

�k68B@aBh�l5867�A8d�A8x
;�C=̀e�8B�8::5]8B̀;�5B:d

�=>5B�8�7;@;6AaB8@a5B�@e
8@�@e;�7;CahB�54�@e;�

>65>5C;7�7=>:;?�aC�̀5A>
8@a9:;�]a@e�@e;�86̀ea@;̀@=

6;�8B7�9=a:7aBh�8B7�Ca@;�:8
d5=@�54�5@e;6�6;Ca7;B@a8:�

9=a:7aBhC�aB�@e;�C=665=B7
aBh�B;ahe956e557)

c8̀e�9=a:7aBh�Ce8::�e8i;�B
5�4;];6�@e8B�(g�B56�A56;

�@e8B�*m�7 ];::aBh�=Ba@C)��c
8̀e�9=a:7aBh�Ce8::�9;�̀5BB

;̀@;7�@5�@e;�>=9:à�C;];6
�CdC@;A�>6a56�@5�5̀=̀>8B̀

d)�<aA;BCa5B8:�6;h=:8@a5B
C�aB�36@à:;�n�Ce8::�9;�

59C;6i;7)��jB�877a@a5Bg�@e
;�45::5]aBh�6;z=a6;A;B@C

�Ce8::�8>>:do

{56�8�B5Bb5]B;6�5̀=̀>a;
7�7=>:;?g�5B;�1+2�56�95@e

�7];::aBh�=Ba@C�86;�6;B@;7
�8B7�B;a@e;6�=Ba@�C;6i;C�8

C�@e;�>6aB̀a>8:�6;Ca7;B̀;�
54�5B;�56�A56;�5]B;61C2

�54�@e;�>65>;6@d)��05�7];
::aBh�=Ba@�=B7;6�@eaC�=C;�

8̀@;h56d�A8d�9;�5̀=̀>a;7
�9d�8�@5@8:�54�A56;�@e8B�4

5=6�1m2�=B6;:8@;7�>;6C5BC
)

c8̀e�B5Bb5]B;6b5̀=̀>a;
7�7=> :;?�aB�8�̀:=C@;6�C=97

aiaCa5B�Ce8::�6;z=a6;�8�->;̀
a8:�.;6Aa@�aB�8::�f5BaBh�7aC

@6à@C)

\]5�48Aa:d� 7;@8̀e;7�7];::aBh� 17=>:;?2
\e;�->;̀a8:�.;6Aa@�k68B@

aBh�3=@e56a@d�Ce8::�6;z=a6
;�@e;�5Bh5aBh�C;6ià;C�54

�8�z=8:a4a;7�>654;CC a5B8:�A
8B8h;A;B@�̀5A>8Bdg�@e;

�>6;C;B̀;�54�8B�5BbCa@;�A
8B8h;6g�56�CaAa:86�>65iaCa

5BC�456�>65>;6�A8B8h;A
;B@�

54�@e;�6;B@8:�=C;�8C�8�̀5B
7a@a5B�54�8>>65i8:)

{56�8B�5]B;6�5̀=̀>a;7�7
=>:;?g�5B;�1+2�56�95@e�54�

@e;�7];::aBh�=Ba@C�C;6i;�8
C�@e;�>6aB̀a>8:�6;Ca7;B̀;�

54�5B;�56�A56;�5]B;61C2
�54�@e;�>65>;6@d)

08A;1C2�8B7�̀5B@8̀ @�aB45
6A8@a5B�Ce8::�9;�>65ia7;7

�456�@e;�5]B;6g�8Bd�6;C>5
BCa9:;�6;B@8:�>65>;6@d�A8

B8h;A;B@�;B@a@dg�8B7�8@�
:;8C@�5B;�5BbCa@;�6;Ca7;B

@)



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	�� ()* +), +)-. +)/
012

304
21253 2 12530�678

9:;:9<8=>� ?@>==:AB�
6C6C6C

6C/6C
6C6C6C

///
//

D/ED/E
F 5 2 3 G H I J KL99M=�6:9>N(><O� P<O9Q�R>O�S=TTO� 5�UV1 5�UV1 /T�WTO>�VX<A�G04�TU�VX>

�VTV<=�A7W8>O�TU�9@>==:AB
�7A:VQ�QX<==�8>�TU�<AY�TA>

�Q:Z>�D:1>1�[�TU�8> 9OTTWQE
1��STO�ROT\>]VQ�:A�@X:]X�<=

=�9@>==:AB�7A:VQ�ROT;:9>9̂
�TVX>O�VX<A�VXTQ>�T]]7R:>

9�8Y�O>Q:9>AV�W<A<B>ODQÊ
�<O>�

LUUTO9<8=>�DQ>>�LOV:]=>�F5̂
�?>U:A:V:TAQÊ�VX>�C>OW:V�

*O<AV:AB�+T<O9�TO�6R>]:<
=�C>OW:V�*O<AV:AB�L7VXTO

:VY�<7VXTO:Z>9�VT�<]V�7A9
>O�VX>�<RR=:]<8=>�Q>]V:TA�

TU�VX>�+Y=<@�UTO�VX:Q�7Q>�
W<Y�@<:;>�TO�WT9:UY�VX:Q

�
O>_7:O>W>AV1�L�W<A<B>W

>AV�R=<Â�<Q�9>U:A>9�:A�V>
OWQ�TU�UTOW�<A9�]TAV>AV

�:A�VX>�O7=>Q�<A9�(>B7=<V:
TAQ�<9TRV>9�8Y�VX>�C>OW

:V�*O<AV:AB�+T<O9�TO�6R>]
:<=�C>OW:V�*O<AV:AB�L7VXT

O:VY�QX<==�8>�:A]=79>9�<Q�<
A�

:AV>BO<=�R<OV�TU�<AY�<RR=:
]<V:TA�7A9>O�VX:Q�Q>]V:TA

1��̀A�<==�9:QVO:]VQ̂�VX>�C>OW
:V�*O<AV:AB�+T<O9�TO�6R>]

:<=�C>OW:V�*O<AV:AB�L7VXT
O:VY�QX<==�<RR=Y�VX>�ROT;:Q

:TAQ�TU�6>]V:TAQ�215030�<
A9�21503F�VT�<AY�

]TAQVO7]V:TÂ�O>AT;<V:TÂ
�TO�>aR<AQ:TA�O>Q7=V:AB�:A

�VX>�]O><V:TA�TU�A>@�9@>
==:AB�7A:VQ�7A9>O�VX:Q�Q>]V

:TA1
?:QVO:]V 6R>]:U:]<==Y�>a]=79>9�UOTW

�VX:Q�9>U:A:V:TA�<O>�VXTQ>�
<O><Q�9>;TV>9�VT�R<Ob:AB̂

�<]]>QQ̂�<A9�Q>O;:]>�9O:;>
Q1

5�UV1 5�UV1
c:A:W7W�,<A9Q]<R>�TO� /<V7O<=�dR>A�6R<]>

S=TTO�LO><�(<V:T

F̂000�Q_1�UV1 5̂000�Q_1�UV1

6789:;:9<8=>N.TA;>OV>9�
?@>==:ABQ D6>>�?>U:A:V:TA�7A9>O�LOV

:]=>�F5E

()/ ()d̂�(),?L�Q789:;:9<8=>�9@>==:AB�Q
X<==�8>�]TAA>]V>9�VT�VX>�

R78=:]�Q>@>O1��eT@>;>Ô�
VX>�6R>]:<=�C>OW:V�*O<AV:

AB�L7VXTO:VY�W<Y�<7VXTO
:Z>�VX>�]TAQVO7]V:TA�TU�<�

V@T)U<W:=Y�Q789:;:9<8=>�9
@>==:AB�TA�

<�=TV�Q>O;:]>9�8Y�<�Q>RV:]�
QYQV>W�<RROT;>9�8Y�VX>�+

T<O9�TU�e><=VX�UTO�Q7]X�<
�9@>==:AB1

L�W<A<B>W>AV�R=<A� <Q�9
>U:A>9�:A�VX>�<RR=:]<8=>�O

>B7=<V:TAQ�:QQ7>9�8Y�VX>�
6R>]:<=�C>OW:V�*O<AV:AB�L

7VXTO:VY�QX<==�8>�:A]=79>9
�<Q�<A�:AV>BO<=�R<OV�TU�<AY

�<RR=:]<V:TA�7A9>O�VX:Q�Q>
]V:TA1��

fX>�W<A<B>W>AV�R=<A�QX
<==�8>�Q78\>]V�VT�O>;:>@�<

A9�O><RROT;<=�<V�<�R78=:]
�X><O:AB�X>=9�8Y�Q<:9�L7V

XTO:VY�RO:TO�VT�VX>�:QQ7<A
]>�TU�<�87:=9:AB�R>OW:V�VT

�:A]O><Q>�VX>�A7W8>O�TU�9
@>==:AB�

7A:VQ�@:VX:A�<�Q789:;:9<8
=>�9@>==:AB̂�@X:]X�O>;:>@

�QX<==�8>�W<9>�<�]TA9:V:T
A�TU�<AY�6R>]:<=�C>OW:V�:Q

Q7>9�7A9>O�VX:Q�Q>]V:TA1��
fX>�QT=>�R7ORTQ>�TU�Q<:9�

O>;:>@�QX<==�8>�VX>�]TAQ:
9>O<V:TA�

TU�<AY�]X<AB>Q�:A�]:O]7W
QV<A]>Q�R>OV:A>AV�VT�Q<:9

�W<A<B>W>AV�R=<A�VX<V�X
<;>�T]]7OO>9�UOTW�VX>�V:W

>�TU�:QQ7<A]>�TU�VX>�6R>]
:<=�C>OW:V�TO�<AY�Q78Q>_7

>AV�O>;:>@�R7OQ7<AV�VT�VX
:Q�

O>_7:O>W>AV̂�<A9�VX>�>aV
>AV�VT�@X:]X�VX>�W<A<B>

W>AV�R=<A�QXT7=9�8>�WT9
:U:>9�<Q�<�O>Q7=V1��/TV:]>�T

U�X><O:AB�QX<==�8>�ROT;:9>
9�:A�<]]TO9<A]>�@:VX�c<

QQ1�*>A1�,<@Q̂�.X<RV>O�30
L1����̀A�

<99:V:TA�VT�Q7]X�ATV:]>̂�R
<OV:>Q�:A�:AV>O>QV�<Q�9>U:A

>9�:A�.X<RV>O�30L�QX<==�8
>�ROT;:9>9�@:VX�<�Q7WW<

OY�TU�VX>�<RROT;>9�W<A<
B>W>AV�R=<A�VX>A�:A�>UU>

]V�<A9�<AY�]X<AB>Q�ROTRT
Q>9�

VX>O>VT1 �L�=<A9Q]<R>�R=<A�<RROTR
O:<V>�UTO�VX>�ROT\>]V�QX<==

�8>�:A]=79>9�:A�VX>�<RR=:]
<V:TA1

/dfgh�ic:A:W7W�,<A9Q]
<R>9�TO�/<V7O<=�dR>A�6R

<]>i�QX<==�:A]=79>�D<E�VXT
Q>�RTOV:TAQ�TU�VX>�=TV�9>;

TV>9�VT�R=<AV:ABQ̂�:A]=79:
AB�=<@AQ�<A9�BO<QQ�<O><Q

�D8E�@TT9>9�=<A9̂�<A9�R>
9>QVO:<A)TO:>AV>9�R<;>9�

TO�
7AR<;>9�<O><Q�9>;TV>9�V

T�QT]:<=�TO�O>]O><V:TA<=�7
Q>�:A�]TWWTA�8Y�VX>�O>Q:

9>AVQ�TU�VX>�87:=9:AB�TO�]
TWR=>a�ROT;:9>9�VX<V�Q7]

X�<O><Q�<O>�b>RV�>QQ>AV:<
==Y�TR>A�VT�VX>�T7V)TU)9T

TOQ�<A9�<O>�<V�BOT7A9�=>;
>=1

fX:Q�7Q>�QX<==�ATV�8>�R>OW
:VV>9�:A�VX>�L_7:U>O�(>]X<

OB>�COTV>]V:TA�DL(CE�TO�j
<V>OQX>9�COTV>]V:TA�DjC

E�T;>O=<Y�9:QVO:]VQ1
6789:;:9<8=>�9@>==:ABQ�:A

�VX>�()d̂�(),?̂�<A9�()/�9
:QVO:]VQ�QX<==�ROT;:9>�VX>�U

T==T@:A B�W:A:W7W�<O><Q
�TU�7Q<8=>�TR>A�QR<]>�R>

O�9@>==:AB�7A:V�TA�VX>�Q<W
>�=TV�<Q�Q<:9�9@>==:AB�7A:V

Q̂�UTO�VX>�
7Q>�TU�T]]7R<AVQhL�Q789:;:9<8=>�9@>==:AB�Q

X<==�W>>V�<==�ZTA:AB�O>_7
:O>W>AVQ�<RR=:]<8=>�VT�<�

W7=V:)U<W:=Y�9@>==:AB�TU�V
X>�W<a:W7W�A7W8>O�TU�

7A:VQ�<==T@>9�7A9>O�VX>�6
R>]:<=�C>OW:V1��L==�O>_7:O>

W>AVQ�TU�
f<8=>�2�D?:W>AQ:TA<=�(>B

7=<V:TAQE��TU�LOV:]=>�H�<A9
�R<Ob:AB�O>_7:O>W>AVQ�:A�

LOV:]=>�I�QX<==�8>�W>V�<V�V
X>�V:W>�TU�]TAQVO7]V:TA1

L�Q789:;:9<8=>�9@>==:AB�Q
X<==�]TAV<:A�ROT;:Q:TAQ�UT

O�<�QR>]:U:>9�A7W8>O�TU�9
@>==:AB�7A:VQ�ATV�VT�>a]>>

9�VXO>>�:A�<]]TO9<A]>�@:
VX�<�6R>]:<=�C>OW:V�:QQ7>9

�RO:TO�VT�:VQ�7Q>�<Q�WTO>�V
X<A�<�

Q:AB=>�U<W:=Y�9@>==:AB1��fX
>�VTV<=�A7W8>O�TU�9@>==:A

B�7A:VQ�<V�<AY�B:;>A�V:W>�
W<Y�8>�U>@>O�VX<Â�87V�Q

X<==�A>;>O�>a]>>9�VX>�W<
a:W7W�A7W8>O�<==T@>9�7

A9>O�VX>�6R>]:<=�C>OW:V1
LV�=><QV�TA>�TU�VX>�9@>==:

AB�7A:VQ�QX<==�8>�<A9�QX<=
=�O>W<:A�T@A>O)T]]7R:>9̂

�@X:]X�O>_7:O>W>AV�QX<==
�8>�W<9>�<�]TA9:V:TA�TU�<

AY�6R>]:<=�C>OW:V�:QQ7>9�
7A9>O�VX:Q�Q>]V:TA1

CO:TO��VT�:QQ7:AB�<�6R>]:<=
�C>OW:V�UTO�VX:Q�7Q>�:A�VX>

�+)*̂�+),̂�+)-.̂�<A9�+)/�9
:QVO:]VQ̂�VX>�6R>]:<=�C>OW

:V�*O<AV:AB�L7VXTO:VY�QX<
==�U:A9�VX<V�VX>�ROTRTQ>9�

W7=V:R=>�9@>==:AB�7Q>�<A9
�VX>�ATA)

O>Q:9>AV:<=�7Q>Q̂�8TVX�>a:
QV:AB�<A9�R>OW:VV>9̂�:A�VX

>�9:QVO:]V�@:==�8>�W7V7<==Y
�]TWR<V:8=>1



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	�� () ((
*+*,-(./0

123425� 6728890:�
;<;<;<

;<=;<>
;<;<;<

===
==

?=@?=@
( , * - A B+� C+� D+� 5+� 2+� E FG�D/0123425�5728890:�HI2

�JBK�901/812�4L2�D/0123I
9/0�/M�/02�/3�J/32�I43HD4

H32I�/0�B�:9120�N3/N234K�
CH4�ILB88�0/4�32IH84�90�B�4/

4B8�0HJC23�/M�5728890:�H0
94I�/0�4L2�8/4�2OD22590:�7

LB4�
7/H85�/4L2379I2�C2�B88/7

25�H0523�4L2�N3/19I9/0I�/
M�PBC82�*Q�69J20I9/0B8�>2

:H8B49/0IQ�M/3�4L2�R/090:�
59I439D4?I@�90�SH2I49/0+��TH

34L23Q�4L2�4/4B8�0HJC23�/
M�5728890:�H094I�/0�B�:912

0�
N3/N234K�ILB88�0/4�2OD225

�-�90�4L2�>UVQ�>UW.Q�>X=Q�>
XYQ�B05�>XZ6�59I439D4I�B05

�ILB88��0/4�2OD225�E�90�4L2
�[XVQ�[UZ�B05�[XW.�59I439D

4I+��./0123I9/0�90�4L2�GSH
9M23�>2DLB3:2�<3/42D49/0�

?G><@�
/3�\B423IL25�<3/42D49/0

�?\<@�/1238BK�59I439D4I�IL
B88�0/4�C2�N23J94425+

G0�2O9I490:�32I9520D2Q�B�I
43HD4H32�B44BDL25�4/�B0�2

O9I490:�32I9520D2Q�/3�B�52
4BDL25�I43HD4H32Q��JBK�C2

�D/0123425�904/�B�5728890
:�H094�/3�H094I�N3/19525�B

88�/4L23�R/090:�32SH932J2
04I�

7L9DL�7/H85��BNN8K�4/�D/
0123425�5728890:I�B32�J2

4+
?;22�62M90949/0�H0523�G34

9D82�(,@

PL2�N3/N/I25�D/0123 I9/0
�ILB88�C2�IH94BC8K�8/DB425�

90�4L2�029:LC/3L//5�90�7
L9DL�94�9I�N3/N/I25Q�BI�52

2J25�BNN3/N39B42�CK�4L2
�;N2D9B8�<23J94�V3B0490:�

GH4L/394K+��PL2�D/0123I9/
0Q�9M�90�B�

32I952049B8�59I439D4Q�ILB88�2
94L23]��B@�C2�8/DB425�90�B0

�B32B�4LB4�9I�D8/I2�4/�L2B1
98K�43B12825�I43224IQ�D8/I2

�4/�CHI902IIQ�D/JJ23D9B8
�B05�25HDB49/0B8�59I439D4I

Q�/3�B832B5K�52128/N25�M/
3�JH849U

MBJ98K�HI2�B05�ILB88�32SH
932�/7023U/DDHNB0DK�/3�B

�>2I95204�̂B0B:23�?I22�5
2M90949/0@�90�/02�/M�4L2�H0

94I_�/3�C@��C2�M3/J�/02�4/
�47/�H094IQ�/02��H094�/M�7

L9DL�ILB88�C2�B05�ILB88�32J
B90�

/7023U/DDHN925Q�B�32SH93
2J204�7L9DL�ILB88�C2�JB

52�B�D/05949/0�/M�B0K�;N2
D9B8�<23J94�9IIH25�90�IHDL

�B0�90I4B0D2+
PL2�5728890:�H094I�ILB88�C

2�D/002D425�4/�4L2�NHC89D
�I2723+�̀/72123Q�4L2�;N2

D9B8�<23J94�V3B0490:�GH4L
/394K�JBK�BH4L/39R2Q�794L

�4L2�BNN3/1B8�/M�4L2�[/B3
5�/M�̀2B84LQ�4L2�D/0123I9/

0�/M�B�
I43HD4H32�4/�B88/7�B0�90D3

2BI2�M3/J�/02�5728890:�H
094�4/�47/�5728890:�H094I�

/0�B�8/4�I2319D25�CK�B�I2N
49D�IKI42J+

PL2�D/0123I9/0�9I�N325/J
90B048K�4L2�32IH84�/M�IHI4B

90BC82�D/0I43HD49/0�N3BD4
9D2IQ�90D8H590:�CH4�0/4�89J

9425�4/�I9:09M9DB04�9JN3/1
2J204I�90�2023:K�2MM9D920

DKQ�3242049/0�/3�32HI2�/M�
I9:09M9DB04�BJ/H04I�/M�2O

9I490:�I43HD4H3B8�J2JC23
I�B05�B3DL942D4H3B8�282J2

04IQ�B05�I/8B3�/39204B49/0
�B05�52I9:0+

aM�4L2�D/0123I9/0�9I�N3/N/
I25�M/3�/02�/3�J/32�L9I4/

39D�CH98590:I�7L9DL�B32]��(
@�/0�B�N3/N234K�8 9I425�/0Q

�/3�,@�794L90�B32B�89I425�/
0Q�/3�*@�B32�289:9C82�M/3�89I

490:�/0�4L2�=B49/0B8�
>2:9I423�/M�̀9I4/39D�<8BD2

IQ�/3�-@�LB12�C220�52423J
9025�CK�4L2�̀9I4/39DB8�./J

J9II9/0�4/�C2�L9I4/39DB88K
�I9:09M9DB04�H0523�;2D49/0

�(*+-�/M�4L9I�[K8B7Q�4L20�
4L2�N3/N/I25�D/0123I9/0

�
/M�L9I4/39D�N/349/0I�/M�4L2

�CH98590:?I@�90�SH2I49/0�IL
B88�D/0M/3J�4/�4L2�=B49/0

B8�<B3b�;2319D2�I4B05B35I
�B05�:H9528902I�M/3�32LBC

9894B49/0�/M�B0�L9I4/39D�CH9
8590:+

<3/19525�B88�/4L23�32SH932
J204I�B32�J24Q�B�IHC5919

5BC82�5728890:�ILB88�C2�28
9:9C82�M/3�IHCI2SH204�N3/

D22590:I�90�BDD/35B0D2�7
94L�;2D49/0�*+*,-(�?./012

3425�6728890:@�/M�4L9I�CK8B
7+

T/3�B�IHC59195BC82�572889
0:�N3/N/I25�/0�B�8/4�794L

90�B�62M9094912�;HC5919I9/0
�<8B0Q�/3�/0�B�;HC5919I9/0

�GNN3/1B8�=/4�>2SH9325�8/
4Q�4L2�;N2D9B8�<23J94�V3B0

490:�GH4L/394K�ILB88�C2�4L
2�

<8B0090:�[/B35+��T/3�B88�/
4L23�IHC59195BC82�5728890

:IQ�4L2�;N2D9B8�<23J94�V3B
0490:�GH4L/394K�ILB88�C2�4

L2�c/090:�[/B35�/M�GNN2
B8I+

a0�4L2�[XZQ�[XW.�B05�[U=�
59I439D4IQ�4L2�;N2D9B8�<23J

94�V3B0490:�GH4L/394K� ILB
88�9IIH2�B�;N2D9B8�<23J94�90

�BDD/35B0D2�794L�4L2�N3/
19I9/0I�/M�4L9I�I2D49/0�/0

8K�BM423�M90590:�4LB4�4L2�D
/0123425�

5728890:�HI2�7/H85�C2�J
H4HB88K�D/JNB49C82�794L�2

O9I490:�HI2I�B05�I43HD4H32
IQ�B05�794L�HI2I�B05�I43H

D4H32I�N23J94425�/0�B5dB
D204�NB3D28I+

PL232�ILB88�C2�0/�I9:09M9D
B04�DLB0:2�90�4L2�2O4239/

3�/M�4L2�CH98590:Q�2OD2N4�4
LB4�4L2�;N2D9B8�<23J94�V3

B0490:�GH4L/394K�/3�<23J
94�V3B0490:�[/B35�JBK�BH

4L/39R2�J/59M9DB49/0�/3�B
8423B49/0�

/M�B�CH98590:�9M�IHDL�J/59
M9DB49/0�/3�B8423B49/0�5/2

I�0/4�IHCI4B049B88K�DLB0:
2�4L2�CH98590:eI�DLB3BD423

�/3�94I�2MM2D4�/0�4L2�029:L
C/3L//5�/3�/0�N3/N234K�9

0�4L2�19D9094K+����
./0123I9/0�JBK�901/812�B

0�204932�32I952049B8�I43HD4
H32Q�2OD2N4�4LB4�0/�J/32

�4LB0�47204K�N23D204�?,)
f@�/M�4L2�:3/II�ISHB32�M/

/4B:2�/M�32IH8490:�LBC94BC
82�INBD2�90�B0K�D/0123425

�
5728890:�HI2Q�7L24L23�90�

/02�/3�J/32�CH98590:IQ�J
BK�32IH84�M3/J�027�CH9859

0:�M//4N3904�BI�7288�BI�52
J/8949/0�B05�IHCI2SH204

�32D/0I43HD49/0�/M�B0�2O9I
490:�I43HD4H32Q�90D8H590:�I

43HD4H3B8�
282J204I�/3�M/H05B49/0+�

�G0�2OD2N49/0�ILB88�C2�4LB
4�HN�4/�M/34K�N23D204�?-)f

@�/M�:3/II�ISHB32�M//4B:2
�/M�32IH8490:�LBC94BC82�IN

BD2�JBK�C2�N23J94425Q�90
D8H590:�0/�J/32�4LB0�,)f

�/M�027�
CH98590:�M//4N3904�794L�4L

2�32JB90523�C290:�4L2�32
IH84�/M�52J/8949/0�B05�32

D/0I43HD49/0�794L�IB81B:2
5�B05�027�CH98590:�JB42

39B8IQ�7L20�94�9I�52423J90
25�CK�4L2�;N2D9B8�<23J94�

V3B0490:�
GH4L/394K�/3�<23J94�:3B0

490:�[/B35�4LB4�47/�?,@�/
3�J/32�/M�4L2�M/88/790:�D

394239B�B32�J24]
gOD2N4�BI�L23290BM423�N3/

19525Q�0/�D/0123425�572
8890:�HI2�ILB88�901/812�4L2

�52J/8949/0�B05�32J/1B8
�/M�B0�2O9I490:�I43HD4H32�N

3/N/I25�M/3�D/0123I9/0+
PL2�D/0123I9/0�B5532II2

I�H3:204�B05�D/JN28890:�9
IIH2I�/M�NHC89D�IBM24K� /3�L

2B84L+
PL2�D/0123I9/0�32IH84I�90

�4L2�D32B49/0�/M�B�J909JH
J�/M�/02�?(@�5728890:�H09

4�4LB4�9I�MH88K�LB059DBNN2
5�BDD2II9C82�H0523�4L2�N3

/19I9/0I�/M�4L2�GG[�B05�G
6G+

PL2�D/0123I9/0�32IH84I�90
�4L2�D32B49/0�/M �B�J909JH

J�/M�/02�?(@�5728890:�H09
4�N23JB02048K�BMM/35BC82

�H0523�4L2�N3/19I9/0I�/M�;
2D49/0I�(A+(,�/3�(A+(*Q�B0

5�9I�289:9C82�4/�C2�D/H0425
�

/0�4L2�./JJ/072B84LhI
�-)[�;HCI959R25�̀/HI90:�

a01204/3K�?;̀a@�H0523�4L2
�N3/19I9/0I�/M�FE)�.̂>�A

)+)*�?,@�?B@�B05�?C@�BI�BJ
20525+



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	�� ( ) *+ ** *,
-.-,/

0012
00123

123123123
12300

00
-.-,4

000
01230

000
000

00
-.-,5 - .-,5.+678

9:�7;�<789:
000

0012
121212

1200
00

=>9�1?9@AB:�29;CA8�D;BE8
AEF�GH8>7;A8I�CBI�C7JAKI

�8>9�JAC9ELA7EB:�;9MHA;9C
9E8L�7K�=BN:9�-O�87O�7E9�8A

C9�7E:I�K7;�BEI�?B;@9:O�B
::7P�B�@7EQ9;LA7E�HEJ9;�1

9@8A7E�-.-,R*�8>B8�P7H:J
�BJJ�

7E9�S*T�BJJA8A7EB:�HEA8O��7
E:I�AK�A8�KAEJL�8>9�C7JAKA@B

8A7E�P7H:J�N9�AE�B@@7;JB
E@9�PA8>�8>9�?;7QALA7EL�7

K�19@8A7E�).,,.��UE�8>7L9�V
7EAEF�JAL8;A@8L�P>9;9�8P7

�KBCA:I�J98B@>9J�SJH?:9W
T�

JP9::AEFL�B;9�E78�?9;CA88
9JO�@7EQ9;LA7E�7K�B�E7EX@

7EK7;CAEF�LAEF:9�KBCA:I�J
98B@>9J�JP9::AEF�CBI�;9L

H:8�AE�8P7�S,T�7;�C7;9�JP
9::AEF�HEA8L�HEJ9;�8>9�B??

:A@BN:9�?9;CA8.

=>9�NHA:JAEF�L>B::�N9�@7E
E9@89J�PA8>�8>9�?HN:A@�L9

P9;�LIL89C�?;A7;�87�7@@H
?BE@I.��U8L�:78O�AK�AE�B�;9LAJ

9E@9�JAL8;A@8O�L>B::�KB::�PA
8>AE�7E9�7K�8>9�K7::7PAEF

�B;9BLY�B;9BL�@:7L9�87�>9B
QA:I�8;BQ9:9J�L8;998LZ�B;9B

L�
@:7L9�87�NHLAE9LLO�@7CC9

;@AB:�BEJ�9JH@B8A7EB:�JAL8
;A@8LZ�B;9BL�B:;9BJI�J9Q9:

7?9J�K7;�CH:8AKBCA:I�HL9.
�

G;9BL�@:7L9�87�>9BQA:I�8;B
Q9:9J�L8;998LZ�B;9BL�@:7L9

�87�NHLAE9LLO�@7CC9;@AB:
O�BEJ�9JH@B8A7EB:�JAL8;A@8

LZ�B;9BL�B:;9BJI�J9Q9:7?9
J�K7;�CH:8AKBCA:I�HL9.

07�J98B@>9J�L8;H@8H;9�L>
B::�N9�@7EQ9;89J�HEJ9;�8>

9�?;7QALA7EL�7K�19@8A7E�-.
-,R*�HE:9LL�A8�BNAJ9L�NI�8

>9�?;7QALA7EL�7K�[7EJA8A7
E�/.�BN7Q9�BEJ�H?7E�@7C

?:98A7E�?;7QAJ9L�B8�:9BL8�
-/+�

LMHB;9�K998�7K�>BNA8BN:9�L
?B@9.��[7EQ9;LA7E�7K�B�J9

8B@>9J�L8;H@8H;9�B:7E9�C
BI�MHB:AKI�BL�B�LH??:9C9E

8B:�J98B@>9J�JP9::AEF�HEA
8�AK�A8�C998L�8>9�;9MHA;9C

9E8L�9L8BN:AL>9J�HEJ9;�19
@8A7E�

/.+**. G�CBEBF9C9E8�?:BE�BL�J
9KAE9J�AE�8>9�3H:9L�BEJ�3

9FH:B8A7EL�BJ7?89J�NI�8>
9�1?9@AB:�29;CA8�D;BE8AEF

�GH8>7;A8IO�L>B::�N9�AE@:HJ
9J�BL�BE�AE89F;B:�?B;8�7K�B

EI�B??:A@B8A7E.
G�:BEJL@B?9�?:BE�B??;7?

;AB89�K7;�8>9�?;7\9@8�L>B::
�N9�AE@:HJ9J�AE�8>9�B??:A@

B8A7E.

=>9�NHA:JAEF�L>B::� N9�@7E
E9@89J�87�8>9�?HN:A@�L9P

9;�LIL89C�?;A7;�87�7@@H?B
E@I.�U8L�:78�L>B::�KB::�PA8>A

E�7E9�7K�8>9�K7::7PAEF�B;
9BLY�

<AW9JXHL9�NHA:JAEF��]̂_̀
ab̀b�c̀d̀_èf�ghi�ghgj

k�lmm̀dnop̀�qrasrft�ui�ghg
gv 07�C7;9�8>BE�5+w�7K�8>9

�D;7LL�x :77;�G;9B�7K�8>9�K
A;L8�7;�F;7HEJ�K:77;�L>B::�

N9�;9LAJ9E8AB:�HL9O�?B;yAE
FO�7;�@7CC7E�B;9BL�L>B;

9J�NI�CH:8A?:9�HL9LO�HE:9
LL�78>9;PAL9�?9;CA889J�N

9:7P.
G8�:9BL8�-+w�7K�8>9�D;7LL

�x:77;�G;9B�7K�8>9�KA;L8�7;
�F;7HEJ�K:77;�L>B::�N9�BEI

�?9;CA889J�E7EX;9LAJ9E8A
B:�HL9O�78>9;�8>BE�?B;yAEF

O�AE@:HJAEF�AE@AJ9E8B:�L?B@
9LO�9W@9?8�8>B8�8>9�29;CA

8�D;BE8AEF�GH8>7;A8I�CBI
�

B::7P�8>9�;9MHA;9J�E7EX;9
LAJ9E8AB:�HL9SLT�87�N9�JAL8

;ANH89J�7E�BEI�K:77;O�7;�AE
�BEI�NHA:JAEF�7K�B�CH:8A?:

9�NHA:JAEF�J9Q9:7?C9E8�7
E�8>9�LBC9�?B;@9:O�?;7QAJ

9J�8>B8�8>9�?7;8A7E�7K�8>9
�KA;L8�7;�F;7HEJ�K:77;�7K�B

EI�
NHA:JAEF�KB@AEF�8>9�18;998

�L>B::�N9�7@@H?A9J�?;9J7C
AEBE8:I�NI�LH@>�E7EX;9LAJ

9E8AB:�HL9SLT.
x7;�8>9�?H;?7L9L�7K�8>AL�L

9@8A7EO�AE@AJ9E8B:�L?B@9L�
L>B::�E78�AE@:HJ9�@7CC7E

�B;9BL�L>B;9J�NI�CH:8A?:9
�HL9LO�7;�78>9;�L?B@9L�E7

8�@7E8AFH7HL�87�8>9�E7EX;
9LAJ9E8AB:�HL9�HE:9LL�8>9�

L?B@9�AL�AE@:HJ9J�AE�8>9�
J9L@;A?8A7E�7K�8>9�?;9CAL

9L�:9BL9J�87�8>9�E7EX;9LA
J9E8AB:�89EBE8.

GEI�JP9::AEF�HEA8SLT�BEJ�9
E@:7L9J�?B;yAEF�7E�8>9�KA

;L8�7;�F;7HEJ�K:77;�L>B::�N
9�:7@B89J�B8�8>9�;9B;�7K�8>

9�NHA:JAEF�BEJ�J9LAFE9J�8
7�;9JH@9�QALANA:A8I�K;7C�8>

9�18;998.
x7;�L:7?AEF�:78L�7;�:78L�P

A8>�K;7E8BF9�7E�C7;9�8>B
E�7E9�18;998O�8>9�?9;CA8�

F;BE8AEF�BH8>7;A8I�L>B::�J
989;CAE9�P>A@>�K:77;SLT�7

K�8>9�NHA:JAEF�AL�LHN\9@8�87
�8>9�L?:A8�7K�HL9L�BEJ�@;A89

;AB�BL�C9E8A7E9J�BN7Q9.
z9J;77C�[7HE8Y�07�C7;

9�8>BE�/+w�7K�8>9�878B:�E
HCN9;�7K�JP9::AEF�HEA8L�L

>B::�>BQ9�8>9�LBC9�N9J;7
7C�@7HE8O�PA8>�8>9�9W@9?

8A7E�7K�B�<AW9JXHL9�NHA:J
AEF�@7E8BAEAEF�:9LL�8>BE�8

9E�HEA8L.�=>9�29;CA8�D;BE
8AEF�

GH8>7;A8I�CBI�PBAQ9�7;�C
7JAKI�8>AL�;9MHA;9C9E8�K7

;�?;7\9@8L�AE�P>A@>�B::�JP
9::AEF�HEA8L�?;7QAJ9J�B;9�

GKK7;JBN:9�SL99�G;8A@:9�*,
O�GKK7;JBN:9�67HLAEFT.

{Q9;EAF>8�|7JFAEF

[7EQ9;89J�JP9::AEFL�AE�8>
9�3}{�BEJ�8>9�3}|~�JAL8;A

@8L�L>B::�?;7QAJ9�B�CAEAC
HC�7K�,O+++�LM.�K8.�7K�HLB

N:9�7?9E�L?B@9�?9;�JP9::
AEF�HEA8�K7;�8>9�HL9�7K�7@@

H?BE8L.��[7EQ9;89J�JP9::
AEFL�AE�8>9�

3}0���JAL8;A@8�L>B::�?;7QAJ9
�B�CAEACHC�7K�*O+++�LM.�

K8.�7K�HLBN:9�7?9E�L?B@9�?
9;�JP9::AEF�HEA8.

G�CBEBF9C9E 8�?:BEO�BL�J
9KAE9J�AE�89;CL�7K�K7;C�B

EJ�@7E89E8�AE�8>9�3H:9L�B
EJ�39FH:B8A7EL�BJ7?89J�N

I�8>9�29;CA8�D;BE8AEF�GH
8>7;A8I�L>B::�N9�AE@:HJ9J�

BL�BE�AE89F;B:�?B;8�7K�BEI
�B??:A@B8A7E�CBJ9�HEJ9;�

8>AL�
L9@8A7E.

x;B89;EA8I�7;�17;7;A8I�NHA
:JAEFO�L7@AB:�

J7;CA87;IO�7;�LACA:B;�HL9
�;9:B89J�87�

GC>9;L8�[7::9F9O�6BC?L
>A;9�[7::9F9O�

7;�8>9��EAQ9;LA8I�7K�<BLL
B@>HL988L.

UE�8>9�zX0�~AL8;A@8O�7E:I�>
789:�7;�C789:�HL9L�PA8>�:7

JFAEF�;77CL�7E�,� 7;�C7;
9�K:77;L�L>B::�N9�?9;CA889

J.
=>9��7EAEF�z7B;J�7K�G??

9B:L�CBI�B::7P�B�;9L8BH;B
E8�BL�B�L9@7EJ�2;AE@A? B:�H

L9O�B:7EF�PA8>�>789:�C78
9:X;9:B89J�;98BA:�BEJ�@7EL

HC9;�L9;QA@9L�BL�B@@9LL7
;I�HL9LO�HEJ9;�B�1?9@AB:�2

9;CA8�K7;�B�>789:�7;�C789
:.



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
()(*+),-..

///
//012

0101012
01//

//
( )(*+)*345

678
010101

0101012
0101012

012//
//

()(*9
//01

01//
/0101

01//
//

()(*:
//01

//012
010101

01//
//

&;�<��� =>== ()((? ( )((?)?
012012012

012012012
012012012

012012012
012012

@A7B7�5AC88�D7�.4�57ECBC6
7�F44GH.I�JCFH8H6H75)��K7C

85�LCM�D7�EB4NHO7O�64�84O
I7B5PD4CBO7B5PB44L7B5Q�

DR6�.46�64�L7LD7B5�4J�6A
7�I7.7BC8�ERD8HF�.46�84OI

7O�C6�6A7�756CD8H5AL7.6)
-.�6A7�STUVQ�ST/Q�VWK�C.

O�2TUV�OH56BHF65Q�6A7�X4.H.
I�S4CBO�4J�YEE7C85�LCM�I

BC.6�C�0E7FHC8�17BLH6�J4B�
C�84OIH.I�4B�D4CBOH.I�A4R

57Q�EB4NHO7O�H6�JH.O5�6AC6�
6A7�EB4E45C8�L7765�6A7�E

B4NH5H4.5�4J�YB6HF87�+Q�
07F6H4.�,?)(9�C.O�6AH5�57

F6H4.)��-.�6A7�2TUV�ZH56BHF
6Q�C�84OIH.I�4B�D4CBOH.I�A

4R57�5AC88�876�4B�5RD876�.4
�L4B7�6AC.�C�646C8�4J�+�B4

4L5)
-.�6A7�2T[Q�2T/Q�2TW�C.O�2

T\Z�ZH56BHF65Q�C�A45678�LC
M�EB4NHO7�RE�64�*?�D7O5)�

�-.�C88�OH56BHF65�]A7B7�6A7
�R57�H5�C884]7OQ�C�LH.HLR

L�4J�*?�E7BF7.6�4J�A4567
8�D7O5�5AC88�D7�H.�B44L5�F

4.6CH.H.I�*T̂�D7O5)
@A7B7�5AC88�D7�.4�57ECBC6

7�F44GH.I�JCFH8H6H75�H.�IR7
56�B44L5)��K7C85�LCM�D7�

EB4NHO7O�64�A45678�84OI7B
5�C.O�64�46A7B�E7B54.5�C6

67.OH.I�5FA7OR87O�7ORFC
6H4.C8�7N7.65�5E4.54B7O�D

M�C.O�A78O�C6�6A7�A45678)
Y�LC.CI7L7.6�E8C.Q�C5�O

7JH.7O�H.�67BL5�4J�J4BL�C
.O�F4.67.6�DM�6A7�2R875�C

.O�27IR8C6H4.5�CO4E67O�D
M�6A7�X4.H.I�S4CBO�4J�YE

E7C85�5AC88�D7�ECB6�4J�C.M
�CEE8HFC6H4.�LCO7�R.O7B�

6AH5�57F6H4.)
-.�6A7�VWK�ZH56BHF6Q�-..5�

5AC88�D7�C884]7O�4.8M�H.�6
A457�CB7C5�]AHFA�CB7�C854

�]H6AH.�6A7�D4R.OCBH75�4J
�/C6H4.C8�3H564BHF�27IH567

B�ZH56BHF65)

@A7�LH.HLRL�846�CB7C�5A
C88�D7�,*Q???�5_)�J6)�4B�,Q?

??�5_)�J6)�LR86H E8H7O�DM�6A
7�.RLD7B�4J�5877EH.I�B44

L5Q�]AHFA7N7B�H5�IB7C67B)
�@A7�DRH8OH.I�5AC88�D7�F4.

.7F67O�]H6A�6A7�ERD8HF�57
]7B�5M567L�EBH4B�64�

4FFREC.FM)��-65�846�5AC88�JC
88�]H6AH.�4.7�4J�6A7�J4884]

H.I�CB7C5̀��CB7C5�F8457�64
�A7CNH8M�6BCN787O�56B7765a

�CB7C5�F8457�64�DR5H.755Q�
F4LL7BFHC8Q�C.O�7ORFC6H

4.C8�OH56BHF65a�CB7C5�C8B7C
OM�O7N784E7O�J4B�LR86HJC

LH8M�
R57)

/4.TEB4JH6�7ORFC6H4.C8�H.
56H6R6H4.Q�

H.F8ROH.I�C.M�7ORFC6H4.C
8�R57�4.�

8C.O�4].7O�4B�87C57O�DM�
6A7�

V4LL4.]7C86A�4B�C.M�4
J�H65�@A7�DRH8OH.I�5AC88�D7�F4.

.7F67O�64�6A7�ERD8HF�57]
7B�EBH4B�64�4FFREC.FM)�Y�

LC.CI7L7.6�E8C.Q�C5�O7J
H.7O�H.�67BL5�4J�J4BL�C.O

�F4.67.6�H.�6A7�2R875�C.O
�27IR8C6H4.5�CO4E67O�DM�

6A7�X4.H.I�S4CBO�4J�YEE7
C85�

5AC88�D7�ECB6�4J�C.M�CEE8HF
C6H4.�LCO7�R.O7B�6AH5�57

F6H4.)
bA7B7�C�84OIH.I�4B�D4CBO

H.I�A4R57�H5�64�D7�84FC67O
�H.�C.�7cH56H.I�O]788H.IQ�6A

7B7�5AC88�D7�.4�5RD56C.6HC
8�FAC.I7�H.�6A7�7c67BH4B�4

J�6A7�DRH8OH.I)
@A7�4].7B�4B�LC.CI7B�4

J�6A7�84OIH.I�4B�D4CBOH.I
�A4R57�5AC88�B75HO7�4.�6A7

�EB7LH575)

@A7�A45678�5AC88�D7�]H6AH.
�7C5M�]C8GH.I�OH56C.F7�4J

�ERD8HF�6BC.5E4B6C6H4.)�
@A7�DRH8OH.I�5AC88�D7�F4.

.7F67O�]H6A�6A7�ERD8HF�57
]7B�EBH4B�64�4FFREC.FM)

\4OIH.I�4B�D4CBOH.I�A4R5
7

��&<�<$<���d��$&;&

@A7�X4.H.I�S4CBO�4J�YEE
7C85�LCM�C884]�C�B756CRBC

.6�C5�C�57F4.O�1BH.FHEC8�R
57Q�C84.I�]H6A�H..TB78C67O

�B76CH8�C.O�F4.5RL7B�57BN
HF75�C5�CFF7554BM�R575Q�R.

O7B�C�0E7FHC8�17BLH6�J4B�C
.�H..)��Y�LC.CI7L7.6�E8C

.Q�
C5�O7JH.7O�H.�67BL5�4J�J4B

L�C.O�F4.67.6�DM�6A7�2R
875�C.O�27IR8C6H4.5�CO4E

67O�DM�6A7�X4.H.I�S4CBO�4
J�YEE7C85�5AC88�D7�ECB6�4J

�C.M�CEE8HFC6H4.�LCO7�R.
O7B�6AH5�57F6H4.)

07FRB7�DHFMF87�ECBGH.I�C.
OP4B�564BCI7�5A C88�D7�EB4

NHO7OQ�]H6A�C�646C8�FCECFH
6M�7_RC8�64�4B�7cF77OH.I�

6A7�.RLD7B�4J�ECBGH.I�5E
CF75�B7_RHB7O�J4B�N7AHF87

5)�
Y�LC.CI7L7.6�E8C.Q�C5�O

7JH.7O�H.�67BL5�4J�J4BL�C
.O�F4.67.6�H.�6A7�2R875�C

.O�27IR8C6H4.5�CO4E67 O�D
M�6A7�X4.H.I�S4CBO�4J�YE

E7C85Q�5AC88�D7�ECB6�4J�C.M
�CEE8HFC6H4.�LCO7�R.O7B�

6AH5�57F6H4.)
@A7�4].7B�4B�LC.CI7B�4

J�6A7�A45678�5AC88�B75HO7�4
.�6A7�EB7LH575)

/4.TEB4JH6�e575V4.IB7IC67�A4R5H.I�J4B�6
A7�78O7B8M�

C.O�OH5CD87O)�f077�07F6H4
.�,*)?gQ�

Z7JH.H6H4.5h



�� ���
�����	
�������

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
�����
 ��� !����"
#�! ������$�������

%��"��"�
&
 ���"�����
'('')(*

+,+,+,
+,+,+,-

+,-+,-+,
+,-+,-+,-

+,+,
'(''*

+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-
'(''.

//+,
+,/+,-

+,-+,-+,-
+,-//

+,-/
'('''

+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-
'(''0

+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-
'(''1

+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-
'(''2 ' (''2()

+,+,+,
+,/+,

+,+,+,
/+,/

//
' (''2(*


+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-
'(''3

+,+,/
///

///
///

//
'(''4

+,+,+,
+,+,+,-

+,-+,-+,
///

//

56789
:;8;<
;:=7
>;
986>?@

;>@8;<
78>@67
;89A?=8;<
B8

9;CD>@
=>98
;89A?=8;<
C9
;?
E?@>9
:;8;<
E>F
G8
B89E

?668H<
G:6
;7>@@
G8
CB89>6
8H
?D
>
E>DD89
>DH
H:9?D

I
;:=7
@?E?68H
7C:9;
>;
6C

98DH89
678E
=@8>9@F


>==8;;C9F
>DH
?D=?H8D6>@

6C
678
B9?D=?B>@
DCDJB9CK

?6
7:E>D
;89A?=8
:;8(
,:G@?=
B>9L<
B@>FI9C:DH
C

9
C6789

B:G@?=
98=98>6?CD
K>=?@?6F(M?DH89I>968D<
H>F
D:9;89

F
C9
C6789

>I8D=F
KC9
678
H>F
=>98
C

K
=7?@H98D(
NC9JB9CK?6
69>H8<
B9CK8;;?

CD>@<
C9

C6789
8H:=>6?CD>@
?D;6?6:

6?CD(

O
=@:G<
=?A?=<
;C=?>@<
B9CK8
;;?CD>@
C9
K9>689D>@
C9I>D

?P>6?CD
67>6
?;
DC DJB9CK?6

>DH
?;
CB89>68H
KC9
E8E

G89;
C9
8EB@CF88;
CD@F<
Q
7898
678
=7?8K
>=6?A?6F
?;
C

D8
DC6
=:;6CE>9?@F
=CDH:
=68H
>;
>
I>?DK:@
G:;?D8;;

(


R78
C9I>D?P>6?CD
;7>@@
G8


?D=C9BC9>68H
KC9
;89A?=8

C9
=7>9?6>G@8
B:9BC;8;
:

DH89
678
98I:@>6?CD;
CK
67
8
SCEECDQ8>@67
C9
C678

9
>BB@?=>G@8
>:67C9?6?8;<
>
DH
;7>@@
B89E?6
@CDIJ;6>D

H?DI
E8EG89;7?B;(

SCEECDQ8>@67
C9
>DF
C
K
?6;


>I8D=?8;<
;:GH?A?;?CD;<
C9

GCH?8;


BC@?6?=<
C9
GF
>
98@?I?C:;
;
8=6
C9


H8DCE?D>6?CD( /CDJB9CK?6
7:E>D
;89A?=8



:;8(
/CDJB9CK?6
7:E>D
;89A?=8


:;8;
?DAC@A?DI
CA89D?I76

;78@689
C9
C6789
98 ;?H8D6

?>@
>=6?A?6F
;7>@@
G8
98I:@>
68H
:DH89
+8=6?CD
'(''2(*

(
O
:;8
:DH89
67?;
;8=6?CD
E

>F
CKK89
>
Q?H8
9>DI8
CK
;
89A?=8;
CD
C9
K9CE
678
B9

8E?;8;<
?D=@:H?DI
G:6
DC6

@?E?68H
6C<
=C:D;8@?DI
>D

H
6789>BF<
69>?D?DI
KC9
8E
B@CFE8D6
>DH
C6789
@?K8
;

L?@@;<
H?;69?G:6?CD
CK
KCCH

>DH
=@C67?DI<
B9CA?;?CD
C

K
E8>@;<
>DHTC9
98;69CCE
;T;7CQ89
K>=?@?6?8;(

U;8;
:DH89
67?;
;8=6?CD
E
>F
?D=@:H8
>HE?D?;69>6?A8


CKK?=8;
>DH
7:E>D
;89A?=
8
K>=?@?6?8;
B9CA?H?DI
;89A

?=8;
H?98=6@F
6C
E8EG89;

CK
678
=CEE:D?6F
CD
C9


K9CE
678
B98E?;8;<
?D=@:H
?DI
K>=?@?6?8;
:;8H
>;
;6>I?

DI

>98>;
KC9
CKKJ;?68
;89A?=8


H8@?A89F
>DH
K>=?@?6?8;
98>
;CD>G@F
D8=8;;>9F
KC9
678


;>K8<
;8=:98<
>DH
>BB9CB
9?>68
CB89>6?CD
CK
678
:;8

(
+88
+8=6?CD
.()0
>DH
'(.* VD
678
WJ/
X?;69?=6<
?K
>@=C

7C@
?;
;89A8H
>;
B >96
CK
>D
F
K:D=6?CD
=CDH:=68H
C9
B

89E?668H
GF
678
C9I>D?P>
6?CD<
678
8;6>G@?;7E8D6
;

7>@@
G8
=@C;8H
GF
YZ))
B(E
([
C6789Q?;8<
678
8;6>G@?;7

E8D6
;7>@@
G8
=@C;8H
GF

**Z')
B(E(

S8E8689F ,9?A>68
@CHI8
C9
=@:GNC9JB9CK?6
7C;B?6>@<
 ;>D?6>9?:E<
D:9;?DI<
98;6

C9


=CDA>@8;=8D6
7CE8<
@?A?D
I


=>98
=CEE:D?6F<
C9
C678
9


E8H?=>@
C9
98;?H8D6?>@
 K>=?@?6F(
 ,7?@>D679CB?=
C9
=7>9?6>G
@8


E8H?=>@
C9
98;?H8D6?>@
 K>= ?@?6F(\8H?=>@
C9
98;?H8D6?>@
?D;
6?6:6?CD;(

S7:9=7
C9
C6789
B@>=8
CK

QC9;7?B<


B>9?;7
7C:;8<
98=6C9F<
C9

=CDA8D6(

/C6
KC9
B9CK?6
@?G9>9F
C9
E
:;8:E(



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
()((*

+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-+,-
+,-+,-+,-

+,-+,-
+./012.�34156178�9/�9:;./�

797<
=2=6.>12�?=2151:@�/.5=:.6�

:9�:;.�
9A./=:197�9?�B>;./C:�D9

55.8.E�
F=>AC;1/.�D955.8.E�9/�:;

.�G710./C1:@�
9?�H=CC=2;4C.::C)

IJ7.6�9/�>=7=8.6�3@�=�
D955.8.�9/�G710./C1:@E�34:

�592=:.6�94:C16.�9?�=7@�K6
42=:197=5�L1C :/12:)�



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
&(�)��� *+*, -.-/0 - .-/0.0

121212
121212

121212
12312123

1212
- .-/0.4

121212
1212123

12312312
1231212

1212
- .-/0.5

121212
121212

121212
121212

1212
4 5 6. 7. 8. 9.� :.� ;.� <.� =.� >.�

?>@:A:BB�8CDDEF>86G>CF
B�

;68>A>GH�C@�CG=:@�B>D>A6@� 8CDDEF>86G>CFB�EB:.I@6FB;C@D:@�BG6G>CF�C@� CG=:@�:F:@<H�;68>A>GH�C@�E
B:.

I:A:J=CF:�:K8=6F<:L�@69
>C�

C@�IM�BG6G>CFL�7@C6986BG>
F<�

;68>A>GHL�@:8C@9>F<�BGE9>C�
C@�

CG=:@�8CDDEF>86G>CF�EB:
.

NC�F:O�GCO:@�B=6AA�7:�EB
:9�O=>8=�>FPCAP:B�6�A6GG>8

:�8CFBG @E8G>CFL�@:QE>@:B�G
=@::�R-S�C@�DC@:�A:<B�6F9

TC@�@:QE>@:B�<EH�O>@:�BEJ
JC@GB.�

UAA�7E>A9>F<VDCEFG:9�;68>
A> G>:B�B=6AA�7:�9:B><F:9�6F

9�AC86G:9�BC�6B�GC�6JJ:6@
�GC�7:�6F�>FG:<@6A�J6@G�C;�

G=:�:K>BG>F<�6@8=>G:8GE@:�
C;�G=:�7E>A9>F<.

UAA�:A:8G@CF>8�6F9�CG=:@�@
:A6G:9�:QE>JD:FG�6F9�6J

JE@G:F6F8:B�F:8:BB6@H�;C
@�G=:�CJ:@6 G>CF�C;�6FH�O>

@:A:BB�8CDDEF>86G>CF�;68
>A>GH�B=6AAL�O=:F:P:@�JCBB

>7A:L�7:�AC86G:9�O>G=>F�6�
A6O;EAAH�J@:V:K>BG>F<�BG@E

8GE@:�C@�8CDJA:G:AH�7:AC
O�<@69:.��?=:F�6�F:O�BG

@E8GE@:�>B�@:QE>@:9�GC�=CE
B:�BE8=�:QE>JD:FGL�G=:�B

>G>F<L�9:B><F�6F9�D6G:@>6
AB�C;�B6>9�BG@E8GE@:�B=6AA�7

:�
=6@DCF>CEB�O>G=L�6F9�7A:

F9�O>G=L�G=:�F6GE@6A�;:6GE
@:BL�7E>A9>F<B�6F9�BG@E8GE

@:B�>F�G=:�BE@@CEF9>F<B.
UAA�B6G:AA>G:�9>B=:B�B=6AA�7

:�C;�D:B=�8CFBG@E8G>CFL�E
FA:BB�G:8=F>86A�:P>9:F8:�

>B�BE7D>GG:9�9:DCFBG@6G
>F<�G=6G�G=>B�@:QE>@:D:FG

�>B�>F;:6B>7A:.��W>8@CO6P:
�9>B=:B�6@:�:K:DJG:9�;@C

D�
G=>B�J@CP>B>CF. UAA�O>@:A:BB�8CDDEF>86G>

CF�;68>A>G>:B�B=6AA�7:�J@CG:
8G:9�6<6>FBG�EF6EG=C@>X:

9�8A>D7>F<�C@ �CG=:@�688:B
B�7H�G=:�JE7A>8.

?=:F:P:@�;:6B>7A:L�9:B><
F�6F9�B>G>F<�C;�GCO:@B�B=6

AA�6PC>9�G=:�F::9�;C@�6JJA
>86G>CF�C;�Y:9:@6A�UP>6G>C

F�U9D>F>BG@6G>CF�RYUUS�A><
=G>F<�6F9�J6>FG>F<�@:QE>@

:D:FGB.��ZK8:JG�6B�@:QE>@
:9�

7H�G=:�YUUL�GCO:@B�B=6AA�
FCG�7:�6@G>;>8>6AAH�A><=G:9.

NC�GCO:@�C@�CG=:@�;68>A>GH
�BG@E8GE@:�B=6AA�8CFG6>F�6

FH�B><FB�C@��CG=:@�9:P>8:B
�;C@�G=:�JE@JCB:�C;�69P:@

G>B:D:FG.
I=:�P>B>7A:�JC@G>CFB�C;�BE

JJC@G�;68>A> G>:B�6F9�BG@E8G
E@:B�BE8=�6B�P6EAGBL�:QE>J

D:FG�7E>A9>F<B�C@�:F8ACBE
@:B�6F9�EG>A>G>:B�B=6AA�7:�8

CFBG@E8G:9�CEG�C;�6F9TC@
�;>F>B=:9�O>G=�FCFV

@:;A:8G>P:�D6G:@>6AB.
I=:�;CAACO>F<�BG6F96@9B�6

F9�8CF9>G>CFB�B=6AA�6JJAH
�GC�8CDD:@8>6A�6F9�JE7A>

8�O>@:A:BB�8CDDEF>86G>C
F�EB:B�6F9�;68>A>G>:B[

ZK8AE9>F<�6FH�C;;>8:L�BGC@
6<:L�C@�@:J6>@�EB:�EFA:BB�

CG=:@O>B:�6AACO:9�7H�G=:
�@:<EA6G>CFB�C;�G=:�9>BG@>8

G.

\:B><F�J@CP>B>CFB�;C@�BE8
=�;68>A>G>:B�B=6AA�>F8AE9:L�7

EG�6@:�FC G�A>D>G:9�GC[
UAA�GCO:@BL�6FG:FF6L�6FG:

FF6�BEJJC@G�BG@E8GE@:B�6
F9�B>D>A6@�;68>A>G>:B�B=6AA�7

:�C;�F:EG@6A �8CAC@B�G=6G�6
@:�=6@DCF>CEB�O>G=L�6F9

�7A:F9�O>G=L�G=:�F6GE@6A��
;:6GE@:BL�7E>A9>F<B�6F9�

BG@E8GE@:B�>F�G=:�BE@@CEF
9>F<B]�J@CP>9:9L�=CO:P:@

L�G=6G�BE8=�;68>A>G>:B�AC86G
:9�CF�G=:�:KG:@>C@�C;�6�7E

>A9>F<�B=6AA�7:�C;�8CAC@B�G=
6G�D6G8=�6F9TC@�7A:F9�O

>G=�G=CB:�C;�G=:�7E>A9>F<.

Ĝ>A>GH�̂B:B

1:G768_�̀�a:><=G.��ICO:@
BL�6FG:FF6L�6FG:FF6�BEJJ

C@G�BG@E8GE@:B�6F9�CG=:@�
P:@G>86A�:A:D:FGB� C;�O>@:

A:BB�8CDDEF>86G>CF�;68>A
>G>:B�AC86G:9�>F�6�@:B>9:FG

>6A�9>BG@>8G�C@�EJCF�6�J@CJ
:@GH�

67EGG>F<�6�@:B>9:FG>6A�EB:
�B=6AA�7:�B:G�768_�;@CD�G=

:�F:6@:BG�@:B>9:FG>6A�ACG�A
>F:�6�9>BG6F8:�6G�A:6BG�:Q

E6A�GC�G=:>@�=:><=G.��bF�6AA�
9>BG@>8GBL�G=:�=:><=G�C;�O>

@:A:BB�8CDDEF>86G>CFB�GC
O:@B�

B=6AA�FCG�:K8::9�45c�;::G
�67CP:�G=:�<@CEF9.��bF�FC

FV@:B>9:FG>6A�9>BG@>8GBL�G=:
�2:@D>G�d@6FG>F<�UEG=C@>

GH�D6H�6AACO�6�A:BB:@�B:G7
68_�C@�<@:6G:@�=:><=G�>;�BE

8=�DC9>;>86G>CF�J@CP>9:B
�

69:QE6G:�B6;:GHL�J@CDCG
:B�8CVAC86G>CF�C@�>DJ@CP:

B�9:B><FL�6F9�O>AA�FCG�B><F
>;>86FGAH�>DJ68G�G=:�8=6@6

8G:@�6F9�6JJ:6@6F8:�C;�G
=:�F:><=7C@=CC9.��bF�D6_

>F<�6�@:QE:BG�;C@�6�A:BB:@
�B:G768_L�

G=:�D6FE;68GE@:@�C@�QE6
A>;>:9�A>8:FB:9�9:B><F:@�B=

6AA�8:@G>;H�G=6G�G=:�GCO:@�
>B�9:B><F:9�GC�8CAA6JB:�EJ

CF�>GB:A;�>F�G=:�:P:FG�C;�;6
>AE@:.��I=:�2:@D>G�d@6FG>F

<�UEG=C@>GH�D6H�6ABC�6AAC
O�A:BB:@�

B:G768_B�F:8:BB6@H�GC�6AA
CO�;C@�G=:�EB:�C;�6F�:K>BG

>F<�BG@E8GE@:.
ZK8AE9>F<�6FH�C;;>8:L�BGC@

6<:L�C@�@:J6>@�EB:�EFA:BB�
CG=:@O>B:�6AACO:9�7H�G=:

�@:<EA6G>CFB�C;�G=:�9>BG@>8
G.

ZK8AE9>F<�6FH�C;;>8:L�BGC@
6<:L�C@�@:J6>@�EB:�EFA:BB�

CG=:@O>B:�6AACO:9�7H�G=:
�@:<EA6G>CFB�C;�G=:�9>BG@>8

G.�
���(���(�)e��'��$�

����&(����(�
$&(&



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	�� ()� *)� + ,) -) .) / 0 1 2 345567.,89:�:;,66�:<-=79�>
7?;9�@3A�B7>C�678>:�:;DC8

�78�,�D8>�@EA�=76>�F,G7<:�H
FD=�9;>�:79>I�->?78878?�,

9�9F<>�JDF9;�,8G�.D8978<7
8?�.6D.*C7:>�,9�HDF9KLH7B>

�@/0A�G>?F>>�789>FB,6:)��M,
7G�

B7>C�678>:�:;,66I�9D�9;>�>N
9>89�H>,:7-6>I�->�9,*>8�HFD

=�>N7:978?�B,89,?>�5D789:
�.D==D86K�<:>G�-K�9;>�5

<-67.I�:<.;�,:�5<-67.�C,K:
I�-<76G78?:�DF�H,.76797>:)��O

;>�:<-=799,6�:;,66�78.6<G>
�

<8,69>F>G�5;D9D?F,5;:�9,
*>8�HFD=�>K>�6>B>6�@0�H>>

9�,-DB>�?F,G>A�C;7.;�:;D
C�9;>�>N7:978?�.D8G797D8�D

H�9;>:>�B7>C�678>:I�,:�C>6
6�,:�,..<F,9>�:.,6>�5>F:5>

.97B>�>6>B,97D8�GF,C78?:I
�

.D=5<9>FL,69>F>G�5;D9D?
F,5;:�DF�D9;>F�,..<F,9>�F

>5F>:>89,97D8:�:;DC78?�:
,7G�B7>C�678>:�C79;�9;>�H,

.7679K�78�56,.>)

P>5,7F�Q�R5*>>5)��466�C7F
>6>::�.D==<87.,97D8�H,.

76797>:�:;,66�->�=,789,78>G
�78�?DDG�DFG>F�,8 G�F>5,7F

)�S,789�H787:;>:�:;,66�->�=
,789,78>G�,8G�F>5,7F>G�C

;>8�-6>=7:;>:�,F>�B7:7-6>
�HFD=�9;>�

5FD5>F9K�678>)��O;>�,5567.
,89�:;,66�5FDB7G>�,8�78:5>

.97D8�:.;>G<6>I�,8G�:;,66�
H76>�.D57>:�DH�78:5>.97D8:

�C79;�9;>�T<76G78?�UD==
7::7D8>F)

V7.>8:>�Q�S>F=79:)��O;>�D
5>F,9DF�DH�>B>FK�C7F>6>::

�.D==<87.,97D8�H,.767 9K�:
;,66�:<-=79�9D�9;>�T<76G78

?�UD==7::7D8>F�.D57>:�D
H�,66�67.>8:>:�,8G�5>F=79:

�F>W<7F>G�-K�D9;>F�,?>8.
7>:�,8G�

?DB>F8=>89:�C79;�(<F7:G7
.97D8�DB>F�9;>�G>:7?8I�.D8

:9F<.97D8I�6D.,97D8�,8G�D5
>F,97D8�DH�:,7G�H,.7679KI�,8

G�:;,66�=,789,78�:<.;�67.>
8:>:�,8G�5>F=79:�,8G�5FD

B7G>�>B7G>8.>�DH�F>8>C,6
�DF�

>N9>8:7D8�9;>F>DH�C;>8�?
F,89>G)

P>=DB,6)��466�:9F<.9<F>:�,
::D.7,9>G�C79;�,�C7F>6>::

�.D==<87.,97D8:�<:>�:; ,
66�->�F>=DB>G�C79;78�D8>

�@EA�K>,F�DH�9;>�.>::,97D8
�DH�:,7G�<:>)��XH�,5567.,-6>

I�,8�,88<,6�.>F97H7.,97D8�
G>=D8:9F,978?�.D8978<>G

�.D=567,8.>�C79;�9;>�:9,8
G,FG:�DH�9;>�Y>G>F,6�UD=

=<87.,97D8:�UD==7::7D8
I�Y>G>F,6�4B7,97D8�4G=78

7:9F,97D8�,8G�9;>�4=>F7.,
8�J,97D8,6�M9,8G,FG:�X8:9

79<9>I�
78.6<G78?�5FDB7:7D8:�HDF�F

>W<7F>G�=,789>8,8.>I�:;
,66�->�H76>G�C79;�9;>�T<76G

78?�UD==7::7D8>F�-K�9;>
�5>F=79�;D6G>F)�SF7DF�9D�9

;>�7::<,8.>�DH�,�-<76G78?�
5>F=79�HDF�,�C7F>6>::�

.D==<87.,97D8:�<:>I�9;>
�,5567.,89�:;,66�5D:9�,8G�

:<-=79�,�-D8G�DF�D9;>F�H7
8,8.7,6�:<F>9K�,..>59,-6>

�9D�9;>�ODC8�78�,8�,=D<8
9�:<HH7.7>89�9D�.DB>F�9;>�.

D:9�DH�G>=D67:;78?�,8GZD
F�

F>=DB78?�9;>�H,.7679K�78�9;
>�>B>89�9;>�T<76G78?�UD=

=7::7D8>F�.D8G>=8:�9;>�
5FD5>F9K�DF�G>>=:�79�9D�;

,B>�->>8�,-,8GD8>G�DF�B
,.,89�HDF�=DF>�9;,8�D8>�

K>,F)��M,7G�,=D<89�:;,66�-
>�

.>F97H7>G�-K�,8�>8?78>>FI�
,F.;79>.9�DF�D9;>F�W<,67H7>

G�5FDH>::7D8,6�F>?7:9>F>G
�9D�5F,.97.>�78�9;>�UD==

D8C>,69;�DH�[,::,.;<:>
99:)�X8�9;>�>B>89�9;>�5D:9

>G�,=D<89�GD>:�8D9�.DB>
F�9;>�.D:9�

DH�G>=D6797D8�,8GZDF�F>=
DB,6I�9;>�ODC8�=,K�56,.>

�,�67>8�<5D8�9;>�5FD5>F9K
�.DB>F78?�9;>�G7HH>F>8.>�7

8�.D:9)
[DG7H7.,97D8:)��O;>�S>F=

79�\F,8978?�4<9;DF79K�=,K
�=DG7HK�,8K�5FDB7:7D8�DH�

9;>:>�:9,8G,FG:�,8G�.D8G
797D8 :�7H�79�.,8�->�G>=D8:

9F,9>G�9;,9�79�7:�9>.;87.,6
6K�78H>,:7-6>�9D�=>>9�:,7G

�
:9,8G,FG:�DF�.D8G797D8:I�

DF�9;,9�9;>7F�>HH>.9�7:�9D�5
FD;7-79�9;>�5FD5D:>G�<:>

�9;FD<?;D<9�9;>�ODC8I�DF
�7H�:<.;�=DG7H7.,97D8�C766�

5FD=D9>�<:>�DH��>N7:978?�
-<76G78?:�DF�:9F<.9<F>:I�.

DL6D.,97D8�
DH�C7F>6>::�.D==<87.,97D

8:�<:>:I�7=5FDB>�:,H>9K�D
F�G>:7?8I�DF�D9;>FC7:>�5F

D=D9>�9;>�5<F5D:>:�DH�9;
7:�-K6,C)

48K�,5567.,89�5FD5D:78?�
8D9�9D�.DL6D.,9>�9;>7F�H,.

7679K�DF�5FD5D:78?�9D�6D.,9
>�9;>7F�H,.7679K�78�,�F>:7G>

897,6�G7:9F7.9�:;,66�5FDB7G>
�CF799>8�>B7G>8.>�,8G�GD

.<=>89,97D8�G>=D8:9F,9
78?�

C;K�79�7:�8D9�H>,:7-6>�HDF�
9;>7F�H,.7679K�9D�->�.DL6D.,

9>G�C79;�>N7:978?�H,.76797>:
�DF�:79>G�78�D9;>FI�8D8LF>

:7G>897,6�G7:9F7.9:)
YF>W<>8.7>:)��466�9>6>.D=

=<87.,97D8:�H,.76797>:�:;,
66�->�D5>F,9>G�D86K�,9�Y >G

>F,6�UD==<87.,97D8:�UD=
=7::7D8�@YUUA�G>:7?8,9>G

�HF>W<>8.7>:I�5DC>F�6>B>
6:�,8G�:9,8G,FG:I�78.6<G78

?�YUU�
P,G7D�YF>W<>8.K�]=7::7D

8:�:9,8G,FG:)��O;>�,5567.,
89�:;,66�5FDB7G>�.>F97H7.,9

7D8�G>=D8:9F,978?�9;,9�9;
>�=,N7=<=�,66DC,-6>�HF>

W<>8.7>:I�5DC>F�6>B>6:�,8
G�:9,8G,FG:�C766�8D9�->�

>N.>>G>G)��U>F97H7.,97D8:
�:;,66�78.6<G>�9>.;87.,6�:5

>.7H7.,97D8:I�,�CF799>8�>N5
6,8,97D8�DH�9;D:>�:5>.7H7.

,97D8:I�,8GI�7H�8>.>::,FKI
�H7>6G�B>F7H7.,97D8)��O;>�S>

F=79�\F,8978?�4<9;DF79K�=
,K�

.D8G797D8�,8K�M5>.7,6�S>F
=79�?F,89>G�<8G>F�9;7:�:>

.97D8�<5D8�,�5>F7DG7.�:<-
=799,6�DH�.>F97H7.,97D8�DH�.

D=567,8.>�C79;�:,7G�:9,8
G,FG:)

UDL6D.,97D8)V,8G:.,5>�56,8:�:<-=799
>G�C79;�9;>�,5567.,97D8�:

;,66�7G>897HK�,66�>N7:978?�B>
?>9,97D8I�:;,66�78G7.,9>�C

;7.;�B>?>9,97D8�7:�9D�->�F
>9,78>G�D8L:79>I�,8G�:;,66

�:;DC�,66�5FD5D:>G�8>C�
B>?>9,97D8�,8G�D9;>F�6,8

G:.,5>�9F>,9=>89:)
466�8>C�C7F>6>::�.D==<8

7.,97D8�9DC>F:�DF�:<55DF
9�:9F<.9<F>:�:; ,66�->�G>:7?

8>GI�9D�9;>�=,N7=<=�>N9
>89�5F,.97.,-6>�,8G�9>.;8

D6D?7.,66K�H>,:7-6>I�HDF�.D
L6D.,97D8�DH�,89>88,:�,8G

�
D9;>F�8>.>::,FK�H,.76797>:

�HDF�,9�6>,:9�9;F>>�D9;>F�C
7F>6>::�.D==<87.,97D8�5F

DB7G>F:I�:;,66�DHH>F�:5,.>
�9D�,66�D9;>F�5FDB7G>F:�,9�

=,F*>9�F,9>:I�,8G�:;,66�5
FDB7G>�HDF�9DC>F:�9;,9�.,

8�
->�>N5,8G>G�<5C,FG)��48

K�M5>.7,6�S>F=79�?F,89>G�
HDF�,�8>C�H,.7679K�<8G>F�9

;7:�:>.97D8�=,K�->�.D8G79
7D8>G�<5D8�9;>�CF799>8�,

?F>>=>89�DH�9;>�H,.7679K�D
5>F,9DF�9D�,66DC�9;>�.DL

6D.,97D8�DH�D9;>F�C7F>6>:
:�.D==<87.,97D8�5FDB7G>

F:�D8�.D==>F.7,66K�F>,:D
8,-6>�9>F=:)

466�8>C�C7F>6>::�.D==<8
7.,97D8�H,.76797>:�:;,66�->�.

DL6D.,9>GI�9D�9;>�=,N7=<
=�>N9>89�5F,.97.,-6>�,8G

�9>.;8D6D?7.,66K�H>,:7-6>I�
C79;�D8>�DF�=DF>�>N7:978

?�C7F>6>::�.D==<87.,97D
8�

H,.76797>:I�9DC>F:I�-<76G78?
:�DF�D9;>F�:9F<.9<F>:�C;D

:>�;>7?;9I�6D.,97D8�,8G�.;
,F,.9>F7:97.:�=>>9�9;>�8>

>G:�DH�9;>�5FD5D:>G�H,.76
79K)



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
()(*+)( ()(*+)(+�

,-,-,-
,-,-,-

,-,-,-
,-.,-,-

,-,-
()(*+)(/

000
00,-.

,-,-.,-
,-.,-,-

,-0
()(*/

,-,-0
00,-

,-00
,-0,-

00
102102

()(*3
,-.,-.,-.

,-.,-.,-.
,-.,-.,-.

,-.,-.,-.
,-.0

()(*(
,-.,-.,-.

,-.,-.,-.
,-.,-.,-.

,-.,-.,-.
,-.,-

()(**
,-,-,-

,-,-,-.
,-.,-.,-.

,-.,-,-
,-,-

&4�5����6768 ()(9+ ( )(9+)+.:;<
=>�?;@A:?

000
00,-.

,-.,-.,-
,-.00

00
( )(9+)/�

000
00,-.

,-.,-.,-
,-.00

00
( )(9+)3

000
00,-.

,-.,-.,-.
,-.00

00

B@C:ADE:D;<>�<FE=D=?;A<
;=@D�

GH=>F=DIJ�K=A:�@A�L@>=M:�?;<
;=@D)

.:?:AC@=AN�LHEL=DI�?;<;=@
D�GH=>F=DI?J�

?:O<I:�;A:<;E:D;�L><D;N
�@A�O<;:A�

?HLL>P�H?:) Q;R:A�I@C:ADE:D;<>�H?:�
D@;�

?L:M=K=M<>>P�>=?;:F�R:A:=D)� �45S����$&��4&&�S����
��&$�4��

&4����4& .:;<=>�T?;<G>=?RE:D;?

TUM>HF=DI�<DP�@KK=M:N�?;@A
<I:N�@A�A:L<=A�H?:�HD>:??�

@;R:AO=?:�<>>@O:F�GP�;R:
�A:IH><;=@D?�@K�;R:�F=?;A=M

;
V=AL@A;�@A�R:>=L@A; W@DC:D=:DM:�?;@A:?�K@A� ;R:�?<>:�@K�LA:L<A:F�<DF

�
L<MX<I:F�K@@F�@A� G:C:A<I:)

YD�;R:�Z[ 0�\=?;A=M;N�D@�E@
A:�;R<D�K@HA�1*2�:EL>@P::

?�?R<>>�G:�@D[?=;:�<;�<DP�;
=E:N�O<>X[HL�K<M=>=;=:?�<A:

�L:AE=;;:F�<?�<D�<MM:??@
AP�H?:�K@A�K@@F�A:;<=>�@D>P

N�<DF�;R:�:?;<G>=?RE:D;�?
R<>>�G:�M>@?:F�GP�]̂++�L)E

)
\=?L><P�_�?<>:?�;@�G:�LA=E

<A=>P�M@DFHM;:F�O=;R=D�;R
:�GH=>F=DI)

YD�;R:�Z[0�\=?;A=M;N�D@�E@
A:�;R<D�K@HA�1*2�:EL>@P::

?�?R<>>�G:�@D[?=;:�<;�<DP�;
=E:N�O<>X[HL�K<M=>=;=:?�<A:

�L:AE=;;:F�<?�<D�<MM:??@
AP�H?:�K@A�K@@F�A:;<=>�@D>P

N�<DF�;R:�:?;<G>=?RE:D;�?
R<>>�G:�M>@?:F�GP�]̂++�L)E

)
\=?L><P�_�?<>:?�;@�G:�LA=E

<A=>P�M@DFHM;:F�O=;R=D�;R
:�GH=>F=DI)

YD�;R:�Z[0�\=?;A=M;N�D@�E@
A:�;R<D�K@HA�1* 2�:EL>@P::

?�?R<>>�G:�@D[?=;:�<;�<DP�;
=E:N�O<>X[HL�K<M=>=;=:?�<A:

�L:AE=;;:F�<?�<D�<MM:??@
AP�H?:�K@A�K@@F�A:;<=>�@D>P

N�<DF�;R:�:?;<G>=?RE:D;�?
R<>>�G:�M>@?:F�GP�]̂++�L)E

)

À<D?L@A;<;=@D�a<M=>=;P BA@M:APN�G<X:APN�F:>=N� GH;MR:A�?R@LN�K=?R� E<AX:;N�M<;:A:A�@A� ?=E=><A�:?;<G>=?RE:D ;�K@A
�

;R:�LA@FHM;=@D�<DF�?<>:� @K�K@@F�<DF�G:C:A<I:).<=>A@<F�@A�GH?�F:L@;�@A� @;R:A�;A<D?L@A;<;=@D� K<M=>=;P) <̀U=M<GN�>=E@H?=D:� ?:AC=M:�<DF�?=E=><A�H?:?)
R̀:�@L:A<;=@D�@K�;<U=M<G�@

A�>=E@H?=D:�?:AC=M:�E<P�G
:�L:A E=;;:F�<?�<?�<�GH?=D

:??�H?:�@K�R@E:�HDF:A�;R
:�LA@C=?=@D?�@K�,:M;=@D�9)

+/3�OR:D�<>>�@K�;R:�K@>>@O
=DI�W@DF=;=@D?�<A:�E:;̂��/

2�@D[?=;:�<M;=C=;P�=?�>=E=;:F
�

;@�F=?L<;MR�<DF�?;@A<I:�@
K�D@�E@A:�;R<D�;O@�132�C:

R=M>:?N�32�D@�C:R=M>:�H?:F
�GP�;R:�?:AC=M:�=?�M<L<G>:

�@K�M<AAP=DI�E@A:�;R<D�:=
IR;�1b2�L<??:DI:A?N�(2�@D>

P�@MM<?=@D<>�E=D@A�C:R=M>
:�E<=D;:D<DM:�@MMHA?�@D

[?=;:N�
<DF�*2�D@�L<??:DI:A?�C=?=

;�;R:�LA:E=?:?)

\=?L><P�_�?<>:?�;@�G:�LA=E
<A=>P�M@DFHM;:F�O=;R=D�;R

:�GH=>F=DI)
Y D�;R:�Z[0�\=?;A=M;N�=K�L=MX

[HL�<DF�FA@L[@KK�KA@E�;R:
�?=;:�<A:�L:AE=;;:FN�;R:�:

?;<G>=?RE:D;�?R<>>�G:�M>@
?:F�GP�]̂++�L)E)��YD�;R<;�

F=?;A=M;N�D@�E@A:�;R<D�;RA
::�1(2�C:R=M>:?�<??@M=<;:F

�O=;R�;R:�H?:�?R<>>�G:�X:L
;�@D[

?=;:�<;�<DP�;=E:)R̀:�@L:A<;=@D�@K�<�;<U=�@A�
>=E@H?=D:�1>=C:AP2�?:AC=M:

�?R<>>�G:�M@D?=F:A:F�<�LA=
DM=L<>�H?:�A:IH><;:F�HDF:

A�;R=?�?:M;=@D�@K�;R:�ZP><O
�OR:D�<DP�@K�;R:�K@>>@O=D

I�M@DF=;=@D?�<A:�E:;̂��/2�
L<??:DI:A?�<A:�;A<D?L@A;

:F�
KA@E�@A�F:>=C:A:F�;@�;R:�

?=;:N�@AJ�32�;RA::�1(2�@A�E
@A:�C:R=M>:?�<A:�LRP?=M<>>

P�F=?L<;MR:F�KA@E�@A�?;@A
:F�@D[?=;:N�@AJ�(2�<DP�C:R

=M>:�M<AA=:?�E@A:�;R<D�:=I
R;�1b2�L<??:DI:A?N�@AJ�*2�@

D[?=;:�<M;=C=;=:?�=DM>HF:�
@DI@=DI�<??@M=<;:F�C:R=M

>:�E<=D;:D<DM:�<DF�A:L<
=A?)



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
()(*+ ( )(*+),

---
--./0

./0./0./0
./0--

--
( )(*+)+

---
--./0

./0./0./0
./0--

--
( )(*+)1

---
--./0

./0./0./0
./0--

--
()(*1 ( )(*1),23455�6

---
--./0

./0./0./0
./0--

--
( )(*1)+23455�660758

49:4;8�<:� =4:
---

--./
././-

./--
--

( )(*1)123455�666>:?@
7A9B� :75849:4;8

---
---

---
./--

--
()(*(

---
--./

././-
././-

--
C<:�57:@?;D�E<<F�<:�=7@7:

4D7�8<�B7:5<;5�?;5?F7�8G7
�=9?3F?;DH�IG7:7J�4K�8G7�7

584=3?5GL7;8�?5�<B7;�4E87
:�++J(,�B)L)�IG78G7:�43M<

G<3�?5�57:@7F�<:�;<8H�<:N�=
K�:7D4:F3755�<E�G<9:5�<E�<

B7:48?<;H�IG7:7�43M<G<3�?
5�

57:@7F�4;F�4;O�<985?F7�I
433�<E�8G48�B<:8?<;�<E�8G7�

=9?3F?;D�<MM9B?7F�=O�8G7�
7584=3?5GL7;8�?5�3<M487F�

+*,�E778�<:�3755�E:<L�4;O
�:75?F7;8?43�FI733?;D�?;�4�

075?F7;M7�F?58:?M8)�P�L4;
4D7L7;8�B34;H�45�F7E?;7F

�?;�
87:L5�<E�E<:L�4;F�M<;87;

8�=O�8G7�B7:L?8�D:4;8?;D�=
<4:F�<:�498G<:?8OH�5G433�=

7�?;M39F7F�45�4;�?;87D:43�
B4:8�<E�4;O�4BB3?M48?<;�L

4F7�9;F7:�8G?5�57M8?<;)���Q
G7�L4;4D7L7;8�B34;�5G4

33�4FF:755�B48:<;5�D48G7:
7F�

<98F<<:5�<;�8G7�B:<B7:8O
H�?;M39F?;D�8G<57�4I4?8?;D

�7;8:O)�P;O�57:@?M7�<E�E<<
F�<:�=7@7:4D75�<985?F7�8G

7�=9?3F?;D�5G433�=7�8<�B7:
5<;5�57487F�48�84=375�E<:�

8G7�B9:B<57�<E�<98F<<:�F
?;?;D)

C<:��57:@?;D��E<<F� <:�=7@7
:4D75�<985?F7�8G7�=9?3F?;

D�@?4�4�F:?@7A9B�I?;F<I�<
:�<8G7:�5?L?34:�L78G<F�8<

�B7:5<;5�:7L4?;?;D�?;�8G7
?:�@7G?M375)

6;�8G7�REE?M7�/4:S�>?58:?M8
�8<�=7�B7:L?887F�<;3O�?E�F

787:L?;7F�8<�=7�M<LB48?
=37�I?8G�8G7� ?;87;8�<E�54?F

�F?58:?M8�4;F�8G7�9575�433<
I4=37�8G7:7?;N�4;F�E9:8G7

:�8G48�?;�59MG�F?58:?M8�;<�L
<:7�8G4;�1,T�<E�8G7�4:74

�
5G433�=7�F?:7M83O�:73487F�8

<�34;F�9575�?;M39F7F�?;�8G
?5�57M8?<;H�;<:�5G433�L<:7

�8G4;�1,T�<E�8G7�;78�9574
=37�E3<<:�4:74�433<I4=37�?

;�59MG�4;�4:74�=7�5<�957F
)��P;�4:M4F7�?5�F7E?;7F�45

J��B:7L?575�<:�B<:8?<;5�<E
�

B:7L?575�IG7:7�4�B4:8O�L
4?;84?;5�E<:�M<LL7:M?43�B

9:B<57�5?U�<:�L<:7�498<L
48?M�4L957L7;8�F7@?M75�

E<:�B9=3?M�<:�L7L=7:5G?B
�957)��P;�498<L48?M�4L95

7L7;8�F7@?M7�5G433�L74;
�4;O�D4L7H�4L957L7;8�<

:�
8758�<E�5S?33�?;M39F?;DH�=98

�;<8�3?L?87F�8<J��B?;=433�L
4MG?;75H�E<<8=433�84=375H�B

<<3�84=375H�737M8:<;?M�D4L
75�<:�5?L?34:�L7MG4;?M43�

<:�737M8:<;?M�F7@?M75)

6;�8G7�VA-�>?58:?M8H�;<�L<
:7�8G4;�E<9:�WXK�7LB3<O77

5�5G433�=7�<;A5?87�48�4;O�8
?L7H�4;F�8G7�7584=3?5GL7

;8�5G433�=7�M3<57F�=O�YJ,,
�B)L)��-<�F:OAM374;?;D�5G

<B�IG7:7�8G7�M374;?;D�?5�
M<;F9M87F�<;�8G7�B:7L?5

75�
L4O�=7�<B7:487F�?;�8G7�V

A-�>?58:?M8)
6;�8G7�VA-�>?58:?M8H�;<�L<

:7�8G4;�E<9:�WXK�7LB3<O77
5�5G433�=7�<;A5?8 7�48�4;O�8

?L7H�4;F�8G7�7584=3?5GL7
;8�5G433�=7�M3<57F�=O�YJ,,

�B)L)

QG7487:H�L<8?<;�B?M89:7�G
<957H�

=<I3?;D�4337OH�F4;M7�G433H
�4:M4F7�<:�

<8G7:�?;F<<:�M<LL7:M?43
�4L957L7;8�

<:�4557L=3O�957)/7:5<;43�M4:7�7584=3?5GL
7;85)

6;�8G7�VA-�>?58:?M8H�;<�L<
:7�8G4;�E<9:�WXK�7LB3<O77

5�5G433�=7�<;A5?87�48�4;O �8
?L7H�4;F�8G7�7584=3?5GL7

;8�5G433�=7�M3<57F�=O�YJ,,
�B)L)

C<:�57:@?;D�E<<F�<:�=7@7:
4D7�8<�B7:5<;5�?;5?F7� 8G7

�=9?3F?;DH�IG7:7�7?8G7:J�4
K�;<�43M<G<3�?5�57:@7F�4;F

�8G7�7584=3?5GL7;8�?5�;<8
�<B7;�4E87:�++J(,�B)L)H�<

:N�=K�43M<G<3�?5�57:@7FH�8G
7�7584=3?5GL7;8�?5�;<8�<B

7;�
4E87:�++J(,�B)L)H�4;F�4;O

�<985?F7�I433�<E�8G48�B<:8
?<;�<E�8G7�=9?3F?;D�<MM9B

?7F�=O�8G7�7584=3?5GL7;8
�?5�3<M487F�L<:7�8G4;�+*,

�E778�E:<L�4;O�:75?F7;8?4
3�FI733?;D�?;�4�075?F7;M7�

F?58:?M8)�P�L4;4D7L7;8�B
34;H�

45�F7E?;7F�?;�87:L5�<E�E<:
L�4;F�M<;87;8�=O�8G7�B7:

L?8�D:4;8?;D�=<4:F�<:�498
G<:?8OH�5G433�=7�?;M39F7F�4

5�4;�?;87D:43�B4:8�<E�4;O�4
BB3?M48?<;�L4F7�9;F7:�8G

?5�57M8?<;)�QG7�L4;4D7L
7;8�B34;�5G433�4FF:755�

B48:<;5�D48G7:7F�<98F<<
:5�<;�8G7�B:<B7:8OH�?;M39F

?;D�8G<57�4I4?8?;D�7;8:O)
��P;O�57:@?M7�<E�E<<F�<:�=

7@7:4D75�<985?F7�8G7�=9?3
F?;D�5G433�=7�8<�B7:5<;5�5

7487F�48�84=375�E<:�8G7�B9
:B<57�<E�<98F<<:�F?;?;D)

075849:4;8H�M4EZH� 39;MG:<<LH�M4E787:?4�<:� 5?L?34:�B34M7)
6;�8G7�VA-�>?58:?M8H�E<:�4�2

3455�6�:75849:4;8�8 G7:7�5G
433�=7�;<�L<:7�8G4;�4�8<8

43�<E�(,�57485H�=<8G�?;F<<
:�4;F�<98F<<:)��.7:@?M7�<

E�43M<G<3�5G433�M7457�48�YJ
,,�B)L)H�4;F�4;O�<985?F7�

I433�<E�4�=9?3F?;D�<MM9B?7
F�=O�

8G7�7584=3?5GL7;8�5G433�=
7�3<M487F�L<:7�8G4;�+,,

�E778�E:<L�4;O�:75?F7;8?4
3�FI733?;D�?;�4�075?F7;M7�

F?58:?M8)��[43SA9B�E4M?3?8?7
5�L4O�=7�B7:L?887F�45�4;

�4MM755<:O�957�?;�M<;M7:8
�I?8G�<98F<<:�F?;?;D�<;�8

G7�
B:7L?575)

C<<F�\�>:?;S�]584=3?5GL7
;85V4:=7:�<:�=7498O�5G<BH� G4?:�543<;H�84;;?;D�543<;� <:�5?L?34:�B34M7�E<:� B7:5<;43�M4:7�57:@?M75) 4̂9;F:O�<:�F:OAM374;?;D� 5G<BH�<:�573EA57:@?M7�F:OA M374;?;D�<:�349;F:O) Q4?3<:H�D4:L7;8� L4S7:H� L?33?;7:H�M<==37:H�<:� <8G7:�5G<B�E<:�8G7�:7B4?:

�
<:�L4;9E4M89:7�4;F�5437� <E�M3<8G?;D�<:�E<<8I74:)



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
()(*+

,,-.
-.,-./

-.-.-.
-./,,

,,
()(** ( )(**)0

,,,
,,-./

-./-./-./
-./,,

,,
( )(**)1

,,,
,,-./

-./-./-./
-./,,

,,
()(*2

,,,
,,-.

-.-.-./
-./,,

,,
()(*3

-.,,
,,,

-.,-.
-./,,

,,
4,5

()(*6 ( )(*6)0
,,,

,,-./
-./-./-.

-./-./,
,,

( )(*6)1
,,-.

,,-./
-./-./-./

-./-./-.
-./,

.7898:;<=7>;?@�@9ABC8 D>9>;CE<;F�>@9<GHC@7I>E9
J�K>EE>HJ�8;�

=H<L>�M8;�97>�G8<;BCE:�8M
�<ECI<H@)

NAE>;<H�>@9<GHC@7I>E9@ -9ABC8@�O�;>=<C;�@78=@ />=<C;�@78=�M8;�78A@>78H
B�

<==HC<EL>@J�;<BC8�<EB� 9>H>PC@C8E�@>9@J�8;�8MMCL>� >QAC= I>E9) -78=�8M�<�GCLFLH>�I>L7<E
CLJ�=;CE9>;J�

GH<LK@IC97J�GACHB>;J�L<;=
>E9>;J�

L<9>;>;J�>H>L9;CLC<EJ�H<RE
I8R>;�

I>L7<ECLJ�I<@8EJ�=<CE9>
;J�=HAIG>;J�

;88M>;�8;�897>;�I>IG>;�
8M�<�

;>L8:ECS>B�9;<B>) TMMCL>�U@>@
N8;�97>�=A;=8@>@�8M�97C@�@

>L9C8EJ�97>�=AGHCL�@7<HH�G>
�B>MCE>B�<@�CELHABCE:�<HH�=

>;@8E@�<L9C E:�<@�LA@98I>
;@�8;�LHC>E9@�;>L>CPCE:�@>;

PCL>@)��V.;>B8ICE<E9HF�GF
�<==8CE9I>E9W�@7<HH�I><

E�97<9�<�I<X8;C9F�8M�
LA@98I>;@�8;�LHC>E9@�R78

�<;>�=;8PCB>B�@>;PCL>@�CE�
=>;@8E�8E�97>�=;>IC@>@�B

A;CE:�<EF�>Y9>EB>B�=>;C8
B�8M�8=>;<9C8E�4I8E97HFJ

�QA<;9>;HFJ�8;�<EEA<HHF5�@7
<HH�B8�@8�97;8A:7�=;C8;�<=

=8CE9I>E9)��ZYL>=9C8E@�@
7<HH�

G>�BC@L;>9C8E<;F�M8HH8R[A
=�PC@C9@�GF�LA@98I>;@�8;�L

HC>E9@�RC97�;>:<;B�98�@>;P
CL>@�<H;><BF�=;8PCB>BJ�PC@

C9@�GF�<MMCHC<9>B�=;8M>@@C8
E<H@�8;�L8E@AH9<E9@J�@<H>@

=>;@8E@J�@>;PCL>�L8E9;<L9
8;@�4B>HCP>;FJ�I<CE9>E<EL

>J�
>9L)5J�<EB�97>�HCK>)��TMMCL>

�A@>@�AEB>;�97C@�@>L9C8E�@
7<HH�<BP>;9C@>�97>C;�8E[=;

>IC@>@�@>;PCL>@�<@�G>CE:�
<P<CH<GH>�98�97>�:>E>;<H�=

AGHCL�8EHF�GF�<==8CE9I>E
9)

\>L7ECL<H�8;�=;8M>@@C8E<H
�

8MMCL>�@AL7�<@�<;L7C9>L9J� >E:CE>>;J�H<RF>;J� MCE<ELC<H�@>;PCL>@J�8;� @CICH<;�8MMCL>�=;8PCBCE:� @>;PCL>@�=;>B8ICE<E9HF� GF��<==8CE9I>E9�98�97>� =AGHCL�CE�=>;@8E�8E�97>� =;>IC@>@)]<EKJ�H8<E�<:>ELFJ�;><H� >@9<9>J�CE@A;<EL>�8;� 897>;�GA@CE>@@�8;� =;8M>@@C8E<H�8MMCL>� =;8PCBCE:�@>;PCL>@�98�97>� =AGHCL�CE�=>;@8E�8E�97>� =;>IC@>@)
Ê�97>�][,�_C@9;CL9J�E8�B;CP

>[97;8A:7�M<LCHC9C>@�@7<HH�G
>�=>;IC99>B)��\7>;>�@7<HH�

G>�E8�I8;>�97<E�@CY�425�>
I=H8F>>@�8E[@C9>�<9�<EF�:

CP>E�9CI>J�<EB�97>�>@9<GH
C@7I>E9�@7<HH�G>�LH8@>B�G

F�3̀00�=)I)
Ê�97>�][,�_C@9;CL9J�<�P>9>;

CE<;F�LHCECL�I<F�G>�8=>;<
9>B�AEB>;�97>�=;8PC@C8E@�

8M�97C@�@>L9C8EJ�GA9�E8�K>
EE>H�8;�8P>;EC:79�G8<;BCE

:�8M�<ECI<H@�@7<HH�G>�=>;I
C99>B)��\7>;>�@7<HH�G>�E8�I

8;>�97<E�M8A;�4+5�
>I=H8F>>@�8E[@C9>�<9�<EF

�:CP>E�9CI>J�<EB�97>�>@9<
GHC@7I>E9�@7<HH�G>�LH8@>B

�GF�3̀00�=)I)
Ê�97>�][,�_C@9;CL9J�97>;>�@

7<HH�G>�E8�I8;>�97<E�M8A
;�4+5�>I=H8F>>@�8E[@C9>�<

9�<EF�:CP>E�9CI>)��,8�8=>
;<9C8E@�@7<HH�G>�<HH8R>B�=

;C8;�98�3̀00�<)I)�8;�<M9>;�
3̀00�=)I)

aHH�9;<B>@�@78=�8=>;<9C8E
@�@7<HH�AEB>;9<K>�<HH�;><@

8E<GH>�I><@A;>@�98�=;>P
>E9�E8C@>J�PCG;<9C8EJ�BA@9

J�MAI>@�8;�8B8;@�M;8I�L;>
<9CE:�<�BC@9A;G<EL>�8;�EA

C@<EL>�G>F8EB�97>�HCIC9@�
8M�97>�>@9<GHC@7I>E9)��,8

�
8=>;<9C8E@�@7<HH�G>�<HH8R

>B�R7CL7�<;>�7<S<;B8A@�G
F�;><@8E�8M�=89>E9C<H�MC;>

J�>Y=H8@C8EJ�;<BC<9C8E�8;�@
CICH<;�7<S<;B)

aHH�R8;K�<EB�@98;<:>�98�G
>�L8EBAL9>B�RC97CE�<�GAC

HBCE:)�



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
()(*+),

--./
--./0

./0./0./0
./0./0./0

./0-
1)� ,)� ()� 2)� *)�

()(*3
---

--./0
./0./0./

./0./0./0
./0- 4./5

()(67 ()(67)789:
;<=>�?@@;<9

--./
--./0

./0./0./
./0./0-

./-
( )(67)189:

;<=>�AB?CD� DB=<E;<9
---

--./0
./0./0./

./0./0-
--

( )(67),89:
;<=>�<9FE9B

---
--./0

./0./0-
./0./0-

--
( )(67)(

---
--./0

./0./0-
./0./0-

--

89:;<=>�?B�:9FE=>�>=G?B=
E?BHI:J;F;KEB=E;L9�GCK;F9KK� ?@@;<9�?B�K;J;>=B�GCK;F9KK

�
?B�DB?@9KK;?F=>�?@@;<9�F?E

�
DB?L;:;FA�K9BL;<9K�E?�EM9� A9F9B=>�DCG>;<�;F�D9BK?F� ?F�EM9�DB9J;K9K) N>;F;<�?B�9J9BA9F<H�<=B9

�
@=<;>;EH

. 99�:9@;F;E;?F�CF:9B�IBE;<
>9�1,)��OF�EM9�0PQN�R;KEB;<

ES�=�J9:;<=>�?@@;<9�KM=>>�G
9�D9BJ;EE9:�?F>H�CF:9B�=

�.D9<;=>�/9BJ;E�=K�D=BE�?@
�=�J;T9:�CK9�CF:9B�.9<E;?

F�()(,*S�=F:�;K�F?E�?EM9BU
;K9�D9BJ;EE9:)

OF�EM9�VP-�R;KEB;<ES�EM9B9�
KM=>>�G9�F?�J?B9�EM=F�K;T

�465�9JD>?H99K�?FPK;E9�=E
�=FH�A;L9F�E;J9S�=F:�EM9�9

KE=G>;KMJ9FE�KM=>>�G9�<>?
K9:�GH�WX77�D)J)

.M=>>�G9�=>>?U9:�?F>H�=K�=
�K9<?F:�/B;F<;D=>�CK9S�UM

9B9�EM9�@;BKE�/B;F<;D=>�CK9
�;K�=�B9K;:9FE;=>�CK9)

Y?B�EM9�DCBD?K9K�?@�EM9K9
�K9<E;?FKS�EM9�DCG>;<�KM=>>

�G9�:9@;F9:�=K�;F<>C:;FA�=
>>�D9BK?FK�=<E;FA�=K�<CKE?

J9BK�?B�<>;9FEK)�ZT<9DE;?F
K�KM=>>�G9�=@@;>;=E9:�DB?@9

KK;?F=>K�?B�<?FKC>E=FEKS�K
=>9KD9BK?FKS�K9BL;<9�

<?FEB=<E?BK�4:9>;L9BHS�J=
;FE9F=F<9S�9E<)5S�=F:�EM9�

>;[9)��-?�?@@;<9�CK9�CF:9B
�EM;K�K9<E;?F�KM=>>�=:L9BE;

K9�;EK�K9BL;<9K�=K�G9;FA�=L
=;>=G>9�E?�<CKE?J9BK�=F:

�<>;9FEK�?F�EM9�DB9J;K9K)�
�.9BL;<9K�KM=>>�G9�=:L9BE;

K9:�=K�
G9;FA�=L=;>=G>9�9T<>CK;L9>

H�GH�E9>9DM?F9S�J=;>S�?FP
>;F9S�?B�?EM9B�B9J?E9�J9

=FK)�

\M9B9�>?<=E9:�;F�=F�9T;K
E ;FA�:U9>>;FAS�EM9�B9K;:9F

E;=>�<M=B=<E9B�?@�EM9�KEBC<
ECB9�=F:�K;E9�KM=>>�G9�J=

;FE=;F9:)
OF�EM9�VP-�R;KEB;<ES�EM9B9�

KM=>>�G9�F?�J?B9�EM=F�K;T
�465�9JD>?H99K�?FPK;E9�=E

�=FH�A;L9F�E;J9S�=F:�EM9�9
KE=G>;KMJ9FE�KM=>>�G9�<>?

K9:�GH�WX77�D)J)

OF�EM9�VP-�R;KEB;<ES�EM9B9�
KM=>>�G9�F?�J?B9�EM=F�K;T

�465�9JD>?H99K�?FPK;E9�=E
�=FH �A;L9F�E;J9S�=F:�EM9�9

KE=G>;KMJ9FE�KM=>>�G9�<>?
K9:�GH�WX77�D)J)

89:;<=>�]K9K

OF�EM9�/0/�R;KEB;<ES�CK9K�C
F:9B�EM9K9�K9<E;?FK�KM=>>

�G9�>?<=E9:�?F�D=B<9>K�K9
BL9:�GH�E?UF�U=E9B�=F:�K

9U9B)��-?EU;EMKE=F:;FA�E
�M9�DB?L;K;?FK�?@�@??EF?E

9�@)S�?@�̂=G>9�(S�R;J9FK;?
F=>�09AC>=E;?FKS�UM9F�=�C

K9�
CF:9B�EM9K9�K9<E;?FK�;K�>?

<=E9:�?F�=�DB?D9BEH�=:_?
;F;FA�=�B9K;:9FE;=>�:;KEB;<E

S�=�J;F;JCJ�*7P@??E�CF;F
E9BBCDE9:�L9A9E=E9:�GC@@

9B�KM=>>�G9�9KE=G>;KM9:�=F
:�J=;FE=;F9:�G9EU99F�GC

;>:;FAK�=KK?<;=E9:�U;EM�CK
9K�

CF:9B�EM;K�K9<E;?F�=F:�EM
9�F9=B9KE�B9K;:9FE;=>�DB?D

9BEH�G?CF:=B;9K)��\M9F�E
M9�.D9<;=>�/9BJ;E�̀B=FE;F

A�ICEM?B;EH�?B�/9BJ;E�̀B=
FE;FA�V?=B:�:9E9BJ;F9�EM

=E�=F�;F<B9=K9:�GC@@9B�;K�
U=BB=FE9:�=F:�EM9�KCG_9<

E�
DB?D9BEH�=F:�K;E9�>=H?CE�

=>>?US�=�L9A9E=E9:�GC@@9B
�?@�CD�E?�177�@99E�;F�U;:E

M�J=H�G9�B9aC;B9:)��.=;:�
GC@@9B�J=H�;F<>C:9�=FH�:

B;L9K�?B�B?=:U=HK)
OF�EM9�0PQN�R;KEB;<ES�EM9�b

?F;FA�V?=B:�?@�IDD9=>K�J
=H�AB=FE�=�.D9<;=>�/9BJ;E

�@?B�=F�?@@;<9�CK9�CF:9B�.
9<E;?FK�()(*+)1�?B�()(*+)

,�DB?L;:;FA�;E�@;F:K�EM=ES�;
F�=::;E;?F�E?�J99E;FA�EM9

�DB?L;K;?FK�?@�IBE;<>9�W�=F
:�

.9<E;?F�17)(+S�EM9�DB?D?
K9:�?@@;<9�CK9�J99EK�EM9�

@?>>?U;FA�<?F:;E;?FKX
OK�>?<=E9:�?F�EM9�AB?CF:�

@>??B�? F>HS�=F:�?<<CD;9K�F
?�J?B9�EM=F�*7�D9B<9FE�?

@�EM9�AB?KK�@>??B�=B9=�?@�E
M9�KEBC<ECB9S�9T<>CK;L9�?@

�KE?B=A9�KD=<9)
cY?B�.9<E;?FK�()(*+)1�=F:

�()(*+),S�;F<>CK;L9d .M=B9K�=�DB?D9BEH�>;F9�U;
EM�?B�;K�=:_=<9FE�E?�=F?EM

9B�DB?D9BEH�U;EM�=�K;J;>=
B�CK9�D9BJ;EE9:�CF:9B�EM

;K�K9<E;?F�?B�=�DB?D9BEH�;F
�EM9�VPeS�VPQN�?B�Nf8�:;K

EB;<EK)

.99�:9@;F;E;?F�CF:9B�IBE;<
>9�1,)��OF�EM9�VP-�R;KEB;<ES

�EM9B9�KM=>>�G9�F?�J?B9�E
M=F�9;AME�4+5�9 JD>?H99K�

?FPK;E9�=E�=FH�A;L9F�E;J9
S�=F:�EM9�9KE=G>;KMJ9FE�K

M=>>�G9�<>?K9:�GH�WX77�D)J
)

.99�:9@;F;E;?F�CF:9 B�IBE;<
>9�1,)

IF�?CED=E;9FE�DCG>;<�M9=
>EM�<>;F;<�=K�:9@;F9:�CF:9

B�IBE;<>9�1,)

ZJD>?HK�F?�J?B9�EM=F�(�
D9BK?FK�4@?B�=�.9<E;?F�()(

*+)1�?@@;<95�?B�*�D9BK?FK�
4.9<E;?F�()(*+),5�UM?�U?

B[�?F�PK;E9S�?EM9B�EM=F�B9K
;:9FEK�?@�EM9�DB?D9BEH)



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
()(*+

,,,
,,,

-./,,
-./,-./

,,
()(*0

,,,
,,-./

-./-./-./
-./,,

,,
()(*( ( )(*()1

,,,
,,-.

-.2-.,
-.-.-.

,,
()(*()+

,,,
,,-.

-.-.,
-.-.-.

,,
()(*()0

,,,
,,-.

-.-.,
-.,-.

,,
( )(*()(

,,,
,,-.

-.2-.,
-.-.-.

,,
( )(*()3

,,-.
,,-.

-.� -./2-.-.
-./-./-./

-./,
( )(*()4

,,-.
,,-.

-.� -./2-.-.
-./-./-./

-./,
( )(*()*

,,,
,,-.

-.-.,
-.-.-.

-.,
( )(*()5

,,-.
,,-.

-.� -./2-.-.
-./-./-. /

-./,

-66�7689:9;9<:�=:76>�?>;9@
A6�+0)�-=BC6@;�;<�;D6�E;F:

7F>7E�F:7�@<:79;9<:E�A9E;6
7�B6A<G)

H88I-9;6�J679@FA�JF>9C=F:
F�K9EL6:EF>M�NHJJKO -66�7689:9;99<:�=:76>�?>;9

@A6�+0)�-=BC6@;�;<�;D6�E;F
:7F>7E�F:7�@<:79;9<:E�A9 E

;67�B6A<G)
P:76L6:76:;�JF>9C=F:F�Q

6E;9:R�SFB<>F;<>M
/6@>6F;9<:FA�JF>9C=F:F�/

6;F9A6>�N/J/O -66�7689:9;9<:�=:76>�?>;9@
A6�+0)�-=BC6@;�;<�;D6�E;F:

7F>7E�F:7�@<:79;9<:E�A9E;6
7�B6A<G)

-D<L�<8�F�L<;;6>T�@6>FU9E
;T�E@=AL;<>T�

E9AV6>EU9;DT�C6G6A6>T�AFL97
F>MT�G6FV6>T�

@A<@WUFW6>T�U=E9@FA�9:E;>
=U6:;�UFW6>T�G<<7�

@F>V6>T�R>FLD9@�F>;9E;T�A6F
;D6>�G<>W6>�N:<;�

9:@A=79:R�;F::9:R�<>�L><@
6EE9:ROT�

@F:7A6UFW6>T�<>�E9U9AF>�@
>F8;EL6>E<:)

?AA�G<>W�F:7�E;<>FR6�;<�B
6�@<:7=@;67�G9;D9:�F�B=9

A79:R)
X>F8;�JF>9C=F :F�X=A;9VF;<

>�X<<L6>F;9V6�Y�JF>9C=F:
F�X=A;9VF;<>

JF>9C=F:F�.><7=@;�JF:=
8F@;=>6>�Y�JF>9C=F:F�J9@

><IB=E9:6EE- 66�7689:9;9<:�=:76>�?>;9@
A6�+0)�-=BC6@;�;<�;D6�E;F:

7F>7E�F:7�@<:79;9<:E�A9E;6
7�B6A<G)

2?AA<G67�<:AM�9:�;D<E6�Z
IS�79E;>9@;E�GD9@D�@<I<@@=

>�G9;D�;D6�/YK�<V6>AFM�7
9E;>9@;)

2P:�;D<E6�F>6FE�<8�;D6�ZIS
�79E;>9@; �GD9@D�@<9:@976�G

9;D�;D6�/6E6F>@D�Y�K6V6A
<LU6:;�N/YKO�<V6>AFM�79

E;>9@;T�-9;6�.AF:�/6V96G�FL
L><VFA�EDFAA�B6�>6[=9>67�8

<>�=E6E�>6R=AF;67�=:76>�;
D9E�E6@;9<:)�P:�FAA�<;D6>�F>

6FE�
<8�;D6�ZIS�K9E;>9@;T�F�-L6@

9FA�.6>U9;�EDFAA�B6�>6[=9>6
7�8><U�;D6�\<:9:R�Z<F>7�

<8�?LL6FAE)
2P:�;D<E6�F>6F E�<8�;D6�ZIS

�79E;>9@;�GD9@D�@<9:@976�G
9;D�;D6�/6E6F>@D�Y�K6V6A

<LU6:;�N/YKO�<V6>AFM�79
E;>9@;T�-9;6�.AF:�/6V96G�FL

L><VFA�EDFAA�B6�>6[=9>67�8
<>�=E6E�>6R=AF;67�=:76>�;

D9E�E6@;9<:)�P:�FAA�<;D6>�F>
6FE�

<8�;D6�ZIS�K9E;>9@;T�F�-L6@
9FA�.6>U9;�EDFAA�B6�>6[=9>6

7�8><U�;D6�\<:9:R�Z<F>7�
<8�?LL6FAE)

-66�7689:9;9<:�=:76>�?>;9@
A6�+0)�-=BC6@;�;<�;D6�E;F:

7F>7E�F:7�@<:79;9<:E�A9E;6
7�B6A<G)

JF>9C=F:F�Q>F:EL<>;6>

2?AA<G67�<:AM�9:�;D<E6�Z
IS�79E>9@;E�GD9@D�@<I<@@=>

�G9;D�;D6�/YK�<V6>AFM�79E
;>9@;)

2P:�;D<E6�F>6FE�<8�;D6�ZIS
�79 E;>9@;�GD9@D�@<9:@976�G

9;D�;D6�/6E6F>@D�Y�K6V6A
<LU6:;�N/YKO�<V6>AFM�79

E;>9@;T�-9;6�.AF:�/6V96G�FL
L><VFA�EDFAA�B6�>6[=9>67�8

<>�=E6E�>6R=AF;67�=:76>�;
D9E�E6@;9<:)�P:�FAA�<;D6>�F>

6FE�
<8�;D6�ZIS�K9E;>9@;T�F�-L6@

9FA�.6>U9;�EDFAA�B6�>6[=9>6
7�8><U�;D6�\<:9:R�Z<F>7�

<8�?LL6FAE)
-66�7689:9;9<:�=:76>�?>;9@

A6�+0)�-=BC6@;�;<�;D6�E;F:
7F>7E�F:7�@<:79;9<:E�A9E;6

7�B6A<G)
JF>9C=F:F�/6E6F>@D�]F@9A

9;M-66�7689:9;9<:�=:76>�?>;9@
A6�+0)�-=BC6@;�;<�;D6�E;F:

7F>7E�F:7�@<:79;9<:E�A9E;6
7�B6A<G)

JF>9C=F:F�̂E6E J679@FA�JF>9C=F:F�Q>6F;
U6:;�X6:;6>�NJJQXO

?=@;9<:�RFAA6>M�8<>�6_D9B9
;9<:T�EFA6�BM�

F=@;9<:T�E<I@FAA67�̀;FR�EF
A6È�F:7�E<I

@FAA67�̀8A6F�UF>W6;È)



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
()(*()+

,,,
,,,

,,,
,,,

,,
( )(*()-

,,,
,,,

,,,
,,,

,,
.) /) 0)� 1)� 2)� 3)� 4) 5)� 6)� () 0)� .7 /7 (7 1)�8�90:064;4:<�=>0:�0?�@4

ABC@43�B:34@�<D4�EB>4?�0:
3�E46B>0<CF:?�F5� <D4��=4@;

C<�G@0:<C:6�8B<DF@C<HI�C:2
>B3C:6�0�34?2@CJ<CF:�F5�0>

>�02<CKC<C4?�<F�F22B@�F:�?C<
4I�C:2>B3C:6�0>>�

J@FKC?CF:?�5F@�<D4�34>CK4@
H�F5�;0@CLB0:0�0:3�@4>0<4

3�J@F3B2<?�<F�90@CLB0:0�
M?<01>C?D;4:<?�F@�F55N?C<4

�3C@42<�34>CK4@H�2F:?C?<4:
<�OC<D�?<0<4�>0O�0:3�@46B

>0<CF:?P�
8�<@055C2�C;J02<�@4JF@<�0?

�?4<�5F@<D�C:�<D4�E B>4?�0:3
�E46B>0<CF:?�F5�<D4�=4@;

C<�G@0:<C:6�8B<DF@C<H�?D0
>>�14�34K4>FJ43�0:3�?B1;

C<<43�OC<D�<D4�0JJ>C20<CF:
)

E46B>0<CF:?)�QD4�5F>>FOC:
6�@46B>0<CF:?�?D0>>�0JJ>H�

<F�B?4?�B:34@�<DC?�?42<CF:
R

S?4�E46B>0<CF:?) QD 4�DFB@?�F5�FJ4@0<CF:�?D
0>>�14�?4<�BJ�<D4�=4@;C<�G

@0:<C:6�8B<DF@C<HI�1B<�C:�
:F�4K4:<�?D0>>�0�502C>C<H�1

4�FJ4:�<F�<D4�JB1>C2I�:F@
�?D0>>�0:H�?0>4�F@�F<D4@�3C

?<@C1B<CF:�F5�
;0@CLB0:0�F22B@�BJF:�<D

4�J@4;C?4?�F@�KC0�34>CK4@H
�5@F;�<D4�J@4;C?4?I�14<O

44:�<D4�DFB@?�F5�+RTT�J);
)�0:3�+RTT�0);)

,F�;0@CLB0:0�?D0>>�14�?;
FU43I�40<4:�F@�F<D4@OC?4

�2F:?B;43�F@�C:64?<43�F
:�<D4�J@4;C?4?)

VF20<CF:0>�0: 3�=DH?C20>�E
4ABC@4;4:<?

8JJ>C20<CF:�E4ABC@4;4:<
?)��81FK4�0:3�14HF:3�<D4

�?<0:30@3�0JJ>C20<CF:�@4A
BC@4;4:<?�5F@�WJ42C0>�=4@

;C<?�0:3�WC<4�=>0:�E4KC4O
�0JJ@FK0>I�0:�0JJ>C20<CF:

�5F@�0�B?4�B:34@�<DC?�?42<
CF:�?D0>>�

C:2>B34�<D4�5F>>FOC:6R QD4�:0;4�0:3�033@4??�F5
�402D�FO:4@�F5�<D4�502C>C<

HXFJ4@0<CF:P
YFJC4?�F5�0>>�3F2B;4 :<0<

CF:�34;F:?<@0<C:6�0JJ@F
J@C0<4�0JJ>C20<CF:�?<0<B?�

B:34@�?<0<4�>0OI�F@�@46C?<
@0<CF:�F@�>C24:?4I�C??B43�<

F�<D4�0JJ>C20:<�1H�<D4�YF
;;F:O40><D�F5�

90??02DB?4<<?�0:3�0:H�F
5�C<?�064:2C4?�5F@�<D4�502C>

C<HP
MKC34:24�<D0<�<D4�8JJ>C20

:<�D0?�?C<4�2F:<@F>�0: 3�<D
4�@C6D<�<F�B?4�<D4�?C<4�5F@

�0�502C>C<H�C:�<D4�5F@;�F5�0
�3443�F@�K0>C3�JB@2D0?4�0

:3�?0>4�06@44;4:<I�F@I�C:
�<D4�20?4�F5�0�>40?4I�0�

:F<0@CZ43�?<0<4;4:<�5@F;
�<D4�J@FJ4@<H�FO:4@�0:3�

0�2FJH�F5�<D4�>40?4�06@44
;4:<P

8�:F<0@CZ43�?<0<4;4:<�?C6
:4 3�1H�<D4�F@60:CZ0<CF:[?

�YDC45�M\42B<CK4�]55C24@�0
:3�2F@JF@0<4�0<<F@:4H�3C

?2>F?C:6�0>>�F5�C<?�34?C6:0<
43�@4J@4?4:<0<CK4?I�C:2>B

3C:6�F55C24@?�0:3�
3C@42<F@?I�?D0@4DF>34@?I�J

0@<:4@?I�;4;14@?I�;0:0
64@?I�3C@42<F@?I�F55C24@?I�F

@�F<D4@�?C;C>0@>HN?C<B0<43
�C:3CKC3B0>?�0:3�4:<C<C4?�0

:3�<D4C@�033@4??4?)��̂5�0:
H�F5�<D4�01FK4�0@4�4:<C<C4

?�
@0<D4@�<D0:�J4@?F:?I�<D4�

8JJ>C20:<�;B?<�3C?2>F?4�<
D4�C34:<C<H�F5�0>>�?B2D�@4?

JF:?C1>4�C:3CKC3B0>�J4@?F
:?P

:̂�033C<CF:�<F�OD0<�C?�:F@
;0>>H�@4ABC@43�C:�0�?C<4�J

>0:�JB@?B0:<�<F�W42<CF:�.
.)/I�34<0C>?�?DFOC:6�0>>�4\

<4@CF@�J@FJF?43�?42B@C<H�
;40?B@4?�5F@�<D4�J@4;C?4

?I�C:2>B3C:6�>C6D<C:6I�
54:2C:6I�60<4?�0:3�0>0@;?

I�4<2)�4:?B@C:6�<D4�?054<H
�F5�4;J>FH44?�0:3�J0<@F:

?�0:3�<F�J@F<42<�<D4�J@4;
C?4?�5@F;�<D45<�F@�F<D4@�2

@C;C:0>�02<CKC<HP

W<0:30@3?�0:3�YF:3C<CF:
?�_0JJ>C4?�<F�0>>�90@CLB0:0

�M?<01>C?D;4:<?I�0:3�C5�0J
J>C201>4I�?D0>>�14�C:�02F@3

0:24�OC<D�E46B>0<CF:?�F5
�

<D4�Y0::01C?�YF:<@F>�YF;
;C??CF:I�-(̀�Y9E�̀TT7R

W44�345C:C<CF:�B:34@�8@<C2
>4�./)�WB1L42<�<F�<D4�?<0:

30@3?�0:3�2F:3C<CF:?�>C?<4
3�14>FO)

8�KCF>0<CF: �F5�<D4�aF?<�YF
;;B:C<H�86@44;4:<�;0H

�@4?B><�C:�<D4�@4KF20<CF:�F
5�0�WJ42C0>�=4@;C<�F@�WC<4�

=>0:�E4KC4O�0JJ@FK0>)

=B@JF?4)��̂<�C?�@42F6:CZ43
�<D0<�<D4�:0<B@4�F5�<D4�?B

1?<0:24�2B><CK0<43I�J@F24
??43I�0:3XF@�?F>3�1H�90@

CLB0:0�M?<01>C?D;4:<?�0:
3�?DFB>3�14�>F20<43�C:�?B

2D�0�O0H�0?�<F�4:?B@4�<D4
�D40><DI�

?054<H�0:3�64:4@0>�O4>>N1
4C:6�F5�<D4�JB1>C2�0?�O4>>

�0?�J0<C4:<?�?44UC:6�<@40<
;4:<�0:3�2B?<F;4@?�?44

UC:6�<F�JB@2D0?4�;0@CLB0
:0�5F@�@42@40<CF:0>�B?4)��Q

D4�?J42C5C2�0:3�?4J0@0<4�
@46B>0<CF:�F5�

90@CLB0:0�M?<01>C?D;4:<
?�C?�:424??0@H�<F�03K0:24

�<D4?4�JB@JF?4?)
WB1L42<�<F�<D4�J@FKC?CF:?

�F5�<DC?�bF:C:6�cH>0OI�YD0
J<4@�dT8�F5�<D4�90??02DB

?4<<?�G4:4@0>�V0O?I�0:3�.
T̀�Y9E�e/̀)TTTI��9)G)V)

�YD0J<4@�-dGI�9)G)V)�YD0
J<4@�-d̂I�0:3�-(̀�Y9E�̀T

TI�90@CLB0:0�
M?<01>C?D;4:<?�OC>>�14�J4

@;C<<43�<F�J@FKC34�6FF3?
�0:3�?4@KC24?�0?�0>>FO43�

1H�<D4�05F@4;4:<CF:43�>0
O?�0:3�@46B>0<CF:?)

W44�345C:C<CF:�B:34@�8@<C2
>4�./)�WB1L42<�<F�<D4�?<0:

30@3?�0:3�2F:3C<CF:?�>C?<4
3�14>FO)

90@CLB0:0�WF2C0>�YF:?B;
J<CF:�]J4@0<CF:�f�90@CLB

0:0�WF2C0>�
YF:?B;J<CF:�]J4@0<F@�f

�90@CLB0:0�WF2C0>�Y>B1 W44�345C:C<CF:�B:34@�8@<C2
>4�./)�WB1L42<�<F�<D4�?<0:

30@3?�0:3�2F:3C<CF:?�>C?<4
3�14>FO)

90@CLB0:0�g4>CK4@HN]:>H�
E4<0C>4@



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	�� () *) +) ,) -) .) /0 () *) +) ,) 10� () *) 20 () -) .) 30� 330� 3330� 340 40�5678-37379�-7:�;2<
312783-=�><2?�2@/2A8379�-�

B3@21C><2�.>3=1379�>712;
�D2/8367�+0+*E�6F�8G2�H67

379�I:=-J0

K6�6>8<312�<86;-92�6F�B-
;3L>-7-?�;2=-821�<>AA=32<?

�6;�21>/-8367-=�B-82;3-=<
�3<�A2;B388210

M;-7<F2;NO3</67 837>-7/2
�6F�P<2 Q�DA2/3-=�R2;B38�6;�D382�R

=-7�S2432J�-AA;64-=�9;-7
821�>712;�8G3<�D2/8367�3<�

767C8;-7<F2 ;-.=2�-71�<G-
==�G-42�-�82;B�=3B3821�86�

8G2�1>;-8367�6F�8G2�-AA=3/
-78T<�6J72;<G3A�6;�

=2-<379�6F�8G2�A;2B3<2<�-
<�-7�U-;3L>-7-�V<8-.=3<GB

2780
W7�JG3/G�/G3=1;27�/6BB6

7=:�/679;29-82�37�-7�6;9-
73X2 1�6796379�F6;B-=�.-<

3<�8G-8�3<�768�-�YC(*�</G66
=Z�6;

[J721�.:�-71�6A2;-821�
-<�A-;8�6F�8G2�/-BA><�6F�

-7:� A;34-82�6;�A>.=3/�37<8
38>8367�6F�G39G2;�=2-;7379

Z�6;
\6><379�-�A>.=3/�=3.;-;:Z�

6;�
Q7:�U-;3L>-7-�V<8-.=3<GB

278�A2;B38821�>712;�8G3<
�<2/8367�<G-==�.2�;2]>3;21

�86�;2B642�-==�B-82;3-=?�A
=-78<?�2]>3AB278�-71�68G

2;�A-;-AG2;7-=3-�37�/6BA
=3-7/2�J38G�(̂E�

5US�_*E0(̂E�̀a)?�̀[)��3BB
213-82=:�F6==6J379�8G2�2@A

3;-8367?�;246/-8367�6;�463
1379�6F�38<�OR\�S293<8;-83

67�6;�37�/6BA=3-/2�J38G�b
+E�5US�(̂0̂(̂È(*)�3BB

213-82=:�F6==6J379�
8G2�2@A3;-8367?�;246/-836

7�6;�4631379�6F�38<�=3/27<2
�3<<>21�.:�8G2�5-77-.3<�5

678;6=�56BB3<<3670
R;6G3.38 367< MG2�A;6A6<21�><2<�<G-==�7

68�.2�=6/-821c d38G37�8G;22�G>71;21�̀+̂
)̂�F228�6F�-�.>3=1379c 5678-37379�-7 68G2;�U-;3
L>-7-�V<8-.=3<GB278?�2@/

2A8�F6;�F-/3=3832<�8G-8�-;2�
6J721�6;�=2-<21�.:�8G2�<

-B2�6A2;-86;Z�6;�

K6�[UUO�6;�SUS�<G-==�
G-42�-�9;6<<�F=66;�-;2-�-/

/2<<3.=2�86�A-83278<�6;�/>
<86B2;<�JG3/G�3<�37�2@/2<

<�6F�*?Ê�̂<]>-;2�F2280�DA
-/2�37�-7�[UUO�F-/3=38:�6

;�SUS�JG3/G�3<�
1213/-821�86�-1B373<8;-8

367�6;�6A2;-8367<�-71�3<�-
//2<<3.=2�67=:�86�2BA=6:2

2<�6F�8G2�F-/3=38:�<G-==�768
�.2�37/=>121�37�8G3<�=3B38-

83670

d38G37�F342�G>71;21�̀Ê
)̂�F228�6F�-�A;2C2@3<8379�A>

.=3/�6;�A;34-82�</G6 6=�A;6
431379�21>/-8367�37�e3712

;9-;127�6;�-7:�6F�9;-12<
�(�8G;6>9G�(*0�MG2�13<8-7

/2�>712;�8G3<�
<2/8367�<G-==�.2�B2-<>;2

1�37�-�<8;-39G8�=372�F;6B�8
G2�72-;2<8�A6378�6F�8G2�A

;6A2;8:�=372�37�]>2<8367�8
6�8G2�72-;2<8�A6378�6F�8G2

�A;6A2;8:�=372�JG2;2�8G2�
U-;3L>-7-�

V<8-.=3<GB278�3<�6;�J3==�.
2�=6/-8210

Q==�DA2/3-=�R2;B38�-71�D38
2�R=-7�S2432J�-AA;64-=�G

6=12;<�F6;�><2<�>712;�8G3<
�<2/8367�<G-==�A;64312�8G2

�R6=3/2�O2A-;8B278?�f3;2�
O2A-;8B278?�I>3=1379�56

BB3<<3672;?�I6-;1�
6F�\2-=8G?�-71�R2;B38�g;-

78379�Q>8G6;38:�J38G�8G2�7
-B2<?�AG672�7>B.2;<?�B

-3=379�-71�2B-3=�-11;2<<2
<�6F�-==�B-7-92B278�<8-F

F�-71�e2:CG6=12;<?�37/=>13
79�-�B373B>B�6F�

8J6�̀*)�6A2;-86;<�6;�B-7
-92;<�6F�8G2�F-/3=3832<�3127

83F321�-<�12<397-821�/678-
/8�A2;<67<�86�JG6B�7683/

2�<G6>=1�.2�B-12�3F�8G2;2
�-;2�6A2;-8379�A;6.=2B<�

-<<6/3-821�J38G�
-7:�><2�>712;�8G3<�<2/836

70��Q==�<>/G�/678-/8�37F6;B
-8367�<G-==�.2�>A1-821�-<

�722121�86�e22A�38�/>;;27
8�-71�-//>;-820

[72�6F�8G2�8J6�12<397-82
1�/678-/8�A2;<67<�<G-==�7

683F:�8G2�R6=3/2�O2A-;8B2
78?�f3;2�O2A- ;8B278?�I>3=

1379�56BB3<<3672;?�I6-;
1�6F�\2-=8G�-71�R2;B38�g

;-78379�Q>8G6;38:�37�
J;38379�-�B373B>B�6F�8G3

;8:�̀+̂)�1-:<�A;36;�86�-7:
�/G-792�37�B-7-92B278�6

F�-�F-/3=38:�;29>=-821�>712
;�8G3<�<2/83670

MG2�12<397-821�;2A;2<27
8-8342<�6F�A2;B38821�F-/3=

3832<�<G-==�F3=2�-7�-77>-=�;
2A6;8�J38G�8G2�R 2;B38�g;

-78379�Q>8G6;38:�-71�<G-
==�-AA2-;�.2F6;2�<-31�Q>8

G6;38:�86�A;2<278�8G2�
;2A6;8�76�=-82;�8G-7�+̂�1

-:<�F6==6J379�;272J-=�6F�
-�<8-82�=3/27<2�6;�;293<8;-

8367?�A;6431379�-�/6A:�6F�
-==�/>;;278�-AA=3/-.=2�<8-

82�=3/27<2<�F6;�8G2�6J72;
<�-71�F-/3=3832<?�86�

12B67<8;-82�/67837>21�/
6BA=3-7/2�J38G�8G2�/671

38367<�6F�8G2�DA2/3-=�R2;B
38�6;�D382�R=-7�S2432J�-AA

;64-=0
MG2�12<397-821�/678-/8�A

2;<67<�<G-==�.2�;2]>3;21�8
6�;2<A671�.:�AG672�6;�2B

-3=�J38G37�8J278:CF6>;�̀*,
)�G6>;<�6F�8G2�83B2�6F�/67

8-/8�-71�37]>3;:�;29-;137
9�6A2;-8367�6F�

8G2�F-/3=38:�.:�-�86J7�6FF3
/3-=�86�8G2�82=2AG672�7>B

.2;�6;�2B-3=�-11;2<<�A;6
43121�-<�8G2�/678-/8�F6;�8

G2�.><372<<0

Q==�-<A2/8<�6F�-�U-;3L>-7
-�V<8-.=3<GB278�;2=-8342�8

6�8G2�-/]>3<38367?�/>=834-8
367?�A6<<2<<367?�A;6/2<<3

79?�<-=2<?�13<8;3.>8367?�13<
A27<379?�6;�-1B373<8;-836

7�6F�B-;3L>-7-?�
A;61>/8<�/678-37379�B-;3

L>-7-?�;2=-821�<>AA=32<?�6
;�21>/-8367-=�B-82;3-=<�B

><8�8-e2�A=-/2�-8�-�F3@21�=
6/-8367�J38G37�-7�27/=6<2

1�-;2-�-<�12F3721�.:�b+E�
5US�Ê0̂̂̂*�-71�

<G-==�768�.2�43<3.=2�F;6B�8
G2�2@82;36;�6F�8G2�.><372

<<0
h2783=-8367�i�-==�F-/3=3832<

�<G-==�.2�42783=-82 1�37�<>/
G�-�B-772;�8G-8c

K6�A2<83/312<?�37<2/83/312
<�6;�68G2;�/G2B3/-=<�6;�A

;61>/8<�><21�37�8G2�/>=834
-8 367�6;�A;6/2<<379�-;2�1

3<A2;<21�3786�8G2�6>8<312
�-8B6<AG2;2Z�-71�

K6�616;�F;6B�B-;3L>-7-�
6;�38<�A;6/2<<37 9�/-7�.2�1

282/821�.:�-�A2;<67�J38G
�-7�>73BA-3;21�-71�68G2;

J3<2�76;B-=�<27<2�6F�<B
2==�-8�8G2�2@82;36;�6F�-�U-

;3L>-7-�
V<8-.=3<GB278�6;�-8�-7:�-

1L637379�><2�6;�A;6A2;8:0
S2A6;8379�S2]>3;2B278<



�� ���
�����	
�������

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
�����
 ��� !����"
#�! ������$�������

%��"��"�
&
 ���"����� '( )( *( +( ,- .-
 /-
 '- )-
 0- 1-
 2-
%3�4���
5657 +-+89

:::
:::

:::
;<=:;<=

;<=:
+-+8>

:::
:::

:::
;<:;<

::
+-+8* + -+8*-9

::;<
::;<

;<
 ;<=?;<;<
;<=;<=;<=

;<=:
?;@'A
@B0
CDE
ED
/0
A.F.G

)D@B
/H
G0.BDC
D1
IDE0CE
J.K
1JG0L
0MIKDBJDCL
DG
G.)J

.EJDC-
N.G0AD@B0
DG
DEA0G
0C'K

DB0)
/@JK)JCO
1DG
EA0

BEDG.O0L
)JBEGJ/@EJDC
DG
P

ADK0B.K0
Q.GR0EJCO

D1
Q.E0GJ.KL
Q0G'A.C)JB0

L
IGD)@'EB
DG

0S@JIQ0CE-�3%3T��U
T��
���#%4�

�T�
#%3%

VC
EADB0
.G0.B
D1
EA0
WXY

ZJBEGJ'E
PAJ'A
'DJC'J)0
P

JEA
EA0
=0B0.G'A
[
Z0\0 K
DIQ0CE
]=[Z(
D\0GK.H
)J

BEGJ'EL
;JE0
<K.C
=0\J0P
.I
IGD\.K
BA.KK
/0
G0S@JG0)
1

DG
@B0B
G0O@K.E0)
@C)0G
E
AJB
B0'EJDC-

VC
.KK
DEA0G
.

G0.B

D1
EA0
WXY
ZJBEGJ'EL
.
;I0'

J.K
<0GQJE
BA.KK
/0
G0S@JG0
)
1GDQ
EA0
̂DCJCO
WD.G)


D1
_II0.KB-
B̀0B
@C)0G
EAJB
B0'EJDC
BA.

KK
JC'K@)0
G0B0.G'AL
)0\0K
DIQ0CE
.C)aDG
E0BEJCO
D

1
JCCD\.EJ\0
JC1DGQ.EJDCL

'DC'0IEBL
Q0EAD)BL
IGD'

0BB0BL
Q.E0GJ.KBL
DG
IGD)
@'EB-

bAJB
BA.KK
JC'K@)0
/

@E
CDE
/0
KJQJE0)
ED
.'EJ\
JEJ0B


'DC)@'E0)
JC
K./DG.EDGH

B0EEJCOB-

bA0
.''0BBDGH
)

0\0KDIQ0CEL
1./GJ'.EJDCL

.C)
KJOAE
Q.C@1.'E@GJCO


D1
IGDEDEHI0BL
DG
BI0'J.KJ
F0)
Q.'AJC0GH
.C)
)0\J'

0B
JCE0OG.K
ED
G0B0.G'A
DG

E0BEJCO
Q.H
/0
.BBD'J.E0

)

PJEA
EA0B0
@B0B
@C)0G
EA

0
IGD\JBJDCB
D1
;0'EJDC
2-
98-

;.K\.O0
Q.E0GJ.KB
CDE
JC'
K@)0)-


;00
;0'EJDC
+-9*
Y@Q/0G
H.G)L
1@0K
BEDG.O0


IK.CEL

'DCEG.'EDGcB
H.G)L
DG
DEA0

G
DI0CX.JG

0BE./KJBAQ0CE
1DG
EA0
IGJ

Q.GH

BEDG.O0L
)JBEGJ/@EJDCL
DG
B

.K0
.E

PADK0B.K0
DG
G0E.JK
D1
Q0

G'A.C)JB0L

IGD)@'EB
DG
0S@JIQ0CE- =0B0.G'A
.C)
Z0\0KDIQ0

CE

DG
b0BEJCO
1.'JKJEH

dJC)JCOB-

VC
.))JEJDC
ED
E
A0
1JC)JCOB
G0S@JG0)
@C)0

G
;0'EJDC
>9-+e
.C)
>>-*,

D1
EA0
̂DCJCO
WHK.P
.C)


Q00EJCO
EA0
IGD\JBJDCB
D
1
_GEJ'K0B
8L
e
.C)
.KK
DEA0

G
.IIKJ'./K0
B0'EJDCB
D1
EA
JB
WHK.PL


EA0
<0GQJE
fG.CEJCO
_@EA
DGJEH
BA.KK
1JC)
EA.E
EA0
I

GDIDB0)
@B0g
h00EB
.KK
D1
EA0
I0GQJEEJC

O
G0S@JG0Q0CEB
D 1
.KK
.II
KJ'./K0
.O0C'J0B
PJEAJC
EA

0
iDQQDCP0.KEA
D1
h.B
B.'A@B0EEB
.C)
PJKK
.B
IGD

IDB0)
/0
JC
'DQIKJ.C'0
P
JEA
.KK
.IIKJ'./K0
BE.E0


K.PB
.C)
G0O@K.EJDCB- NJKK
IGD\J)0
'DIJ0B
D1
G0O
JBEG.EJDCB
.C)
KJ'0CB0B
.C

)
.
'DIH
D1
.
BJOC0)
jDBE

iDQQ@ CJEH
_OG00Q0CE
P

JEA
EA0
bDPC
D1
_QA0GBEL

JC
.''DG).C'0
PJEA
h-f-

Y-
iA.IE0G
k,f
.C)

B@/B0S@0CE
G0O@K.EJDCB
E

D
EA0
W@JK)JCO
iDQQJBBJD
C0G
IGJDG
ED
EA0
JBB@.C'0


D1
.
i0GEJ1J'.E0
D1
l''@I.
C'H-

VB
)0BJOC0)
ED
QJCJQJF0
.
)\0GB0
\JB@.K
JQI.'EB
DC


./@EE0GB
.C)
DEA0G
I.GEJ0
B
JC
JCE0G0BE-

<GD\J)0B
.
B0' @G0
P.JEJCO

.G0.L
.B
G0S@JG0)
/H
BE.E

0
K.P
DG
G0O@K.EJDCB-
dDG
EA0
I@GIDB0B
D1
+-+m+

-k]+(]0(]>(]/(L
EA0
EAG00
A
@C)G0)
1DDE
/@110G
BA.KK
/

0
Q0.B@G0)
1GDQ
EA0
'KD
B0BE
IDJCE
D1
EA0
/@JK)JCO


EGJOO0GJCO
EA0
/@110G
ED
E
A0
'KDB0BE
IDJCE
D1


EA0
Q.GJn@.C.
@B0- _)0S@.E0KH
.))G0BB0B
JBB
@0B
D1
\0AJ'@K.G
.C)
I0)0

BEGJ.C
EG.11J'L
'JG'@K.EJDCL

I.GRJC O
.C)
S@0@JCOL
0BI

0'J.KKH
)@GJCO
I0.R
I0GJD)
B
.E
EA0
1.'JKJEHL
.C)
.)0S

@.E0KH
QJEJO.E0B
EA0

JQI.'EB
D1
\0AJ'@K.G
.C)


I0)0BEGJ.C
EG.11J'
DC
C0JO
A/DGJCO
@B0B-

YJQJE.EJDC
DC
C@Q/0G
D1

=h=
KD'.EJDCB
o
: D
QDG0


EA.C
0JOAE
]e(
=0'G0.EJDC
.K
h.GJn@.C.
=0E.JK0G
KD'.

EJDCB
BA.KK
/0
I0GQJEE0)
P
JEAJC
EA0
bDPC
D1
_QA0GB

E-

NJEAJCL
DC
EA0
B.Q0
KDE
.
BL
DG
DC
.
KDE
JQQ0)J.E0KH


.)n.'0CE
ED
.
KJ'0CB0)
IA
.GQ.'Hp
DG


NJEAJC
/@JK)JCOB
EA.E
'DC
E.JC
.CH
IA.GQ.'HL
Q0)J

'.K
)D'EDG
D11J'0B
DG
EA0
D
11J'0B
D1
.CH
DEA0G
IGD10B

BJDC.K
IG.'EJEJDC0G
.@EAD
GJF0)
ED
IG0B'GJ/0
EA0
@B0


D1
Q0)J'.K

Q.GJn@.C.-

_C
0M'0IEJDC


BA.KK
/0
EA.E
EA0
<0GQJE

fG.CEJCO
_@EADGJEH
Q.H
O

G.CE
I0GQJBBJDC
1DG
I.KKJ.
EJ\0
.C)
EA0G.I0@EJ'
'.G0


@B0B
JC
EA0
B.Q0
/@JK)JC
O
JC
PAJ'A
.


h.GJn@.C.
qBE./KJBAQ0CE

JB
DI0G.E0)-

bA0
IGDIDB0)
@B0
BA.KK
C
DE
)JBIK.H
DCXIG0QJB0B
BJ

OC.O0
DG
DEA0G
Q.GR0 EJCO

DC
EA0
0ME0GJDG
D1
EA0
/@

JK)JCO
DG
JC
.CH
Q.CC0G
\
JBJ/K0
1GDQ
EA0
I@/KJ'
P.

HL
PAJ'AL
JC
EA0

DIJCJDC
D1
EA0
<0GQJE
fG.

CEJCO
_@EADGJEH
DG
EA0
iD
)0
qC1DG'0Q0CE
l11J'0G
Q

.H
IGDQDE0
DG
0C'D@G.O0

EA0
@B0
D1
Q.GJn@.C.
DG
D

EA0G
)G@OB
/H
QJCDGB-
<GD\J)0B
.)0S@.E0
B0'@G

JEH
Q0.B@G0B
ED
0CB@G0
EA
.E
CD
JC)J\J)@.K
 
DG
OGD@I


PJKK
IDB0
.
)JG0'E
EAG0.E

ED
EA0
A0.KEA
DG
B.10EH
D1


DEA0G
JC)J\J)@.KBL
.C)
EA
.E
EA0
BEDG.O0
.C)aDG


KD'.EJDC
D1
'@KEJ\.EJDC
D1

Q.GJn@.C.
JB
.)0S@.E0KH
B

0'@G0)
JC
0C'KDB0)L
KD'R0
)
1.'JKJEJ0B-



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
()(*+),

--./
--./

./././
./0./0./0

./0-
./01

1
()(*+)+

---
---

---
--./

./-
()(*(

././-
---

---
--./

././
2-32-3

,)� +)�45�678�9:;<�9:=<�9:>?<�9:-
�@5A�0:>?�ABC6DBE6C<�678�FG

5B5H�9G@DA�GI�JKK8@LC�M@
N�HD@56�@�.K8EB@L�/8DMB6�I

GD�@�D8C8@DE7�@5A�A8O8LG
KM856�PC8<�KDGOBA8A�67@6

�B6�EG5CBC6C�G5LN�GI�GIIBE8�
GD�CBMBL@D�PC8C�@5A�M886

C�678�
KDGOBCBG5C�GI�.8E6BG5�()(Q

R<�JD6BEL8�*�@5A�.8E6BG5�,
S)(T)��J5�8UE8K6BG5�C7@LL�

V8�W78D8�678�9:=�XBC6DBE6
�EGB5EBA8C�WB67�678�0YX�G

O8DL@N�ABC6DBE6<�B5�W7BE7�E
@C8�CPE7�@�D8C8@DE7�@5A�A

8O8LGKM856�PC8<�CBMBL@DLN
�

LBMB68A<�C7@LL�V8�K8DMB668
A�67DGPH7�.B68�/L@5�08OB8

W�@KKDGO@L)
/PVLBC7B5H<�A@6@�KDGE8CCB

5H<�
LBH76�M@5PI@E 6PDB5H<�LBH76

�
@CC8MVLN�B5ELPAB5H� EGMKP68D�7@DAW@D8�@5A� CGI6W@D8<�@5A�CEB856BIBE� KDGAPE6C�WB67�@CCGEB@68A

�
GIIBE8C�@5A�ABC6DBVP6BG5� I@EBLB6B8C) Z@5PI@E6PDB5H<�@CC8MVLN

�
@5A�KDGE8CCB5H<�B5ELPAB5H

�
@CCGEB@68A�GIIB E8C�@5A� ABC6DBVP6BG5�I@EBLB6B8C)

[C8C�P5A8D�67BC�C8E6BG5�C
7@LL�B5ELPA8�67GC8�W7BE7�

B5OGLO8�678�LBMB68A�LBH76�M
@5PI@E6PD8�GD�KDGAPE6BG5

<�KDB5EBK@LLN�IDGM�KD8OBGP
CLN:KD8K@D8A�M@68DB@LC<�G

I�IB5BC78A�KDGAPE6C�GD�K@D
6C)��\7BC�M@N�B5ELPA8�

KDGE8CCB5H<�I@VDBE@6BG5<�@
CC8MVLN<�6D8@6M856<�@5A�

K@E]@HB5H�GI�CPE7�KDGAPE
6C�@C�W8LL�@C�B5EBA856@L�C6

GD@H8�@5A�ABC6DBVP6BG5�GI
�CPE7�KDGAPE6C�@5A�@CCGE

B@68A�GIIBE8C)��\78C8�PC8C
�M@N�@LCG�B5ELPA8�678�G5:

CB68�
KDGAPE6BG5�WB67B5�85ELGC

8A�C6DPE6PD8C�GI�EPC6GM�H
GGAC�I@VDBE@68A�KDB5EBK@L

LN�VN�7@5A�67DGPH7�678�PC
8�GI�7@5A�6GGLC�@5A�CM@L

L:CE@L8�M8E7@5BE@L�8̂PBKM
856)

45�67GC8�@D8@C�GI�678�9:=�
XBC6DBE6�W7BE7�EGB5EBA8�W

B67�678�08C8@DE7�Y�X8O8L
GKM856�20YX3�GO8DL@N�AB

C6DBE6<�.B68�/L@5�08OB8W�@K
KDGO@L�C7@LL�V8�D8̂PBD8A�I

GD�PC8C�D8HPL@68A�P5A8D�6
7BC�C8E6BG5)��45�@LL�G678D�@

D8@C�
GI�678�9:=�XBC6DBE6<�@�.K8E

B@L�/8DMB6�C7@LL�V8�D8̂PBD8
A�IDGM�678�FG5B5H�9G@DA�

GI�JKK8@LC)

-G�8UE@O@6BG5�V8LGW�678
�5@6PD@L�HD@A8�GI�@5N�KDG

K8D6N�VGP5A@DN�C7@LL�V8�K
8DMB668A�58@D8D�67@5�IBI6

N�I886�6G�CPE7�VGP5A@DN)

-G�M@CC�M@5PI@E6PDB5H<�
KDGE8CCB5H<�GD�I@VDBE@6BG5

�5GDM@LLN�EG5APE68A�P5A
8D�.8E6BG5�()(*+)+�5GD�@5

N�G5:KD8MBC8C�C@L8�GI�KDG
APE6C�C7@LL�V8�K8DMB668A�

B5�@CCGEB@6BG5�WB67�PC8C�P
5A8D�67BC�C8E6BG5<�8UE8K6�

67@6�
678�G5:KD8MBC8C�C@L8�GI�E

PC6GM:M@A8�HGGAC�KDGA
PE8A�VN�7@5A�M@5PI@E6P

DB5H�M@N�V8�K8DMB668A�P5
A8D�@�.K8EB@L�/8DMB6�HD@5

68A�VN�678�.K8EB@L�/8DMB6
�;D@56B5H�JP67GDB6N�@P67G

DB_8A�6G�@E6�P5A8D�678�
@KKLBE@VL8�C8E6BG5�GI�678�

9NL@W)
45�678�0:>?�XBC6DBE6<�678�F

G5B5H�9G@DA�GI�JKK8@LC�M
@N�HD@56�@�.K8EB@L�/8DMB6

�IGD�@�PC8�P5A8D�67BC�C8E6
BG5<�KDGOBA8A�67@6�678�KDG

KGC8A�PC8�EG5CBC6C�G5LN�G
I�GIIBE8C�GD�CBMBL@D�PC8C�@

5A�M886C�678�KDGOBCBG5C�
GI�

.8E6BG5C�()(QR<�JD6BEL8�*�@
5A�.8E6BG5�,S)(T)��45�@LL�_

G58C<�@LL�GP6AGGD�C6GD@H8
�GI�M@68DB@LC�@5A�8̂PBKM

856�C7@LL�V8�CED8858A�IDG
M�KPVLBE�OB8W<�IDGM�KPVL

BE�W@NC�@5A�@VP66B5H�D8CB
A856B@L�ABC6DBE6C)��-G�GK8D

@6BG5�
C7@LL�ED8@68�5GBC8<�OBVD@6B

G5<�APC6<�IPM8C<�GD�GAGDC
<�67@6�@D8�@�5PBC@5E8�V8NG

5A�678�LG6�LB58<�@5A�IPD678
D<�5G�GK8D@6BG5C�C7@LL�V8�

K8DMB668A�W7BE7�678�/8DM
B6�;D@56B5H�9G@DA�GD�.K8E

B@L�/8DMB6�;D@56B5H�
JP67GDB6N<�@I68D�EG5CPL6@6

BG5�WB67�678�9G@DA�GI�̀8
@L67<�A868DMB58C�6G�V8�P5

APLN�7@_@DAGPC�VN�D8@CG5
�GI�KG6856B@L�IBD8<�8UKLGCBG

5<�D@AB@6BG5<�GD�E78MBE@L�
GD�VBGLGHBE@L�7@_@DA�D8CP

L6B5H�IDGM�678�PC8<�
KDGAPE6BG5�GD�C6GD@H8�GI�

M@68DB@LC�GD�W@C68�BA856B
IB8A�@C�6GUBE�GD�7@_@DAGP

C<�IL@MM@VL8<�GD�8UKLGCBO
8)��a78D8�K8DMB668A<�@LL�G

K8D@6BG5C�B5OGLOB5H�CPE7�
M@68DB@LC�C7@LL�V8�EG5APE

68A�B5�@�IPLLN�85ELGC8A�VP
BLAB5H�

B5�@EEGDA@5E8�WB67�@LL�@K
KLBE@VL8�KPVLBE�78@L67�@5A

�C@I86N�D8HPL@6BG5C)
[C8C�P5A8D�67BC�C8E6BG5�C

7@LL�B5ELPA8�67GC8�B5OGLOB
5H�678�M@5PI@E6PD8<�@CC8

MVLN�@5AbGD�KDGE8CCB5H<�
IDGM�8U6D@E68A�GD�D@W�M

@68DB@LC�GD�IDGM�KD8OBGPC
LN:KD8K@D8A�M@68DB@LC<�GI

�IB5BC78A�M@68DB@LC<�KDGAP
E6C<�GD�

K@D6C)��\78C8�PC8C�M@N�B5
ELPA8�KDGE8CCB5H<�I@VDBE@

6BG5<�@CC8MVLN<�6D8@6M85
6<�@5A�K@E]@HB5H�GI�CPE7�K

DGAPE6C<�@C�W8LL�@C�B5EBA8
56@L�C6GD@H8�@5A�ABC6DBVP6

BG5�GI�CPE7�KDGAPE6C�@5A
�@CCGEB@68A�GIIBE8C)��\78C

8�
PC8C�M@N�B5OGLO8�678�KDG

APE6BG5�@5AbGD�C6GD@H8�G
I�OGLPM8C�GI�6GUBE�GD�7@_@

DAGPC<�IL@MM@VL8<�GD�8UK
LGCBO8�M@68DB@LC�P5A8D�@K

KDGKDB@68�C@I8HP@DAC�@5A
�EG5AB6BG5C<�@C�A868DMB58

A�VN�678�.K8EB@L�/8DMB6�
;D@56B5H�JP67GDB6N�P5A8D

�678�D8̂PBD8M856C�GI�67BC
�C8E6BG5)��\78�G5:KD8MBC8

C�C@L8�GI�KDGAPE6C�C7@LL�5G
6�V8�K8DMB668A�B5�@CCGEB@

6BG5�WB67�@5N�PC8C�P5A8D
�67BC�C8E6BG5)

45�@LL�_G58C<�@LL�GP6AGGD�C
6GD@H8�GI�M@68D B@LC�@5A�8̂

PBKM856�C7@LL�V8�CED8858
A�IDGM�KPVLBE�OB8W<�IDGM

�KPVLBE�W@NC�@5A�@VP66B5H
�D8CBA856B@L�ABC6DBE6C)��-G�

GK8D@6BG5�C7@LL�ED8@68�5G
BC8<�OBVD@6BG5<�APC6<�IPM8

C�GD�
GAGDC<�67@6�@D8�@�5PBC@5E

8�V8NG5A�678�LG6�LB58<�@5A
�IPD678D<�5G�GK8D@6BG5C�C7

@LL�V8�K8DMB668A�W7BE7�67
8�/8DMB6�;D@56B5H�9G@DA�

A868DMB58C�6G�V8�P5APLN�
7@_@DAGPC�VN�D8@CG5�GI�K

G6856B@L�IBD8<�8UKLGCBG5<�
D@AB@6BG5<�GD�E78MBE@L�GD

�VBGLGHBE@L�7@_@DA�D8CPL6B5
H�IDGM�678�PC8<�KDGAPE6BG

5<�GD�C6GD@H8�GI�M@68DB@LC
�GD�W@C68�BA856BIB8A�@C�6G

UBE�GD�7@_@DAGPC<�IL@MM@
VL8<�GD�8UKLGCBO8)��a78D8

�K8DMB668A<�@LL�GK8D@6BG5
C�

B5OGLOB5H�CPE7�M@68DB@LC�C
7@LL�V8�EG5APE68A�B5�@�IPL

LN�85ELGC8A�VPBLAB5H�B5�@E
EGDA@5E8�WB67�@LL�@KKLBE@

VL8�KPVLBE�78@L67�@5A�C@I8
6N�D8HPL@6BG5C)

J5N�.K8EB@L�/8DMB6�P5A8D
�67BC�C8E6BG5�BCCP8A�VN�678

�FG5B5H�9 G@DA�GI�JKK8@LC
�C7@LL�V8�CPVc8E6�6G<�VP6�5

G6�LBMB68A�VN<�678�IGLLGWB
5H�EG5AB6BG5Cd

-G�8UE@O@6BG5�C7@LL�V8�K8
DMB668A�V8LGW�678�HD@A8�

GI�@�DG@A�VGP5AB5H�678�K
DGK8D6N�@6�@5N�KGB56�58@D

8D�67@5�(SSe�6G�CPE7�DG@A
)

45�@LL�_G58C<�@LL�GP6AGGD�C
6GD@H8�GI�M@68DB@LC�@5A�8̂

PBKM856�C7@LL�V8�CED8858
A�IDGM�KPVLBE�OB8W<�IDGM

�KPVLBE�W@NC�@5A�@VP66B5H
�D8CBA856B@L�ABC6DBE6C)��-G�

GK8D@6BG5�C7@LL�ED8@68�5G
BC8<�OBVD@6BG5<�APC6<�IPM8

C<�GD�
GAGDC�67@6�@D8�@�5PBC@5E8

�V8NG5A�678�LG6�LB58<�@5A�
IPD678D�5G�GK8D@6BG5C�C7@

LL�V8�K8DMB668A�W7BE7�678
�/8DMB6�;D@56B5H�9G@DA�G

D�.K8EB@L�/8DMB6�;D@56B5H
�JP67GDB6N<�@I68D�EG5CPL6@

6BG5�WB67�678�9G@DA�GI�
8̀@L67<�A868DMB58C�6G�V8�P

5APLN�7@_@DAGPC�VN�D8@CG
5C�GI�KG6856B@L�IBD8<�8UKLG

CBG5<�D@AB@6BG5<�GD�E78MBE
@L�GD�VBGLGHBE@L�7@_@DA<�B5

ELPAB5H�7@_@DAC�D8CPL6B5H
�IDGM�678�PC8<�KDGAPE6BG5

�GD�C6GD@H8�GI�M@68DB@LC�G
D�

W@C68�BA856BIB8A�@C�6GUBE�
GD�7@_@DAGPC<�IL@MM@VL8

<�GD�8UKLGCBO8)��-G�D8C8@D
E7�GD�68C6B5H�C7@LL�V8�EG5

APE68A�GP6AGGDC�P5L8CC�@
�.K8EB@L�/8DMB6�BC�HD@568A

�IGD�67BC�KPDKGC8�VN�678�.
K8EB@L�/8DMB6�;D@56B5H�

JP67GDB6N�@P67GDB_8A�6G�@
E6�P5A8D�678�@KKLBE@VL8�C8

E6BG5�GI�67BC�VNL@W)

08MGO@L�GI�CGBL<�CGA<�LG@M
<�C@5A<�

HD@O8L<�DGE]<�̂P@DDB8A�C6G
58<�GD�G678D�

8@D67�KDGAPE6C)



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	�� ()� *)� +)� ,)� -)� .)� /)�
()(-*

01012
222

222
2201

201
324324

()(-+
222

222
222

2201
22

&5�6����7879 ()(.:
222

2201
0122

01;22
22

()(.<
222

2201
01012

01;22
22

()(.=
222

222
222

0122
22

()(.(
222

222
222

01;22
22

()(.* ()(.*:
222

2201
01012

0122
22

( )(.*<
222

2201;
01;01;01

01;0101
012

1>?@ABBCDE�?F�AG>HI�CD�@?
DDA@HC?D�

JCHI�CHB�GKHI?>CLAM�>AN?
OGP)

QPP�AR@GOGHAM�G>AGB�BIGPPS
�KT?D�@?NTPAHC?D�?F�HIA�

?TA>GHC?DS�UA�@?OA>AM�JC
HI�D?H�PABB�HIGD�F?K>�CD@I

AB�?F�P?GNV�U>?KEIH�H?�HI
A�FCDCBI�E>GMA�GDM�BAAMAM

�CD�G�BGHCBFG@H?>W�NGDDA>
)

XCHICD�HIA�YP??MZ1>?DA�[
?DBA>OGD@W�3Y1[4�\CBH>C@H

�AR@GOGHC?D�?F�AG>HI�T>?M
K@HB�BIGPP�UA�T>?ICUCHAM�CF

�BK@I�AR@GOGHC?D�JCPP�P?J
A>�HIA�PAOAP�?F�HIA�JGHA>�

HGUPA�?>�JCPP�CDHA>FA>A�JCH
I�HIA�

DGHK>GP�FP?J�TGHHA>D�?>�>A
MK@A�HIA�FP??M�BH?>GEA�@G

TG@CHW�?F�G�BH>AGN)
2?�BP?TA�@>AGHAM�UW�HIA�>

AN?OGP�?TA>GHC?D�BIGPP�U
A�FCDCBIAM�GH�G�E>GMA�CD�AR

@ABB�?F�HIA�DGHK>GP�GDEPA�
?F�>AT?BA�?F�HIA�NGHA>CGP

)
2?�TA>NC H�F?>�AG>HI�T>?M

K@HB�>AN?OGP�BIGPP�UA�CBBK
AM�CF�BK@I�>AN?OGP�JCPP�3<

4�ADMGDEA>�HIA�EADA>GP�T
KUPC@�IAGPHI�?>�BGFAHWS�?>�

3=4�@?DBHCHKHA�G�DKCBGD@A
S�?>�3(4�>ABKPH�CD�MAH>CNAD

H�H?�HIA�
D?>NGP�KBA�?F�GM]G@ADH�T

>?TA>HW�UW�>AGB?D�?F�D?CB
AS�MKBHS�?>�OCU>GHC?DS�?>S�3

*4�>ABKPH�CD�H>GFFC@�IGLG>M
B�CD�>ABCMADHCGP�G>AGB�?>�A

R@ABBCOA�@?DEABHC?D�?>�TI
WBC@GP�MGNGEA�?D�TKUPC@�J

GWB)
Q�0TA@CGP�1A>NCH�F?>�GDW�A

G>HI�T>?MK@HB�>AN?OGP�N
GW�UA�CBBKAM�F?>�G�TA>C?M

�D?H�AR@AAMCDE�FCOA�WAG>B
�CD�MK>GHC?D)��̂T?D�>AGTT

PC@GHC?D�F?>�G�TA>NCHS�HIA�
_?DCDE�̀?G>M�?F�QTTAGPBS

�GH�CHB�
MCB@>AHC?D�NGW�E>GDH�?DA

�?>�N?>A�ARHADBC?DB�?F�BG
CM�TA>NCHS�AG@I�?F�JIC@I�

BIGPP�D?H�AR@AAM�FCOA�3+4�W
AG>B�MK>GHC?D)

[G>�JGBI 1G>aCDE�FG@CPCHCAB��6����5b���5��5�c65
��$&5&

QKH?N?HCOA�BGPOGEA�WG>M
�F?>�HIA�

MCBNGDHPCDES�BH?>GEA�GDM
�BGPA�?F�TG>HB�

F?>�GKH?N?UCPAB�GDM�PCEIH
�H>K@aB)

;GMC?G@HCOA�JGBHA�BH?>GE
A�GDM�

MCBT?BGP [?NNA>@CGP�TG>aCDE�P?H�?
>�

TG>aCDE�EG>GEA 1KUPC@�TG>aCDE�P?H�?>�EG>G
EA

QKH?N?HCOA�FCPPCDE�BHGHC?D
S�CD@PKMCDE�

BGPAB�?F�>APGHAM�T>?MK@HB
�GDM�

BA>OC@AB)QKH?N?UCPA�d�H>K@a�>ADHG
P

eD�GTT>?OCDE�HIA�CBBKGD@A
�?F�BK@I�TA>NCHS�HIA�_?DCD

E�̀?G>M�?F�QTTAGPB�BIGPP�C
NT?BA�>AGB?DGUPA�>AfKC>

ANADHB�JIC@I�BIGPP�@?DBH
CHKHA�G�TG>H�?F�HIA�TA>NCH

�GDM�JIC@I�NGW�CD@PKMAg�
�E>GMCDES�

BAAMCDE�GDM�TPGDHCDES�FAD
@CDE�DA@ABBG>W�F?>�TKUPC@�

BGFAHWS�NAHI?MB�?F�>AN?
OGPS�P?@GHC?D�GDM�KBA�?F�B

H>K@HK>AS�I?K>B�?F�?TA>GH
C?DS�>?KHAB�?F�H>GDBT?>HG

HC?D�?F�NGHA>CGP�>AN?OAM
S�@?DH>?P�?F�

M>GCDGEA�GDM�MCBT?BCHC?D�
?F�JGBHA�CD@CMADH�H?�HIA�?

TA>GHC?D)
hIA�̀?G>M�NGW�>AfKC>A�BK

CHGUPA�U?DM�?>�?HI A>�BA@K
>CHW�GMAfKGHA�H?�GBBK>A�@

?NTPCGD@A�JCHI�HIA�T>?OC
BC?DB�?F�HICB�BA@HC?D)

iCNCHAM�H?�NCD?>�>ATGC>BS
� KDPABB�@?DMK@HAM�JCHICD

�HIA�UKCPMCDE)
Q�UKFFA>�@?NT>CBAM�?F�PGD

MB@GTCDES�DGHK>GP�OAEAHGH
C?DS�FAD@CDE�?> �G�@?NUCDG

HC?D�?F�HIABA�BIGPP�UA�@?D
BH>K@HAM�G>?KDM�HIA�TA>CN

AHA>�?F�HIA�TG>@AP)��QPP�JG
BHA�NGHA>CGPB�GDM�BH?>N�J

GHA>�>KD?FF�BIGPP�UA�
MCBT?BAM�?F�CD�G�NGDDA>�

BTA@CFCAM�UW�HIA�_?DCDE�̀
?G>M�?F�QTTAGPB)��hIA�_?D

CDE�̀?G>M�?F�QTTAGPB�BIG
PP�@?DBKPH�HIA�h?JD�jDECD

AA>S�̀?G>M�?F�kAGPHI�GDM
�\)j)1)�@?D@A>DCDE�HIA�GT

T>?T>CGHA�NAHI?MB�?F�MCB
T?BGP)��

QPP�?TA>GHC?DB�H?�UA�BK@I
�GB�H?�@?DFCDA�MCBHK>UCDE�

BN?aAS�FKNABS�MKBHS�EPG>A
�GDM�D?CBA�H?�HIA�T>ANCBA

B)
2?�UK>CGPS�CD@CDA>GHC?DS�BH

?>GEA�MCBT?BGP�?F�P?JZPAO
AP�>GMC?G@HCOA�JGBHABS�H>G

DBK>GDC@�JGBHAB�?>�ICEI�P
AOAP�>GMC?G@HCOA�JGBHAB�H

?�UA�TA>NCHHAM�KDPABB�G�0
TA@CGP�1A>NCH�CB�E>GDHAM�F

?>�HICB�TK>T?BA�UW�HIA�_?
DCDE�

?̀G>M�?F�QTTAGPB)0K@I�T>?@ABBCDE�BIGPP�UA�
@PAG>PW�BA@?DMG>W�H?�HIA�

>AN?OGP�?F�AG>HI�T>?MK@H
B)��eH�BIGPP�D?H�CDO?POA�CNT

?>HGHC?D�?F�BCEDCFC@GDH�fK
GDHCHCAB�?F�NGHA>CGPB�F>?N

�?FF�HIA�T>ANCBAB)



�� ���
���	�
��	��	��

�����������
���������

����������
�������

������
������ �� !"����#�$" ���	%	���	��

&���#��#�'� ���#	�	��
()(*+

,,,
,,-.

-.-.,
-./,,

,,
()(*0

,,,
,,-.

-.,,
-./,,

,,
()(*1

,,,
,,-./

-./-./-.
-./,,

,,
()(**

,,,
,,-.

-.,,
-./,,

,,
()(*2

,,,
,,,

,,,
-.,-.

,,
34567�894:;<=>?@8@4�A9B;6>9�C=>9CD�;<6>5

E;<F�84567CD�
G@=8CD�=<E�H=4:�9I5;J:9

<8)
-=>9�@H�=58@�J=48CD�9K6>5E

;<F�
;<C8=>>=8;@<�=<E�49J=;4�C9

4A;69C)
-=>9C�@H�=58@�J=48CD�;<6>5E

;<F�8;49CD�
G=8894;9CD�:5HH>94CD�=<E�8

B9�
;<C8=>>=8;@<�=<E�C94A;69�8B

949@H)
LC8=G>;CB:9<8�H@4�49J=;4�

@H�:@8@4�
A9B;6>9C�@4�H=4:�9I5;J:9

<8)
M<C;E9�C=>9C�@<>N),@8�8@�;<6>5E9�C=>9�@H�H59

>)��O;:;89E�8@�:;<@4�49J=;
4CD�5<>9CC�6@<E5689E�P;8B

;<�8B9�G5;>E;<F)
Q@4�8B9�E;CJ>=N�=<E�C=>9�@

H�C56B�A9B;6>9C�;<6>5E;<F�P
=44=<8N�P@47�=<E �@8B94�4

9J=;4�=<E�C94A;69�6@<E56
89E�=C�=<�=669CC@4N�5C9)

M<C;E9�C=>9C�@<>N)��M<�8B9�R
S,�T;C84;68D�8B94 9�CB=>>�G9

�<@�:@49�8B=<�H@54�UVW�9:
J>@N99C�@<SC;89�=8�=<N�8;:

9D�=<E�8B9�9C8=G>;CB:9<8
�CB=>>�G9�6>@C9E�GN�2XYY�J

):)



� ����������	
�������
������������������������������ ���!��"#$����%� &���$�'(����(��)�&������������*�+��� "$�&���$�'(������"�&" &������������%�����������"$� ���&����"$��,#&��������&���$�'(��������������-��$,��� �&���$�'(����������������'$"���&�,���� ���&����"$�&���$�'(��������������.��'����'"�����((,���/�&���$�'(����������������� ��� ���!��0123�45678�9:;<2=3�>?@;�A�B�<:=1?C3�812D1�<75�E:�@=262F:C�=?�C:G:6?9�67HC�>?;�;:32C:H=276�9@;9?3:3�81:;:�3@D1�I3:3�7;:�9:;<2==:C�2H�J:D=2?H�KLKL��01:�>?@;�<:=1?C3�7;:M�� N?HG:H=2?H76�O:32C:H=276�J@EC2G232?H�P:G:6?9<:H=Q�N6@3=:;�P:G:6?9<:H=Q�R67HH:C�IH2=�O:32C:H=276�P:G:6?9<:H=�ARIOPBQ�7HC�S9:H�J97D:�N?<<@H2=5�P:G:6?9<:H=�ASJNPB��TH�?;C:;�=?�:H3@;:�C:G:6?9<:H=�812D1�23�D?<97=2E6:�82=1�=1:�R@;9?3:3�7HC�TH=:H=�?>�=123�45678U�=1:�>?@;�P:G:6?9<:H=�V:=1?C3�31766�D?<965�82=1�=1:�W:H:;76�P:G:6?9<:H=�J=7HC7;C3�3:=�>?;=1�2H�J:D=2?H��LXU�7HC�=1:�79962D7E6:�J=7HC7;C3�3:=�>?;=1�2H�J:D=2?H3��LKY�7HC��L�YL��01:�Z?H2H[�P23=;2D=3�2H�812D1�=1:�>?@;�P:G:6?9<:H=�V:=1?C3�<75�E:�@3:C�7;:�2HC2D7=:C�2H�07E6:�YL��\?H;:32C:H=276�F?H2H[�C23=;2D=3�7;:�H?=�2HD6@C:C�2H�07E6:�Y�E:D7@3:�=1:�>?@;�P:G:6?9<:H=�V:=1?C3�C:3D;2E:C�2H�=123�3:D=2?H�79965�?H65�=?�;:32C:H=276�C:G:6?9<:H=L��01:�7EE;:G27=2?H3�@3:C�2H�=1:�07E6:�7;:�C:>2H:C�73�>?66?83M��]� �̂ ]:3� 01:�P:G:6?9<:H=�V:=1?C�23�9:;<2==:C�E5�;2[1=L�\� �̂ \?� 01:�P:G:6?9<:H=�V:=1?C�23�H?=�9:;<2==:C�2H�=1:�F?H2H[�C23=;2D=L��JR� �̂ �JR_NT̀a�R_OVT0� �01:�P:G:6?9<:H=�V:=1?C�23�9:;<2==:C�2>�7�39:D276�9:;<2=�23�233@:C�E5�=1:�4?7;C�?>�9̀9:763L��JRR� �̂ JR_NT̀a�R_OVT0�Rà \\T\W�4S̀ OP� 01:�P:G:6?9<:H=�V:=1?C�23�9:;<2==:C�2>�7�39:D276�Rà \\T\W�4S̀ OP�9:;<2=�23�233@:C�E5�=1:�R67HH2H[�4?7;CL��� 0̀ 4a_�Y�� P_b_aSRV_\0�V_0cSPJ��4]à d� � � � � � � � � ZS\T\W�PTJ0OTN0J�\IV4_O�� � V_0cSP� � � � O�aP� O�S� O�\� O�bN�O�W� O�e���LY� � � NS\b_\0TS\̀ a�O_JTP_\0T̀a��� ]� ]� ]� ]� ]� ]��� � � JI4PTbTJTS\�P_b_aSRV_\0���LK� � � NaIJ0_O�P_b_aSRV_\0� � JRO� JRO� JRO� JRO� JRO� \�����L�� � � Rà \\_P�I\T0�O_JTP_\0T̀a�� � � P_b_aSRV_\0� � � \� JRf� JRf� JR� JR� \�����Lg� � � SR_\�JR̀ N_�NSVVI\T0]�� � � P_b_aSRV_\0� � � JRR� JRR� JRR� JRR� JRR� \��f�̀9962:3�?H65�=?�=1?3:�7;:73�2HD6@C:C�2H�7H�?G:;675�C23=;2D=�D766:C�hRIOP�PTJ0OTN0h�73�31?8H�?H�=1:�S>>2D276�Z?H2H[�V79Q�?=1:;823:U�H?=�9:;<2==:CL����



� ����������	
����� �������������
������������������������������ �!"�#$�%�$��&'� ('$�&�(#�)�*$(�#��+,-�.����(�/-�'�0  �1���#&��$02�#�(#�0**��&0#*��/($��$�����  �/(#3�4�#��0 �)$0#&0�&'5�� �+6,� 7  ����� �!"�#$'�(#�$�����/#�'�0  �*�#���"�$��$�����'(3#�)$0#&0�&'�0#&�8�9�(��&�:"!����"�#$'�'�$����$��(#�$���8� �'�0#&�8�3� 0$(�#'�4����#(#3�$���)�1&(�('(�#����;0#&-�$���)$���$�0#&�)($��<��2�=�#'$��*$(�#�)$0#&0�&'����$�����/#-�0#&�0  ��$����0!! (*01 ����/#���0&/0>�0#&��$( ($>�!� (*(�'�0#&���3� 0$(�#'-�0'�0"�#&�&+���+66� <�����1�( &(#3� �$'�0�����9�(��&����!��!�'�&-� �$����#$03��'�0  �1���#��?('$(#3����!��!�'�&�"(#������'�*�#&0�>�'$���$'-�/��$����!�1 (*����!�(�0$��'$0$�$��>�/0>'-�0'�'�*��'$���$'�0���&��(#�&�1>�$���7"���'$�@ 0##(#3�A�0�&B'�8� �'�0#&�8�3� 0$(�#'�4����#(#3�$���)�1&(�('(�#����;0#&+���+6C� :��$���*0 *� 0$(�#����"0?("�"�&�#'($>���� �$'�����#($'�����0#>�&��� �!"�#$�"�$��&�������#*(#3�$�('�'�*$(�#���'� $'�(#�0��(3����(#* �&(#3�0���0*$(�#��9�0 �$��,+D����3��0$��-�$��#�$����(3����'�0  �1�����#&�&��!�$��$���#�0��'$�/�� ��#�"1��+��:��$�����0*$(�#�('� �''�$�0#�,+D-�$����(3����'�0  �1�����#&�&�&�/#�$��$���#�0��'$�/�� ��#�"1��+���("�#'(�#0 ���9�(��"�#$'��'$01 ('��&�����1�( &(#3� �$'�(#�$���0!! (*01 ��E�#(#3�&('$�(*$F'G�0#&��#&���$���0!! (*01 ��&��� �!"�#$�"�$��&�'�0  ���"0(#�(#���  ����*��0#&�����*$-�0#&�'�0  �#�$�1��0 $���&�1>�$���!���('(�#'����$�('�'�*$(�#+�� ������	
���H� �
�����	
�������	����	����IJ�	�	�	
�������
�������=�#��#$(�#0 �8�'(&�#$(0 �)�1&(�('(�#����� �!"�#$�(#* �&�'�0#>�'�1&(�('(�#���� 0#&-�0'�&��(#�&�(#�$���4�#��0 �;0/'-�=�0!$����6-�$��1��&��� �!�&�������'(&�#$(0 �!��!�'�'+�������	
���K� ��I����������
������� �+L,� 4�#��0 ���'*�(!$(�#�� 7�M= �'$������� �!"�#$M�'�0  �"�0#�0���'(&�#$(0 �&��� �!"�#$�(#�/�(*��$���1�( &(#3�0#&�0**�''��>��'�'�0���* �'$���&�$�3�$����/($����&�*�&� �$�'(E�'-�(#$���#�����"����3���!'+������ 0#&�#�$�(#* �&�&�(#�$���1�( &(#3� �$'�'�0  �1��!��"0#�#$ >�!��'����&�0'��!�#�'!0*�+���+L6� @��!�'��� :$�('�(#$�#&�&�$�0$�0�= �'$������� �!"�#$�1��&��� �!�&�0'�0#��#$($>�1>�0� 0#&�/#��-����0''�*(0$(�#����0&N0*�#$� 0#&�/#��'-�(#�/�(*��0#�0 $��#0$(���!0$$��#����&��� �!"�#$�"0>�1��!��"($$�&�1>�/�(*��$�����  �/(#3�1�#��($'�0��� (2� >�$��1��30(#�&5�� �+L6,� O*�#�"(*0 �0#&����(*(�#$�'$���$-��$( ($>-�0#&�!�1 (*��0*( ($>�(#'$0  0$(�#-�*�#'$��*$(�#-�0#&�"0(#$�#0#*�+���+L66� O��(*(�#$�0  �*0$(�#-�&('$�(1�$(�#-�0#&�"0(#$�#0#*�����*�""�#��!�#�'!0*�+���+L6C� ;0#&��'���0�"�#(��'�/($��$���#0$��0 ���0$���'+���+L6L� =�"!0$(1( ($>�/($��$���*�0�0*$������$���'�����#&(#3���'(&�#$(0 �0��0'+���+L6�� O��(*(�#$��'����� 0#&�$��(#*��0'��$����!$(�#'�����0����&01 �����'(#3+���+L6D� P��'(#3�&��� �!"�#$�/�(*��0  �/'�����(#$�3�0$(�#����0��0�(�$>�������'(#3�$>!�'�/($�(#��#��!��N�*$+���+L6Q� @��$�*$(�#����#0$��0 ���'���*�'-�(#* �&(#3�1�$�#�$� ("($�&�$��09�(���'-�/�$ 0#&'�0#&��0�" 0#&+���+LC� R'��0#&��("�#'(�#0 �)$0#&0�&'�� �+LC,� 7��#���0"( >�&�$0*��&�&/�  (#3-�0�E���� �$� (#��'(#3 ���0"( >�&/�  (#3-�0�$/���0"( >�&�$0*��&�&/�  (#3�F&�! �?G-����0$$0*��&�&/�  (#3'-�����$���� 0/�� �0**�''��>�1�( &(#3�"0>�1��*�#'$��*$�&��#�*��$0(#� �$'�(#�0�= �'$������� �!"�#$�F0'�����(#�&��(#�&�0#&� ("($�&G�0 $���3��'�*�� �$'��0��� �''�0��0-����#$03�-�0#&S�����0��0#&�'(&��>0�&�&("�#'(�#'�$�0#�#��"0  >���9�(��&+�



� ������ ������� 	
�������������������������������
����
��������������
������������������������������������  �������������������������!��������������"������������
������������
������������������������������������������������
������������������������#����$������������
��#���%��������������
��
��
���������������������������  ����&�#���%���������!��
����'�����������&�����������������������!��'����������������������������!��
��������'������
���������������&������������������������������
���#���%���������!������������&������������������&���(��%��
�������������!�����������%��")����
�������������������%��
�����������&��
���������������������
��#���%��������������
��
��
���������������������*���*������������� ���������!��
�������������
�������������+�����,������*���-������������������ .�������������������������!��
��������%�/����������0�%���������
�����������������������
������-�������1!�	��������� �� 0�2/� 0�3� 0�4� 0�56� 0�7�6�������8�������2��-������$������� ��!"""� ��!"""� �"!"""� 9!�""� 1!"""�6�������2��.����%�������:� �""� �""� ;"� 1"� �"�6�������8�������.����*�����(������:� �"� �"� ��� �"� �"�6�������8�������*��������0����+����������:� ��� ��� ��� �"� �"�� :0�$������������&�������������&��
��,������7������%�<������������*����,����0��������������%������������������������������!��'������
��������
��������������&�����������������������$�����������������
�����%
�&����������;")�����
������������$����������.����%����$������������&�����������������������
�������&�����������")�����
����������
��������������������� =��������������������������������������������
�*����������"���-������&��������������������������
�������������������%�������
����
�����������&����������������������
������>�������������%������������1� 	
��������%��������%��&�����
����������������������������������������������,�������%������������
��������������������������
������������!�����
������������������������������� ����1"�-������������")����
��������������%��������
����������%��������&��������%��������1��-������������")����
��������������%��������
����������#����������!����%��������&��������%��������1��-���'�������1")����
��������������%���������&�������������������������������������&��������%����*���*�������������������������������������'���������1��-���'��������")����
��������������%���������&���������
����������%���	
�����
��������������
�����%
�������
����������%���������������������������%�������9� 	
���������������������
�������������������
���������������&��������&����!��'���������
��-0,�����?,������������������������
��
��2��������*�����-$�����!���������
��.6�/���������� ���
�������������!��
��<������@����
���&!�����������������
����������������
����
���%�������!����
��#����������������A���
�������������&���������6�������/������������
������������������&�����������������������������&�����������������;� .6�/���������  ���
��.6�/�������!��������������%�����������6�������/������������
���������������B�� ����;"�	
����'���������������������%������
��������������������������B�� ���/����������
��4���,������-�����&�����������%��")����
�������������C�����������2����-���������
�������������������%����C�����������2����-�����
��������������
���������������%����������������!�.,6�/�������������""�&����������������������""�&��������������������
��������������
����������������������������������������������������



� ������ ������	
��
���������
����
��������
������
������������������������������������� ����
�����!�������"�������
����
�����
������������	#�
���$����%���!�!�&�
����������
���������#����'���������
��
���(��������
�����������������	��
���!�)�!�!���!	������	����������
�������������
���*���
����� ����!��
���+���,��-��
���.*�� ����#����
��
/�
���$����%���!�!�&�
����������
���������#����'���������
��
�������	����������#�������
��!������
���!�)�!�!���!	������	����������
�������	��������*���
����� ����!��
�����������
��!������
����!���
�����!!��������
��	����� �������0
�������/�������!���������������
���������*���
����� ����!��
�����
���.*����
��
�������	��
�����!�����
�������������������
����+���+�����*���
����� ����!��
�����
���1������
��
/��)��
������
��������
�����+���,������+���,����+���,��-������
����
��
�����!���������������
�������������������
����+���+/�
�����������	����!�)�!�!���
�������������
�����
������������2�� *���
���%�)�!�!���
������ ��/�����3���
��*���
����������
�!�)���� ��/�����3���
���+���,����+�����
�	������'��������������������4����!!��������������	����� �������������#���������
����������
�������
���������*���
����� ����!��
�������	�
����5���
���������
�����!�������+���� �������	���6��
��� +����� (������������$�����!�#���
����'��������
�����!	������	����������
��
����������	����������	#�
��������
#���3����!��
�������
����+�����������
����+���,����#������!���!�!������7����
���
�
���������������
�����
����� ����!��
������������	������
����������������������-������ ��
�������
���$�������
����'��������
�����!	������	����������
��
�������7����
���!�)�!�!���!	��������
���
����������������������
���������	����� ����!��
�!�
������.���
��������������
���������
���/���7����
���
�
�����������'��������	����	
��
���������������������������
�������
����
���!�)�!�!������
#����!���#�����������������
����+������+����� �

��������
�����������#�	����������������
����� ����!��
��
��
���������������	������
����+����� .����������
����� ����!��
����
���������!���!�!������7��������	������
�/�
���������������!���������1�����
�����������	����	�
�
�
�������
��������(�	��������� 1�&�� � 1�0� � 1��� � 1�8*� �� �.� � �����)4��

����� �.� � �����)4��

����� �.� � �����)4��

����� �.� � �����)4��

������*���
���%���!�!�&�
�������9�3���
�:�� ��/���� � ��/���� ��/���� � ��/���� ��/���� � ��/���� ;/���� � ;/��������
������&�
�����4.�!��#�9�3���
�:�� � � ��/���� � � </���� � � +/���� � � �/����&�
�.���
����9�
�:�� ���=� � ���=� ���=� � ���=� ,�=� � ,�=� <�=� � <�=�%���!�!�.���
���
	�>�9�
�:�� ��=� � ��=� ��=� � ��=� ��=� � ��=� ��=� � ��=�%���!�!�����41������
	�>�9�
�:�� ��=� � ��=� ��=� � ��=� ��=� � ��=� ��=� � ��=�%�)�!�!�$��������*� ������97:�� ��=� � ��=�� ��=� � ��=� ��=� � ��=� ��=� � ��=�%�)�!�!�&�
�*� ������97:�� ��=� � ��=�� ��=� � ��=� ��=� � ��=� +�=� � +�=������������������������������=%�#�	��!��������	#�
������������$�����	#�����������!�
��



� ������� ������ �		
�������
�����������������
����������������������
����������������
�����
���������������������	
�����������������
���	
����
�����
���
���
���������
���	�����
���
����
������������
���������	
����
�����
������������ !"�
	��������������
���	
���������#�����������
���������	
����
���������
�������������$!"�
	����������
���	
������������%��������
���	
������������������������������������&�'��(���������
	�)
���������&����(�*��
�����#�
������������
�������#�������������+������	
��	�������,��������� ����������������������������������������
��#��
�����
��#���-
���������
������������������
������������������������.������	
���
������
���������
����
����
�����������������������*������	
��
��������#����*������	
�����������
	������������������������
	��������
�������������� )
�������
���������������������������
���
����
	����
��
���
���������	�����#�����#�
���
����
�����������������
��������������
�������.��������������	
�����������	���������������
*��������������������
	��������������
����������������/� �		
�������
����������������������
�����������������������
���
���������*��
������������� 0
��
��1���'�������������
������
	�0
��
��1���������.���
�����������������
	�����	
��
����2������!� ��������������������������	���������������
�����������������
��������������������
������
��������.�������������,
����������������������� ���������������������
�	���������������
�����������������
���������������
������
��������.�������������,
���������������	
�����
�	��������������������$� 3�
+����������
�����������������������������
*�����
��
�����������
���������������	
��
�����	
����2��'�������	�
�������
��������������������
	�4�����4#������4����������������*
�����
��
���
���������
	��������4������������
������
	��������������
������������������������������
��
�������������� 1��������������530�(��������������������
�	��	��������
�/!"�
	�����0
��
��1�����.�������������0�������(�*��
��������������� 6�����������
��
��������
*������������0�������(�*��
�����#��������$!!!��.����	������������������������������������
���������	
�����*���������*���������
����'���������������
������������7��������#��
���#�������7���#����������������530�(��������
��6���������������������������0
����*��
��0
������
����&�����
�������������������	������
��������������	������������
�����
���
���������*������	
�����#��
���
��#�������#���7���-+
�����������#���������
����#�
���������	����������������� 8������50�(�������#����0
��
��1�����������������*��
�������
�������������������
���������	
�����*����-
������*���������
���������������������	����������
*�����	
��������'����
��������������� 0
��
��1���9��������������!� :�������������63#��;3����50����������#�����
��
����������������������������<�4�����
�*������
������
���
	�����������������������������	
����7�
��
������������#�
��<$4�����
�*������
���
����
	���
����,��
�#������������������
���
	���������������
����*��
��
	�
��������#�<�4�����
�*������
���
��
���
��
��������
�����
���
����
������������
������
	������
���
��������������������������������*��
�����#�
��<�4�����
�*������
�����*��#��
����
	���
����������������	
����������
����
	�	�����#����������������
����	
���������������
���
	������������������
�������������
*������������������������������������*����	�����
��7���������
�����������������#��8	��������
��
���
��
����������������,��#������������������#�
��������������
	����������������
�*�������
	������
���
���������������������&������������
������������
����������������*�����������
*�#�����������
����	
���������������
���
	��������������������
�������
*���������������������������7���������
����
�����������������
�������������
��	
�����������������
����*��
����	
�������
�����������������7����
���
������



� ������ ������ 	
�������������
������������������������
���
���
�������
 !���� ����
������"���
�#���$%&'%(�&'%)�)*+&%,(�+,--*+&%.*-/�0*1*00*2�&,�3)�45,66,(�73(289�%(�3�0*)%2*(&%3-�2*.*-,:6*(&������� �;���<������;
��;�����=���������
���
�������� �>;���
��
��;
����
��!��������������������<�#�����
����
�������� �!����
����
�?�����������;������;! ����@�����!;;����"�
��������
���������������A��
�B������;���<�#�����
���
���������������C����!��� ������
��!���"�
�������D����������
���
��������
����������������@����;;��;����A��������
���
��������
��� � !����!;�
�#�������
�����!������<��;��#����������C�!����!������;��>�
?��������@�C��� ������E�F�����������������
���
����C�����
�@����������?�
����@
������
������
��<��!������*(&%&/�G'*0*%(31&*0�4,$(*089H�,0�63/� ���
<C��������F�@
��#�����������������
@������#�I������!�����������;������
������!���#!
����
�
?����������@
��J�����������
�������
�
�;��#�����!����������������
��<����
���?�
�K����
�@����;��
��;���;!�;�����
��!�����;�������
��#�@����L!����C��
�B������;���<����
��#�#�����
���
���������������C����!��� ������
��!��������;;��;���������������F���;;����
���������! ��������
�?�
��;��
�������
?����#!�!��!���
����
�?�
���#���������
���
�����<�@��
���;;��<����#������
�?�
��;��
������� �����
�����
��#����=������
��<�@��;;��<����������� F���������
����K���
�����;��#������
���
�������� ��! M����������;;��<����#�������

�
?�N������#��!�����
�������� ���
<C��������F�@
������O� �<�@��
���;;��<��������������OE� �;;��<��������� � C�=������
��<�@� C�������

�
?�N�������
��������
��@����������
���������#������
�=����
�������
��������@�������;!�;�����#���!����D<��;�
��������#������
�=����
�����P��
������������;;���� ����
��@����������?
��L!���
����#�=����
����P���
�����P������;;���� �������O�� =! �L!
���;;��<��� C�������

�
?�N������#��!���;�����
���#�����!����D<��;�
�������
����!�����! ��<����
������� ��L!����������#������
����=! ��<����
���
�������@���
��!��
?��;;��<����#�����������
��!�����C��C��������#�<��� �������
�@�������C� ����� C�������

�
?�N������
���=������
��<�@��;;�������
�������
�������#���� ���������������
����!���! ��<����
��;;��<���!
������=! ��<����
���
�������@��������!����
���?!�����
��Q�<�
�
?����=! ��<����
��#���
���
��������;�C�������!����;;��<���@���� �?�<
������R� ���������
���
��<�
�C��S�����;;�������
�#�������!����D<��;�
����
���
�
?���
��@����
�������������
���
��<�
�C���������������� ������;�
��� C��
��������
�������#�;��
���
�����!�
����������
��
���C���#������;���#�����;;�������
�������

�
?�N��������������
���������;C�����#���������
��<����
����������
�@�������������������
���C���
�������������
���
<���?������;��;�����<��;�
���
���;�����
�@����
?����������
�����
�������N������F�����

�
?�N�����������
�����>�#�
��������
��
��;;��<���!
��������������<�����;��������
�#���������
��<����
����������
����!
������������������
���������@�������C�������;���#������;���#��!����;;�������
�@����!���! ������
��#����;����������P� ��!����D<��;�
��D��?
��L!���
�������PE� T���!�����
���������
�����!�����
U��;�����C���!��������� ������C���##�
������#�������
���C���!����
�����<@�C�V���
#������������ ���
���K�� �@
�<���!������!����
��;������
���!����
���������
�����������P�� =��
�
?��
��N!##��U����C�!���
�����?
���������;�
�����
���#���;��<��C� �@
��
�����!
���@���
?�!
���V�
�����!��!��������� �;�����������������;��M���;��;��C���
����
����#��
���� ��>��L!���
��#��������K�
�
?���������������P�� �����
���
�U�������M����C��#���������
���
����������
������#����?� ���>���#���
��?!�!�����������C������� ��������������
����#�����<��;�
��#������������!����������
��������;
�������
����
>�� �@
���##�
�������
���#������
���
�������� ������C����@
V�;�C�������
��<��!��������������������
���
��#��������@���
?�!
���������� ���W���K������;���<����
��#�������?�
�����
�#�����
��W����
?�<?�����
������� ���W���K���



� ������ ������� �	
�
	
����������
���������	���������������	���
��������
��	�����	
�����
��������������������������	�
����������	�
���������
�������
�����	
����	���
�	����	
�����������	
���������
�� ���	����������	�
�����������	���������������������� !��	��	
������"��
������	��������
	
���#�����	���$����������������	���������������	��	���%
������%�������	������	��	
�������&�
�����%�	���������	�������
������	�������
	
���������������� $�
��
� ��
	
� ���	���!����
� �$������������
�%�������������	���
	�����������
��
� ��	���	�������
��%����������'
� �����������������	����������	���
����
��
� ��������������������
��
� �%
	�
�������	������
�

�����()*+,-.�/0/�123..)4�5.,+�6)(,4).+,32�4)7)2-18).+�����9� :�������;���
�	
���� !���������
	�<�
���	
���;���������	��������������
=����������������	���������	������������	�
�
� ����
�
�������>����99�&��������	�
��%�
������
=	���������
���	
������������������������	�����������������
�	�������
��
� �	������������������
		�������������%�
���������	���
����	��������
�
��	��������	� ����	���������
	��������
�	��	�� ���	����
�������

���	�������	������	������������&�
�����	����	����
	�
�	�	��	����=	��	���	���
?������	�
�$���%������>� !������� @	�
�
�	������	��	���!���������
	�<�
���	
���;���������	���������
�

���	����������������������	
	������������%����%�
���������	�����������
����	�
?������'����	��������%���
� �����
	���
�	��
	���������������	�������&�
��������������	��	����� ���	
���
�����������	�����
	�
�	��	���
�������	�
�A��
� �$���%���B�����C�������������	���!���������
	�<�
���	
���;���������	��
�����
	
���	��	���������� �����
� �	�
�$���%���	�	���
��#�	
����>��
�	������
����������
=	����������
� �	�����	����	�
������	
�������
�����	�
���
	�
�	�
��	���B�%���	��� ���	������
	��	����%���������������������%���
��������
	�
�	�%
	���	���	���	
� ������	����
���
�
	��������	��	
��&���
	
�����	������
������	���#�!���������
	�<�
���	
���;���������	�����������	�
�������>9� "�����
�����������
�
��	�	���	���	
�
	�����������
�����
�
	��
�	����	
�������	���	
����������
�	������������>>� #����
�	��������
� �	��������������	��
	
���������
�	��	�����
�����
�������������
�� ����������>D� "��
�
��	�������	
�����
	�
��	
����������
�	��������������������������������>�� E�������������
���%
	��	�����	��������	�������������>�� B�������������	���������������	������������	������ ���� ����	���������D� �������;
���
������	�����������D9� @����!���������
	�<�
���	
���;���������	�	��������%
� ����������������
		����� ���D99�F������
����%���
� �����D9>��B%�����
��������
���	�������%���
� �����D9D��B�%����������D9���G��	
�������
����%���
� �����D9���H���������I
���� ��	�������D9���!��������%���
������D9J��!���
�������	
��������



� ������ ��������	
��������������������� �����������������������������������
�����������
��
 ��!��"���������������!��
�����������#�������������#�
�����������������$�����%�� �������&��������
����
����!��������#�� �����!��������$����������'�$�������
���"�����������
�����'������
������������$�������"������
���������������
�������"������
����������(�$���)
���!������(�����*�$���+�������
���
�����'����������(��(�����
��������$�����������
���
����������������,�����������#����
 ����
��������!��������#����������������&��������
����
������,�� �����!�������������$����������'�$�������
���"�����������
�����'������
������������$�������"������
���������������
�����'����������������
������������������������#��"������
����������(�$���)
���!������(��������
���
�����'����������(��(�����
��������$�����������
���
����������������,�����������#����
 ����
����������,�� �����!����������������&��������
����
��
 ��
�����������$�����������$�������
���"�����������
�����'������
�������
���(�������������$���
������������� 
������������

������
����������'�������������(�������������
�������

������
�����������������
�(������������#��
���#������
�������
���,������������
������������������������(���������������'��������������(���#��"����������
���-�
���������'�����"��������'�
�������

������
�������������
�� ,��.�/

������
�������
 ��
�����#��.�0
������1�,2�
�������
 ��
����1��(�������

�����2��3��.�������(��
���
��������
�������
 ��
����1��,�������-'�����������

���"��������'�
����������
�������
 ��
�����

�����2�� �����+�/
��
 ��
����'� ����
� ���
������������
��'������
������������#������'�� 
�������������������������
�����
��������������#��
����������(�$���)
���!������(��������$��������
�(��(������������,�����������#����
 ����������������
����������������������*����������$���
��
���!���"������������������������������4�,��������!���
�����(����%������!����������*�$���+��������5�4����������$�(6�������7�����#������������!�
��#��
�����������#�
������������������������������������
�����%���"�����
������"��������������(�������(�������
 �����*�$���+��������������������3���
������(�����'����������������$�(6����������#������
 �����*�$���+��
����������(�$���)
���!������(��������$���
���������������
�����!�����
����
�����������3������!��������#������ 
������#��
���������(
��
���
������"������!�����
����
�������	������(���
�������*�$���+���



� ������ �������	
��
������������������������
����
��������������������������������� ���������!���
"��
��#����$�����$������������� ������
����������
����������
����%�������������������
���������&
"�������������'���'
"�����������
����'����������!
��
�����(�)��
���
������!���������������#
���$'�����)�������
��)�##
��
�������$�������������������$���� 
������
����������� ��
�
�
���������
"������������������
��$��� ������'������������"��������
&
"*+�""
"����
������
��������������
#
���� ��
�
�
����������,�-�.
#�#��������"��� ��!���
"��
���� ��'�����'���� ����#
���������
"/����0��������1�-

#�#����&
"�����
��#���/�������"�������
�2��
������� ���
��3'�4�!����������5���#�������� 
 �'��������� �����!
��
�����(�)��
���
������!���������������#
���$'�����)�������
��)�##
��
��������$���������� �� 
����������
�'�����
��#���� ��������������!
������
"�%���
��6����� ���7� )�##��4���8!����
��� 8��������������##������������$�������������#�
��
���
�����������!
������������������������
$���
�%���
����7��� ���
��3'��!�������� ���
�!����2����������������� 9����
�
�������������
��#��������
 
���
�%���
�����7��%���
������#
���� ���
��3'��!����%���
��1��)���������2�� �����:������4�!������� ����!
"������������������$������
���� ���������������
��� ����������
�����
���
����������#������/�� ������ ;�������������������#���������$��
����#�'�!
�������-����������� �������##�
�'��
 ��'������������������#�����$'��������
"�3������������� ;����������#�����������������
 '�������$������
����!
��
�!�
����������#���� ����������
��� ������������
�����
���
����������#���#�'�$���������������
��
�� ��#���������
�����#����� ����$���������������������
"��
��#�'�$������!��������
������������
��
��������$����+������ ���
�����������
���� ������������
�����
���
����������#����������� %�$����������������$'��������
"�3������ ����������
���� ������������#����������
���������$�
�
�
��!
���$������
����������� �����
�����%�$�
�
�
��)������4�!��
����
"����������� �����������������
�
�'��'���#����2� �����$�������##����
��$'��������
"�3��������������%���
������#
��$��
��������������������� �����$�����#�������
���������
�������$�
�
�
��������������������%�$�
�
�
��)������4�!��������%�$�
�
�
�������������"����
���� ��������
"�3���������
#��'��������������������!
���$��"
���������� (����������)�������'�� <��������
���
�� ��������������

"�����=����(����������)�������'�������$������#��
���$'������
�
��������� ��������	
��
������'��� ��������
���� ��������������3������ �2�����������������#
�������'������� ��������)�������
��)�##
��
���!�
�����
��)�##
��
��#�'��
�
����
�����
���
����
"������������������������#�������������
�!�
�
"�
�������##����
����������3������ �2������������6� ;���3������ �2������������������&�� 
������
��������
���
�� �����%���
������#
�������������
��
����������
�������������������� ��#�$�����������
"�3��������)�������
��)�##
��
��������
����
�����
"�3��������)�������
��)�##
��
�����������!���7����'������������� ��������
���� ����������!
��������$#
��
��� ���������������



� ����������	
����� 
�����������
����	��������
������� ����� �������� �!"�#$%#&��'�()�$&!��� *��+$���,$�"��-&..)�#%/� �0��&$.��%�1+,- 2�!3����.������$�#�"#$���/���!#4��%#���4�0��&$.��%��&"�%�4�&��"&�%#5)&)!����4���4�#�"�)4#�5�46���#�5�)�#%!���4��""�!!&�/�7�"#�#%#�!�&6��4�#�4#0#4)���/���48&��#��"&..&����9��"&.$��#!&��%&�-&�0��%#&����:�!#4��%#���,);4#0#!#&�� �0��&$.��%<����+$���,$�"��-&..)�#%/� �0��&$.��%�1+,- 2�!3�������&6���.#=�&7�3&)!#�5�%/$�!���4�.�/����&6�%3��"&�")����%�4�0��&$.��%�&7�!���"%�4��&����!#4��%#���)!�!�"&.$�%#;���6#%3���4�!)$$&�%#0��&7�%3����!#4��%#���4�0��&$.��%���*��+,- �.�/����&6�&�5��#>�4�5�&)$!�&7�3&)!�3&�4!�%&�"&�!%�)"%�46���#�5�)�#%!���4�"&..&��7�"#�#%#�!�7&��%3�#��"&���"%#0����4�#�4#0#4)���&6���!3#$���4�)!����9%�#!�#�%��4�4�%3�%����+$���,$�"��-&..)�#%/� �0��&$.��%�1+,- 2�;���� �0��&$.��%�?�%3&4�%3�%�#!�7��=#;���#����%)�����4����&6!�7&��.&4#7#"�%#&��&7��&%�!#>�<�;)�@�&��%/$��&7�46���#�5<�4��!#%/<�#�%��!#%/�&7�4�0��&$.��%<�&����A)#��4�&$���!$�"��#��%3����5)��%#&�!�&7���/�4#!%�#"%��!%�;�#!3�4�;/�%3#!�B&�#�5�C/��6<�!&��!�%&���!)�%�#��$�%%���!�&7����4�)!��%3�%�����.&���"&.$�"%���4�.&����77#"#��%�/���#4�&)%�&����!.�����������&7���!#%�<�63#���$��!��0#�5�.&���&$���!$�"����4�&%3�����%)������4�")�%)����7��%)��!���!�63������ D��4��&%�)!�4�7&����!#4��%#��<��$$�&0�4��&����!#4��%#���&���""�!!&�/�$)�$&!�!�!3����;��$��.����%�/�$��!��0�4��!�&$���!$�"���""&�4#�5�%&�%3��.�%3&4!�3���#��7%���4�!"�#;�4��� 9%�#!��=$�"%�4�%3�%�%3��7&��&6#�5�;���7#%!�.�/�;��5�#��4�%3�&)53�)!��&7�%3#!� �0��&$.��%�?�%3&4E�� ������ -&.$�"%<��"&�&.#"�����4��77#"#��%���/&)%<�#�!%����%#&�<�"&�!%�)"%#&����4�.�#�%����"��&7�;)#�4#�5!<�!%���%!<�)%#�#%#�!���4�$);�#"�7�"#�#%#�!�������F� G77#"#��%����&"�%#&�<�4#!%�#;)%#&����4�.�#�%����"��&7�"&..&��$);�#"���4�$�#0�%��&$���!$�"��������H� D��4�4�0��&$.��%���4�)!�!�%3�%�����3��.&�#&)!�6#%3���4�63#"3�"&�!��0�<�$�&%�"%���4���3��"�E�� ����H���I�%)������!&)�"�!�&7�%3�����4<�#�"�)4#�5�"�#%#"�����!&)�"������!�!)"3��!�6�%���4!<�7�&&4$��#�!<�6#�4�#7��3�;#%�%<�5����;��%!���4�7��.���4�������H�F�J��4#%#&������!&)�"��;�!�4����4�)!�!���4�$��"%#"�!<�#�"�)4#�5�7��.#�5<��&55#�5<��A)�")�%)��<���4�!#.#����)!�!�#��&�4���%&�$��!��0��%3��")�%)����3��#%�5��&7�!)"3�)!�!�#��*.3��!%<��!�6�����!�%3��%��4#%#&�������4�4�0��&$.��%�$�%%���!���4���"���%#&����&$$&�%)�#%#�!���!)�%#�5�7�&.���4����;��4�;/�%3�!��%��4#%#&������!&)�"��;�!�4����4�)!�!�������H�H�K#!%&�#"�����4���"3�&�&5#"�����!&)�"�!<�#�"�)4#�5�;)#�4#�5!<�!%�)"%)��!<�!#%�!���4�.�%��#��!�������L� G77#"#��%�)!��&7����4�!&��!�%&�#�"���!��%3��&$%#&�!�7&����4�%3��!)$$�/�&7��77&�4�;���3&)!#�5��������� K&)!#�5�4�0��&$.��%�%3�%����&6!�7&��#�%�5��%#&��&7���0��#�%/�&7�3&)!#�5�%/$�!<�#�"�)4#�5�3��4#"�$$�4��""�!!#;���3&)!#�5<��$$�&$�#�%��%&�0��#&)!�!&"#�����4��"&�&.#"�5�&)$!�6#%3#����/�5#0���4�0��&$.��%�$�&M�"%������F� N!��,%��4��4!�� ���F�� J3��7&��&6#�5�(�#�"#$���)!�!�!3����;��$��.#%%�4�#�����+$���,$�"��-&..)�#%/� �0��&$.��%�1+,- 2E�� ���F���+���7�.#�/�4�%�"3�4�46���#�5�����F�F�J6&�7�.#�/�&��!�.#�4�%�"3�4�46���#�5�����F�H�,);4#0#4�;���46���#�5��



� ������ �����	�
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������������������������������������ ���������������� ��������������� ���������������!������������ ������������"��������������#�$��%��������������������������������������%����������� ������������� �������������%��������������������������#��������	�	&�$��� ����� ���������'������(��������)�� ������������� ���������������������������� �����*���������������������	+��� ������������������*��������������,������*������ �� ��������������������*��� �� ���� �������� ������������������������*������������� ������������������ %�� ������������� - ��������������������������������������������������� ��%������������������.�/01�� ���������/���������%����������������� �����������������������������2��� ����������������������������� ���������������������������������������3�%�����������&�3�������������	�'������������������������� ������������.��������������������4��2� ��,������,�������%�������������5�.� ���� ����������������������������������������������� �����������������������*����� ����������������������������&� 0������������������ ���&�� - ����6�������������������������.����������/���������0�*��������� ��%�������������������1�� ���0���������� ��7���'�����)����%����%�����������8����� ������������9�%����%��3����)���������� �����������������������9�%����%��3����)����� �������������� �����%���������������������������:'/�0��������������������������������������������������������������� �������������� ��������������������������������������������������������&����%������+8����� ��7���'�����)���������������������2�������������������	��0�*����� ������������%����%�����������%��� ��������������������;���������� ��������%��"��������������#�$������<������� ��������������������%����&�#�&�8$��������*��� ����6�������������������������������&������4 ������������������%�����*�����������.�/0��� ����6���������������������������� �������������� �����*������ �������%���������������������������&�� �����������������������������%��������*������������	� 0�������������������������	�� ������������������������������������� ��%�������������%�������������;��������!�����*������� ������� �����������6������ ��������������������;�����������������������%��*������������ ��������%��"��������������#�$����



� ������ ������ 	
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������������
�����
������������������������������� ���������������!������
�������"���������������������
����������������������#���������������������������������������������$� %�����������������������&�����
���������������������"��������������
��������������������'()*����������������������������������������
�������������������������
����
�����������������������������������
������+��������������������	
����"���������������������������&��������������&��������������������
������������������������������������&�������������������������������������&������������ (�������&�����������������
����������&�����&�����
����,-�����
����������&���������������������� ������ .����������/�0��������������&����������������������������������
��1�2�*��������3����
���1������������������
����&������������������������
���������������������
����������������� %���������������
���������������������
������������"�����������/�0�������
��(������4��&��5�������6��
�����&���&���������������������������������������������#���&��������&�����
������������
���������&�����������������������7��������
����������������������#�����������������������������������������������������8� 6��������"��������������������������&&�����������9����������������������������������������������������
����������������������������������
�������������������������'()*��
�����������+�������������������&���������������������
�(���������$����������$��8�������� (�������(������ ����,�  
���������������&�����
�������������������
��
���������������������������&���!������
����
�������
���������������������������������������������
��7��������:����
�&�������������������
�����������������
����
����������������
��"���������&����������������������������������������������&��������������������������
����������������&���� 
�����������������������
����������������&���
�����������������������
��6#�����1��
�����4���������/6140����	�����
���4���������/	40������������������������ *������7�������� 3�����
��������������
����������������������
����������������
����������������
��������������������
�������� �������
���������
������������������9�����������������������������������������
�����������&������������������'()*�������������������
��&�!&�&��������������������������(���������$,��� ����,� 6����������.����� ����,�,�3������'()*��
��������������������������������������������������
�(���������������������
��&�!&�&���������������
���������(���������$,�&�������������������
����&����������������������������������6����������������������������
�����������
���������!�����$,-�����
��&�!&�&���
���������&�����������(���������$,�������,���6����������������
��������������
����������������
����
�����
���������&������!������
����
��(������4��&��5�������6��
�����&����������&�������������������������&��������������������������������������
��
���������������
��7���������������
������������������������



� ������ ������ �		
����
�������� ���������������������������	���
����
�����������������������	�  
���		
����
����
!���
� !"#���"���"��$����	���
�����!	���
	��!����		
���%"�!��!
������"���&�'���$()*�����+
��
�*���
�+�,�+�+��
������
�������
�����
!��
	��"�����'��+���
���	!
��
������
���+
!�"���		
����
������� !" "�
�*�
,	
 ��������"��		
����
�������+���
�	"���
����� �!��"����	�����
������"�������
����
 �!��
����"!���
���
�������������!
����"�
���� !"#��
����������"�����		
����
����������"�
�����
!������ !"#���"���������"��
,	

����-�"����
�+�,�+�+�"��
!���
� 
!+���
�����
!��
	��"�����'��������'� .�
�	"+��
��������"������+
!�"�����"!���
������		
����
����������"�
�����
!�������
	��"���������"��
,	

��'�-�"����
�+�,�+�+�"��
!���
� 
!+���
�����
!��
	��"�����'��������/� ������
��������������	�����"������"!���
����������	�  
���		
����
������*��"!� �! "�
��"��	��	�����������
������"�������
!�������
	��"�*�
�	"���
��
���
!�����������
����"!���
������"!�����������
��		
����
�����*�����"��"��������0� �"++"��1����������!�������0����.�
��"��"�����+���+�+� 
!	
����
��"���"���� �!	
���!
�������������������
�!
����
���������������������
#
�" 
���"++"��1����2
 ��" 
���������
#
�" 
���"!���������*�!"��������������2����*� �!2���������������
�3�� 4"���������!�	����� � � � (�1�� (��� (�5� (�6��(�7�$���+�+�-�� 
��� �	
� � � 8�� 0�� 0�� ��� �������0�� ��+���+�+�"����-�"����
��"++"��1���������������������
�� �����
,	����#
�"���
������*�9:������!�	�����������
�!���""� �����������0'� �"++"��1����������
������"��������!�
*�	"�����"����!
�������  !" !���
��"���������!���"!�	����!���	��!�	�
!����	���������� !" "�
����
&�)*�����
���"!������
!��
	��"�����/�*���/;���������'������0/� �"++"�������"��
!��� �������
���� !"#��
���"!����
!��
	��"����/����������8� � 
��� �	
��"++�������
#
�" +
���&����)��
�����(
<��!
+
����� ���8�� =���������� 
��� �	
��"++�������
#
�" +
���&����)*���+���+�+�"��'*�����<��!
��

�� 
!���
�����������������
�����
�" 
��� �	
��"!��	��#
����� ����#
�!
	!
���"��������
�" 
��� �	
�������
��
���
���"���	���
�	"�����"���" 
��� �	
��
#
�" 
�������#�����
��"!� �����!
��*��"���"��*���!�
��*�"���!"����!�����&��	�����������"����+��
���"���2���*�>"�����*�!���
������	�	�
��!����*�����
��������"�
� ���������
��
+
�������	�� !"#��
��		
���"!�	"��
	��"���"���	���!����*�!
��!��
���"���"	���"�)*�����"!� ���������
���*���2
�����"!��
�����	"�!���"!���+���!���	�����
������!
��  !" !���
��"���
��

���"����
��
#
�" +
���������
�" 
��� �	
��������"����	���
� �!2�����!
��*�!"������*����
���2��"!��������������
�����������
�
!+��
������
��"��
!#���"���"++����"��&
,	
 ������
!
�����
!� !"#��
�)���� ��"���� 
!	
���"���"��������
�" 
��� �	
�+���
��"	��
��������9:������!�	�����?"!��
������*�����  !" !���
��"���
����
��
��!
	!
���"����
&�)*�����		"!���	
��������
� !"#���"���"���
	��"��/�''*�������� 
!+���
������
��"��
!#���"���"++����"�������8�� .�
��
�����!
<��!
+
����"���
	��"����/;*������
!��
#
�" +
����
�����(
<��!
+
���*��������  ����"��������������8'� 9"!������������������
�9������!�	�*���
��
�����!
<��!
+
����"���
	��"��/�';���������  �����9"!���������"�����
�"����
�9������!�	�*���
� !"#���"���"���
	��"���/�';��*�/�';�/*�/�';��*�/�';�8�/�';����������  ��������8/� 6
��	���!��		
��*����
!����	�!	�����"������!
���
�� �!2����������
��"	��
�������
����
���"�����"�+���+�@
���
�!��+ �	��"����>�	
���!
���
��������
��"�����
���
��������



� ������ ����� 	
��
������������������
���� ������ �����
����
������������������������
������
��������
��������
������������������������� ��
��
���!"�#$������
��������
����%�������������&�'(�������)
����
���%�

�
�����������
 ���
���������
�������������� �������
����%��������������
����
������������ ������
�������������������
�
���
�������*���� ������
��������
����%�������������&�'(�������)
���
��������
�������
���
�����
��������
�+,���������
-���
�
���������)
�
�����
�������%�����
������������
��
�������������������������������%�

�
���������������������
�������
��
��
���������������������������
����������)
�����������������
����������������.�
�
/��
������
��������
�
������������������
������%
���
�
��� ��������������%�������
�
�������
���
���������
��
��%����
�
����
�����������%
�
���������&�'(���.�
�
��
-���
�
����������)
���%���%�����������)
����
������������������
���
������
�����������+� .�
���
������
�����0������%��������� ��������&�
������
�'������� �(
�
����
���!&�'($�������)
���
��������%�1������������������
�������
����������������
������+��"����
�������
������������������
-���
�
��������
�����������������������
���
-���
�
������������) �������� �)
��������)�
�������,� ��)�
-�
���������������������������!�$�������&�'(�������������
�����)���������������)
��
-���
������
�������������
���)���������'�������2�����������%���������������
����

������������� �� ��
������������)�
��������������� �)
����
�) ���
��������%�1������������
������
������������������������������
�
���
��)
��

�
��
���
��������������
���)���������������������
����
���)���������'�������2�������
�	��
������	
%���������0��
����%���
���)������������2���������������� ��������)����������������������)
�%����
��������"� 3�����������������������&�
������
�'������� �(
�
����
���!&�'($����������%��������������
�4���������
�'���
����� �!4�'$�(��������������)
����������
��) ����������������
��������������������
���������������������������
�'���
��������'������������5�������
��!+�$��� ������
�
���������
����������������
��������%�1������������������������� ���
�
��������
�'���
��������'������������.�
�'�����������������������������
���������
���%��
���
�������
���
�
����
��������
�������������%������
����
��������������
��������%�1�����������"���� �������
����
������������������.�
��������%�1�����������������6
�������������������������������
���������������������������
�
��
��������
���
������������
�'���
��������'���������������������
�"���� ��
�������������
����������
�
���������������
������



����������	
���� �		����������������������������������������������� ������������������!����"���� #������� �������������������$��%%����&��'�(�&��%����������������"�&��'������������)��������*#������+����#,������-����#����������������������������������.�����������������������/��������%����������"���� �-���&,���������������0��"�� ���������-���������������1�%��,����%����������������������������%��������%���� ��������������������������234�567�89:;9�:6<�:3�=>?@69:A7�BC53D4<�;56DC?>A:E4�>;;766CA4�>3F�:3;:F73D>E�DC�>�@7A?:DD7F�GA:3;:@>E�H67�69>EE�I7�@7A?:DD7F�C3�D97�6>?7�ECD�8:D9�6>:F�GA:3;:@>E�H67<�CA�C3�>�ECD�>FJ>;73D�D97A7DC�:3�D97�6>?7�C837A69:@<�65IJ7;D�DC�D97�K737A>E�E:?:D>D:C3�D9>D�:D�69>EE�3CD�I7�F7DA:?73D>E�DC�D97�37:K9ICA9CCF�CA�D97�@AC@7AD4�:3�D97�L:;:3:D4<�>3F�65IJ7;D�M5AD97A�DC�D97�MCEEC8:3K�@ACL:6:C3N��O97A7L7A�>�GA:3;:@>E�H67�:6�>EEC87F�I4�P@7;:>E�G7A?:D�MAC?�D97�QC>AF�CM�2@@7>E6�D973�2;;766CA4�H676�DC�D97�GA:3;:@>E�H67�69>EE�I7�65IJ7;D�DC�>�P@7;:>E�G7A?:D<�53E766�CD97A8:67�@ACL:F7F�:3�D9:6�2AD:;E7R������������������� �������� SRT�T� UCFK7A6VQC>AF7A6VWCC?7A6VQ7F�>3F�QA7>XM>6D��SRT�TT�UCFK7A6VQC>AF7A6VWCC?7A6VQ7F�>3F�QA7>XM>6D���Y>Z:?5?�[9A77�G7C@E7R��\3�>34�F:6DA:;D<�D97�D>X:3K�CM�ECFK7A6VIC>AF7A6VACC?7A6VI7F�>3F�IA7>XM>6D�ECFK7A6�]?>Z:?5?�D9A77�@7C@E7̂�69>EE�I7�>3�>;;766CA4�DC�D97�567�CM�>�F87EE:3K�53:D<�@ACL:F7F�D9>DN�� SRT�TTT� [97A7�69>EE�I7�>3�C837A�89C�A76:F76�C3�D97�@A7?:676�A76@C36:IE7�MCA�D97�C@7A>D:C3R��SRT�TT�� [97A7�69>EE�I7�3C�67@>A>D7�;CCX:3K�M>;:E:D:76R��=C87L7A<�?7>E6�?>4�I7�CMM7A7FV@ACL:F7F�DC�ECFK7A6VIC>AF7A6VACC?7A6�>3F�IA7>XM>6D�?>4�I7�@ACL:F7F�DC�I7F�>3F�IA7>XM>6D�ECFK7A6R��SRT�TT_� [97A7�69>EE�I7�3C�65I6D>3D:>E�;9>3K7�DC�D97�7ZD7A:CA�CM�D97�I5:EF:3KR��SRT�TT̀� a37�@>AX:3K�6@>;7�69>EE�I7�@ACL:F7F�MCA�7>;9�ACC?�DC�I7�C;;5@:7F�I4�ECFK7A6VIC>AF7A6VACC?7A6VI7F�>3F�IA7>XM>6D�ECFK7A6�:3�>FF:D:C3�DC�D97�@>AX:3K�A7b5:A7F�53F7A�P7;D:C3�cRTTTR��SRT�T��UCFK7A6VQC>AF7A6VWCC?7A6VQ7F�>3F�QA7>XM>6D���dC5A�DC�P:Z�G7C@E7R��\3�>34�F:6DA:;D<�D97�eC3:3K�QC>AF�CM�2@@7>E6�?>4�KA>3D�>�P@7;:>E�G7A?:D�MCA�D97�D>X:3K�CM�ECFK7A6VIC>AF7A6V�ACC?7A6VI7F�>3F�IA7>XM>6D�ECFK7A6�]MC5A�DC�6:Z�@7C@E7̂�>6�>�567�>;;766CA4�DC�D97�567�CM�>�F87EE:3K�53:D<�@ACL:F7F�D9>DN�� SRT�T�T� [97A7�69>EE�I7�>3�C837A�89C�A76:F76�C3�D97�@A7?:676�A76@C36:IE7�MCA�D97�C@7A>D:C3R��SRT�T��� [97A7�69>EE�I7�3C�67@>A>D7�;CCX:3K�M>;:E:D:76R��=C87L7A<�?7>E6�?>4�I7�CMM7A7FV@ACL:F7F�DC�ECFK7A6V�IC>AF7A6VACC?7A6<�>3F�IA7>XM>6D�?>4�I7�@ACL:F7F�DC�I7F�>3F�IA7>XM>6D�ECFK7A6R��SRT�T�_� [97A7�69>EE�I7�3C�65I6D>3D:>E�;9>3K7�DC�D97�7ZD7A:CA�CM�D97�I5:EF:3KR��SRT�T�̀� a37�@>AX:3K�6@>;7�69>EE�I7�@ACL:F7F�MCA�7>;9�ACC?�DC�I7�C;;5@:7F�I4�ECFK7A6VIC>AF7A6VACC?7A6VI7F�>3F�IA7>XM>6D�ECFK7A6�:3�>FF:D:C3�DC�D97�@>AX:3K�A7b5:A7F�53F7A�P7;D:C3�cRTTTR��SRT�T�f� [97A7�69>EE�I7�>�?>Z:?5?�CM�M:L7�ACC?6�>L>:E>IE7�MCA�A73D>E�DC�ECFK7A6V�IC>AF7A6VACC?7A6VI7F�>3F�IA7>XM>6D�ECFK7A6R��



�������������� 	�
����
���������������������������
��������
���������������������������������������������������������������	��������������������������������������� �������������
�������������������������	����������������������!��������!����
���!������������"���������������������"������������������#�������������������������������$����������������
������#����������%�

��#���������������������������"������ &��������'%�(����������������������������	�������
� ��������)�������*��
�������������"������������������"���������������������+����
������������������� ������������������#�������������&��������,����-����'%�������.�������������������������������	�������
� ��������)�������*��
�������������"������������������"���������������������������
������������������� ������������������#����������������������
�����������������"�����������������������������
������$������������������������� �������/������������������	�������
� ��������)�������*��
������������������������������������$��������������������������
�������������$����������	�������+�����)����������01�������������������
��������������#�������������2�� �������� /������������������#����#���������������������
��������������������������������������������� /����������������������������������������������#�������������������� ����������� /�����������������������������"���������������3�#�$��������"�����
� �������$��������������������"��������������������0� 4������"���������������������$�����������������
����������� �������������"����������������������������������"�����5������������)�������+�������������6� ����������������
������$�����������������$�������� ����������������"�������������������������������� ��������� �����������������������������������"������������������� 	�
����
���������������������������
��������
�������������� ������������������������������������������������	��������������������������� �������������
���������������)���������7���������������������
������$�����������������������������
����������������������	�������
� ���5�����������������$������������������������������
����
������������������������� 	������� �(#������8�����9:;<=><>�?@ABC<D�EFG�HIHEJ�KLL<@AMN<�OBN<;C<D�EG�HIHEP�� 	������� ��#������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������#���������������������������������������������������$�������������������������#������������������������������$����������
���������$���������������������	���������� ��������������� ��#�����������������Q�
������
������������������������!��
�� ���5����
��������/�����0���4�� �����9�R��������� ��#�����������������������
����������������� ������������
�� �����������#�������� �������STUVWXUYZ�[\\Y]]T̂_�̀aYbbXUc�dUXV���	���������� ��#�����������#������������������������� �#����������Q�����������#�������
�� �����������#������������5���������������������Q����������������������#���������������� ������������������#����#����5������� ���������������������� ����	�%���������	������� �(#������8����������������
���������������,����'%����.����4��������-(�(���������������#�����$��#������������������������� ������ �������������%�

�������������$��������������������
�����������5����
�������������� ��#���������,���������5����
���������������#����)������������0�������������[VVW\eYZ�[\\Y]]T̂_�̀aYbbXUc�dUXV�f�	���������� ��#�����������#��������������������������$��$�����������������������������Q������������
�� �����������#��������������������������
����������Q��������������������������������Q������������������������������
������������#������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������



������� �������		�
����

�������������������	���������������		�����	���������������� ����!�������"�����	��
	���#�����������$�����#�	������������

�������%������	���&%����������������������$���#�
�	����	��	��	����	��	�����'%������	���#�	����&��������	�������������'%������	��#�%�����������(�
	����)�*++����)�*++,��-./012.3�411.55678�-9.::;<=�><;/�������	�
����

�������������������	�������������������#����	��������

������������#��������	�
����������������		��	���

%�������������	����������	������

������������
���	���	��������#�������	�
�����������������

��������	�
�����������%��	��������	������%�	��#�����
���	�%
	���������������	�	�����#�����?��	�����	�%
	%������%�	���������%��	����	����	�������������'%������	���#�	������
	������ �������	�
����

�������������������	����%�	����#��������
���	�%
	������	��@���	�����(��
������	���	����)*A��#�	���@���	�����(��
���#�	���������������#������������������������������(��
����B����	�#����	���C������&�����#������������	���������������� ����!�������"�����	��
	������������	�
����

�������������������	���	��@���	�����(��
�������	����)*A��#�	���@���	�����(��
���#�	���������������#�����������������������������		�����	���������������� ����!�������"�����	��
	���#�����������$�����#�	������������

�������%������	���&%����������������������$���#�
�	����	��	��	����	��	�����'%������	���#�	����&��������	�������������'%������	��#�%�����������(�
	����)�*++�����)�*++������������'%������	����D���#����������	�����������������E�����!��������F+G��

���������������%��	���������������		������

�������	�����������#�������	�
�����������������D����������������	������	����+�***��'%����#��	��#�@���	�����(��
����������

���������������%��	���
��H�	����	�������
���������#�����������������	����

�������������������	�����������

%�������	��������F�G��#�	�������
���������#�����������������	�����B���
�����������
������
����'%������	����������������
���	�����#�����(��
����B����	������$�����������$������	���&%��������������������������	��
	������%
�������������	��
	����#������	��	��������	����#����������� ������#�������	�
������������������%������%�	����%����#����

��������������%�����������$�������#�(�
	����)�*+*�����������������

���������������%��	�������%�������� �	��	��	������	������$��������#�(�
	����+,������

���������������%��	�����������

%���������	�	����#���������	����	�����F�G�%�����	��������	����#��D����

���������������%��	����������	�	����#���	�����#���������������	�����#�������(�
	����+,�������D����

���������������%��	����������	����������������	������

����
����	����I��������	�B�����%���		��	����������$�����	���&%�����������������������������
��������������������������I��������	�B�������������#���������	���������������	��	���&%�������������������#�����$������������$���������������������%��	����	���������	�����������	����������������	������������		������

����
����	��	���������	�������	���B�����	��&�����������D��	����?	��	�#���������������
���	�%
	����	�
����

�������������������	�������������
�	��������	���#���	��%������������#�	������������	�%
	%�����J��B��K����������������$�������

����
����	����	�
���L����K�������?	����������	��������������������������	�����������	����������������
��	�������K�



�����������	
�������	���	����������������	��	������������	����������������������	���������
�����
����	���������������������������	�����	����������	��	���������������������������������������	��	�����������	���	����������	���������������	����������	
����������������������������	���������������
������	����	������������	��������������	������������������������������	���� �����	������
�	���������������	���	�������	�������	��	���
������
�	���������	������
��!�������������������������������	�����������������������������������������������
���������������������������	�������������������	�������	
���������	�������������������	���������������������������������	�������������������������������	����������������	
�����������������
������������
����������������"��������!�����	���"�������#���������������������������	����	�������
�������������������	������$������%	

��	����	��&��
��'�������!���	���������������
������������������	��������	��	��	��(���	��)*�+,��������������������	����������������������	���������-	��%	�����������!��������!�����	���"�������#������	������ ������������������������������������������	������	����������	�������	���������������������� ���	����������
�����	��	�
��	���������������	�����������	��		�����.����������������������������������������������������������(���	��+�/*�������������������	�����������	����������������������	������������������������	

�����	��	������"�����0�����$	����
�������	������������$������%	

��	�����&��
��'�������$	�����	��(������&��
��'�������!���	��������1�*)/� #���	��0����������	��$�������&���	������� �����	���	��!
���������	���������������	������	�����	��	��������	����	
���������������������������	�������	���	������������	������	���
��	�
����������	�	
�����������	��!
����������������(��������������
��������������	������������
���������������������������	���������������������������������234567238�59�:7;2<=8>=�2?@=8@3A�<2=@B238@CD�32@A;E5<;55B=F���� G������������	���	����������	���	�����	������������������������������������� ������	�������	�������	
����������������	����	����H�����������
�����������	��	���������	�����������	�������	���	������������
	�����	���
	�������	�������	���	��������������	����������I������������������������������������	��������C=�C�J<@3K@JCD�EL=@32==�L=2�7CM@3A�C�75<2�=@A3@9@KC38�K538<@EL8@53�85�8;2�K577L3@86>=�7@?�59�A55B=�C3B������������������	������	�	
������ 1�*)/*������	��	���������	����	������������N����������	����	�������������O�
�������	����������	����������������N�������O�������������	������P���� 1�*)/*�)� Q	
��$�������R�!������������	����	���	���������	���������������������	���������
������������������������������	�����������	����������	��������
����	�������������	�����	����	����	�����������������������������	�������	�������Q	
�������������������
�������������������H	���������������������	��	�������'�������0������	���N�������	�O����������	��	������	��	��P��� )��������������
��������	����������������������������������	�����������	��������������/��S	��
	����������	�N/O�����	���	���������������������������������������
��	��������������������������������+������������������	�� ���	�����������	�� ���	����	�����	��
��������	���.��
����������	�	����������	����	
����������������������������������������	���������
�������



�����������	�
���	��������������	�	���	����������������������	���������	���������������	��������	��	��	��	���	����	��	����������������	������������  ����!����"�!	�#���	����#���������$�%�
���	��������	�������������	��������	��
�����	��	��������	���	!�	�������&��&���������	��	�����������	����������!���	��������	������������	������	!����		�����  ����!����"�!	�#���	�����#������������	��	�!��	��������'�������������
��(�	����)	�!�����!���	�*�����+��������%��	�����"��	&	�������	�������	����	�������!�����	�����
������	�,	�	����-	���������.�		�
	���/�������	�������������&����������&	��!���
	������	��
����	�+������ �!!����	�0���������	�
���	���!����
	��������	��	���	����������	��	��	��	����������	������
�������������1���!��	����������.�/��	���������	��������	��	���������	���	!�	��������
	��	��������	!����	������	�
���	��������	���	����2����	�	�������
	����	3�	���������������	3�	����������	����!��	��������	���!	��������������	��&����������!���	��	��	������������	�������	���	!�	�����������	�
���	��������������	�	�����	�!��	������.�/����4�������	��������	��������	����������	��	���	!����		���������	��
���	����	���	���	!��������������������	������������	�������������	�������	����&�������������	���������%����	�5��������+����������������2� (!����"�!	�+��	�� ����������6�%������������
���	����������	��
�����	��	��������	���	!�	������������������������������	��������	3�	�����������	����!��	�������(!����"�!	�+��	�� �����������������
	������	����������		��������(�	����)	�!�����
7	������
������	�,	�	����-	���������.�		�
	���/�������	�������������&����0���� �����	�����	������������	�
���	�������	���	�����������	�-,��-�8 ��-�1��-�#����-�9:���������������1���!��	����������.�/�&	���	���������	��������	�
���	���������
	����4	�������	���	���������&	���!	��	3��������	�������&	���	�����������������	��������	���	�����������	�
���	������2�� �����������8	���	������������
	�����	��������4	�������	����	��	�����������	�������������������������	����&�	���	���	�������	�
���	���������
	��������	��	���	����������	��	��	��	����������	������
��������������	�������������������
���������	������������	���������������&	���	�����	���!	����������	��������	�
���	���������
	������	��	������������������	��		����������	�
���	��������������	�	���	����������������������	���������	���������������	��������	��	��	�������	����	��	����������������	����5��%����	��	������������	���
�����������
���	�����������
!�����	��	��������	�;���	�����(	�&�	��:	����!	��������	�<����	!	���=��!����&�	��������	&	��
����	�+������ �!!����	���(�	����)	�!�������&�������
	��	���	������	�+������ �!!����	���	�	�!�	���������	�������	��
���	�����	������!		����	����	�������������	������������������ 9���	�"�!	�+��	�� ����������$�%������������
���	����������	��
�����	��	��������	���	!�	�������	����!�����4�������	�
�����	����	��	��	��	������
��	������	������������!��������	��������	������!��������	�������	����!��	����������



�����������	
�����������	��
������������	���	��
�������������������������������������������	����
���������������	
���	�������������
���	����������	��
���������������
��������
��	�������	�������������������

	�������������	
�		�����
����	���������	��
���	
��
����
������������������ �
�����
	������!	������	�
��	��"�����������	���������������	�������#���
���$�������	��%������	�&����������	��	������
	���	�'���� (��)�����
����	��������������������	��
������������������$�*��$��+��	
�$��,����
�������-��)�����
����������������	��	���%(&���
������
����������$�*�,��
�����	
���	�%-&���
������
����������$�+�����$��,����
��������.��*	���	
��������	�
�%/&����������	�������������������������������������0�����	����	�%-&��	��
����	��1�������������������������	�����������������������
2����������������������������������0����������
	�������������	�����������������	
�����	��
���	��	����������������/��)�������������
��������	�������������������	�������������
��	���		
��������������������������3��������������	
��������������
����������
�������
	�����������	��������
������
	���������������������
���������������������������4	
��	�	�
��������5��*	���	
�������	���3��
��
�%-56&�	�������	�����
���	��������7������
������0�������	���
����	��
�����������������������������	
����������������������������	���		
��	
����	
���
2����������)����	�����		��
����	����������������	
��	
����	
���
������	����������	
��3���������	�������������������������������	��
����
������-�888�3��
����������9��)���!	������	�
��	��"������������	����
�������������������	�����	��	������
	��%&��
����������
	�	����������	����	�������
���
���	�����������	��
���������������������������������	�����������	��������������������������������������
���
��2�����������
	7�����������
�	���
����	������
	�������������5�8(-(�#���
���$�������	���"��������	
���	����������
����7�����	������	��	�����
�3��
���������� 5�8(-(�8� )�������������������	��
��������
�������	������������������������5�8(-(�(� )�����������������������
�������	
���	������
���
�����	�������
���������
������������5�8(-(�-� )�����������������	����������������
����
�	�������
�����	
��

	�������������	
�		���)��
�����������	�����	���������	
�	���
������
���	���	
�������	��������������
�����������������5�8(-(�.� $�3��
�����
2�����	��������������������	
����������������������	��	������	����
����������������������
	���	��	�������	��9�(��)	������
�������0������������������	
��0���������
2�����
�������������	�����������������	
�
��
�	������
��������	
�����	
�������������������������
�������
	�����������	��������
������
	�������������%�
����	
������
�������&������:��������������������������4	
��	�	�
��������� 5�8(-(�/�  
		��	���	���������������������������������
	���������	��
	����
�3��
����)�������������		��������
	�����	����3����
��
	�����	�����������;������� 
	�����	��"�������5�8(-(�5� "�������������������������������	��	
�������������������
�������	��������



����������	���� 
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �!"#$����%��������������������������������&���������������������������������������������������		��'���������(�������������� "������������$�����)���� ��������"�������%������������%�����$��������������������������������%������������������������������$�����������$��������������������������������������������������������������$������"������$��������� ����$��������������������������������%�����������������������������������*�%%��������������� ��������������+,-�./00�123�4-�5-36/7-1380�32�/3,�,+662+15/19,:�815�3;-�<62<-63=>,�5/,381?-�@627�85A8?-13�����������������������$������������������������������������������$��������$������������$����������������������������%��������������������%����������������������������������B� C�������D����E���������F�������������D�����������������D������������������������������������������%������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������"%������������������������%��������������������������"�����������D����������������������D������������������������������������������D������������������%���%���������������������������������������������$����������������&�����������������������������������������������������������������������������F�����������������������D�����������������D����������������������������������G�� ����B��
�������������������������������H�������I��������!I�H#����C���J������I��������!I�CJ#�J��������K�������B���
����������������������L������I��������!I�L#$�M�������*�����I��������!I�M*#$����N������������I��������!I�N#�J������������������������������������G��� ����B���� H��������������%���������������!���$����D�$�������$���������#������%������������������!����������%���������������#�%����������������D�������������������������H����������������$�����������$������$�����$����D���$���������$�������D�$�����������$����%�������$����������������$���������������������D������������������������%�����$��������������������������������
�������E��%�����������������)���� ��������"�������������B���� N��%������������%���������������������!�	#���������������%�����������������������������������D�����������������$��������������������%����������������������H������������������%�������������������������������������������������������������������%���%�%�������B��	� J�%�����������������������������������������������������������������������������$������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��#���������%���������������������������!	�#���������%������������������������������&����������������'��������������������$���%��%�%�������!��#��O���������������������������������������������������������%�����P�����������������������������������%�������������������������������������������D$����������������������������������������%����������$����� �������*�%%��������%������������������D����%���������������������O��������������������$�������������������������������������������������������D���%��������������������������������������������������
�����������������B��B� '������������������������������������������������������������������������������������!����$�����$���������$������$��������$���������������#����������������Q�����������������������������������������%����������B	��R����������$���������������D���������������������������D��������������������O���������������������������������D���������������������"%������S������J�����%���������������%����������������������������"�%���'�������H���������������������������������������������������������"���
�������E��%������������������������������������������������������������������������%���������������������������������������



����������		��
���������������������������	���������������������������� ��!����"������"����"���"�������������������#�����"� ���$��%����#�&���"����
�����������������#������������� ����$����$������������"�#�������� ����!�������������	'��(��������������������������	�������������������������$�����������������������������#�������������������������#��)�"���"���*+��,$��'�
����������	���������"�"��������'� +���#��#����������#����*�����-�$������� ����'��+���#��#���������#����������#$��������"������������������������$���� �������"���"���� �����������"������������������������"�������"��������������'.�+���#��#���������#�������#����������������$���������������$��������������������$��������� ������!�"���"�������������������������"� ���$��&���"����
������������� /!�����#�����0�������1������$�2�3�"��������/���������� 3������0�����������40�5���������������1������$������4�1�5������#$��3�"��������4�35�/���������"!�����#����������� ���������"��������������������������������!$�����$��"!�����#�������������������"��������"� ���$��������#������#����$��������� �����������������$���������"���������������#���������"��������������#���"�������$�������������������������$���������������$������������������"���������������$��������6$������������"���������"�������������$��������7������"���������������$����$��"���(���������$�����8�����$��#����������������4+9
5�������� ���"��#������"��������"� ���$��&���"��#�,��������������$���� ��"�����"�������$���������������"�������������
����#����������#���������"�������+9
����� ������!�"������������������������$���)�"� ���$��&���"����
�������"��������������������������� 6���������
�������������� ����$�������� �����"��������������������������$������"������������!���������$�����"���"��$���� ��������"�����$����"�������"����"������:�����������"�"� ���!;�� �������6$���!������������������������"�����!$��$�$��� ����"�������"� ������������������"��������������������� ����$��������$�������������$�����"�������"������ ����#$�������"��������$��� ����$��������������"���������:���"��!���������$��!$�����$������"�������� ���#� �������
������$��� ����$�����$���� ���� <��������$����������������$�����������������,�"�����������6$��������������������������������� ��������!$��$�$��� ����"�������"� ������������������"�������������������������������$�������������$��������� ����������"������ ����#$�����������$�����������������"���������:���"��!���������$��!$�����$�� �������������������� ���#� �������
������$����������$���� ���� <��������$����������������$��
�$�����&���"����=����$��������.�3������������������$����$�������"����������������>����"����>��� ������$��&���"����
�������������!��$������������������������ ����$���������"!�����#����������������������� ���������������#����$������"�������"����������������������"�"��$������������������������"��������������$��������������	�
������������� �����"���������������������������������������������� ���������$������������ ��������"�������������������$�����������������<������?@ABCDE�FGHI�JCKLB�CEMN?BOCPJ�MC?BOCAB��Q$�����������������"������"�����"�����������������������#����� ���$����������$������������R����������#$��3�"��������/�����������������$�������!��#��$���� �������"���"����
���������R���;�����.�� 1��������������������������������������������������$�������������������"����� ����������������$���������S�����.�� ��������������������#���������������$��#�������� ��������������$�����8��������#��"������� ��"������#�"�������$�"���������"������$��!���������������"�����$���������S�����..� 1�#������������������#��������������������$��"�������"���������T����������"�"���������������!��$�������"���"� ����$�����������R�������$������������ ��������������$����������#��������������������$���)�"� ������������������������$��&���"����
������



�����������	
������
��	������������
����	
��������������������������������� �!�"#$%� &���#��!�#���'$'(���)�"'('�&�)#���*��"# +� '� "��#)!�� ,�����-&!��$%(#&����# ��*��%��$'�����*�((�-��"# �',���,�� ��""���#�&�����' ��*��./�� ,�/0/�1'���'"��2������	
����3�����	��45�	����������
��56������7	���5�����829:9� ;*���� ��(�#)����#$#-'(��!����"<�!����'(����� ,�)��$�'$%(�$� ���$�&�-��=�� ��,�� ,�����>%�"'�(�/��$'������""���#�&��#�����-('�*$� �����((' =�$#�#��+�*'"(��)��(!���(���,�%�#,�"���� ,����+'"��2��829:?���>���# �(�#��,##��,' ' =!�' "(�,' =��',�@�(<�"�)��!�"#���&��,�#�������"��,' ' =�� ,��'$'(��������$�&�-��%��$'���,�' ��*��A�B!�A�C!�A�DE!�A�F�� ,�E.G�,'���'"������� ��""���#�&������#H�?I����������� �!�"�)J!�(� "*�##$!�"�)����'�!���)���*$� ����� ,!�,�'+���%!�)����)##,������&�#���'$'(������' =�����-('�*$� �!�#�K�LI��#���-�<��&!�,�('!�#��#�*����'$'(�������-('�*$� ��)#���*��%�#,�"�'# �� ,���(��#)�)##,�#��-�+���=��# ��*��%��$'���!�#�K�MI��#�������'(���#���#��"# +� '� "����#�����((' =�%��%���,�� ,�%�"<�,�)##,�#��-�+���=��# ��*��%��$'���!�� ,�����>%�"'�(�/��$'��#��>'���/(� �0�+'�@��%%�#+�(!�@*'"*�+���'����N�'��,�)#���*��%�' "'%�(����2�O ��*��"����#)�������'(�#��"# +� '� "����#�����((' =�%��%���,�� ,�%�"<�=�,�)##,�# ��*��%��$'���!�� &�� %�"<�=�,�)##,�#��-�+���=����"*����'"��"���$�#���#)��,�' <���#(,�' ����#"'��'# �@'�*�� &��""���#�&�����# �(�#��,##��,' ' =������*�((�-���#(,�� ,����+�,�# (&��*�#�=*���('$'��,��""����@�(<��%�@' ,#@�#���'$'(���)�"'('�&!��#�-��"# ��$�,�#���#)�,##��2�� O ����',� �'�(�,'���'"��!�����# �(�#��,##��,' ' =�$�&�-��%��$'���,�� ,�����>%�"'�(�/��$'������ ��""���#�&������#���)��$���� ,��������� �2��P*�����%%�#%�'���!�*��(�*!�)'���� ,�-�'(,' =�%��$'���*�+��-�� �#-��' �,!�����# �(�#��,##��,' ' =������$�&��(�#�' "(�,���*��#��,##��%��%����'# �� ,�"##<' =�#)�)##,�#��-�+���=��2��;*��)#((#@' =�"# ,'�'# ���*�((��%%(&��#�� &�����# �(�#��,##��,' ' =�%��$'���,�� ,����*'����"�'# H�� 829:?9�QR"�%�����$�&�-���%�"')'"�((&��((#@�,�� ,���"# ,'�'# ������"*�,��#���',�>'���/(� �0�+'�@�#��>%�"'�(�/��$'�!� #�����"����!�)��$�@#�<!�%(� ����-#R!�)� "�!�@�((�#��)�� '�*' =����,�' �"# S� "�'# �@'�*��*��#%����'# �#)�� �#��,##��,' ' =������*�((�-���((#@�,��#���$�' �' ��*��������#����,�-��@�� �F#+�$-���?�� ,��*���%�'(�?�)#((#@' =��*����)���2��O ��*��A�B�1'���'"�!���"*���$%#���&�����"������� ,�)�� '�*' =���*�((�-���R�$%��)�#$��*��%�#+'�'# ��#)�>�"�'# ���2L9�� ,��2LM2��F#���"*��R�$%�'# ��*�((��%%(&��#�)'R�,�#��%��$� � ������"������#��)�� '�*' =�2��829:??�P*�������'���)#����%�#%#��,�#��,##��,' ' =�)�"'('�&�'��%���(&�#��"#$%(���(&��'�����,��%# ����',�@�(<�@'�*' ��*��%�-('"�@�&�#���%# �#�*���%�-('"(&�#@ �,�(� ,!��+',� "��#)���(������ ,T#��('"� ����((#@' =��*������#)��*���'���-&��*���%%('"� ���*�((�-��%�#+',�,�%�'#���#��*��'���� "��#)�� �#""�%� "&�%��$'�2��829:?L�;*��%��$'��=�� �' =����*#�'�&��*�((���"�'+��)�#$��*��A�'(,' =�E#$$'��'# ����������$� ���*����*��#��,##��,' ' =�����@'((� #��� ,�(&�*' ,�����)���R'��)�#$�#���""�����#��*������-('�*$� ��' ��*���+� ��#)���)'���#��#�*����$��=� "&2��829:?M�QR"�%�����$�&�-���%�"')'"�((&��((#@�,�� ,���"# ,'�'# ������"*�,��#���',�>'���/(� �0�+'�@�#��>%�"'�(�/��$'�!� #�@�((�#��)� "����(���,��#�� �#��,##��,' ' =�)�"'('�&��*�((�*�+����*�'=*��#)�$#����*� �)#���U:I�)���2��F#���"*�)�"'('�&��*�((�-���N�'%%�,�@'�*�)������� ,' =�*���' =�� ,�"##(' =�,�+'"���#�����+�,�-&��*��VD�E��&���$U�I�#)��,S�"� ��� ,����#"'���,�-�'(,' =�!��R"�%��)#��)� �2��829:L� C'+��#��%�����"#�,�,�� �����' $� ��' +#(+' =�$��'"�� ,T#��*�$� �+#'"�!�@*��*����$%(')'�,�#���� �$%(')'�,!�$�&�-��%��$'���,�' ��*��A�B!�A�C!�A�DE!�A�F�� ,�E.G�,'���'"������� ��""���#�&������#����������� �!�-��!�'  �#��-�,�� ,�-���<)����U>�"�'# �829?9L�# (&I�� ,�����>%�"'�(�/��$'��#��>'���/(� �0�+'�@!�@*'"*�+���'����N�'��,�)#���*��%�' "'%�(����!��R"�%���*�����>%�"'�(�/��$'���*�((�-����N�'��,�@*� �+���� &��""���#�&�� �����' $� ��'��%�#%#��,�� ,�� &�#���',��@�((�#)��*���%#��'# �#)��*��-�'(,' =�#""�%'�,�-&��*��%�' "'%�(�����'��(#"���,�?89�)����#��(����)�#$������',� �'�(�,@�((' =�' ���0��',� "��,'���'"�2�� ;*��)#((#@' =�"# ,'�'# ���*�((��%%(&��#�� &�� �����' $� ��%��$'���,�� ,����*'����"�'# H�� 829:L9����>�"*�� �����' $� ���*�((�-��"(���(&��""���#�&�� ,�' "',� ��(��#��*��%�' "'%�(����2����



�����������	�
������������������������������������������������������������������������ !����������������������������"����������������#��������������������������������$����������������������������������������������������
����������������������%������������&�������������������""����&���������������������������$�����'�������������������&����������������"�������������������"������������(�������
�����������	$����������)�����������"����������������������������������*���������������������������������������������������������������������&��&����������������������������$����������������������������������������������(����������&�����"����������+��������"����������������'�������������������������$����������������������$���)���������"�������������"��$����������&������#�����������#����������������������$���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������,� -��&��*�������.�����������  ��������������"�����������������������������������������������&����������������&�����"����������#������&������������������������������������&��������#����������&��������������������&�����������������������������&����������"�������$�����������������'��������/������������������#���
������������������������������������������������������"������������������������������������������������0���������������������&����������������
������,�,����!$���������&��"���������������
������,�,1	!��������#�������
������,�,1,!$�#�������������������&����������"�����������������������������������"�����'��������/�����������������������������2�����&����������"��������������������������������3�����������������������������"�������&�������0����������&����������"��������������������������������������������"�����������������������������������������&�������"�
������4����� ����,���2�����&����������"�����������������������������������5$���2$�6'$�'7'����8%�-�����������-��&����������"��������������������������������������������"�������8�-����������������������5�-���������������
�������'��������������������
�������'������5������ ����������������3��������������������������������������"���������#�"�������'��������/���������,	�%�����96:�-�����������������������������8����������������������������5�-�������$����&����������"�����������������������������������������������������������������������������&�������$����������&���������������������������������������
����'���7�&��#������&��������
�������'��������)������"������������������'��������/��$����������������������������������,�� ����&����������"�����������&����������������+���������������"���������������"�������$���������"��������"���$����������(��������������������������������������������&�����$����������������$���&�������+����������&���������������������(������������3��������������������
����'���7�&��#����
�������'�����$�#�����&��������)������"�������'��������/�����;��������������������'��������/������������������������������������������3������������$����������������&����������"����������������)�����
����'���7�&��#������&�����<=>?@AB�CDEC�<@FB<��
���������&����������&�������"���������������������������"$�������������������������&�����������������&����������������������$�������������������� ���������/���$����G���������������������������"������� �������1$�
���7������������<=>?@AB�CDEH�I=>I=J?@AB�����K�� 
#������'������ ���K���'��&����
#������'�������%�������������&���������#�����������$�������������������������$����������������������������������������"����#�������������&��������������������������������������������"�����������������������������$����������������"�����#���������������������������"�����������"���$������������������������$������������������������������"������������������"�������������"����"���$����������"������"��������������$������������"�������������#��������������2��"���������������)������"������&���������������"�������������������$����������(�����������������������$�����������&�������������"��������������������������������&����$������������$�������������������������������������#���������������&��������������������������������(���������������������������



�������������	
������������	
�����������	�����������������������
�������������� ���!�"��#�����$�!��������%����������� ����������&�'�����#�����#��(��������������#���������'���'���!���������)��������)������������*�����	�����"�����(���'�+���������������������������������������'�
�����,-./012�3456�,.0-2/070.�8-,-98.:�18�;-<-=1>?-2/�������� @������������'����������������'���������������������������������!�����������(���#����!������������#���
��������(���������������������
������(��������#��������
��������#�����	������������	������(����##��(�����'����#�������������������������������#�������������#���#���
���#��(�������������	�������������A���������#�����	�������������B
�����'���������������#��#�������������'�
�������������
���������'�������������������#
������������
��������������'�
�����������������������������������#���������#������������������������������#���#���
���������(�'�#���������'��������������  ��������
����
�������(�'���'���������������������������������'�
��������������������������������(���#����������!����������'!������������������'�������A��!�A� !�A�C"!�"D�!�D	!�	�	����� E��������!�#��(������������������������F
�������������������G�� ��������
������
����
�������(�'����������������'�������������������������������(���#��������(�����������#���#���
������������H�����
����
�������(�'����������
������������
������I%��J�������������������
�����������������������!��������������
������I���J�����������'���������
���������������������������!����
������'���������'���������
����
�������������������������%�H�����
����
���!�#��������!���������������������'�����
�����
�������������K�K�%������K�K�%�%!�������'����#���������������#���
�������������#������������������������
����
�����������������������K�B������
����
�������(�'��������
�������'����
�����������
�����L�����(��!��
������������������)���������������
��������������������F
#������������
����
�������M#�������������'����#��������
��������#�����	��������������'������#�����	�������������B
�����'��
����N����������
����������##���������������������A'����������
���������������������������������������"���������������#���#���
�����������#��(������������������KO��������$����
����
�������(�'!��M��
���������������������������
�������M#�������!��������������
#'������������M���������M�'�I��J�#�������������������������������������
�����������
#���������������
�������������'�����������������������������%� B����#����������#�������������������������������������'�
���
������������������,-./012�345P�.:0=;�.98-�,-8<0.-�����O�� B�������������'���'���������(��������M�I�J���������������������������#����������������������'�
��!��'�����!�������������'��������!���������'��������!����(�������������!�������
��!������#���������Q�����R�������������!���R�����������������������#��#���'������������������������'��������������'�������'������#��(�����������������I%J����)��#�������������������������������������������'���'���������(�����Q���S�����T�����������D���������������#��(������������#'�������������������#�����������O�� B�����������'�����������'����������#����������������������'�
������������������N������������!�#��(�������������S�����T�����������D��������#��(������������#'�������������������#�����G����*!�A��!�A� !�A�C"!�A�H!�"D�!�D	!� E!�	�	���,-./012�345U�798?,�����V�� *����"����������"�������� Q���A��������B##�������'��
����N�!��'���
������#�����	����!�����
��������#�����������#��#���'������*����"����������"�����!��������� +!���D!�������H�+����������'!�#��(��������G�



������� �����	���
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ����������������������� ���������������������������
���!��"�#����������#�������������������������������������������������� ��������������������$�
�����%�����������&������������������������ ����������������������������������&���������������������������������������������������������""����������'�������������������������������(�)��������� �����������������������������������������������������������������&���"�����������������&����������)��������� ����������������������������������������������������������	�����������"������������&��������������*�
������+�� ������������������������������������������&���������"������������&��������������������������������"������������������������������
���,��������)�������"�&�����������������������������"�����&�����""���������������%����������������!��"�#����������#��������-��������������"����������������� ��������������������&���������������������������������������������.�/��+�� ��������������������������������������0��������������������1���� �,&����������	� !��"�0�����2���������� 
���,��������)�������"�&������������&������������������0�������/��"������������������������������������&���������"������������������������2�34��2�5�����2�6��������������&���������������7�� ����	��
������������������������������������������������������������8�9������������������������������������������� ����������������������� ������������������������		��
����������������������������������������������������������� �������������������"��������������"��������������������������������������������������������������&���������������������������������������������������������������	��
�����%�����������&�������������������� ����������������������������������&���������������������������������������������������������'�����""�����������������������	$�!���������������������������������������"�����������������������������"��������������������������������������������"��������������������������������������������������������������(�:�������������������������������������� ������������������������������������������������&������������������ �����""������������"�&��������������&�����0�������/��"���;������ �)������&�������	(�)��������� �����������������������������������������������������������������&���"�����������������&���
���,��������)�������"�&��������������<���"���������������������� �������������������&�����������������������&����������������������������������������������������"���������������� ����������������������������� ���������������������&���"������������������������� ���������������,��������-��������=>?@ABC�DEFG�HAIIACJ�BH�IKCL�M=NN�=NOPQRST�UEFVF�W�UEFVVX��)�&������� �����������������&���������������"��������������&�������������������������� � ����������&���������������������&��������<������������"�������������&��������� ���������8�9���������"����������&����������� ������������������������� � ����������&���������������������&��������<������������"����������������&��������� ����������8�9���������"������������<������0�������/��"������"�����0�������/��"���;������ �)������&������������������������������������������������������&������Y�����������������"��������<����������������&������������������������������� �������������8�9���������������&������������ ���������<������0�������/��"������"�����1���� �,��������)���������Z����������������������� ������������%������������������� �����������7����	��� 6�����������������&����������� ���������������������������������� ������������������������������� ��������������������"����������



������������� 	

���

����������������������������
����������������������������

�����������
������������������������� ������������
��������������!�����������
���������"����������������"���������������
����������������������������������#� $�����������������

��"����
�������

�������������������

��"���

%��������"�����
�����
�����������&�#���������������������&�������
��������������������������
������������'������������&�!���������"���������������������������������������������������"����"���������"���&����������
���������������(����������������
���������)���� ����"�����������������
�����"�������
���������������� *��"������"����������������������������������+����
�,�����-������"�	��������������������������
��.�����������"�����"������"������
�����"���������������������
����������������
���������������������"�������������������������������������������!� /��+����
�,�����-������"�	��������������.������������
����������������������������������.�����������������������������
������������� ������������������������



������

�

����	
���� ���������
�����
��������������������������� �����������!������"���#���������������$�%����������������&�%'#(�'��������������)�%����#(��'��������������*�'���� ��+����+��%'��,�"����-�������#�����,���������������������,.�#����#'�/���'�(��.��.�����#0'��&� ,�1������#'���(.'#�������������������������� ��2�345�678�945�:;�<4�=;>?@;>�7<�54�A7B3�54�<75B<A8�798�6B9B6?6�>B6;9<B49C�7=;7�4=�87=>�=;D?B=;>�A4=�7�E;=6B55;>�E=B9@BE73�?<;�;F@;E5�7<�<E;@BAB;>�B9�G;@5B49<��HI�79>��H�H��JB9B6?6�345�7=;7C�A=4957K;C�<;5:7@L�79>�87=>�=;D?B=;6;95<C�79>�67FB6?6�@4M;=7K;�79>�N;BKN5�3B6B575B49<�<N733�:;�E=;<@=B:;>�B9�5N;�A4334OB9K�P7:3;�IC�QRB6;9<B4973�S;K?375B49<HQ��TFE37975B49�4A�5N;�@43?69�N;7>B9K<�@79�:;�A4?9>�B9�G;@5B49�UHVC�W95;=E=;575B49H��RB6;9<B4973�=;K?375B49<C�<N733�:;�64>BAB;>�4938�7<�E=4MB>;>�A4=�?9>;=�5NB<�X837OC�B9@3?>B9K�7<�B9>B@75;>�?9>;=�P7:3;�I�79>�B5<�A445945;<H��Y4=�949�@49A4=6B9K�345<C�<;;�G;@5B49�ZHV��Y4=�>B6;9<B4973�=;K?375B49<�B9�5N;�T>?@75B4973�[TR\�RB<5=B@5C�<;;�G;@5B49�IH]VI������������!������"���#������PN;�A4334OB9K�;FE37975B49�<N733�7EE38�54�5N;�@43?69�N;7>B9K<�B9�P7:3;�IH�� UHV̂� _45�2=;7�S;D?B=;6;95<�� UHV̂ �̂ 2�X?B3>7:3;�_45�<N733�@4957B9�;B5N;=�Ẑ �̀4A�B5<�54573�345�7=;7C�4=�]̂Ĉ̂ �̂<D?7=;�A;;5C�B9�@495BK?4?<�?E379>�7@=;7K;H��UHV̂V� X7<B@�JB9B6?6�_45�2=;7���TF@;E5�7<�N;=;B9�<E;@BAB;>C�94�>O;33B9K�4=�45N;=�E=B9@BE73�:?B3>B9K�<N733�:;�@49<5=?@5;>�4=�?<;>�49�7�345�N7MB9K�3;<<�5N79�5N;�E=;<@=B:;>�:7<B@�6B9B6?6�345�7=;7�B9�<D?7=;�A;;5H��UHV̂]� a3?<5;=�JB9B6?6�_45�2=;7���b4�>O;33B9K�4=�45N;=�E=B9@BE73�:?B3>B9K�B9�7�a3?<5;=�R;M;34E6;95�<N733�:;�@49<5=?@5;>�4=�?<;>�49�7�345�N7MB9K�3;<<�5N79�5N;�E=;<@=B:;>�@3?<5;=�6B9B6?6�345�7=;7C�B9�<D?7=;�A;;5H��UHV̂I� 2>>B5B4973�_45�2=;7�c;=�Y76B38���b4�>O;33B9K�A4=�?<;�:8�64=;�5N79�49;�A76B38�<N733�:;�@49<5=?@5;>C�@49M;=5;>C�4=�4@@?EB;>�?93;<<�5N;�345�@4957B9<�75�3;7<5�5N;�:7<B@�6B9B6?6�7=;7�E3?<�5N;�E=;<@=B:;>�7>>B5B4973�7=;7�E;=�A76B38�A4=�;7@N�A76B38�B9�;F@;<<�4A�49;H��UHVV� G579>7=>�_45�Y=4957K;�79>�a3?<5;=�_45�Y=4957K;�� UHVV̂� TF@;E5�7<�N;=;B9�<E;@BAB;>C�94�>O;33B9K�4=�45N;=�E=B9@BE73�:?B3>B9K�<N733�:;�@49<5=?@5;>�4=�?<;>�49�7�345�N7MB9K�3;<<�A=4957K;�49�7�<5=;;5�5N79�5N;�E=;<@=B:;>�6B9B6?6�<579>7=>�345�A=4957K;C�4=�@3?<5;=�345�A=4957K;�B9�@3?<5;=�>;M;34E6;95H��UHVVV� G?@N�A=4957K;�<N733�:;�6;7<?=;>�7349K�7�@495B9?4?<�<5=;;5�=BKN5�4A�O78�3B9;�49�ONB@N�5N;�345�7:?5<C�;F@;E5�5N75�5N;�A=4957K;�4A�345<�49�5N;�@49M;F�<B>;�4A�7�@?=M;�B9�7�<5=;;5�678�:;�57L;9�7<�5N;�<5=7BKN5�>B<579@;�:;5O;;9�5N;�E4B95<�49�5N;�<B>;�345�3B9;<�B95;=<;@5;>�:8�5N;�E=;<@=B:;>�6B9B6?6�<;5:7@L�3B9;H��W9�5N;�@7<;�4A�345<�ONB@N�N7M;�64=;�5N79�49;�N73A�4A�5N;B=�A=4957K;�7349K�5N;�@?=M;�4A�7�E;=679;95�5?=97=4?9>�[75�5N;�;9>�4A�7�>;7>�;9>�<5=;;5\�4=�4A�7�<B6B37=�@?=M;>�<5=;;5�<;K6;95�<;=MB9K�94�64=;�5N79�<BF�[U\�>O;33B9K�<5=?@5?=;<C�<7B>�<5=7BKN5�>B<579@;�:;5O;;9�5N;�E4B95<�49�5N;�<B>;�345�3B9;<�9;;>�



������

�

�����	
�������������������
���������������
�������������������
������������������������
�������� ����������������!"���� ���������������������������
����������������������� ������������������������� ��������#������$����������������������������������� �������%�������&����'�����������(������������)�!!*� +������,�������-���������-�,���.�������-���������-�.���/�����
�����/�0���1���� ��/������-���������-�1/������2�� ���������-���������-�2��������
���������� ����$�������������������'������
��&����������3�
�����"�"*����)�!*� 0����������0�	�����4�����3����
5�� )�!*�� #����������������������
5�������������������������������������������������������� ����������������	������ ���������������������������������������2��������������������� ���	
���������� ����������
����
����������������������
���������������������

�����������
��������������������� ������� ������ ����������������������6�������������������
�����������������������������������������������������
5����������������������������+������
�������
���������������������
5��������������������������������������� �����������)�!*!� +������,�������-���������-�,��(�����
�������*��������������������������
5������������������������������������ ����
������������*����������������������������������'������
��(�����
��������� ���������������������������������������
57��������������������
5������$��������)�!"� 0�������3����8����� )�!"�� #����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
5��������	������ ��������������������������������������������2��������������������������������� �����

�����������
�������	
���������� ����������
����
����������������������
�������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
5��������9���

�����������
��������������
��������������������������������������������������
����������������������������� ��������)�!"!� 9���

�����������
��������� ������ ��������	�����������������������������
5��������������������������������������������������9���

�����������
�����������	������������ �����������������
5���������
���$�������������� �����)�!"*� +������,�������-���������-�,���2�� ���������-���������-�2�������.� ���+�����������.+��������
�����������������������������������������*��������������:����� ����������
��������
������������������������������������$�����������������������������������������!�����������)�!""� +����������
��%��5���%������%������������'�����
��%��5��%'%��������
�����	
�����������������������������
���
���������������������������������������������������:����� ����������
��������
��������������������������������������������!���������)�!"6� +������,�������'������
���'�,��(�����
�������� ��������� ��� �������������� �;����������������

�����������
������������������3��
����%������������
����������������������������������������������������������
������������ ������
���������
�����������������������������������
��������������������������� �������������	����� ������������������
������
���������������� �����������)�!"�� +������,�������'������
���'�,���2�� ���������'������
���'�2�������1���� ��/������'������
���'�1/��������
�������������������������������������������������������� ����������������� ���������������������������������������������������� ����������������� ����������	������������������������������� )�!")� 4�����������������������
����������
�����������
�����
�������������
����������
������
������������������������������3�
�����"�"6��*��������������������������)�!6� 0�������'����8����� )�!6�� #���������������������������������������������5������������ �����������������������:�
������������������������� ����� ��

�������������� ����������
�����������������������������������$������������������2��������������������������������� �����

�����������
�������	
���������� ����������
����
������



������

�

������	
��������������
	��
��
����������������	����������	������	��	����������	�����	���
�����	���������	���
�������
�	������������������ ���	�������������
���

� ���!��"��#����������
���

� ��"!�����$�#�	����
	����� $�!��
	���	
������������������
�
���������	����
	�%&�'��	�������(�����#�����
�������
	���	���)	�����
�����������
�������	���*��������	��'���������
���������	����
	��&�'��	����� ����%�����	���)''����+���� )+!����+��'�

������,�
������+���� +,+!��
	���	
���-���	��
���������������'���
����'����
�
����������
�
���������	����
	�.&�'��	�������(�����#�����
�������
	���	���)	�����
�����������
�
���������	����
	��&�'��	��� ����/� 0���	����
�����	����
	���	���
��

����	����	�����������������������������

����������	���
��
�
��	��������
���
��'�1��	����/�/�&�%�
���������������������������.� 2�-�����������#�3�����#��� ���.&� 2�-�����������#�������#��
�������������	���
�	���������	�#���'�	���	�	�����	��������������������������������������������������

����������#
����
	���	���
���0���	��������
�
��'�	���
��
��	����������	�����'�����	�
�����������
������
�����#�������������
	���	�����'��	��
������
������	����
	�	�����
��
���������������	����
��
	��	������
�#�	����������
�'����������	����
�-�'��	���#�� ���	���������	������#������'!������'��	���
��������	��'�����
	���	�����������	���������	���������������.�� ���	�����
���'���3��
	���4���������	��
��'�������1��	������/��������#�������#��
���������������	���
�	���������	�#���'�	���	�	���������'�	������������	���������������������������������������������

����������#
����
	���	���
�������� 2�-�����$�	�3�����#��� ����&� 2�-�������	�������#��
������������	���������	�#���'�����	�����������	�����������
���������1��	����������2�-�����������#�3�����#������
�	��	����	�����'�����	������������������
��������#�����
���������
��	����
�����	
��
������#�����
�����	����
�������
��'���
��������� 0���	��������
�
��'�	��
������������
����
��'���
�����	�������
	���	���'���������������	�����
� ������������	�����	������
��
����	���������
	�������	�������!�������
	���	���'�������������	�����
� ������#�����������
	�������	�������!�
������������������	����������	�����'���-�������	�������#��������%� ���	���5�	��
���+��	��	���� 5+!����������
	���	������
���'�����
�������
��	����	����������#��������������'������	�����.6��'�	���	�	���������'�������	����������	����%&6���	����	�'������������#��������	�	����'�%�.&&�
*�����'��	�������������
�#���	���������� 2����������2�-�����7��#�	�� ����&� ��������
	���	
��	����������������-��������#�	��'���������#�
�����������
�����
�	������	������
	�����'����	��������#��'���
���#�������	���
	���	�
����'�	���
	���	����	��	�����#��
	�����	��'�	������'�'���'��	
����'
��	��	������������'������
������'
�����	��	��������#�����#�	� ������	!���	�����	�����#��
	�����
������#���'�	�������������'�	������'�'���#�����������
����
��	��-�����#����������'
������������	���
�	�����'������������ � � � �� �



������

�

������ ���	
���������������������������������������	���	���	
����������
���
	� !�"��#��������$�"��� ��!������������%&����#�'����	�����	���"$�	
��%&����#�'����	����	����(�	
 ��	$���	
 ��)���	 ���	�������	
��&� *��� ��� !�	
���"$#�+�! ��� �&�##�������� ��� !�"��#�����!���	� ����	�#�	$�� �������������#������"�	�� 	�#���	���	 ��## +����� ��	���	� �� !�	
��!�##����"��� !���������!#  �����������!!���#	���	��� ���	� ������
�����	��&��������� ��+�	
���&�	�
����  !��������� ������#���� ���	� ������������	������$����
�� ��!���	� ���	
��%&����#�'����	����	����(�	
 ��	$��
�##�� �������	
��&�		����� !�
���
	������  !��	$#�����	�"#��
���"$�����	����"��#��������	���	����������#������&��!��	��������	
������ ������������������&� *�����	
�	����� �������
�##�	
��
���
	� !���$���	��� ��!���� !���"��#������������	
��&����		���
���
	�"$�� ���	
���	���,�-.�!��	�������/� 0���
	�#���	�	� ����
�##�� 	��&&#$�	 ��
����$����&��������& #����1����	���������� 	
���&��	�� !�"��#������ ���	���	������ 	���	������! ��
����� ���&���$���1 +�������	�������&���#������
������� 	
������
��	���	������		��
���	 ���"��#����������� ���	� ��+�	
�� �������#�����&�"#���+���#����� �������	� ��������
�##�� 	��������	
����������
���
	� !������"��#����������" *����!������"$�� ���	
���	���!��	�����#�	����#��	� �����2��&���	������2��&���	��	���	������
�##�� 	��������	
����������
���
	���3 ��	 +�������� 	
������
�!�����	��������	���	�������� ���	���+�	
�+���#����� �������	� ���������	
��&� *��� ��� !�%��	� ��4�45-�/��
�##��&&#$�����&��*��#������6� �������� ����������3#  ���� ���6-� (�!#  �� ���	 �$�������������	��#� ��� ���������	��#�"��#������
�##�"��� ���������	 �"��	
�	�& �	� �� !���"��#������ 	
���	
�����
�#!��	 �$������	 &�!#  ��,�		��.� ��"������	��"�	+������$�!#  ������	
�����#���� ���  !����	��" *���	��������������������	
��������
���		�����#������ ��������6�� (�
�#!��	 �$������	 &�!#  ���
�##�"����#�+!�#�
�"�	�"#���&����+�	
���2������������ !��������������������������+
��
�������������*���,�.�!  	�!#  ��	 ����#����
���
	�����	������	�#���	�
�#!� !�	
��
�"�	�"#��!#  �������"�	�� �#����	
��� ���	
���� !�	
��
�"�	�"#��!#  ������� !�	
��!�##��	 �$�"�# +������6/� (�"������	�
�#!��	 �$��
�##�"����$�#�+!�#�
�"�	�"#���&����+�	
���2������������ !��������������������������+
��
�������������*���,�.�!  	�!#  ��	 ����#����
���
	�����	������	�#���	�
�#!� !�	
��
�"�	�"#��!#  �������"�	�� �#����	
��� ���	
���� !�	
��
�"�	�"#��!#  ������� !�	
��!�##��	 �$��" *�������+
����� ���	
���
�#!� !�	
��
�"�	�"#���&�������# ��	����" *��	
���*������!����
��������� !�	
����	��� �� !�	
��"��#�������789:;<=�>?@�A8=987����/-� 3������B�3�������+�##��� ����$�����#����	���	������
�##�"��� ��������������� �$��	���	����������
�##�"��&����		���+�	
���	
����2������!� �	�����������������$�������"C��	�	 �	
��� ���	� ���������2�������	�� !�%��	� �����//�	
� ��
���/D������&	�	
�	�!���������	
����������"�		��������E��	���	���������	
���������������E��	���	���
�##���2������&&� *�#� !�	
��'����	����	����� ���� ��%&����#�'����	����	����(�	
 ��	$�+�	
�C�������	� �� *���	
��&� & ���� ������	����'�����&�#� �������� �$����,�.�! ��+
��
�	
��!��������*��������������� �$��	���	��������/�� '#��	����F%
��""��$����������&��&#��	������
�##�"��&����		������	
����2������$�������"C��	�	 �	
��� ���	� ���������2�������	�� !�%��	� �����/4�������/������//� 3��������� ���	���+�	
�������#	���#������ ��&����#�� !�#���� !�!�*��,G.������� ��#��������������&	�!� ��	
������#�	� ��� !�%��	� �����/�����) ��!����������&� 
�"�	�������/4� (##�&��*�	�#$� +����!������ ��+�##���
�##�"������	��� ��&��*�	��&� &��	$������
�##�"��� ��# ����	 ���$�&�"#�������+�#H�	
���	
��	$�,4-.����
������ �#������&��&#��	������
�##���	�������	 � �� *�����&�"#�������+�#H�! ����
���
	� !����
	�!��	��" *��	
������+�#H�����/5� 3����������+�##���
�##�� 	��������! ���,5.�!��	����
���
	��# ���	
��!� �	�# 	�#��������	
�	�& �	� �� !�	
�������# 	�#�����"�	+����	
��!� �	�# 	�#��������	
����������!� �	���	"��H�#������3����������+�##���
�##�� 	������������,�.�!��	����
���
	��# ���	
�	�& �	� �� !������# 	�#�����"�	+����	
����������!� �	���	"��H�#�������������# 	�#����������# ���	
�������# 	�#�����



������

�

����� 	
��
������
�����������
���
�����
������������
��

���������

������
�����������
�
���������������
�
����������
����
������

������ �����
��
 ������������
!"�������������������
��
 �����
��
"�������������������
��
����
���
�����#
���������� �������
����
������������"
�!���������� $������
����� �����
��
 ���������������"
%"��������������
������
�����������
���
���������������
����������������&��������������
����
�
�����������!���
������������'
�"����(
���
���
������&
����
�����"
�
��������)�
���
���������������
����������
�����!
�������
����
�
��������

�����
������������������
�'�������������

�����
������"�������
������&
�*��+��

������������!���
�"�����������
�
�����������

�����
���
����� )
!"�������
��
������������������
�!����
���!���!�!��
��������
�����*�+��

�����"���
�����
���
 �"��&��������
��
��
�!

����
��
����
!
������#
�������������)�
�,��������-�!!����
� ��"�����
������
���������������"
�!�� �!���
������!����������
��
����������!
���
��
��
�!����
!����
�
��
�������.� /��
����
�"��&��������#
������01�2�����00��3 ����""������
 ��
��
 ����� �����"���������
����
!
��������������#
���������2��������������!���������!"
�������
���������
�� ��
��
��� ������
��
�����
�!�����
�������
�4
�!���5��������,��������#"
�����4
�!���5�����������������������'������������&
����
�"��"�
�����
�������4�����"���������
�����
*+�������������
��
��
�
�&
���������
�����������
��



������

�

�����	
�����������
����������������������� ��!"�#�����$�%�&�'����� %�#!"�(�$$�)��*������%�&�'����� %�(*!"�+��)�,-��--'�%�&�'����� %�+!"��.�$/��)�%�&�'����� %��!"���'�0-1�2��&��/�%�&�'����� %�02!�2�&�����&�-�$/"���'�3�'.�$�$-�&�1�����'-��-����3��������4.���'��5-.���-��&��������-���)��5�/�,��6��5����'�.�'��������-$$-1��)��-�'���-�&7��89:;� <�/�&.���$-��1������&����$.'�'�1��������2�������3��=.,'�3�&�-���$���5�/�,���$$-1�'�,/������$�����)�>-��'�6�-3�'�'�����$-��5���&��$$�-��������4.���5���&�-��=����-��89:?����-.)��=����-��89:�9��89:@� <�/�&.���$-��1������&��-��6����-�����<66�-3�'�2�������3��=.,'�3�&�-���$��"�5�/�,���$$-1�'�,/�����A-���)�>-��'�-��<66��$&�,/�=6����$����5���6�-3�'�'����������$-��5���&��$$�-��������4.���5���&�-��=����-��89:?����-.)��89:�9��89:?� B��������-��������$�)�$-�"��C�$.&�3��-����������&&�&���6"�&��$$�,�����$��&��'-.,$������5���5.5�$-��������-�5�$$/���4.���'��-�������'�&�����"��C��6�������*$.&����=.,'�3�&�-�"����1�������&�����&��$$�,�����$��&��'-.,$������5���5.5�$-���������4.���'��-�����$.&����$-����������'�&�����9���������D*�2�&�����"����������-���$�)�$-�&�&��$$�,���&�6�-3�'�'��-�����=����-�&�:9?E:?"�F9:?E@���'�F9:?E?9��89::� G����$-��&��$$���3���������&&�&���6�1������5���5.5�&��������-���)��-���-��/�����"���5���5.5�1�'���-���-��/�����������/�6-����,��1��������&��������'�����6�����6�$�,.�$'��)"���'���5�C�5.5�$��)���-���-.���.�'��'�����"�������1�����'�&��������������&&�&���6�&��$$���'���'�����,.�$'��)������-������$-��&��$$�,�)��9��H�����'��3�1�/�����&&��-���6�����6�$�,.�$'��)��&������3�'�-3�����������&&�&���6�-������$-�"������&��'�����&&�&���6�&��$$���3���-�����)��-��'������-��)������������FI�'�)���&9�� D-����/��$�)�$-�����$.'�'�1��������2�������3��=.,'�3�&�-���$��"������$�����)�>-��'�5�/��$$-1��������&&�&���6�����C��&&�-��F;;�������&�6����-����&�&.,'�3�&�-���66�-3�$�������J.')�&�����6�-6-&�'�5-'�������-���-�,������-��-�5�����1���������������-��=����-�&�89::;�89::I9��D-����/��$�)�$-��1������&��-��6����-����2�������3��=.,'�3�&�-���$��"�����A-���)�>-��'�-��<66��$&"������)��&�����=6����$����5���#������)�<.��-���/"�5�/��$$-1��������&&�&���6�����C��&&�-��F;;������.6-�������'��)������&.�����5-'�������-��1�$$7��89::;� +-����3����&.,&������$�'����5����$��56����-������'��$���'����������'�6.�6-&�&�-����/�-3��$�/�'�&���������1���������$��'��&�&��.���'9��89::@� +-������������.�'.��&����/���K��'9��89::?� +-����3����&.,&������$��'3��&����3��-�5����$��56����-��)�-.�'1�����4.�$��/"�1��$��'&"�&�)���������1�$'$������,����"�6��5�����5$��'�-��-�������3��-�5����$$/�&��&���3����&-.���&9��89:::� +-����5-3�"�'�&��-/�-��-,&��.���6�-5���������.��$�����.��&���'�3��1&9��89::I� +-����5-3�"�'�&��-/�-������3-��,$/��$����&�)�����������&�-����$"������-$-)���$���'L-���.$�.��$���&-.���&9��89:F� B���1�'���-�������6-���-��-������$-��1���������6�����6�$�,.�$'��)��&��-�,���-�&��.���'"���-1���&�����,.�$'��)�����"�&��$$��4.�$�-���C���'�����'�&�������-�5�$$/���4.���'��-��&��������-���)����������'�&�����9��=��'�1�'���&��$$�,��5��&.��'��$-�)����������&���-����.-.&�&�����1��'�,-.�'��/�-������,.�$'��)������-������$-�9�������*$.&����=.,'�3�&�-�"�����1�'���-������$-��1���������6�����6�$�,.�$'��)��&��-�,���-�&��.���'�&��$$��4.�$�-���C���'�����'�&��������4.���'��-���$.&����$-����-���)����������'�&�����9���������



������

�

����� 	
���������������������������
����
��
��
�������������������������������������
�������������������
������������������	
�������������������������������
��������������������������������������
�������������������������������������
����
������������������������������������������������
������������
�����
�����������
��������������������
��������������������������������������������������
�����������

������ 	
�����
����������������
����
���������������� ������������
���
�������
�������������������!� "����������
�������
����������
������������������#�������!�!�������� 	
�����
����������������
����
����$�%�����������������������������������������������������������
��������������
��"�������&�������������������������������������������
���������'�����������
���#�������$(()*)�!%�����������
���������������������������������
��+�������'��#����'�����������������



������

�

����	
�������
�������
��������� ����������� ��!���!�� ��"#�$���%���� �%��&����#���� &���$�'(�$)� "��*����'#�$�&��#)�*��$$�'#�&� *�)#�#)���#�'(�$)� "���#������#�'(�$)� "���#���!���!�� ��"#�$���*��$$�'#�&���'$#��!�&� ��� � "���&��&$#�%��*#�)��+#�#���*�#,(�$�������"�#��#����� ���#�+� �+(+�*�� )��)�*��##��!�� ��"#��#,(��#)�� ���#�)�*���&��%�#�#���#�$�����*���*�!�� ��"#-�%����(��� .������� ��!���#�&��&$#�!�$$� "��(�*�)#��!���#�����#��.���

�����	
���/��
���0	�1	���1����

2�3�
��4�
����5���6�2	���	����7!�� .������� ��!���$���!�$$*�%���� ���#�8$��)�9�� #�:� *#�;� &.�<�*���&�-������������ �+�.�'#�(*#)����+##����#�+� �+(+�$�����#��� )�.��)��#,(��#+# �*�!�����#�<�*���&��� �%��&����#��#+�� )#���!���#�$����*�*��(��#)�������	
������2=���	
������2����	�	
=��=�������#�)�+# *�� �$��#"($���� *�*��% �� ���'$#�>�*��$$����$.�����$$�#)(&���� �$�� )��#$�"��(*�(*#*�$�&��#)�� ���#�?� � "�)�*���&�*�$�*�#)-�#@&#����*����;�)#)�!���'#$�%A�� ����� B$$�*��(&�(�#*������;#)��!�#��C� (��.��-��DD�-�'.����#�+���"�� �� "��(������.�!���#)(&���� �$�����#$�"��(*�(*#*�*��$$���;#�+� �+(+�!�� �-�*�)#�� )��#���*#�'�&E*��%�&#���#�)�*�� &#�*��% �� ���'$#�>�!��������?� � "�)�*���&�-�#@&#���� ���#�F�G�<�*���&��%�#�#���#�*#�'�&E*�� ���'$#�>�*��$$����$.���



� ����������	
���
�
�����������
���

� �� �����������������
����������� �

��!"���#����$
�%�#������%�������"�&

�����%�!"��������%� ����������
'������������( �'�'���

���$'"��������)��
��

���
���

���������
�� %*����&���+,+����� -�.*�/�01�2�13��4

56555�756555�856555�9
:6555�986555+� 856555�

986555; ���856555;��� 856555
; ���986555;��� 9:6555*;� ��<56

555* ��������756555* ����
�456555������

� -==�����*>����� -�.*?$*+�>@�/�01�2�13�9
56555�956555�A6555�

<6555�86:55*+ ��
�968:5*;� �<6555����<6555

����86:55*; �����96:55*; �
���

� %*����&���+,+����� $����*�.�/2�13��
855�9:5�985�

985�955��955�
�<5;� �98:; �����98:; �

������A5; ���������955;� ��������95
5* ���������955* ���

����855��
� %*����&���+,+?&*B�+,

+��
$�����C.�;*�D�/2�13* ��

�75��8:�85��
�9:��9:���85��

5?85�������85���������85������9
5?85���������95�������������75���

�������85����������85��������<
5�

� %*����&���+,+�C�=.�*�=
�

�.*��E*�=��/2�13��
85�8:�9:�

9:�95� �95��
95* �������8:*� �������8:*� ��������

95* ����95* �������������95�����
�����95����������95��������8

5��
� &*B�+,+�%,�>=����� "�F.�*�.�/G3��

95�9:�85�
8:* �8:* ��<:* ��

H5*����������� 7:���������7:���������
7:* ���������7:* ������������85�����

������8:����������8:��������9
5��

� &*B�+,+����� "�F.�*�.�/G3��
9:�8:�75�

<5�<5��A:* ��
I:* �������4:����������H5���������

H5� ���������A:* ������������H5�����
������A:����������H5��������9

:��
� &*B�+,+� $>����* ��

8�J��8�J��7�
7�7��:��

:���������7�����������7������������7
������������7�������������8�J���

����7����������7���������9�
�� &���+,+?&*B�+,+� K.��L��/2�13*� �

7:�7:�7:�
7:�<5��::* ��

::��������7:���������7:�����9A?<
5����������<5��������������7:�������

���:5���������7:��������85�
��

��

C..�C.������71897��48��



����������	���
���	���������	�����������������	��� ��� ���������������� ���!"�#��"���"������$�%��&�'�����(��))��"� ���*���$�%��&�'�������������+����*!��������*!��,�"��!��%����"����*���$$&�%� &��)�%��!��!#��*�)� �&�-�������$$&���+��*��%���������)�� &�)*�"������%��!��./��01(��*���$�%��&�'�������������+����*!�����)*�&&�%!�)�"����*��$�!$!)�"��!"�#��"�"����)�!��&�����������������*��%!���2��!#��*��$������3)4�!#��*��)����"����)�!�)��)�� &�)*�"� ���2�)���+� ��&"��+)���"�&��")%�$��#������)�����*��)���!��"��+����+* !�*!!"��� �� �$$&��)��!���)�"��%���)�)�!�&��3��%��!�����54��������*�����(���67���"�����"�)���%�)(��*����)�%���������!�������)*�&&��$$&��!�&���!��*��#��)��"-�&&��+������!���*��+�!��"�#&!!��!#�)� "�8�"� &��"-�&&��+)���"�%!�8����"�"-�&&��+)����!���!-�*!�)�)(��$�������)(� ��&"��+)�%!�������+�"-�&&��+�����)����%!� �����!��-��*�)�!��)�!��!�*���$�������"�%!����%��&��)�)(���"�!�*���$�������"���&����������)�"�����&��)�)�����*�)��"�)���%�)(��*����)�%���������!������(��""���!��&��!������9����&�(���"���)�%���������!����!���+�������������)�)*�&&��!���$$&��������� ����""���!���!��*������)��������"� ���*�)��� &��#!�������2�)���+�"-�&&��+�����)�!���*��&!�(��*��"��)����#!����-��!-��*!�)�)�3��%��!�����554���"��$�������)�3��%��!�����5�4�)*�&&��!���2%��"�!���"-�&&��+������$���:(///�)���#���!#��*����������+�&!������(�!������*��%�)��-*�����*���������!��2�)���+�"-�&&��+�����)(�:(///�)���#���#!����%*���-�"-�&&��+������ ��!�"��*��#��)����������



� ����������	
��������������		��������
��������������������� ���� !"� �#$� �%����������������&� '��������!�'! '��!�'�"!�'��!(����!�'! '�������������)� ��%%���*!��"�����������������+� "�!'����! �!�������������,� %$����(!"�(! -����'��� ���������������.� !������ /�(! -���������������0� 1!�'��!((�'�(! -����������������� !������ �#$� �%�����2���'�3�'$!"�' �3�4!/�������������5� 6��/�"�� !�-�������������7� 4!�3� ���������������� ���� !"� �#$� �%�����89:;<=;=�>;?;:@;A�BC�DEDFG�HII;?JKL;�>;?;:@;A�DEC�DEDFM��NOPP� QR�STT�UVWXYVZXW�[\Z[]X�̂U_ZSXV̀RST�aVWXYVZXW�SRU�b_RVZV]ST�cSYdVRe�8bcf�aVWXYVZXWg�̀hh�WXY[[X�]SYdVRe�W]SZ[W�WiSTT�j[�]ỲkVU[U�SRU�lSVRXSVR[U�VR�Z̀RR[ZXV̀R�mVXi�Xi[�Z̀RWXY_ZXV̀Rg�Z̀Rk[YWV̀R�̀Y�VRZY[SW[�VR�Um[TTVRe�_RVXW�̀Y�UVl[RWV̀RW�h̀�j_VTUVReWg�WXY_ZX_Y[W�̀Y�_W[O��ni[�]ỲkVWV̀RW�̀h�XiVW�W[ZXV̀R�WiSTT�S]]To�X̀�]SYdVRe�W]SZ[W�h̀Y�ZSYWg�kSRWg�TVeiX�XY_ZdWg�SRU�WVlVTSY�k[iVZT[W�_W[U�]Y[ÙlVRSRXTo�h̀Y�][YẀRST�XYSRW]̀YXSXV̀RO��cSYdVRe�h̀Y�Z̀ll[YZVST�k[iVZT[W�̀Y�k[iVZT[W�_W[U�h̀Y�]YVkSX[�̀Y�]_jTVZ�XYSRWVX�WiSTT�j[�èk[YR[U�_RU[Y�Xi[�]ỲkVWV̀RW�̀h�p[ZXV̀RW�NOqg�NOr�SRU�NOsO��̂\Z[]X�SW�lSo�j[�Y[t_VY[U�̀Xi[YmVW[�jo�Xi[�c[YlVX�uYSRXVRe�v̀SYU�̀Y�p][ZVST�c[YlVX�uYSRXVRe�w_XìYVXog�SW�S]]TVZSjT[g�]SYdVRe�W]SZ[W�WiSTT�j[�]ỲkVU[U�VR�Xi[�h̀TT̀mVRe�Sl̀ _RXWO�� NOPPP� x̀Y�Um[TTVReWg�VRZT_UVRe�S]SYXl[RXWy�� z� NOPPPP�nm̀�8{f�]SYdVRe�W]SZ[W�h̀Y�[SZi�Um[TTVRe�_RVX�WiSTT�j[�]ỲkVU[U�_RT[WW�Xi[�c[YlVX�uYSRXVRe�w_XìYVXo�U[X[YlVR[W�XiSX�SR�STX[YRSXVk[�YSXV̀�[RW_YVRe�SU[t_SX[�]SYdVRe�h̀Y�Xi[�]Ỳ]̀W[U�_W[�mVTT�j[�]ỲkVU[UO�ni[�c[YlVX�uYSRXVRe�w_XìYVXo�WiSTT�U[X[YlVR[�Xi[�SU[t_SX[�R_lj[Y�̀h�̀hh�WXY[[X�]SYdVRe�W]SZ[W�jSW[U�̀R�ZYVX[YVS�W_Zi�SWy�|� j[UỲ̀ l�Z̀_RX}�|� XYShhVZ�Vl]SZXg�SW�VU[RXVhV[U�VR�XYShhVZ�Y[]̀YXW}�|� ]SYdVRe�_XVTV~SXV̀Rg�SW�ÙZ_l[RX[U�XiỲ_ei�W_Yk[oW�̀h�]SYdVReg�mVXiVR��PP�h[[X�̀h�Xi[�]Ỳ]̀W[U�_W[}��|� ][Sd�]SYdVRe�R[[UW�e[R[YSX[U�jo�̀R�WVX[�_W[W}�|� ]Ỳ\VlVXo�X̀�ÙmRX̀mR}�|� ]Ỳ\VlVXo�X̀�]_jTVZ�XYSRWVX}�|� SkSVTSjVTVXo�̀h�STX[YRSXVk[�l̀ U[W�̀h�XYSRW]̀YXSXV̀R}�|� X[RSRX�T[SW[�Y[WXYVZXV̀RW�Y[TSXVk[�X̀�]SYdVRe}�SRU�|� WiSY[U�̀Y�T[SW[U�]SYdVReg�SW�Y[e_TSX[U�VR�SZZ̀YUSRZ[�mVXi�p[ZXV̀R�NO{O��ni[�c[YlVX�uYSRXVRe�w_XìYVXo�lSo�Y[t_VY[�Xi[�S]]TVZSRX�X̀�ìTU�W_hhVZV[RX�TSRU�VR�Y[W[Yk[�VR�̀YU[Y�X̀�]ỲkVU[�SUUVXV̀RST�]SYdVRe�W]SZ[W�XiSX�lVeiX�j[�Y[t_VY[U�X̀�j[�j_VTX�SX�S�TSX[Y�XVl[�8WiSÙm�]SYdVRe�TSRUWZS][�]SYdVRe�Y[W[Yk[fO�wTT�̀Y�]̀YXV̀RW�̀h�Xi[�WSVU�Y[W[Yk[�WiSTT�j[�VRUVZSX[U�̀R�Xi[�S]]Ỳk[U�WVX[�]TSRO�wW�Z̀RUVXV̀R�̀h�Xi[�S]]Ỳk[U�][YlVXg�Xi[�c[YlVX�uYSRXVRe�w_XìYVXo�WiSTT�W][ZVho�Xi[�hSZX̀YW�XiSX�m̀_TU�Y[t_VY[�Xi[�WiSÙm�]SYdVRe�X̀�j[�j_VTXO�wW�T̀Re�SW�Xi[�SUUVXV̀RST�]SYdVRe�VW�R̀X�Y[t_VY[U�X̀�j[�j_VTXg�Xi[�Y[W[Yk[�WiSTT�j[�U[WVeR[U�SRU�lSVRXSVR[U�SW�RSX_YSTTo�k[e[XSX[U�̀][R�W]SZ[O��ni[�c[YlVX�uYSRXVRe�w_XìYVXo�lSo�Y[t_VY[�Xi[�S]]TVZSRX�X̀�W_jlVX�S�nYSRW]̀YXSXV̀R�a[lSRU�bSRSe[l[RX�cTSR�h̀Y�Y[kV[m�SRU�S]]ỲkSTO�ni[�WSVU�]TSR�WiSTT�VRZT_U[�Vl]T[l[RXSXV̀R�l[SW_Y[W�X̀�j[�Vl]̀W[U�jo�Xi[�S]]TVZSRX�VR�̀YU[Y�X̀�Y[U_Z[�]SYdVRe�_XVTV~SXV̀R�SRU�k[iVZT[�XYV]W�̀h�X[RSRXW�SRU�kVWVX̀YW�SWẀZVSX[U�mVXi�Xi[�S]]Ỳk[U�][YlVXO��Ql]T[l[RXSXV̀R�l[SW_Y[W�lSo�VRZT_U[y���ZSY�SRU�kSR�]̀ T̀VReg��� h̀h[YVRe�W_jWVUV[W�h̀Y�XYSRWVXg���h_YRVWiVRe�jVZoZT[�hSZVTVXV[Wg�SRU���]ỲkVUVRe�Wi_XXT[�W[YkVZ[�X̀�hỲl�̀hh�WVX[�]SYdVRe�hSZVTVXV[WO����



� ���������	
���
	��������	��	����
����	����������������������
������������������	���������������	����������	��
�������	�����	������
������������������������ ����
�������	�
���	��	������������������
���
�������������	�!������������"��������#���	������������� ��������������������	��������������������������������	�������$���
�����	���!��������
�������������%�������	$���������$������������
���
����	���
�����������������!��&���

���	��������	����	�������������������	��
�
��	�������
$��������������������������������	����	���	��'����	��()!*����
�((!+,���������������!��-!)))(�����������������	�������	���������������������������	��������
������������������	��������������	��������������	������������	�����
���	������������������	����	�������������������.����'����	��-!()(/!��-!)))+�&����������
�������
���������������������������%���	���$	�.+/������	���������������������	$�
��	���������
����������	�����������	��������	�����!�������������������	��������������������	������
����������	���!��0����������.�/�	��	���������������������������
�	������������	������������	�����	��$����������
�����������������������������	��������������������
������
��	�����	����������������������������������	������������������
������������
���������	�������������������!��-!))(� 1	������	������������$����������������		
���	���������
�����		�����	�������	
�����	���	��
�����	�������������������
��	�	���������
�������	������	��������������
���
��������������	�����������
����������	�����	���.(/����������������	���������
�		��	���������	��
	�����	��������2�	���$������	��
���
�
����	�������		��.��������
	���	���	��$��
/���	���.(/��������	���������$	���
�!��1	���	�������	���.(/��������������������������	��
�
��	�������������.�/���
�!��-!))+� 1	���������	�����������������������
�����������������������������������������������������	$��������������
�	������������������������������������������������
�����		�����
�����
��	�����	���.(/����������������	��������	���.,/�������	���$��������������������
��	���.(/��������	�������������.�/�������������	�������!��0������	���%�
��������������
�.������������/�����������������	���.(/�����������������	��
�
��	��������)�� ����������	�����������		������!��-!))*� 3�����	�����
�4
�����	����5����� -!))*)�1	���������	������������������	���
�����	����	��������	��������	���.(/����������������	���������	���.,/��������	��$��������������������
��	���.(/��������	�������������.�/�������������	�������!��0���������
�����		���
6	����������	��������		������	�������
�����������������	���.(/�����������������	��
�
��	��������)�� ����������	�����������		������!��-!))*(�1	���������������������	������������	��	�����������������.�/�	�������������
��	��������	�������	����������������������������	���.(/����������������	���������	���.,/������!�����������������������������������

���	���	���������������������� ����
����'����	��	��������������������������������������	�������������	�����������.�/�	����������	��������	�����!���-!))*+��$�������������	����������	����	�����!��1	��������	�������	���������	�������
$�������������	����������	����	�������������������������������	���.(/����������������	��������������.*/���
�		���	���������	��
	�����	����������	���	��������������.*/���
�������	������������ �������!��-!)),� 1	��������������	��������
������������7�� -!)),)�&������8�"��8�9:��8�;���
�8�<�.���������8�"���
�8�9:�	���/�
������������
�	�������	��$��������:=������������������������8�9:�	��3�9:����������	�����$������	����������;���	����>���	����3�������������������*!*��������������������(�)))�� ����������	����	�����������		�������������+!�������������()))�� ����������	��"1#�.��	�����		������/���%��������	����	������������	������	�������		��!��-!)),(�&������8�<���
�:=������������.�%��������	����	�������������
����-!)),)/���
�����=����3����
�<&�������������������������� ������������������������	�������	��	$���7�� *!*�������6(�)))�� !���!��	������������()�)))�� !���!�	��"1#2�������+!��������6(�)))�� !���!��	��"1#����$����()�))(�(+��))�� !���!2�������+!)�������6(�)))�� !���!��	��"1#�	����(+��))�� !���!�



� ������������ 	
����
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����
��������
����
��������������������������������������������
�����
������������
���������
����������������������
�� � ����������
������
�����������������!��������"������������
����
��
������������
�����
�����
������������
��
�������������
�������������������
�����������������������
����
�������������������#� $%������������&������'��"�(&')��'�
�����
���*��������'��"�('*')�����+�����,���������(+,)�-����������
�������������"�������������!����������������������
�������������
������
��.����������������������
��
������
��������
����������������.�����������������,������&'��'*'�����+,�-��������������!������
�������������"������������
��������.�����������-��������������/� 0���������$������
���-������������!�����
�������������"�������������
�������
����������������������"����
�����������������
�����"����
����
������
�����������$������
��-��������������������������
������
��.���������.����������$������
��-����������1234567�89:�;215<7�14=7;=>;1�=7;�?=7;13=@2�14=7;=>;1��A�������
����
��������������������������������!���������������
���
������
�B��������������������������
.�
���������������������������������C�������������
��
�����"������������
������������������C���������������
���%�������
������
"������"�
�������������C���
�������������������
.����
��C������������������������������
�����"������������*���������������
���
���
����.�����������������%�������
�������
�����#�/�������#� �����#�� -����������������� ��#��� 	
����.�
������������"�����������
���������
�����
���
�������(�)�
���
������"������������.������
��������'������
�������'���*����.�����
��������!�����B�� ��#����'��"����'���*�!�����B��D��������������������������������������������
�����E�������F
������
�������
�����������
��������
��������
�
�������"����.������������.�.�������������
������.���������������
����������������������������"�����
����
����
��
��������������������
����������������������������
����������������������������#��#�0������
��G
��������
�B��0������
��
����.������
�������
�������������
����H��
��
����������
���
������E��.��������
����
��
�������
����#��������.������
���
��������������E�������F
������
�����
���
�����������
���
���������
�����������%�����������
���������������������.������
���
��������
������������������
����%�����
���
�����������#�#� '�����B��	
����������
����
����������.�������������"��������������������
����������
����
���.����������������������������������
�������������������.���������������
���#/�����������������
���������������������������������.�����������������.��������������/�������
���
���
���
�������������������
������������
��������
�����������������
�"��
�������������������������
����
���
��������������A
.��$����������A
������%�����������������������
���
�
��������������������
���������.��
��������
��
����������
����
���
������
�������������#�/� �
��B��'��"����������������
�����"��������������������������������������������
���
��%�������������������
����� -����.����������%���������
����������
���������
��������
�����"����
����������
������������
�����
���%��������#/����������%�����.������ �������
�������
�������.���������������
��������
���%�������������������#� � �������"���
����������B���%������
�����"����.������������
����������������
����"�����������������
������.�����������������
������������.����I
�����������������������
���%��������.����������
������.����������������
��������������+
�������
�"�������%�������
���������!�������������#�J� -������
����G��"����K�-�������
��� A��������
�������"���������������������������������������
��
����%�����
���
��������� '��"����������������������������������������������
������.�����������������������������������������!����������������$�������"�������������������������H������%�#������������L������������"�����������������������!������������������������������������A���M
�����E
����
��D������(�')�
������'�������E
����



� ���������	�
��������������������������
��������������������������������������	���� ���� �������!�����������������������������"������!��!���������������#��$�
���������������������"�� ��!��������!� ��������%��� �������#��&�����������������������%���'	����
����������������������!�%�!�����������"�� ��������!��
����!������"�������!�������!������
��������������������%��� ���!����������!�������#��$�� ���!����!��%�������!�"����!���"������"�!�
���������"����
������"��"��(���������!������)����$����������������!��!�(���!����!� ���"��*����$�������������"�����!��!��
��� ���
��!�!����������"���������������!�������������#���+����������!��!����!�,��!����������!��!�#����
��� ������������������������!�����������%��������"�����������!��-������������������"���
���
�
�'�������������������������������
���
�
�����"����-.����������"����������!��������!�����"����
������#��/����������������%�%������
����"�� ������
�����!� �����������"�������"����
�����
�����������������!��%��"��!���!�������������#���#�.'� ,��"����0��!�1�������"������"�� �����%�!�!������������������������'�����������
��������"����������������� �����!�������"�#��/�����������������"��������������!����"����������������"�� ��!����������!��"�� ��!������!�����"��!�!������
��������"������������������������������� ������������������!������
������!����������������!�������������� ������������������������������� ������������������!�2344565789�9:�;7<367�=�>57?7;@2�� �����������#�� /!A������������������"�� ����������!����
���"�������������"����"��"������������������
�����������"���"��!��������!�"���"�������"�����������������������
������������#��/�����������������"������"�� ����������������"�!������!��������
��"��������������������������"�����������������������������������!��"�������������
���������!�%����������"��"���"������"�� ������%���!���!��������!��"����"�
�������������������
�������"�����#���#�.���B����������!������!��%�����0���"��
���
�
���!�"���������������!������!��%����"�� ���.��������!��������������������!�����������!�����������������#��*"��
���
�
���� ���!�����"�� ���'�����#��*"��
���
�
���!�"�������"�!��%����������"����������������"�� ��-C�����#��*"�����
������������ ���!�
���
�!�����"������!�"���!���!�����
������������������������������������!�������#�� +��%�������"�� �������!���!�!������!����������
���
�D�������������"�����������!����%�!�������%��� �������!����"��!��������������"��� ���%����������������"������!����������!�%�"�������������#��*"��!��������!����������!��%��������!���������������%���������������������'����
������������"�����%����%�"��������
� ��������������������������!������������"������#��$����������!����������������!����������������!����"���������!������������"��!��������������%�"�����������������!����%�������
�����������!�
�����"�����"��������!���������
������!���������������������"����"��!A����������!����������" ��"��!�#��E��������������"��!��%���������"���!�������"�����������%�
�����"�� ���������"����'���������
����������������������������!� ���"������������
���F��������/��"������������
���F��������G���!#���#��� ,��!����������!��!��� �#��.� ������������������.����
������������"�����%�!����
���
�
�����.�������������"�������������������������!�����!��������������"���
��� ������!�!�����"���������������������������������!���*� ��H0��+�
�����������������0��I���
�
�,���$�%�����	#���#���� �����������������-'����
������������"�����%�!����!�����!�����!�������
���
�
���!�"������������������"������!���� ����"����"�����"��������������������"�������������0���	�!������������������������������ 	�!���������"����!�������������������"������������������	�!���������"������������!���������������
�������������������!��%����!	������������������������������"�������������������������!��	��������������
������"����������������������������
���"�������#���#��-� ���������0������������������"�'����
������������"�����%�!���������%����������������"������������������
��!A���������������������������#�����"�����������
��� ������
���"�!� �0�!�����������������!��H���������
���J���"�!��������J���������������������������������������������������
������!�%�����#��/�����1����!����������� ��������"������ �������"���H������"��"#�������������"������ �������!����� �������!��%���%�����������������
��������������������������������!��%�����������������������#����



� ����������	
�����������	��������������
�������� ������ �!"�#$!��$%&��$'�()��)�$�&!$�!*�++��),�-$�#)�!�'$�$'��!�"�).�'�� �,*$��$%&��$'�(�#�+�,�$!�()����/�),*$��&!$0�$1#$",��!�*$�$���(,$��"�).�'$'���2�/�$1�!,�� �"����� ��-).$�3��4�)(�"����� �),*$�5�!$��$%&��$'�()���++�&!$!�)����"�)"$�,/�6�/�-$�!*��$'�)��+$�!$'�-/��� *,���7*$�$�$1�!,�� �"����� �!"�#$!���$�6)�$�,*���3��4�-&,�+$!!�,*���3��4�)(�"����� �),*$�5�!$��$%&��$'�()���++�)��!�,$�&!$!0��""+�#��,!�()����8�,$��+���9$.�$5��""�).�+�)��8"$#��+��$�6�,�6�/��$%&$!,�,)�!*��$���':)��+$�!$�,*$�"����� �!"�#$!0�-�!$'�)��,*$�()++)5�� �#)�'�,�)�!;�� ������ 8*��$'������� ;��7*$�$��,�*�!�-$$��'$6)�!,��,$'�,)�,*$�!�,�!(�#,�)��)(�,*$�"$�6�,� ���,�� ��&,*)��,/�,*�,�)�$�)��6)�$�)(�,*$�()++)5�� �#)�'�,�)�!��!�6$,;�� ������������� �!"�#$!�,)�-$�!*��$'��$"�$!$�,�,*$�'�(($�$�#$�-$,5$$��"$���"����� ��$$'!� $�$��,$'�-/�)��!�,$�&!$!�)##&���� ��,�'�(($�$�,�,�6$!���<*�!�6�/���#+&'$��$'&#,�)�!����"����� �&!$��$!&+,�� �(�)6�$6"+)/$$!0�,$���,!0�"�,�)�!�)��),*$��"����� �&!$�!�)(�,*$�!�,$�-$�� �#)66)��,)���'�!*��$'�-/�6)�$�,*���)�$�'�(($�$�,�&!$�)��,*$�!�,$0���':)�=�������3������� �!"�#$!�,)�-$�!*��$'��$"�$!$�,�,*$�'�(($�$�#$�-$,5$$��#&��$�,�+$.$+!�)(�"$����"����� �&,�+�>�,�)����'���,�#�"�,$'�+)5$��(&,&�$�+$.$+!�)(�"$���"����� �&,�+�>�,�)�0�!��'�'�(($�$�#$�,)�-$� $�$��,$'����5*)+$�)�����"��,�-/���"����� �6��� $6$�,�"+����""�).$'�-/�,*$�"$�6�,� ���,�� ��&,*)��,/���8��'�"+���!*�++���#+&'$���'��6"+$6$�,�6$�!&�$!�!&#*��!�#�����'�.���"))+�� 0�-�#/#+�� ���'�"&-+�#�,���!�,���<*$�"$�6�,� ���,�� ��&,*)��,/�6�/��$%&��$�"$��)'�#�')#&6$�,�,�)��)(��$'&#,�)�!����"����� �&,�+�>�,�)���$�+�>$'��!����$!&+,�)(�,*$�"����� �6��� $6$�,�"+���������3� ?$�!$'������� ;��@��,*$�A�B0�A�CD0�A�E0�A�?0�DFG���'�9�CD�H�!,��#,!�,*$�+$�!$�)(�!"�#$!�()��)���)��)((�!�,$�&!$!�!*�++�-$�-/�8�,$��+���9$.�$50�&�+$!!�),*$�5�!$��$%&��$'���@��,*$�9�B0�9�E0�9�I0�9�F���'�9�?H�'�!,��#,!0�,*$�+$�!$�)(�6)�$�,*���,5)�$1�!,�� �"����� �!"�#$!�!*�++��$%&��$���8"$#��+��$�6�,0�&�+$!!��$%&$!,$'��!�"��,�)(���8�,$��+���9$.�$5��""+�#�,�)��()������!!)#��,$'�&!$�)��,*$�"�)"$�,/���2�/�+$�!$�)(�"����� �!"�#$!�()��)���)��)((�!�,$�&!$!�6�/�)�+/�-$�"$�6�,,$'�&�'$��,*$�()++)5�� �#)�'�,�)�!;�� ����3��<*$�"����� ��!�!&�,�-+/�+)#�,$'����,*$��$� *-)�*))'����5*�#*��,��!�"�)")!$'0��!�'$$6$'��""�)"���,$�-/�,*$�"$�6�,� ���,�� ��&,*)��,/�������33�2'$%&�,$���'��""�)"���,$�(�#�+�,�$!0���#+&'�� �-&,��),�+�6�,$'�,)��""�)"���,$�"�.�� 0�+��'!#�"�� 0�!#�$$��� 0�+� *,�� 0�#&�-�� �)��5*$$+�!,)"!0���$�"�).�'$'�()��,*$�"�)"$��)"$��,�)��)(�,*$�"�)")!$'�+$�!$'�"����� ���8"$#��+��,,$�,�)��!*�++�-$�"��'�,)�$�!&��� �!�($�.$*�#&+���#��#&+�,�)��)��,*$�!�,$���'��,�,*$���,$�!$#,�)��5�,*��-&,,�� �!,�$$,!�������3��<*$�"$�6�,� ���,�� ��&,*)��,/�6�/��$%&��$�,*$�"�$"���,�)����'�!&-6�,,�+�)(���!,&'/�,)�"�).�'$�$.�'$�#$�)(�"����� �&,�+�>�,�)��+$.$+!��������	
���J��	���
���������2'$%&�,$�)((�!,�$$,�+)�'�� ���'��$#$�.�� ���$�!�!*�++�-$�"�).�'$'�()���++�-&!��$!!0�#)66$�#��+���'���'&!,���+�&!$!��������	
���K�LM
������������
��NL�O�������������P�� B$�$��+�� <*$�G&��#�"�+������� �H�!,��#,��!����).$�+�/�'�!,��#,���'�!*�++�-$�!&"$��6")!$'�)��),*$��'�!,��#,!�$!,�-+�!*$'�-/�,*�!�A/+�5���9$!,��#,�)�!���'�"�)*�-�,�)�!�)(�+��'�&!$����,*$�&�'$�+/�� �'�!,��#,�!*�++��$6�������(&++�()�#$���'�!*�++��),�-$�6)'�(�$'�-/�,*$�#)�'�,�)�!�)(�,*$�G��H�!,��#,�&�+$!!�!&"$�!$'$'�-/�,*$��$!,��#,�)�!���'�"�)*�-�,�)�!�)(�,*$�G��H�!,��#,�����P3� Q!,�-+�!*6$�,�)(�H�!,��#,�� <*$�G&��#�"�+������� �H�!,��#,�!*�++�#)�!�!,�)(�,*)!$� $) ��"*�#���$�!�!*)5��()��,*�!�'�!,��#,�)��,*$�F((�#��+�R)��� �G�"���<*�!�H�!,��#,��!�#)�(� &�$'�,)���#+&'$�,*)!$�+��'!�5*�#*�#)�!,�,&,$�,*$�'$.$+)"$'�#)�$�)(�,*$�')5�,)5��-&!��$!!���$����'��66$'��,$+/��-&,,�� ��$!�'$�,��+���$�!�����P�� �&�")!$�� <*$�"&�")!$�)(�,*�!�'�!,��#,��!�,)�$�#)&�� $�,*$�'$�!$�'$.$+)"6$�,�)(�6�1$'�&!$�-&�+'�� !���'�"$'$!,�����!"�#$!����



� ���������	
�����������	������	�������������	��
��������
�	������	������
����	����	����	�
���������
�
������������� �!�
�	������"�#$� %���������� &�����
���������������	��	��
��
���'������"�(�����
�	������	�����
����
���������)���	�������	���*��	��������	�	�����������

	*��
�
�����	������������������	��
���'������$�$��+
�����	�,�%�
���������+
��-'������$�$./��%������0�
���

�������
���	�'�	�����+
��-'������$�$1/������%�
��	�������2���
�	����+
��-'������$�$"/������������������������������ �	�����!�
�	�����
���	���������������������������
�
�
�����)��	����	����������������	�����	����	�����
������
�0*���������������� �!�
�	���,���	���	*�	�
�����	��������	�
������������������	����������������������	��	����������������

	*��
�
�����	����	������	��
���'������$�$��+
�����	����3456789�:;<�=>?@79A�B8?�>554338?C�D343��E	�	��������
����	�������	������

����������������

	*��
�
��
���'������1�(F#��G�	������	� �	���������	�H������
���3456789�:;I�J>9K75>==4K�=>?@79A�� �	�����
����
�
�����)���	�������	�������*
�����*����������������	���������������������)��,�� F(�.(�
����
� F�������������
�����.F�$(�
����
� .�������������
����
�$F�1(�
����
� $�������������
����
�1F�F((�
����
� #�������������
����
�F(F�	��	�� 	���	���%���
�����%��������
����	��������	�������

�0�	���� �	�����
����
��	�������*
�����*�������������
�����)����
������������	���������������%���
�����%��������
��������	��������	�������

�0�	�����������������������

����
���
�!���	�������� �)����'�	�������
�
����
�����	�
���*�)������������L�����������
����
�
�����)������	�*������������)*���
����
������������
����
����
��	��	�
�	�����	���*
�����*���������������	
�
�������������������
����
�
�����)�����������������	������������	�����������	�
���������	������������
��	�����
�	����	��������������	��������
�	��
����������������

��	������������������	��������	������	���������
�	����	��
�����)���	���������3456789�:;:�>55433�?4MD7?4N4963�O�K?7P4Q>C3��"�"(� E����R�
�� "�"(F� +�������������

�
�����)���	��������	

������	���������

�
�	���	������
������������
�������*�-.(/�������������"�"(.� �����	�����*����������������

�
�	���	���
������
��������������������	�����������
���������S�����1T��	���������������*�-1(/����������������	
�������������	�����*���������������	����	��
�����	����
������������
�	������"�"($� 2��������
�����
����	�������	����	���	����������
��	���	���������������	�����

�
�	��
���U����������������	��������
�	��������������

���������
�
�����)���	������)*���
������������	�����*���"�"(#� E�������������	�����*
�
��������������	����	�����
���'������"�"F���"�"F� ���������2����������!	�����*
�� "�"F(� ������	�����*
�
��������)����
���	�����)������*
�����
���������	���������	��������"�"FF� ������	�����*
�
���������	���������

����	���������	��	���������V	��������
���"�"F.� ������	�����*
�
�����)�������

������
�S�����-FW/������������������������������	���	���������������	���	���������	����	����*��������
X���
�	�����������)�������
��
����������	��������Y�
���������������	������	����	�
�����	�����	�������	������������������
�	������
�����	�
X�����
����������������-./���������
�����	
��������
�����	�����)
�	�����
�
�����
��	��
�������
�����
�����)�
��
������������������	�����*�
�����)����
�	������������	���������������
����
�����	�
��)���
�����)�������

�������������-F./�����������������������������	���������	�
�����	
��



� ������������ 	
�������������� �������������������������������������
������������ ����
�����
��!"��#������$���������
������������ �����
���������������
�����
�������%�����������
���������������%�����
����
������%
�������������������
���������������������%�
��������������
��
�����������������������������������������
�������
�����������������������
������%���������������������������
����������
���
������%�����������
����������������
�����������������������������������
�������������%�����
����
������%
�������������������
�&������������������������
��!�'��#������(���
����������������������
������������ ��������������
�����
�������%�����������
������������������
�������������������
��������������
��������������� ������������
��&��
�������%�
��������������������
����
����������������� ���������������'�����
��
����������� �������� �����)��������*��
���������
����������+���������''�������������������������������������
�������
�����������������
������������ ��������������"� ,�������
�����������������������-.��
����������������!-�#�������������
��������������
�������������%�����
����
������%
�������������������
��������-� ������������
������������������
�������������
������������ ���.���+��
��������������������.����������%%
�����������)��������*��
���������
����������+���������''&� �����������������������������������-.���/�����������
�������������
���������
��!'��#��������&�����������
������
�������
�&�����������������-.��
����
������� 0�����������
1��
����������2� ������
������������ ��������������
���������
��������������
�����
��������������� ����������������!2�#���
���������� �����
 �
�����������
����������������
�����������������
��������� ��������
�������������3����������������$��
���	%�
��������)� ����4�
5��������6� ��
������� �����
��
�����������������������������������
��������1������
���
��������
��
�������������������� +�
�����
������
��������������������������������
������������ �%��������������
�������������
�%� ����������%�
%���� �������������
���������������������
���������������
���������������
���������������������
��������������������������
�����������'�� $����
����%
����������������
������������
������������������������5��������������
��� �������������
������0�������
�%���� ����
�������������������
%��
&���������������%������&������� �
��
���������7��%���
�,������3����
�����	�����8������������
��
����������� ��� ������������*��������,���������
�%
��
�������������������� ��������%
������
����������
��� �������������
�����������'�� ���)��������*��
������
1��
�����
��%�������
�����
������������
���������������������%����������
�������''� 9�
������������������	��������+� ���������)���&����)��������*��
���������������
����������
�������%���������+�������������
��������������������������
���������������.��
���%
������������������������������������%
�����������+�������2�����2���-��� 9�
�+� ���������$%%
�����:���31��
������&����)��������*��
�������
������+%�����)
����������������
����������
�������%���������+�������������
��������������������������
���������������.��
���%
������������������������������������%
������������+�������2�����2���-���������



� ���������	
������	����������������������������������� ��! ���"��#��!�$%$�#&�#�������'���� �#��(��)� �*���� ��(��)� �*��+����,����(��-�!.��(����*�#&���!�#����#��!����/��0�������-���&����/����'���� %��1&��/�-�����-���&����/�� ���.!� �#��(��)� ������#&�����-�!.����#&��/��0�����#��#&�����-�%��1&�� ���.!*�����#��!��! �!�,/������/�-�����-���&����/���((��)� �/0�#&��(��,�#�.��!#�!.�/��� ����(��#�����!��((��)������#&��(��,�#���'���#%������	
���2����3�	4����56789:8:�;8<87=8>�?@�ABACD�EFF8<GHI8�;8<87=8>�AB@�ABACJ��K%�+� L!0����#��!������/���#��!����L�#�����K%+*�M��-�!.�N�.���#��!�*�,�0�/��O��)� ����,� ���� �/0�#&��M��,�#�P��!#�!.�Q��� ����"(������M��,�#�P��!#�!.�L�#&���#0���#&���R� �#����#��! ���#&���((����/������#��!����#&��Q0��O�������,(����!.������!���������#0*����#&�#���*������#�� ���.!%��K%��� M��-�!.��(������'����,�!#���! ���"��#��!�K%++�*�K%++S*�K%++$��! �K%++T�,�0�/��,� ���� �O&�!��!�����,�������#&�������O�!.���! �#��!������,�#�#��#&����#�����#��!����#&��M��,�#�P��!#�!.�Q��� ����"(������M��,�#�P��!#�!.�L�#&���#0U�� K%��+� M��-�(��-�!.�!�� ��.�!���#� �/0��!���#��������������#� ������!#�#�,��%��K%���� L���.!�����!#�!�,/�������,(��0���*�#�!�!#�*�(�#��!������#&���(��-�!.����������#&����#��������,,�!�#���! ��&��� �/0�,����#&�!��!�������!�#&����#�%��K%��S� L�(��-�!.�,�!�.�,�!#�(��!��((��)� �/0�#&��M��,�#�P��!#�!.�Q��� ����"(������M��,�#�P��!#�!.�L�#&���#0�����,(��,�!#� �O�#&�����(�!�0����#&��/��� �!.����/��� �!.�%��"�� �(��!��&�����!��� ��#&���,(��,�!#�#��!�������&�,����������������! �)�!�(����!.*�/��0���!.��! �(�/����#��!��#�������������!#�#���� ����#&��!�� �����(��-�!.%��M���� ��� ���,�!#�#��!������ ��#��!���!�)�&�����#��(���! �(��-�!.��#���R�#��!�����������#����#&��(��-�!.�,�!�.�,�!#�(��!�,�0�/����'���� ��������! �#��!�����!0�(��,�#�.��!#� ��! ���#&������#��!%�



�����������	
���� ��������
������������������� ������������ �� ������������!� ���� ������� �������������������"� #$��������� ��� $������%�������&�'��(� �������������������)� *��� �'����+������,���-� �������������������.� ���+���*��/������ ���/'����-�������������������� ������������ �� ���012�34536786�97:1�86�;<=3657971:�<3=7>3?�86�;12�@36A;1315�71536786�97:1�86�;<=3657971:�<3=7>3�975B;53<?�<397:13<�86�71531<3<�58�C3�=73D3<�E68A�5F3�8B5�8E�<8869?�DF7>F�79�F363;E536�363>53<�86�A;715;713<�9F;GG?�34>3@5�;9�34@6399G2�@68=7<3<?�>81E86A�58�5F3�E8GG8D71:�639567>57819H��012�71536786�97:1�B93<�81G2�53A@86;67G2�86�185�=797CG3�E68A�5F3�8B5�8E�<8869�9F;GG�C3�343A@5�E68A�5F3�@68=797819�8E�5F79�93>5781H��I8�97:1�86�;<=3657971:�<3=7>3�9F;GG?�71�;12�<79567>5J�� KHLL� M68N3>571:�O7:19��KHLLL� P4>33<�QL�9RB;63�E335�71�;63;H��KHLLQ� SE�;EE743<�58?�9B9@31<3<�E68A?�86�71>86@86;53<�;9�@;65�8E�;�CB7G<71:?�@68N3>5�A863�5F;1�TU�71>F39�E68A�5F3�CB7G<71:?�34>3@5�5F;5�9B>F�;�97:1�A;2�@68N3>5�B@�58�VK�71>F39�E68A�5F3�CB7G<71:�@68=7<3<�75�<839�185�34>33<�U�9RB;63�E335�71�;63;H��KHLL�� SE�9B@@8653<�C2�86�9B9@31<3<�E68A�;�@3<395;G�86�@895?�@68N3>5�A863�5F;1�TU�71>F39�8=36�86�7158�;12�@3<39567;1�D;2�>B958A;67G2�B93<�C2�5F3�@BCG7>?�34>3@5�5F;5�;12�9B>F�97:1�A;2�@68N3>5�B@�58�VK�71>F39�8=36�;12�9B>F�D;2�@68=7<3<�75�<839�185�34>33<�U�9RB;63�E335�71�;63;H��KHLLT� P4531<�7158�;��V�71>F�935C;>W�E68A�;�=3657>;G�@G;13�;C8=3�5F3�>B6C�G713�8E�;12�;<N;>315�956335�>B958A;67G2�B93<�C2�5F3�@BCG7>H��KHLQ� P4531<�A863�5F;1�E8B6�E335�;C8=3�5F3�3;=39G713�86�@;6;@35�8E�;12�CB7G<71:�58�DF7>F�75�79�;EE743<H��KHL�� S1>86@86;53�86�C3�G7:F53<�C2?�EG;9F71:�86�CG71W71:�G7:F59?�86�C3�<397:13<�58�;556;>5�;55315781�C2�;�>F;1:3�71�G7:F5�715319752�86�<763>5781?�86�C2�63@3;53<�A3>F;17>;G�86�3G3>567>;G�A85781H��X743<�C;11369�86�3G3>56817>�C7GGC8;6<9�B971:�>F;1:3;CG3�G7:F59�58�>81=32�5F3�57A3?�53A@36;5B63?�86�85F36�@BCG7>�71E86A;5781�9F;GG�C3�343A@5�E68A�5F79�@68F7C75781H��KHLT� SE�E633�95;1<71:?�34531<�A863�5F;1�5D3G=3�E335�;C8=3�:68B1<�G3=3GH��KHLV� Y;47ABA�OB6E;>3�063;��KHLVL� I8�97:1�9F;GG�F;=3�;�9B6E;>3�;63;�:63;536�5F;1�KL�9RB;63�E335?�34>3@5�5F;5�5F79�63RB763A315�A;2�C3�A8<7E73<�B1<36�;�O@3>7;G�M36A75�799B3<�C2�5F3�O@3>7;G�M36A75�Z6;1571:�0B5F86752�;B5F867[3<�58�;>5�B1<36�5F3�;@@G7>;CG3�93>5781�8E�5F3�\2G;DH�I8�97:1�63>37=71:�9B>F�;�@36A75�E86�;�A8<7E7>;5781�8E�585;G�9B6E;>3�;63;�9F;GG�34>33<�Q�]�9RB;63�E335�71�;63;?�34>3@5�;9�A;2�C3�@36A7553<�B1<36�5F3�@68=797819�8E�O3>5781�KHVH��KHLVQ� Y;47ABA�9B6E;>3�;63;�E86�97:19�B1<36�5F79�;1<�E8GG8D71:�93>57819�9F;GG�C3�>;G>BG;53<�;9�E8GG8D9J�� Q̂�_F3�9B6E;>3�;63;�8E�;12�97:1?�375F36�E63395;1<71:�86�;55;>F3<?�9F;GG�C3�>8197<363<�58�C3�5F3�EBGG�àbcde�fghbhijdjaki�kl�jmh�baniob�<79@G;2?�71>GB<71:�;GG�G3553671:?�1BA36;G9?�92AC8G9?�<3>86;57=3�C86<369?�C;>W:68B1<�9B6E;>3?�E6;A71:?�86�861;A315;G�956B>5B63?�DF35F36�8@31�86�31>G893<H���̂�_F3�9B6E;>3�;63;�8E�;�97:1�9F;GG�185�71>GB<3�5F3�9B6E;>3�;63;�8E�;12�71>7<315;G�9B@@86571:�@8G39?�;6A9?�956B>5B6;G�E6;A3D86W?�C6;>71:?�G7:F571:�E745B639?�86�;12�8@31�;63;9�>815;713<�D75F71�86�E6;A3<�C2�9B>F�71>7<315;G�956B>5B639�DF7>F�;63�185�;1�7153:6;G�@dgj�kl�jmh�phbani�kl�jmh�baniob�<79@G;2H��



������� ��������	�
�����
�
��������������	��������
������	�
����
��
��	��
�����
�	��	������������	��������������������
���	������	�����������	�����������	������	�������������	��������
���	����������������
�������������	�������������
���	���	��	��������
���
�	��������
���������������	���������
�	���
����	��	���������������	

�
�	����������������
������	�
����
��
��� ! "#�$%&�#'() !#�� %#*+*,*+%-�*./�#+-%0#�&+#1!$'2��3������	�
����������
��	��	��	
����
���	��
��������������
���	��
��������
	���
����������������	�	�����	���	������)$�4�#*",�*,"/#�5+*.+%�678� 9� %/�$% *./":� "�5./"/�*./�+%*/"+ "�$%-!/�����������������
��	��
���	��
���	�
�����
����������
�;<�������
�����

��������
��	��	��	����	�
�����
���=�����	�����
���������������
�	����������=
�	�����
��������������	��
���	���	��	��������������
�
�������
�>��	�?�@�����������������	������������������������
��	��
���	��
��
����	������	�;<�������
��������������	��	�����������
��	��
���	��
�
�	��������
����������
���	����������������
������
�	���
�����	A�����
���	���	��	?��BCDEFGH�IJK� LCBFMCHEFNO�MFBELFDEB��P�	���Q�
������R�
�����
����������������A�������
��
�	�������������������	�������������	���������
SS��T?U<� V�����
����W��
�	��R���
��
��T?U<<� P������	
�����	�������������
��	���

������������X����YU��
���������������YZ��
��	����������	��	������	������
��������
����������������
�
���������A�����	����	�����������YT��
��	����������	��	������	��������	����

�	�[���	��
������������
���������	�
�	�����YU��
�����������������
��	����������	��	�����	�����������	���

�����
�?��T?U<U� P������	
�����	��������������	������\����
����������	�	�������������
��	���

�����������������������	
�����
	��������	
��������������
�
�X�����YZ��
��
�����	�������
�����
���
	��������	
�������������	�����������������	��	��	����
����
��
����	������
����������	��������������������
�
�
�	����A������������YUZ��
��	�����������������	�W����	��]�������

�����������W����	��]������̂�	����_��������?�� P�����Q�̀a�R�
���������������W����	��]������̂�	����_����������	����	��	�W����	��]��������������YZ��
��
�����	�������	�	���

�����
������������������������	��	��	����
����
��
����	������
����������	��������������������
�
�
�	�������A������������YUZ��
��	��������������	��
�����
����������A�����������YT��
��	����������	��	?��T?U<Z� P������	
�����	���	����������
��������X����YU��
�������������������������
����������������
�
�	���������A������������YUZ��
��	����������	��	?��T?U<�� b �#+-%�$!! 5/&�,%&/"�*.+#�#/�*+ %�#.$!!�/c�//&�9 ,"�9//*�de0f�+%�./+-.*�$) g/�-"$&/:�/c�/1*�*.$*�1" h/�*+%-�#+-%#�5+*.�$�* *$!�$"/$� 9�*."//�#i,$"/�9//*� "�!/##�($'�)/�,1�* �#+c�9//*�dj0f�+%�./+-.*�	�������	��k��T?U<3� l�����
�	�������������
���	������������������
��
�	�������������	��������������������
�
��������A�������	����
���
�	������
������
������	���������#+&/5$!4�*.$%�mn�+%�./#�dmn8f2��� W��
�
�	������
����	��������	��
���������	���������������	���	���
�	������	�����������	������	��������������	�������	��?��o����������
����
���������������������
�	���������	�����������������	��
��������	�����	
����������W������;?Zp?��T?UU� V��������	�������	��
���������������������	�������������
�������	������
����
���������	����������������	�	��	���������������
�
��
�	������������������	��	������	��Q�
������R�
�����?��T?UZ� P������	
�����	���	����������
�������������
�������������������������
����������������
�
�	���������A������������
��	�������?��



������� ����� 	
�������������������� �����
����������������
������������������
�������������������
�������������
�������
��
������
������
���������������������������
����� �������������������������������
��������������� !���!�����
��
���������
�����������������"
#����������������!���������������
����$
���������������������
�����������������������������%�������������������
��&�'(��������� )����������������)�����������������������
���������������!�������
������%�������
��%�
��
�����
���
""�������"�������
��������������
��������������
����������
���������������������*�"� �"�"�
���
������������������
���!�������������
�����������������������
�� ������� �����������������+����$
���������������������
�����������������������������%�������������������
��&�'(���,-./012�345� 67,02-,,�829�0297,/:08;<:-,-8:.=�>8:?�90,/:0./,��@������A������������@��������BC��������	��D�E������%�����
��
������ ���
���������������"���F����'�� ���������� ���
%�������������
"%�
�����
��
������������
������������%���
#�����������
��������
����������
����������������
�� ���������������
����������
��������������'�� *�"�������
#������������������������
���������
�������������"��!%����G���
������
#���
���
��*������@@@%�����
��H�
�����I
���A!�J�������''� 	��"�����������������!���������������
��������!�"�!�������
����
����
��
����������������������������������
����
���� �����������������������"�������
���������������������������A!�����
���������������������!��������
�����%������������
��
�"�
������
#���
���
����������
������'�� @�����
��!����A�J%����KL)%�L	%�	C	�����J@�E������%�����
��
����������
�����������������"���F�� ��'��� L��������������������%�
��
���"
��"�������%��
��������������
����%����G���
�����
��
�������������F�� �M�N
����!�������
���������������������
�
���������������������������������������D�������+
��F�� "� �"�"�&������������������+��"� �"�"��'�����������'M�N
����!�������
����������
�����������������������
�������������������D�������+
��F�� "� �"�"���������������"� �"�"������������O���M�N
����!�������
�����������������
���!������������������������������������
������������������D�������+
��F�� )
��"��������
��!��"� �"�"��H������������"� �"�"�&�������������'��� N
����!�������������
����
�����
�����
����������
��"
��%�
���������������������
��
���"
��"�������%��
����������������������
�
���������������������������������������DF�� "� �"�"���������������"� �"�"��'�������������'�'� @�����	C	%�L	%�����J@�E������%�
��������
����"
��"�������%��
������������
������
���%����G���
�����
��
������
����
��F�� �M�I���������������������������"��
�������������%�
�����%�
���������������D��



������� �����	�
���
������	������	�������	����������
��		��	����	������	�������������	�
���
����������	������	����	�	���	��������
�	
�����
�	������������������	��
������
��������������	�
���
����������	������	����	�	���	�	���	����		�������� ��	�
	�����	�����	�
������	������	�������	��
������
���!�����	�������������	�
���
��������	��� �"� � ��	������!�#$�!		����� �"� � �
�%	��!�&$�
'���	�!		����&����	�
���
������	�����������	��������������	��
���������(���� )���	�*�+,�*�-.,�*�/�0�
�����
����*�1�0�
��������2��	�����*�+����*�/,���	�!������������������
��
���	��	� ���	�3��(���$� 4	�!�		�
������
��,�����	� �� 	��
��,�!���	����
��		��!�����	,�
��2	��������	�!��������
������
3��  �"� � ��	�������#$�!		�� �"� � �
�%	������
'���	�!		���(���� 5������
��������	����������	��������*�-.,�*�/,�*�1����.46���
�����������
������/�������7�
������8	��
�	��0�
�����������������
��������
�����,���	� �� � �!����
	������ ����	���	�
� 	��
�	
�����
�	��!�����
�	

��
	
�����	�*�+�0�
�����,�
��2	����������������!���	�
���������������	
��������	��	� ������������������������	����������� ���������	���	������
	��
���
���!����!��
�����3��(���$� ��	������
��
��!�9	�����(��(����	��		� 	��������	���������	������������	�	
�����
�!	�����(���#� ��	������
	��
	�����
���	���
�
�	���������	�
	�����
��!�	"�
����
��
�����	�����������:�����	���
�
�	���������
����������	�	�	��!���
����������
�����	�����������(����� ��	��	
����!���	������
	��
���
���
���
�
�	���������	��	
����������	
����
������
���9	��������$�#,������(����� ��	�
���
������������	�����	��!������	!�	�����	��������	���!���	������
	���
	
��!���	�����	������(��&� 5�������	���	
������	����������*�
�	

����)��
�����:8	
	�����;����%�	���������	��������	����	�������������	���,������	����������	���!������������	�
� 	���	�
�����
���	�����	���!���������������	�����������
	��
�
�����	�,���	�!��������
��
���	��	� ���	�3��(��&$� 4	�!�		�
��������� �� 	��
�������	������	�������	��	��������	����	�
��2	��������	�!���������������
3�� #��6�"� � ��	�������#$�!		������6�"� � �
�%	����$�
'���	�!		������9����
���
����� 		����	��	'���	 	���!�9	�����(��(�����9����
���
������	������	����������	���!�����������
��  	����	�������������	�����	���!������!���	�����������
	��������
���	��!�	�������	�
���������	�
�����	��
�����
�� ��������	��	� ������������������������!��!���	�
	 	���������	���	�������� 	�����������
��	� �

�������
	���	�
��2	�������	����!�����
�����(��<� =���!�		�
��������� �� 	��
��
�
������	������	�������������
���	����	��	'�������#�$>��!���	���	���!���	�
�����(��(� /��!�		�
��������� �� 	��
���
������	������	����
������ �	���������������� �����
�������
���	
��!��	�	
����
���:����	����	
��������	�
	��������������	������������	�	
�����	����	����������	������(���� =���
��
�
������	������	������	�
� 	�����	���!������
���	���
�	

,��������,������������
	����	���	��!�	������	�
��,�	"�	����
�������	��!�����9	�����(��&��



�����������	
����� ��

����
����
�����������	���	������������������� ��!�"��#! $��%&�'(#) (%)#�)*!�+����,(�-�#(-�#���������)*! #�� !�.! /())!�0��1234� 5�/!�.��)!#��+�)*!�)&.!��!#% (6!��(��7!%)(���1284�*! !(�2��1238� 9���:�%!/!�)0����!�� �),��#(-�#���)�!;%!!�(�-���)�)����+�),!�$!�<8=>�#?:� !�+!!)�(��� !��+� �)*!�+����,(�-�.: .�#!#0��12384� 9�$! )(#!/!�)�+� �)*!�#��!@� !�)���� ��!�#!��+�)*!�. !/(#!#2��12388� 9���:�%!/!�)�� �6:��!)(��6�� ��+� ���.:6�(%�%*� ()�6�!�� � !�(-(�:#�(�#)():)(��2��1238=� 9�$! )(#!/!�)�+� ���6:(��(�-�%��) �%)� ����&�,*(�!�%��#) :%)(���(#��%%:  (�-����)*!�#()!2������	
���A� �
���
��
�B	�C�������B�
������	C����12D4� 7(-�#��!-���&�!;(#)(�-��)�)*!�)(/!�)*(#�E&��,�,�#����.)!��/�&�%��)(�:!��#�����%��+� /(�-�:#!#@�#:6F!%)�)��)*!�. �$(#(��#��+�9 )(%�!���*! !�+2�� G*(#�. �$(#(���#*������)��..�&�)��6(��6�� �#@�#(-�#������)*! ���$! )(#(�-��!$(%!#�#:6F!%)�)��)*!�. �$(#(��#��+�7!%)(��#�=��)* �:-*�33@�(�%�:#($!@��+�"*�.)! ��3@������+�"*�.)! ��3'��+�)*!�H!�! ���I�,#2��12D8� 9���++�#()!��( !%)(������ �(�!�)(+(%�)(���#(-��/�&�6!�! !%)!������/�(�)�(�!��(����&��(#) (%)�,*! !�)*!��! /()�H ��)(�-�E�� ��� �7.!%(����! /()�H ��)(�-�9:)*� ()&��:)*� (J!��)���%)�:��! �)*!��..�(%�6�!�#!%)(����+�)*!�E&��,�+� �)*!�:#!<#>��##�%(�)!��,()*�)*!�#(-�<#>@�+(��#�)*�)�#:%*�#(-�#�,(���#! $!�)*!�.:6�(%�%��$!�(!�%!@�,(�����)�!����-! �)*!�.:6�(%�#�+!)&@�����,(���6!��+�#:%*�#(J!@���%�)(��@������!#(-���#�,(�����)�6!��!) (/!�)���)��)*!��!(-*6� *���2��K*! !�����++�#()!��( !%)(������ �(�!�)(+(%�)(���#(-��#! $!#���-!�- �.*(%��!#)(��)(���6:)���)���#.!%(+(%������:#!@���7.!%(����! /()�+ �/�)*!�L��(�-�E�� ���+�9..!��#�#*����6!� !?:( !�2��12D=� 5�)*(�-�*! !(��#*�����++!%)�. �$(#(��#�(��!;(#)(�-�G�,��E&�I�,#� !��)(�-�)��)!/.� � &�#(-�#�.! /())!��6&�)*!�G�,��"�:�%(�@�� �.�#)!��6&�)*!�G�,��� �-�$! �/!�)@��� �)��)*!� !-:��)(���6&�)*!�G�,��"�:�%(��:��! �9 )(%�!����@�7!%)(���M��+�)*!�G�,��E&�I�,#��+�#(-�#�,*(%*�!;)!���#(;�(�%*!#�� �/� !�(�)��� ��$! �)*!��(/()#��+���.:6�(%�,�&2��12D3� G*!�E:(��(�-�"�//(##(��! �/�&�- ��)���)!/.� � &�#(-��.! /()�+� �)!/.� � &�!;)! (� �#(-�#�/��!��+�%��)*@�+�6 (%@�$(�&�@�.�.! �� ��)*! �#(/(�� �/�)! (��#@�(�%�:�(�-�6���! #@�.!����)#�����+��-#@�+� �#:%*�.: .�#!#��#�- �����.!�(�-#@�-�(�-��:)��+�6:#(�!##�#��!#�����#!�#�����. �/�)(��#2��9�)!/.� � &�#(-��.! /()�#*������)�!;%!!��3�,!!N#�(���: �)(��2������	
���O� B
�	�	���	
��P�Q�	������9�&�#!%)(���� �#:6#!%)(����+�9 )(%�!�1@�7(-��R!-:��)(��#@�/�&�6!�,�($!��� �/��(+(!��6&�)*!��! /()�H ��)(�-�E�� ��� �7.!%(����! /()�H ��)(�-�9:)*� ()&��:)*� (J!��)���%)�:��! �)*!��..�(%�6�!�#!%)(����+�)*!�E&��,�+� �%�/.!��(�-� !�#��#��+�.:6�(%�%��$!�(!�%!@�.:6�(%�#�+!)&@��!#)*!)(%#@�� �#()!��!#(-�2�



� ����������	
���� ��	��������
�����������������	����������������� ��!�"!��#�����������$����%���&�"'��(�)��������������*����%���&�"'��(�+����,�-���"+��+"��������������.�)��,����,)�"�/+�"�'��������'�0�-�+��������"�������������� ��!�"!��#��123�4235267839�:2;<=�><?<=�@3A�B;6C4;C6?<�<D@EE�F?�6?9CE@;?A�@<�G62H8A?A�83�ID@G;?6�JKL=�B?4;823�M�25�;D?�N?3?6@E�:@O<�@3A�@<�G62H8A?A�83�;D8<�PQE@OR������������$����%���&�"'��(�)����� �RSK� 12;O8;D<;@3A839�;D?�@6?@�@3A�5623;@9?�6?TC86?7?3;<�D?6?25=�@�A?;@4D?A�23?�5@78EQ�26�;O2�5@78EQ�6?<8A?3;8@E�C<?�26�E@O5CE�FC8EA839�2;D?6�;D@3�@�AO?EE839�7@Q�F?�423<;6C4;?A�@3A�C<?A�23�@�E2;�D@H839�E?<<�;D@3�;D?�G6?<468F?A�F@<84�78387C7�@6?@�@3AU26�78387C7�5623;@9?=�O8A;D=�Q@6A�26�A?G;D�6?TC86?7?3;<�VG62H8A?A�;D@;�@EE�2;D?6�6?9CE@;823<�25�;D8<�PQE@O�@6?�427GE8?A�O8;DW�85�<@8A�E2;=�G6826�;2�;D?�A@;?�25�;D?�@A2G;823�25�;D?�6?TC86?7?3;<�83�TC?<;823�O@<�2;D?6O8<?�?X?7G;�5627�<C4D�6?TC86?7?3;<�FQ�;D?�G62H8<823<�25�ID@G;?6�JKL=�B?4;823�MR���RSS� BC4D�@�323�4235267839�E2;�<D@EE�32;�F?�5C6;D?6�6?AC4?A�83�@6?@�26�5623;@9?=�@3A�85�8;�8<�<CF<?TC?3;EQ�427F83?A�O8;D�2;D?6�E@3A�83�<C4D�@�O@Q�@<�;2�6?AC4?�26�?E8783@;?�;D?�323�42352678;Q=�8;�<D@EE�32;�@9@83�F?�<CFA8H8A?A�?X4?G;�83�@4426A�O8;D�;D8<�PQE@OR�������������*����%���&�"'��(�+����,�-���"+��+"�����RYK� L3Q�E@O5CE�FC8EA839�26�<;6C4;C6?=�26�C<?�25�@�FC8EA839=�<;6C4;C6?�26�E@3A=�?X8<;839�@;�;D?�;87?�25�@A2G;823�25�;D8<�PQE@O�26�@3Q�@7?3A7?3;�;D?6?;2�OD84D�A2?<�32;�4235267�;2�;D?�6?9CE@;823<�;D?6?25�7@Q�F?�423;83C?AR��Z2O?H?6=�?X4?G;�@<�D?6?83@5;?6�<?;�526;D=�@�323�4235267839�FC8EA839�26�<;6C4;C6?�<D@EE�32;�F?�<;6C4;C6@EEQ�@E;?6?A=�?3E@69?A=�326�6?423<;6C4;?A�<2�@<�;2�8346?@<?�8;<�323�42352678;Q�C3A?6�;D8<�FQE@OR��[26�;D?�GC6G2<?�25�;D8<�<?4;823=�@�<;6C4;C6@E�@E;?6@;823�<D@EE�F?�@3Q�4D@39?�;2�;D?�?X;?6826�25�@�FC8EA839�26�2;D?6�<;6C4;C6?�OD84D�83H2EH?<�@E;?6@;823=�6?E24@;823=�?3E@69?7?3;=�26�6?423<;6C4;823�25�O@EE<�26�2;D?6�<8938584@3;�?E?7?3;<�25�;D?�FC8EA839�26�<;6C4;C6?R���RYKK� >3A?6�B?4;823�SSRS=�;D?�PC8EA839�I2778<<823?6�7@Q�G?678;�;D?�6?G@86=�@E;?6@;823=�6?423<;6C4;823=�?X;?3<823�26�<;6C4;C6@E�@E;?6@;823�25�@�E@O5CE=�A87?3<823@EEQ�323�4235267839�<839E?�5@78EQ�26�;O2�5@78EQ�AO?EE839�83�@3Q�\23839�A8<;684;�26�@�E@O5CE=�A87?3<823@EEQ�323�4235267839�FC8EA839�83�;D?�P�N=�P�:=�P�]I=�P�1�26�Î _�A8<;684;<=�26�83�?8;D?6�4864C7<;@34?=�@�G26;823�;D?6?25=�26�@44?<<26Q�<;6C4;C6?<�;D?6?;2=�G62H8A?A�;D?�G62G2<?A�4D@39?�A2?<�32;�423<;8;C;?�@�4D@39?�25�C<?�C3A?6�;D8<�PQE@O=�@3A�@;�E?@<;�23?�25�;D?�52EE2O839�423A8;823<�8<�7?;̀�� �RYKKK�a3�;D?�4@<?�25�@�FC8EA839�323�4235267839�<2E?EQ�F?4@C<?�25�83<C55848?3;�E2;�5623;@9?�26�E2;�@6?@=�26�F2;D=�;D?�G62G2<?A�4D@39?�<D@EE�7??;�@EE�A87?3<823@E�6?TC86?7?3;<�526�5623;�<?;F@4b=�<8A?�@3A�6?@6�Q@6A<=�FC8EA839�42H?6@9?=�E2;�42H?6@9?=�7@X87C7�5E226<�@3A�7@X87C7�D?89D;R���RYKKS�a3�;D?�4@<?�25�@�A87?3<823@EEQ�323�4235267839�FC8EA839�O8;D�<C55848?3;�E2;�5623;@9?�@3A�E2;�@6?@=�OD?6?�<@8A�FC8EA839=�26�@�G26;823�;D?6?25=�8<�323�4235267839�@<�;2�23?�26�726?�25�;D?�A87?3<823@E�6?TC86?7?3;<�526�5623;�<?;F@4b=�<8A?�@3A�6?@6�Q@6A<=�FC8EA839�42H?6@9?=�E2;�42H?6@9?=�7@X87C7�5E226<�26�7@X87C7�D?89D;=�@EE�A87?3<823@E�6?TC86?7?3;<�7?;�FQ�;D?�FC8EA839�G6826�;2�;D?�G62G2<?A�4D@39?�<D@EE�F?�7?;�@5;?6�427GE?;823�25�;D?�G62G2<?A�4D@39?R����



� ��������������	�
������������������	��	�	��	�����	�����
����
����	
�����	�������
��������	��	�	��	�����	�����
���	�������������
�������	���	������������	
���������	
���
�����������	��������������������	�������������
������������ ����������������� ����������
����������	���	������������	
����
����
���������	��!�����
��
���!��!�������	��������������
���
�����!��
��	����
���!��!�������	���������"� #�������	�$����� !�	����� ��
�	��	�	��	�����	���������!��!������	��	�� ��
�	����$��������	���	�����	�	��	�����	��������	����	��	��� 
��������
���
��	�����	�
��
��	��� 
�	���	�����
��
�������
���
��	�$���������
���!����
����������	
�����%�
��	�&�&��������!!�����
�	������
��	���%!�����'����
��	����%�
��	����������������������������
���!��!���������������"� (���
���!��!��������
������
��	���	�	��	�����	������$�����������	�����	
�	��������
$�	
�������)�*+��	���
������	
���������	�
���������
����������	���	����
���������������	�����
��
���������
��	�����
����,���$�������� -���%!�����'����
�.��	
�	��/�
����
����
����0���
���
��	����
���!�������	�����%�
��	�&�&����
��������$�������	������%!�����'����
������$���	�	��	�����	�����������������	����
��
���������	��
�������	����
�����!�����������	�
�����
�	
�������������	
��	�����
�������	��
������
��	�
���	����������������	�!��!��
���	�
������	�
����%����/�
����
�������������
����0����	������%!�����'����
����	�	��	�����	�����������������	����
��
����������	��
������ 
�	����������	�	��	�����	��������	��
������
��
���������
�������	�������������	�
��
��1�!��������
��
�
���/�
����
����	���
��
�������
���
��	���	�������	
��������	�
��
��	�������	�
��������
�	
�������������
����	
���
��
���	������������
��	�
���� ��
�	��	�	��	�����	���������	�	��	�����	��������	�������&� /�������	������
��
��������
���
����	�	��	�����	������)$��
�����	�$���������	�!��
+������������	������
��
����	�	��	�����	�����
����
����������������������������
������������������������
������������������
��������	
��������������!������������	�
��
���$�
��	�
��������!��
��	����
�����
��	������������������!��������
��
�������!����������	�
��
��	��������
�	
��������!��
���$�
��	�
$�	
�������)�*+���	
������
�����
�����
����������������
��
��	��� �2345678�9:;�<74=5678=<�>3?@6>3A3852�68�A6B3C�@23�43853>2����&�� '��!����� -���!��!�������
������
��	����
����
�������������
��	������
������
��	����	�$�����
��	������	�������	
��
��	�	��	�����	��������	���
��
���������
������
��	������!���
��������	����	�
����������
����	�	��	�����	��������	���
��
������	�
���,�.��,�D��,�EF��,�G��	��FHI�J��
��
����-�����������
��	�������	
�	����
��!����
�����	�������	���	��	��
������
��	����!����
���	�����	�����
���
��!����	���!������	�����
����������	
��	����	������������� �������!��!��
������#�����
���!�������	�����
������
��	��	���
�$�
��%�
��	���"��	���������
����/�
�����
������
��	��������!!����	��!�����������&"� G�	��	�����	��%
��
�������&"�� K	�������	
���L�!���������/�
���
��	��M�G�	��	�����	���
��
������������!����

���
������	��������� 
�	��������	�
��
������!�����������
��������
���'����
�.��	
�	��,��������%!�����'����
�.��	
�	��/�
����
���	��	�����	��$�
��
���!�������	�����%�
��	�����!�����������$������
��
��	�������	�������	
��� 
�	���	�����	�
��
��	����!���������
���
��	��������	�����
��
������
��	���������
��	����
��������������	�����&""� '����

���/���
��	��M�#�������	�	��	�����	���
��
����������	��� !�	�����	����%�
��	���&"���
�������
��	����������������
��������$�	�����������	
�N�� ��&""��(��	
��	��L����/���
��	��M�/	������
��	��	����	
�����	�� ��
�	��������	�����������!���������
��
��
�����	
���O���������
��
����$�
��	�
������	
���
�����������
������������
�����	������	���� ��������	
���
������L��������
��	�������	�������	���
���	������
�	�������$�
�����	
�������������
��	����	���	���$�����
��������� 
�	���	����	�
��	�����	��
�������������� ��
�	��	�	�	�����
���



� ����������������	
��		�������������	���������
	����������
�������
��������
����������
������������	��������
	������
�������
����� ���!���	
��		����������������
�����
	������"��������
�������
��������
���������#���	
��		�������������	���������
	�$����	
�����
�������
��������
����������
������������	��������
	������
��
���
	�
����
���	���
�������
��������
� ���!���	
��		������������
�
��
�	
	���"��	����������������������%�	
��������
	������"��������
�������
��������
��������#� &
�'���
	�(
"�����	�������)�
����������	
���������
*����
��
"�����	������
������������
	��������
�"�������
���������������'������������
��������
�����
	������"��������
�������
��������
���������� +	��������������,
������!�*�,�������������
�����'�!��
�'	���
	���"��,
	��!���
��*
�����&
�'���-���������������!�������.
	���������	
����
��**������
��
�������������!��"�����'*
�������
����������
�! ��
���
���� �����������
����
�	
���� �������������
�,���'
�����*�
�
�,������

	��"������
�,
���
�*��*�
����������
�������



����������	
����� ���
	�������	�������	���������	������������� ! �"##����$������������� !��"##�"%����������� !&�'"(�"�������������� !)��#���"%�#�($������������� !*����+������,��"-�./"(+�,�"�+�%�$��"��������������� !0���������-�1�"(��.������������ ! �"##����$����� ��2��� 345�67898:�;7<=>�7?�@AA5<BC�C4<BB�D78C9CE�7?�F�G5GH5=CI�<BB�=5C9>58EC�7?�E45�37J8�7?�@G45=CEI�<AA798E5>�HK�E45�37J8�L7M8D9BI�<8>�C5=N98:�?7=�<�E5=G�7?�O�K5<=�<8>�<C�7E45=J9C5�C5E�?7=E4�98�L4<AE5=�P�@�7?�E45�Q585=<B�R<JCI�<C�<G58>5>2��345�67898:�;7<=>�7?�@AA5<BC�G<K�98DBM>5�MA�E7�P�<CC7D9<E5�G5GH5=CI�J47�C4<BB�H5�=5C9>58EC�7?�E45�37J8�7?�@G45=CEI�<AA798E5>�HK�E45�37J8�L7M8D9BI�<8>�C5=N98:�?7=�<�E5=G�7?���K5<=2�345�E5=G�7?�5<D4�G5GH5=�<8>�<CC7D9<E5�G5GH5=�C4<BB�D78DBM>5�<E�E45�B<E5=�7?�E45�5SA9=<E978�7?�CMD4�E5=G�7=�E45�TM<B9?9D<E978�7?�<�CMDD5CC7=2��U<9>�;7<=>�C4<BB�4<N5�<BB�7?�E45�A7J5=C�<8>�>ME95C�7?�;7<=>C�7?�@AA5<BC�M8>5=�C<9>�L4<AE5=I�<8>I�98�<>>9E978I�<BB�E45�A7J5=C�<8>�>ME95C�45=598�A=5CD=9H5>2��L7A95C�7?�=MB5C�A=7GMB:<E5>�HK�E45�;7<=>�7?�@AA5<BC�G<K�H5�7HE<985>�?=7G�E45�37J8�LB5=VWC�X??9D52����2�Y� 345�ZB<8898:�;7<=>�C4<BB�D78C9CE�7?�[�=5:MB<=�G5GH5=C2��\5GH5=C�C4<BB�H5�<AA798E5>�HK�E45�37J8�L7M8D9B�<8>�C4<BB�H5�<AA798E5>�?7=�<�E5=G�7?�O�K5<=CI�5SD5AE�?7=�<AA798EG58EC�E7�?9BB�<8�M85SA9=5>�E5=G2�]8�<>>9E978I�Y�<CC7D9<E5�G5GH5=C�G<K�H5�<AA798E5>�HK�E45�37J8�L7M8D9B�<8>�C4<BB�H5�<AA798E5>�?7=�<�E5=G�7?���K5<=I�5SD5AE�?7=�<AA798EG58EC�E7�?9BB�<8�M85SA9=5>�E5=G2�� @CC7D9<E5�G5GH5=C�G<K�C9E�78�E45�;7<=>�78BK�?7=�E45�AM=A7C5C�7?�45<=98:�<8>�N7E98:�MA78�>5D9C978C�78�UA5D9<B�Z5=G9E�<AAB9D<E978C�<8>�78BK�98�E45�D<C5�7?�<HC58D5I�98<H9B9EK�E7�<DEI�7=�D78?B9DE�7?�98E5=5CE�78�E45�A<=E�7?�<�=5:MB<=�;7<=>�G5GH5=I�7=�98�E45�5N58E�7?�<�N<D<8DK�78�E45�;7<=>2��345�ZB<8898:�;7<=>�L4<9=�C4<BB�>5C9:8<E5�E45�<CC7D9<E5�G5GH5=�E7�C9E�78�E45�;7<=>�J458�85D5CC<=K�<8>�98�<DD7=><8D5�J9E4�<H7N5�D9=DMGCE<8D5C2����������� !��"##�"%���@AA5<BC�E7�E45�;7<=>�7?�@AA5<BC�G<K�H5�E<V58�HK�<8K�A5=C78C�<::=95N5>�HK�=5<C78�7?�E459=�98<H9B9EK�E7�7HE<98�<�A5=G9E�7=�58?7=D5G58E�<DE978�?=7G�<8K�<>G989CE=<E978�7??9D5�M8>5=�E45�A=7N9C978C�7?�C<9>�L4<AE5=�P�@I�7=�HK�E45�=5:978<B�AB<8898:�<:58DKI�7=�HK�<8K�A5=C78I�98DBM>98:�<8�7??9D5=�7=�H7<=>�7?�E45�37J8�7=�7?�<8�<HMEE98:�37J8�<::=95N5>�HK�<8�7=>5=�7=�>5D9C978�7?�E45�;M9B>98:�L7GG9CC9785=I�R7D<B�]8CA5DE7=I�7=�7E45=�<>G989CE=<E9N5�7??9D9<BI�98�N97B<E978�7?�<8K�A=7N9C978�7?�C<9>�L4<AE5=�7=�E45�67898:�;KB<J�7?�E45�37J8�7?�@G45=CE2��@8K�CMD4�<AA5<B�C4<BB�H5�E<V58�HK�E45�;7<=>�J9E498�E49=EK�̂O�_�><KC�?=7G�E45�><E5�7?�E45�7=>5=�7=�>5D9C978�J49D4�9C�H598:�<AA5<B5>I�HK�?9B98:�<�87E9D5�7?�<AA5<B�J9E4�E45�37J8�LB5=V�98�<DD7=><8D5�J9E4�E45�A=7N9C978C�7?�L4<AE5=�P�@2����������� !&�'"(�"������Z5E9E978C�7?�N<=9<8D5C�?=7G�E45�E5=GC�7?�E45�<AAB9D<HB5�̀7898:�A=7N9C978C�C4<BB�H5�>5<BE�J9E4�HK�E45�;7<=>�7?�@AA5<BC�98�<DD7=><8D5�J9E4�L4<AE5=�P�@�7?�E45�Q585=<B�R<JCI�<C�<G58>5>2��345�;7<=>�C4<BB�:=<8E�87�N<=9<8D5C�J49D4�J7MB>�<G7M8E�E7�<8�<G58>G58E�7?�E49C�;KB<J2����������� !)����#���"%�#�($�������2O�� ZM=A7C5�� UA5D9<B�Z5=G9EC�<=5�98E58>5>�E7�A=7N9>5�>5E<9B5>�=5N95J�7?�D5=E<98�aC5C�<8>�UE=MDEM=5C�J49D4�G<K�4<N5�CMHCE<8E9<B�9GA<DE�MA78�E=<??9DI�ME9B9EK�CKCE5GCI�<8>�E45�D4<=<DE5=�7?�E45�37J8I�<G78:�7E45=�E498:C2��345�UA5D9<B�Z5=G9E�=5N95J�A=7D5CC�9C�98E58>5>�E7�98CM=5�<�4<=G7897MC�=5B<E978C49A�H5EJ558�A=7A7C5>�>5N5B7AG58E�<8>�9EC�CM==7M8>98:CI�<8>�98CM=5�E4<E�A=7A7C<BC�<=5�D78C9CE58E�J9E4�E45�AM=A7C5�<8>�98E58E�7?�E49C�;KB<J2�



������������� �	
�����
������������������������	
�������
�����������������������
�����������������
�����
������ ������!�
�"��
�����	
���
��������� ������!�
�!�������#	���������
	�
������������
������	������	�����	�������$���� �
���������������������!���
������
����� ��������%���� ���	 
������
����������������������������������&�������� ���� �	�������	��� ���������������������	���������� ������� ������!�
�������
�����������
����'�� ���������� ����(��
� 
�)�#	��!��
���
���
������� 
������*&��������� ����+�*���������%��
��
���������
���
������� 
�������+�������������
�������� ������#	��!��
�������
����������
�����������������*�,�
��������
�����������������#	����� ���������
�������&� ���
	 
�������������
���	�����������
	 
	���������������� ������� ������!�
����������� 
��
�
���
�!���������
�������
���������&��������� �����	���������!�
�������������	��+��	�-� 
�����%�&�
�������.���
����
�!�����	 ����� ������!�
���
��/���
��0��&��� 
����1&����
���"������2��������
��
����#	��!��
�
��
� ���
	 
����������
�����	�������	������������ ������!�
������� ����!�
�������	���#	��
��!���!��
����
���������	������
���	����� ���
	 
������� �!!�� �����
�����������������
�!���
������.�!��
�����
�����	�� �����
�����!�
&�������� �������%��%���� ���
	 
���&�	�������	 �� ���
	 
������� ��
��	���
��	���
�� �!���
������� ��
��	�	���������.����
��	����������������������������� ������!�
�"��
�����	
���
��!����#	��������	 ����� ������!�
�
�� ����!���
����!���������#	��!��
�����
�������������
�����!�����&�!����������
�����������������3���������
�� ������������� ������!�
�����#	�������
���������&�����
	 
	������������� 
������.
��������������&���
���&���	�������� 
�%�
������	���&����������������	�-� 
�
���	 ������!�
�������	���&�����������������������4���&��������&���%��� 	�����%� �&��� �	�������%��������%�����  ����
���
�&������
��������&�	������ ������&��. ��
���� ����!�
����
���������!�
���������� ������!�
�����
������
������ ������!�
�"��
�����	
���
���������� �	����������%�����
��������������
���������!��
����������	
���
��������*� ����� �
������������%����� ��	��������*����������&���!&� ��
��
�&������
�������������������� ��� �
������#	���������
������������ �
������������ ������!�
���� ��
���������
���)	��������)��	��
��������
������ ������!�
�"��
�����	
���
�&��� ���������� ����������������
��������/��45��6��� ��������*�������� ��	�����
����	�!���������������%��������� ������!�
�������� ��������
���)	��������)��	��
��������
������ ������!�
�"��
�����	
���
�&��� ���������� ����������������
��������/��45��6��� ��������**����������������� 	!��
���#	�������
������������������� �����������
�������
������������� �
����������� �
���������������	�-� 
�
���	 ��)	��������)��	��
��������
����
��� ���&���!�������&�������&���!&�����&������
���������
�������!�
�������!�����!�
�!��
��
�!�������!	���
������
������ ������!�
�"��
�����	
���
����������� ������!�
�"��
�����	
���
��!����#	�������
����������!�
�����������
���%������������ �
�������#	�
��������!�4������ ����������
�������������������7��
�)������
����(�%����!��
����������������������  ���� ����
��
������ ��� �
������������!������	���%��������������
���
�����
���)	��������)��	��
�����"�%������
����	���%���������2���&����!�������!��������!�
�!��
��
�!��������*��7����� ���
������������ �
������������ ������!�
&�
������ ������!�
�"��
�����	
���
��������
���!�
� ���������
�������� �
��������������
���������
��������������������� �������� ��!����� �	��'��
����	�������/�!!�������&����������(�� 
�&������8������&�9���/����&�/����%�
����(�� 
�&���������:���
�&�:��
�� ���/�!!������&��	��� �������
�
����/�!!�

��&�2���	����%� ���/�!!������&������
��������� ���������������������������� �������������%��
��
����%��;�<=������
�����
�
��
������ ������!�
�"��
�����	
���
��
������������������ �!!����
�������9���	��
�����
����
�������

���
�!�������� ���
�
	
������%������
��
������������ �������
�������� �
�����	�!�

�����



�������������� 	
�������
�������������
������������������������������������� ��!��
���"�#�������$�������!��
���"��
��
��"���������
����������#�����
$���
������������������!�
�������������������
��
�����
��������##����
���
�� � ���
����������#�%���
$������
��$���������#!�������
���#��
�#�#���������������!��
#�#������������
����#�&"������������!'���������� ���#�'���������������(� ����#����)������������������������$
�$�� ������
�#��!���
��
�'!����� #���#��
��'����������������'"�#!'#���������
�#��!���
���#�����������#������
����##��
�!�!���
����#�
�������
����"�����
!�����!'���������� ���������
$���'"��������������������������� ��!��
���"�������*� +
�!�����+�#���'!��
���)������������������������������� ��!��
���"� ����#�������������������
���,�-��
�"������
���������#�
����
�����
�#����������
$�������#�#�����'����������������������� �&
�����&!����� �.
���##�
��������������
���.���/%�
���,�-��
�"�#�����'�����!������
��������������������
���,�-��
�"�
�#�����
�!�����#�����'��/����
�������������+����������
�0�#�����
�����$���#�
��������� �+����������������#���
��
�!����#�
����������������
���.���/�#�����'�����������
�#������
��������������������������� ��!��
���"���������������
��'"��������������������������� ��!��
���"�������
���#�
���������#�
������������������#���$��'���������������
���������������#�#����
��������1� ����������!���������������������#�����
��"�'���##!���
��
��� ����!'���������� �������������1*���"#�������������������������������� ��!��
���"������$�#�������������
���
�������
���.���/����������������������������� ��!��
���"�#����������������2����"#�
��
��� ����!'���������� ���3���!����
���/�����������
��!�
��������������
��
��������������������������#����2����"#�
��
��� ����������
����!'���������� �#�����'����������
�'���� �����
��������������������
��������4� 56������
��� ����������������� �������!��������#���������#��������#�����������
�"���#�
�������������������#����������������
���.���/�'"��������������������������� ��!��
���"�!���##������#�'����'
������
�������������� �#��"�
�+���#�����#!'#���������
�#��!���
��
��!#�������!�������#��
������������������#�����
�������7� ��������3����� #���8!������ �������������������������� ��!��
���"���"� �����������������������!��
��9���'"����#�&"������#�����!��
���"����#��������������'��������:�� ����7��������
�
#����#�#!���'�"��
���������������� �'
��

���������������#���
�
#������;
�������
�����
�����#������������
�������'"��������������������������� ��!��
���"�������7��������
�
#����#��
�����'���������6�#��� �<#�#�����
�����<#�#�����������'"��� ����������#����+�#������������7��������
�
#����
!����
���
�#���!������!�#������!���
����������������
��!��
����

����
�#���
�
����!#���$�'����
����� ��#��
��$�#!���"�
��#�$��#��!��!��#�
��#�������!��#�������7��������
�
#����
!����
��'����#!'#�����������
�$��������
����9�����
��'!����#��$������#�
������#�����#�������7(����8!������������
���������������#��
!���'����
$�����
��������
����
������
��
�������
�
#���!#��������7*�������
�
#������#
��'�"���
����#�������=
���� ������#�#�� ���#��������������
��
��#�$��!#�#�
��



���������	�
��	��������������������	���������������������
	����������
������������������
������
���������	
��	�
�������	
����
��	��	����	
������������	������
���	
��	
����������
�������� ��	��������	�!��"������#����	�������
�$%�����	
�&��������	
�	����	��'�������
�(������������&���	������
���������	
����	�	�����
��	��	������������	�	
����� ��	 	����������	�
��	��������	�����������)��	��
��		�
������	�������� ����	 	�
���*����	�#�	�����!	� ���+������%����������		 
���	������
�����"	���������	���
��������������	�
	�� �������������������	�
�����
������	��	� ���	������	,���	������������ ������	�����������	������
���
������� ���������#	��������-.�&�������
�(����������������	������
���	
��	
���	,���	�
���	�������	�����
��		������������������������	����	
������
���������
�� ��	����
����	,��� 	������	���������	��� �����	�����������	�	
�����
� 	������
	��������/���	������
���������	
���	,���	� 	����
������
��
�����0���
�����	�����
	���	���	��
	���	�������	
��������	����
�	
��	
��������� ���	��
	
��	� ���	������	� �

���	�����	�
��	����� 	����
����������	�����
�����	����	��������/����	������
���	
��	
�����	�������� ���������1���
��
�
���	����#	�������--�����
��	����
����������
��
2�	�	����������������
3�������	3���	,��������
	���	���
��
��3�	��
������
	�� 	������������3�	,��� 	���������3��	��
	���
��
��3�
�����	����������� ��	����
3�	4�	����������3�	��	�������������������
�������	��	������ 	�
����������������������3�
�����	������	 ����
�������	����1�����
�
��
���	
�������/����	������
�������	��
�������	�	4�	���	�
���	����,�	����� �����������������
���������
�	����	����	
�������/-���	������
���������	
���	,���	����
�����������������	�
��		��������)��	���	
��	������
	
�������
������
��		����		
�����
���	��
���
�����	����"���������������
���	�����	���������	�
��		��������	���5�	������	
��	������
	���)��
����	
��	�������
������������	�����	���	�	���	������	��
�����������	�	4�	���	�
���	���	�	
�����
�	����� �����	���	��		��������
��

�����	��������
	
���	�����
�
	����������	�	��	
���	
��	���������	�����������	
���5�	�	������������
����	���	�	���������	����	4�
�
���
��	����������
��	���	�������������	��������	� �)���������������	�	������ ����	��	���	����������	���
�����������	�����	���������������	������������
����	��������
��
	�	����	��	 ����
��������	�� ���	 	�����
��	�������
��
���	��	�	� �	������	�	�	

������� ����������	��	����	��	����������
����
��		���#		�#	����������������/����	������
���������	
�����	����������)��	������	���	
���� �� �1�����	�����
��������������������������"����������	4�	�����������������������
	�������������� ����	
��������
��	��
�����	�	���	�����������������	
��
��		�������
� �����
������
���64�	�������������	������������	���������
��
������	4�	�����
��	���������
������	������
�����
������	����	��	�����
��	��	�����	�� ���	���������	
��

��������
��		�����������������	����������	�� ���	����	�������	��	��	������	��	��	�����	����789:;<:�;<�=<>�:?988?�;9�=@A??B<C�79;789?>�=<D�:AEEBFB8<?�?;�98DAF8�=�GB8H89I:�=@BJB?>�?;�:88K��LJJ�:B?8������������������������	��������
����������"����������������
������	�"	���	4�����
�	�����
��	�������
	���
�	

�����
�	
�����
�	����	����������	��
��	� ���	 	�������	4�	����������������	�	� �	������	�	�	

��������
��	�
	������������	�
��	������	 ����		
������
����
�������/.���	������
��������
�������	�	4�	���	�
���	��� �������
�		��
���	
�����������
��
�	�����	�
������	�����	
������	����
�������/M���	������
�����	
������	��	���
��� ���������	
�	��������	��	�������������	��
	��
���	����������	����	����	4�
�����������
�����	������������������	���������������
�����	�����
������	�	�����5�������	�(�N��(�OP��(�Q��PRS��R!��N*����!T!�U�
�����
���������	
��	�����1������
��������	�	���	����)	�����,�	
���������
���������	��������	
������Q�������V�
������T	��
�	��U�
���������	�#�	�����!	� ���+������%���������
�������������		 
���	������
�����"	���������	���
���������� ���������
�
��������
���	��	� ���	������
	���	��	
����������	
����
������
�
	����������#	����
���-�.�������-�.����'���������/'����	������	���	��	
��������	������
	��������	����	�������
���	����	�����
���5�������	�(�+������������(�N���
�����
������������



���������	
��������	����
��
������������������������
�����������
������������
� ����	�����!!���"��
��
��������������#$������������!���������������
�
���������������������!����
�����%����&"�����������������'&��"�
���&��!����(&�!��
����
����"�!�������&����������#)������������!�������������'&�������������
�!�����!����������
��������
���"�
�����������������������&���������#*������������!�����
����"�
��	����������
���!��&�������
���
��
����������+�!�	���
���������!���������,������-!�
���./01234�5678�034921234.:�.;</=>;?9.:�;49�@2A21;1234.�������� B
����
��
����C����
��������+��������D����!�E�����
����
��
����������!�-��"��������������!�-��"���F��
��
��D&����������
��������
���	����������
��#��
��������G���������D��"����"�������
�����
��������&�������
��!�"������
��	��������!!�(���
�	����
���
�����!!�(�������������
��C����
������������!�-��"������
�������&�����
�����
��������&�������
��!�"������
��"����
�!&�����"�
��������"��������
���&(����H������������(��%��������
�� ����I����������������
�����"�
�"&"���'&�����(�������+�!�	E��������������
�
��������%�
���������������������������������"��������"�����
�
�����"�����������"�������������(������������	�!!�����
������!�
��
��������������&����������E���������J�"������
������K���
&"(���������&��
����"�����������"�������������
�����L��
���������!�����E���������,����������
���������L������������
�����������
������(&�!��
�������&��&��������
������!�
�������"������!���������� B
����
��
����C����
��������+��������D����!�E������
����
��
����������!�-��"��������������!�-��"���F��
��
��D&���������"�����'&������(�
��������������&���������
�&�����"�!��
���	����������
�����
���
����������������-!�
���./01234�567M�43120/�3<�N/;?24=������������!�-��"���F��
��
��D&���������������������!�-��"������!������
���������+��������D����!���������C����
������D����!�����!!���L��������
�(!����"���������&(!��������
��������
������������
����
���&(!������
��������������!!�(���
��������
���	����������������
�����������
�����G���������D��������F�
���!�J�	����B
��������
��������
��������'&���"�
������,�F�J��G���������D��������!!�	�
����'&���"�
������!!��!������!�H��B
��
���
���
���	�������������!�-��"�����������-!�
� ����	����!������
������!���	����������	
��
��������������
�
������!��������
��������������	�������������&(��������������"�����'&������������!���
�����!!���������
����������������"�����'&���������������
�
������!��������������&
����(��������(&��
����
���������������'&�����	����������������"���
��!������
���������&(!��������
��������������
�
������!�����������(�������
��
�������
��
�����"������""�
��������&������	�!!�!�%�!�����&!���
����&�!�
�����������
�
������!����������������!���
�����!!��&("������	��
��
��
�����K���!�������������-��"���F��
��
��D&�������������
��������������'&���"�
������(��
�"����
��(��	����"��
����B�������
����������
���'&���"�
��������(��
�"���������������������
��������-��"���F��
��
��D&���������������&"���
���	������
�����&�!���
�
������!����������!������������
����������
����!!�
�������������
��!�����������&(!��������
���



� ����������	
���� ���	�	�����	������������
������������������������ �������������������!��"����������������#������$%���&�'��(������������)��������������*���������&���+�%�� ���$��,��� ���$&�'������������������-���*�&������������������������� ������ ��.��� /012�345678�69:�655�;0<�=6>2�19?@A>@A6;<:�19�1;8�=64�B<�6=<9:<:�62�>A@C1:<:�19�D06>;<A�E�F�@G�;0<�H<9<A65�I672.����.��� FG;<A�6�>JB51?�0<6A19K�19�6??@A:69?<�71;0�FA;1?5<�LLL�M�NJB51?�O<6A19K8�@G�;0<�N569919K�3@6A:�PJ5<2�69:�P<KJ56;1@928�;0<�N569919K�3@6A:�=64�A<QJ<2;�69:�;0<�/@79�D5<AR�=64�=6R<�9@92JB2;69;1C<�?@AA<?;1@92�19?5J:19K�;0<�G@55@719KS�A<@A:<A19K8�A<9J=B<A19K8�69:�?@AA<?;19K�?A@22�A<G<A<9?<�9J=B<A19K�70<A<�9<<:<:�;0A@JK0@J;�;012�34567.����������������!��"������/0<�3J15:19K�D@==1221@9<A�20655�<9G@A?<�;0<�>A@C121@92�@G�;012�34567�62�0<A<196G;<A�>A@C1:<:.��T@�BJ15:19K�20655�B<�?@92;AJ?;<:8�65;<A<:8�=@C<:8�@A�?069K<:�19�J2<�19�;0<�/@79�71;0@J;�6�><A=1;�GA@=�;0<�D@==1221@9<A.��UJ?0�><A=1;�20655�B<�71;00<5:�J95<22�2J?0�?@92;AJ?;1@98�65;<A6;1@9�@A�>A@>@2<:�J2<�12�19�?@9G@A=1;4�71;0�655�>A@C121@92�@G�;012�34567.��V0<A<�6�U><?165�N<A=1;�@A�U1;<�N569�P<C1<7�6>>A@C65�12�A<QJ1A<:�W>JA2J69;�;@�;0<�>A@C121@92�@G�;012�34567X8�@A�70<A<�69�6>><65�@A�><;1;1@9�19C@5C19K�6�C6A169?<�12�><9:19K8�;0<�3J15:19K�D@==1221@9<A�20655�122J<�9@�2J?0�><A=1;�<Y?<>;�19�6??@A:69?<�71;0��;0<�7A1;;<9�:<?121@9�@G�;0<�6>>A@>A16;<�3@6A:.�������������#������$%���&�'��(�� ��.Z�� N[PN\U]�� /0<�>JA>@2<�@G�;012�2<?;1@9�12�;@�>A@;<?;�;0<�0<65;08�26G<;48�?@9C<91<9?<�69:�K<9<A65�7<5G6A<�@G�;0<�1906B1;69;2�@G�;0<�/@79�B4�>A@C1:19K�G@A�6�A<C1<7�@G�>5692�G@A�J2<2�69:�2;AJ?;JA<2�701?0�=64�06C<�21K91G1?69;�1=>6?;28�B@;0�71;019�;0<�21;<�69:�19�A<56;1@9�;@�6:̂6?<9;�>A@><A;1<2�69:�2;A<<;28�@9�><:<2;A169�69:�C<01?J56A�;A6GG1?_�>JB51?�2<AC1?<2�69:�19GA62;AJ?;JA<_�<9C1A@9=<9;658�J91QJ<�69:�012;@A1?�A<2@JA?<2_�6BJ;;19K�>A@><A;1<2_�69:�?@==J91;4�9<<:2.����.Z�� FNNILDF3LIL/̀ ���� ��.Z���L9�655�192;69?<2�70<A<�U1;<�N569�P<C1<7�12�A<QJ1A<:8�9@�7@AR�20655�?@==<9?<�;@�65;<A�6�21;<8�9@�?069K<�@G�J2<�20655�@??JA8�69:�9@�BJ15:19K�><A=1;�20655�B<�122J<:�;@�?@92;AJ?;8�65;<A�@A�A<5@?6;<�;0<�<Y;<A1@A�@G�6�BJ15:19K�J9;15�U1;<�N569�P<C1<7�062�B<<9�KA69;<:�B4�;0<�N569919K�3@6A:.�[2<2�G@A�701?0�U1;<�N569�P<C1<7�12�A<QJ1A<:�6A<�19�6??@A:69?<�71;0�U<?;1@9�a.a8�/6B5<�@G�[2<2.���� ��.Z���T@�D069K<�;@�3J15:19K�@A�U1;<S�U1;<�N569�P<C1<7�20655�9@;�B<�A<QJ1A<:�70<9�9@�>0421?65�?069K<�7155�@??JA�;@�;0<�<Y;<A1@A�@G�<1;0<A�6�BJ15:19K�@A�21;<.���� ��.Z�Z�D069K<�@G�[2<S�L9�?62<2�70<A<�6�?069K<�@G�J2<�12�>A@>@2<:�69:�9@�>0421?65�?069K<2�;@�;0<�<Y;<A1@A�@G�6�BJ15:19K�@A�21;<�7155�@??JA8�U1;<�N569�P<C1<7�=64�B<�761C<:�1G�;0<�3J15:19K�D@==1221@9<A�:<;<A=19<2�;06;�;0<�?069K<�7155�9@;�?@9G51?;�71;0�;0<�>JA>@2<�@G�;012�34567�69:�G19:2�;06;�;0<�>A@>@2<:�J2<�7155�9@;�A<2J5;�19�;0<�9<<:�G@A�GJA;0<A�A<C1<7�J9:<A�U<?;1@9���.ZEa.�����.Z�a�U1K96K<S�U1;<�N569�P<C1<7�20655�9@;�B<�A<QJ1A<:�70<9�;0<�@954�?069K<�;@�;0<�<Y;<A1@A�@G�6�BJ15:19K�@A�21;<�19?5J:<2�;0<�192;6556;1@9�@G�21K92�19�?@=>5169?<�71;0�FA;1?5<�b�@G�;012�34567.���



� ������� �������	
������������	�����������������	����������������
��������������������� !������
���"�������������#����!���$��%��&�������'��
�%��!���������(���)����%��������������������������
�
��!�������%���'��������������������
������������ !���������
������������!����������������#��������������!����#��%������������ !���������
�����������
������������������������������!��*���
��������������!����!���!������+����
�*#��!��*���
���'�
��������
�����������������������''����*����#����������� !���������
�����������
�������'!�����!��!���!�������������������#�*���
�����������,� !�����������
�����������������#���*��������'!����������'������������������� !�������'���
������������!����!�����������
��������'�������!��������������������������%�������������������-����������������&���������
��#���'�����������.��
��.�
���.���*�����.�����
.����!����������.���������������'�����������������!���������
��������������������-�/�!���)����%�� !������
���"�������������#����&����
�'���������%����!���*����'���������������!��� �%��������
���#���+����������'���������!��0�����)����%�����
��
1���2������'���"��������������������"!��������	������
������(�����
�����
�����	#������������������������������������#��������
�������������*���
��������!����*����*�����
�����!������
���"��������������
������������!��'!�������������'���� !������
���"������������!�������!������������!������������������������
������!�������'��������&����*�����������!��(���������
��������������%��
��������(���)����%���������� �3��4��4/5�()/"�03)����������	������'���������������������%��!���������%��!��!��(�����0����������������'���������.����.��!����+����
���*������'�������!����������.��
��#��

����������������������#�*����+����
.���678�9:;<<=<>�?@;ABCD�EF:8D�;<B�E8>F:;6=@<D���	�'��#�����!�������'������!����*������
�%��!��!�� �%�"���&���������� !�������%��������������!����*������
�����!���������������'�����������������.�%!�'!��!�����'��
����
�'���.�������#��
�
����������������.�*���
������������.��
���������'����
#��
�������	������'������!�������*��'���
���
�'�������������������+����
������������
������������*�����
���������� !��(���������
���#�%�������������#�����!����+������������������������*������������%��
�����������������,� !�����'��������
�'����������!�������'����.�����.�������
������������!����*�������+����
�*#��!��)������
�)��������������!��(���������
��� !������
��!�����
���.��
���#������
�'���#����
.�����������*��'�!�����.���'!�)������
�)����������������������!�����'�
������
��
���������������!�����'�����
���'!�)������
�)�����������!����*�������������!��(�����0����������
� �%�"���&G������'��������,� )�H4�I�()/"�03)�������,�� !��(���������
��!������������'����������!�������'������
������������������������� �%�����
�.��
�
����������%!�'!���#��'��
����!�� �%�������.�J����"!���.�"����������0��������.�����
���"����������.�����
����2����!.�2������'���"��������.�(�*��'� ������������"��������.�K������������'���"��������.��
���!��������'�����#��� !��������
��



� ������� �����	
���	�������������	�����������	���������������	
���������	������������������	�����������������	��	��������������� �	�����	
���������	�������	����	�������������� �	��

������!����������������"	
���	��������	��

���������� !���	���� ���#���$����	%����� ����������	����
����	��������	�	��%�����
 !�����	������������!	����	�������������	�&������	�
���	� �	���	' ��	������(
	������	����%������ ������)��
�	��*�+���,����������������	������	��	' ��		�������-�.�/��)��
�	��*�+%���	������&�����	' ��		����������������

��0�� ,�������������	�&�	�	���(
	������	�������(��	������1	��	&��

���������������	��&������	�2�&��������	�	���	��	����������	��		�������	�
��
	����&����������	�� !3	��������	�
	�����	' 	��%���	��

��������������
�����	������	������	�
	�����	' 	��������	��	����������	��		�������	� �����!��������! ������������	������	��	' 	��%�&������	����	%���	�������������������	�
 !�����	�����%��������	��	����������	��		�%����!��
������������	������	������	��������	���� ������&������4	����	� ��������� ��������	�����	����������	��		����2�	��

�������������� !�����������5	���	��	�������	�
	�������������� ���������������������������	' ��		�������!		��	������!��&����	������,���������������������	' ��		�������	�!		��	�������	�������������������	�
	�������������� �������%������� �����	�&�	�	�������� ����	����������	��		�����������	�	��	�������������������������	��	�������������	���	�
 !�����	�����������#�#�2�	���������������%���������	������	��� !�����		%����������	� �	�����	&���������	�
��
	����������	�
 �
��	�����4������������	���	������%� ��	��%�
 �� �������(	���������###%���	�������3 ��	����	������	����!	���������������������	�������	' ��	��������������#*� 167,68�)1,261,+9"6(,.$�.:,"6/,$6(��2�	������&��������	��������� ��	���	��������!	� �	��!����	����������	��� ��������	����	�
������������������������ !���	�����
���������	��

��������������#*��.6$61+/�� ���#*���)��������	�&���������

��
����	�
���������������	�;����������&�������	������������	�-���	������������#*�������	���������2�&���	����	�������! ������
��
	���	������ �������5�����	���	�����������	����	��������������#*�#�����	����������! ������
��
	���	�������	���	��������	��������	���������	� ������������	�
��
��	�� �	%����� �����! ����������	�������������&��	��
��� ����%������%�����	%�����%�� �����!������%�������������� ��������	����	���� �� �	��������	��	�� �	�������#*������������������	' ��	��	��	����������������	�%��
	���
��	������	����	�������#*��6$7,1<$-6$2+/�� ���#*�������	��������� ��' 	�����
���������� ���%���������������	�����	�� �	�������#*���+�	' �������
��
��	��	����������	� �	����
���������#*�#�+!���������
��
��	���	&��	����
���������&��	��� 

�������	��&������������3��	��������	����	�����	��	���	�
��
��	�� �	������#*���+�	' ���������	�
��
��	���������	�����	�&������������3��	��������	����	���������	���	�����	��	��� ������	� ������������	��	�	��
	��������#*�*����������������	' ��	��������
���%����� �������	����		����������3��	����	���	������ �	�%�
���������������		����		�%��������
	��������������	�
��4���������������������
	�! ��	����������	����		���������	���8�	���������	���	������ �	���3��������	���	��������������%���� ����	�� 
�	���	�	���	��! ��	�������%������	�	=�	����	���!�	%�!	�	���!����	�������������	��!	�&		��! ����������������	��&���� �	�� ��	��������	������������	��	��	���



� ������� ���	
���	���������������
��������������������
	������
�������	������
����	��������	�����	�������	���������	����
�����	������������	����������������	������������	��
��
�	����
�
����������������������������	�������

	�	�������������������	�����������	�������������
��������������������	�������	���������
�����	��
��������������������	��	�	�����������	�����������
��	������������� ��� ���	������!������"#�$�%
�&�������������	������	��������
�������������������	�������������������������
��	����
���������������	��������"#�'�(������	������
�������������	�������	�	�	)	�������	�����	������	���
������������	��������
����	�����
����
�����
��	���	�����������������	����	����
�����������
��	����
������������������	���
��	����
�����	�����������	�����������	��	�����	����	����������	��������
������	��������
*
����	����
��������	�	��������	���������"#�+�(������	������
�������������	�������	�	�	)	�������	�����	�������	���	����	����
	�����,	��������
���	�
	��������	����	���	����������������������������������	��	�����	������	��
���������
���	��������	�����������������	�������	�	��������	������-�������������	���������
�	����	����	���	�������������	����	����	���	�����������
��������
���������
	�����
������	��
�
������	�	�����	����������������������������������	�������������
������	�	����
	����������������
�������������	�����������������������������������	���./0.1/23�456�7899:;:152�20�/168;1�4�<:1=1/>7�4?:@:23�20�711A��B@@�7:21�@:CD2:5CE�:5;@86:5C����	����������	�����
���,	��������	���	������������,�������	���	���
�����	
��������������	����������������	���
���
�����������
��	�����������������������������	���	���
�����	��
���������������������	��������	����
�������������������������
��	�	����������"#���(������	������������
��)�
��������
�	�� ���	���!�""������	
��	����������������F������	��������	�
	���G�
�	���G�
�&�������������
	�����G�����	����
���
	�����	����������G��&�	����������	��G��������
	�����G����������������������	�G�������������	��G������������	������
������������������������������������������
�����G���������������	�����
��������)�
�������������������"#�H�(������	�����������
�������	�
	���	������
�����	�����������	�	����������������
��(������	���%����I�������!��� ���	���#����
�����%������������
��J���������"#"�K- LMN�� ���"#"���	��	������J�O��J�PI��J�N��IQR��Q(��OL��
�(S(�K	���	������
�������	
���	��)��	���
	���	���������������������	��&����	�����������	��	����������
�	�������N�	����T	����	��S��	�����K	���	��������(���	��M���	���%�����	���������	��	��
������������������	,�������������	��	�	����	��������	����������
	������������	���
������������
��	�����	��	������
����
�
������������	�� ���	����!�"�#���
�!�"�#����U���������HU���������������
��	�����������������
����	���������
���
����������	������ �	��	������J�M��
�����	���J�O�
	���	������
��������V�������������	��	�����
	���	������������	�	������� ���	���!�"���K��	���S��	������������	��	��������������"#"��V���
��������������������������������	�������	�������������������,�����������������,	������
���	����
�����������
���	����	����������
	�����	�
	�����
�
����������������"#""�J�	�
	����	�����������	
�������������������	���������	��������������������������
��	��������	���	�������
����������
������
�������"#"!�L��������	�����������������	�
	�����������	����������	�
	��������������������	�������������������	�����	����������������	�������	����
���	�
	�����	����
���������������"#"#� �����	���������������	
�
�������������������
	���
��,���
�������������������&�	���������	�	�����	�
	�����
��	�	�������������



� ������� �����	�
�������������� �����	��
��������������������������� �!" #����$ "�����% �#�����%��������$��&� $�#���%'��"�����!�����"����( #�(����� ���)����������������������"����� ��� ���* ������)�&������!" !�"������������	��
���� %��� �������'(��"� $�%'"��%'�������������'%��� �(���(�+���'"�����( #�(����,�������+�"� '���-�����������"��%����������	��
���� %��� ������������� $�!�".�����!�%��,���%&%���"�%.�,��"�#��������,�� �������"������������)��.�����������!" #������������$������% �#�������(����"��������		��" #��� ��$ "��%%����� ���* ������!" !�"��������������!" #���������!!" !"������������	��/��"��! ������,��"�#�)�&��� %��������% ((�"%���������'�����������"�%������������� %����� !! �������%�� ���"��������	0�1 �����%%�����"�#�)�&�����)������* ������!" !�"����������������% '"������������	2����"�$$�%��(!�%��"�! "�����������"�3'�"��,�'������)��#���'���"�4�%�� �������������$ "(��� ��"�3'�"������!�"�� $������"�! "������������������$ "�����������'�����������'���� ��� $��������������5 �"���������	6�/�������"�$$�%��(!�%��"�! "�����"�3'�"��,�����!" ! ������#�� !(����������% (!�&�)��������$ �� )����������"��7�� ���8�#��� $�4�"#�%��98:4;�������"�&�����"��%�� ���������� ��������"�����( "������� �����#��������"��'��� $��"�$$�%�����"������&�����!" ! ������#�� !(���,�� "���������&����"�&�����"��%�� �����"������� )�����8�#��� $�<��������*�%������"������������ ���-%�����������%�!�%��&��������!��.�� '"������"��'��� $��"�$$�%�����"������&�����!" ! ������#�� !(������	��4�$��&���+�"���������� �����%"������ "�������� ������"��'��� $��"�$$�%�����"������&������!" ! ������#�� !(����������$���&� $�����������"������4�%�� �������	6�����	��"��#� �����,������!!��%����������!" #��������"����#��!" ! ������ �(��������������"��,���%�'������'��� ����(������ =�"��'%�� �����������+�� $�������#�� !(���,�%���������!" ! ����'���� ����������,�% ��"��'�� ���� � $$��������"������������"��%�� ���(!" #�(����� "�% ���"'%�� �� $� $$��������"������������"��%�� ���(!" #�(�����������0� �8�������5:��>�><��4�:�������0��
���% �%'""����# ��� $���(�* "��&� $�����(�(��"�� $�����5 �"��!�"��%�!����������# ��������������"�3'�"���$ "���&���%��� �� ���������!�����!!��%��� ��9�����������(�(��"��������% �����"���� ��� ����# ����;���
���5 �"�?��)"��������%��� ��������% ������ $������"7�� ����0����!!" #��� $����������!���������� ��������"(����� �����������!" ! ����!" *�%��(��������� $�����"�3'�"�(����� $�4�%�� �������������0���>������ $����������!���������� ��������"(����� ������������"7���;����'$$�%�������$ "(��� ��)����'�(������)���������!!��%��� ����� "��"�$ "�����5 �"��� ����3'����&�"�#��)�����!" ! ���,� "=���;�������"(����� �����������!" *�%��� ���� ��(��������"�3'�"�(����� $��4�%�� �������������0����!!" #��� $����������!�����'�*�%��� �% ����� ��,�( ��$�%��� �������"��� ������"���"�%�� �����%����"&�� ����'"��% (!����%��)��������"�3'�"�(����� $�4�%�� ���������4'%��% ����� ���(�&���%�'�������$ �� )���7��



� ������� ����������	
��	��	
�	����	
��
�������	����������	������������������������������
����	���������������������������	��������	�	��������	���
���
����	���
�������������	
������ ���������������������
����	���
���!����������	
����������������	���
������������������
"���������#��
����
"�$���
	����������	#������#������#���	�������
�#��
��������%����������� ����������
����	���
���!���
���
���	
��
�����"������	
�����
"��	
�������	
������������&������	
����	
������"
����	��
������	����
����������������������
��"�����
���	�������	
����������������'���(�

�
"�)	����������
������������	
������
�
�
����*+�,������	��������$��������
"��
��������������������
�������	
����������'	�
����%-��	�������
��	���������	����������������
����	���
��������������	����	
��	��./0�����������1����������2	����������	���	��������
"���������	���
���	������	�	�����	�%#��
����
"��
������
"��
��	������������	����
��#�����)	�����������������
��	�������		��
"3��������	���
���$	
�#����	����	���	
��#�$�
%�����$		%#�	��������	����������
��
���	�
���������
���$������)	�����	�$����������
���	��	���������	���	����	���
�������	������	����
������������������� �1
���������
�����	���"��
�����
��������������	
������4������
���	�*�,������������$���
�����	
�������	
�����
	��$�"�
�$���������������������5�	���	
��	����������	�����������
�	���
���	
����	
��	������	�������$����$6�����	�������	����	
��	�������	
�������	������7	
�
"�)������89:;<=>�??@A�BC<>;9>C>:9�=D�:=BB=>�CE9C8F�GC>H8:CI<>J�C>H�<BIE=K9B9>;8����� �� '����������
��	���
����������
���������)���#�	���
���������	�#�����$������	
��$���	�����
���
�
"����	��	
������#��
������
"��
��	���������	����
���	���������������������$�������)����	���
�����������������
����	���
��������������	����	
����'�	��������#�����	����
��#�	�������������	���������
�	�����	����������	
��	�������$�������$��
����������$����������	���������$�������	����������4�����������������	����
��������
����#�$�������
	����������	#����������	�����
�����%�
"������#��������
���������
��#����������
�����������������	
�����������#��
����"�����	
��
��������������	�������
�
"��
���
������
"������������	����
�������$����	��������
���
����	�������������
�$��������
�������

����
��
������5�"�����	
��
���������
��������	
�����	�����������
������$����������������������	�����������	��������� �� '�����
�������
��
"���!���	���
�������������������$�����L�M���������	���������
����"�	
��	������$����'���1�������0�
������
"�/�����
�����	���$��������	��������
����
��������������	
�	���
���������
����89:;<=>�??@N�9>D=E:9B9>;�������� O������)����
"��	������	
�������$���
�	�����	�����������	
��	�$������������
����	����	
�	�������)����	���
���������	��������	
�������
��������$��
#����$��
"#�	������$	����	�$����	����#������	������	
���������%���
��
�����"���	
�	�����������#��
����
"������
������	
�	���������������������������	���	
�������4������P�����������
��	����
�����������	������	������	
��#������	������	
���������%������	
���	
�������	����
�������
���������	���������������	���
���������	������������	
��
������
"��	������	����
�
���������� O�������	������	
�����
���
	���	���	
�	����	�����������	���	
#��
������	
��""�������$�������������	
#�	���
��	�������	��)	����	������'	�
#����������
� ��������������	�����)	����	��1�������������� O�������	������	
�����
�������	���	
�	����	�����������	���	
#������	������	
�������"��������������
	������
������
"��	�����	�
����
���	�����	�����
��	����������������
������	�������������	
*�,��
�������	
��	�	����������������	��������
����������
��������
���	���������	���	
���1
������	
��""�������$�������������	
�	�#��
��	�������	��)	����	������'	�
#����������
� ��������������	�����)	����	��1��������



� ������� ������ ���	�
����������������������	
�������
�����	������	���	��
��
�����	����������	����
	������
��������	���	�������� 	�	!����	�����������
�������"�
����������!�#�""����������
���
��"	���	�����	
����
��
���$��������#���
�����	����%���
���������������
�	����!�
�������	
����	����	���
	��������
����	�
����	�������	���
����������
���������������
������	���������� ���	�
���	�
����&��
����������!�#�""��������	���	����
	����
��
�����	����������	���	���	�
���	���&������	���!��
�����	����������	�������
�	
�
������	�&����	�����	
�������������
��������	
�����
���#�""��������	�������	��������
����	��	������
�	�������	������"���������	
��������������������	�&����������������������������
�������
������
�������� 	�	!����	�����������
�������"�
����������!�#�""�����������
���
��"	���	�����	
����
��
���$��������#���
�����	����%���
���������������
�	����!�
�������	
����	����	���
	��������
����	�
����	�"	��&������	���
����������
������	��������'� ��������	
�������
���������������
������	���
��������
�������	����"�
�!�	�
���������
������	������	��������������������&��
���(����!���	����������	�����)�	����!���	���������
������	����	���&����	&���
��	�����������
�"����
�	������������������	��*+������,������	�������	
������-	����	����������	
�������
������	���&�����"���	���	�	
����������� ���	���
����
��
������������������������"��
�	������&���	&�����
���������������
������	���
��������
�������	����"�
�!�	�
���������
������	������	��������������������&��
���(����!���	����������	�����)�	����!���	���������
������	���"	��&������������&��
����������!�#�""��������&���������"��	����"��	��
�����	�
�
��
���������������.����	��/	���#�	�
�������$��
����0�1����������������	�������	
��������������
����!��
��������������	���&������������������	��*+������,������	������������-	����	����������	
�������
������	���&�����"���	���	�	
���������������2� #��
���
�����������	
����������	�&������!����"�
��������	�����"�
��	���������"�
��	����&�3���
�	"���"��
����
������	�������
������������
���
��������""��������
����	������������4�"��
��	�
�����	�������
������"�
5�	���
���	���������	����������!����
���
����&�!�����
���������4�"��
�����������������
���
�����	���&�����
������
����!��
����"���
����	����
��������	����4����
������	�����	��	&����



� �����������	
����� ���������������������������������������� !"�#���!�$�"��%��!$%����&�����%������$���!  �'���$��������%�!����  �"�(����)**� +,,��,!��%�!##�����������(��-$�����&���������#����&!�� ��!##�������������$#��! �����%�$��! ������!��!  �"�%��$������.�$�$,��� !"/�"�������#��!##����������0�1�!���!,,��,!��%/����%�!$%���!��%��$�#�&&�$�'�������##��!$������&������!$��$������%�$��! �%"�  �$,��$��� �#!��%��$������!&��������������!�%������$��������������&�����!##����������0�1)����)*�� +&���&�$��%�2�#�(��+$��&�#�!$�#! ����� �#���$�#�,!&�/�!&���&�$�/�������������������3�  ��$# �%�$,/�'���$��� �&���%���/�2�%��,!&��&!#��$��/���$'!  �&!#��$��/���� ����'�  �!�%��!' ��/������&� !��&�#�!$�#! ����� �#���$�#�%�2�#��)����)*�� +�!��&�$�(��+�����%�$��! �����#�$�����$,�����$�����&����'�� %�$,�/��!#��'�� %�$,�#�$�!�$�$,�$����"�����!$�������041/�$���&������!$��"�$��������0�51�%"�  �$,��$���)��+�!��&�$��%"�  �$,��$����&!����!����$���$! �!##���"!���!$%��$��!$#���!$%�$��%�$����!2�����!�!����6��������$��!$#����$�����,���$%� �2� )����)*4� +7�����(��8�� �,�#����&!���$�#�&����%������#3�����!$%�!$%�,�!2� ���!��#�$�!�$����,$���#!$��!&��$����������$��!  ����#�2��!' ��,���$%�"!���)����)*5� +�#!%�(��9��&����/����������$��������&����/�"�������6����&����!&���&�$��%�2�#���!���&!�$�!�$�%�������' �#�������2!���&�&'����������)����)*:� �!�(��+����%�!$%�%��$3����!' ���&�$�����!��!��������#��!$����!' ���&�$��%�2���%����&!�� ������������2�#��!$%�#�$��&����$����! #��� �#�'�2��!,����$��������&����/�!$%��$�"��#���������2�#��������%�����$ ���$#�%�$�! )����)*;� ��%�!$%����!3�!��(��+�����!##����������!�%"�  �$,��$���#�$�����$,�����2��$�,��� �%,�$,�"����'��!3�!��)��<$�!�'�%�!$%�'��!3�!���$��&�! ����������!$�'��!3�!�����!  �'�����2�%/�!$%�$��'��!3�!�����!  �'�����2�%�$�����!  �!$�����!� �!$%�#�$��&������2�#���'�����2�%�%����!$��&�&'������������' �#�$��� �%,�%�!��!$��2��$�,���,����)����)*=� >�$,��,!���?����$,���������@ %�� ��+$%�?!$%�#!���%(��+�'�� %�$,����'�� %�$,�/����!�������$��������/�!��!$,�%�������%����� �%,�$,�'��� %�� ��!$%��!$%�#!���%�����%�$��/�!��%���$�%��$�>�!�����������������8�$��! �A!"�/�"�����$�&�! ��&!��'�����2�%��$��$�����&����,�����%�$�$,��!#� �����)����)*B� >�$����#���$�C���# �(��+$��&�����2���# ��"����!�8�����C���# ��D��,���08CD1�,��!������!$��*/***� '�E�!$����!2���7���&�$�����&!#��$�������%�����'���$������������/��$# �%�$,�����,�$��! �������#�! �F�%�#�$����#���$���������!�3����7����$,�&�#�!$�#! ���"��/�"�������"��� �%�������������#��%�&�'� ���E����!$����!� ������%����%�&�$!$� ������'���$������������)����)*G� >�$2����%�H"�  �$,(��+�����#�$�!�$�$,��$�����&����%"�  �$,��$����#��!��%����%�&�$!$� �������,������#�$2�����$�����6����$,�����%�$��! ����$�$�����%�$��! ���!#�/�"������!�%��$����!��� �#!��%��$����!��!#��%����!$��6����$,�����%�$#�������$����&������!������!,�/����!�%��!#��%�����#�����#�$����#��%�����������G;5/� �#!��%��$�!� ���"�����!�� �!����$��%"�  �$,��$��� !"��  ���6����%��������������#�$2�����$)��+�#�$2����%�%"�  �$,�����&!���$# �%��������$�����%"�  �$,��$����#��!��%������,��$�"�#�$����#���$/�'���$��$�"�%"�  �$,��$����$�!�#�$2����%�%"�  �$,�����&!��'��#��!��%�!��!����� �����$�"�#�$����#���$�! �$�)��9������%�&� ����$�������%�$��! ������$���&����$,������������ %�����!' ����%���������#�$2�����$�����6����$,���!#����!  �'��#�$��%���%����'����������%�$��! �����#!��,����&����# ��� ��#�������$%�$,�����������! �$�&'������$�"�%"�  �$,��$����������$# �%��!$%�����$!���������������/�!��%����&�$�%�'������.�$�$,�@$���#�&�$��-���#������I��#�! �9��&���8�!$��$,�+������������9��&���8�!$��$,���!�%/�!��!�� �#!' �)����)�*� H��#�!�,��+��!(��J�!��������$������������!#��!��!����!$�!7������"��#�/�'�#!�������!$��2�� ��$,� !��������&���&�!' ��&!����! ���#��!��# !�/���$%�����%��#�!�,��&�������#����!���$�!$%�����!&�� �"������������"!������%�!������!#����$������!$����!  �"��������#� !����$�������,���$%�!$%���#�!�,������!7�����)��D�����!$��2�� ��$,� !�������$���#�&� ��� ���&���&�!' ��!��!����� �����$!���! �#�$%����$�������&!$�!#��2���/�!�%��#�!�,��!��!�#!$�'��!�����$��! � �#!���$����������$���%�#���$����,���$%"!������  ����$)����)��� H��2���������!��!$�(���+�����!��!$�/��������&�$����!$%/��!������%��!����/������������&� !��� !#�������������2�#��������%����'�2��!,��/���&��������$����"��#��������2�%���������$����&!�$�$,��$�������2���# ��������%������'�� %�$,/�2�!�!�%��2�����"�$%�"������������&� !��&����%)��



� ������������� ��	

���������������
	��	���	����
�������������������
	�	����	�	��	���
���������
���	������������	��
�������	�������	��	����������
������	����	������������������
�������
		�����	������������������������������������ ��	

���������������	������ ��
�����������������		�������	��������	������������������	�����	�	������	�������!� ��	

����������	����	���������
	�����
"���	

����������������	�������������������	������
	�	����	�	��	���
���������
���	��������#� ��	

���������$���%���
"��	����	��&���
	'(��������
	��	���	����
� ��
������������������&�(���	

���������������	���	�����

"���	�� ��	���	����	����������)����

"����	� "����	��	������������	�����	�	������	�������*� ��	

���������+	���,���,��	��������
	�����
"����������	�������	�������	�
���
��	�����������"�����
�����	�	�
���
��	������)	���
���
��	��������"� 	�������	����������-������)	���
���
��	������������	����	"���	��	�����	�� "�������"���

������������	������
�����	���������
���
��	��������.� %���
"�&/���	��
�(��� ����.0�������������
��	�����������	���	

�������1���������.�������������	�������	
��	�� "�������	������
��������� 
����������������������������������	����
"��������)	����������
��	
�����������	��������	��	�������	���	

�������1����������.���������������	
��	�����������
����������	'�		��!���	����������	�����	
"������	���	

����������2��������������	��������	����"���	�����	���� 	�����3	�������#�0�0�����#�0�����������	�����	��������.���������������������
����	���
	�������	
��������	�������������	��	��������
���������������������	�	
�	�
"�������� 
	��������
����"�����	������������	��������	���	����
���	���������)	��������	���	�����	������	������	�	��
�
���������4� %���
������,�������	�������
����
���	�����	���	�����56,�7�����4��3	��������������56,�7���*����3	�������������������
����	�������	��	�����������
�����������	�������	����������8"
������	�
����
����������������������������
�������	���	��	�����	�����
��� 
	�����	������	�	��
�
���������
�������	�������
����
���	�����	����
����	��
������	���������	�����9�	������������	�����
���
����������	� "���	��3���3��
�7���	��������3	����	���$�	��������������56,�7���!0���3	������������

����
"�������:� %
������	��;�������$�	����������������
������	������

� ��
����������	�
�����	��������0� 6��������	�����

���	����	�������� 	�	������	�������	������	���������5��	���	������

"����	��
��
"��������� ������	����	����	�	��������	��9���	�������	����	���	����������� /� ��� 
	�3���	���$�	�������9���	������	������	�	��
��	�����	���������	�������	���	����
� ��
���������	

��������������	������	��������	��	����� 	���	������
�������
		����������������	�����������	����2��
��	�����������"����
	���	

����������"��������������������
	���� ����� ���������	��������	

������"�
������	���������	�����"	�����������������������������
��	������������	�����	��� ���	'�
�������"����������	����	�	���	"���	���	��������������������	����	

����������������� /�)�������5��	���
�����"����	���
������� ��������������	���
��������� 	����	��������9������"������	��������������"����
����	����
�������	��������������	����������"�����	��������������
"������� ��	��������	�	���������	����
����	�������������	�
�������	�"�����	
���	���������	�	�������	�����	��������	�
"�����	�����	��	������������	���������	��������	��������	����	�����	����$�����	������������
��	���

��� �����	����������	����
��	�������	��	��������������)����������	���
���������	�����5�6�,��7����	����7��������� /���	
��������	������
���������
��"�
��	��	�� "����	����)	���������
�������	��������
�����	

��������)����������	�����	������"�
���������	� 	����������������)��������������	������	
	��������	

����	���������
����������������	������������	����	���	
��	���������	

�����,��������������	� 	������

�����	'�		�������		��&�!(���"�������"������&!(��������	�������������
��������������	�������	�	��&.(�����	�����	���"����,����������	� 	������

�����	'�		�������"�&�0(���"�������"������&!(��������	�������������
��������������	�����������		��&�!(�����	�����	���"����



� ������������� ��	
������	
�������	���	��
���
������
����
��������
�����	�����������������������������������
����
�	�����	�������	
� ��	
���
��	
���
	��������������
���
����
��	������
�������	�
���!����������"� ����������������!�
����������!�
������������	����
����	�����������������!
��
�	
������������
��!��������
���������
����������
�������������
�����#��	
���������������$
�������	�
%�

��	�
�����	������	�
���%�����������������
��������������
�������
���������
������&'()����	�
��
����������
��������
��	������������	
��!��	�
�*��+��,
���	�
�	����������������*�!���,
�
����
�	������������
�������
���-��������
�
����!�
���������	�!�
�����	�
�������
����	�
�./00/123456789�:;<�=>?9@A@B3A�C/>9@1D�E1F316/GH�I=CEJ�/G�@69�9>KK399/GL���� 
����������
��������
��	�������!
�����������	
��!��	�
�*�+��,
���	�
�	������������M�*�!���,
�
����
�	�������������
�������
��������������!
���#��	
���������������$
�������N� O��������	���	��
���
������
����
��������
�����	�����������������������������������
����
�	�����	������
��	
���
	��������������
���
����
��	������
�������	�
���!�������������������!
�����	
����������	�����!��������P"��
����������
������
�������P� Q�������
��������
����
����
����������������
�����
����
���������
����	�
�	����������
��	�������������
��	������������
��
������
����
�������
�����	���	�����������

�����������������
����R���
��	
�����������	
���!����
�������	
����
�����

����		�
�����	��
�����		�
����R�����	����
����
�������
�����������
���
�����	
���	���	�	�
���
������	�%��
	
��������'� Q��
�	��S�����T���	�����������
�	���	
��������������!�����	��	���
�����
������S
�	������������	�����������
�������������!�	���	�����	
��	������
�������
������S
�������
�����		�
�����	������������������������
����

�����!!�	������
�������������������������!
��
���
����������������!�	���	�����	
��	�������S
���&�
�����������	
��-��	��S
�������
����������������S����

�
�����������
����	����
����S�������
��������
���������������������������������
�!���������
������S
�	�������������
���	���	�	
����������������U%�
�	����������
���������
��+
�	����"�(�V�����
�	��S���������	�����������	�������
����
�	���	
��������������
������S
�	�����
	������������������	�����!!�	�������������
��
��������
�	���
%�	���!�������
�	��
��������������!������������������������������
������������������
���	���	�	
���������������������W� Q����������!������������
������
���
�	������
�����
������������
���
���������������	��������
��������
�
�����
�
��	������%�&N-�!�	���	����
�	����	
��&�(-����
��	
���
��������
��
	������!�
	�����������������	
����������X���	
�����	�����	�	�	������
���������	�������
����	
��
���������	��
��������
�
�	�
�
���
������
�����	��	����!��	�����
�	���
�	����Y�
�!��������������!
�������
��!��	�
����
�����	�
�����
�	�����	�
������
�����	�
���
���
�����������������	�!
�������
���!�	��������
��������S�	��
��������	��������
%��	���������
����������!
�������
��!��	�
�
�	�!�����
�	�	���
�!
������	�
��
�
������!������	�����
�����	�
�
�	�!�����
�	���Q����������!������������
����������	�������
���	
������	
����������������	������	
���	����������
��	��
��
���
��
�����
��
������
����	
��!����
���
�����	�
�Z������
��	����Q����������!������������
���������!��
�!�������������!�
��	�	
���������������������
����	��������
������������������
���!������������
������������������
���������V(� Q�	��[�����!�
���������	��

	����	�
�����������	���
��������	�����	��
��
X���
�
�	�����	�
�$���������	���	�����������	��������	
���������������	�����
�	�
��W(��
��
�	�����	��	�	�����	���
�������(�(((��X���
��

	��������	�����������������
��
������V�� ���#�����*�
���� ���V�((�Z���	����#�����Z���
��	��
�������#�����Z��	���	����������
������
���
�	�����	�
�Z������
��	������������$
�����������	
�����!���	���������������	
�����!���	�����	�
��������������
��	��
��������	�������
��	�
���������	�
�Z������
��	���������
��	��
�������
��
��	�����	���	
���!	������������	��
������
�������S��
�����!���������#�������������#�����������	��	��	�������	�����#�����	�����#�����U�	�!�����
�	���!�	���	�	��������
��������V�(��O��
�
��
�	����#�����Y
�	����Q�!���	���������!���	����	��	�������
��
��!��	�
�Z����!���Z��	����Z������������������&�-�����
��	
��	��	�
����	�����
�	�O�	
���	������\�����$�	��������+	�������$�	�����P(�"�!����	��������	������
��	����!����	��	�����������	����	��	�
�O�	
���	������Q�!���	��������
��	�	��������
��	����Z���
��	������	�����
�����	����������
�
�	����	��	�����	�
����
�������
��!��	�
�Z����!���Z��	����Z���������R�&��-����
�
��
�	�����������������������
����������#�����	�
�	�
�	��
�	
�������#�����
�	�!�����
�	���������#��������
��

������������	�������	����	
�	R�����&���-�X������
��	��	
�	�����#�����������������
���	��WV"�Z]�"((��N(������̂�Q����W�Z��+
�	����V�������V�(�����#�����Z��	���	�������
�	�	�����
��
��	�����	���	
������
����������S��
�����#����������	��	�����
������#�����	���	�
�����#�����U�	�!�����
�	���!�	���	�	��������
�����



� ������� ��������	
���
�
������������������
������������������
�������������������
����
������
�����
������ ������������ ���!� ������
������"�����������������������#��$�
�$
���
�
�������
����#
������!���
#��$
���
�
�������
����������
�����#
������!�$
���
�
���������$
��#
�������#
����������$���� ����������������%�	
���
�
�&��
 ����$�������	
���
�
�'�����
���!�'�
#��	
���
�
�'�����
����!�	
���
�
�(�������	
��#
������!�	
���
�
����
����!�)�����������*�����+�,
 ��
����!�	
���
�
�����
����-
������!�	
���
�
�*�
��������!�	����
��	
���
�
�*��
�$����'�����!��##������	����
��	
���
�
��������
��!����
���������������#����������$
���
�
����
���� ������������������	
���
�
�(�������	
��#
������������������������������� �
��!�$
��#
�����!���������
����
�.
+��$
���
�
�
���$
���
�
���������!������������$
���
�
�
���$
���
�
�������������	
���
�
�&��
 ����$�����
��������
��#���$
���
�
�
���$
���
�
�������������������	
���
�
�&��
 ����$����!� ���������������$������������/�	
���
�
�*�
�������������������!����������0������������� ������'
��
 ���'�������'�$$������!���
����������������������
��!�� �
��!�
�����������$
���
�
�
���$
���
�
�����������������#����������������#���
��������+!���$���
�������
+�!��
���
��������� ���������$
���
�
����
 ����$����!�����#����
�����������$������������1�	
���
�
��	���� ������������������
����	
���
�
�&��
 ����$������
���
�� ���������
�*������	
���
�
�'�����
����2�������!�����3�
���#�������
�����
����0����4���'	���������!�'
��
 ���'�������'�$$���������+��
�����5!����(�������	
��#
���������� ���!������$���
����0������������
���+������������#����
���2'
��
 ���'�������'�$$������5�������������	���� ����������
�����
�	
���
�
�(�������$
��#
�������$
�������
������$������
���!������������#�$
���
�
�������
��#��$�������	
���
�
�&��
 ����$�������������6�	
���
�
�����
����-
��������������������������������+
+���������
������������ ������	
��
���������'
��
 ���'�������'�$$���������������4�	
���
�
�7���
��'�� �������+
��"
����!���� !����+�!� �������!��������������
���+�������
���0��+��������������$�������#�$
���
�
����$
���
�
����������0���������
�����#�$
���
�
����$
���
�
���������������������������	
���
�
�7���
��'����$����������
���������������������������������
�����������0����
�3�����$
���
�
�#��$����������$
���
�
����
 ����$�����
�����������+���������+���#�$
���
�
���������$����#��������$�����������������������$����!��8�����
�������0����
������"��������������������	
���
�
�7���
��'����$����������
�������$
���
�
����
����������������������
���$
���
�
�
���$
���
�
����������#��$�
�$
���
�
����
 ����$����
�����������$
���
�
�
���$
���
�
��������������������$������������������$�������
���0������$������������$��$
���
�
�
���$
���
�
��������������������$��������������������	����
��	
���
�
�*��
�$����'������9		*':�������������
���� ��
�����������+��������
���
�������� ������	�����
��$�����#�(� ����;�
�������
�����
����0��������'	��1������!�
��������
������
���������
�����
 �����
����
0��
�����+��
�����!�
������� ��.��0��
��
���+��������	
���
�
��������
���9�	�:!���
��
�3�����!�������
���!����������!�����������9��������+��������$�����#����
������������������
��#���!����������!�
�������!�����!��������$����:!���
��#���!���
�������!������!������� ����!����������!����
�$���������$
���
�
!��������������
����+�$
���
�
!����
������������!��������
����
��$
����
��������+��������3�
��#���+��
����������������������
���
��+�����������		*'���
����8�����������������#
���������0�����������
���
�����������$����
��$
���
�
!�
���0�����$
��
�������������
�����������$����
��$
���
�
�
������
������������������������##�7����	����
��	
���
�
��������
���9�		�:�����$����
��$
���
�
�#
���������
��������
�����##������#��$�
���������
����<���������+�#
���������
����������������
�������
���� �������
$����+��������
���
���������������0���������
����
��
##���
����		*'� ���0�������������������������������������������$
���
�
!����
�������������
�������
����
��$
����
�������
���������+��������
���3�
��#��������������������������#�����'	��1���������������������
���
��+��������������%������
����
��	
���
�
����
�����9�	�:������������������������������
���
�����
��������
��
 ������$
���
�
���������#��$�	
���
�
�&��
 ����$�����
�������������������0������
��#�������������������	
���
�
�&��
 ����$�����
�����������$��������
������
�������� �����#��$����������+��
��
 ������$
���
�
������������������$���=�
���#��$��##����+��
��
 ������$
���
�
����������#�����������������#�������������
�������$����������������$������#�
�	
���
�
�&��
 ����$������



� ������������� �	
������	������
	����� ����������	���	
��������	��������	������������	������	�����	����������� !������
	����	�����	"����	����#�����"����������!� 	
�����	����	��#�
	����	��#�	����������������������	������	������
	���$�����	��#����	����������%!��"���������������#
	��#��	����������	��"��	&���	�	
�������	��	
����������#��	�"�'()*+,+-.*/�-**+*0-.0*1�23.0-4�()5+3.+*0*1�*6.65���	��"����	7��� ����"��
��� ���� 	
��������	��������������������������8	������	������
	������	������	�����	����������	��	
������	��	������!������
	�����������	���  ���	������������#�	���"����������
	����	�������	�����
� !��	�	�����	��������	�	��	��	�	�����������	������ 	
�������
	�����	����	�"������#���!�������#����	����	����&��$�����	��#����	����������%!��"�����������	������	������
	������������#
	���!������"�
	������"��
���!��������	���������#�������!���������"�
	� ����&����"�
	�����#�&	���"��
������� ���&������������� �	
����9�	���� �����������������	 	�&	��!���	�������!�����!������	�����#7�����	����������"�������	���� ������  #���!��	����������!������
��&�
�&�������
� 7#����!�	 	�&	��!� 	
������	�����	�����������	:��#���	�!��#����	���7����������������#�	��������������	 	�&	��!���	�������!� !�����7	���	����!����� 	
�����	��	�"��������"������ ����������!�����������	
�����	��	����;���<�=���� ��	� 	
����&��#��������	�"���� 	
���������	�"������ 7���������	�	��"���	����&������	�� 	�7#��
��&���������	�� 	�����	��!"������� !������������������	
���������������	����!�#�	���#�����
�&��������	����&��������	�"���!�������	��!"���	��	#���������#��	���&��	����	�"���� ��	�"� 	
�����#���!��	���	��"��
��� ����#�	������� 	
�����	��	���������������#
	� 	
�����	��
	������������	������������	
����&��#��������	������	
���"�
	���"������!��������������	���&	������� 	
���������	"�����#
��&�����������	������	������
	��"����	�� 	
�������
	��������	�������"��
�
 ���������	������	���������"������
��&��	����	�������	���	 ��	����� 	
����&��#��������	��
���������������	���������
	�����������	�� 	
�����	����	�����������	��	���� 	
����������	�<	:�"�&	�	���������	"�������	
���"���
����&!"��7��	�������
�&!�	����&!"�������&!"�	���=������������� ����# 7	���������	�!��	��	
��	����� 	
����������	"��
� !�����������������#�	�
�&��������	����&��������	�"� 	
������#��	���&��	����	�"��
��� �����	����	�"���� !�7	�������	
���������	���� ������	����!������ ��	 	���!����������#�	�������	�� 	�7#��
��&������������	
���������	������	
���"�
	���"������!��������������	����	���&� 	
�������
	������	����	��������#����	���7�����
�����#
��&������������� ��	�������	��#����� 	�	>#���	���������		�<�=�����������	������	������
	����
�����<�=����	�� 	
�������
	��������	�������"�	:��#���	����
 ���������	������	���������"������
��&��	����	�������	���	 ��	����� 	
�������
	���������	� !������������������	
������#�	�������!��	����	���#����������#�	�
�&��������	����&��������	�"� 	
������#��	���&��	����	�"��
��� �����	����	��������?� ��:	
�#�	�7#��
��&����:	
�#�	�7#��
��&�����7#��
��&���������&���	�<�=���� ��	�
�	����&�#���<�=������ 7�������������	� ���	
������	��
	�����#�	���������
��	������������	����@ABCDEFB�GFHFIJFK�LMN�LMLOP�QRRFHESTF�UVWXVKY�ZN�LMLL[������\� ������]����#7�	����������!����#7�	���#
	�����#	������"��#7	����"���#
&	"����������������!������#7�	�
	������	����� ��	��"��� ������	&	�7�	�������������� ���	�����#���<�=�����	���� ��	���#����	���������"������	�����
���
#�������!���
����������� ��!��	��	�	�����	������!"����<�=������	����#�
���
	
����	�	�������		��� ��	�����	������	������	��!��
����	�����	������� ����#��	���
�	����&�#������	�	�������������	������������	��
	��	�<�		�
	��������=�������̂� �	� ���_�����&��#������!�<�_�=��;�	�������&�%��
����̀����&�%��
�������	��"�����	�7!��� !�
	��&��	"���"���������	������
	��&�����"���	�%#��
��&���  ������	�à����&�b�����	 	��������	���@ABCDEFB�GFHFIJFK�LMN�LMLOP�QRRFHESTF�UVWXVKY�ZN�LMLL[������c� �	� ���_�����&�%��
���;���%��
�
	��&��	
�7!���	�̀����&�%!�������	���
�
	��
	�d��	�����e	��	�������������������f� �	������ 	�����	
��� ����#�����
�&�"����"��77���"��	�	��	
�	:�����   ���<����7	���	
���&�"�
����&���"�	���="�



� ������� ����	
��������	���	������������������
����������������������������������������������	������������������������	�����������������������	�����������������	���������������������������������������������������
� ����	�����!
�������	��"�#�$��%����&���'���	���(&��()�����(*+����������������&(��%",�(��(�����-�.���������������(�/.� 0���������1�2�����������3��������	������������
��	��
���	��
������	�����������	���3����(�&-� ,������+��2��+�����	��	���	����������������������������������	��������������������������������	���������������	��	���
������������������3�����	�����!
�������(�/�� ,�������0��������2�����������3��������	������������
���������3�������������������43������	����	���3�	����������567�6897�:67;7�<=�8:=7;>�<=?�567�8:=7;@A�B<9CDE�CB�<FFDCG<HD7>�;7AC?7A�<A�567�F;C9<;E�?:7DDC=IJ�F;8KC?7?�68:7K7;>�56<5��	����	���������	����	��
����������������	�������	�������������������������������	����
����"#$�%����LL��'���	����������������,�
����	�����	���������
���	������������3��������	�����	��������	��������������
��	������������������������
��������
���	�����������
���	�����������������	������	����	����	��������������
������	��	�������	���3����	����	���������������	��	���������������������	��������3���M	������
��	���	�������43���������������������3������������������3����N	�����O��	������P�������	�����0�����#��������+
��	���3�	��'������0�����#��������+
��	���3�������3�������������������
�	�������	�������	�������������
������
���	����������	�����	��	������������	��������3�������������������������2����������	��	���	��������������	��������������������	��5<Q7A>�K857;�;7ICA5;<5C8=>�<==R<D�A5;775�DCA5>�?;CK7;@A�DCG7=A7>�9858;�K76CGD7�;7ICA5;<5C8=>�98;5I<I7>�9<CDC=I�<??;7AA>�<=?�����	����������������3���� �(�/(� ,������"�����2��+���������������	��������������������
��!
��������������	�������	������������	��	�������	���3��������������������	����������������		�������������������������	
���������������������������
�����	�����������
�����
������������������(�/&� ,���
����2��+��������������	�������	�������������������	�����������3��	���������������	��
����	��	���		�������������	�������������+�3��
������������������������	�������������
�����������������	���		���������������3��������3��������������	�����	�	�����������������3����������������	��������������������	��
����	��	���		�������	�����	�	��������������(�//� '���2��+�3�����������	�����
�������������3����
��
��������	���
��������	��	���������������
����������
�����3��	���	��	������������	��������������
����	��������
�����������	��	������
������	���3��������
� �������	����������	��	����	����
��������	���������������������������������	������������
�����������������3�������3�������	
��	���		����	��������3�����		����	������
��	��	��������������	�����	
��	���		������(�/)� '����������������2��+�������
��	������������3�
�	�������	
����3��	�����
�



� ������������� 	
�����������������
������������
������
���������������������������������������
���
����������������������
������� 	
������ ���
�������
����!!
"������������� ���
�������������
�����������
�������!���������
����!���#�
��
���������������������!������
��������!�������������
�������������� 	���
���$���
��%����
���������
�����&���'��
���(������!�����������������$����
���(������������
��������������	���
���$���
��%����
���������
�
���������)
�����
��
���������
������!���
��(������������*� 	����������������������#�
�����������������
�������&����+���,�����
!
���
����
���
��������������������#�
���������������������������������
�������#���������)����������������
��������������
�������	�#�
)
�
���+�������-������������
���"
����������������	�#�
)
�
���+�������-���#�������!!���
)��
������&�����!�����������)
���
��������
�
����!�����$����
���(�������!!
�
�����
������
��#�����������������.��������������
���������)
���!��������������!�)��
���������!!
��
�������
������������������������!�����������#���
�������������������/0� 	�#�
)
��#���1����
�������#�
��
���������������!���������
�������
�!��
������
����
���������������
�����
��
��������������)
�������"����������������������!�����
�����#�����
���������
�������
����������!�������!��
�����������������
�����&���
�����������������
������
����!�����#�
��
����������!���������!�#�������)���
���
��������������
�����
�������������
���
���
����!����������
�����
��������
��
��������"
�������#�������#�
�����������	���
���2�2����!���
��(����������/�� &�"
��#�����)��
����!����
�����������
�������������������!����������)��������!���������!����������
����!���
�
���
��
������������!���������������������������
���!�����!���������������������#������"
�����3��"������
)����)��
�����������)
��������!
���������)��
�������������
���������������!�����������������������
��4�������������%�������-����+��������/*�������/�� &����5������������
����
�����������
��
����!�������������#�
��
���������
�
������!����������������������������������6�07���������������
�����
���������!���
��������������������
)�����������������������������)����������������#�
��
���
����������������������
���
����
������8��
)
���������������������
�����
����"�����!����!������
���������!�������������
����!���������������!������
����������
����)
���!������"�����������������������������
����!�����������
��������)���
���
��������/2� &�"
�����5�9�������	�#�����������������
������#�����������
"������!���#��������
�������������
.�
��������
����������
���
���
�����
������4���������������"
�������9���������#��������
�������
����������
���
����#����������
��
������!�����4�������������1�����������!�$�#�
��5������
�������
������
����������)
�
�����!�4�%�-��+������:�����
���!���������������������
���
������!���������������������������������
���������,������#�����
�������������
��������������
��#�)������������!
����
��4%-�+����2��	���
�������������
�����
��������!��������������������
���#������������
���������,���������������������
��������,�����!����
���
#��
���������������#����������������#�
��������
������������������
������
��!��������#�
��������������������������
������������#�
���������"����
)���!����
����������
���������
�����������
�������������#��������#�
���������������
��
������������������������/�� &���,�&���
��������#�
��
�����������
����
���!��
����#�������#������,�
�������#�������;����������!�������
�����������
���������
����
������
����
�����
�����
��������������;������
������
�����������������,���������,������������������//� <����������������-������������
�����
���������������������#��
���)������������#��,�����#�����
������
��������)����������������������!
����#������4�������������=��������$������
�������>������
����2�0�+4>��0�00����������������=��������(�����������/�� =������������
�������������
���������������
���������
������������������������������#�����������!��������
)
�����
���
������
��������!���!�����������#�����������������������������



� �������������� 	
���
�����
�����	��������������������������� ��!�"��
���
�����
�����#$
������������%�&��$�'&�(�������&�"��#�&���"����%��)&�)��*�&��
�(����'�
���'&��)
�(�#��&��+�����)��
��
�)������,#
�������+�-�.&������
$�/�����&���0,-/1�������2� 	
���)' ��3
�'��$"&�(�
'�
��������
����������
�'����+
���
�����'&���)&�)���
���)��
��)�������'�
&�
(�
�
���+����)��
����������
�'���'&���������� 	�$
�'� ���)���$
�'��'+&�'�
����$
�'���"��)�#��.&�&�����+��)��
��
�)������	�$
�'��!��%���4�3���)
#�����%����&�����%�
��
��''%�
�'��"��)�#��.&�&�����+��)�4��
$�5"$
����+��)�������+�!�)�����
��
�)�����%�!��&�$�66%�4��
$��(�$
�&���%�	�$
�'��/�����&��%�
��
��''������7�� 	&�$���������&�
�&����8
�&$&�&� ��8
�&$&�&����'�+����)�#�&��&#
$�#��#����+�������&
$����#��$&���&�$���������&�
�&�������%����)�
���$$�$
���$#)�����.&��%��)
��'��#�&
$&9'����&$��
'&����.&��%��&����
.�������&�
�&���%�#����
$��&�$���������&�
�&������.&��%�#
(&�(���.&���
�'��)�$&�%�
��'+&�'�&�����&��������+��)�8'�
$��$������&�
�&����!����+����7%�
��
��''������)�+
�&$&�&���)
$$�&��$�'������%�
����
%�
����
���##�������������%�#
�$�%�'&�)��
�'�
������"�������������8����)�#��#�����+��)&���"$
�%��&�$���������&�
�&����+
�&$&�&��'������&��$�'��)�+�$$��&�(�
������"����������������� ��
����
����'&�)����'���$$"�+�����&'��&
$�)���)�$'��$.&�&���
�'��
'&����#�&��:�
����
����'&�)����'�+���������&
$����#��$&��#��#�����)&�)�
������.&�&�$�+����
�"��&()���&�(�#��#��"����#��$&���
"%����
�����+���)�&�����&����������%��%����'&�)��+����)��#��#�����
���&�(�����0�1���������$���&��'&
���:�����
�
�����
'&��+
�&$&�&�%�&��$�'&�(���������'���&;�"�+&.�07�1�+��
��.�(����'%�
��&.$"���'�&��
����'
����&�)��)�������+�
�"�
�
�����
'&����.&��$&����&���'��"��)�8'�
$�������&�
�&��������&��&���08��1%�#��.&''��)
���)������&��������'����$&���'�+���
�"�������&
$���������7�� <&$'�/$
� ��!�#$
��&��$�'&�(�
��
#�
�'�
�����
�"��+�'
�
�'#&��&�(��)�#����&
$��
;&�����������+���&$'&�(�$����
�'�'�$$&�(���&����)
���
������&$�����
�(&.��#��#��"���'���)����.��&��
$����'&.&�&�����
�'
�'�����)�"&$'�#$
���)
$$�&��$�'�
����'&.&�&���$
"����
�'�'�&(������&��&�(��+���&$'
�$�$����
��'+&�'�
�'�'���&�'���'��!��&�$�7��+��)&��5"$
�%��)��&�(���
'�$
"����%�#��#��"�$&��%�
�'�
##��;&�
����&$'&�(��.$�#�%��)���)��
&'�$
"�����*�&��������'&+&�
�&�������
&.��+����;&��&�(���'&�
��������(�$
�&�������)�"&$'�#$
��&���
������������#��
$�&���
���������)
$$����
$&��&��&��&�����#�������;&��&�(���#�(�
#)"%���$
�'�%�+$��'#$
&��%�����)��#����&
$���&$'&�(�$���������
'�����$'�������'&�
�&$"���#��&��'��"��&()��&��
����.��&��
$����'&.&�&���$
"���������7�� =���6���)
�(�!�
 ���)
��
�
�����#
��'��"�
��&��$�;��'&�(�
����'��)��$$)
'��+�
�#��$&��'�&��&�(��
����$$%��&�)��)��$$)
'�
��&��������
�'�&��$�'&�(�
$$�$
�'��&�)&��
�����+�����
'&��������7�� =���66���)
�(�!�
 ���)
��
�
��+�
��
*�&+���)&�)������&������
������
�#��$&��'�&��&�(��
����$$���'���)�������.��#��#&�(�
�'���)
�(����'&�&�����)
���
�����
$&��&�
$$"�
��&�&#
�'�0�2��'
"���+�#��#&�(�
���
+�"&$'%��&�)������)
�(�+����#��&#&�
�&��1���6��&������''��"��)�(����'�
���'&.&'���)&�)����$��+����#��#&�(��)��$$�
�'��"��)�����
����+��)�
*�&+���&�)�$���#��
�$��
��&
$�����)�
���&$$�����'�������6�������
��%����
������$
����
"�
���
����)
�(�����'
�&����6��
$$��
��%�=���66��)
$$�;��'��#�(�
'&������&���#�&����+�&������&����&�)�#�.
&$&�(�)"'��(�$�(&������'
�&��0
�(����'�
���+$���'&.&'%�
�����
����&�)��&$$�����'����%����
���)
�(�����'
�"1������7�� =���666���)
�(�!�
 ���)�$
�'�
�
��"��'��)�
�
��+�=���66�+�����)&�)����+
���
���
�'�(����'�
���'�
&��&����=���66%�
��'+&�'�&���������������%�
��
��''������7�� =��&�(�-�+�������>++&�� ���)�5�&$'&�(�����&��&�����+��)�������+�!�)�������



����������	
����������	�	�����������������
����������	����	
��������
�	��
�������	��	�	
��
����������� !"#�$�%��&��������� !" �$'($������������� !")�*�+����������������� !"!�$(���*'(���������� !",���-�*-(*��+�(�*���.�-�����-��-���.��+��-�����('��'(���������� !"/�*�0�%�������������� !"1��0�(.���&�*�0�%�������������� !"2���+�(��0����-�*�(�0�*������������ !"3���4�(-5�%��&����������� !"#�*��%-(-������+�$�%��&��678978:�;<=;�;<>�>?@8@A7?B�?CD;CE=D�=89�=>F;<>;7?�F;=8978:�@G�;<>�H@I8�@G�JA<>EF;�?=8�K>F;�K>�A=78;=78>9�=89�>8<=8?>9�KL�9C>�E>:=E9�G@E�;<>�<7F;@E7?=D�=89�=E?<7;>?;CE=D�<>E7;=:>�@G�;<>�H@I8�=89�KL�F;E7M78:�;@�97F?@CE=:>�;<>�9>F;EC?;7@8�@G�FC?<�?CD;CE=D�=FF>;FB�7;�7F�<>E>KL�9>?D=E>9�=F�=�A=;;>E�@G�NCKD7?�N@D7?L�;<=;�;<>�NE@;>?;7@8B�>8<=8?>A>8;B�N>EN>;C=;7@8�=89�CF>�@G�F;EC?;CE>F�@G�<7F;@E7?=D�=89�=E?<7;>?;CE=D�F7:87G7?=8?>B�D@?=;>9�I7;<78�;<>�H@I8�@G�JA<>EF;B�7F�=�NCKD7?�8>?>FF7;LB�=89�7F�E>OC7E>9�78�;<>�78;>E>F;�@G�;<>�NE@FN>E7;LB�?7M7?�NE79>�=89�:>8>E=D�I>DG=E>�@G�;<>�N>@ND>P���������� !" �$'($������H<>�NCEN@F>F�@G�;<7F�QLD=I�=E>�;@R�� �SP��� T>F7:8=;>B�NE>F>EM>B�NE@;>?;B�>8<=8?>�=89�N>EN>;C=;>�;<@F>�F;EC?;CE>F�=89�F7;>F�I7;<78�;<>�H@I8�;<=;�E>GD>?;�@C;F;=8978:�>D>A>8;F�@G�;<>�H@I8UF�?CD;CE=DB�=E;7F;7?B�F@?7=DB�>?@8@A7?B�N@D7;7?=DB�=E?<7;>?;CE=DB�<7F;@E7?�@E�@;<>E�<>E7;=:>V���SP��� 6@F;>E�?7M7?�NE79>�78�;<>�M>F;7:>F�=89�=??@AND7F<A>8;F�@G�;<>�N=F;V���SP��� W;=K7D7X>�@E�7ANE@M>�;<>�=>F;<>;7?�=89�>?@8@A7?�M7;=D7;L�=89�M=DC>F�@G�FC?<�F;EC?;CE>F�=89�F7;>FV���SP�S� YE@;>?;�=89�>8<=8?>�;<>�H@I8UF�=;;E=?;7@8�;@�;@CE7F;F�=89�M7F7;@EFV���SP�Z� YE@A@;>�;<>�CF>�@G�<7F;@E7?=D�@E�=E?<7;>?;CE=D�F;EC?;CE>F�=89�F7;>F�G@E�;<>�>9C?=;7@8�=89�I>DG=E>�@G�;<>�N>@ND>�@G�;<>�H@I8V���SP�[� YE@A@;>�:@@9�CEK=8�9>F7:8�78?DC978:�;<>�N>EN>;C=;7@8�@G�E>D=;>9�NE7M=;>�@N>8�FN=?>FV���SP�\� YE@A@;>�=89�>8?@CE=:>�?@8;78C>9�NE7M=;>�@I8>EF<7N�=89�C;7D7X=;7@8�@G�FC?<�KC7D978:F�=89�F7;>F�8@I�F@�@I8>9�=89�CF>9R�=89���SP�]� YE@M79>�@I8>EF�@G�F7:87G7?=8;�F;EC?;CE>F�I7;<�;7A>�;@�?@8F79>E�=D;>E8=;7M>F�;@�9>A@D7;7@8P����������� !")�*�+����������H<>�NE@M7F7@8F�@G�;<7F�KLD=I�F<=DD�K>�D7K>E=DDL�?@8F;EC>9�;@�>GG>?;�;<>�NCEN@F>F�>̂NE>FF>9�@E�7AND7>9�78�W>?;7@8��SP�P��T>G787;7@8F�@G�;<>�G@DD@I78:�I@E9F�=89�N<E=F>F�F<=DD�K>�?@8F;EC>9�=89�C89>EF;@@9�=??@E978:�;@�;<>7E�?@AA@8�=89�CFC=D�A>=878:�C8D>FF�;<>�?@8;E=EL�7F�?D>=EDL�7897?=;>9R��_̀@AA7FF7@8_���H<>�JA<>EF;�a7F;@E7?=D�̀@AA7FF7@8P��_T>A@D7;7@8_���J8L�=?;�@G�NCDD78:�9@I8B�9>F;E@L78:B�E>A@M78:�@E�E=X78:�=�F;EC?;CE>�@E�N@E;7@8�;<>E>@GB�@E�?@AA>8?78:�;<>�I@Eb�@G�;@;=D�@E�FCKF;=8;7=D�9>F;EC?;7@8�I7;<�;<>�78;>8;�@G�?@AND>;78:�;<>�F=A>P���



�����������	
���	�������������������������������������
�����	������	���������������������
�����	����	���������	
���	�	�������
����	��������������������������������������������������	��������	������������������ ���	����
��	������	��	��	���������	���������	����
�	��������������
����������	�����	������	������!	"����������	������	��#�$�	���������
�"���������������������������%�	�&����	�����
����	�����'������������	���������	���������������(�������	���	��
������������
	����	�	�������	���	�������������	���	�&����"������������
	����	�	�������	��%�	����
�����"���
����)*+,-./�0121�34.+*564*�� �#�#7� 8	���������	�����	
���	�	���������������������������

������������9����������	:��������������
�"����#�#�� ;:�������
�����	��	�������	
���	�����������

�����������	����	�����	:���������������
�����	������	��%�������

�����������������	"���	������	"��<�����������������	"���	�����	������;:�������
�����	����

���
���������
	����	�
���	�����	%��
������������:�����������	����&����������	�	��������	�	�������	
���	�������

������(����������� ���	����
��	������	���
����������
���	���	����������
�����	����8	������	����������������������������������

�����	�������	������"����������	����������(�������	��������
��������%�����	���	�=�>�?����������$7�����#�#�� @�	���������	��������
�����	��	�������	
���	�������%��������
�����	������	������

�"�������:��ABC�����������������	��������	���	������������� ���	����
��	������	����#�##� D��������������:��A#BC������	�������	������	<����������	�����	���	���������
�����	��	�������	
���	�������%������	������	����

��	
�������
����������	���������
�����	%�������

���'��������������	�����	�"��������������������������EFGHFIFJKHL�ELMNJLNMO������	��	���	���	��������������������	�����������	���#�$7�����#�$����!����	������	����

���:��"������	�����	���������������
����	������������%�	��
����������:��APC���������	���	�����������%��	�����	"�������������������
%��	�������������������������������������
%��������	��������������
�����	�	�������
	��
��"���������!����	������	������	������������:��������	���	���������������#�#$� Q�%�"��������������:��A#BC������	�������	������	<����������	�����	���	�������
�����	��	�������	
���	�������%�	����
��������������������
�%�	�����"������	������A�$C�������	

	"��������
	���	���������
����������	���������������	������	�����������
���"�����������
�����	������	��%��������
�����	������	������%����&�����	�������(���������	���������������
�����	���������	��������
����
��
�"�%���
�"�%���
����������
���	�%��������������	
���	�����������#�#B� Q���������	
���������
���������������	������	����

��������������������������������	����EFGHFIFJKHL�ELMNJLNMO���������������
���	������	��	���	���	��������������������	�����������	��#�$%�	����������	������	����

����������������������������������EFGHFIFJKHL�ELMNJLNMO��������	��	���	���	��������������������	�����������	��#�$%����������������	�	�������	
���	�"	�
��	��������������
��	���������	����
�	��������������
����������	�����	������	������!	"%����������	������	����

�	������������
�����	������	�����"������	�������������"������	������A�$C������	�����������������	���@�	���������	�������	��������	%�	����	��9������	�	��������	������A�$C������"���	��������	����%��������
�����	������	������������������	
���	�������%����&�����	�������(���������	���������������
�����	���������	��������
����
��
�"�%���
�"�%���
����������
���	�����#�#R� Q�%������������������%������	������	�����������������������������������EFGHFIFJKHL�ELMNJLNMO���������������	�	�������	
���	�"	�
��������������
��	���������	����
�	��������������
����������	�����	������	������!	"%�����������

���
��"������	�����"����������%�	����������������	��	��������
���������������
�����	������	��%����	����	
���	�����������

��������������
��"�
:��A��C��	�������������������	�����������������	���������	������	����������



�����������	
�����������������
�����	����	
��������	��	�	���������������������������� !�"�##�����$��� !!�%����#�$���� �� ����&��&���'��%���($ ��%� �� �)*+,*-*./,0�)012.0213��4����#������$�����#�����4�����4�!!�5�$(�������� 6�� �789:� ;�����!����%��$<�������5����$� $� �� �!����%��$<�����= ���$ !�>�(�������4����������?! ���<������������&'@�����4� �A�$%�$(� AA!�� ���$�4���!����$(��$�� �%�= ���$ !�>�(�����<���B���789�� ����"�##�����$�%����#�$����� ���������&��&���#������$�����#�����4�����4�!!�5�$(�������������� 6�� �789�:�CDEFGHDIJK�	LMGHFJNIO����������&��&���#���������������� ��4��������� !��#A��� $����4���6�� �789�::�� ���� � ����<��$����������P !&�� ��A ����4�����%�P�!�A#�$�<������ (������&!�&� !��� � ������������4�������5$��4�Q#�����<�����"�##�$5� !����4�R �� ��&�������������$ ���$<���B���789�:��;������������4� $�����������P�$�<���B���789�:��;���%�$��4��%�5���� �A����$����(��&A��4�A����$��5���� %���#���$4!&�$����$�������S<���B���789�:7�TU�#A!�4���������&!�&� !<�A�!���� !<����$�#��<����� !������������������ (���4�������##&$��S8���789����HIVDFOIFWHJK�	LMGHFJNIO8���������&��&���#���������������� ��4� ��������&� !��#A��� $����4���6�� �789��:�?���� S�������$P���$#�$���4� �(��&A��4�A��A!���$� $��� ��4�������S��� � �����X�%�'S� �%����$���P�� ��������&� !���S!�<���B���789����T#'�%����������%����$(&����$(��� � ������������4� $� ��������&� !��SA�<���B���789����;������5��Y��4� $� ��������<�# �����'&�!%�������� 4��# $�5������$%�P�%& !�5��Y�� ���$4!&�$��%�����%�P�!�A#�$���4�������5$<���B���789��7�"�$� �$���!�#�$����4� ��������&� !�%���($<�%�� �!<�# ���� !������� 4��# $���A�5�������A����$��� ���($�4�� $���$$�P ���$8���789����OGZHJMVDI�	LMGHFJNIO8���������&��&���#���������������� ��4�(��(� A�����#A��� $����46�� �789��:�������������A ����4<������! ��%���<� ��[& ��<�A �Y<����������%����$���P�� �� <���B���789�����������&��&��<� ���������&$�[&��!�� ���$��������A�S��� !��� � ����������<���A����$��� $���� '!����%� $%�4 #�!� ��P��& !�4� �&����4�����$��(�'�����%<�P�!! (����$���<����������##&$��S� �� �5��!�8������	
����\���]
̂ 	�	
���=��5����� $%�$(�����A��P����$���4�_�����$��787̀<�����a&�!%�$(�"�##�����$���# S����&�� �%�#�!����$�A��#���4��� �)*+,*-*./,0�)012.0213�&$%��� $S��4�����4�!!�5�$(�����&#�� $���6�� �78b:� ;4� �� $S���#�<� 4�����$�A�����$<�����a&�!%�$(�"�##�����$����� !!�%����#�$���� ���������&��&���A����� $��##�$�$������ ���������A&'!����� !������� 4��S��4�������##&$��S�&$%���_�����$��78̀7<� $%���� %P���������"�##�����$��$�5����$(<���B���78b�� ����"�##�����$����� ���4��%��� �����������$���� ��$ '!��!�Y�!����%��� ��������������5$��������#��������A����$����(��&A�������5�!!�'��5�!!�$(����A&��� ��<�A�����P�<���� '�!�� ���������������&���'&�!%�$(<� $%���� %P���������a&�!%�$(�"�##�����$����$�5����$(<���B�����



������� ������ �	
��������������������
���	����	
����
��	�����
��������������������
������
�������
�
���������������
�������	��
���	���������
��������������
�
��
���
	��������
������
����
��	
�����
�����������������	������	�
�������	��
��

������������������
�����
�������
�������������������
���	
� ����������������
����������������!"#$%&'�()*+�","-."'#/�0",&1%$%&'�� ���23� 4������������������������
����
������
����
��	�
�������������	
���	�������
�5���
���������
�
������
��������������	
����
��������	���������������������
��5��
6�
����������
�������

��
��5��
���������
���������	
� ����������������
�������2�� 7�����
�
���������5��������������������

��
��5��
���������
������	
� ����������������
���	�������	������
�8�9���5���������������5��	
�
�������	
�:	
����;������������������������2�� :�����������������������
���������	����<���5�����
���
�
����������	������������������	
� ����������������
���	��������
����	
���������������������
����	����
�����������������	
���������
��������=����

���>��
��	�
���;��������������������	������������8�9���	
��
�
�������	
�����������
�
��
���5��	
��	���������	
��
����

�������������������������2�� ?��	�������5�����
������
����������	
���������������������
���������
������������������	���	
��
�
�������	
�����
�������
����	
� ����������������
���	�����
�
���
@��9��	
�	
���	
���������������	
���������������������
��
��
�
�������
�������������
����	�
�������������	
���	��������
�5�����A��9��	
�	
���	
�
������5��
�������
����
������
�����	
��
����
��
������������	
���������������������
��	��	�����������
����������	
���	��������
�5��� ���2�3�4���	
� ����������������
�������@��9��	����	
���������������	
���������������������
����
�����
�������������
����	�
�������������	
���	��������
�5�����A��9��	����	
�
��������
�������
����
������
�����	
��
����
��
������������	
���������������������
���	
���	
���������
���5�����
����

��
��5��
���������
��������	
����
������	
���������������������
������2���4���	
� ����������������
�������@��9��	����	
���������������	
���������������������
���
���������
����
�������������
����	�
�������������	
���	��������
�5�����B��A��9��	����	
�
���
��
�������
����
������
������	
��
����
��
������������	
���������������������
��	��	�����������
����������	
���	��������
�5���	
���	
���������
���5��
���
��������
����

��
��5��
���������
��������	
����
������	
���������������������
������2<� 7���������������

��
��5��
���������
�������
���	
����������������	����
��������	
� ����������������
���	���������������
�������
���
���������	
�����������
����������	
���������������	
���������������������
������	
�����������	��B	
���
��������������
����

��
��5��
���������
������ C��	��������	����
�������	�����
����������
������	��	
�����
���
������	
��
�����������B����
��������������������������������
��
�������	
���5�D�E�F���	���
���<���G
�������2��3���!"#$%&'�()*H�"'I&-#","'$�J'0�-","0%"!���	
�����������
�����

��������

��
���	��������5����
���	����5���@�� ���K3� �	
�;�������������������������	���L
��������������
�������
�����������������5�������������
�������������������
���	����5���������K�� �	
���������������	
� ����������������
����
�
��	����	���L
�������������
���5�������������

����������������
6���5��	
5��	�����

��
�
����5���������������
�������������������
����	��	
��
6���

��������	����5�������������
�
����������������	
�
����� �����



������� �����	�
������������������������������������������������������������� �����������������!����������������������������������"�����!������#������������������������������������������������������������� ��������������������"����������������������������������#��!��������!����������������������������#�$������������������"�������� ����������!���������$������������������������������������������������������������������������������!��������$����#����"�������������$����������������������������������������!���������������!������!#������#��������������#�$��������%�&�'��(��#�����	"�)��������*"�����!�������� �������+������������������#�$��������)����������,"����������������������$�������������������������������������-.�		�		/������������������0������������$��������1�������������������������#�������������������������!�����������������������������������������������������������2���������(!!�����"�����������������������������������(!!�������� �������+��������������������$�"�����������������������������������!���$�������������!����������#�#������� ������ +����������#��!���������������������������#����������#��!������#�������������������������������������������!����������$�������������������������#����������-�/���������!�����������������!#���������������!��������3456789�:;<=�34>4?@A7B76C��D������������"�#������#����#��������������������������������������������$���������������������������������"��$���������������"�#������#������#�������������������������������������������������1��������������$������#��#��������������������������������!����



�� ����������	
�������������������	���� � �������������� �!���!��" �!�#��� $$ �!�%���&��$� ��'(�(�")� �!�$*��&+,-./01�2���!��3����"� $(�4%$����$*��567�89:�;<7;6=:�6>�:?@6<7ABC?B�A?D�>A@CEC8A8C?B�89:�7:�6;:?C?B�6>�:FC=8C?B�G<=C?:==:=�A?D�89:�6;:?C?B�6>�?:H�G<=C?:==:=�A?D�86�=8CI<EA8:�:@6?6IC@�A@8CJC8K�C?�89:�A>8:7IA89�6>�89:�LMNOP��Q�:I:7B:?@KR�89:�>6EE6HC?B�8:I;67A7K�S6?C?B�=9AEE�A;;EK�<?8CE�P:@:IG:7�T�R��U���VWXYZ[Y[�\Y]YX̂Y_�̀a�bcbde�fggY]hijY�\Y]YX̂Y_�bca�bcbdkl��m>>:@8:D�n=:=o�567�?:H�A?D�:FC=8C?B�<=:=�C?�89:�p�qR�p�rR�p�NLR�p�sR�LMtR�MuR�A?D�uvu�S6?C?B�DC=87C@8=�89A8�A7:�@<77:?8EK�;:7IC88:D�GK�wC8:�uEA?�v:JC:H�67�w;:@CAE�u:7IC8R�A?D�>67�;7:�:FC=8C?B�?6?@6?>67IC?B�<=:=�C?�A?K�S6?C?B�DC=87C@8R�89C=�=:@8C6?�=9AEE�A;;EK�86�89:�>6EE6HC?Bo��w:@8C6?�TxT�U�v:8ACE�y=8AGEC=9I:?8=�w:@8C6?�TxT���u:7=6?AE�LA7:�y=8AGEC=9I:?8=�w:@8C6?�TxT���566D�A?D�P7C?z�y=8AGEC=9I:?8=�w:@8C6?�TxT{U�t:DC@AE�n=:=��567�m@@:==67K�n=:=�;76;6=:D�86�@6EE6@A8:�HC89�A?K�6>�89:�<=:=�EC=8:D�AG6J:�89A8�A7:�@<77:?8EK�;:7IC88:D�GK�wC8:�uEA?�v:JC:HR�w;:@CAE�u:7IC8R�67�;76;6=:D�86�@6EE6@A8:�HC89�;7:�:FC=8C?B�?6?@6?>67IC?B�<=:=�C?�A?K�S6?C?B�DC=87C@8R�89C=�=:@8C6?�=9AEE�A;;EK�86�89:�>6EE6HC?Bo��w:@8C6?��xUU�q:?:7AE�w:@8C6?��xU|��M<8D667�PC?C?B�w:@8C6?��xU|��rCJ:�y?8:78AC?I:?8�w:@8C6?��xU|T�P7CJ:�}976<B9�5A@CEC8C:=��567�}:I;67A7K�n=:�67�@9A?B:=�C?�7:=;6?=:�86�LMNOP��Q�C==<:=R�C?@E<DC?B�89:�;EA@:I:?8�6>�8:I;67A7K�=87<@8<7:=R�C?�A?K�S6?C?B�DC=87C@8�>67�89:�>6EE6HC?B�<=:=o��� w:@8C6?�TxT���LEA==�O�A?D�LEA==�OO�5A7I�w8A?D�w:@8C6?�TxTTUxU�s6?�;76>C8�:D<@A8C6?AE�C?=8C8<8C6?��w:@8C6?�TxTTT�L9<7@9�67�689:7�;EA@:�6>�H67=9C;R�;A7C=9�96<=:R�7:@867K�67�@6?J:?8�� w:@8C6?�TxTT|�s68�>67�;76>C8�ECG7A7K�67�I<=:<I�� w:@8C6?�TxTT{�t:DC@AE�67�7:=CD:?8CAE�C?=8C8<8C6?=�� w:@8C6?�TxT|��q6J:7?I:?8AE�mDIC?C=87A8C6?�G<CEDC?BR�>C7:�67�;6EC@:�=8A8C6?�� w:@8C6?�TxT||�M89:7�B6J:7?I:?8AE�<=:�?68�=;:@C>C@AEEK�EC=8:D�9:7:C?��}:I;67A7K�n=:o�m�<=:�67�AE8:7A8C6?�:=8AGEC=9:D�>67�A�>CF:D�;:7C6D�6>�8CI:�HC89�89:�C?8:?8�86�DC=@6?8C?<:�A?D�7:8<7?�86�89:�67CBC?AE�@6?DC8C6?�<;6?�:F;C7A8C6?�6>�89:�8CI:�;:7C6Dx��~ACJ:7=�A?D�t6DC>C@A8C6?=o��}9:�p<CEDC?B�L6IIC==C6?:7R�A@8C?B�C?�;EA@:�6>�89:�u:7IC8�q7A?8C?B�p6A7D�67�w;:@CAE�u:7IC8�q7A?8C?B�m<8967C8KR�IAK�B7A?8�HACJ:7=�A?D�I6DC>C@A8C6?=�C?�A@@67DA?@:�HC89�w:@8C6?=��xQU�A?D��x�x��P:=CB?�v:JC:H�p6A7Do��}9:�7:�<C7:I:?8�>67�7:JC:H�GK�89:�P:=CB?�v:JC:H�p6A7D�<?D:7�w:@8C6?�Tx�U�=9AEE�G:�=<=;:?D:D�D<7C?B�89C=�8:I;67A7K�;:7C6D�>67�A?K�=CB?AB:R�ECB98C?BR�;EA@:I:?8�6>�6<8D667�><7?C=9C?B=�A?D�A?K�689:7�?6?;:7IA?:?8�G<CEDC?B�67�=C8:�AE8:7A8C6?x�}9:�p<CEDC?B�L6IIC==C6?:7�C?�@6?=<E8A8C6?�HC89�89:�uEA??C?B�PC7:@867�=9AEE�G:�A<8967CS:D�86�7:JC:H�A;;EC@A8C6?=�A?D�A;;EK�A?K�D:=CB?�7:JC:H�@7C8:7CA�?67IAEEK�7:JC:H:D�GK�89:�P:=CB?�v:JC:H�p6A7Dx��m;;EC@A8C6?�u76@:==o��}9:�7:�<C7:I:?8�>67�EA?D�<=:�;:7IC8=��Cx:xR�wuv�A?D�wu��A?D�89:C7�A;;EC@A8C6?�A?D�=<GIC==C6?�7:�<C7:I:?8=�6>�w:@8C6?��U�A?D���R�GK�89:�uEA??C?B�p6A7D�A?D�89:��6?C?B�p6A7D�6>�m;;:AE=R��=9AEE�G:�8:I;67A7CEK�=<=;:?D:Dx�m;;EC@A8C6?=�=9AEE�G:�>CE:D�HC89�89:�L6?=:7JA8C6?�A?D�P:J:E6;I:?8�P:;A78I:?8x�}9:�L6?=:7JA8C6?�A?D�P:J:E6;I:?8�P:;A78I:?8�HCEE�:=8AGEC=9�A;;EC@A8C6?�=<GIC88AE�7:�<C7:I:?8=�H9C@9�HCEE�C?@E<D:�=;:@C>C@�=8A?DA7D=�A?D�@7C8:7CA�>67�89:�JA7C6<=�8K;:=�6>�7:�<:=8=x�m8�89:�8CI:�6>�A;;EC@A8C6?�A?D�>67�?6�E:==�89A?��U�DAK=R�A;;EC@A?8�=9AEE�;76IC?:?8EK�;EA@:�?68C@:�6>�C8=�A;;EC@A8C6?R�HC89�@6?8A@8�C?>67IA8C6?�>67�89:�p<CEDC?B�O?=;:@867�A?D�uEA??C?B�PC7:@867R�A8�89:�IAC?�:?87A?@:�6>�89:�G<CEDC?B�6?�A�>76?8�HC?D6HR�D667�67�=CDC?Bx��



�� �����������	
���������������������������
����������������������������������������������
�����������������������������������
���������������������� ����
����������������������������������
��!�������"
��������
�����������!��������������������������������������������������#���������$%&'������%�(��!�����)������	 ���%��������������������� ���������������	
�����������������������������������������!��������������������������
������!!�������������!!�����
��������*��������!�������������!���
�����+����������������#
�������������!��
�����,��-�����������.������%����������/������	
��������������������������������������������������������������� ��� ���"
������������$��
�������� ���!����������!�����������������������%������������������������������������!����������������������-����-������������������������������������������������������������%�0� ��
��������������
��
���������������������������������������! �����)������	 ������"
���������!���#�����������������#���������1�����%��0������/��0� �������������� �����	
��������������������� �������������������	�����!�0�������� ��� �����������������������������������#��������$%�%����



����������	
�����	�
���	���������	������������������ !"�!#! $�%&&�'()*�������!+"�!#! ,�����
�	����-.�	������/�0��0�����123�4564783�79�:2;8�<6:;=>3�;8�:7�467?7:3�:23�@3A36B>�45C>;=�D3>9B63E�;A=>5F;A@�C5:�A7:�>;?;:3F�:7�3A856;A@�BA�3=7A7?;=B>>G�;A:3@6B:3F�BAF�F;H3683�=7??5A;:GE�CG�?B;A:B;A;A@�BAF�;A=63B8;A@�:23�8544>G�79�B9976FBC>3�BAF�B==388;C>3�2758;A@�;A�:23�17DA�79�<?2368:I��12;8�4564783�;A=>5F38J�� �KILL� MA856;A@�:2B:�A3D�638;F3A:;B>�F3H3>74?3A:�@3A36B:38�B9976FBC>3�2758;A@�B8�F39;A3F�;A�<6:;=>3���I�� �KIL�� MA856;A@�:2B:�B9976FBC>3�2758;A@�=63B:3F�5AF36�:2;8�83=:;7A�63?B;A8�B9976FBC>3�7H36�:23�>7A@�:36?E�D;:2�:23�?BN76;:G�79�85=2�2758;A@�63?B;A;A@�B9976FBC>3�;A�43643:5;:GE�3O=34:�B8�?BG�C3�7:236D;83�63P5;63F�5AF36�8:B:3�76�93F36B>�467@6B?8I�� �KIL�� QB;A:B;A;A@�B�95>>�?;O�79�2758;A@�:G438�BAF�5A638:6;=:3F�@37@6B42;=�F;8:6;C5:;7A�79�B9976FBC>3�2758;A@�74476:5A;:;38�:2675@275:�<?2368:I���KILR� 17�:23�3O:3A:�B>>7D3F�CG�>BDE�3A856;A@�:2B:�:23�S36?;:�T6BA:;A@�<5:276;:G�76�:23�U43=;B>�S36?;:�T6BA:;A@��<5:276;:G�=7A8;F36�79936;A@�>7=B>�4639363A=3�976�A3D�B9976FBC>3�2758;A@�B8�B�=7AF;:;7A�79�:23�S36?;:�76�U43=;B>�S36?;:I�12783�3>;@;C>3�976�>7=B>�4639363A=3�82B>>�;A=>5F3�BA�B44>;=BA:�D27E�;A�:23�;A;:;B>�>3B83�54J�>;H38�;A�:23�=7??5A;:GV�;8�B�?5A;=;4B>�3?4>7G33V�D76W8�B:�B�C58;A388�;A�:23�=7??5A;:GV�BAFX76�2B8�=2;>F63A�;A�:23�8=277>8�79�:23�=7??5A;:GE�76�7:236�=B:3@76G�79�>7=B>�4639363A=3�B8�F39;A3F�CG�:23�8:B:3�B@3A=G�467H;F;A@�9;ABA=;A@I����
�	����-��������	�����17�3A8563�:23�45647838�79�:2;8�83=:;7AE�:23�97>>7D;A@�63@5>B:;7A8�82B>>�B44>G�:7�638;F3A:;B>�F3H3>74?3A:��;A=>5F;A@�C5:�A7:�>;?;:3F�:7�:7DA�275838E�B4B6:?3A:8E�?;O3F�583�C5;>F;A@8E�SYZ[8E�BAF�\U][8̂�;A�<?2368:�:2B:�467H;F3�A3D�FD3>>;A@�5A;:8J��� �KI�L� _̀3D�FD3>>;A@�5A;:8_�?3BA8�BAG�=7?C;AB:;7A�79�5A;:8�:2B:�2BH3�63=3;H3F�76�D;>>�63=3;H3�B�]36:;9;=B:3�79��\==54BA=G�;A�BAG�9;H3�G3B6�436;7F�BAF�B63�>7=B:3F�;A�A3D�C5;>F;A@8�76�BFF;:;7A8�:7�3O;8:;A@�C5;>F;A@8E�BAF�BAG�A3:�;A=63B83�;A�5A;:8�6385>:;A@�967?�63=7A8:65=:;7A�79�3O;8:;A@�C5;>F;A@8E�3O=34:�976�5A;:8�6385>:;A@�967?J�����KI�LL�<9976FBC>3�2758;A@�F3H3>74?3A:8�5AF36�QITIaI�]2B4:36�bLcI����KI�L��]7AH3A:;7AB>�Z38;F3A:;B>�U5CF;H;8;7A�[3H3>74?3A:8�5AF36�U3=:;7A�bI�I�����KI�L��]>58:36�[3H3>74?3A:�5AF36�U3=:;7A�bIR���KI�LR�<AG�583�436?;::3F�5AF36�U3=:;7A�RIR�d�;A�:23�Z�e�[;8:6;=:I����KI�Lb�fA8:;:5:;7AB>�Y838�5AF36�U3=:;7A�RIRR�=7A:B;A;A@�638;F3A:;B>�FD3>>;A@�5A;:8I�����KI�LK�g758;A@�=7A8:65=:3F�CG�B�45C>;=�B@3A=G�76�A7A�4679;:�=76476B:;7A�58;A@�B�93F36B>E�8:B:3E�76�>7=B>�� 2758;A@�B88;8:BA=3�467@6B?I�U5=2�2758;A@�?BG�BF2363�:7�:23�63P5;63?3A:8�83:�976:2�CG�:23�95AF;A@�� B@3A=G�467H;F3F�:2B:�:23�45647838�79�:2383�63@5>B:;7A8�B63�?3:I�����KI�Ld�Z34>B=3?3A:�79�5A;:8�B9:36�FB?B@3�76�F38:65=:;7A�CG�9;63E�DB:36E�76�AB:56B>�F;8B8:36I���KI��� <>>�638;F3A:;B>�F3H3>74?3A:�6385>:;A@�;A�A3D�FD3>>;A@�5A;:8�BC7H3�:23�A5?C36�B>63BFG�3O;8:;A@�;A�:23�F3H3>74?3A:�82B>>�467H;F3�B9976FBC>3�2758;A@�5A;:8�B:�:23�97>>7D;A@�?;A;?5?�6B:38J�� 3̀:�fA=63B83�;A�� � Z3P5;63F�<9976FBC>3��YA;:�]75A:� � � YA;:�S67H;8;7A����h�5A;:8�� � � 7̀A3i��L��b�5A;:8� � � Q;A;?5?�7A3���̂�FD3>>;A@�5A;:��K��L�5A;:8� � � Q;A;?5?�:D7���̂�FD3>>;A@�5A;:8����5A;:8�� � � Q;A;?5?���j�79�:7:B>�5A;:�=75A:ii� �



�������� ����	
�����	�	�������������
����	���	���������	����������
�������������	�	���������	����������	������	����������
� ������������������	
	����������	�������	�����	���!��"���"���	����#!$$�%&
�����'���
������(�����#!))�%*����"�����&�����	���'���
������(!�����������	+�%,(��������������
������
���	���������	����������	����
� ��� �����%�-.(����������������������
����	������

�����������
������������
������	���,-.�/���0��	���1������%/01(���
���������
��
������������2!�"!�'������������3���	�������2����'���
����������������������������!�� &�
��
��	�����������������������
��������
����	������

��	���������	���������������������
����
���	��������	��������������������������+�� ��
�������� ������������	���
����	���	������
����-!)�����������������

������������� �����������+�� ��
�������� ������������	���
����	���	��
���������-!)!���)!��� 4567896:;8<=�96>6=?@A6:;B�A6<:7�4:6C�9C6==8:D�E:8;7B�?:�?:6�?F�A?F6�<9G<H6:;�@F?@6F;867�96>6=?@69�<;�����������	�����	��������������������������������������������	�������������������
	�	���������������	
	�	��������������	�� ������������I	������������������������	���������	������
�������	
�	�������������
��
��	���!�� �)!�$� /������
������������	�
��� �

	�����	������	���������"���	����)!�-����

�������������������	����������	��������������	�����������������������	�	�������"���	���#!))��'���	�����������������	����
� !���)!�#� J������
	��������

������
	������������	������	��	���������	�	��������K��
	�	���	��������������������������������������������
������	�����	������	�����������	������	��� 	

�������	
��
�������������������
�����
	�	�
���������������������	��������	�������������+������

� ��
�������
� !���)!�)� 3���	����������������������
	������������������	��������	�����	����������
�����������
���
�����	������	���������������������������������	���������������������������	�������������	��������������������������������
��	����������!���)!�,� 1��������	����	�
�����
���������������
������	�����	������	�������

�����	�������������������������
���������������

�����������
�������I���������	���	�����������������
	���������	����	��������	�
������������
�����������������	����	�����������
��������!�/������
����	������

�����������
�������I���������	���	�����������	L��������������������+������������ 	����

� ����������M��	��N���	����������"���	�
�M��	��N���	���/����	��!���)!�O� J���M��	��N���	����������"���	�
�M��	��N���	���/����	��������������"���	�
�M��	��������	�	���	����������	������
� ���+���������� �����	+�%,(��������������
����	���������	���������������	�	�������/�	�
���)������	����
� �����	�	�������)-.������������	��������	��!�� �)!�O-�*����	����������
����	�����������

� ��������P������	��	��

��
�������	��������N����Q&����R��������������S��	��	���������	���������N��	��	��!�*����	�����	������

����
������� 	��	�����������L��	����	��	����� 	��	��)--����������������	���������������
��������������

�����
�� 	���"���	�����)!�#��)!�,!���)!�O��M���������������	��
	�������������
����	�����������

� ���������
���	�������������	��������&��	�	��������*����������������� �

	�����	��������	����� 	�����������
���������������J� �����/������0��	�	��
�/������
��3���	���J���!�J�������	��
	�����
������������������
����	���������	�������

��������%#(��	��������������0��	���T��	
��1���������/��������������	�����������2!"!�'������������3���	�������2����'���
�������%32'(������������������!�



� � � � � � � � � � � � ���� ��������	
����������������� � � � � � � � � ��������� � ������������� !"�#����� � � � � � � �� $%&� � � '()*+������� !"�,-�../01�#0/2��� � � � � � � $%&((� � � '+)'3��44�5.��� � � � � � � � � (&%(� � � (&&��67/8�!�9��:5!1��;! 2��2/ 0�,/�2!/�2�� � � � �� � <%+$� � � (*��=�>�?�=!�5@85�2�� � � � � � � �� $%&(&+�� � '+�=/�"�.��95�@�� � � � � � � � � *%A� � � B(��C:/.>�C5!�� � � � � � � � � $%&A� � � *(�C.�5!�D/1:2�E!/501.�� � � � � � � � '%+*� � � *A�C.7�2�!�,�F�. 4G�02� � � � � � � � 3%&� � � 3*�� � � � � � � � � � 3%<� � � 3A)$+�C 0F�!2�>�,-�../01� � � � � � � � <%<+3(�� � <&)<(��,�8/0/2/ 0�� � � � � � � � � (+� � � ((+)((B�,�G ./2/ 0�,�.5"�� � � � � � � � (<� � � (+&)(+3�,��/10�9�F/�-�� � � � � � � �� <%+&� � � *)(&�,/G�0�/ 05.�9�17.52/ 0��)�H02�!4!�252/ 0� � � � � �� '%(� � � *3)**�,/G�0�/ 05.�9�17.52/ 0��)�E5I.�� � � � � � � E5I.��<�� � A+)A<�,!/F�)E:! 71:�J5�/./2/���� � � � � � � $%&3<� � � *&�,!/F�-5"�� � � � � � � � � *%*� � � AB)B&��K:�/1:2L�5!�5L�8! 0251�L���2I5�@�L�� F�!51�L�8.  !�M�,-�../01��/0�H0>7�2!/5.NC GG�!�/5.�,/�2!/�2��� � � �� � $%&($� � � 'A��O5!2:�9�G F5.� � � � � � � � � <%(+� � � $)'�� � � � � � � � � � <%<*<� � � 33�O>7�52/ 05.�,/�2!/�2� � � � � � � � <%+(� � � (&��J5!G�C 08�!�0���C�02�!�� � � � � � �� $%&B&� � � *()*+�J5!G�D250>�9��257!502� � � � � � � �� $%&B(� � � *+�J5!G.50>�C 0��!F52/ 0�,/�2!/�2� � � � � � � <%+A� � � ++)+3�J�0����� � � � � � � � �� '%+� � � **)*A�J/../01� 8�P50>� � � � � � � � � <%(+� � � $)'�� � � � � � � � � � $%(&� � � *+)*<�J.51�P 2�� � � � � � � � � '%<� � � *B)A&�J.  >�;! 0��C 0��!F50�"�,/�2!/�2�� � � � � �� <%++� � � (()(+�� � � � � � � � � � '%$� � � A(�� � � � � � � � � � A%<� � � B'�J.  >-5"�� � � � � � � � � <%(<� � � '�J! 0251��P 2�� � � � � � � � � '%3� � � A(�Q5!51/01� !�;5!@/01� 8�R 2 !�S�:/�.��� � � � � � $%&(3� � � 'A�� � � � � � � � � �



�� � � � � � � � � � � � � ���������� � � � � � � � � �	�
����� � ��	����������������������� � � � � � � � ���� � � ���� !��"��#��$� ���%&'�� (�)�'�������( ���#'���''��#�� '�'*� � � � �+�,-.�� � �/0����1��2#'� ���3�4 ����� � � � � � � � -+� � � -./0-.+��5���'������� � � � � � � � � 6�.,/-�� � -,�� � � � � � � � � � ��.�� � � ���� � � � � � � � � � ��--� � � ���� � � � � � � � � � --�6� � � --,�5�7�'$ �������� #2$�3� � � � � � � � +�,-6� � � ���5 ����'�� � � � � � � � � +�,-,� � � �-0�.��8���$������� (�5���'������� � � � � � � --�6� � � --,�8�����2�&'�'� � � � � � � � � 6�6�,� � � 6��8#������2���������4 ��� � � � � � � �� ��/� � � ����9 �0: �( �!����5 $'� � � � � � � � ��-� � � �/�9 �0: �( �!����&'�'�;�<$�#�$#��'�� � � � � � ��.� � � �/0�+�9 �0�� (�$�&'�'�� � � � � � � � 6�66,� � � 6,06-�"����<�����: !!#��$3�=�7�2 �!��$� � � � � � /�+� � � +�0�,����������� � � � � � � � �� �� � � �/0�-��2������&��$�)�'����$��2�=�7�2 �!��$� � � � � �� 6�.�� � � ..�� � � � � � � � � � /�,� � � /��� � � � � � � � � � /�/� � � +60++�� ��'�� � � � � � � � � 6�--� � � +��� >�?�$���&'�'�� � � � � � � �� 6�,� � � +��)  !��'@� �����'� � � � � � � � +�,-,� � � �-0�.��<��' ��2�"#$�  ��=������� � � � � � � +�,/-� � � ���<���'� � � � � � � � � � 6�.,/-�%�*� � -,�� � � � � � � � � � +�,+� � � ���� � � � � � � � � � �� � � ��0�6��<�$���2���)�7��A�� � � � � � � � --�.� � � -,+0--,�<�����2����!�$'�� � � � � � � � -,�60-,�+� � -,,0-,/�<#?��7���?2��=A�22���'� � � � � � � � 6�6./,�� � .�06,�� � � � � � � � � � -.�+,� � � --��� � � � � � � � � � �<A�!!�����  2'�� � � � � � � � +�,�,� � � �,0�-��



�� � � � � � � � � � � � � ���������� � � � � � � � � �	�
����� � ��	������������� � � � � � � � �� ������ � � �������������������� !��"#���� ��$�� %�&�����'� � � � � � (�(� � � )�*+������,��!&��&��-�� !&��� !�� � � � � � � (�(� � � )�*+��� � � � � � � � � � � � � �.����!���� � � � � � � � � ���)� � � ����� � � � � � � � � � ���+� � � ��+�� � � �/�����0�&�1� ����� !�2�������� � � � � � � (�)+� � � �+*�3�/��������� 445!����� !��� � � � � � � (�(+��)�� � (+*(��� � � � � � � � � � ���3)� � � 33��6 !�!7�8 ��&� ��$99�����$99 �!�4�!�� � � � � � ������ � � ����6 !�!7�8 5!&������*�:!���9������ !�� � � � � � )�)� � � +�6 !�!7�2���������*�2���!��� !�� � � � � � � )��� � � �*+�6 !�!7�;!� ���4�!�� � � � � � � � ���+� � � ���*�������������������������<= ��>��0���:!&�?����! ���& 9��&����9���� ���0��@AA���B�C������DEBF���:�����9� G�&�&�� ���!� �4��� !���95�9 ���� !�H��



Amendment #439 to H5007
Legalization of accessory dwelling units

Mr. Vargas of Haverhill move to amend the bill by adding the following section:

"SECTION XXXX: Section 3 of chapter 40A of the General Laws, as so appearing, is hereby amended by

inserting after the last paragraph the following 3 paragraphs:

No zoning ordinance or by-law shall prohibit or require a special permit for the use of land or structures for an

accessory dwelling unit, or the rental thereof, in a single-family residential zoning district on a lot with 5,000

square feet or more or on a lot of sufficient area to meet the requirements of title 5 of the state environmental

code established by section 13 of chapter 21A.

The use of land or structures for an accessory dwelling unit may be subject to reasonable regulations concerning

dimensional setbacks and the bulk and height of structures. Not more than 1 additional parking space shall be

required for an accessory dwelling unit.  The Department of Housing and Community Development shall create

and implement guidelines for which municipal regulations are permissible.

Nothing in this paragraph shall authorize an accessory dwelling unit to violate the building, fire, health or

sanitary codes, historic or wetlands laws, or ordinances or by-laws.”

Additional co-sponsor(s) added to Amendment #439 to H5007
Legalization of accessory dwelling units

R�������������:
Lindsay N. Sabadosa
Christina A. Minicucci
Steven C. Owens
Carmine Lawrence Gentile
Natalie M. Higgins
Peter Capano

LZ NOTE:  See end of Document for Definition of Accessory Dwelling Unit - Definition added to the Zoning Act (GL CH 40A, S.1A)  as 
part of the Acts of 2020, Chapter 358, Section 16, approved 1/14/21. 



David Henry Argosky LeBoeuf
Jon Santiago
Kevin G. Honan
Brandy Fluker Oakley
Nika C. Elugardo
Steven Ultrino
Paul W. Mark
Ruth B. Balser
Danillo A. Sena
Tommy Vitolo
Mike Connolly
Elizabeth A. Malia
Kip A. Diggs
Marjorie C. Decker
Jay D. Livingstone
Michelle L. Ciccolo
Sean Garballey
Natalie M. Blais

"Accessory dwelling unit", a self-contained housing unit, inclusive of sleeping, cooking and sanitary facilities on the same lot as a 
principal dwelling, subject to otherwise applicable dimensional and parking requirements, that: (i) maintains a separate entrance, either 
directly from the outside or through an entry hall or corridor shared with the principal dwelling sufficient to meet the requirements of the 
state building code for safe egress; (ii) is not larger in floor area than 1/2 the floor area of the principal dwelling or 900 square feet, 
whichever is smaller; and (iii) is subject to such additional restrictions as may be imposed by a municipality, including but not limited to 
additional size restrictions, owner-occupancy requirements and restrictions or prohibitions on short-term rental of accessory dwelling 
units.

GL CH 40A s1A "Definitions"



WHITE PAPER 
No. 184   |  July 2018

The State of Zoning  
for Accessory Dwelling Units

By Amy Dain

http://www.pioneerinstitute.org


PIONEER INSTITUTE

Pioneer’s Mission
Pioneer Institute is an independent, non-partisan, privately funded research organization that 

seeks to improve the quality of life in Massachusetts through civic discourse and intellectually 

rigorous, data-driven public policy solutions based on free market principles, individual liberty and 

responsibility, and the ideal of effective, limited and accountable government.

Pioneer Institute is a tax-exempt 501(c)3 organization funded through the donations of individuals, foundations and businesses 
committed to the principles Pioneer espouses. To ensure its independence, Pioneer does not accept government grants.

This paper is a publication of Pioneer Oppor-
tunity, which seeks to keep Massachusetts 
competitive by promoting a healthy business 
climate, transparent regulation, small business 
creation in urban areas and sound environmen-
tal and development policy. Current initiatives 
promote market reforms to increase the supply 
of affordable housing, reduce the cost of doing 
business, and revitalize urban areas. 

Pioneer Health seeks to refocus the Massa-
chusetts conversation about health care costs 
away from government-imposed interventions, 
toward market-based reforms. Current initia-
tives include driving public discourse on Med-
icaid; presenting a strong consumer perspective 
as the state considers a dramatic overhaul of the 
health care payment process; and supporting 
thoughtful tort reforms.

Pioneer Public seeks limited, accountable gov-
ernment by promoting competitive delivery 
of public services, elimination of unnecessary 
regulation, and a focus on core government 
functions. Current initiatives promote reform 
of how the state builds, manages, repairs and 
finances its transportation assets as well as pub-
lic employee benefit reform.

Pioneer Education seeks to increase the educa-
tion options available to parents and students, 
drive system-wide reform, and ensure account-
ability in public education. The Center’s work 
builds on Pioneer’s legacy as a recognized leader 
in the charter public school movement, and as 
a champion of greater academic rigor in Mas-
sachusetts’ elementary and secondary schools. 
Current initiatives promote choice and competi-
tion, school-based management, and enhanced 
academic performance in public schools.



3

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

Table of Contents

Executive Summary ____________________________  4

Background on the Study ________________________  5

Housing in Greater Boston _______________________  5

Concerns about Character of Neighborhoods __________  6

Baseline Findings from the 2004–2006 Study __________  7

Master Plans And Housing Production Plans ___________  7

Recent Changes To Local Bylaws and Ordinances _______  7

The Regulation of Accessory  
Dwelling Units Without Residency Restrictions _________  7

In-Law Apartments  ___________________________  11

Short Term Rentals (Like Airbnb)  _________________  11

Municipalities With No Zoning For Adus  ____________  11

Permitting Numbers  __________________________  11

Recommendations  ____________________________  12

Appendix  __________________________________  13



4

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

In Belmont, ADUs are only allowed in detached historic 
structures such as antique carriage houses. Most houses lack 
historic accessory buildings. 

In addition to the 37 municipalities that allow ADUs, 
another 31 municipalities only allow them to be occupied 
by relatives of the homeowners or caretakers; the units are 
supposed to be removed when the relative moves out. Some 
apartments get removed, which is a terrible waste of housing 
capacity during a housing crisis. Other apartments are rented 
out illegally, without the safety inspections permitted apart-
ments get. 

Municipal planners and housing advocates have been 
working for decades to pass ADU bylaws and ordinances. In 
the last decade, almost half of the 100 Boston-area municipal-
ities have adopted either a master plan or housing production 
plan that recommends allowing ADUs more liberally. At least 
one in five municipalities did revise zoning for ADUs in that 
same time period. Belmont, Swampscott, and Hudson voted 
to allow ADUs (unrestricted to relatives.) Ipswich, Middleton, 
and Milford revised their provisions to switch from allowing 
temporary family-apartments to allowing regular ADUs. 
Lexington, Newton, Carlisle, and a few other municipalities 
voted to allow ADUs in detached structures, and liberalized 
other aspects of their regulations. Hamilton used to allow 
ADUs only on lots 10 acres or bigger; now the town allows 
ADUs on any-sized lot. 

Meanwhile, despite the significant efforts to revise the zon-
ing, the majority of municipalities still do not allow ADUs as 
rentals, and most municipalities that permit them still over-re-
strict them. Progress across the region has been remarkably 
slow, in a time of rapidly increasing demand for housing.

Homeowner-voters can be reassured that new rental hous-
ing that could be added as ADUs would be highly dispersed 
and barely visible. The houses are owner-occupied; the land-
lord lives next to the ADU renters, so the risk of property-ne-
glect or loud parties is minimal. The houses also have to look 
like single family houses. Since household sizes are shrinking, 
new residents in ADUs might maintain current neighborhood 
population densities, but are unlikely to increase them. 

Moreover, ADUs are permitted at such low levels now — 
only 2.5 permits annually per municipality where they are 
allowed — that permitting levels could increase substantially 
without being at all noticeable in neighborhoods. If the region 
were to average five permits per municipality per year across 
100 municipalities, over a decade, ADUs could provide 5,000 
apartments, dispersed among 538,000 single family houses. 
Less than one in 100 houses would have an ADU, yet the new 
rentals would house thousands of people. 

Every municipality should allow ADUs to be added to 
owner-occupied single family houses and to be rented out. The 
ADUs should not be restricted to large old houses on big lots, 

Even in the midst of a housing crisis, zoning laws prohibit 
most homeowners in cities and towns around Boston from 
adding accessory dwelling units (ADUs) to their single family 
houses. An ADU is an apartment within or behind an own-
er-occupied single family house that appears from the street to 
be a single-family as opposed to a two-family house.

Only 37 out of 100 cities and towns surrounding Boston 
allow for ADUs to be put in and rented out — and typically 
with significant restrictions on the houses that could qualify 
for gaining an ADU. Another 31 municipalities allow tem-
porary ADUs for occupancy by relatives of the homeowner or 
caretakers. The remaining 32 municipalities have no zoning 
for ADUs. 

Given the restrictive zoning, few ADUs are being creat-
ed legally. This paper provides a detailed survey of the ADU 
regulations in the region, and argues that these regulations are 
overly restrictive, particularly in light of the housing crisis and 
recent demographic trends in Greater Boston. 

Executive Summary
Of the 100 cities and towns in the Metropolitan Area Plan-
ning Council (MAPC) region outside the City of Boston, 
only 37 allow a homeowner to create an accessory apartment 
and rent it to persons other than family members or caregiv-
ers. However, only a fraction of the single-family homes in 
those municipalities are eligible for an ADU because of other 
restrictions. 

For example, Manchester allows ADUs, but only on lots 
twice the minimum lot size for the district, and only in hous-
es built before 1984. Most houses in the municipality do not 
qualify, and the town rarely gets any applications.

In Dedham, ADUs can be added to houses where the lot 
is 10 percent bigger than the minimum lot size, but most of 
the houses in Dedham are on non-conforming lots, smaller 
than the zoning requires. Dedham has more than 6,000 single 
family houses, but the town receives only a few applications 
per year to add ADUs. 

As is the case in Manchester and Dedham, 16 of the 37 
municipalities that allow ADUs limit them to houses on lots 
bigger than a certain size. In Duxbury and Wenham, the lot 
needs to be 20,000 square feet, or almost a half-acre. 

In Medfield, ADUs are allowed in houses built before 
1938 that have a minimum floor area of 2,000 square feet. In 
Burlington, they are allowed in houses that had at least 1,800 
square feet of floor area, as of 1989. Before the 1990s, most 
new houses were not that big; the median size of new single 
family houses in the Northeast did not surpass 1,800 square 
feet until 1987, and did not top 2,000 square feet until 1992. 
In Weston, ADUs are only allowed in houses that have at least 
3,000 square feet. 



5

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

the collection of the ADU bylaws and ordinances in the 100 
municipalities and compared them on a number of metrics, 
explained below. The study also asked local planners and 
building inspectors the following questions: 

 � How many accessory dwelling units have been permitted in 
each of the last three years? 

 � Approximately how many accessory units have been 
permitted town-wide or city-wide, if that information is 
available? 

 � Have any permit applications for ADUs been rejected in the 
last five years? For what reasons? 

 � What have been the challenges, if any, of enforcing 
requirements for accessory dwelling units, after the units 
have been permitted? 

 � How much staff time is devoted in an average month to process 
applications for permits for accessory dwelling units — 
and to guide the process and enforce the rules? 

Researchers have been collecting the data from September 
2017 through July 2018. Once a municipality’s zoning is sur-
veyed for the research, it is not checked again for changes. So, 
for example, if a municipality did not allow ADUs in Novem-
ber of 2017 when its zoning was reviewed, but amended the 
zoning to allow ADUs at the annual Town Meeting in May of 
2018, that change will not be reflected in the study. 

Housing in Greater Boston
Even if nobody new were moving to Greater Boston, the 
region would need more housing due to demographic shifts. 
The baby boomers are now largely empty nesters, and their 
grown kids are forming new households, while delaying mar-
riage. When household sizes shrink and the population does 
not, demand for residences increases. In addition, the region 
is attracting new people, as happens when hundreds of thou-
sands of jobs get created. 

Production of new housing has not been keeping up with 
escalating demand at least in part because local voters are 
highly cautious about allowing new housing in their cities and 
towns. Renters and homebuyers are bidding up the prices of 
the limited supply of residences, with the wealthiest winning 
the contest. People of all income levels should be able to live 
near centers of employment. 

To stabilize prices and house the growing population, local 
and state lawmakers level will need to decide where new hous-
ing can go. Greater Boston does not have a lot of developable 
green space, such as farms, woods, or meadows, where neigh-
borhoods might rise, and popular support for protecting green 
space is strong. New housing can generally be put in three kinds 
of places: A) business districts, including historic downtowns 
and newer strip malls, B) office or industrial districts, often 
on the edge of a municipality near a highway, or C) existing 

or to antique accessory buildings. Most houses within walking 
distance of stores and public transportation are on smaller lots; 
it’s good for both the region’s traffic levels — and its people — 
to have more residents in walkable neighborhoods where cars 
aren’t needed for every activity. 

Cautious voters seeking to protect the character of their 
single-family neighborhoods should be reassured that they risk 
virtually nothing by allowing ADUs to provide much-needed 
housing, and they could potentially gain rental income. 

Background On The Study
In 2017, the Massachusetts Smart Growth Alliance commis-
sioned a study on local regulation of residential development 
in eastern Massachusetts. The study is funded by a coalition 
of organizations including the Smart Growth Alliance, Cit-
izens’ Housing and Planning Association, Home Builders 
& Remodelers Association of Massachusetts, Massachusetts 
Association of Realtors, Massachusetts Housing Partnership, 
MassHousing, and the Metropolitan Area Planning Council 
(MAPC). A committee that includes representatives of the 
funding organizations, as well as municipal planners and rep-
resentatives of environmental organizations, provided input 
into the research design. 

The research is designed to update a 2004 – 2006 study 
produced by Pioneer Institute and the Rappaport Institute. 
In the 2004 – 2006 study, researchers answered more than 
100 questions about residential zoning, road design standards, 
local septic system requirements, and local wetlands regula-
tions for the 187 cities and towns within 50 miles of Boston, 
but not including Boston itself (Zoning in the City of Bos-
ton is governed by a state statute different from the one that 
governs zoning in all other Massachusetts municipalities). 
The updated study asks many of the same questions and also 
includes new ones. The updated study covers the 100 cities and 
towns that are served by MAPC, but again not including Bos-
ton. The updated study covers zoning for ADUs, multi-family 
housing, and cluster development (where houses are clustered 
on a parcel and part of the land gets preserved as open space), 
as well as road design standards and local septic system reg-
ulations. 

The research includes a survey of zoning bylaws and ordi-
nances, along with the housing production plans and munici-
pal master plans that have been produced in the last decade in 
the 100 cities and towns. This stage of the research is complete. 

The research also includes survey questions sent to the 
local director of planning, or to the building inspector when a 
municipal planner is not available to answer questions. Plan-
ners and building inspectors from 53 of the 100 municipalities 
have provided answers so far, although in some cases, not to 
every question. 

Regarding ADUs specifically, the study has included 



6

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

 � Newton’s 2007 Comprehensive Plan: “Those living in 
predominantly single-family areas generally wish them to 
stay that way. They wish those areas neither to be marginally 
blurred into resembling the mixed single and two family 
areas nor to be compromised by large-scale multifamily 
developments being plopped into their midst.”

 � Wayland’s 2016 Housing Production Plan: “Within existing 
residential neighborhoods, new multi-family housing is 
generally not recommended because of concerns that it 
would alter the single-family character of most of Wayland's 
neighborhoods.”

 � Wellesley’s Draft Unified Plan 2018: “Goals for policies for 
decision makers: Established single-family neighborhoods 
maintain a predominantly single family character.” 

Zoning to allow accessory apartments in single-family houses 
explicitly addresses public concerns about changing the char-
acter of single-family neighborhoods. First, to add an ADU, 
the homeowner must reside in the house. The owner occupancy 
requirement means the landlord will be on site, living in close 
proximity to the renters, perhaps making loud parties less likely, 
and reducing the risk of the property being neglected.

Second, the house needs to maintain the appearance of 
a single-family house. Bedford’s requirements regarding the 
appearance of the house and ADU are typical: 

“The accessory apartment shall be designed so that the 
appearance of the structure remains that of a one fami-
ly dwelling, subject further to the following conditions and 
requirements: (i) All stairways to second or third stories shall 
be enclosed within the exterior walls of the dwelling. (ii) Any 
new entrance shall be located on the side or in the rear of the 
dwelling. (iii) Where there are two or more existing entrances 
on the front facade of a dwelling, if modifications are made 
to any entrance, the result shall be that one appears to be the 
principal entrance and the other entrances appear to be sec-
ondary.”

Newton’s regulations do allow for exterior staircases to be 
added because construction of new internal staircases could 
make projects too expensive or infeasible. Newton’s regula-
tions state: 

“3. Exterior alterations are permitted provided they are in 
keeping with the architectural integrity of the structure and 
the residential character of the neighborhood, including, but 
not limited to, the following considerations:
a.   The exterior finish material should be the same or visually 

consistent in type, size, and placement, as the exterior fin-
ish material of the remainder of the building;

b.  The roof pitch should be consistent with the predominant 
roof pitch of the remainder of the building;

c.  Trim should be consistent in type, size, and location as the 
trim used on the remainder of the building;

d.  Windows should be consistent with those of the remain-
der of the building in proportion and orientation;

residential neighborhoods. Much planning is now going into 
the residential development of the first two categories of plac-
es. Wellesley’s 2018 Draft Unified Plan states: “Participants 
in the Unified Plan public meetings saw the commercial, 
office and industrial districts as the most acceptable locations 
to construct new housing that is not single-family housing.” 
Three-fourths of the region’s municipalities now have zoning 
for apartments and condos above stores, with many of these 
zoning provisions adopted in the last decade. Unfortunately, 
the projected buildout of currently planned growth districts 
is not nearly enough to satisfy projected demand for housing.

Concerns About Neighborhood Character
Homeowners are understandably cautious about allowing 
increases in housing density in their neighborhoods. They 
might be worried about more traffic, the paving over of grassy 
yards and gardens for parking, the aesthetics of new construc-
tion, the hassle of living next to construction, and a loss of 
privacy. They might worry that new renter-neighbors will be 
less invested in the neighborhood than homeowners. Further-
more, for most homeowners, their house is their single larg-
est investment, and unlike a portfolio of stocks, it cannot be 
diversified against risk; voting against changes in the neigh-
borhood is a way of protecting their investment.

Many municipal master plans emphasize that residents 
would like to protect the character of single family neighbor-
hoods and the small-town feel of the community: 

 � Medway’s 2009 Master Plan: “We enjoy a ‘small town 
feel’… We are what other towns used to be, and we have 
challenges ahead in managing our growth so we can retain 
the character that we all cherish.”

 � Dover’s 2013 Master Plan: “People choose to reside in Dover 
because it offers a more rural alternative to the suburban 
development patterns of most surrounding towns.”

 � Arlington’s 2015 Master Plan: “Residents seem concerned 
that additional development will be out of scale or character 
with the qualities they value in their community.”

 � Medfield’s 2016 Housing Production Plan: “The town’s large 
preservation areas, historic downtown, and neighborhoods 
of single-family homes create a small-town character, 
despite being close to a major metropolitan area.”

 � Randolph’s 2017 Master Plan: “The Town of Randolph 
and its residents have expressed a desire to protect and 
maintain the residential character of their single-family 
neighborhoods, and to enhance the quality of town services 
and amenities.”

 � Sudbury’s 2001 Master Plan, mentions vision statement 
adopted by town meeting in 1998: “We value the town’s 
essentially residential, low-density nature. A significant 
aspect of Sudbury’s charm and character is derived from its 
rural/suburban feeling. Becoming more like towns nearer 
Boston would not be considered progress.”



7

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

that several municipalities followed up on recommendations 
in the plans. Several planners mentioned that addressing the 
topic is on their agenda for the next year or two. 

Recent Changes to Local Bylaws  
and Ordinances
The research identifies the years that the ADU provisions were 
either adopted or last revised. The data is still being collected 
from 22 of the 100 municipalities, but more than one in five 
have revised zoning for ADUs in the last decade, including:
2007: Gloucester, Hudson 
2009: Belmont, Foxborough, Sudbury, Swampscott 
2010: Wilmington 
2012: Ipswich 
2014: Brookline, Medfield 
2015: Boxborough, Rockland 
2016: Lexington, Medway 
 2017: Newton, Reading, Cambridge, Lincoln, Littleton, 
Westwood, Carlisle, Concord 

Belmont, Swampscott, and Hudson voted to allow ADUs 
(unrestricted to relatives). They did not allow ADUs when the 
2004 study was conducted. Ipswich, Littleton, and Milford 
revised their provisions to switch from allowing “family apart-
ments” restricted to relatives of the homeowners to allowing 
ADUs that can be rented out without restricting who the res-
idents can be.

Several planners mentioned that ADUs are on their agen-
da to address with the planning board in the next year or two. 
A few planners mentioned that they have had to prioritize 
issues to take to the planning board and town meeting, so, for 
example, they might address new zoning for mixed-use devel-
opment in the downtown first, and then address ADUs. 

The Regulation Of Accessory Dwelling Units 
Without Residency Restrictions
The research has involved collecting the 68 ADU bylaws and 
ordinances adopted in the 100 municipalities. The following 
analysis is about the requirements in the 37 cities and towns 
that allow ADUs without restricting occupancy to relatives 
of the homeowner, caretakers, or qualifying low-income res-
idents. 

Overall Restrictiveness
In the 37 municipalities that allow ADUs, the regulations 
typically limit the houses that would be eligible for an ADU. 
For example, Manchester allows ADUs, but only on lots twice 
the size of the minimum lot size for the district, and only in 
houses built before 1984. Most houses in the municipality do 

e.  Exterior staircases should be designed to minimize visual 
intrusion and be complementary to the existing building;

f.  The Commissioner of Inspectional Services shall seek 
advice and counsel from the Director of Planning and 
Development and/or the Urban Design Commission 
where there is a question in the application of the above 
rules.”

Baseline Findings from The 2004 – 2006 Study
According to the 2004 – 2006 study, only 50 of the 187 
municipalities (27 percent) allowed homeowners to add acces-
sory apartments and rent them out to any person, as opposed 
to allowing them for occupancy by relatives of the homeowner. 
While allowing ADUs, the regulations restricted their use in 
various ways. Some municipalities required, for example, that 
the house have existed for a certain number of years or have 
a certain amount of floor area. Hamilton’s 2002 Master Plan 
Phase 1 Report noted, “The regulations for this option sig-
nificantly restrict the universe of eligible properties because in 
order to qualify for an accessory apartment, the property must 
have 10 acres of land.”

Another 46 of the municipalities (25 percent) allowed 
accessory apartments only when relatives of the owner reside 
in the apartment (or the primary dwelling if the owner is in 
the accessory dwelling). Eleven more municipalities (6 per-
cent) restricted residence to certain categories of people (usu-
ally in addition to relatives): (1) elderly, (2) caretakers, and (3) 
low-income residents.

To prevent occupancy restriction violations, many of the 
regulations included extensive provisions about verification of 
occupancy, usually through regular re-certification or re-per-
mitting of the units. After the relatives either move out or pass 
away, the kitchen must be removed and the apartment reinte-
grated. For example, Dover’s bylaw stated: “Within 6 months 
of the lapse of a Special Permit hereunder, the owner or own-
ers of the building containing an apartment shall dismantle 
the cooking facilities of the apartment and restore the build-
ing to a single-family dwelling.” Two municipalities required 
that the homeowner put down a surety bond to ensure that the 
apartment will be reintegrated upon vacancy by the relatives 
or sale of the house. 

Master Plans And Housing Production Plans
In the last decade, 47 municipalities in the study sample of 100 
adopted either a housing production plan or municipal master 
plan that included recommendations regarding ADUs. 

Carlisle’s 2015 Housing Production Plan recommends 
changing the requirements for ADUs, and in 2017 Carlisle 
revised the bylaw to allow ADUs more liberally. It appears 



8

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

Some municipalities, such as Cambridge, require that 
owner/s submit a notarized letter that owner/s will live at the 
house as primary residence, to get a permit for the ADU. 

In Westwood, the owners need to submit an affidavit every 
four years certifying owner occupancy. Owners in Sudbury 
are also supposed to certify compliance every four years. Can-
ton, Waltham, Milford, and Dedham require re-permitting, 
renewal, or re-certification every three years. In Marshfield, 
the owner is supposed to recertify annually. Newton also 
requires annual certification. 

Other municipalities have no requirements for re-certi-
fication, but specify that the special permit terminates upon 
sale or transfer of the property. New owners need to re-apply. 
Some regulations specify that the requirement for re-applica-
tion upon sale shall not dispossess current tenants. 

A planner in one small town, where ADUs are allowed by 
right with no requirements for permit renewal, said:

It is difficult to know for sure if units are being owner 
occupied. We don’t inspect or review unless it’s brought 
to our attention. In the four years that I have worked 
here, there was one incident where the residence was not 
owner-occupied. The building inspector contacted the 
owner to let them know that the accessory apartment 
could not be rented if the residence was not owner occu-
pied.

In Lincoln, the Zoning Board of Appeals sends out renew-
al letter annually. Several planners and inspectors mentioned 
that it has been a challenge to establish a management system 
to reliably make re-permitting and recertification happen. In 
Dedham, homeowners are supposed to renew their ADU per-
mits every three years, but “virtually nobody comes to renew,” 
said the building inspector. The issue can come up during the 
sale, but the process to permit the unit might then take longer 
than the sellers have. The process can take six weeks to five 
months in Dedham. 

Restrictions on houses that qualify
There are three common types of restrictions on the single 
family houses that could qualify for an ADU: 1) the age of the 
house, 2) the minimum floor area, and 3) the lot size. 

Age of the house. Fourteen of the 37 municipalities that allow 
ADUs to be rented out (not just occupied by relatives of the 
homeowner), restrict the houses that qualify to have ADUs 
created based on the age of the house. Some restrictions on the 
age of the house significantly reduce the number of qualifying 
houses, while others principally prohibit ADUs in brand-new 
construction. For example, Wayland’s and Concord’s bylaws 
require that houses must have existed for at least two years; 
Marshfield’s says three years; Newton’s four. In other munic-
ipalities, like Duxbury, Hamilton, Lincoln, Cohasset, and 

not qualify, and the town rarely gets any applications. In Ded-
ham, ADUs can be added to houses where the lot is 10 per-
cent bigger than the minimum lot size, but most of the houses 
in town are on non-conforming lots, smaller than the zoning 
requires. Dedham has more than 6,000 single family houses, 
but the town receives only a few applications per year to add 
ADUs. Like Manchester and Dedham, 16 of the 37 munici-
palities that allow ADUs limit them to houses on lots bigger 
than a certain size. In Duxbury and Wenham, the lot needs to 
be 20,000 square feet, or almost a half-acre. 

In Medfield, ADUs are allowed, but only in houses built 
before 1938 that have a minimum floor area of 2,000 square 
feet. In Burlington, ADUs are allowed in houses that had 
at least 1,800 square feet of floor area as of 1989. Before the 
1990s, most new houses were not that big; the median size 
of new single family houses in the Northeast did not surpass 
1,800 square feet until 1987, and didn’t top 2,000 square feet 
until 1992. In Weston, ADUs are only allowed in houses that 
have at least 3,000 square feet. 

Belmont allows ADUs only in detached historic structures 
such as antique carriage houses. Most houses lack historic 
accessory buildings.

Owner Occupancy
In general, ADU regulations specify that the single-family 
house must be occupied by the owner or owners. Many of the 
requirements include the language, “except for bona fide tem-
porary absences.” Some requirements get more specific about 
owners being absent. In Lexington, absences of up to two 
years are allowed: 

An owner of a property containing an accessory apart-
ment who is to be absent for a period of less than two 
years may rent the owner's unit as well as the second 
unit during the temporary absence provided: a. Written 
notice thereof shall be made to the Building Commis-
sioner on a form prescribed by him. b. The owner shall 
be resident on the property for at least two years prior to 
and between such absences. 

In Hudson, Bedford, and Burlington, the owner/s can be 
absent up to six months; in Manchester and Medfield, one 
year. In Wayland, the owner can be absent one or two years: 

The owner may be absent for periods not exceeding one 
year, provided that no one occupies the owner's unit, 
except a house sitter paying no rent. The owner's unit 
may be rented for periods not exceeding two years, pro-
vided that prior written notice is given to the Building 
Commissioner, the owners have occupied their unit for 
the prior two years, and occupy for two years between 
rental periods, and the owners remain legal residents of 
the Town.



9

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

Caps on ADU Production
Seven municipalities cap the number of ADUs that could be 
added, either in general or over a certain period of time: 

 � Hamilton: No more than 10 permits for ADUs can be 
issued in any 12-month period. 

 � Dover: No more than 10 percent of single-family homes can 
have ADUs. 

 � Cohasset: No more than 10 percent of single-family homes 
can have ADUs, and no more than 10 permits can be issued 
annually. 

 � Carlisle: No more than 75 permits for ADUs can be issued. 
 � Sudbury and Southborough: No more than 5 percent of 

single-family houses can have ADUs. 
 � Westwood: Permits for ADUs shall not exceed 2 percent of 

the number of single-family and two-family houses. 

Restrictions that Relate to the Accessory Units  
Themselves (As Opposed to the Single-Family House  
or Lot or Location)
Parking. Most municipalities require one off-street parking 
space for an ADU. A few of the regulations vaguely speci-
fy that adequate off-street parking should be provided. Bed-
ford, Burlington, Hudson, Manchester, Stow, and Waltham 
require two off-street spaces for the ADU. Cohasset requires 
one space per bedroom. Scituate requires two spaces, but the 
requirement can be waived to one space. Newton is the only 
municipality that specifically requires no additional off-street 
parking for the ADU. 

Bedrooms. Fifteen of the municipalities regulate the num-
ber of bedrooms that can be in an ADU. The most frequent 
requirement is no more than two bedrooms. In Acton, ADUs 
included in the same building as the primary dwelling unit 
can have no more than two bedrooms, but ADUs in detached 
structures can have three bedrooms. In Carlisle, on lots less 
than three acres, the maximum number of bedrooms in an 
ADU is two. In Littleton, ADUs can have no more than two 
bedrooms, except by special permit. For ADUs attached to the 
primary dwelling in Hamilton and Ipswich, there can be no 
more than one bedroom. 

Number of Occupants. Six municipalities limit the number of 
ADU occupants. Dedham and Waltham limit them to two 
occupants. Hudson, Reading, and Swampscott limit occupan-
cy to three people. Sudbury limits occupancy to four people. 

Newton does not limit the number of occupants in an 
ADU per se, but “the total combined number of individuals 
residing in the principal and accessory dwelling units may 
not exceed the number allowed in the principal dwelling 
unit alone.” Occupancy of single family houses in Newton is 

Weston, the house must have existed for 10 years. In Waltham 
and Dedham, it must have been in existence when the subsec-
tion of the ordinance or bylaw was adopted. 

Others are more restrictive. In Stow, ADUs can be added 
to single-family houses or detached accessory structures that 
were built by 1991. In Dover, the house must have been built 
by 1985; In Manchester, 1984. In Medfield, the house must 
have been in existence prior to 1938. 

Minimum floor area. Another way of restricting houses that 
qualify to have ADUs added is to require a minimum floor 
area for the house. In Cohasset, the house must be at least 
1,200 square feet. In Bedford and Cambridge, it must have 
at least 1,800 square feet. In Burlington, the house must have 
been 1,800 square feet as of 1989. The median size of new 
single family houses in the Northeast did not become greater 
than 1,800 square feet until 1987.1 In Medfield and Canton, 
the house must be at least 2,000 square feet. In Weston, the 
house must have 3,000 square feet of floor area. 

Lot size. The third way municipalities restrict the properties 
that can qualify for ADUs relates to the size of the lot the 
house is on. Sixteen of the 37 municipalities have such restric-
tions. 

 � In all districts of Manchester except one, the lot size needs 
to be twice the minimum lot size listed for single-family 
houses in the zoning bylaw. 

 � In Dedham, the lot needs to be 10 percent greater than the 
minimum lot area of the district. 

 � In Ipswich, ADUs can be added to non-conforming lots 
(smaller than zoning requires for single family houses) if the 
lot is bigger than 15,000 square feet. 

 � In Medfield and Weston, the lot needs to meet the minimum 
lot area requirements. 

 � In Carlisle, the lot needs to be at least two acres, unless the 
ADU’s occupancy gets restricted to low-income residents, 
in which case there is no listed minimum lot size. 

 � In Stow, ADUs are allowed by right if the lot is bigger than 
1.5 acres, and by special permit for smaller lots. 

 � In Concord, the lot must be at least 10,000 square feet. 
 � In Canton, the lot must be at least 10,000 square feet, or the 

minimum lot size for the district, whichever is greater. 
 � In Duxbury, the lot must be 20,000 square feet. 
 � In Wenham, the lot must be 20,000 square feet excluding 

wetlands and floodplain, and for ADUs in a detached 
structure, the lot must be 40,000 square feet, excluding 
wetlands and floodplain. 

1. Median and Average Square Feet of Floor Area in New Sin-
gle-Family Houses Completed by Location https://www.census.
gov/const/C25Ann/sftotalmedavgsqft.pdf



10

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

structures. Carlisle and Newton, for example, revised zoning 
in 2017 to allow ADUs in detached structures. 

Sixteen municipalities now allow ADUs in detached 
structures. Some, like Weston, allow detached ADUs only in 
a pre-existing structure such as a garage, barn, or gatehouse. 
Belmont does not allow ADUs within the single-family 
house, but allows them in historic structures. Municipalities 
such as Newton and Lexington allow new construction of 
detached ADUs. In Sudbury, the detached structure needs to 
have existed for at least five years. 
Detached ADUs are allowed in Acton, Dedham, Hamilton, 
Newton, Scituate, Stow, Wenham, Canton, Belmont, Lex-
ington, Littleton, Weston, Hudson, Sudbury, Ipswich, and 
Carlisle. 

By Right Versus By Special Permit
Most municipalities require special permits for ADUs. Acton, 
Bolton, Burlington, Lexington, Littleton, Newton, Reading, 
Stow, Wilmington, and Bedford allow ADUs by right, at least 
in some circumstances. Some of those municipalities require 
special permits for detached ADUs, larger ADUs, or ADUs in 
certain districts. Rockport allows them by right in the down-
town district, but otherwise by special permit. 

Many the municipal master plans and housing production 
plans recommend that the municipality consider allowing 
ADUs by right, instead of by special permit. In general, spe-
cial permits can create a barrier to development, where prop-
erty owners decide not to risk time and money on a permitting 
process that might not yield a permit. 

To assess how discretionary the special permits are, the 
researcher asked if any applications have been rejected in the 
last five years, and for what reasons. Many municipalities did 
not reject any. In every case except one, those that did said 
the application did not comply with written requirements. For 
example, the unit was detached from the main structure where 
that is not allowed, or it did not meet specified dimensional 
requirements. The only municipality where planners indicat-
ed any discretion in the process for special permits was New-
ton. Recently, Newton received two applications for detached 
units that met the written requirements, but one application 
was granted a special permit and the other was not. Neighbors 
showed up to oppose the ADU application that got rejected. 

In Newton, the Special Permit Granting Authority is the 
City Council, so the process for approving special permits 
can be particularly political. According to the 2004 study, the 
special permit granting authority for ADUs is typically the 
Zoning Board of Appeals. In 2004, 81 municipalities had des-
ignated the ZBA as the SPGA, 14 designated the planning 
board, and Newton and Peabody designated City Council. 

Another issue with special permits is that they take more 
staff time to process. If a municipality receives few applica-
tions, that time might not be a critical factor. But the special 

limited to one family and three unrelated individuals. In theo-
ry, a single person might live in the primary house and rent the 
ADU to a large family. 

Maximum Floor Area. More than half the municipalities lim-
it the maximum floor area of accessory dwelling units. The 
most common limit is 900 square feet, in Cambridge, Cohas-
set, Dover, Hamilton, Hudson, Ipswich, and Westwood. The 
smallest limit is 700 square feet in Stow. Acton and Swamp-
scott limit to 800 square feet, but Acton allows up to 2,000 
square feet for ADUs in detached structures. Duxbury and 
Sudbury limit to 850 square feet. The second most common 
limit is 1,000 square feet, in Dedham, Newton, Lexington, 
Reading, and Wenham. Newton allows up to 1,200 square 
feet in ADUs within the house by special permit, and up to 
1,500 square feet for ADUs in detached structures. Lexington 
also grants special permits for bigger ADUs, up to 40 percent 
of the house’s floor area. Lincoln, Littleton, and Carlisle allow 
up to 1,200 square feet, and Wilmington allows 1,250. 

Percent of Floor Area. Most municipalities also restrict the 
floor area of the ADU as a percent of floor area of the house. 
The most common requirements are in the range of 30-to-35 
percent of the gross floor area. In Hamilton, an ADU cannot 
cover more than 15 percent of the gross floor area. In Cohas-
set, Dover, Hudson, Ipswich, Southborough, and Weston, the 
maximum is 25 percent. Littleton and Marshfield allow up to 
40 percent. Acton allows for ADUs to take up half the floor 
area. Carlisle allows up to 50 percent only for ADUs that are 
restricted to low-income occupants; otherwise the ADU can-
not be more than 35 percent of the house. 

Expansion. Several municipalities restrict how much a house 
can be expanded to accommodate an ADU. In Reading, 
ADUs are permitted by right as long as there is no expansion 
of the house, but homeowners can apply for a special permit to 
expand the house for an ADU. In Duxbury, the house cannot 
be expanded for an ADU: “The accessory apartment does not 
require alteration or addition to the single family dwelling in 
such a manner that there is any exterior change to the dwell-
ing, so that the accessory apartment is located wholly within 
the building footprint in existence at the time of the special 
permit application.” In Ipswich, the house’s footprint can only 
be expanded by 25 percent or 500 square feet, whichever is 
less, on non-conforming lots. In Manchester and Medfield, 
the house can be expanded up to 10 percent; in Wayland, 20 
percent; in Littleton 15 percent. 

Detached ADUs
Many municipal master plans have recommended that the 
city or town allow ADUs in detached structures, and sever-
al have recently amended zoning to allow ADUs in detached 



11

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

Some building inspectors in municipalities that do not 
allow ADUs mentioned that they permit ADUs as part of the 
single-family house, because a single family house can have 
multiple kitchens, per the building code. 

Permitting Numbers
The survey of local planners and inspectors includes a question 
about how many ADUs their municipality has permitted in 
each of the last three years. Based on responses thus far, 2.5 
units on average are permitted annually per municipality that 
allows ADUs (including those that are restricted to relatives). 
Three municipalities reported permitting as many as 12 or 15 
in a single year.

The survey also asks the total number of ADUs that have 
been permitted town-wide, or city-wide. The answers are 
mostly in the range of 20 to 60. Scituate and Ipswich are each 
at 100 total and Marshfield might have 150. 

The appendix includes a chart of permitting numbers 
reported in the survey. 

Fourteen of the municipalities that provided annual per-
mitting data allow ADUs with residency restrictions (such 
that only a relative of the homeowner or caretaker can live in 
the ADU), and 20 of the municipalities that provided annual 
permitting data allow ADUs without residency restrictions 
(such that the ADU can be rented out). The 14 municipalities 
with residency restrictions (‘family dwelling units’) on average 
permitted five units per municipality for the three-year peri-
od. The 20 municipalities without residency restrictions aver-
aged nine permitted units per municipality over three years. 
The difference in permitting levels holds when controlling 
for the number of single-family houses (both detached and 
attached because the U.S. Census includes townhouses in its 
single-family house definition). The municipalities with resi-
dency restrictions granted one permit for every 1,000 houses 
during the three-year period. The municipalities without res-
idency restrictions granted 1.8 permits for every 1,000 houses 
during the three years. Across all municipalities that reported 
permitting ADUs, with or without residency restrictions, the 
rate was 1.4 permits granted per 1,000 single-family residenc-
es in those municipalities over the three-year period. 

Carlisle saw an uptick in applications after a 2017 revision. 
Newton and Lexington also received more applications after 
revising their laws. Newton permitted eight units in the first 
five months of 2018. 

If the region were to allow ADUs more liberally, how many 
rentals could be expected to be added? Could the region aver-
age five per municipality per year for the 100 municipalities? 
Over a decade, that would mean five thousand new rentals, on 
less than one in 100 properties with single family houses. 

permit process could become burdensome for those that receive 
a dozen or more. In Newton, by right permits for ADUs take 
approximately eight hours of staff time total to process, while 
special permits average about 25 hours of staff time. 

In-Law Apartments
Thirty-one municipalities allow ADUs as long as residency is 
restricted to relatives, caregivers, or in a few cases, people with 
low incomes. It can be hard for the municipality to enforce the 
residency restrictions. 

Some comments by planners and building inspectors: 
“They are supposed to be for family members or for care-

givers, and we don’t really have a process for keeping up cer-
tification that a family member is using the unit. We are dis-
cussing a process to register the information.” 

“One of our internal challenges is that when you get the 
special permit it is for three years and it is renewable every 
three years. Many people don’t renew, and they don’t realize 
that they have to renew.”

“Inadvertently, I can guarantee, they turn into rentals. 
They are intended to be converted back to normal living space.”

Short Term Rentals (Like Airbnb)
In Bedford there was recently a case of an ADU listed on 
Airbnb or a similar site. The town bylaw reads “There shall 
be no boarders or lodgers within either unit of a dwelling 
with an accessory apartment.” The same wording is in Bur-
lington and Canton’s bylaws. Newton’s ordinance requires a 
minimum occupancy or rental term of 30 days. A couple of 
planners mentioned that the planning board will simultane-
ously address reforms to the ADU regulation and regulation 
of short-term rentals. 

Municipalities with No Zoning For Adus
Thirty-two municipalities have no provisions for ADUs. In 
Arlington, a bylaw was proposed to Town Meeting in 2012, 
but did not pass. Marblehead’s planning board is now con-
sidering the matter, and it will likely go to Town Meeting in 
2019. In Somerville, the lowest-density residential districts 
allow two-family houses, but the city is thinking about allow-
ing ADUs as well; they could be put on properties that do not 
meet the requirements for a two-family house. Some of the 
municipalities that do not allow ADUs do allow two-family 
houses, at least in some districts. 



12

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

No residency restrictions: Occupancy of the ADUs should not 
be restricted to caretakers or relatives of the homeowner. It 
is hard to enforce the restriction, and the region needs rental 
housing. When units are legally rentable, the building inspec-
tors can make sure the housing is safe. Secret apartments do 
not get the review that legal ones get. 

Houses/properties that qualify: By restricting ADUs to large 
older houses on large lots, cities and towns reduce the universe 
of properties that qualify to have ADUs added. Requirements 
for large lots can mean that houses built in the era of new rail-
roads and streetcars, when lots were narrow to maximize the 
number of people living within walking distance of transit, do 
not qualify. Ideally, many ADUs would be added in railroad 
and streetcar-era neighborhoods, because those are the neigh-
borhoods where residents can still walk to shops and public 
transportation. 

Detached ADUs: Many homeowners would prefer to put an 
accessory apartment above a garage or in a new detached 
structure, as opposed to adding it to the single-family house. 
To significantly increase production, it would be wise to allow 
detached ADUs more liberally. 

Parking: Requiring two off-street parking spaces per ADU is 
excessive. It makes sense to have a flexible policy for parking, 
or not to require parking, as in Newton’s case. 

Dimensional requirements: Less onerous requirements around 
bedrooms, floor area, and other dimensional specifications 
translate to more ADUs being added, and more people housed 
in them. 

Recommendations
The adoption of less-restrictive municipal ADU bylaws and 
ordinances has proven to be a very slow process. Planners and 
housing advocates have been promoting ADUs as a solution to 
the region’s housing crunch for decades. Almost half the local 
master plans and housing production plans adopted in the last 
decade have included recommendations to allow ADUs more 
liberally. Still, only 37 out of 100 municipalities allow ADUs 
to be added and rented out, and most of the municipalities sig-
nificantly restrict the universe of properties that could qualify 
for an ADU. 

Given how challenging it has proven to be to change local 
laws and allow ADUs more liberally, state legislators could 
consider allowing ADUs in single family houses, even where 
local bylaws and ordinances lack the provisions. Then local 
planners and housing advocates could focus on even more dif-
ficult challenges, such as zoning for multi-family housing. 

In the absence of state legislation that would allow ADUs, 
voters in cities and towns can make many revisions to their 
local zoning bylaws and ordinances to allow more ADUs in 
the region. Some aspects of the zoning they might consider 
include: 
By right versus special permit: Sometimes allowing ADUs 
only by special permit reassures local voters that each case 
will be carefully reviewed and there will be opportunities for 
neighbors to get involved when an ADU project appears inap-
propriate to them. If the choice is between allowing ADUs 
by special permit or prohibiting them, special permits are the 
better option. Special permits, however, might be seen by 
homeowners as too risky to bother with, even if in practice 
the permitting boards (typically the ZBA) grant permits to 
all projects that meet the regulatory requirements. Moreover, 
by-right permitting takes less staff time. 



13

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

Appendix
While some of the permitting numbers collected in the research are exact, others numbers pro-
vided represent vague estimates. (Note that “By Right” here means that at least some kinds of 
ADUs in some part of the municipality are allowed by right. For example, in one district the use 
might be by right, while it is by special permit in other districts.)

Municipality By Right or  
Special Permit

Residency 
Restrictions? 

Three Years of Permits  
(2017, 2016, 2015, unless 
otherwise specified)

Total Permitted Comments

Acton By Right No 1 or 2 in 2016, other years 
not reported

  

Ashland By Right Yes 0,1,0 (2016, 2015, 2014) Not tracked  

Bedford By Right No 1,2,0 56  

Bellingham By Special Permit Yes 18*,4,3 (2016, 2015, 2014)  
* mostly renewals

60  

Belmont By Special Permit No 0,1,1 (2016, 2015, 2014)   

Beverly By Special Permit Yes 0,0,0 ”I would guess 
fewer than 25“

 

Boxborough By Right Yes 0,0,0 4 ”Never reached the five-per-year 
limit.“

Carlisle By Special Permit No 8,1,1 24 ”Probably in the last three years 
there have been ten. Most of those 
in the last year. Before that, we were 
averaging one per year, or less.“

Concord By Special Permit No 5,2,5 (2016, 2015, 2014) Unknown ”The [total] number is believed to be 
fairly constant because the permits 
for accessory dwelling units are 
tied not to the property, but to the 
owner.“

Dedham By Special Permit No Two to five per year ”If I were to make a 
guess“: 25 to 30

 

Dover By Special Permit No 0,0,0 (2016, 2015, 2014) ”Very few“  

Foxborough By Right Yes 2,2,5 (2016, 2015, 2014) 45  

Franklin* By Special Permit Yes 5,5,5 (2016, 2015, 2014) Estimates 45 * Franklin is a special case. It does 
not have an ADU bylaw, but ADUs 
restricted to relatives get permitted 
under provisions for two-family 
conversion.

Halifax* By Special Permit Yes 1,3,3 (2016, 2015, 2014) Approximately 46 * Halifax is not in the MAPC region, 
but data collected from it

Hamilton By Special Permit No 2,0,0 (2016, 2015, 2014)   

Holliston By Right Yes 0,1,1 Not tracked; ”Fewer 
than 30?“ ”Yes“

 

Hopkinton By Special Permit Yes 1,3,2 More than 30 Researcher suggested ranges, 1–10, 
11–30, 31–100, more than 100. 
“31–100”

Hudson By Special Permit No 3,1,0 (2016, 2015, 2014) “Would take too 
much time to  
delve into”

 



14

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

Ipswich By Special Permit No 6,12,5 101 (76 in single 
family houses, 
25 in detached 
structures.)

 

Lexington By Right No 3,5,6 (approximately) Less than  
a hundred

Started tracking the permits in 2015. 
“Back in the day we did an amnesty 
program for illegal apartments.“ The 
amnesty program brought in about 
90 apartments out of an estimated 
200. Those apartments would not all 
qualify under the current provisions, 
but were permitted as ”pre-existing.“ 
The town does not know how many 
of the 90 currently exist. Some have 
been decommissioned, but the 
homeowner is not required to report 
the removal of an ADU to the town. 

Lincoln By Special Permit No 0,2,1 (2016, 2015, 2014) Approximately  
57 to 67

 

Littleton By Right No 1,2,2 67 (31 expired)  

Manchester By Special Permit No 0,0,0 ”Very rare“ ”Unsure of the number without 
doing considerable research.“

Marshfield By Special Permit No ”Average 15 per year.“ ”We are probably in 
the 150 range.“

 

Maynard By Special Permit Yes Approximately two permits 
every three years.

”No current way of 
knowing“

 

Medfield By Special Permit No Maybe six units in the last 
three years, all family units

 The town permits both family units 
and ADUs. ADUs are only allowed 
in pre-1938 buildings, bigger than a 
certain size. Nobody has applied to 
add an ADU, only family apartments. 

Medway By Special Permit Yes 4,2,1 27  

Melrose By Special Permit Yes 2,2,1 20  

Milton By Special Permit Yes “Not more than  
one per year”

  

Newton By Right No 9,5,7 44 confirmed. The permitting database goes back 
to 2005. They are scanning old files 
now. 

Norwell By Special Permit Yes “My guess is one or none.”   

Scituate By Right No  98  

Stoneham By Special Permit Yes 6,5,1 50 to 60 There have been 50 – 60 approvals, 
but the special permit is no longer 
valid when the family member 
moves out, so not all of those units 
are currently permitted. 

Swampscott By Special Permit No 0,0,1 5 to 10  

Wenham By Special Permit No 3,2,0 24 as of 2008  

Westwood By Special Permit No  At least 45.  

Wilmington By Right No 0,6,12  The 2001 Master Plan mentions  
27 permitted ADUs. 



15

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

The following lists are up-to-date as of the time the zoning was reviewed by the researcher during 
2017 and 2018. In some cases, the zoning might have been amended in the time period between 
the data collection and publication of the paper. For example, municipalities surveyed in the fall 
of 2017 might have amended their zoning at Town Meeting in the spring of 2018, and the change 
would not be reflected here. 

Municipalities that allow ADUs without restricting occupancy to relatives of the homeowner: 

Acton
Bedford
Belmont
Bolton
Burlington
Cambridge
Canton
Carlisle
Cohasset
Concord
Dedham
Dover
Duxbury
Hamilton
Hudson
Ipswich
Lexington
Lincoln
Littleton

Manchester
Marshfield
Medfield
Milford
Newton
Reading
Rockport
Scituate
Southborough
Stow
Sudbury
Swampscott
Waltham
Wayland
Wenham
Weston
Westwood
Wilmington

Municipalities that allow ADUs but restrict residency to relatives of the homeowner, caretakers, 
elderly people, or qualifying low-income households. 

Ashland
Bellingham
Beverly
Boxborough
Brookline
Danvers
Foxborough
Gloucester
Hanover 
Holbrook
Holliston
Hopkinton
Lynnfield
Maynard
Medway
Melrose

Millis
Milton
Norwell
Peabody
Pembroke
Randolph
Rockland
Sharon
Sherborn
Stoneham
Stoughton
Topsfield
Wakefield
Walpole
Weymouth



16

THE STATE OF ZONING FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS

Arlington
Braintree
Chelsea
Essex
Everett
Framingham
Franklin
Hingham
Hull
Lynn
Malden
Marblehead
Marlborough
Medford
Middleton
Nahant

Municipalities that lack zoning for ADUs (although in some of the municipalities, building 
inspectors do grant permits for ADUs): 

Natick
Needham
Norfolk
North Reading
Norwood
Quincy
Revere
Salem
Saugus
Somerville
Watertown
Wellesley
Winchester
Winthrop
Woburn
Wrentham



17

PIONEER INSTITUTE

About Pioneer

Pioneer Institute is an independent, non-partisan, privately 
funded research organization that seeks to improve the quality 
of life in Massachusetts through civic discourse and intellectu-
ally rigorous, data-driven public policy solutions based on free 
market principles, individual liberty and responsibility, and the 
ideal of effective, limited and accountable government.

About the Author 

Amy Dain is currently conducting a study of residential 
zoning regulation in Greater Boston, commissioned by 
the Massachusetts Smart Growth Alliance. Previously she 
coordinated the StatNet initiative for the Collins Center 
for Public Management at UMass Boston, and managed 
Pioneer Institute's Housing and Middle Cities Initiatives. 
She earned her Master of Public Policy from the Harvard 
Kennedy School of Government and Bachelor of Arts in 
Russian Studies from Wesleyan University.



 185 Devonshire Street, Suite 1101 Boston MA 02110  617.723.2277  617.723.1880 
 www.pioneerinstitute.org  Facebook.com/PioneerInstitute  Twitter.com/PioneerBoston

http://www.pioneerinstitute.org


SAN DIEGO’S 
AMBITIOUS  
FUTURE
5 WAYS TO  
ENGAGE YOUTH  
IN PLANNING
CAN TOURISM STILL 
DRIVE ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT?
PLUS:  
ZONING HACKS 
FOR MISSING 
MIDDLE HOUSING 

THE MAGAZINE OF THE AMERICAN PLANNING ASSOCIATION  SPRING 2022



C
O

V
E

R
 A

N
D

 T
H

IS
 P

A
G

E
 (

TO
P

):
 A

R
IA

N
A

 D
R

E
H

S
L

E
R

; G
LY

N
 A

 S
TA

N
L

E
Y

 P
H

O
TO

G
R

A
P

H
Y



READ PLANNING MAGAZINE AND WEB-EXCLUSIVE CONTENT AT PLANNING.ORG/PLANNING.

Contents
Spring 2022 | Volume 88 | Number 2

C
O

V
E

R
 A

N
D

 T
H

IS
 P

A
G

E
 (

TO
P

):
 A

R
IA

N
A

 D
R

E
H

S
L

E
R

; G
LY

N
 A

 S
TA

N
L

E
Y

 P
H

O
TO

G
R

A
P

H
Y

INTERSECTIONS
06 INFRASTRUCTURE: A surge in EV legislation.

11  HISTORIC PRESERVATION: Uncovering 
LGBTQ+ history.

12  PEOPLE BEHIND THE PLANS: Author Leslie 
Kern on gender and the city.

16  ET CETERA: LeBron James takes on 
education, new climate outlook, a soothing 
planning game.

TOOLS FOR THE TRADE
18  HOUSING: 9 zoning hacks for housing 

affordability.

21  THE PROFESSION: Launch a successful 
diversity initiative.

22 TECH: What you need to know about big data.

ALSO IN THIS ISSUE
04 CONTRIBUTORS

05  PERSPECTIVES: Upskilling for today’s 
challenges. 

46  COMMUNITY GREEN: The city of 140 
roundabouts.

On the cover and top: Tidelands Park in Coronado in San Diego, California. 
Above: Family-friendly drive-in event in Charlotte, North Carolina.

Is Tourism Still  
a Viable Economic 
Development Strategy?
We check in with destina-
tions across the country.

“Temporary Paradise”  
to Ambitious Future
San Diego plans for  
denser, more sustainable 
development and rejects  
its car-centric past. 

6 Ways to Engage Youth in 
Comprehensive Planning
How to meet young people 
where they are—including 
on TikTok.

3824

34

34

24

Join your colleagues 
at NPC22 and learn 
more with live 
mobile workshops 
and sessions. 

MOBILE WORKSHOP

Explore Coronado 
Island by bicycle 
to discover how 
planning for public 
art can enhance a 
community. 



4 Planning Spring 2022

GENERAL  
EXCELLENCE

GOLD AWARD

PLANNING
THE MAGAZINE OF THE AMERICAN PLANNING ASSOCIATION

The American Planning Association will lead the way  
to equitable, thriving communities by creating unique insights,  

as well as innovative and practical approaches that enable the planning 
community to anticipate and successfully adapt to the needs  

of a rapidly changing world.

APA Board of Directors

Leo R. Asuncion Jr., aicp • President 
Angela D. Brooks, aicp • President-Elect

Wendy E. Moeller, faicp • Secretary
Lauren M. Driscoll, aicp • Treasurer

Joel Albizo, fasae, cae • Chief Executive Officer

Linda Amato, aicp • Kristen L. Asp, aicp • Ann Forsyth, phd
Tim Gladhill, aicp • Benjamin G. Hitchings, faicp • Kohl Malo, aicp

Allison G. Mouch, aicp • Chad M. Nabity, aicp • Wendy D. Shabay, aicp
Mitchell J. Silver, aicp • Scott D. Turner, aicp • Silvia E. Vargas, faicp

Commission of the American Institute of Certified Planners 

Mitchell J. Silver, faicp • President 
Karen Wolf, faicp • President-Elect

Miroo Desai, aicp • Jae Hill, aicp • Sarah Marchant, aicp
Kimberley Mickelson, aicp • Erin N. Perdu, aicp • Arlova J. Vonhm, aicp

Staff
Liz Lang • Marketing and Communications Director

Meghan Stromberg • Editor in Chief
Cynthia Currie • Creative Director
Lindsay R. Nieman • Senior Editor 

APA Offices

205 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 1200, Chicago, IL 60601–5927   312.431.9100

APA National Advertising Representative
Hallie Brown • Senior Sales Manager, Smithbucklin

202.367.1229       hbrown@smithbucklin.com

Planning Vol 88, No. 2. Planning (ISSN 0001–2610) is published 4 times a year by the American Planning Association, 205 N. Michigan Ave., Suite 1200, Chicago, IL 
60601. Periodicals postage paid at Chicago, Illinois, and at additional mailing offices. Planning is a registered trademark. Copyright 2022 by the American Planning 
Association. Reprint permission must be requested in writing from APA. Attn: Postmaster and subscribers please send change of address to: Planning, Subscription 
Department, American Planning Association, 205 N. Michigan Ave., Suite 1200, Chicago, IL 60601; 312–431–9100. Please supply both old and new addresses. 
Attn: Canadian Postmaster By Canadian agreement 40033287, Canadian return mail should be addressed to Station A, P.O. Box 54, Windsor, Ontario N9A 6J5.

Contributors

Ariana Drehsler
Cover, “Temporary Paradise” to  
Ambitious Future, page 24

This San Diego-based photojournalist 
focuses on social and political issues. 
“What I loved about this shoot is that  
I was able to show different sides of San 
Diego,” she says. From La Jolla’s modern 
architecture to the art and food of Barrio 
Logan, “different areas have their own 
unique vibe, like most, if not all, cities.  
I love that Planning is showing that.”

Patrick Sisson
“Temporary Paradise” to  
Ambitious Future, page 24

A Los Angeles-based writer, Sisson 
focuses on cities and the tech, develop-
ments, and policy shaping their future. 
“It’s heartening, at a time when the 
housing market seems to continuously 
one-up itself, to see local advocates-
turned-electeds in San Diego present a 
concerted, holistic solution to one of the 
city and state’s defining crises,” he says.

Michelle McCue
Is Tourism Still a Viable Economic 
Development Strategy?, page 38

This place-marketing specialist has 
helped destinations navigate crises for 
nearly two decades. “The pandemic hit 
global tourism like a power outage: all at 
once,” she says. “But many people began 
traveling again the moment restrictions 
were lifted, which attests to the strength 
of the wanderlust impulse—and the stay-
ing power of this sector.”



American Planning Association 5

PER 
SPECT 

IVES

FROM THE DESK OF APA’S PLANNING AND COMMUNITY HEALTH MANAGER

Upskilling Ourselves and the Planning Profession

I HAVE BEEN a researcher at APA 
for five years; most of my work 
has been focused on grant-funded 

research at the intersection of plan-
ning and public health, with health 
equity as a focal point. Over the years, 
this has provided me with opportuni-
ties to interact with planning practi-
tioners from around the country.

Lately, these meaningful conver-
sations often center on a major chal-
lenge for our profession: We planners 
are often more caught up in reacting 
to the present than preparing for the 
future. This worries me. Planning 
for the future is integral to our pro-
fession, and while we can’t predict 
what will happen, one thing is cer-
tain: There will be more changes. Unexpected 
occurrences like the pandemic, disruptors such 
as technology, and worsening existing chal-
lenges like climate change will keep coming. We 
need to meet them head on by understanding 
the dynamics of the change, preparing to evolve 
planning processes and approaches, and con-
tinuing to learn new skills.

That’s where APA’s just-launched Upskilling 
Initiative comes in. What is upskilling? In short, 
it’s the process of teaching or learning new skills 
within someone’s current job or profession that 
help them adapt to changing needs. The aim  
of the APA Upskilling Initiative is straightfor-
ward: We want to equip planners with the right 
skillsets to excel in dynamic environments.

This effort interconnects with another top 
APA priority: advancing equity, diversity, inclu-
sion, and accessibility. That means that EDI- 
related skills gaps will receive a special focus in 
the Upskilling Initiative. An important part of 
upskilling is sometimes unlearning something, 
and that’s especially true when it comes to EDI. 
Unlearning is not about forgetting what we 
know, but about changing our mindset to learn 
and use different methods to address a challenge.

In order for the planning pro-
fession to upskill—and for APA to 
provide learning opportunities to 
help—we first need to know where 
the gaps are. We are developing a 
skills gap analysis process that draws 
on insights from APA’s Foresight 
practice, EDI-related expert groups, 
members, and other sources. 

We also need your help. What are 
you facing in your work that’s new, 
tricky, or even overwhelming? What 
shifts are happening in your com-
munities? What skills do you need 
to rise to those challenges and grow 
professionally? In the future, we’ll 
share ways APA members can help 
with the skills gap analysis, and we 

look forward to your perspective and expertise.
Once we know what the gaps are, APA 

researchers, the education team, and other content 
creators will work with subject matter experts to 
develop relevant resources for planners. This will 
be a continuous process of assessing planners’ 
unmet needs and creating upskilling educa-
tion and training to help us effectively manage 
change. Stay tuned for opportunities to upskill 
yourselves, and take advantage of existing  
APA resources, like the Knowledge Center  
(planning.org/knowledgecenter), Foresight 
practice (planning.org/foresight), and more.

As a planning researcher, learning new things 
is a main motivator in my work—and besides, it’s 
necessary for helping me adapt to change. Right 
now, I am undergoing project management 
training to manage the Upskilling Initiative. 
(Project management is such an essential skill for 
planners, but it is typically absent from formal 
education; it certainly was from mine.) I hope 
you’ll join me in identifying your own skills gaps 
and taking steps to upskill yourself.

Sagar Shah, phd, aicp, is APA’s planning and community 
health manager.

‘ An important 
part of upskilling 
is sometimes 
unlearning 
something, and 
that’s especially 
true when it 
comes to EDI. 
Unlearning is not 
about forgetting 
what we know, 
but about 
changing our 
mindset.’
—SAGAR SHAH, phd, aicp



6 Planning Spring 2022

Around 100,000 public chargers like this one in San Francisco are 
currently in operation across the U.S., but experts say we could need 
a million more for a full switch to EVs. The Infrastructure Investment 
and Jobs Act could help state legislators narrow that gap.
KELSEY MCCLELLAN/THE NEW YORK TIMES



American Planning Association 7

INTER  
SECTIONS

INFRASTRUCTURE

New Federal Funding Sparks 
Surge in EV Legislation 
As the new infrastructure law prompts action, state lawmakers call  
2022 a “turning point” for electric vehicles.  By Alex Brown 

AUTOMAKERS ARE planning 
to put nearly one million 
new electric vehicles on 

American roads in 2022. Lawmak-
ers are trying to make sure their 
states are ready. 

“We will see a lot more empha-
sis on electric vehicles in 2022 and 
2023,” says Dylan McDowell,  
deputy director of the National 
Caucus of Environmental Legisla-
tors, a collaborative forum for state 
lawmakers. “This is the start of a 
really big turning point.”

Across the country, legislatures 
in blue and red states are con-
sidering bills to bolster charging 
infrastructure, expand consumer 
incentives, electrify state fleets, 
and mandate charging stations in 
new buildings. States also will be 
tasked with deploying billions in 
new federal funds for charging 
stations approved in the new 
infrastructure law, and some leg-
islators say they plan to take an 
active role in that strategy.

“This is being taken seriously 
in a way it hasn’t been before, 
because the trajectory is very 
clear,” says Marc Geller, a board 
member and spokesperson for the 

Electric Vehicle Association.
In the U.S., the transportation 

sector is the largest source of green-
house gas emissions, making up 
nearly 30 percent of the national 
total. While many states have plans 
to switch to renewable electricity 
sources, reducing vehicle emissions 
is much more complicated. But as 
the private sector market for elec-
tric vehicles matures, many law-
makers see an opportunity.

Electric vehicle sales in the U.S. 
doubled in 2021 compared with 
2020, and car buyers in 2022 will 
have twice as many electric models 
from which to choose. As the mar-
ket grows quickly, state lawmakers 
say they’re focused on making sure 
infrastructure keeps up, and—in 
what is perhaps the greater chal-
lenge—ensuring that electric vehi-
cle benefits aren’t just enjoyed by 
their wealthiest residents.

Local action
Hawaii ranks second in the nation 
behind California for electric 
vehicle adoption. “We’re just at 
the inflection point where we’re 
about to take off in a huge way,” 
says Hawaii state senator Chris 

WHERE PLANNING AND THE WORLD MEET
Infrastructure | Historic Preservation |  

People Behind the Plans | Et cetera 



8 Planning Spring 2022

INTER 
SECTIONS
Infrastructure
Historic Preservation
People Behind the Plans
Et cetera 

with the Missouri Department of 
Transportation to deploy chargers 
along national highways. 

Michigan expects to receive 
$110 million of the charging 
funds. “This will get a lot of peo-
ple over the hump in making the 
choice to have their next vehicle 
be an EV,” Lieutenant Governor 
Garlin Gilchrist, a Democrat, 
says. “This year is going to be the 
one that makes the difference.” 

The state has partnered with 
its Midwestern neighbors to 
form a coalition focused on a 
regional network of charging 
stations, and it is also investing 
in a workforce development plan 
to ready residents for jobs in the 
electric vehicles industry.

In New York, state officials 
expect to receive $175 million 
from the feds. 

“As more EVs are on the 
road, the business case for 

advantage,” Jared Blumenfeld, 
secretary of the California Envi-
ronmental Protection Agency, 
said in a press call.

Federal funds
The federal infrastructure pack-
age Congress passed in 2021 
includes $7.5 billion for electric 
vehicle charging stations, with 
$5 billion given directly to the 
states. Some Republicans oppose 
the use of government funds to 
support electric vehicle adop-
tion, but the funding has gotten 
the attention of conservative 
states that have otherwise shown 
little interest in climate policy.

Missouri, for instance, will 
receive $99 million to expand 
electric vehicle charging over five 
years. Brian Quinn, a spokes-
person for the Missouri Depart-
ment of Natural Resources, says 
the agency plans to collaborate 

Lee, the Democrat who chairs 
the Transportation Committee. 
“Our charging capacity has been 
greatly outstripped by the num-
ber of EVs out there. We need a 
lot more capacity, and quickly.”

Hawaii legislators are looking 
to build more charging stations 
for rental cars, which make up  
a significant portion of the tour-
ism-heavy state’s EVs. They’re 
planning to use federal funds 
to create charging hubs. Other 
proposals would put in place a 
requirement for charging sta-
tions in public parking lots and a 
new consumer rebate for electric 
vehicle purchases, with a focus 
on lower-income communities. 

Meanwhile, Republican law-
makers in both Indiana and 
Wisconsin are backing bills 
that would allow the owners of 
charging stations to sell electric-
ity by the kilowatt-hour, rather 
than by the minute. That would 
benefit drivers of slower-charging 
vehicles. Sponsors say the bills 
would allow businesses to play 
a greater role in providing 
charging infrastructure.

In California, Democratic 
governor Gavin Newsom is pro-
posing more than $6 billion in 
investments to speed up electric 
vehicle adoption. More than 
$250 million would be targeted 
to assist low-income consumers, 
with another $900 million to 
build chargers in underserved 
neighborhoods. 

“In this clean transportation 
revolution, the next phase is 
making sure that low-income 
communities and communi-
ties of color are able to take  ©

T
H

E
 P

E
W

 C
H

A
R

IT
A

B
L

E
 T

R
U

S
T

S

‘ Our 
charging 
capacity 
has been 
greatly 
outstripped 
by the 
number 
of EVs 
out there. 
We need 
a lot more 
capacity, 
and 
quickly.’

—CHRIS LEE, 
HAWAII STATE 

SENATOR

SOURCE: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY, U.S. CENSUS BUREAU.

WESTERN STATES TAKE LEAD ON ELECTRIC VEHICLES
Electric vehicle adoption varies widely across the country, and  
many lawmakers are pushing bills in 2022 that seek to speed their 
state’s transition.



 ©
T

H
E

 P
E

W
 C

H
A

R
IT

A
B

L
E

 T
R

U
S

T
S

Prioritize the Human Element in 
Designing Your Neighborhood

Copyright © 2022 Esri. All rights reserved.
G2678919

Use GIS to determine how, where, and when your designs 
can have the greatest impact to improve quality of life.

Have Questions?
• Come by our booth at the National Planning Conference.
• Email us at planning@esri.com.

Visit esri.com/APA for more information.

planning-magazine-ad-v2.indd   1planning-magazine-ad-v2.indd   1 3/3/22   10:34 AM3/3/22   10:34 AM



10 Planning Spring 2022

N
A

T
IO

N
A

L
 A

R
C

H
IV

E
S

/D
E

P
A

R
T

M
E

N
T

 O
F

 D
E

F
E

N
S

E

INTER 
SECTIONS
Infrastructure
Historic Preservation
People Behind the Plans
Et cetera

uscprice.page/emup

No GRE required

Our students come to the Executive Master of Urban Planning online 

degree from fields as diverse as affordable housing development, 

architectural and engineering consulting, elected office and planning 

commissions, design professions, environmental sustainability, 

transportation, and technology and media jobs.

An Executive Degree Designed for Working Professionals

USC Price’s accelerated Executive Master of Urban Planning online 

program merges urban planning and real estate development, building 

on decades of USC Price leadership and expertise in both fields.

Intersection of Urban Planning and Real Estate Development

EXECUTIVE MASTER OF
URBAN PLANNING
ONLINE installing charging stations gets 

better and better,” says Adam 
Ruder, assistant director for 
clean transportation with the 
New York State Energy Research 
and Development Authority. 
“We’re trying to get to that point 
where it becomes a self-sustain-
ing market. This infrastructure 
money and the other invest-
ments we’re making can really 
help us get there.”

Some New York officials 
want mandates. State Senator Liz 
Krueger, a Democrat, has spon-
sored a bill that would require 
newly constructed buildings to 
include wiring for electric vehicle 
chargers in a certain percentage 
of their parking spaces. 

But mandates have drawn 
pushback. Missouri state Rep-
resentative Jim Murphy, a 
Republican, has proposed a 
bill that would block cities and 
counties from requiring busi-
nesses or buildings to install 
charging stations. Murphy 
says St. Louis County’s man-
date requires any business that 
wants to resurface its park-
ing lot to spend thousands 
on charging stations. His bill 
would require that mandating 
governments pay for them.

“There’s no feeling that we 
should stop the growth of EVs, 
that’s the future,” Murphy says. 
“But you can’t put it on the backs 
of small businesses and churches. 
If we’re going to make the little 
guy pay for it, I’m going to cham-
pion against it.”

Alex Brown is a staff writer for 
Stateline. This story was reprinted with 
permission from Stateline, an initiative 
of the Pew Charitable Trusts.



American Planning Association 11

N
A

T
IO

N
A

L
 A

R
C

H
IV

E
S

/D
E

P
A

R
T

M
E

N
T

 O
F

 D
E

F
E

N
S

E

History, the first national effort of 
its kind in the world. And at the 
state level, two context studies 
are setting the curve: Kentucky’s 
in 2016, and most recently, 
Maryland’s in 2020. That proj-
ect is taking on new life with a 
dynamic, soon-to-be released 
report aimed at the public.

“The statewide context, in 
my opinion, is one of the best 
ways to approach thematic his-
tory in planning,” says Meagan 
Baco, project manager of Mary-

land’s study and the director of 
communications at Preservation 
Maryland when they launched 
the project. “The report defi-
nitely filled a vacuum. People 
were really looking for this type 
of comprehensive look that then 
allowed and empowered them 
to do local-facing projects that 
really have impact.” 

Reflecting the community
Maryland’s LGBTQ+ survey 
identifies almost 400 sites with 
ties to important figures, com-
munity groups, businesses, AIDS 
and marriage advocacy, and 
more. As in Kentucky, much of 
this work was grant funded and 
required extensive local engage-
ment and coordination.

AT LEAST seven percent 
of U.S. adults—or more 
than 20 million people—

identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, 
and/or transgender, a 2021 Gal-
lup poll estimates. That propor-
tion is up from 4.5 percent in 
2017, in part due to Gen Z’s com-
ing of age: one in five adults born 
between 1997 and 2003 currently 
identify as LGBT.

Despite making up a sizable 
and growing part of the pop-
ulation, the diverse LGBTQ+ 
community rarely sees targeted 
engagement from the urban 
design fields. But a building pres-
ervation movement is working to 
change that with a valuable tool: 
historical context studies.

A means of identifying histor-
ically significant places around 
a theme, these reports can guide 
vital planning work. The nation’s 
first LGBTQ+ historical survey 
was created by the group Friends 
of 1800 for San Francisco in 2004; 
the city built on that with a study 
in 2015 that helped advocates 
create the Compton’s Transgen-
der Cultural District, which offers 
community services in the Ten-
derloin, where the country’s first 
transgender uprising occurred. 

Elsewhere, the National Park 
Service, which keeps the National 
Register of Historic Places, 
released in 2016 LGBTQ America: 
A Theme Study of Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION 

LGBTQ+ Stories Are 
American History
At local and national levels, context studies are 
honoring influential people and places—and 
driving planning efforts.  By Tatiana Walk-Morris

It’s important to meet mem-
bers of the LGBTQ+ community 
where they are, says Rebeccah 
Ballo, historic preservation 
program supervisor with the 
Montgomery County Planning 
Department, which was closely 
engaged in the Maryland project. 
Part of that involved intersecting 
communities, she explains, like 
examining the state’s maritime 
and naval academy histories for 
overlooked LGBTQ+ stories. 

Catherine Fosl, professor 
of women’s gender and sexual-
ity studies at the University of 
Louisville and lead author of 
the Kentucky LGBTQ Historic 
Context Narrative, echoes Ballo’s 
advice. Teams should also reflect 
the LGBTQ+ community they’re 
working to highlight, Fosl says, 
while remembering that some 
may wish to keep their gender 
identities and sexualities discreet.

Fosl recommends reassuring 
participants that their materi-
als will be handled with care, as 
much of this history comes from 
private items like letters and 
photographs. Local community 
groups, gay and lesbian bars, and 
oral history centers and archives 
at universities are also valuable 
resources, Fosl says. 

Maryland plans to use the 
study to build out its register 
of historic places, among other 
efforts. Locally, it will influence 
master plans, Ballo says. 

“What’s required of us as 
planners,” Ballo says, “[is mak-
ing] sure that our plans are for 
the people who live here, all of 
the people here, and that they see 
themselves reflected in our work.”

Tatiana Walk-Morris is a Detroit-native 
and Chicago-based journalist.

The U.S. Naval 
Academy 
class of 1985. 
Maryland’s 
LGBTQ+ 
context study 
required 
searching 
for stories in 
overlooked 
places, 
including  
the state’s 
maritime 
and naval 
academies.



12 Planning Spring 2022

of us have been told over and over 
again that we have to look out for 
the economy. But what is the econ-
omy founded on? What other ele-

ments of the urban environment are important to us, 
and what other kinds of roles and work and relation-
ships are really the foundational elements? 

So for me, a feminist city is about thinking 
beyond the city as an economic unit and instead as 
a place for people, for care work, for social relation-
ships, for interacting with the environment, and as  
a vehicle for social change.

KASHIMA: Are there any glimmers of hope? 
KERN: I think one of the conversations [the pan-
demic] has sparked is around issues of care work in 
the home, gender in the workplace, and how those 
things interrelate together, because in many ways, we 
are recognizing that despite all of our pretensions to 
gender equality in the home and workplace, there’s 
still a disproportionate share of care labor that falls 
on women in the home. And in both Canada and the 

INTER 
SECTIONS
Infrastructure
Historic Preservation
People Behind the Plans
Et cetera

M
IT

C
H

E
L

 R
A

P
H

A
E

L

‘ For me, a feminist 
city is about 
thinking beyond 
the city as an 
economic unit and 
instead as a place 
for people, for care 
work, for social 
relationships, for 
interacting with 
the environment, 
and as a vehicle for 
social change.’

—LESLIE KERN

PEOPLE BEHIND THE PLANS

Leslie Kern on Gender and the City

C ITIES ARE NOT gender 
neutral. Much of the 
built environment has 

been designed by and for men, 
explains Leslie Kern. And even 
then, a narrow male subject: 
“Usually a white, middle-class 
father, breadwinner, worker, able 
bodied, heterosexual, and so on.”

From out-of-reach subway 
straps to train lines with inad-
equate routes for caretakers, 
“women are kind of reminded 
the city wasn’t really built for 
you,” says Kern, associate profes-
sor of geography and environ-
ment and director of women’s 
and gender studies at Mount 
Allison University. 

Her latest book, Feminist City: 
Claiming Space in a Man-Made 
World, takes a critical look at the 
gender disparities inherent in the 
built environment—and how to 
address them. I recently spoke 
with her on an episode of APA’s 
podcast series People Behind the 
Plans to learn how planners can 
join the effort. This interview has 
been edited for length and clarity.

COURTNEY KASHIMA: What  
is a feminist city, and why is 
it important?
LESLIE KERN: For me, the femi-
nist city is a vision, really—a set 
of values and principles that are 
dedicated to equity, to justice, 
to sustainability, and to reen-
visioning what we really think 
the city is for. I think during the 
pandemic, it’s been a real key 
moment for this because so many 

Q&A



M
IT

C
H

E
L

 R
A

P
H

A
E

L

ONE PATH.ONE PATH.
ALL PLANNERS.ALL PLANNERS.

AICP Certification empowers planners to make an impact. 
Your path to AICP is now more streamlined.

  Register | Register 
for the program and 
schedule your exam

  Test | Pass the AICP 
Certification Exam 
and become an AICP 
Candidate

  Apply | Submit 
your experience 
assessment and apply 
to become AICP

Registration for the Spring 2022 certification cycle opens April 4.

Learn more—and download new self-assessment tools  
to ensure you’re ready—at planning.org/certification.



A cutting-edge, 
solutions-oriented 
analysis of how we 
can reimagine cities 

and build sustainable 
futures.

www.ucpress.edu

NEW WAYS TO SEE OUR CITIES

“An indispensable guide 
for anyone who wants 
to reform the city by 

any means necessary.”
—CounterPunch

“An indispensable guide 

“A valuable resource 
for . . . tackling some 

of the causes and 
consequences of 
homelessness.”

—LSE Review of Books

 “The pleasures and 
perils of living so close 

to other species.”
—Eric W. Sanderson,

 author of Mannahatta

INTER 
SECTIONS
Infrastructure
Historic Preservation
People Behind the Plans
Et cetera

U.S., many thousands, if not hundreds of thousands, 
of women have lost their jobs. So what’s the glimmer 
of hope in that? 

Well, our government here in Canada, just like 
yours in the U.S., now has started to recognize that 
there can be no real economic recovery without 
some attention to these gender issues. So we’ve had 
renewed conversations about the possibility of a 
national childcare plan, which is something that 
comes up over and over again but very little action 
has been taken towards it. 

And I think at the urban level, there’s also been 
some interesting moments where people were say-
ing, “Get outside, socialize outside, make use of out-
door public space, it’s safer,” and so on. But many of 
our cities have not really been well set up to encour-
age that socializing. So some cities took it upon 
themselves to do things that, again, they’d been drag-
ging their feet on for a long time. They increased 
bicycle lanes and pedestrian access. They created 
more space for socializing in urban public space. 

They limited car traffic. They created opportunities 
for other sorts of social engagements, whether that’s 
through outdoor dining or outdoor public activities. 
So I think it’s a moment where we could see perhaps 
some changes in how we use urban public space.

KASHIMA: Do improvements made using a 
feminist lens benefit all kinds of people?
KERN: Absolutely. There’s nothing that I would 
imagine as part of a feminist city that is about tak-
ing something away from somebody else or limiting 
another group’s access to public spaces, workplaces, 
and so on. It’s about imagining, how do we broaden 
that access, both in a physical sense in terms of the 
things that you were talking about, like physical 
accessibility and the built environment, but also 
social accessibility, safety, cultural norms, all of these 
different things that contribute to a person or a 
group’s sense of being included as being part of the 
city, as belonging to the city. 

And the more we can expand that, the more 



American Planning Association 15

Research Makes Planning Possible

Connect With HUD User

HUD User is your primary source for federal government reports, research, publications, and 

datasets from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development’s Office of Policy Develop-

ment and Research (PD&R). Visit HUDUser.gov to explore research on a wide range of housing 

topics that can help you make well-informed, evidence-based decisions for your community. 

Check out The Edge, PD&R’s online magazine, and subscribe to PD&R Updates to stay up to date 

on new research and resources available from HUD User.

everyone will benefit. And a feminist lens, a gender 
equity lens, is just one way of opening that up. It’s 
not the only way. And I would never advocate for it 
to replace other ways of looking at the city. But cer-
tainly, if we think about a feminist analysis of care 
work, for example, you know, who does the unpaid 
and paid labor that keeps human beings alive and 
cared for and nursed and educated and fed and 
clean? All of that kind of labor—how is that orga-
nized in the city? How could we reshape elements of 
city spaces to prioritize that care work? 

That’s not just something that benefits the women 
who do that work, but that’s something that benefits 
everybody, all sorts of different groups in society. 

KASHIMA: And what role do you think 
municipal urban planners can or should play?
KERN: Planners can engage in active listening with 
communities, really try to do that on-the-ground 
work of community engagement. They can also 
think about what an equity lens would mean for 

their decision-making processes. So when you’re 
thinking about where to put a new transit line or 
new park or even just a reorganization of a particular 
space, you can ask yourself: Does this enhance gen-
der equity and other forms of equity? Does it leave 
it neutral, or might it have negative effects on that? 
And that can be a guidepost, kind of a compass, for 
some decision making as well. 

And I think planners can also think about how 
to diversify the profession. I think in the U.S., from 
what I’ve looked into, the profession is still about 
80 percent white. That’s also an equity issue. So how 
can we have better representation amongst planners 
so that some of these questions are not, again, after-
thoughts, but that the people already in the room 
might be saying, “Hey, what about stroller access? 
What about children? What about seniors? What 
about racial equity?”

Courtney Kashima is founder and principal of Muse 
Community + Design, a planning and public engagement 
studio in Chicago, and a frequent host of the APA podcast.

PODCAST 
Listen to 
the full 

conversation 
on the APA 

podcast 
for ways to 

promote 
gender 

equity in your 
community. 

ONLINE
bit.ly/ 

3Kadrb6



16 Planning Spring 2022

F
R

O
M

 L
E

F
T

: T
O

W
N

S
C

A
P

E
R

, I
 P

R
O

M
IS

E

EVERY 26 SECONDS, a stu-
dent drops out of school 
in the U.S.

That’s the opening message 
of I Promise, a new documen-
tary from Marc Levin about 
an innovative school in Akron, 
Ohio. The result of a partnership 
between the city’s public school 
system and the LeBron James 
Family Foundation, I Promise 
School launched in 2018 with 
240 third and fourth graders. 

Unlike many charter schools, 
these students were selected from 
the lower 25 percent of the dis-
trict based on standardized test 
performance—according to the 
school’s premise, they’re the ones 
most at risk of falling behind, 
being held back, and dropping 
out. The approach to combatting 
these statistics is summed up in 
the school’s slogan, emblazoned 
on nearly every T-shirt, banner, 
and sign: “We Are Family.” This 
commitment extends beyond 
the classroom, to the students’ 
parents, housing, healthcare, and 
neighborhoods.

Many of the resulting insights 
will be familiar to planners: How 
can students learn if they come to 
school hungry? If they don’t feel 
safe? How can parents provide 
supportive environments without 
steady employment or housing? 
And so, even in its first years, the 
mission expands with mental 
health care, a food pantry, and 
plans for an “I Promise Village” 
with housing and other services.

Importantly, the school 
stresses building these systems 
and relationships over the long-
term. (As LeBron James says, 
“this is not instant oatmeal, just 
add water.”) The partners are 
honest about the need to learn as 
they grow, even through missteps 
and failures. Despite the chal-
lenges, the film ultimately offers 
an optimistic vision: If we don’t 
give up on our young learners, 
they won’t, either.

Ezra Haber Glenn, aicp, is Planning’s 
regular film reviewer. He teaches at 
MIT’s Department of Urban Studies & 
Planning and writes about cities and 
film. Follow him at urbanfilm.org and  
@UrbanFilmOrg.

TO READ

UNFLINCHING 
CLIMATE REALITY
The next two decades could 
bring far more severe climate 
hazards if the planet warms 
another 2.7 degrees Fahrenheit, 
with already-vulnerable areas 
and populations the most at 
risk, finds Climate Change 2022: 
Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnera-
bility. This latest report from the 
UN’s Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change offers an 
unflinching look at the impacts 
on the natural and built environ-
ments of every continent, along 
with policy recommendations for 
mitigation and adaption. Read it 
now at ipcc.ch.

GAMING

ONE-CLICK PLANNING
Wouldn’t it be nice to build a town with 
just a few clicks of a button?

While that isn’t possible in the real 
world just yet, Townscaper lets you do 

so on a Mac, PC, 
and Nintendo 
Switch. With 
each press of the 
button, users can 
create roads and 
add and expand 
buildings. Little 
surprises pop up 

along the way, too, like balconies, rooftop 
gardens, and slivers of beaches.

Altogether, Townscaper is a sooth-
ing, beautiful take on world building—
and planning.

Rachael Hoffman is APA’s customer service associate.

INTER 
SECTIONS
The Profession
Historic Preservation
People Behind the Plans
Et cetera

NOW STREAMING

An Education Slam Dunk?
LeBron 
James in 
I Promise. 
Watch it for 
free at bit.ly/
ipslebron.



YOUR
PASSPORT
IS READY
Learning is a life-long journey 
for planners who help communities 
navigate an ever-changing world. 

Let APA equip you for your voyage 
with Passport, a new subscription 
that unlocks unlimited access 
to our library of educational 
opportunities.

For $180 per year you’ll get: 

•  Hundreds of CM-eligible courses
•  Real-world solutions shared by 

planners, for planners
•  Sessions on emerging and critical 

issues facing communities

Take your � rst step at planning.org/passport.

F
R

O
M

 L
E

F
T

: T
O

W
N

S
C

A
P

E
R

, I
 P

R
O

M
IS

E



18 Planning Spring 2022

Share images of different housing types with your 
community to help minimize fears of increased density.
OPTICOS DESIGN, INC. 

DUPLEX SIDE BY SIDE

COTTAGE COURT

MULTIPLEX MEDIUM TRIPLE STACKED

FOURPLEX STACKED

DUPLEX  STACKED



American Planning Association 19American Planning Association 19

TOOLS 
THE TRADEFOR

KNOWLEDGE YOU CAN PUT TO WORK
How-To | The Profession | Tech 

HOW-TO

9 ZONING HACKS FOR 
MISSING MIDDLE HOUSING
Thoughtful tweaks to your community’s code can have  
a big impact on housing diversity and density.  By Kati Woock

ONE-THIRD OF AMERICAN 

households are made up 
of a single individual. Up 

to 85 percent of households will 
not include children by 2025. By 
2030, one in five Americans will be 
over the age of 65. 

These statistics add up to a 
simple fact: Demand is high for 
smaller homes, lower living costs, 
walkable neighborhoods, and 
places for people to age in place. 
Yet zoning across the U.S. largely 
discourages these features.

That’s because codes tend to 
be based on residential density, 
which is measured in dwelling 
units per acre, and most prioritize 
single-family housing. As of 2019, 
a New York Times report found 
that “it is illegal on 75 percent 
of the residential land in many 
American cities to build anything 
other than a detached single-fam-
ily home.” Not only are large mul-
tifamily buildings banned from 
many neighborhoods, but so are 
smaller housing types that cost 
less than a single-family home: 
side-by-side and stacked duplexes, 
triplexes, townhouses. These con-
stitute “missing middle housing,” 

or “house-scale buildings that just 
happen to have multiple units in 
them,” says Daniel Parolek of  
Opticos Design, who coined the 
term in 2010.

In the past few years, Oregon, 
Minneapolis, California, and other 
states and cities have launched 
zoning reform efforts to better 
promote housing affordability, 
diversity, and density. If your 
community lacks the political will 
to make these kinds of sweeping 
changes, a few thoughtful tweaks 
can still make a big impact. 
Adapted from Parolek’s APA 
Learn course (bit.ly/zhacks), these 
nine zoning hacks—and a bonus 
tip—can help planners increase 
local density.

1REDUCE MINIMUM LOT SIZE. 

Does your code require two lots 
to build a duplex or a fourplex? If 
a builder must aggregate multiple 
lots to build a small multiunit 
building, your minimum lot sizes 
are too big.

Instead, replace minimum lot 
sizes with minimum lot widths 
and tie types of buildings to the 
lot’s width, not its square footage.

LIVE-WORK

TOWNHOUSE

COURTYARD



20 Planning Spring 2022

TOOLS 
FOR THE TRADE
How-To | The Profession | Tech

In response to displacement con-
cerns, Zehnder says, “the more places 
where we allow this to happen, the less 
it’s going to overwhelm any individual 
place.” And development won’t happen 
all at once: Portland planners estimate 
an add of 4,000 new units over the 
next 15 years. But if a single house in a 
wealthy neighborhood is replaced with 
three units, that alone can help take the 
pressure off demolitions in an area with 
lower incomes, Zehnder says.

9 IMPROVE INFILL DESIGN. Respect 
the neighborhood context, but 

don’t be slavish to it—most neighbor-
hoods are made of different building 
types. (Tuck-under townhouses that 
face away from the street, however, can 
quickly overwhelm available infill lots 
without enhancing neighborhoods, 
Parolek says.) Focus on a number of 
stories instead of a maximum height, 
and limit where parking is allowed. 
You can also limit curb cuts and garage 
frontage to preserve the street front. 

Take the opportunity to increase 
accessibility, too. In Portland, new codes 
require lots with three or more units 
to ensure that at least one is “visitable,” 
with a no-step entry, ground-floor bath-
room, and ground-floor living space.

BONUS: FRAME THE CONVERSATION. 

When you’re presenting your ideas to 
the community, it can be helpful to 
avoid terms that might have negative 
connotations to some, like “density,” 
“multifamily,” or “upzoning.” Present 
zoning changes as a way to offer new 
housing choices or options. Focus on 
form and scale, not density metrics. 
Imagery (missingmiddlehousing.com) 
can help community members under-
stand how missing middle types could 
look in their neighborhoods.

Kati Woock is a freelance editor and writer 
based in Michigan. 

2REGULATE MAXIMUM WIDTH 

AND DEPTH. Replace rear setback 
requirements with maximum depths  
to ensure house-scale buildings and 
document existing building sizes to 
create a set of maximum widths and 
depths. These restrictions also discour-
age demolitions that 
might replace small 
single-family homes 
with very large ones.

3 INCREASE 

ALLOWED  

DENSITIES. Rather 
than applying a blanket 
density increase to all 
types, officials in Med-
ford, Oregon, tested 
different building types 
on various lot sizes to 
find density numbers that compliment 
specific neighborhoods.

4 ALLOW FOR MORE HOUSING 

TYPES AND REVISIT STRUCTURE 

SIZES. As Joe Zehnder, chief planner 
for Portland, Oregon’s Bureau of Plan-
ning and Sustainability, says, “if the 
house size is the same, why do you care 
how many units are in there?” In Port-
land, zoning changes now allow some-
one building on a 5,000-square-foot lot 
to construct up to four units divided 
between a main building and detached 
accessory dwelling units. Five or six 
units are allowed if half of them are 
affordable to low-income residents. 

5 LEVEL THE PLAYING FIELD  

FOR SMALLER UNITS. More 
density doesn’t always mean bigger 
buildings. In Santa Barbara, Califor-
nia, an average unit size ordinance 
provides for increased density as 
the average unit size decreases. This 
enables missing middle housing by 
allowing for greater density, even in 
smaller structures. 

6 REDUCE OR ELIMINATE PARKING 

MINIMUMS. “If you want missing 
middle [housing], you need to fix your 
parking standards,” says Parolek. “We’ve 
done a better job delivering houses for 
cars than we have delivering houses for 
people.” If you require more than one 

off-street parking space 
per unit, it’s not econom-
ically viable or physically 
possible to create missing 
middle housing on infill 
lots. Instead, opt for one 
parking space—or even 
none—per unit and no 
guest parking.

In suburban or rural 
areas, like Beaufort County, 
South Carolina, driving 
might be a fact of life. Try 
being creative about how 

you design parking so it can become an 
extra unit in the future, if factors like 
demand or public transit change.

7 RETHINK PRIVATE OPEN SPACE 

REQUIREMENTS. While the moti-
vations behind private open space 
requirements are good, they typically 
result in unattractive balconies that are 
used primarily for storage. In a walk-
able, urban neighborhood, the amenity 
is the environment. Rather than deliv-
ering outdoor amenities on a unit-by-
unit basis, focus on shared spaces like 
courtyards and vibrant streets.

8 ALLOW MISSING MIDDLE HOUS-

ING EVERYWHERE (IF POSSIBLE). 

Is more than 20 percent of your land 
area zoned exclusively for single-family 
housing? Then you need to change the 
boundaries limiting missing middle 
housing to deliver it effectively and 
equitably. In Portland, Oregon, plan-
ners proposed allowing middle housing 
types in all districts across the city 
unless there is a physical limitation, like 
flooding or landslide hazards.

Respect the 
neighborhood 
context, but 
don’t be slavish 
to it—most 
neighborhoods 
are made 
of different 
building types.

E
N

IS
 A

K
S

O
Y

/D
IG

IT
A

LV
IS

IO
N

 V
E

C
TO

R
S

/G
E

T
T

Y
 IM

A
G

E
S



American Planning Association 21

EQUITY, DIVERSITY, AND INCLUSION (EDI) initiatives 
are all about translating values into actions. In a 
recent APA Learning Circle, planners shared the steps 

their agencies and firms are taking to do just that.
In 2020, for example, Los Angeles mayor Eric Garcetti 

issued an executive directive on fairness, diversity, equal 
opportunity, and transparency in city government. In 
response, the LA city planning department hired its first 
chief equity officer, planner Faisal Roble, that same year. 

And on the private side, as part of a recent reorganiza-
tion, global engineering consulting firm WSP developed  
a three-year strategy to increase and support racial and  
gender diversity of staff. A significant part of that has been  
a new program to develop better leadership opportunities 
for people of color and women within the company. 

Lee Pearce, the manager of talent management for 
WSP USA, says that a key driver for change has been the 
formation of a representative council, a diverse group of 
high-performing employees selected to act as a conduit 

between employees and the executive team. Council members 
serve as mentors and role models, provide valuable insights on 
professional development skills that are needed, and suggest 
changes to the leadership pipeline.

A commitment to diversity and inclusion is a start, but to 
fully benefit from increased racial and gender diversity, organi-
zations must be willing to change the culture and power struc-
ture. Organizations must not only have strong support from 
leadership to promote fairness and equal participation at all 
levels, but also a commitment to a frank analysis of the current 
culture, practices, and policies. And as in any area of work, 
employees need ongoing training and support to accomplish 
goals and evaluate progress.

To ensure EDI policies and initiatives produce their desired 
results, firms and planning departments must create a program 
with measurable outcomes. Below, find three ways to help get 
you started.

Bobbie Albrecht is APA’s career services manager. 

THE PROFESSION

LAUNCH A SUCCESSFUL DIVERSITY INITIATIVE 
How to translate values into action.  By Bobbie Albrecht

SET GOALS 
Create a list of equity indica-

tors specific to a department 

or office and describe how 

the department can develop 

reliable data to track prog-

ress on equity, diversity,  

and inclusion efforts. Con-

sider, too, training goals and 

retention as indicators of 

progress.

CREATE RECOMMENDATIONS  
FOR IMPLEMENTATION
The plans should identify any antici-

pated challenges, include a reporting 

and auditing component, and des-

ignate staff who will be principally 

charged with administering the 

proposed plan. Identify disparities in 

workforce outcomes, too. When LA 

measured hiring by gender, it discov-

ered a gap and worked toward clos-

ing it. Today, 57 percent of the city 

staff are women.

GATHER DATA
Review pertinent departmental func-

tions, including but not limited to  

recruitment, hiring, training, retention, 

promotions, and contracting. Create  

a mechanism to hear from employees.  

The city of Los Angeles uses focus 

groups to do this, while WSP’s represen-

tative council of employees both gathers 

information and makes recommenda-

tions. Analyze your office policies and 

practices to determine whether they are 

helping or hindering efforts.

THREE STEPS TO MEASURABLE OUTCOMES FOR AN EDI PROGRAM

E
N

IS
 A

K
S

O
Y

/D
IG

IT
A

LV
IS

IO
N

 V
E

C
TO

R
S

/G
E

T
T

Y
 IM

A
G

E
S



22 Planning Spring 2022

U
R

B
A

Z
O

N
/E

+
/G

E
T

T
Y

 IM
A

G
E

S

TOOLS 
FOR THE TRADE
How-To | The Profession | Tech

information, while new approaches are 
being developed to better reflect the 
diverse experiences and identities of 
the communities we serve. Together, 
these advancements can give plan-
ners new ways to integrate data into 
decision-making processes, plans, and 
recommendations.

To gain a better understanding of 
big data in planning, start with these 
five applications and considerations:

1. The complexities of identity
Demographic and population data 
collection require new approaches to 
better reflect diversity within commu-
nities. Planning needs to reflect the 
fact that people exist at the intersection 
of multiple identities at once (like 
race, age, gender, ability, and religion). 
Planning also needs to avoid assuming 
people belong to homogenous groups 

WITH DOZENS OF techno-
logical innovations on the 
horizon, now is the time 

for planners to prepare by gaining new 
skills and creating new policies.

In an ongoing partnership with the 
Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, APA’s 
Foresight team recently released the 
2022 Trend Report for Planners 
(planning.org/foresight), an in-depth 
look at nearly 100 of the existing, 
emerging, and potential trends and 
innovations relevant to planning. Arti-
ficial intelligence, automated transpor-
tation, and data analytics are just some 
of the new tools and resources we need 
to understand—and be sure to use in 
inclusive, equitable ways.

Big data in particular holds much 
potential for planning. Vast improve-
ments in data collection provide more 
access to higher-quality, real-time 

TECH

WHAT PLANNERS NEED TO 
KNOW ABOUT BIG DATA
Five applications and considerations to get started.  By Alexsandra Gomez

CONSULTANT DIRECTORY

Passionate About 
People and Place

JOIN OUR TEAM
mkskstudios.com/careers

Ohio | Indiana | Kentucky | Michigan | South Carolina

BAE-APA-Business Card Ad-2017-Rev.0.indd   1 11/3/17   12:21

Connect with 
the best  

firm to help 
you plan  

a great 
community.

Learn more at
planning.org

CO
N
N
EC

T

Data from wearables 
can provide insights 
on local activity 
patterns in urban 
environments.



American Planning Association 23

U
R

B
A

Z
O

N
/E

+
/G

E
T

T
Y

 IM
A

G
E

S

PLANNING, ZONING 
& MUNICIPAL CODE 
SOFTWARE

Modernizing 
your plan or 
code?

• Seamlessly web-publish 
documents 

• Collaborate using 
tracking and 
commenting features

• Self-publish updates – 
no more waiting!

• Link documents and • Link documents and 
integrate with GIS

www.enCodePlus.com 

(800) 381-9286 

info@encodeplus.com







REQUEST A DEMO

that have the same values or needs. 
More dynamic solutions are necessary 
to help planners adapt or tailor their 
efforts—especially when it comes to 
planning with groups that policies have 
historically underrepresented, under-
served, and harmed.

An increasing number of local, state, 
and federal programs are mandating 
the creation and explicit measurement 
of equity, diversity, and inclusion 
efforts. The related data can be dif-
ficult to collect, however, and it can 
require asking for or inferring personal 
information, like religious beliefs or 
sexual orientation. To prepare for these 
requirements, planners need to reflect 
on their current approaches to data col-
lection and project evaluation.

Importantly, as part of these efforts, 
planning education and the profession 
need to do a better job of recruiting 
people with a wider variety of identities 
and backgrounds to better reflect the 
communities we serve.

2. Scoring systems
Police, immigration officials, banks, 
universities, and other private institu-
tions are increasingly using scoring sys-
tems—ways to measure different social 
attributes, qualities, and characteristics, 
often powered by artificial intelli-
gence—to inform decisions, despite 
persistent issues with bias. If planners 
begin to use similar technical programs 
or scoring systems, it can further for-
malize harmful biases in planning and 
land-use decisions. For example, they 
can lead to maps that score neighbor-
hoods based on social characteristics 
and miss other factors at play, essen-
tially reproducing social “blight” maps, 
which could have harmful outcomes.

3. Crowdsourcing
A growing number of governments of 
all scales have adopted crowdsourc-
ing, often to increase accessibility for 

residents and reduce public participa-
tion costs. It can be a supplement—or 
even an alternative—to the use of big 
data in decision-making or scenario 
planning that promotes consensus 
building, learning from local knowl-
edge, and mobilization of residents.

Crowdsourcing can also be a formal 
iteration of civic tech: Residents can 
use it to directly provide large amounts 
of data that reflect their preferences. 
Planners should prepare for both an 
increased interest in crowdsourcing 
from local governments and an influx 
of new information that could provide 
different findings than data collected 
through traditional methods.

4. Wearable tech
Through monitoring and location- 
based services, data from wearables—
like smart watches or glasses—can 
provide insights on local activity pat-
terns. This information is beginning to 
become widely available, and planners 
need to prepare to leverage it, poten-
tially by partnering with data providers.

5. Data protection and privacy
As big data collection and use grows, 
so do privacy concerns. The result is a 
need for more regulation, stated ethical 
standards, and storage and ownership 
considerations. Currently, the Euro-
pean Union’s General Data Protection 
Regulation (gdpr.eu) is the strictest 
regulation globally. Some U.S. states 
have also started to implement data 
protection regulations; the California 
Consumer Privacy Act is the most 
comprehensive.

As planners gain more access to 
new kinds of data, they will also need to 
understand how these data protection 
regulations affect use. This will be par-
ticularly important when implementing 
smart city applications to mine data.

Alexsandra Gomez is APA’s research associate.



24 Planning Spring 2022

C
R

E
D

IT

C
R

E
D

IT

The Muse at Torrey 
Pines is one of the 
developments in the 
burgeoning life science 
and tech hub in San 
Diego. The life sciences 
industry generates 
$27.7 billion annually and 
employs 72,000 people.

Everybody’s 
Here. Are You?
Learn more live  
at NPC22 with mobile 
workshops and 
sessions. 

ORIENTATION  
WORKSHOP
Orient Yourself  
to San Diego  
25 Years Later
Gain understanding 
of the physical, 
social, and economic 
changes that have 
occurred since the 
last NPC in San 
Diego—and the future 
challenges the city 
will face.

Register for NPC22 at 
planning.org/conference.



American Planning Association 25

C
R

E
D

IT

C
R

E
D

IT

‘TEMPORARY PARADISE’ TO‘TEMPORARY PARADISE’ TO

AMBITIOUS 
FUTURE

San Diego planning is shifting to denser, more sustainable San Diego planning is shifting to denser, more sustainable 
development served by transit—and it’s paying off.development served by transit—and it’s paying off.

ByBy PATRICK SISSON     PATRICK SISSON    Photographs byPhotographs by ARIANA DREHSLER ARIANA DREHSLER



26 Planning Spring 2022

and adopted, would push the region towards 
meeting equity and environmental goals.

“We’re a big city,” says Martin. “This is a big 
shift culturally but also from a political and pol-
icy standpoint. We’ve connected at every level, 
from the municipal level to the federal level, and 
want people to stop thinking like a small town, 
because we’re not.”

 B
oth demographics and geogra-
phy prodded San Diego planning 
to shift forward, placing the city at 
an inflection point. Hemmed in by 
natural limits like the Pacific Ocean, 

the Camp Pendleton Marine base, conservation 
land, and the border with Mexico, the city and 
region have little choice but to densify and build 
up, as space for standard issue master-planned 
communities has run out.

Then there is the self-fulfilling cycle of young 
knowledge and tech workers, as Martin and oth-
ers explain. Especially focused in biotech, new-
comers are arriving and seeking out dense urban 
environments in which to live, creating a market 
incentive for more such development and in 
turn, attracting more demographic change. (That 
certainly isn’t the only important demographic 
shift: The city is also planning for a population 
where the number of adults over 65 will increase 
106 percent by 2035, and the Age-Friendly San 
Diego Action Plan aims to add and expand recre-
ation and transportation options while focusing 
on housing transition options and wellness.)

The area has radically changed from its 
20th-century roots, a tangle of Spanish and Mex-
ican design and cultural influences that shaped 
the northernmost city in Baja California, its role 
as an emerging resort town during the Hotel del 
Coronado era, and a massive post-World War 
II military buildup. In the 1970s, an influential 
planning document about the region dubbed it a 
“Temporary Paradise.”

“Our 2020 mayoral race, the most recent 
election, basically boiled down to two candidates 
offering the YIMBY and NIMBY options,” says 
Dike Anyiwo, a member of the YIMBY Demo-
crats and vice chair of the Midway-Pacific High-
way Community Planning Group, one of several 

the crisis gripping coastal california—explosive job growth 
and opportunity souring due to a severe lack of housing—hasn’t spared 
San Diego. Like other Golden State metros, it’s incredibly unlikely to meet 
state-assigned housing goals, and prices have been skyrocketing. 

There have been recent successes, like a 25 percent boost in housing 
starts and affordable housing production in 2020. Still, the region built just 
shy of half the homes mandated by the state over the previous decade. But 
trends and shifts by city and regional planners and policy makers in recent 
years suggest it may be tackling issues like affordability and transportation 
more effectively than Los Angeles and San Francisco. 

Until the last couple of decades, “San Diego was seen as a sleepy town 
with the character of a beach community,” says Professor Isaac Martin, chair 
of the Department of Urban Studies and Planning at the University of Cal-
ifornia, San Diego (UCSD). “The city’s growing beyond its reputation from 
decades past as not being an innovator in this space, and in the last few 
years, everything seems to be coming together.”

A series of significant political and policy shifts in recent years have 
helped the city and region adopt a more holistic approach to housing, 
transportation, and economic development. To name a few notable develop-
ments: A homegrown YIMBY movement and more forward-thinking city 
council have passed zoning and development policies accelerating denser 
development and new transit investments. The newly opened Mid-Coast 
Trolley extends the Blue Line another 10.9 miles; stretching from the Mex-
ican border to University City near La Jolla, the full route is now the spine 
of a potential game-changing public transportation network. The life sci-
ences and tech community, an economic powerhouse that gained strength 
during the pandemic, has exploded. And a new executive director for the 
San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG), LA-transplant Hassan 
Ikhrata, oversaw the draft of an ambitious regional plan that, if fully funded 

T



American Planning Association 27

The UC San Diego Central The UC San Diego Central 
Campus station is a stop Campus station is a stop 
on the newly opened on the newly opened 
Mid-Coast Trolley, which Mid-Coast Trolley, which 
now stretches more than now stretches more than 
26 miles from the Mexican 26 miles from the Mexican 
border to La Jolla. See for border to La Jolla. See for 
yourself how the university yourself how the university 
is embracing the transit-is embracing the transit-
oriented development oriented development 
model in the NPC22 model in the NPC22 
mobile workshop mobile workshop UC San UC San 
Diego’s Transformational Diego’s Transformational 
Development PlanDevelopment Plan..



28 Planning Spring 2022

C
R

E
D

IT

The Fourth and Fifth 
Avenue bike lanes are 
a significant disruptor 
project, a part of San 
Diego’s general rejection 
of its car-centric past in 
favor of an integrated, 
multimodal future. The 
city is also looking to 
maximize its parking 
inventory without adding 
substantial capital cost. 
Local planners will share 
those lessons in the 
NPC22 mobile workshop 
Parking Meter 
Revenue: Big Changes 
from Small Change. 



American Planning Association 29

C
R

E
D

IT

to 50 percent. A citywide ballot measure in 
2020 eliminated the region’s 1972 30-foot height 
limit, but in December 2021, a court blocked 
San Diego from putting the measure into effect. 
That ruling is being appealed.

The 2020 Complete Communities plan allows 
relief from some density- and height-limit 
restrictions for developments near transit with 
significant low- and middle-income housing. 
This policy was built upon California’s Sustain-
able and Affordable Housing Act from 2018, 
which also boosts residential density near transit 
and was authored by current San Diego mayor 
Todd Gloria when he was a California state 
assemblymember.

Another key shift was approving by-right 
development for projects that meet certain 
criteria around local design standards and prox-
imity to transit. This shift from discretionary 
approval to ministerial approval avoids the state’s 
infamous California Environmental Quality Act 
review process, saving months and significant 
money for developers. These programmatic 
changes, in effect, add up to a new focus on tran-
sit-oriented development, says Parent.

“The city’s moves have really transformed 
what we can do on urban infill lots that were 
zoned very low density,” says Kelly Modén, pres-
ident and CEO of infill and multifamily housing 
developer cREate Development, and a member 
of the city planning commission. She notes that 
a market-rate multifamily project she’s currently 
developing on a half-acre site in the Golden Hill 
neighborhood would have previously supported 
14 units, not quite enough to pencil out, but the 
combination of provisions from Complete Com-
munities (it’s inside a transit corridor and near 
downtown employers) and transit adjacency (a 
rapid bus stop is directly in front of the property) 
mean she can now fit 91 units on the same space.

“I don’t think any other jurisdiction within 
the state of California allows for such streamlin-
ing of a project,” she added.

As developers use these tools to their advan-
tage, and the formerly sacrosanct single-family 
home neighborhood is being given all manner  
of means to get dense and go vertical, a new gen-
eration of megaprojects showcase the kinds of 

citizen-led groups formally recognized by the city that make recommen-
dations to the San Diego Planning Commission about land-use decisions. 
“Democrat Todd Gloria, the YIMBY, won, running on a platform of hous-
ing affordability, transit opportunity, and climate action.”

Perhaps the most optimistic vision of what this shift means can be found 
in the pages of the SANDAG 2021 Regional Plan proposal, a bold, $172 bil-
lion vision for reworking the transportation network, an opportunity seized 
after previous plans didn’t meet the state’s emissions-reduction targets.

One key proposal eliminates highway expansion, opting to transform 
many existing lanes into managed lanes for carpools, rapid bus service, and 
those paying tolls. The plan includes “5 Big Moves” geared toward active 
transportation advancements, like a better bike network, micromobility 
and new transit tech, coastal rail trails, and a long-term proposal for a 
major light rail extension and towering central city mobility hub. It adds up 
to a blueprint for transit-centered density, connecting more workers to jobs 
and opportunity.

Colin Parent is a council member in La Mesa (one of the 18 cities in 
San Diego County) and the executive director of Circulate San Diego, a local 
transit- and urbanism-focused nonprofit. He argues that the plan is just a “big 
document with lots of ideas,” mainly speculative and uncertain. The political 
realities of securing funding, currently subject to as-yet-approved bonds and 
ballot measures set to be evaluated by voters beginning in November 2022, 
have dampened some of the enthusiasm. Nevertheless, many see the upcom-
ing SANDAG 2023 Regional Transportation Improvement Plan as a solid first 
step towards following the larger, innovative roadmap.

 S an diego’s continued embrace of more aggressive zoning 
and development policy to encourage downtown growth and 
density around transit corridors (the downtown was first 
rezoned for higher densities in 2006) offers a significant reason 
for optimism.

In reaction to gridlock in localities that repeatedly fall short of housing 
production goals and an ever-spiraling affordability crisis (the San Diego 
countywide median home price is $842,000, a 17 percent increase in the last 
year), California state leaders and legislators have in recent years been more 
aggressive in enforcing housing rules and have passed laws to prod cities to 
build. Two, passed in late 2021, particularly stand out: SB 9, which allows 
single-family lots to be split in two and permits duplexes on each of the new 
lots (effectively allowing for four homes where there was one) and SB 10, 
which allows local governments to rezone for developments of 10 units or 
fewer in urban infill or transit-adjacent parcels without additional environ-
mental review.

San Diego has long had geographically focused community plans, both 
downtown and throughout the city. Many were updated recently to allow 
for significantly more housing growth than before, and in some cases, 
the zoning changes and other policies go further than state housing laws 
require. The State Density Bonus Law, for instance, offers a 35 percent 
bonus for developing on-site affordable units; San Diego bumped the bonus Continued on page 32



30 Planning Spring 2022

Planners and policy makers 

in San Diego County are 

tackling familiar but tricky 

challenges. Planning sat down with 

Dahvia Lynch, aicp, the director of 

Planning & Development Services, to 

talk about the agency’s approach and 

outcomes. Our interview has been 

edited for length and clarity, but you 

can listen to the whole conversation 

at planning.org/podcasts.

PLANNING: What makes San Diego 

County so unique?

DAHVIA LYNCH: It is such a diverse 

place in terms of people, climate, 

and ecosystems. We have small 

towns and urban areas, vast areas of 

incredibly rich natural land preserves, 

and a robust agricultural community. 

The unincorporated area is big: about 

80 percent of the size of Connecticut.

PLANNING: How is the agency tack-

ling its affordable housing shortfall? 

LYNCH: The purpose of the housing 

element of the general plan, adopted 

in 2021, is to ensure that we are plan-

ning for and removing any barriers 

to the development of up to about 

6,700 units. 

How can we make the right kind of 

housing, in the right place, possible? 

Well, planning is just one piece of it. 

There’s an economic development 

component, as well as market forces 

and environmental constraints to 

development, that have to be con-

sidered. We’ve been directed by the 

San Diego County Board of Supervi-

sors to evaluate what it would take 

to do a parcel-by-parcel analysis of 

certain areas and are 

asking: What are the 

barriers to implement-

ing higher density, 

potentially affordable housing in these 

areas? Is it infrastructure? Is it a need 

to consolidate parcels? How can we 

streamline housing opportunities? 

PLANNING: What is one of your most 

successful housing programs? 

LYNCH: So far, we have over 60 

programs related to housing. We’ve 

seen a huge uptick in ADUs. That is 

due to state regulations, in part, but 

I’m really proud of what the county 

has done to help facilitate that. 

We’ve committed over $10 million 

over a period of five years to waive 

fees for ADUs. 

And, boy, have we seen the impact 

of that: a 70 percent increase in ADUs 

in the past year! We have also created 

fully approved, predesigned plans, 

which actually went viral on TikTok. 

Those designs, along with the waivers, 

can save folks up to $30,000 in fees.

 

PLANNING: Can you tell us about the 

2018 Climate Action Plan?

LYNCH: Our CAP, and the update 

we’re working on, is not aimed at 

just meeting our state targets. We’re 

going much further: Our board’s goal 

is to go carbon neutral. We know that 

some of that is within our authority 

and some of it is far outside of it, so  

it requires partnerships. 

One effort that offers a lot of 

co-benefits is our purchase of agri-

cultural conservation easements, 

which benefits the property owners 

by reducing their tax burden, perma-

nently conserves the land for agricul-

tural purposes, creates corridors for 

wildlife, and acts as a carbon seques-

tration tool. We’ve permanently pre-

served over 3,000 acres since 2011. 

We also have an Electric Vehi-

cle Roadmap, and we’re working to 

reduce VMT (vehicle miles traveled). 

There are a lot of different state 

policy directives regarding climate 

change and net VMT reductions, 

along with housing, conservation, and 

agriculture. Without a really inten-

tional thought process, these issues 

could conflict very readily. And, if 

vehicle miles traveled is the driver, so 

to speak, of land use, a whole lot of 

development in these distant, remote 

areas isn’t viable. We must have a 

focused approach, and that means 

planning for about 5,000 new units in 

the more urban areas of the county. 

Meghan Stromberg is APA’s editor in chief.

SAN DIEGO COUNTY: BOLD AND READY FOR CHANGE
Its planners are going beyond state targets in housing and climate action.  BY MEGHAN STROMBERG 

Q&A

DAHVIA LYNCH, aicp



American Planning Association 31

San Diego is focusing on 
giving people access to 
public spaces, including 
in dense areas. The 
14th Street Greenway 
Park, opened in 2021, 
replaces a travel lane 
and eight parking spots 
with trees, landscaping, 
a pedestrian path, and 
story panels highlighting 
the industrial roots of the 
East Village downtown 
neighborhood. At 
NPC22, Downtown 
San Diego: Post-
Pandemic Toolkit for 
Urban Communities 
will delve into flexible 
regulations for central 
cities that offer solutions 
to common challenges.



32 Planning Spring 2022

Mujeres Brew House 
is one of two craft 
breweries with strong 
roots in Barrio Logan, a 
historic neighborhood 
just south of downtown 
San Diego that’s 
home to a naval base, 
shipyard, and the iconic 
Chicano Park. Examine 
the intersectional 
state of business, art, 
historic preservation, 
and planning in Latino 
communities, including 
Barrio Logan, with the 
NPC22 mobile workshop 
A Beginners Guide to  
Chicano Park.



American Planning Association 33

when new technological developments and a 
pandemic-era boost in interest has made this 
one of the nation’s brightest sectors for start-up 
funding and real estate development.

The city’s main research hubs all plan expen-
sive and extensive expansions: the Salk Institute 
for Biological Studies is building a $250 million 
Center for Science and Technology; Scripps 
Research is adding a new $100 million labora-
tory facility; and UCSD has plans for both a new 
Herbert Wertheim School of Public Health and 
Human Longevity Science and another biomedi-
cal lab complex.

The University City rezoning, which carries 
the promise of adding more housing close to 
cutting-edge laboratories and research centers, 
hits at a central issue with industry expansion. It 
also requires the fruits of good planning, includ-
ing more affordable housing options and trans-
portation options. Expansion into downtown 
San Diego, including a massive redevelopment 
of the former Horton Plaza mall and waterfront 
development by homegrown developer IQHQ 
across from a potential transit hub, suggests that 
the biotech industry is racing to acquire space 
and attract workers.

“Firms that count on being able to recruit 
top talent from around the world to come work 
in life sciences in San Diego are losing the 
competition for talent in some cases because 
we can’t pay people enough for them to find 
houses,” says Martin.

San Diego’s success has come in large part 
from using smart growth policies to incentivize 
private development to meet public goals. As 
the city and region explore ways to fund transit 
expansion and boost housing production, meet-
ing these lofty goals will depend on creating city- 
and region-wide regulations that can reverse 
steadily rising housing costs and emissions.

The real test will be whether the infrastruc-
ture and development that this new denser, 
transit-diverse region requires will be welcomed 
and used—or spark backlash from residents 
who, accustomed to a more car-centric past, feel 
threatened by a rapidly changing San Diego.

Patrick Sisson is an LA-based writer and reporter focused 
on the tech, trends, and policies that shape our cities.

large-scale, transit-friendly, urban infill developments San Diego wants  
to champion.

As an example, in Mission Valley, the Riverwalk Golf Club is undergoing 
a transformation into a 4,000-unit mixed-use village adjacent to a transit 
stop. The massive Sports Arena redevelopment, which has stumbled after 
procedural issues with city proposals and the state’s Surplus Land Act, is 
finally poised to move forward, with five competing bids and plans to add 
4,000 units, 20 percent of which will be affordable, and a 12-acre park.

 T
he most important addition—and most expensive, at 
$2.17 billion—to the region’s transit system is the extension of 
the Mid-Coast Trolley. It runs 26.3 miles north from the Mex-
ican border through downtown to the labs and lecture halls of 
UCSD and the surrounding area, known as University City.

Its relevance lies not just in the scale of the expansion north, which 
added nine stations parallel to Highway 5, but the way its completion (in 
late 2021) created a backbone of transit access. It is a one-seat ride connect-
ing downtown—as well as low-income communities—with high-paying job 
centers up north. With rezoning and neighborhood planning currently in 
the works in the University City district, the trolley’s arrival can ideally cata-
lyze more high-rise development.

It also provides a central node of the regional plan’s ambitious transit 
expansion, a trunk line for branches of micromobility and rapid bus service 
investments. SANDAG also plans to create a large, central mobility hub— 
a San Diego Grand Central—that would link rail, bus, and multimodal 
alternatives, itself becoming a new node of transit-oriented development 
(sites downtown and a former Navy site have been debated for years).

“San Diego has one of the worst job-housing imbalances,” says Diego 
Velasco, aicp, founder and principal of Citythinkers, a planning, urban 
research, and design firm. “A lot of the high-paying jobs are up in the north-
ern part of the county in Kearny Mesa, Mira Mesa, Sorrento Mesa, and the 
University-Torrey Pines area. And the majority of people live in the south-
ern or eastern parts of the county where it’s more affordable.”

The Trolley also serves as a down payment on the city’s efforts to slash 
greenhouse gas emissions. Much more will need to be built—or in the case 
of highways, not built—but the city’s draft Our Climate, Our Future: Climate 
Action Plan calls for 25 percent of residents who live near transit to become 
transit commuters by 2035, an achievable goal with already planned invest-
ments. Convincing the region’s governments—not just SANDAG and San 
Diego—to fund the regional plan’s transit vision will be the key challenge.

The combination of denser housing and transit links to UCSD can help 
bolster and build upon the region’s success as a biotech center and the rabid 
demand for more lab space. (Arguably, biotech is the sexiest of the indus-
tries in San Diego, and it’s getting a lot of attention. Other stalwarts of the 
region’s economy include tourism, the military, and activities related to the 
border with Mexico.)

One of biotech’s three biggest markets, San Diego’s life sciences industry 
generates $27.7 billion annually and employs 72,000 workers at a time 



34 Planning Spring 2022

6 Ways to 
Engage Youth in 
Comprehensive 

Planning
From TikTok challenges  

to movie screenings,  
use these tips to connect 
with your community’s 

youngest residents.
By RACHEL GREENWALD

 To seek input on a new 
comprehensive plan, Charlotte, 

North Carolina, hosted a 
series of drive-in community 

meetings that were capped off 
with a movie screening. The 

events drew hundreds. 
GLYN A STANLEY PHOTOGRAPHY 



American Planning Association 35

Of all the key constituents in planning 
projects, the group that can be most 
neglected and directly impacted by 
planning efforts is people under 18—
despite making up 22 percent of the 
U.S. population.

“They’re a group we often overlook, but they often have the 
best feedback,” says Nepherterra Best, chief communications 
officer of Pride PR, a strategic communications firm focused on 
local government and nonprofits. “More planning teams need 
to be thoughtful about inviting the people that will be most 
impacted to share their lens[es] and experiences and thoughts.”

This was the challenge in Charlotte, North Carolina, as 
it embarked on the Charlotte Future 2040 comprehensive 
plan—the city’s first major long-range planning effort since 
the 1970s. Framed around a complete communities concept, 
the plan will guide growth in land use, investment, and infra-
structure development for the next 20 years. 

As part of the process, the project team laid out an equity 
engagement strategy identifying five underrepresented 
groups to intentionally connect with and seek input from: 
senior citizens, lower-income residents, Black and Latinx 
residents, and young people. 

“Young people are the demographic and cohort where 
the decisions we make today will impact the most, so why 
not bring them to the table and help them shape the plan?” 
says Alysia Osborne, aicp, division manager of Long-Range 
and Strategic Planning for the city of Charlotte. 

But bringing young people into the planning process 
is about more than just ticking a box—it’s an opportunity 
to cultivate diverse, imaginative, thoughtful, unexpected, 
and forward-thinking ideas. To find powerful ways to 
connect with this tough-to-reach group in the midst of a 
pandemic, Charlotte’s planning team brought on planning 
and consulting firms MIG and Pride PR as partners to 
build and implement an innovative and integrated youth 
engagement program.

According to Jay Renkens, aicp, MIG’s director of Plan-
ning and Design Services, the intention of the program was 
to meaningfully engage youth in the process of visioning, 
goal setting, policy and strategy development, and implemen-
tation. To do that, the program team developed specific tools 
and strategies and incorporated youth-focused engagement 
into broader community outreach. Their efforts offer a vari-
ety of lessons for planners seeking authentic ways to reach 
young people in their communities.

KEEP MESSAGING 
UNDERSTANDABLE 
AND APPROACHABLE.

Charlotte’s planning department 
brought on communications specialists 
as part of the core delivery team from 
the outset, enabling the team to identify 
the most effective approaches from the 
start. Pride PR worked with the plan-
ning department throughout the multi-
year process to develop messaging that 
clears up the complex, often opaque 
comprehensive plan process in ways all 
residents, especially young people, can 
understand. 

“We’re such technicians and prac-
titioners, so it was helpful to have a 
team of people who would take these 
complicated ideas and simplify them to 
something that is understandable and 
resonates from a youth perspective,” says 

Osborne. “They were able to translate 
really complicated ideas into messaging 
that resonates with young people.” 

The core messages and themes cen-
tered on residents’ lived experiences, 
along with the implications and impacts 
of the plan on their own lives. “Our 
approach was ‘less is more’ in communi-
cating in a way where they could make  
a connection to how this relates to them, 
where you’re allowing communities 
to process this information in terms 
of ‘how does this affect me’ and ‘why 
should I care,’ and being able to make 
that connection and find ways to con-
nect those dots,” says Best.

They tried to communicate elements 
of the plan that would feel specific to 
young people and their lives, rather 
than focusing on wider, more abstract 
concepts. For example, instead of talking 

about infrastructure broadly, they 
referred to sidewalks and bike lanes. And 
they positioned the plan through the 
lens of individual and community values, 
helping young people understand their 
role in shaping how the city will look 
10 or 20 years from now.

The project team was careful to use 
messaging and storytelling not to talk at 
young people but rather as an opportu-
nity to listen and engage in conversation 
to create a safe space where they could 
feel comfortable sharing their ideas. 

“Having these kinds of conversations 
with adults can be intimidating, but how 
do you create a safe space for them to 
share?” says Osborne. “We talked with 
kids a lot about retaining Charlotte’s 
identity, this city being their home, all 
the things they love about it, and how to 
keep what’s already great about the city.”

1



36 Planning Spring 2022

T
H

IS
 P

A
G

E
: C

IT
Y

 O
F

 C
H

A
R

LO
T

T
E

 S
TA

F
F,

 G
LY

N
 A

 S
TA

N
L

E
Y

 P
H

O
TO

G
R

A
P

H
Y

F
R

O
M

 L
E

F
T

: P
R

ID
E

 P
R

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

, P
O

R
T

IO
N

 &
 P

IX
E

L
S

, C
O

LO
R

IN
G

 S
H

E
E

T
 A

R
T

IS
T

 M
A

R
C

U
S

 K
IS

E
R

EMBRACE DIGITAL 
PLATFORMS LIKE 
TIKTOK.

With the support of leadership open to 
innovating and venturing beyond their 
comfort zones, Charlotte’s planning 
department challenged themselves to 
embrace nontraditional engagement 
methods to make sure they were meet-
ing young people where they are—like 
on social media.

The planning team worked with 
Pride PR to host an #ImagineCLT  
TikTok challenge, capitalizing on the 
attention the platform has captured 
among young people during the pan-
demic. Riffing on viral cooking and 
recipe TikToks, the team came up with 
their own prompt: They encouraged 
Charlotte residents to identify ingre-
dients for a recipe that would make a 
future Charlotte they want to see. 

The submissions and posts gar-
nered suggested improving trans-
portation access, parks and sporting 
infrastructure, sidewalks, small busi-
ness support, arts and culture access, 
economic mobility, affordability hous-
ing, equity and diversity, and neighbor-
hood development. 

BUT DON’T FORGET 
TO GET CREATIVE 
WITH ANALOG 

METHODS, TOO.
Keeping inequities related to internet 
access and technological proficiency in 
mind, the project team developed an 
integrated youth engagement program 
that combined digital interventions 
with analog activities like coloring 
sheets and board games. 

The coloring sheets, which were 
created by local artist Marcus Kiser 
and provided in English and Spanish, 
show a futuristic version of Charlotte. 
The designs reflect characteristics of 
Afrofuturism to show young people 
of color their influence over the city’s 
future, Kiser told The Charlotte Post. 
More than 1,000 sheets were distributed 
in lunchboxes at over 20 schools and 
available at Black-owned restaurants 
and local businesses. 

Meanwhile, a city-building board 
game called Growing Better Places: A 
More Equitable and Inclusive Charlotte 
was developed and distributed online 

and at in-person events to show young 
people and families the different build-
ing blocks of growth and development 
priorities. Upwards of 1,800 people 
played the game, giving them greater 
insight into the relationships between 
transit planning, mixed-use develop-
ment, and displacement—and how that 
interplay results in different scenarios, 
each with its own trade-offs. 

These activities aimed to not only 
solicit and encourage input, but to 
also do a better job of explaining the 
comprehensive planning process more 
generally to young residents.

THROW FUN, FAMILY-
FRIENDLY EVENTS.
After the initial lockdown 

period of the pandemic, the planning 
team also started hosting outdoor gath-
erings and events, including a series of 
drive-in community meetings, which 
saw hundreds of attendees. The project 
team presented updates and develop-
ments on the plan while attendees lis-
tened through their car radios and used 
signals like horns, wipers, and lights to 

S Í G A N O S  
A Q U Í

C R E A D O R  D E  A R T E  @ m a r c u s  k i s e r

C H A R L O T T E F U T U R E . C O M / 2 0 4 0

A P R E N D E  M Á S  
S O B R E  E L  P L A N  D E  
D E S A R R O L L O  D I B U J O  01 0302

C O L O R
U s a  c u a l q u i e r  c o l o r  q u e  

d e s e a s ,  y  l o  m á s  
i m p o r t a n t e  e s  d i v e r t i r t e  

M A N T E N T E  I N V O L U C R A D O
S í g a n o s  a q u í  @ c l t p l a n n i n g  
p a r a  m a n t e n e r s e  c o n  l a s  

u l t i m a s  n o t i c i a s  

C O M P A R T E
C o m p a r t e  s u  d i b u j o  e n  

F a c e b o o k  y  I n s t a g r a m  y  
m e n c i o n e n  @ c l t p l a n n i n g  

2 3

4

An entry in Charlotte’s TikTok city recipe challenge. Charlotte-themed board game and coloring pages. 



American Planning Association 37

T
H

IS
 P

A
G

E
: C

IT
Y

 O
F

 C
H

A
R

LO
T

T
E

 S
TA

F
F,

 G
LY

N
 A

 S
TA

N
L

E
Y

 P
H

O
TO

G
R

A
P

H
Y

F
R

O
M

 L
E

F
T

: P
R

ID
E

 P
R

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

, P
O

R
T

IO
N

 &
 P

IX
E

L
S

, C
O

LO
R

IN
G

 S
H

E
E

T
 A

R
T

IS
T

 M
A

R
C

U
S

 K
IS

E
R

respond to the presentation. The final 
meeting was followed by a drive-in 
screening of Back to the Future.

MAKE YOUNG 
PEOPLE PRIORITY 
STAKEHOLDERS.

Youth engagement is often treated as 
a prescriptive, one-time exercise, with 
planners or consultants visiting a school 
for an isolated 45-minute session. But 
as Renkens says, “Usually that first 
engagement and quick touch point is 
insufficient to get anything meaning-
ful.” Too often in planning, he adds, not 
enough is done to raise awareness about 
the process in general, and instead 
planners often show up only when they 
want something.

He suggests elevating young people 
as a priority stakeholder group and 
building infrastructure and represen-
tation around that: identifying and 
appointing youth ambassadors and 
advisors, setting up steering commit-
tees to communicate back to decision 
makers throughout the process, and 
conducting regular focus groups. 
Osborne and Renkens both point to 

the importance of bringing in younger 
team members, like entry-level employ-
ees and interns, as facilitators to help 
lead youth engagement efforts.

Through ongoing and consistent 
forums, planners can find fun and 
interactive ways to facilitate in-depth 
sessions that create time and space for 
context setting, explaining planning 
processes, and group deliberation and 
discussion. For Charlotte Future 2040, 
this took the form of a series of equity 
chats with local high students, delivered 
in partnership with youth civic engage-
ment nonprofit GenerationNation. The 
series of conversations—led by college 
interns and younger staff from the 
planning department—covered chal-
lenges and opportunities around equity 
and access in Charlotte and how they 
inform the planning process. They also 
discussed what is most important to the 
student members of GenerationNation’s 
Youth Council, the official student advi-
sory council of Charlotte and broader 
Mecklenburg County governments.

INSPIRE FUTURE 
PLANNERS.
After the equity chats, 

members of the Youth Council became 
much more vocal planning advocates 
among friends and family, says Amy 
Farrell, executive director of Genera-
tionNation. “They feel more ownership 
around planning processes and have 
been able to talk to friends and people 
in their community about the plan and 
are proud of their role in that.”

Beyond incorporating input from 
the demographic, ongoing youth 
engagement efforts can be an important 
opportunity to help build a lifelong 
interest in and engagement with the 
city—and to introduce young people 
from diverse backgrounds to career 
pathways. 

“A lot of planners like myself didn’t 
learn about planning as a career option 
growing up,” Osborne says. “But we’re 
asking ourselves: What if we start intro-
ducing people to the profession early on 
and building that into our curriculum 
as part of our department?”

Rebecca Greenwald is a researcher, strategist, 
and writer with a passion for cities, urban 
development, and arts and culture.  

S Í G A N O S  
A Q U Í

C R E A D O R  D E  A R T E  @ m a r c u s  k i s e r

C H A R L O T T E F U T U R E . C O M / 2 0 4 0

A P R E N D E  M Á S  
S O B R E  E L  P L A N  D E  
D E S A R R O L L O  D I B U J O  01 0302

C O L O R
U s a  c u a l q u i e r  c o l o r  q u e  

d e s e a s ,  y  l o  m á s  
i m p o r t a n t e  e s  d i v e r t i r t e  

M A N T E N T E  I N V O L U C R A D O
S í g a n o s  a q u í  @ c l t p l a n n i n g  
p a r a  m a n t e n e r s e  c o n  l a s  

u l t i m a s  n o t i c i a s  

C O M P A R T E
C o m p a r t e  s u  d i b u j o  e n  

F a c e b o o k  y  I n s t a g r a m  y  
m e n c i o n e n  @ c l t p l a n n i n g  

5

6

An “Open Streets” pop-up. Staff and youth engagement at a drive-through event.



38 Planning Spring 2022

C
R

E
D

IT

C
R

E
D

IT

Oover the course of 2019, the travel and 
tourism industries generated $1.9 trillion in eco-
nomic output and supported 9.5 million Amer-
ican jobs, according to the U.S. Department of 
Commerce. That’s more than the agriculture, 
mining, and utility sectors each that same year.

And then came COVID-19.
Now, two years into the pandemic, the sector 

remains so unpredictable that the National Travel 
and Tourism Office of the Department of Com-
merce has indefinitely suspended its annual Fore-
cast for International Travel to the United States.

That uncertainty is felt differently in commu-
nities across the country. On balance, the current 
outlook for tourism as an economic develop-
ment strategy is closely linked to both geogra-
phy and infrastructure. Those with favorable 
weather, proximity to major metro markets, and 
strong funding to support and promote tourism 
businesses are on the road to recovery. Some 
destinations are benefiting, too, from a renewed 
interest in “backyard travel.”

Others, however, continue to suffer signif-
icant revenue losses as international, events, 
and business travel recover at slower rates than 
domestic and leisure travel—and as virus vari-
ants continue to spark surges and cancellations 
across the country.

Is Tourism 
Still a Viable 
Economic 
Development 
Strategy?
By MICHELLE MCCUE YES,

In Palm Desert, new boutique hotels (top), a recently revitalized 
city center (above), and the proximity to the natural beauty of 
the desert (right), helped the city benefit from the “backyard 
travel” trend during the pandemic.
CHRIS MILLER (TOP); COURTESY CITY OF PALM DESERT (ABOVE, RIGHT)



American Planning Association 39

C
R

E
D

IT

C
R

E
D

IT

BUT



40 Planning Spring 2022

C
R

E
D

IT
C

R
E

D
IT

L
E

F
T

: J
E

S
S

IE
 L

Y
N

N
 P

H
O

TO
G

R
A

P
H

Y
; T

H
IS

 P
A

G
E

: K
A

T
E

 C
O

L
L

IN
S

/H
O

R
N

E
L

L
 E

V
E

N
IN

G
 T

R
IB

U
N

E

C
R

E
D

IT

After two years of COVID chaos, communi-
ties are wondering: Is tourism still a viable eco-
nomic development strategy?

For many, the answer still seems to be yes—
but with some new considerations.

“The conversation here has shifted greatly to: 
How can we diversify our economy, and what 
would that look like?” says Thomas Soule, public 
affairs manager of Palm Desert, one of nine cities 
in Coachella Valley, a popular resort region in 
southern California.

With an eye on recovery and stability, com-
munities with tourism-dependent economies are 
now looking for ways to stimulate new industries 
through tourism, take advantage of sector trends 
and local assets, and better support the people 
who live and work there year-round.

Shifting audiences and industries
With golf courses, major shopping centers, and 
extensive lodging options (resorts, hotels, and 
short-term rentals) that pay into the city’s tran-
sient occupancy tax (TOT), Palm Desert banks 
on tourism.

“Sales tax is our number one revenue genera-
tor, followed closely by TOT—and tourism fuels 
both,” says Soule. He initially joined Palm Des-
ert’s city staff as the first tourism and marketing 
manager; now, he continues to serve as the city’s 
tourism liaison while taking on a broader public 
affairs role. “We’re in an interesting moment 
right now with COVID. Just as we start to get 
our footing back, another wave will come up.”

That pattern has hit the Coachella Valley’s 
biggest moneymakers hard. Roughly equidistant 
from Palm Springs and Indio, Palm Desert’s 
tourism outlook is closely linked to the success 
of several major festivals and events, partic-
ularly the Coachella Valley Music and Arts 
Festival in Indio, which spans six days over two 
weekends and brings about 200,000 visitors to 
the region. Coachella, as it’s better known, was 
canceled in April 2020, rescheduled for that 
October, canceled, rescheduled for April 2021, 
canceled, rescheduled for October 2021, and 

‘ The same question is coming up now as  
after the Great Recession: Are all of our eggs in one 

basket here? Does this make us more vulnerable? ’ 
—Thomas Soule, public affairs manager, Palm Desert, California

In upstate New York, 
the Finger Lakes 
Region benefitted 
from an interest 
in agritourism 
encompassing wine 
regions (below) and 
family farms (right). 
In rural communities, 
tourism is driving 
conversations around 
zoning and aesthetic 
regulations aimed 
at preserving the 
region’s appeal as 
a destination and 
its quality of life for 
residents.



American Planning Association 41

C
R

E
D

IT
C

R
E

D
IT

L
E

F
T

: J
E

S
S

IE
 L

Y
N

N
 P

H
O

TO
G

R
A

P
H

Y
; T

H
IS

 P
A

G
E

: K
A

T
E

 C
O

L
L

IN
S

/H
O

R
N

E
L

L
 E

V
E

N
IN

G
 T

R
IB

U
N

E

C
R

E
D

IT

then canceled again. It’s now scheduled to take 
place in April 2022. “We are waiting with bated 
breath,” says Soule.

In the meantime, Palm Desert is making do 
with leisure travelers from southern California’s 
major metropolitan “drive markets,” including 
Los Angeles, Anaheim, and San Diego, which 
together amount to some 15 million potential 
tourists. According to data from Visit California, 
the state’s official marketing organization, the 
Coachella Valley region has seen a 10 percent 
increase in in-state visitors.

That represents a significant shift in thinking 
from pre-COVID days, Soule says, when inter-
national travelers were key targets because of 
their longer stays. The international travel bans 
of the early pandemic forced the recalibration, 
but at the start of 2022, even with bans largely 
lifted for vaccinated travelers, some cities are 
wary of investing now-scarce resources in the 
global game. With the prospect of future pan-
demic-related travel bans, political uncertainty, 
and increasingly frequent extreme weather, some 
tourism researchers recommend keeping the 
focus closer to home.

To do so, Soule says the city and its partners 
in regional and county government are using a 
variety of techniques, including funding adver-
tising campaigns and funneling federal, state, 

and regional grant opportunities to local businesses to help them ramp up 
safety and marketing efforts. The city has also temporarily lifted zoning 
restrictions to entice city dwellers with the promise of al fresco dining.

While these efforts have managed to keep the local tourism industry 
afloat, the city is looking to the future with a more critical eye. “The same 
question is coming up now as after the Great Recession,” Soule says. “Are all 
of our eggs in one basket here? Does this make us more vulnerable?”

Palm Desert also is taking major steps to diversify its economy, start-
ing with the innovation sector. It recently opened a business incubator 
dubbed Palm Desert iHub, managed by the Coachella Valley Economic 
Partnership. “We’re trying to encourage small businesses that are very tech 
focused, forward thinking, and set them up to help take our economy in 
new directions,” Soule says. “But it’s not an easy fix, and it’s not a short-
term fix.”

One of the city’s weaknesses, he explains, is broadband. While inter-
net access is nearly ubiquitous across Palm Desert, the kind of superfast, 
super-reliable connection needed to attract major tech businesses is not yet 
available. The city also lacks robust housing options to support a diverse 
workforce. The median household income hovers around $50,000, but 
according to Realtor.com, the median list price for a home in Palm Desert 
was nearly $550,000 in early 2022, while RentCafe.com reports that 73 per-
cent of rental payments exceed $1,500 per month.

“As a resort destination, short-term rentals of course play a role, and we 
need them to satisfy some visitors’ preferences for that kind of accommo-
dation,” Soule says. “But we also find ourselves thinking about affordable 
housing so that we have enough housing for our workforce.” 

At the end of 2020, Palm Desert voted to enact short-term rental (STR) 
regulations that prohibit properties in multiple districts zoned residential. 
In these areas, homes can only be listed on sites like Airbnb if hosts remain 
on-site during guests’ stays, or if they’re located in gated neighborhoods 
where homeowner associations permit STRs.

“This pandemic has driven home, with great drama, just how critical 
it is that we diversify our economy,” Mayor Kathleen Kelly said in 2020 
when the city council met to vote on the issue. “As that begins to happen, 
we’re going to be attracting additional workers to Palm Desert, and a par-
amount policy of this city has been to house more of the workers who are 
employed in Palm Desert within the city. That is probably the single most 
significant thing we could do to have a positive impact on the environment, 
because housing more of the people who work in Palm Desert within the 
city reduces, or eliminates, commutes. To accomplish that, we have to, as a 
matter of policy, guard against the commercialization of traditional neigh-
borhoods, which would reduce, rather than increase, available housing for 
working people who are part of Palm Desert.”

The STR ban was challenged with a lawsuit in 2021 but remains in effect.

Agritourism and zoning
Nearly 3,000 miles from Palm Desert in the Finger Lakes region of New 
York, Brittany Gibson also cites drive-in markets as the community’s sav-
ing grace during the pandemic.



42 Planning Spring 2022

County, California, agritourism has expanded 
rapidly over the past two decades as hundreds of 
wineries, breweries, and orchards have sought 
to market their properties for tastings, tours, 
educational experiences, and private events. 
But many suffered pandemic-related revenue 
losses, including local farmers who supplied area 
restaurants. That only added to the pressure.

In response, Sonoma County planners 
drafted a Winery Events Ordinance aimed at 
balancing the interests of residents with the eco-
nomic considerations of wine tourism. Presented 
in mid-2021, the ordinance is currently moving 
through the public process and, if adopted, could 
serve as a model for other cities and regions fac-
ing similar issues.

“Zoning is a hot topic in our area right now,” 
says Gibson, noting that some towns in the Fin-
ger Lakes region still have no zoning ordinance of 
any kind in place. In her rural community, tour-
ism, aesthetic regulations, and preservation are 
currently driving the conversations. Issues related 
to siting solar farms, New York State’s recent 
legalization of recreational cannabis, and ware-
house development along major thoroughfares 
all have the potential to impact the ways people 
perceive and experience the region, she says.

“Communication is what’s important. We 
have to break down the barriers between eco-
nomic development and community manage-
ment and political leadership and destination 
marketing organizations and chambers of com-
merce,” says Gibson. “We all have to be at the 
table together.”

Cultural tourism
Another fast-growing trend, cultural tourism, 
is guiding efforts in places like Providence, 
Rhode Island. Branded and marketed as “The 
Creative Capital,” Providence is advancing an 
economic development strategy that weaves 
tourism development with strengthening the 
city’s arts and cultural sectors.

“We are within a five-hour drive of 25 percent of the country’s popu-
lation, so we have a really high potential audience,” says Gibson, executive 
director of the Seneca Lake Winery Association, a membership organization 
comprising dozens of wineries that collectively market the area as a tourism 
destination, in partnership with the regional Finger Lakes Tourism Alli-
ance. Located in rural western New York, Seneca Lake and the Finger Lakes 
region are within a few hundred miles of New York City, Boston, Philadel-
phia, and Pittsburgh residents.

“Throughout COVID, we’ve really benefited from that proximity,”  
Gibson says. “We’ve been part of the rediscovery of what’s in their back-
yard.” They’ve also capitalized on a fast-growing segment of the tourism 
industry: agritourism. Encompassing tastings at vineyards, pick-your-own 
berry farms, oyster farm dinners, and the like, agritourism is increasingly 
seen as a way for farms to broaden their appeal and add to their bottom line.

According to the National Conference of State Legislatures, state pol-
icy makers are supporting these efforts, and interest in agritourism is 
growing across the country. However, supporting agritourism can be a 
less-than-straightforward proposition for planners in many communities. 
Zoning ordinances, for example, often consider farming and events like 
weddings or concerts to be incompatible uses—largely because of the traffic 
they generate on rural roads, but also because of issues that can impact rural 
neighbors, like exterior lighting, parking, and noise.

In some regions, the tension between supporting agritourism and 
upholding zoning restrictions has led to public battles between ag busi-
nesses and residents, with planners caught in the middle. In Sonoma 

C
O

U
R

T
E

S
Y

 S
O

N
O

M
A

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 T
O

U
R

IS
M

TO
P

 R
O

W
: D

A
V

ID
 S

A
N

T
IL

L
I; 

B
O

T
TO

M
 R

O
W

: C
O

U
R

T
E

S
Y

 R
H

O
D

E
 IS

L
A

N
D

 V
IS

IT
O

R
S

 A
N

D
 C

O
N

V
E

N
T

IO
N

 B
U

R
E

A
U

‘ Throughout COVID, we’ve 
really benefited from … the 

rediscovery of what’s in 
their backyard.’ 

 —Brittany Gibson, executive director, 
Seneca Lake Winery Association  

In response to 
wineries and 
other properties 
offering tours, 
tastings, and 
private events, 
Sonoma County 
drafted a 
Winery Events 
Ordinance that 
may serve as 
a model for 
others. 



American Planning Association 43

C
O

U
R

T
E

S
Y

 S
O

N
O

M
A

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

 T
O

U
R

IS
M

TO
P

 R
O

W
: D

A
V

ID
 S

A
N

T
IL

L
I; 

B
O

T
TO

M
 R

O
W

: C
O

U
R

T
E

S
Y

 R
H

O
D

E
 IS

L
A

N
D

 V
IS

IT
O

R
S

 A
N

D
 C

O
N

V
E

N
T

IO
N

 B
U

R
E

A
U

Providence, Rhode Island, is advancing an economic development strategy that weaves tourism with strengthening the city’s arts 
and cultural sectors. This includes highlighting (clockwise from top left) the summer celebration “Waterfire” on the Providence 
River, The Avenue Concept program (and the Arnold Building mural by artist Garden of Journey), city parks, and the Rhode Island 
School of Design museum.



44 Planning Spring 2022

Specifically, some of the plan’s key takeaways 
include calls for living-wage jobs for artists and 
investments in arts and culture to acknowledge 
and repair trauma stemming from the city’s his-
torical ties to slavery and colonization of Indige-
nous lands.

PVDx2031 is likely to have some teeth as 
the city gets ready to deploy federal recovery 
funds. “Mayor [Jorge] Elorza’s proposed plan 
for using the city’s American Rescue Plan fund-
ing addresses not only the needs of art tourism 
and hospitality, but also considers how this fits 
in amidst all of the other areas of investment 
needed for Providence not just to recover, but to 
thrive,” says Fortunato.

The plan proposes $7.7 million in art tour-
ism and hospitality funding to support invest-
ment in the creative industries and partner 
sectors, aiming to create jobs in each of the city’s 
25 neighborhoods. This investment also aims 
to shore up Providence’s position as a cultural 

C
R

E
D

IT
C

R
E

D
IT

F
R

O
M

 L
E

F
T

: I
V

A
N

A
S

TA
R

/E
D

IT
O

R
IA

L
 R

F/
IS

TO
C

K
 U

N
R

E
L

E
A

S
E

D
; M

A
U

R
O

 T
O

C
C

A
C

E
L

I/
A

L
A

M
Y

 S
TO

C
K

 P
H

O
TO

“[We have] a dual mission to integrate arts 
and culture into community life while show-
casing Providence as an international cultural 
destination,” says Stephanie Fortunato, director 
of the city’s Department of Art, Culture, and 
Tourism. “We are always weighing the needs of 
residents and businesses with those of visitors to 
the city. This balancing act is certainly present as 
we think about the city’s recovery.”

As the home of Rhode Island School of 
Design, the Ivy League Brown University, and 
culinary arts powerhouse Johnson & Wales 
University, Providence leans hard into its cul-
tural assets to attract tourists and create jobs 
for residents. In 2021, the city released a draft 
of its updated cultural plan, PVDx2031: A Cul-
tural Plan for Culture Shift. The plan empha-
sizes the importance of partnerships between 
the city, cultural organizations, the tourism 
industry, and local creatives and designers. It 
also underscores the importance of elevating 
BIPOC (Black, Indigenous, and people of 
color) and LGBTQ+ voices in strategic plan-
ning efforts and leadership roles.

‘  We see the recovery of tourism as integral to 
the overall vibrancy and vitality of the regional 

economy.’ —Martha Sheridan, president and CEO, 
Greater Boston Convention and Visitors Bureau

In Boston, Tourism 
Destination Marketing 
Districts impose fees 
on stays at hotels, like 
the Fairmont Copley 
Plaza Hotel (below), 
to generate funding 
to promote tourism. 
Another program, All 
Inclusive Boston, aims 
to attract a more 
diverse audience 
and promote cultural 
assets, including the 
Park Street Church 
and Freedom Trail 
at Boston Common 
(right).



American Planning Association 45

(TIDs), permit hotels to add a nominal assessment fee (typically between  
1 and 10 percent) to guest bills that is then invested back into local develop-
ment and marketing. In California, where the concept was first introduced 
in 1989, there are now more than 85 active TIDs that together generate 
approximately $180 million in annual funding for tourism development 
and marketing, according to a white paper by tourism-research firm Tour-
ism Economics.

Boston has struggled to gain tourism and convention market shares 
against well-funded competitors. The TDMD is projected to increase local 
tourism funding fivefold, from $7.5 million in 2019 to $40 million when 
hotel occupancy and rates return to pre-pandemic levels.

Martha Sheridan, president and CEO of the Greater Boston Convention 
and Visitors Bureau (GBCVB), describes the all-hands-on-deck effort to get 
the state and local legislation passed: “[We] worked with many partners and 
stakeholders to form the TDMD, including state and city officials. We oper-
ated on many parallel tracks as we sought to pass enabling legislation in the 
Massachusetts legislature while also socializing the concept with our hotels 
and educating them on why we desperately needed to create a district.”

The enabling legislation had been languishing in committee for nearly 
two years. GBCVB saw an opportunity to attach the TDMD bill as an 
amendment to a larger economic recovery bill aimed at pandemic relief. 
The local ordinance to form a district passed unanimously in August 2021.

A focus of their messaging throughout the process was the long-term 
positive outlook of the TDMD. They framed the passage as necessary to 
recovery of the travel and hospitality and the sectors’ diverse workforces, 
which comprise about 10 percent of the labor market in the state. Besides 
the provisions for hotels, the district plan—developed in collaboration with 
elected officials—also addresses community concerns, including sustain-
ability and commitments to equity, diversity, and inclusion initiatives. An 
example is the recently launched marketing campaign All Inclusive Boston, 
which endeavors to both attract a more diverse tourism audience to the city 
and to promote cultural assets across all of Boston’s neighborhoods.

Ultimately, tourism has ripple effects in other key economic sectors, 
Sheridan says—which is why Boston is still betting on it as an economic 
recovery and development tool.

“So many of our innovation sectors—medical research, life sciences, 
smart manufacturing, and fintech—depend on recruitment and retainment 
strategies that are directly linked to how we market the destination,” she 
says. “For example, the cultural, culinary, and commercial assets that we 
promote to draw visitors are often the same essential characteristics that 
make someone want to attend school here, or move here for work, or relo-
cate a business.”

“We see the recovery of [tourism] as integral to the overall vibrancy and 
vitality of the regional economy,” Sheridan says.

Michelle McCue is the founder of McCue Marketing Communications, a consulting firm 
that helps build strong communities and place-based brands through strategic planning, 
branding, and communications. Specializing in tourism, food, and agriculture-based 
development, McCue combines practical planning knowledge with strategic outreach to 
help clients achieve sustainable growth.

destination, earmarking more than $4 million 
for expansion and improvement of cultural 
facilities, $1.2 million to support development of 
cultural events, and nearly $1 million to create 
public art aimed at encouraging tourism, among 
other arts-related investments.

Much is riding on this focus on cultural tour-
ism. With the slow recovery of business travel 
and large group events, Providence hotels are 
still struggling.

“Occupancy has plummeted,” says Fortunato. 
“Providence has not fully recovered because 
meetings, conventions, and sports are the back-
bone of the tourism economy here.”

Destination marketing districts
While Boston has suffered from many of the 
same issues as Providence, some credit the pan-
demic with expediting a long-sought solution to 
the city’s need for a dedicated and dependable 
funding mechanism for destination marketing.

In January 2021, Governor Charlie Baker of 
Massachusetts signed an economic development 
bill with a provision enabling the formation 
of Tourism Destination Marketing Districts 
(TDMDs) in the state. These districts, elsewhere 
known as Tourism Improvement Districts C

R
E

D
IT

C
R

E
D

IT

F
R

O
M

 L
E

F
T

: I
V

A
N

A
S

TA
R

/E
D

IT
O

R
IA

L
 R

F/
IS

TO
C

K
 U

N
R

E
L

E
A

S
E

D
; M

A
U

R
O

 T
O

C
C

A
C

E
L

I/
A

L
A

M
Y

 S
TO

C
K

 P
H

O
TO



YOU ARE A PLANNER. 

YOU ARE CREATIVE.

YOU ARE STRATEGIC.
You make an impact in your community every 
single day! Therefore, it’s important that you meet 
Michael Ford, AIA, NOMA, at NPC22.

Ford is an innovative educator. He will explore the 
intersection of architecture and urban planning 
through the lens of Hip Hop culture. Don’t miss 
his fresh perspective at the NPC22 opening keynote 
on April 30!

Register Today!

San Diego & Online
April 30–May 3 & May 18–20

COM 
MUNITY 
GREEN

46 Planning Spring 2022

A
J 

M
A

S
T/

T
H

E
 N

E
W

 Y
O

R
K

 T
IM

E
S

Carmel, Indiana’s 
rate of crashes with 
injuries has dropped 
78 percent, thanks 
to roundabouts like 
the Beacon Bloom, 
which is one of 140 
there. And, because 
cars don’t idle at 
stoplights, they burn 
less gas, which makes 
for cleaner air. 

WHO WOULD HAVE THOUGHT the much beloved (or maligned?) roundabout would be a twofer:  
a safer design for intersections and a cleaner one, too? Officials in Carmel, Indiana, say roundabouts 
save 24,000 gallons of gas a year and are part of an overall community greening strategy that includes a 
hybrid and biofuels fleet. Just how much roundabouts reduce carbon emissions compared to traditional 
intersections is not so straightforward, but several studies note a 20 to 30 percent drop. And a represen-
tative from the Institute of Transportation Engineers told the New York Times in November that today’s 
roundabouts “are the most sustainable and resilient intersections around.” (Got a climate win-win that 
makes your Community Green? Tell us about it at mstromberg@planning.org.)

“BEACON BLOOM” ROUNDABOUT
Carmel, Indiana



YOU ARE A PLANNER. 

YOU ARE CREATIVE.

YOU ARE STRATEGIC.
You make an impact in your community every 
single day! Therefore, it’s important that you meet 
Michael Ford, AIA, NOMA, at NPC22.

Ford is an innovative educator. He will explore the 
intersection of architecture and urban planning 
through the lens of Hip Hop culture. Don’t miss 
his fresh perspective at the NPC22 opening keynote 
on April 30!

Register Today!

San Diego & Online
April 30–May 3 & May 18–20

A
J 

M
A

S
T/

T
H

E
 N

E
W

 Y
O

R
K

 T
IM

E
S



Are you ready
for efficient 
permitting?
Maximize resources to successfully manage 
increased permitting and infrastructure 
investments.

Reduce permitting times by 50% and build 
faster with DigEplan Electronic Plan Review.

See us at the National Planning Conference, San Diego, April 30–May 3

WWW.DIGEPLAN.COM


	01-03-2023 Agenda
	Pentucket Special Permit Modification Application 112922
	Site Plan Pentucket Field Lighting
	Draft FY24 Budget
	FY24 PB Budget
	Line Item Budgets

	Middle St Bridge Update Dec 2022
	_Chapter91_Application_WestNewburyNewburyport_Oct21_2022_Sm
	Attachment A Project Narrative

	_WW01-POR-v1_20221207_131749
	2022-11-08_2839500_REV1_Ch91PermitPlans
	Sheets and Views
	1 TITLE & LOCUS PLAN
	2 EXISTING PLAN
	3 CONSTRUCTION PLAN
	4 CONSTRUCTION PROFILE
	5 WALL PROFILE
	6 WALL PROFILE
	7 CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
	8 CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
	9 CONSTRUCTION DETAIL
	10 TYPICAL SECTIONS
	11 TYPICAL SECTIONS


	Ch91-planning-form
	DEP Ch 91 PB Notification Form_ Bridge N_11_007 over Artichoke_12_19_2022
	[Massplanners] How to convince voters to allow accessory apartments_
	AARP ADU's Model State Act and Local Ordinance
	Amherst-Complete-Zoning-Bylaw-January-2022
	Bill H.5007
	PioneerInstitute2018ADUs_WP
	Planning magazine - Spring 2022__5 Practical Zoning Hacks for Missing Middle Housing



